

120 lber Road, Suite 103 Ottawa, Ontario K2S 1E9 Tel. (613)836-0856 Fax (613) 836-7183 www.DSEL.ca

MASTER DRAINAGE PLAN WESTERN DEVELOPMENT LANDS VILLAGE OF RICHMOND

FOR

WESTERN DEVELOPMENT LANDS LANDOWNERS

CITY OF OTTAWA

PROJECT NO.: 17-977

OCTOBER 11, 2019 – REV 5 © DSEL

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY / OUTLINE

This Master Drainage Plan (MDP) has been prepared as requested by City of Ottawa staff to reflect the updates to the **Sewer Design Guidelines** regarding the level of service for the minor system. The following is an executive summary or outline of the history of the MDP for the Western Development Lands to provide details of what has been updated.

<u>History</u>

The November 2012 stormwater management report presented facility treatment types, locations, and provided a recommended stormwater facility solution for the subject lands. The final November 2013 stormwater management report expanded upon the previously recommended solution. Furthermore, the November 2013 report outlined various storm conveyance alternatives and presented a detailed review of the recommended conveyance solution. The November 2013 report was finalized for the Western Development Lands on behalf of Richmond Village (South) Limited, which will now be referred to as the Richmond Village Development Corporation (RVDC). The historical information in the November 2013 has been included in this updated MDP for reference but remains unchanged. The information in the final report was approved through the Ontario Municipal Board (OMB) per the decision dated June 23, 2014.

The objective of this updated report is to provide sufficient detail with respect to the stormwater management system including minor and major system conveyance and stormwater facilities to support the Mattamy (Jock River) Limited draft plan of subdivision application and is also applicable to other entities within the Western Development Lands area. The revisions have been made to reflect the following updated information since 2014, primarily the updates to the **Sewer Design Guidelines**. Where applicable, historical documents, which remain relevant, are referenced and contained in the appendices.

Section 1.0 - Introduction and Approvals

As development has proceeded with the RVDC Lands, which were draft approved in 2015, with Phase 1 currently under construction and Phase 2 in detailed design stage, several approvals are in place with respect to the City of Ottawa, MECP, RVCA and DFO. Additional approvals are required for future works from all agencies.

Note that Section 1.3 Study Process is historical information relating to the approval of the MDP and remains unchanged. Section 1.4 Public and Agency Consultation provides reference to the previously coordinated summary of meeting results; however, it is noted that this is historical and subsequently replaced by the OMB decision. Section 1.5 is included to reference the OMB Decision of June 23, 2014.

Section 2.0 - Guidelines, Previous Studies and Reports

This section has been updated to reflect the up to date studies, guidelines and reports. Notably, the references to the City of Ottawa **Sewer Design Guidelines** Technical Bulletins.

Section 3.0 – Existing Conditions

Geotechnical conditions have been updated to reflect the updated information available since the 2007 Jacques Whitford Report was produced for the Western Development Lands. Mattamy and Caivan have retained Paterson Group and Golder Associates, respectively, to prepare supplemental geotechnical investigations for their land holdings. The Jacques Whitford report is included as it provides historical recommendations as well as preliminary recommendations for lands that have not yet proceeded with planning applications.

Where there is new information, existing floodplain has been updated. Notably, Mattamy has received a new permit to place fill behind and existing berm between the Jock River and Ottawa Street.

An update has been made to Section 3.3 Geomorphology to explain the status of the realignment of the existing Van Gaal Drain, which is approved and has gone through the Drainage Act process.

Section 3.4 Pre-Development Drainage Conditions remains unchanged.

Section 3.5 Hydrogeology has been updated to reflect the current groundwater monitoring and reporting on-site.

Section 4.0 - SWM Servicing

This MDP section was included in the updated report for historical reference; however, no changes were made. The comparison of options was used to form the SWM servicing alternative which was selected.

Section 5.0 - Evaluation Storm Conveyance Systems

This MDP section was included in the updated report for historical reference; however, no changes were made. The comparison of options was used to form the SWM servicing alternative which was selected.

Section 6.0 - Stormwater Conveyance

Updates to this section have been made to reflect the updates to the **Sewer Design** *Guidelines*, which was the reason why the MDP update was initiated by the City of Ottawa. Updates have been made to reflect the following changes:

- Technical Bulletin ISTB-2019-02 dated July 8, 2019 regarding the use of sump pumps;
- Technical Bulletin PIEDTB-2016-01 dated September 6, 2016 regarding the updated sizing for the minor system (i.e. 2-year for local streets, 5-year for collector streets and 10-year for arterial roads);

Section 6.4 Hydraulic Grade Line analysis was updated to reflect the latest design of the site, incorporating the latest detailed design and preliminary design. It is presented in a memo for the overall Western Development Lands by JFSA with the latest analysis.

Further, this section has been updated for two additional items:

- To reflect small revisions in the drainage split between Pond 1 and 2 as per the figures below; and
- To reflect optimized design, where sump pumps are eliminated for areas south of Ottawa Street and foundations are drained by gravity



Figure above shows the Pond 1 and 2 Drainage Split in the Western Development Lands per the November 2013 MDP



Figure above shows the New Proposed Pond 1 and 2 Drainage Split in the Western Development Lands

Section 6.5 Moore Tributary has been added to the report to describe some design elements of the Realignment of the Moore Tributary. Further details will be worked on at the time of detailed design.

Section 7.0 - Stormwater Management Facilities

This section has been updated as design has progressed on the stormwater management facilities since the MDP was approved. Pond 1 has advanced to detailed design and approvals and has been constructed to an interim condition. The final approval of the ultimate condition for Pond 1 is well underway. The information included regarding the Pond 1 design and associated works reflects what was contained in the detailed design reports. Although still preliminary, Pond 2 has an updated configuration; therefore, updated preliminary analysis has been included in this updated section.

Section 8.0 - Water Budget

As there were not any updated guidelines for Water Budget, this section has not been updated. The analysis has indicated the average annual infiltration over the drainage area is expected to be 58.4% less under proposed conditions. This was approved in the MDP and should remain the target of comparison moving forward.

Section 9.0 - Conclusions and Recommendations

All appropriate conclusions and recommendations per the preceding sections have been updated in this section.

MASTER DRAINAGE PLAN WESTERN DEVELOPMENT LANDS VILLAGE OF RICHMOND FOR WESTERN DEVELOPMENT LANDS LANDOWNERS

OCTOBER 11, 2019 - REV 5

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.0	INTRODUCTION1
1.1	Site Context2
1.2	Required Permits / Approvals
	1.2.1City of Ottawa31.2.2Ministry of the Environment, Conservation and Parks41.2.3Rideau Valley Conservation Authority (RVCA)41.2.4Department of Fisheries and Oceans (DFO)5
1.3	Study Process
1.4	Public and Agency Consultation8
1.5	Ontario Municipal Board (OMB) Decision8
2.0	GUIDELINES, PREVIOUS STUDIES, AND REPORTS9
2.1	Existing Studies, Guidelines, and Reports9
3.0	EXISTING CONDITIONS11
3.1	Geotechnical11
3.2	Regulatory Floodplain12
	3.2.1 Jock River 12 3.2.2 Van Gaal Drain 14
3.3	Geomorphology
3.4	Pre-Development Drainage Conditions16
3.5	Hydrogeology17
4.0	SWM SERVICING ALTERNATIVES18
	 4.1.1 End of Pipe Stormwater Alternatives
4.2	Selection of Preferred SWMP
	4.2.1 Evaluation Process

	4.2.2 Discussion of Preferred Option	28
5.0	EVALUATION STORM CONVEYANCE SYSTEMS	33
5.1	Summary of Alternatives Assessed	34
5.2	Description of Alternatives	34
	 5.2.1 Foundation service to street storm sewer	34 35 36 36
5.3	Comparison of Alternatives	38
5.4	Ranking of Alternatives	39
5.5	Conveyance System Conclusion	40
6.0	STORMWATER CONVEYANCE	41
6.1	Grade Control Plan - Major System	41
6.2	Minor System	42
	6.2.1 Deviations from Design Guidelines	44
6.3	Sump Pump Service	44
6.4	Hydraulic Grade Line	46
6.5	Moore Tributary	46
7.0	STORMWATER MANAGEMENT FACILITIES	48
7.1	Stormwater Management Facility #1	48
	7.1.1 Base Flow Augmentation7.1.2 Facility #1 Operation	50 50
7.2	Stormwater Management Facility #2	51
7.3	Stormwater Management Conclusions	53
8.0	WATER BUDGET	54
9.0	CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	56

FIGURES

Figure 1	Location of the Village of Richmond
Figure 2	Site Context
Figure 3	Regulatory Floodplain Mapping – Jock River
Figure 4	Regulatory Floodplain Mapping – Van Gaal Drain
Figure 5	Existing Conditions Storm Drainage Plan
Figure 6	Preliminary Land Use Concept Plan
Figure 7	Conceptual SWM Plan Option 1
Figure 8	Conceptual SWM Plan Option 2
Figure 9	Conceptual SWM Plan Option 3
Figure 10	Post-Development Conditions Storm Drainage Plan
Figure 11	Section – Foundation Service to Street Storm Sewer
Figure 12	Cut / Fill Analysis Option 1
Figure 13	Section – Foundation Service to a dedicated
	foundation collector
Figure 14	Cut / Fill Analysis Option 2
Figure 15	Section – No Foundation Service – Slab on grade units
Figure 16	Cut / Fill Analysis Option 3
Figure 17	Section – Foundation service to street storm sewer – Sump pump
Figure 18	Sump Pump Detail
Figure 19	Cut / Fill Analysis Option 4
Figure 20	SWM Pond 1
Figure 21	SWM Pond 2
Figure 22	Moore Tributary – Plan and Profile
Figure 23	Road Classification with Minor System Levels of
	Service

DRAWINGS

Constraints Plan
Grading Plan
Storm Servicing Plan
Profiles: Trunks 101 to 104, 109 to 110
Profiles: Trunks 105 to 108
Profiles: Trunks 1 to 4, Pond Out Pipes

TABLES

Summary of Maximum Grade Raise Constraints
Summary of Peak Flows to be conveyed through
End of Pipe Treatment Systems Considered
Lot Level Treatment Systems Considered
Summary of Decision Matrix Categories
Decision Matrix Categories Ranking System
Stormwater Management Evaluation
Summary of Decision Matrix Categories
Decision Matrix Categories Ranking System
Comparison of Alternatives
Ranking of Alternatives
Storm Sewer Design Criteria
Sump Pump Design Criteria
Summary of SWMP 1 Outlet Structure Design
Summary of SWMP 1 Storage Characteristics (Free Outfall Conditions)
Summary of SWMP 1 Storage Characteristics (Restrictive Downstream Conditions)
Summary of SWMP 2 Outlet Structure Design
Summary of SWMP 2 Storage Characteristics
Pre-development Infiltration
Post-development Infiltration

APPENDICES

Appendix A	City of Ottawa / Agency Comments and Consultation Summary (from March 2010 Report) and Existing Approvals
Appendix B	Geotechnical
Appendix C	Regulatory Floodplain
Appendix D	Geomorphology
Appendix E	Existing Hydrology / Hydraulics
Appendix F	Hydrogeology
Appendix G	Evaluation of Alternatives
Appendix H	Rational Method Calculation Sheet
Appendix I	JFSA Hydrologic / Hydraulic Modelling
Appendix J	JFSA Water Balance

MASTER DRAINAGE PLAN WESTERN DEVELOPMENT LANDS VILLAGE OF RICHMOND FOR WESTERN DEVELOPMENT LANDS LANDOWNERS

CITY OF OTTAWA OCTOBER 11, 2019 – REV 5 PROJECT NO.: 17-977

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Mattamy (Jock River) Limited has retained David Schaeffer Engineering Ltd. (DSEL) to update a stormwater management report in support of their application for draft plan of subdivision. This document supports updates to all of the land holdings within the Western Development Lands (Mattamy, Caivan, Green and Laffin Lands).

This study constitutes a resubmission of previously submitted work and addresses the City of Ottawa comment that the Master Drainage Plan (MDP) be updated to reflect the updates to the **Sewer Design Guidelines**. The City and Agency comments received to date are summarized in **Appendix A**.

The November 2012 stormwater management report presented facility treatment types, locations, and provided a recommended stormwater facility solution for the subject lands. The final November 2013 stormwater management report expanded upon the previously recommended solution. Furthermore, the November 2013 report outlined various storm conveyance alternatives and presented a detailed review of the recommended conveyance solution. The November 2013 report was finalized for the Western Development Lands on behalf of Richmond Village (South) Limited, which will now be referred to as the Richmond Village Development Corporation (RVDC).

The objective of this updated report is to provide sufficient detail with respect to the stormwater management system including minor and major system conveyance and stormwater facilities to support the Mattamy (Jock River) Limited draft plan of subdivision application and is also applicable to other entities within the Western Development Lands area.

Adjacent to the Mattamy (Jock River) Limited lands, the RVDC Lands comprise part of the overall Master Drainage Plan. The RVDC Lands were draft approved in 2015, with Phase 1 currently under construction and Phase 2 in detailed design stage.

The Green and Laffin Lands do not yet have any active planning applications.

A Community Information Session, Status of the Village of Richmond Western Development Lands occurred on Wednesday, May 8th, 2019 at the Richmond Memorial

Community Centre to provide a status update of planning applications within the Western Development Lands. The notice is enclosed in *Appendix A* for reference.

1.1 Site Context

The Village of Richmond is located within the City of Ottawa planning boundary and is approximately 10 km south of Stittsville and 12 km west of Manotick, as illustrated on *Figure 1*.



Figure 1: Location of the Village of Richmond

The subject lands lie along the western perimeter of Village of Richmond planning boundary. The subject land extends north of Perth Street and south of Perth Street to the Jock River, as illustrated on *Figure 2*. The northern portion of the subject site (RVDC lands) is currently under construction and the southern portion consists of agricultural lands and lands formerly used for agricultural purposes. The southern portion of the site is relatively flat with slopes ranging from 0.1% to 0.5%.

The majority of the subject lands are within the Van Gaal sub-watershed which is a tributary to the Jock River. The sub-watershed area is approximately 1,115 ha and is

mostly undeveloped, consisting of wooded, wetlands, and agricultural lands fallow, and row crop areas.



Figure 2: Site Context

1.2 Required Permits / Approvals

Developments within the Western Development Lands are subject to permits and approvals summarized in the following sections.

1.2.1 City of Ottawa

The City of Ottawa is required to approve the engineering design drawings and reports for the subdivisions within the Western Development Lands. The City of Ottawa must review and sign off on the design and forward to the Ministry of the Environment, Conservation and Parks (MECP) for their transfer of review program.

DAVID SCHAEFFER ENGINEERING LTD.

To date, Phase 1 of the RVDC lands has been reviewed by the City and commence work notifications for sewers, watermains, grading and utilities have been issued. Underground servicing and road construction up to base course asphalt is complete and home construction started in 2018.

1.2.2 Ministry of the Environment, Conservation and Parks

The MECP is required to review the engineering design and issue Environmental Compliance Approvals (ECA) for Sanitary and Storm Sewers and Stormwater Management.

The subdivisions will not require an Environmental Compliance Approval (ECA) for watermains. The City will review the watermains on behalf of the MECP.

The MECP will also be required to issue an approval for any proposed temporary sedimentation systems such as on-site ditches and / or temporary sediment ponds. To allow dewatering of the subject site, a Permit to take Water (PTTW) may be required.

The following ECAs have been issued for the Western Development Lands:

- Western Development Lands Interim SWM Pond 1 and Relocation of Arbuckle Municipal Drain (ECA #1060-AY8JK4, May 30, 2018)
- 6350 Perth Street Martin Street Sanitary Trunk Sewer (ECA #5426-A5PMR, January 6, 2016)
- Caivan Communities Richmond Phase 1 Sanitary and Storm Sewers (ECA # 9297-AV9KAL, January 25, 2018)
- Permit To Take Water Richmond Village Development Corporation (8563-ABNQ5G, August 10, 2016)

Copies of the above approvals are enclosed in *Appendix A*.

1.2.3 Rideau Valley Conservation Authority (RVCA)

Concurrent with the City and MECP approvals, approvals are required from the Rideau Valley Conservation Authority as it relates to Ontario Regulation 174/06 "The Development, Interference with Wetlands and Alterations to Shorelines and Watercourses" for the ditch creation(s), alteration(s) and / or enclosure(s).

The following RVCA permits have been issued for the Western Development Lands:

Construction of SWM Pond 1, located partially in Regulatory Floodplain of Jock River and Arbuckle Municipal Drain (Permit #RV5-22/16T, October 8, 2016)

- Placement of Fill between Berm and Ottawa Street West within the Floodplain (Permit # RV5-2219, June 14, 2019)
- Renewed Permit for Construction of Two Storm Pond Outlets to the Arbuckle Drain (Permit # RV5-27/18, September 27, 2018)
- Installation of a new box culvert at Fortune Street at the Arbuckle Drain (Permit #RV5-19/16T, October 13, 2016)
- Open cut installation of sanitary and storm sewer crossings of the Arbuckle Drain and pond spillway (Permit #RV5-20/16, July 7, 2016)
- Construction of SWM Pond 1 from its existing interim size to its ultimate footprint within the floodplain of the Arbuckle Municipal Drain (Permit #RV5-4619, October 1, 2019)

Copies of the above permits are enclosed in *Appendix A*.

There are two floodplain amendments being proposed to support the proposed development area. Additional information regarding the proposed amendments is discussed under **Section 3.2**.

1.2.4 Department of Fisheries and Oceans (DFO)

Regarding the infilling and re-alignment of the Van Gaal Drain north of Perth street, the DFO and RVCA have visited the subject site and agreed that the overall risks to fish were low and therefore the proposed work would be subject to a Level 2 RVCA review. Kilgour has prepared a letter on the Van Gaal Realignment proposal which states that the project will present a low risk to fish and will result in fishery enhancements. Confirmation of Kilgour's recommendations will be required from the DFO. Refer to **Appendix A** which contains a JFSA memo summarizing the history of the fisheries review of the Van Gaal Drain.

Self-assessment will be required to confirm that work related to the development associated with the WDL in the vicinity of the Arbuckle Drain and Moore Branch will not harm any fish habitat.

1.3 Study Process

The Municipal Class Environmental Assessment is an approved provincial planning and design procedure developed to ensure that the potential social, economic, and natural environmental effects are considered in undertaking certain projects. The approach is provided in the Municipal Engineers Association Municipal Class Environmental Assessment document prepared in October 2000 and amended in 2007, 2011 and 2015. The Class EA planning process is a self-directed process (by the proponent),

which represents an acceptable procedure for municipalities to carry out individual assessments for most municipal water and wastewater projects in Ontario. The Class EA deals with various aspects of municipal servicing projects (water and wastewater), including:

- Maintenance and operational activities
- Reconstruction and modification of existing supply sources/treatment facilities and distribution/collection systems
- Construction of facilities

Since water and wastewater projects undertaken by municipalities vary in their environmental impact, projects are further classified in terms of schedules:

<u>Schedule A</u> (Pre-Approved Activities) projects are limited in scale, have minimal adverse environmental effects and include a number of municipal maintenance and operational activities. These projects are pre-approved and may proceed to implementation without following the Class EA planning process. Schedule A projects generally include normal or emergency operational and maintenance activities.

<u>Schedule A+</u> (Pre-Approved Activities with Public Advisory) projects are similar to Schedule A projects but include projects where it is appropriate to inform the public of the municipal infrastructure project(s) being constructed or implemented in their area.

<u>Schedule B</u> projects have the potential for some adverse environmental effects. The proponent is required to undertake a screening process, involving mandatory contact with directly affected public and relevant review agencies, to ensure that they are aware of the project and that their concerns are addressed. If there are no outstanding concerns, then the proponent may proceed to implementation. Schedule B projects generally include improvements and minor expansions to existing facilities.

<u>Schedule C</u> projects have the potential for significant environmental effects and must proceed under the full planning and documentation procedures specified in the Class EA document. Schedule C projects require that an Environmental Study Report be prepared and filed for review by the public and review agencies. Schedule C projects generally include the construction of new facilities and major expansions to existing facilities.

<u>Note:</u> There is an appeal mechanism for Schedule B and Schedule C projects – members of the public, interest groups and/or review agencies may request the Minister or delegate to require a proponent to comply with Part II of the EA Act before proceeding with the undertaking (the Minister or delegate will determine if this is necessary). Schedule A and

Schedule A+ projects are pre-approved and there is no ability for the public to request a Part II Order (public comments on these projects should be directed to local municipal councils).

The selection of the applicable schedule is determined for certain projects by the environmental impact and other projects are determined to fall within a schedule based on cost.

RVDC was the proponent and was the lead of the Stormwater Management and Drainage Plan report. As such, the lead proponent shall be subject to the terms and conditions of this Class EA.

There are a number of stormwater project types identified as wastewater projects under Schedule "A', "A+" and "B" projects, including those that are intended to:

Schedule A

- 1. Construction of stormwater management facilities which are required as a condition of approval on a consent, site plan, plan of subdivision or condominium which will come into effect under the Planning Act prior to the construction of the facility.
- 2. Any project which would otherwise be subject to this Class EA and has fulfilled the requirements outlined in Section A.2.9 of this Class EA and for which the relevant Planning Act documents have been approved or have come into effect under the Planning Act, R.S.O. 1990, Chapter P.13, as amended.

Schedule A+

1. Establish, extend, or enlarge a sewage collection system and all necessary works to connect the system to an existing sewage or natural drainage outlet, provided all such facilities are in either an existing road allowances or an existing utility corridor, including the use of Trenchless Technology for water crossings.

Schedule B

- 2. Establish new stormwater retention/detention ponds and appurtenances or infiltration systems including outfalls to receiving water body.
- 3. Enclose a watercourse in a storm sewer.

Section A.1.3 of the Class EA document discusses the application of the EA Act for private sector development. Projects undertaken by the private sector developers which are designated as an undertaking to which the Ontario EA Act applies (i.e. Schedule C project

that are servicing residential developments – see Ontario Regulation 345/93) are subject to all requirements of this Class EA document.

The potential stormwater management projects to support the RVDC development are Schedule A, A+ and B projects. As this is a private sector lead exercise, subject to Planning Approval with no identified Schedule C undertakings, the projects fall under Schedule A undertaking. However, the Class EA document encourages municipalities to consider requiring developers to fully consider appropriate alternatives even if the project is exempt under Ontario Regulation 345/93.

In this regard, Mattamy's Stormwater Management and Drainage Plan considered alternatives and followed Phases 1 and 2 of the Class EA process in order to determine the preferred stormwater scheme for the Richmond Western Development lands. There was no formal filing of the document under the Class EA provisions. However, the document had gone through a public process as a supporting study of the Official Plan Amendment application.

1.4 Public and Agency Consultation

Numerous public and agency consultations took place between April 2008 and present. The Stormwater Management Report submitted by DSEL for the Mattamy Richmond Lands in March 2010 summarizes the meeting results and times under sub-section 1.3. This previous summary is provided in *Appendix A* for ease of reference.

The Stormwater Management Report was submitted as supporting documentation for the Planning Act application. The public will have an opportunity to review the documentation through the City of Ottawa Development Application Review process and the public may submit appeals / objection to the Ontario Municipal Board regarding the Planning Act application. The Stormwater Management Report has been conducted in general accordance with the steps/phases as outlined in the Municipal Class EA Process.

1.5 Ontario Municipal Board (OMB) Decision

The proponents of the Western Development Lands at the time appealed to the Ontario Municipal Board in 2014. An agreement was reached regarding the change of zoning from Development Reserve 1 (DR1) to Village Residential Second Density, Village Residential Third Density, Open Space and Floodplain overlay to permit a proposed plan of subdivision. A copy of the OMB Decision dated June 23, 2014 is enclosed in *Appendix A*.

2.0 GUIDELINES, PREVIOUS STUDIES, AND REPORTS

2.1 Existing Studies, Guidelines, and Reports

The following studies were utilized in the preparation of this report.

- Ottawa Sewer Design Guidelines City of Ottawa, October 2012. (Sewer Design Guidelines)
 - Technical Bulletin ISDTB-2014-01
 City of Ottawa, February 5, 2014
 (ITSB-2014-01)
 - Technical Bulletin PIEDTB-2016-01
 City of Ottawa, September 6, 2016
 (PIEDTB-2016-01)
 - Technical Bulletin ISTB-2018-01
 City of Ottawa, March 21, 2018
 (ISTB-2018-01)
 - Technical Bulletin ISTB-2019-02 City of Ottawa, July 8, 2019 (ISTB-2019-02)
- Stormwater Planning and Design Manual Ministry of the Environment, Conservation and Parks, March 2003. (SWMPDM)
- Ontario Building Code Compendium Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing Building Development Branch, January 1, 2010 Update. (OBC)
- Hydrology Report Jock River Flood Risk Mapping Rideau Valley Conservation Authority, July 2004.
- Hydraulics Report Jock River Flood Risk Mapping Rideau Valley Conservation Authority, November 2004.
- Floodplain Mapping Report for the Van Gaal and Arbuckle Municipal Drains in the Village of Richmond Rideau Valley Conservation Authority, November 2009.

Stormwater Management and Drainage Plan for the Mattamy Richmond Lands

DSEL, JFSA, AECOM, and Kilgour & Associates Ltd., March 2010. (March 2010 SWM Report)

- Village of Richmond Community Design Plan City of Ottawa, July 2010. (CDP)
- Preliminary Geotechnical Investigation Report Jacques Whitford, June 22, 2007. (Geotechnical Study)
- Supplemental Geotechnical Investigation, PG4683-2 Paterson Group, May 15, 2019. (Supplemental Geotechnical Study)
- Design Brief for Stormwater Management Pond 1, Western Development Lands, Richmond JF Sabourin and Associates Inc. and David Schaeffer Engineering Limited, September 2019. (Ultimate Pond 1 Design Brief)
- Design Brief for Caivan Communities Richmond Phase 1, Richmond Village Development Corporation
 Description

DSEL, November 28, 2017. (Caivan Phase 1 Design Brief)

- Design Brief for Fox Run Subdivision Richmond Phase 2 (South), Richmond Village Development Corporation DSEL, May 31, 2019. (Caivan Phase 2 South Design Brief)
- Design Brief for Fox Run Subdivision Richmond Phase 2 (North), Richmond Village Development Corporation DSEL, September 5, 2019. (Caivan Phase 2 North Design Brief)
- Functional Servicing Report for Richmond Village Mattamy Homes DSEL, June 27, 2019. (Mattamy FSR)

3.0 EXISTING CONDITIONS

3.1 Geotechnical

Jacques Whitford carried out a Geotechnical Investigation of the subject property in June 2007. The report is included in *Appendix B*. The following summarizes the results of their investigation:

North of Perth Street, the soils consist of a thick deposit of clay overlying a till deposit overlying inferred bedrock. Bedrock is anticipated at depths in excess of 6 m below ground surface to the north of Perth Street and becoming shallower to the south of Perth Street.

Between Perth and Ottawa Street the soils consist of a thin deposit of clay overlying a sandy silt deposit over a till deposit over inferred bedrock. Bedrock is anticipated at depths between 3 m to 4 m below ground surface.

South of Ottawa Street the soils consist of a deposit sandy silt over a till deposit over inferred bedrock. Bedrock is anticipated at depths ranging from greater than 4 m to less than 1 m below ground surface.

A compressible deposit of clay was encountered within the northern section of the site. Due to the compressible nature of the clay, grade raises over sections of the site should be restricted to minimize total settlements. **Table 1** summarizes the preliminary grade raise restrictions for the site. **Drawing 1 – Constraints Plan** depicts the grade raise constraint areas proposed by Jacques Whitford in 2007. Some areas of development have updated grade raise restrictions as new reports were completed as described below.

Site Area	Maximum Grade Raise Above Existing Site Grades
PIN 0062, 0061; North of Perth Street	1.0 m
PIN 0285, 0286; Parcel to the south of Perth Street	1.5 m
PIN 0287; Parcel north of Ottawa Street	2.0 m
PIN 0714, 0746, 0047, 0075; Parcels north and south of Ottawa Street	4.0 m

Table 1Summary of Maximum Grade Raise Constraints

As development has proceeded since 2007, updated geotechnical reports have been prepared for individual development sites.

In 2018, RVDC retained Golder Associates to prepare a geotechnical investigation for Phase 1 of their land holdings. Per the *Geotechnical Investigation – Phase 1* dated February 2018, the recommended grade raise restriction is 2.0 m across the entire Phase 1 site.

In 2019, RVDC retained Golder Associates to prepare a geotechnical investigation for Phase 2 and 3 of their land holdings. Per the *Geotechnical Investigation – Phase 2/3* dated August 2019, the recommended grade raise restriction is 2.0 m in the roadway and 1.3 m at the house.

In 2019, Mattamy (Jock River) Limited retained Paterson Group to prepare a supplemental geotechnical investigation for their land holdings. Per the *Geotechnical Investigation Report PG4683-2*, the maximum grade raise constraints have been updated for Mattamy (Jock River) Limited. Paterson noted that the south and central portions of the proposed development consist of shallow bedrock and no grade raise restriction is required. Refer to enclosed figure PG4683-2 by Paterson Group, enclosed in *Appendix B*.

3.2 Regulatory Floodplain

The Jock River and Van Gaal Drain are adjacent to the subject lands and have established regulatory floodplains that are subject to modifications approved through the *CDP* process. The following sections describe the regulatory floodplain limits and the amendment process.

3.2.1 Jock River

The Rideau Valley Conservation Authority completed floodplain mapping for the Jock River in November 2004.

Figure 3 was extracted from the Jock River Flood Risk Map and illustrates a significant portion of the subject lands south of Ottawa Street within the Regulatory Flood Limit.



Figure 3: Regulatory Floodplain Mapping – Jock River

In December 2005, a letter of permission was issued by the RVCA to the original landowner for the construction of a berm to maintain flood risk mapping land levels as per (the 1980 Acres Floodplain) Mapping Study (96.0 m) south of Ottawa Street. On March 3, 2009, the RVCA issued a letter of permission, included in *Appendix C*, authorizing works to be conducted based on past approvals granted on the property. The authorized works involved removal of the existing berm and relocation to the approved 2005 location. The existing flap gate and culvert from the drainage easement were removed. The berm also extends parallel along both sides of the drainage easement north up to Ottawa Street. The permission letter also included the placement of fill between the new berm and Ottawa Street to a maximum level of 96.5 m.

It is acknowledged that the RVCA letter of permission, dated March 3, 2009, is almost 10 years old and as such, the letter is considered expired. Mattamy, DSEL and JFSA met with the RVCA on October 31, 2018 where the RVCA confirmed that the revised proposal can move forward with the same submission as what was proposed in the March 3, 2009 permission letter.

An updated proposal was submitted to the RVCA under Ontario Regulation 174/06 and was approved June 14, 2019. The new permit to place fill between the berm and Ottawa Street to a maximum level of 96.5 m is enclosed in *Appendix A*. The placement of fill was the only outstanding work from the 2009 permit.

3.2.2 Van Gaal Drain

The Rideau Valley Conservation Authority completed floodplain mapping for the Van Gaal Drain in November 2009.

Figure 4 was extracted from the Van Gaal and Arbuckle Drain Floodplain Mapping and illustrates a significant portion of the subject lands north of Perth Street within the Regulatory Flood Limit.



Figure 4: Regulatory Floodplain Mapping – Van Gaal Drain

The "Floodplain Mapping Report for the Van Gaal and Arbuckle Municipal Drain in the Village of Richmond (November 2009)" was supported by RVCA staff and was brought

forward for approval to the January 28, 2010 RVCA Executive Board Meeting. At this meeting, the Board approved the report and mapping as the regulatory floodplain mapping. The Board also approved the RVCA staff recommendation to allow for channel modifications to be undertaken north of Perth Street that would allow for an amendment to the regulatory floodplain limit. The approach and process are documented in the January 14, 2010 minutes of meeting which are contained in *Appendix C*. In summary, additional channel modifications will be completed north of Perth Street to increase the channel's conveyance capacity that meet the 1:100-year water surface profile in J.F. Sabourin & Associates Floodplain Mapping Report for the Van Gaal and Arbuckle Municipal Drains Report (November 2009). On approval and completion of the channel modifications, RVCA will amend its flood hazard and regulation limits mapping based on the completed works.

DSEL prepared a preliminary design for the proposed Van Gaal Drain modifications based on comments received during a pre-consultation meeting that took place on May 19, 2011 and a revised draft plan. The submission package is included in *Appendix C*. RVCA reviewed the preliminary proposal and issued comments via email on October 16, 2012, included in *Appendix C*. A copy of the JFSA modelling memo entitled *Richmond Village Development / Proposed Realignment of Van Gaal Drain* dated April 20, 2017 is included in *Appendix C*.

3.3 Geomorphology

RVDC retained Coldwater Consulting Ltd. (Coldwater) to complete an erosion threshold analysis and provide a channel design for the realignment of the existing Van Gaal Drain. The erosion analysis study, along with modelling to assess the condition of the existing Van Gaal Drain / Arbuckle Drain, is enclosed in *Appendix D*. The design analysis included a 'natural channel design' for the low-flow inner channel, bank erosion assessment and recommendations and planting recommendations. The proposed realignment of the existing Van Gaal Drain has gone through the Drainage Act process and the Engineer's Report *Amendment to the Engineer's Report for the Van Gaal Municipal Drain* prepared by Robinson Consultants dated January 2019 was approved by City Council on June 12, 2019. The Agricultural and Rural Affairs Committee report to Council is provided in *Appendix D*.

Approximately 900 m of the existing Van Gaal Drain will be realigned to follow the boundary of the Richmond Village Development Corporation site. The goal of natural channel design for the realignment is to restore the hydraulic and ecological function of the channel through the re-creation of natural features and vegetation. A conveyance channel with a trapezoidal form will be constructed to carry flows up to the 100-year return period flow. A meandering low flow channel has been designed to fit within the 10 m wide base of the conveyance channel. Coldwater has included several cross vane weirs, constructed with small boulders and stones, to add diversity and anchor the pools. Straw fibre erosion control blankets are to be including in the main channel for soil erosion and

allowing natural vegetation to become established. Shrubs and seed mix are to be applied on the outside banks of the meandering stream to help the natural succession of vegetation soil.

Further details of the channel design are discussed in *Natural Channel Design: Van Gaal Drain* prepared by Coldwater February 23, 2017, enclosed in *Appendix D*.

3.4 **Pre-Development Drainage Conditions**

JFSA was retained to develop hydrologic and hydraulic models of the existing areas to assess the impact of the proposed urban development. The calculated flows included in *Appendices E and I* were prepared based upon the same methodology used for the 2009 Richmond Floodplain Mapping study, taking into consideration the timing of peak flows of the Van Gaal drain and Jock River. The calculated water surface elevations (WSELs) were determined using the 2009 Richmond Floodplain HEC-RAS spring and summer models, which do not include features including the berm that has been constructed upstream of Perth Street or any modification to Fortune Street culvert.

Tributary Area	100-year, 3-hour Chicago Storm	100-year, 12-hour SCS Type II Storm	100-year 10 Day Spring Snowmelt and Rainfall Event
	(m³/s)	(m³/s)	(m³/s)
VG-2 & VG-5	2.55	3.19	1.86
VG-6	1.42	1.89	1.61
VG-7 & JR-1	1.60	2.01	1.30

 Table 2

 Summary of Peak Flows to be conveyed through Subdivision

Refer to **Richmond Village (South) Limited Subdivision / Preliminary Stormwater Management Plan** prepared by JFSA dated January 10, 2014 in **Appendix I**, for locations of external areas to be conveyed through the proposed development.

Figure 5, included in *Figures*, illustrates the Existing Conditions Storm Drainage. The subject property is tributary to both the Van Gaal Drain and the Jock River, ultimately all stormwater from the subject area reaches the Jock River. As depicted, 1,147 ha is tributary to the Van Gaal Drain, of which approximately 115 ha is the subject site. Approximately 32 ha of the subject development is tributary to the Jock River. Furthermore, approximately 34 ha west of the subject site and south of Ottawa Street drains through the development site to the Jock River.

3.5 Hydrogeology

RVDC retained Golder and Associates (Golder) to evaluate the proposed drainage plan with respect to the hydrogeological conditions encountered at the site. Golder has conducted and compiled field observations and sampling and have analysed the hydrogeological effects of subsurface drainage for the proposed development. *Appendix F* contains Golder's technical memorandum of their oneyear review of groundwater monitoring as well as their technical memorandum assessment of subsurface drainage and analysis of the 100-year flood event. *Sections 5.2.4* and *6.3* of this study discuss the results of their findings in detail.

After construction of Phase 1 of the RVDC lands, Golder has undertaken an additional groundwater monitoring program of the groundwater levels in order to verify that they are at, or lower, than the underside of footings of the units. A copy of the *Groundwater Monitoring Results* by Golder dated July 9, 2019 is included in *Appendix F*. Paterson Group has been retained by Mattamy (Jock River) Limited to complete groundwater monitoring for their site. On-going monitoring and reporting will continue through coordination with the City of Ottawa, as required.

4.0 SWM SERVICING ALTERNATIVES

This section of the revised MDP has been included for historical reference; however, the proposal of SWM servicing alternatives has not been revisited. The final SWM servicing strategy was approved through the Ontario Municipal Board Decision in 2014.

In December 2008, a three-day design workshop in Richmond to develop a land use concept plan for their lands. Looney Ricks Kiss (LRK) facilitated the design workshop with input from the consultant team, City staff, residents and other stakeholders. Building upon the visioning principles established through the *CDP* process, a preliminary land use concept plan was developed (*Figure 6*). In order to finalize and support the development land use concept plan, the stormwater management requirements need to be established.



Figure 6: Preliminary Land Use Concept Plan

4.1.1 End of Pipe Stormwater Alternatives

There are several suitable end-of-pipe options for the treatment of stormwater runoff from urban areas including – Infiltration Basins, Wetlands, Dry Ponds, Wet Ponds, and Hydrodynamic Separation Units. *Table 3* presents the four options and their suitability as described in *SWMPDM* (MECP, March 2003).

Stormwater Management Practice	Description	
Infiltration Basins	Infiltration basins are above-ground pond systems which are constructed in highly pervious soils. Water infiltrates into the basin and either recharges the groundwater system or is collected by an underground perforated pipe network and is discharged to a downstream outlet.	
Wet Ponds	Wet ponds are the most common end-of-pie stormwater facilities in Ontario. The performance does not depend on soil characteristics, permanent pool minimizes re-suspension of captured solids and minimizes blockages at the outlet. Furthermore, the biological removal of pollutants occurs. Wet ponds are suited to drainage areas 5ha and greater	
Wetlands	Wetlands are normally more land-intensive than wet ponds because of their shallower permanent pool depth. They provide similar quality benefits as wet ponds, although the biological processes are enhanced.	
Dry Ponds	Dry ponds have no permanent pool of water. As such the removal of containments is purely a function of the detention time in the pond.	
Hydrodynamic Separation Units	Hydrodynamic Separation Units or Oil / Grit separator are manufactured concrete units for the expressed purpose of trapping sediment and oil. The processes are patented and sizing is dependent on the manufactures specifications and tends to work well with small (less than 5.0ha) catchments. These units tend to occupy less land area.	

Table 3End of Pipe Treatment Systems Considered

In developing the various end of pipe stormwater management alternatives, two additional considerations were given priority. First, siting a SWMP at the lowest elevations of the site was considered over higher elevations. Second, the ponds should be situated nearest to their respective outlet locations.

Jock River Outlet Options

One of the SWMP options conceived was to locate a facility at the southernmost extent of the site to outlet directly to the Jock River within the subject lands. However, the 100year flood elevation at this location is 96.40, which is higher than the northern portion of the development. An alternate outlet location was considered at the end of Ottawa Street where the 100-year level in the Jock River lowers dramatically, by approximately 2.0m, 1200 m downstream at Ottawa Street which could facilitate drainage of the majority of the subject lands.

Outlet routes from the subject area to Jock River at Ottawa Street were considered along Queen Charlotte, Royal York Street, Burke Street, and Ottawa Street. Based on 'as-built' information received from the City of Ottawa Information Centre, it was found that an existing sanitary sewer would be in conflict with a proposed sewer routing along Royal York and Burke Streets at Fortune Street. An outlet route to the Jock River via Martin, Hamilton and Perth is not possible as the storm sewer is unable to cross under the existing Van Gaal Drain. As such, routing along Queen Charlotte Street and Ottawa Street are the storm sewer route most feasible from the subject lands should flows be directed to the Jock River at the end of Ottawa Street.

Van Gaal/Arbuckle Outlet Options

An outlet directly to the Van Gaal/Arbuckle Drain was considered for the development area north and south of Perth Street. It will be required to demonstrate that there would be no increase in flood levels along the Van Gaal Drain as well as providing erosion impulse control in accordance with the *Geomorphology Study*.

Preliminary Screening of End of Pipe Stormwater Management Alternatives

Infiltration basins require low ground water tables and permeable soils. The *Geotechnical Study* illustrated that ground water elevations are within 0.60 m to 1.2 m of the existing ground surface. Furthermore, the soils are predominately clays with low percolation rates. Therefore, infiltration basins are not suitable in this application.

According to the **SWMPDM** wetlands tend to raise the temperature more than wet ponds. The **Environmental Study** indicated that the downstream watercourse has thermal sensitive species. Therefore, and end of pipe facility that minimizes temperature increase was given priority.

Based on the site characteristics, constraints, and requirements; stormwater management solutions incorporating wet ponds, dry ponds, and oil/grit separators will be investigated in additional detail.

4.1.2 Lot Level Stormwater Management Alternatives

Table 4 summarizes investigated lot level stormwater management practices.

Stormwater Management Practice	Description
Rain Barrel	Harvesting rainwater by capturing rooftop runoff by connecting roof leaders to 'barrels' for watering during periods of dry weather.
Cistern	Harvesting rainwater by capturing rooftop runoff and directing stormwater to an underground storage tank. Water is pumped for watering during dry periods.
Green Roof	Consist of a thin layer of vegetation and growing medium installed on top of a convention flat or sloped roof. Reduces the 'heat' island effect and reduces runoff volume.
Roof downspout disconnection	Roof downspouts are disconnected from the weeping tile and are directed to grassed areas.
Soakaway, infiltration trench or chamber	Rectangular or circular excavations lined with geotextile filter cloth and filled with clear stone designed to promote groundwater infiltration.
Bioretention / Biofilter	Consists of a filter bed consisting of a mixture of sand, soil, and organic material. Bioretention facilities are designed to capture small storm events to retain and filter stormwater runoff. Plantings promote evapotranspiration.
Permeable pavement	An alternative to traditional impervious pavement to allow stormwater to drain through into an aggregate reservoir and infiltrate into the ground water.
Enhanced grass swale	Vegetated open channels designed to convey, treat, and attenuate stormwater runoff. Check dams and vegetation in the swale promote attenuation and infiltration.
Dry Swale	A dry swale incorporates an engineered soil medium and a perforated pipe under drain.
Perforated pipe system	Underground stormwater conveyance systems usually incorporated into the right-of-way drainage system.

Table 4Lot Level Treatment Systems Considered

Residential subdivisions typically consist of urban right-of-way cross-sections and residential homes with peaked roofs.

As such the following measures were not considered:

- Cisterns Would increase the cost of each home.
- Green Roofs Not standard practice in residential homes.

- Biorentention / Biofilter not part of a standard City of Ottawa cross-section.
 Would increase right of way maintenance.
- Permeable Pavement not standard practice in the City of Ottawa.
- Enhanced Grass Swale Would have to take place in rear yards. It is anticipated that home owners will remove check dams.
- Perforated pipe system not typical sewer design practice in the City of Ottawa. Would increase maintenance costs.

The proposed subdivision will consist of the following:

- Roof Leaders to Grassed Areas.
- Dry Swales.
- An education program to promote rain barrels.

4.1.3 Screening of Options

Three stormwater management servicing alternatives, illustrated on *Figures 7, 8, 9* in *Appendix G* were developed for evaluation:

Option 1 (Figure 7)

- Four Stormwater Management Ponds (SWMPs)
- Three facility are "Wet Ponds" with MECP 'Enhanced' TSS removal. While Pond 3 is a dry pond for quantity control and a hydrodynamic separator to provide quality control.
- External drainage tributary to the subject lands will be conveyed through proposed storm sewers and drainage ditches. The existing channels identified as the Moore Tributary and existing outlet to the Jock River will be enclosed.
- External drainage west of the development currently being conveyed along the Perth Street roadside ditches will continue to outlet to the Van Gaal Drain. Once the road is widened to an urban cross-section the external drainage from west of Perth Street will be conveyed to the Van Gaal Drain via storm sewers.
- External drainage currently being conveyed through the Moore Tributary will be conveyed to Pond 1 via new storm sewers.
- Jock River Estates drainage will be conveyed north of Ottawa Street through the new storm sewer system to Pond 1.
- <u>Pond 1</u> will be designed to receive flow from the majority of the area between Perth Street and Ottawa Street, approximately 58 ha.

- This wet pond will be designed to attenuate post-development runoff rates to predevelopment levels, while flows up to and including the 2-year event will be attenuated to 330 L/s in accordance with the *Geomorphic Study*.
- <u>Pond 2</u> will be designed to receive runoff from approximately 8 ha north of Ottawa and the developable land south of Ottawa Street.
- Pond 2 is a wet pond and has one outlet directing post-development runoff rates to the Jock River via a proposed storm sewer along Ottawa Street. The 100-year release rate from Pond 2 will be restricted to the free-flowing capacity of the outlet sewer.
- <u>Pond 3</u> will be designed as a dry pond with a hydrodynamic separator to collect and retain runoff from approximately 3 ha north of Perth Street east of the Van Gaal Drain.
- This pond will be designed to attenuate flows to 330 L/s in accordance with the *Geomorphic Study*.
- The proposed facility will incorporate a hydrodynamic separator to provide 80% TSS removal per SWMPDM.
- <u>Pond 4</u> will be designed to collect and retain runoff from approximately 28 ha north of Perth Street east of the Van Gaal Drain and will outlet to the Van Gaal Drain.
- This pond will be designed to attenuate post-development runoff rates to predevelopment levels, while flows up to and including the 2-year event will be attenuated to 330 L/s in accordance with the *Geomorphic Study*.

Option 2 (Figure 8)

- Three Stormwater Management Ponds (SWMPs)
- Ponds 1 and 2 are "Wet Ponds" with MECP 'Enhanced' TSS removal. Pond 3 is a dry pond for quantity control and a hydrodynamic separator to provide quality control.
- External drainage tributary to the subject lands will be conveyed through proposed storm sewers and therefore the existing tributaries identified as Moore and Jock River Estates will be enclosed. A portion of the Moore tributary along Queen Charlotte will remain open.
- External drainage west of the development currently being conveyed along the Perth Street roadside ditches will continue to outlet to the Van Gaal Drain. Once the road is widened to an urban cross-section the external drainage from west of Perth Street will be conveyed to the Van Gaal Drain via storm sewers.

- External drainage currently being conveyed through the Moore Tributary will be conveyed to Pond 1 via new storm sewers.
- Jock River Estates drainage will be conveyed north of Ottawa Street through the new storm sewer system to Pond 1.
- <u>Pond 1</u> will be designed to receive runoff from 45 ha between Ottawa and Perth Streets in addition to 28 ha north of Perth Street on the west side of the Van Gaal Drain. Pond 1 will have two outlets:
- The first channel will be designed to convey low flows up to and including the 2-year event attenuated to 330 L/s in accordance with the *Geomorphic Study*. The channel will provide both surface and subsurface conveyance. The channel will be bordered by strategic planting to promote shaded cover, while the subsurface component will enhance cooling opportunities.
- The second channel will be designed to convey the treated stormwater runoff from the less frequent storm events generated during the 5 to 100year return periods.
- <u>Pond 2</u> will be designed to receive runoff from 21 ha north of Ottawa and the developable land south of Ottawa Street.
- Pond 2 has one outlet directing post-development runoff rates to the Jock River via a proposed storm sewer along Ottawa Street. The 100-year release rate from pond 2 will be restricted to the free-flowing capacity of the outlet sewer.
- <u>Pond 3</u> will be designed as a dry pond for quantity control / hydrodynamic separator to collect and retain runoff from approximately 3 ha north of Perth Street east of the Van Gaal Drain.
- This pond will be designed to attenuate flows to 330 L/s in accordance with the *Geomorphic Study*.
- The pond outlet structure will be designed to mitigate increases in water levels in the Van Gaal Drain
- The proposed facility will incorporate an oil / grit sedimentation chamber to provide 80% TSS removal per SWMPDM.

Option 3 (Figure 9)

- Three Stormwater Management Ponds (SWMPs)
- Ponds 1 and 2 are "Wet Ponds" with MECP 'Enhanced' TSS removal, while Pond 3 is conceived to be a dry pond for quantity control and a hydrodynamic separator to provide quality control.
- In this stormwater management option, the Moore Tributary for its entire length will be left open and Jock River Estates drain will be enclosed within

the development area. The existing channel will need to be redesigned to ensure that the channel contains the 100-year event. JFSA prepared a hydrologic and hydraulic model to confirm the proposed cross-sections, see *Appendix I* for the detailed analysis.

- External drainage west of the development currently being conveyed along the Perth Street roadside ditches will continue to outlet to the Van Gaal Drain. Once the road is widened to an urban cross-section, the external drainage from west of Perth Street will be conveyed to Pond 1 via storm sewers.
- External drainage currently being conveyed through the Moore Tributary will be conveyed to the Van Gaal/Arbuckle Drain via the redesigned Moore Tributary channel.
- Jock River Estates drainage will be conveyed along Ottawa Street through a new storm sewer to the new SWM Wetland 2 facility. The envisioned sequencing of events that has been vetted through RVCA is to: (1) construct SWM Pond 2 and trunk sewer along Ottawa Street; (2) close the existing drain outlet south of Ottawa Street in coordination with the RVCA.
- The Fortune Street Culvert will be modified to lower 100-year summer water levels upstream of Fortune Street.
- <u>Pond 1</u> will be designed to receive runoff from 45 ha between Ottawa and Perth Streets in addition to 28 ha north of Perth Street on the west side of the Van Gaal Drain. Pond 1 will have two outlets:
- The first outlet will be designed to convey low flows up to and including the 2-year event attenuated to 330 L/s in accordance with the *Geomorphic Study*. The pond will be designed to enhance cooling opportunities where possible.
- The second outlet will be designed to convey the treated stormwater runoff from the less frequent storm events generated during the 5 to 100-year return periods.
- Pond 1 is situated in the 100-year regulatory floodplain, outside the 100year erosion limit and 100-year summer flood elevation of the Van Gaal/Arbuckle Drain.
- <u>Pond 2</u> will be designed to receive runoff from 21 ha north of Ottawa and the developable land south of Ottawa Street.
- Pond 2 has one outlet directing post-development runoff rates to the Jock River via a proposed storm sewer along Ottawa Street. The 100-year release rate from Pond 2 will be restricted to the free-flowing capacity of the outlet sewer.

- <u>Pond 3</u> will be designed to collect and retain runoff from approximately 3 ha north of Perth Street east of the Van Gaal Drain.
- This pond will be designed to attenuate flows to 330 L/s in accordance with the *Geomorphic Study*.
- The proposed facility will incorporate an oil / grit sedimentation chamber to provide 80% TSS removal per the SWMPDM.

4.2 Selection of Preferred SWMP

4.2.1 Evaluation Process

The three stormwater management options presented in **Section 4.1** were brought forward for evaluation through a pair-wise comparison matrix. The evaluation matrix was developed as part of the Village of Richmond Master Servicing Study (**Servicing Study**). These evaluation criteria were presented and reviewed by the Technical Advisory Committee and the public.

The evaluation criteria consist of criterion in four major categories: Natural Environment, Caring and Healthy Communities, Constructability and Functionality, and Cost. Each of these major categories has been assigned a weighting which is summarized in *Table 5*.
Parameter	Indicators	Weighting		
Natural Environment		21%		
N1 Impact on significant natural features	Loss, displacement, disruption fragmentation of natural areas (wetlands, woodlands, terrestrial ecology, ANSI's and associated corridors).	3%		
N2 Impact on ecological processes	Fragmentation of natural areas, interruption of natural linkages.	3%		
N3 Impact on aquatic systems	Number of stream crossings, impact on significant fish habitat	7%		
N6 Effects on green space and open space	Interference with linear green way systems.	7%		
Caring and Healthy Communities		25%		
C3 Impact on level of service	Maintains or improves level of service to the existing and future village residents.	13%		
C4 Disruption to community	Compatibility with existing community character.	6%		
C9 Consistency with infrastructure planning policies	Compatibility with infrastructure servicing corridors and flexibility for enhancements to land use.	6%		
Constructability and Functionality		29%		
CO2 Schedule / Staging Opportunities	Ability to phase infrastructure to facilitate development phasing	6%		
CO3 Construction Risk	Conforms to geotechnical, geomorphology, hydrological	6%		
CO4 Impact on existing infrastructure	Relocation of existing services (i.e. sanitary sewers, wells) and other utilities	6%		
CO5 Disruption during construction	Location of new infrastructure in built up areas and nuisance effects	6%		
CO6 Operation and maintenance	Proven track record, ease of operating and maintenance	6%		
Cost		25%		
E9 Total 25-year life cycle cost	Cost effective life cycle costs	6%		
E11 Total Capital Cost	Cost effective capital costs.	19%		

Table 5Summary of Decision Matrix Categories

Each alternative is ranked based on the criteria presented previously. The ranking values assigned to the alternatives based on the various criteria are given over a relative range from 1 to 5. The description of these rankings is presented in **Table 6**:

Ranking	Description
5 - Positive or No Impact	The alternative meets all applicable requirements, provides tangible benefits
4 – Minor Impact	The alternative has some minor negative impacts or dis- benefits that may easily be mitigated or compensated for
3- Moderate Impact	The alternative has noticeable negative impacts, however, the severity of the impacts may be reduced or compensated for
2 – Noticeable Negative Impact	The alternative has significant negative impacts which may be mitigated, although these may be costly, time consuming or result in other negative impacts
1 - Negative or Significant Impact	The alternative does not meet applicable requirements, results in significant dis-benefits and/or negative impacts cannot be mitigated

Table 6Decision Matrix Categories Ranking System

Under this ranking system, each individual criterion is ranked <u>relatively</u> for each alternative. For example, for Criteria N1 (Impact on Natural Features), the 1 to 5 ranking for an individual alternative is determined based on the relative impact on the environment compared to all the other alternatives being evaluated.

4.2.2 Discussion of Preferred Option

The results of the evaluation of the three stormwater management options are contained in *Table 7.* Kilgour & Associates were retained to complete the evaluation of the three options for the Natural Environment criteria.

MASTER DRAINAGE PLAN WESTERN DEVELOPMENT LANDS VILLAGE OF RICHMOND

OCTOBER 11, 2019 - REV 5

Parameter		Option 1		Option 2			Option 3			
	Weighting	Description	Score	Weighting	Description	Score Weighting		Description	Score	Weighting
Natural Environment	21%									
N1 – Impact on Significant Natural Features	3%	There is no footprint of the SWM facilities on significant natural features (NESS Area 422, Significant Woodlands, Jock River corridor).There is no footprint of the SWM facilities on significant natural features (NESS Area 422, Significant Woodlands, Jock River corridor).There is no of the SWM on significant supervise 		There is no footprint of the SWM facilities on significant natural features (NESS Area 422, Significant Woodlands, Jock River corridor).	5	0.15				
N2 – Impact on Ecological Processes	3%	There are no terrestrial corridors impacted by this option. New outlets being introduced into watercourses.	4	0.12	There are no terrestrial corridors impacted by this option. New outlets being introduced into watercourses.	4	0.12	There are no terrestrial corridors impacted by this option. New outlets being introduced into watercourses. Riparian corridors being enhanced.	5	0.15
N3 – Impact on Aquatic Systems	7%	Loss of some 3660 m ² of indirect fish habitat; loss of some 2510 m ² of direct fish habitat	2	0.14	Loss of some 3285 m ² of indirect fish habitat; loss of some 177 m ² of direct fish habitat	2	0.14	Conversion of existing indirect fish habitat to direct fish habitat, for a total gain of direct fish habitat of some 3386 m ² . Creation of new potential fish spawning habitats in outlet channel.		0.35
N6 – Effects on Greenspace and Open Space	s on e 7% Less greenspace as hedgerows removed and entire length of Moore Tributary (VG-R2-2) enclosed and hedgerows removed. VG-R3-1 remains open retaining existing vegetation. 3 0.21 Entire length of Moore Tributary enclosed.		Entire length of Moore Tributary open and hedgerow reestablished along VG-R3-2. Enhancement of tributary and SWM Pond integrated with Martin Street Pedestrian Extension	4	0.28					

Table 7 Stormwater Management Evaluation

MASTER DRAINAGE PLAN WESTERN DEVELOPMENT LANDS VILLAGE OF RICHMOND

OCTOBER 11, 2019 - REV 5

Caring and Healthy Communities	25%									
C3 – Impact on Level of Service	13%	New facilities. All options meet SWM criteria and flood protection for downstream recipients.	4	0.52	New facilities. All options meet SWM criteria and flood protection for downstream recipients.	4	0.14	New facilities. All options meet SWM criteria and flood protection for downstream recipients.	4	0.52
C4 – Disruption to Community	6%	Village currently does not have wet pond SWM facilities. Ponds situated in development lands.	3	0.18	Village currently does not have wet pond SWM facilities. Ponds situated in development lands.	3	0.21	Village currently does not have wet pond SWM facilities. Ponds situated in development lands.	3	0.18
C9 – Consistency with Infrastructure Planning Policies	6%	Pond technology and design consistent with the City and Ministry Guidelines. Grading north of Perth Street exceeds Geotechnical recommendations.	2	0.12	Pond technology and design consistent with the City and Ministry Guidelines.	4	0.24	Pond technology and design consistent with the City and Ministry Guidelines. Location of ponds in floodplain not common but permitted under the Provincial Policy Statement based on certain criteria being met	3	0.18

Constructability										
and	29%									
CO2 – Schedule /Staging Opportunities	6%	Four ponds equally distributed to allow for ease in project phasing	4	0.24	One large centrally located facility does not provide the ease of construction phasing	3	0.18	One large centrally located facility does not provide the ease of construction phasing	3	0.18
CO3 – Construction Risk	6%	Exceeds geotechnical recommendations.	1	0.06	Exceeds geotechnical recommendations.	1	0.06	Conforms to geotechnical recommendations	5	0.30
CO4 – Impact on Existing Utilities	6%	Storm sewer outfall along Queen Charlotte and Ottawa street	2	0.12	Storm sewer outfall along Ottawa Street	3	0.18	Storm sewer outfall along Ottawa Street	3	0.18
CO5 – Disruption during Construction	6%	4 Ponds – additional pond construction over other options	2	0.12	3 Ponds with Pond 1 setback farther from existing residents	3	0.18	3 Ponds with Pond 1 situated closer to existing residents	2	0.12
CO6 – Operation and Maintenance	6%	Use of proven technology – additional pond to maintain	3	0.18	Use of proven technology	4	0.24	Use of proven technology	4	0.24
Economy	25%									
E9 – Total 25- year Life Cycle Costs	8%	Highest O&M costs.	2	0.12	Lower O&M than option 3	4	0.24	Lower O&M than option 1	3	0.18
E11 – Total Capital Costs	13%	Highest total capital cost	1	0.19	Lower capital cost than 1.	3	0.57	Lower capital cost than 2.	5	0.95
Total				2.4			3.2			4.0
Ranking				3			2			1

Based on the above analysis recommended alternative was found to be Option 3, where it scored **4.0**.

For Natural Environment Criteria, all three options received the same rating for N1 -Impact on Significant Natural Features as all ponds have been situated outside of significant woodlands and the Jock River Corridor. For the remaining criterion, the Fish Habitat Risk Assessment was relied on to assess each option. This assessment identified re-grading of the Mattamy land holdings, and the subsequent construction and operation of the SWM ponds will cause some moderate changes under Options 1 and 2, and a net gain in direct fish habitat in Option 3. Fish habitats that would be altered are generally indirect intermittent habitats or are man-made. SWM Option 3 is anticipated to provide a significant and net benefit to direct fish habitat, in association with the following aspects of the proposed design. Sections 6 and 7 of the Moore Branch will be re-graded to enhance the conveyance function of the feature. That will result in a change in the status of Sections 7 and 8, which are currently classified as indirect intermittent fish habitat, to direct intermittent fish habitat. Fish will continue to be able to access Section 7 for spawning, while the improved grading is anticipated to allow larvae/fry to migrate out of the system as water levels recede over the course of the spring/summer. A French drain will be incorporated in the SWM pond design to provide cool base flow to the lower Moore Branch, and maintain the cool-water function of that feature. The outlet channel for SWM Pond 1 will be designed to provide spring fish spawning habitat. Additional riparian plantings along the Moore Branch will enhance its ability to cool surface waters and to provide a naturalized corridor. Riparian plantings along the main stem of the Arbuckle Drain will provide additional shade and course woody material to that feature. Option 3, with a large SWM pond in the 100-year floodplain of the Arbuckle Drain, would provide net benefits to fish habitat with up to an additional 3,386 m² of fish habitat created as a result of the undertaking. As such, Option 3 ranked highest for criterion N2, N3, N6 (Kilgour and Associates).

For Caring and Healthy Communities criteria, the three options have similar ranking for the three criteria except for C9 – Consistency with Infrastructure Planning Policies. All options will meet the SWM criteria established for the receiving watercourses. C4 – Disruption to Community is defined as compatibility with existing Village character. The Village does not have stormwater management so this is new infrastructure being introduced, however, all ponds are contained on future development lands. Option 2 ranked highest for C9 as it is most consistent with applicable policies.

For Constructability and Functionality, Option 1 ranks the highest for CO2 – Schedule/Staging opportunities as the additional pond provides greater staging flexibility. CO3 – Construction Risk was based meeting JWL grade raise limits. Option 3 ranked highest as it conforms to the grade raise limits with Option 1 and 2 exceeding geotechnical recommendations. CO4 – Impact on Existing Utilities was defined as any new storm sewers required within existing right-of-ways. Option 1 ranked the lowest as it proposes a storm sewer along Queen Charlotte Street. Option 2 ranked highest for CO5 –

Disruption during Construction as it has 3 ponds with Pond 1 situated farther away from existing residents. All options were equal for CO6 – Operations and Maintenance as the technology is consistent among the options and has a proven track record.

Economy represents 25% of the score. Based on a relative comparison of costs, Option 2 ranks highest for E9, Total 25-year Life Cycle Costs as it had the lowest life cycle costs. For E11, Total Capital Costs, Option 3 had the lowest costs and therefore ranked first.

Figure 10, including in *Figures*, illustrates the post development drainage tributary to the Van Gaal Drain and the Jock River. As described previously the subject property is tributary to both the Van Gaal Drain and the Jock River, ultimately all stormwater from the subject area reaches the Jock River. The proposed stormwater management scheme will reduce the total area tributary to the Van Gaal Drain by approximately 67 ha. The external areas VG-7, JR-1 will be tributary to Pond 2, which outlets to the Jock River. Areas tributary to the Jock River will remain so in the post development scenario.

5.0 EVALUATION STORM CONVEYANCE SYSTEMS

This section of the revised MDP has been included for historical reference; however, the evaluation of storm conveyance systems has not been revisited. The final storm conveyance strategy was approved through the Ontario Municipal Board Decision in 2014.

Modern storm conveyance systems were considered in light of **Sewer Design** *Guidelines,* the Technical Memorandum Technical Bulletin ISD-2012-1, as well as the proposed subdivision plan and streetscaping plan presented in the *CDP*.

The City of Ottawa provided feedback on the evaluation matrix utilized to assess the preferred stormwater management scheme presented in the *March 2010 SWM Report*. *Table 8* summarizes the evaluation criterion employed to select the preferred conveyance and servicing system.

Parameter	Indicators	Weighting
Caring and Healthy Communities		30%
C3 Impact on level of service	Maintains or improves level of service to the existing and future village residents.	15%
C9 Consistency with infrastructure planning policies	Compatibility with infrastructure servicing corridors and flexibility for enhancements to land use.	15%
Constructability and Functionality		30%
CO2 Schedule / Staging Opportunities	Ability to phase infrastructure to facilitate development phasing	6%
CO3 Construction Risk	Conforms to geotechnical, geomorphology, hydrological, etc.	9%
CO5 Disruption during construction	Location of new infrastructure in built up areas and nuisance effects	6%
CO6 Operation and maintenance	Proven track record, ease of operating and maintenance	9%
Cost		40%
E9 Annual Cost	Estimated annual maintenance cost	15%
E11 Total Capital Cost	Estimated capital costs.	25%

Table 8Summary of Decision Matrix Categories

Each alternative is ranked based on the criteria presented in **Table 9**. Under this ranking system, each individual criterion was ranked relatively for each alternative. For example, the 1 to 5 ranking for an individual alternative is determined based on the relative impact compared to all the other alternatives being evaluated. In regards to cost, the least costly will be automatically assigned a 5, while the most will be 1, with the remaining option prorated between 1 and 5 according to their estimated costs.

Capital cost for each scenario considered cut / fill requirements, trunk routing, and local storm services. While life cycle cost was considered to be the anticipated maintenance and operation of the sewer collection system, excluding the stormwater management facilities. The estimated costs are based on past data and are presented for comparison of alternatives only and are not for budgetary purposes.

Ranking	Description
5 - Positive or No Impact	The alternative meets all applicable requirements, provides tangible benefits
4 – Minor Impact	The alternative has some minor negative impacts or dis- benefits that may easily be mitigated or compensated for
3- Moderate Impact	The alternative has noticeable negative impacts, however, the severity of the impacts may be reduced or compensated for
2 – Noticeable Negative Impact	The alternative has significant negative impacts which may be mitigated, although these may be costly, time consuming or result in other negative impacts
1 - Negative or Significant Impact	The alternative does not meet applicable requirements, results in significant dis-benefits and/or negative impacts cannot be mitigated

Table 9Decision Matrix Categories Ranking System

5.1 Summary of Alternatives Assessed

The conveyance systems reviewed contain minor and major conveyance components. Minor components were those with a 5-year carrying capacity, while the major system designed to convey runoff in excess of the minor capacity. The following summarizes the conveyance systems and storm service arrangements evaluated for use in the subject area.

- Foundation service to street storm sewer Gravity connection
- Foundation service to dedicated foundation collector Gravity connection
- No Foundation Service Slab on grade units
- Foundation service to street storm sewer Sump pump

5.2 Description of Alternatives

5.2.1 Foundation service to street storm sewer

A foundation service that outlets to a street storm sewer with a gravity connection is typically applied throughout the City of Ottawa in greenfield developments. In this servicing arrangement homes are established with underside of footings set 0.30 m above the modeled 100-year hydraulic grade line in the sewer. *Figure 11* in *Appendix G*

illustrates the servicing arrangement. *Figure 11* illustrates the estimated sewer size and associated HGL determined for the recommended solution at MH ID 402.

The majority of the existing Village of Richmond is reliant on sump pumps for foundation drainage. A gravity serviced home in the Village of Richmond would raise the level of service in the area as the home owner would not be reliant on maintenance of privately-owned sump pumps.

Construction phasing and staging is contingent upon the completion of the receiving stormwater management facility.

As illustrated this servicing arrangement results in an approximate grade raise of 1.6m above existing ground, and therefore will result in areas exceeding grade raise restriction. In order to mitigate the settlement, surcharging is commonly employed. Any surcharging requirements necessary to construct homes would have potential negative impact on construction phasing. Most notably the time spent on waiting for settlement objectives to be reached as well as the transportation of surcharge material.

It was estimated that the site required a total net fill of **1,906,500** m³. See **Figure 12** in **Appendix G** for an overview of estimated cut / fill.

The estimated capital cost for the construction of storm sewers and earthworks was **\$74,987,000**, while the 25-year life cycle costs were estimated to be **\$99,000**. See **Appendix G** for detailed cost breakdown.

5.2.2 Foundation service to dedicated foundation collector

Foundation services connected to a dedicated foundation collector sewer are not typically employed in Greenfield subdivision developments in the City of Ottawa. However, these systems are used in site plan developments where the parking lot drainage is separated from foundation drainage. The advantage being that the foundation drainage is hydraulically separated the system collecting street and parking lot drainage. *Figure 13* illustrates the estimated sewer size and associated HGL determined for the recommended solution at MH ID 402.

Several foundation drain routing options were investigated. Due to the topography of the area, a gravity outlet is not available to the site that would be cost effective from either a fill or sewer routing perspective. Therefore, it was conceived that this servicing arrangement would utilize a lift station to convey foundation drainage collected into the Van Gaal Drain. This would enable the site grading to take place at a much lower elevation. As depicted in *Figure 13* in *Appendix G*, the site would be approximately *1.1 m* lower than *Option 4.2.1*.

As described in **Section 5.2.1**, the majority of the Village of Richmond is reliant on sump pumps for foundation drainage. This alternative would increase the level of service to the

home owner as the home owner would not be reliant on maintenance of privately-owned sump pumps. In this scenario, the liability would be on the municipality to ensure continuous operation of the pump station during periods where foundation drainage was collected.

Construction phasing and staging is contingent upon the completion of the receiving stormwater management facility and foundation drainage lift station.

This servicing arrangement respects the grade raise restriction throughout the development area. It was estimated that the site required a total net fill of **619,858** *m*³. See *Figure 14* in *Appendix G* for an overview of estimated cut / fill.

The estimated capital cost for the construction of storm sewers and earthworks was **\$30,219,000**, while the 25-year life cycle costs were estimated to be **\$288,000**. See **Appendix G** for detailed cost breakdown.

5.2.3 No Foundation Service – Slab on grade units

Slab on grade units, i.e. no basements or limited crawl spaces only, do not require foundation drainage. Foundation walls have equal amount of hydrostatic pressure on both sides and there would be no living space in the subsurface that would require a storm service. Slab on grade units have never been constructed for an entire community within the City of Ottawa.

As depicted in *Figure 15* in *Appendix G* the street storm sewer would be placed a minimum elevation below the finished grade.

This servicing arrangement respects the grade raise restriction throughout the development area.

It was estimated that the site required a total net fill of **967,439** *m*³. See *Figure 16* in *Appendix G* for an overview of estimated cut / fill.

The estimated capital cost for the construction of storm sewers and earthworks was **\$29,529,000**, while the 25-year life cycle costs were estimated to be **\$99,000**. See *Appendix G* for detailed cost breakdown.

5.2.4 Foundation service to street storm sewer – Sump pump

Foundations equipped with sump pumps that outlet to storm sewers are not typically employed in Greenfield subdivision developments in the City of Ottawa. In this servicing arrangement homes are situated with underside of footings 0.15m above the invert of the receiving sewer. The sump pump will be equipped with a swan neck that is 0.30m above the modeled 100-year hydraulic grade line. *Figures 17 and 18*, included in *Appendix G* illustrate the servicing arrangement. *Figure 17* illustrates the estimated sewer size and associated HGL determined for the recommended solution at MH ID 402

As described in **Section 5.2.1**, the majority of the Village of Richmond is reliant on sump pumps for foundation drainage. This alternative remains consistent with the existing level of service within the Village of Richmond.

Construction phasing and staging is contingent upon the completion of the receiving stormwater management facility.

As depicted in *Figure 17*, the street storm sewer would be placed a minimum elevation below the finished grade. This servicing arrangement respects the grade raise restriction throughout the development area.

Golder Associates were retained to assess the hydrogeological effects of subsurface drainage for the subject lands to determine the suitability of employing sump pump as a means to provide foundation drainage. Their technical memorandum is included in *Appendix F*. Their analysis concluded that the majority of the development would have USFs established above the long-term (steady-state) groundwater elevations. During a 100-year storm event and spring freshet it is anticipated that standard, commercially available sump pumps will function as intended. An extra level of protection with backup sump pumps with reserve power is also proposed alongside of the typical sump pump arrangement. With a predicted inflow rate of up to 2.0 m³/day as summarized in the memorandum this would equate to up to 21 days of backup pumping (see DSEL memorandum also found in *Appendix F*).

It was estimated that the site required a total net fill of **671,257** *m*³. See *Figure 19* in *Appendix G* for an overview of estimated cut / fill.

The estimated capital cost for the construction of storm sewers and earthworks was **\$26,586,000** while the 25-year life cycle costs were estimated to be **\$99,000**. See **Appendix G** for detailed cost breakdown.

5.3 Comparison of Alternatives

Parameter	Option 4.2.1. Gravity System	Option 4.2.2. Foundation Collector	Option 4.2.3. Slab on Grade Units	Option 4.2.4 Sump Pumps
Caring and Healthy Communities				
C3 Impact on level of service	Improves level of service when compared to Village of Richmond at large	Improved level of service to individual home owner	Reduced level of service. No basements provided.	Consistent with Village of Richmond level of service.
C9 Consistency with infrastructure planning policies	Consistent with City of Ottawa Greenfield development. Potential negative impact on land use due to fill requirements.	A departure from typical greenfield development.	Limits land uses by not providing foundation drainage services.	A departure from typical greenfield development outside of the Village of Richmond. However, common with Village limits.
Constructability and Functionality				
CO2 Schedule / Staging Opportunities	Phasing potentially inhibited by fill requirements, obtaining fill and potential surcharging requirements in areas exceed grade raise parameters.	Increased capital cost on the outset of the project for lift station. Third pipe will increase construction time.	No impact to construction phasing.	No impact to construction phasing.
CO3 Construction Risk	Exceed geotechnical parameters.	Meets geotechnical parameters.	Meets geotechnical parameters.	Meets geotechnical parameters.
CO5 Disruption during construction	Significantly more imported material to site for filling. Increased construction traffic	Increased construction duration for third pipe and lift station construction.	No additional construction disturbance expected.	No additional construction disturbance expected.
CO6 Operation and maintenance	Sewer arrangement a proven track record, with normal operating and maintenance expected. Anticipate increased road work maintain for potential settlement issues.	Increased operation and maintenance for additional pipe and lift station. A lift station failure would impact entire development.	Sewer arrangement a proven track record, with normal operating and maintenance expected.	Sewer arrangement would require normal operating and maintenance. Sump pump maintenance would be required by home owner.
Cost E9 Est. Maintenance	\$99,000	\$288,000	\$99,000	\$99,000
cost E11 Est. Capital Cost	\$74,987,000	\$30,219,000	\$29,529,000	\$26,586,000

Table 10Comparison of Alternatives

5.4 Ranking of Alternatives

Parameter		Optio	n 5.2.1	Option	n 5.2.2	Option	n 5.2.3	Option 5.2.4		
	Weighting	Score	Rank	Score	Rank	Score	Rank	Score	Rank	
Caring and Healthy Communities										
C3 Impact on level of service	15%	5	0.75	4	0.60	1	0.15	2	0.30	
C9 Consistency with infrastructure planning policies	15%	5	0.75	3	0.45	2	0.30	3	0.45	
Constructability and Functionality										
CO2 Schedule / Staging Opportunities	6%	1	0.06	2	0.12	5	0.30	5	0.30	
CO3 Construction Risk	9%	1	0.09	5	0.45	5	0.45	5	0.45	
CO5 Disruption during construction	6%	1	0.06	2	0.12	5	0.30	5	0.30	
CO6 Operation and maintenance	9%	4	0.36	1	0.09	5	0.45	2	0.18	
Cost										
E9 Est. Maintenance cost	15%	5	0.75	1	0.15	5	0.75	5	0.75	
E11 Est. Capital Cost	25%	1	0.25	4.6	0.51	4.7	0.98	5	1.25	
Total	100%		3.07		3.14		3.87		3.98	

Table 11Ranking of Alternatives

5.5 Conveyance System Conclusion

Each alternative was described in detail under **Section 5.2.** and was compared side by side in tabular format in **Section 5.3**. **Section 5.4** presented the weighting and ranking that was applied to each based on the discussion presented in the previous subsections. Option 5.2.4 emerged with the highest ranking.

Option 5.2.1, was ranked lowest. The capital cost for developing this option is cost prohibitive. Not only that a substantial amount of fill is required, a majority of the subdivision will have footings above the existing ground. Therefore, structural fill will be required to support the footings. Furthermore, due to exceeding grade raise recommendations, the significant amount of fill required and associated concerns, this option was not selected.

Option 5.2.2 scored poorly in sections C06, E9 and E11. Operating and maintaining a third pipe as well as a lift station set this alternative back.

Option 5.2.3, scored strongly in construction and functionality as well as capital cost. However, it scored slight lower in the C3 and C9 categories than the preferred solution.

Sections 6.0 - Stormwater Conveyance and 7.0 - Stormwater Management Facilities, provide master servicing level detailed information designed on the basis of Option 5.2.4. – Foundation Service to street storm sewer with homes equipped with sump pumps.

6.0 STORMWATER CONVEYANCE

As presented in **Section 5.0**, the recommended stormwater servicing solution consists of a major system, a minor system, and homes with basements will be equipped with sump pump to provide foundation drainage. The City of Ottawa released Technical Bulletin ISTB-2019-02 on July 8, 2019 regarding the use of sump pumps. The sump pump configuration is presented on *Figure 18*, included in *Figures*.

As design has advanced, it is currently proposed that sump pumps are not utilized for the lands south of Ottawa Street. This design is reflected on the Master Grading Plan, which is depicted on **Drawing 2**, which allows for the basement to be serviced by gravity.

The November 2013 MDP conceptualized the stormwater management system based on the City of Ottawa standard criteria at the time (i.e. 5-year level of service for sewers and 30 cm of ponding, etc.). With the release of new standards in September 2016, the stormwater design has been updated to reflect the new standards. See **Section 6.2** for additional discussion.

Further to the updates to the **Sewer Design Guidelines**, a revision to the drainage split between Pond 1 and Pond 2. The area x runoff coefficient was maintained to each pond to ensure there was no impact to the design of each facility and their associated approvals. Refer to Section 6.0 of the **Executive Summary** for the figures showing the revision to the drainage split. The updated modelling reflects these changes as detailed in the **Addendum to Preliminary Stormwater Management Plan (JFSA Modelling Memo)** by JFSA dated October 9, 2019, which is included in **Appendix I**.

The following sub-sections provide additional analysis of the recommended stormwater servicing solution.

6.1 Grade Control Plan - Major System

The proposed master grading plan is depicted on *Drawing 2*. *Drawing 2* illustrates centerline of road grades, which were established on three criteria:

- Minimum depth to pipe invert = 2.1 m
- Minimum depth to pipe obvert = 1.5 m
- Minimum slope of saw tooth road pattern = 0.15% from high point to high point.

Where major system flow is shown to cross Perth Street and Ottawa street, the minor system was designed to convey flow under these streets. Additional information regarding conveyance through the minor system is contained in *Section 6.2*.

6.2 Minor System

Drawing 3 illustrates the proposed minor system. The storm sewer system will be designed in accordance with the amendment to the storm sewer and stormwater management elements of the Ottawa Design Guidelines – Sewer (Technical Bulletin PIEDTB-2016-01, September 6, 2016). The primary changes to the minor system, with the publishing of this Technical Bulletin, are as follows:

The minimum sewer size for local streets has been revised from the 5-year event to the 2-year event without ponding. Collector streets remain at the 5-year capture and arterial roads at the 10-year capture. The maximum HGL remains at 0.30 m below the underside of footing.

The minor storm sewer system will be sized as follows:

- 2-year event for local streets;
- > 5-year event for collector streets; and
- 10-year events for arterial roads

Refer to *Figure 23*, included in *Figures*, which depicts the road classification for the different minor system levels of service as described above. *Table 12* summarizes the minimum parameters utilized to size the stormwater conveyance system.

Design Parameter	Value
Minor System Design Return Period	2-Year (Local Streets), 5-Year (Collector Streets),
	10-Year (Arterial Streets) – PIEDTB-2016-01
Minor System Capture for Parkland	5-Year
Minor System Capture for Institutional Lands	5-Year
Major System Design Return Period	100-Year
Intensity Duration Frequency Curve (IDF)	
2-year storm event:	
A = 723.951, B = 6.199, C = 0.810	. A
5-year storm event:	$i = \frac{1}{(1 - p)^C}$
A = 998.071, B = 6.053, C = 0.814	$(t_c + B)$
10-year storm event:	
A = 1174.184, B = 6.014, C = 0.816	
Minimum Time of Concentration	10 minutes
Rational Method	Q = CiA
Runoff coefficient for paved and roof areas	0.90
Runoff coefficient for landscaped areas	0.20
Storm sewers are to be sized employing the	$1 \mu^{2/3} r^{1/2}$
Manning's Equation	$Q = -AR^{3}S^{2}$
Minimum Sewer Size	250 mm diameter
Minimum Manning's 'n'	0.013
Service Lateral Size	100mm dia. PVC SDR 28 with a minimum slope
	of 1.0%. Homes to be equipped with sump pump
	flow.
Minimum Depth of Cover	2.0 m from crown of sewer to grade (insulation
	when not possible)
Minimum Full Flowing Velocity	0.8 m/s
Maximum Full Flowing Velocity	3.0 m/s
Additional Considerations	Storm sewer maintenance holes serving sewers
	900 mm diameter and less shall be constructed
	with 300 mm deep sumps. Maintenance holes for
	storm sewers greater than 900 mm must be
	benched.
Extracted from Sections 5 and 6 of the City of Ottawa	a Sewer Design Guidelines, October 2012, Technical
Bulletin PIEDTB-2016-01	

Table 12Storm Sewer Design Criteria

A Rational Method storm sewer design sheet is enclosed in *Appendix H*. The pipe sizes were confirmed through hydraulic modelling as described in *Section 6.3*.

The subject lands sloped generally from west to east under pre-development conditions. As described in **Section 3.4**, there are significant areas west of the subject land that drain through the development property under pre-development conditions. As illustrated on **Drawing 3**, the external areas are summarized below:

- o 63.1 ha Perth Street road side ditch north;
- 34.4 ha Perth Street road side ditch south;
- o 94.2 ha approximately midpoint between Perth and Ottawa Streets;
- o 39.2 ha Ottawa Street road side ditch north and;
- 32.6 ha Ottawa Street road side ditch south.

The above external areas will be serviced by the two SWM ponds as they were included in the design of Pond 1 and Pond 2.

Due to anticipated urbanization of Perth Street and Ottawa Street as well as the site at large, these external areas will be collected and conveyed within storm sewers. These areas will be directed through the stormwater management facilities.

6.2.1 Deviations from Design Guidelines

The design of the sewer outfall from SWM Facility #1 (see **Section 7.1** of this report for Facility #1 details) results in a circumstance where it has to cross underneath the existing Moore tributary as noted in the **Ultimate Pond 1 Design Brief**. Due to site constraints (i.e. grading and both conveyances outletting to the same tributary) there is minimum cover between the ditch invert and the obvert of the sewer outfall (0.10 m). In the detailed design of SWM Facility #1, twin 525 mm storm pipes were proposed and installed, crossing under the Moore tributary to mitigate the depth of cover. As a result, some of the storm sewers in the RVDC lands use spring line to spring line connections, deviating from obvert to obvert connections per *Section 6.2.10* of the **Sewer Design Guidelines**. Justification for spring line to spring line connections) **Fox Run Subdivision Richmond – Phase 2 (South)** prepared by DSEL, dated May 31, 2019 for the RVDC lands. If necessary, justification for spring line connections will be provided in the detailed design of the other land holdings within the Western Development Lands.

6.3 Sump Pump Service

The majority of the Village of Richmond is reliant on sump pumps for foundation drainage as discussed in *Section 5.2.4*. The use of sump pumps for the subject lands remains consistent with the existing level of service within the Village of Richmond.

As noted in **Section 6.0**, it is proposed that the areas south of Ottawa Street will have foundation drainage serviced by gravity. All other areas are proposed to have foundation drainage serviced by sump pumps.

In 2019, the City published Technical Bulletin ITSB-2019-02 (July 8, 2019), which outlines the criteria for sump pumps, the requirements for hydrogeological assessments areas with sump pumps, and revised information on HGL for storm sewers with sump pumps. In detailed design, the proposed sump pump design will conform to Technical Bulletin ITSB-2019-02 (July 8, 2019). The sump pump detail can be found on *Figure 18*, included in *Figures*, and the sump pump components and requirements are outlined in the following table.

Component	Requirements
Sump Pump	Shall be:
(General)	 In accordance with City of Ottawa Technical Bulletin ISTB-2019-02 (July 8, 2019);
	 A submersible pump;
	• Automatically controlled and set to maintain the water level at the same elevation as
	the foundation drain; capable of discharging a minimum flow of 0.9 L/s at 3.6 m head.
Sump Pump	Shall be:
(Primary)	 CSA Approved;
	 Connected to an electrical circuit that supplies no other outlets, switches or equipment;
	 Equipped with a self-resetting thermal overload protection switch;
	Rated for continuous duty.
Sump Pump	Shall be:
(Backup)	• CSA Approved;
	• Connected to an electrical circuit that supplies no other outlets, switches or equipment
	except: A) Charging equipment for backup power and B) Alarm system for primary
	pump and power failure;
	 Equipped with a self-resetting thermal overload protection switch, Bated for continuous duty;
	 Rated for continuous duty, Equipped with an audible failure alarm to notify homeowner that the primary pump has
	failed or the power supply has been interrupted.
	\sim Capable of discharging a minimum capacity of 0.90 L/s at 3.6 m head:
	 Powered by a deep-cycle lead-acid battery with a minimum ampere-hour (AH) rating
	of 100 AH.
Sump Pit	Shall:
	• Have walls and bottoms constructed of concrete polyethylene, polypropylene, or
	fiberglass;
	 Be provided with a sealed cover;
	• Have a cover which must be secured in a manner acceptable to the authority having
	jurisdiction;
	 Be vented to the outdoors.
Discharge Pipe	Shall:
System from	• Be in accordance with Appendix 9 – Standard Sump Pump Configuration in Greenfield
Sump Pump	Subdivisions with Clay Soils on Full Municipal Services;
	 Consist of materials and be installed in conformance with the Ontario Building Code;
	• Have a minimum internal diameter of 38 mm (1-1/2") from the sump pump to the 100
	mm (4") storm building drain;
	• Have a union, a check valve and a shut-off valve installed in that sequence in the
	direction of discharge outside of the sump pit;

Table 13Sump Pump Design Criteria

	 Have a goose neck with a height of no more than 250 mm below the top of the foundation wall and discharge into the vertical leg of the storm building drain; Have a minimum dimension of 600 mm from the vertical leg of the storm discharge pipe to the horizontal offset upstream of the backwater valve; Include a CSA approved backwater valve for the stormwater discharge; Include an emergency discharge pipe to the outside ground surface; Be vented to the outdoors; 					
Compositions	Only the perimeter foundation provide a proton and internet and the the summer site					
Connections	 Only the perimeter roundation drainage system will be connected to the sump pit. 					
	Eaves trough, surface exterior drainage, swimming pool backwash, floor drains and					
	any other water sources shall not be connected to the sump pit;					
	 All new residences with installed sump pump systems must include: 					
	\circ Eaves troughs discharging to the surface with appropriate drainage away from the					
	house at the time of the original sale;					
	 Drainage layer as per the Ontario Building Code; 					
	 Clay backfill placed against the drainage layer with the clay extending a minimum 					
	1.5 m out from the drainage layer for all sides of the foundation;					
	• Impervious backfill capping at the ground surface surrounding the perimeter of the					
	residence area and slope away from the building after settling of backfill: except in					
	areas where window wells are required by Ontario Building Code:					
	The sump nump shall be directly connected to a storm building drain from the building to the					
	report line					
	ргорепу шпе.					

6.4 Hydraulic Grade Line

JFSA was retained to prepare hydrological and hydraulic models to assess the performance of the sewer system. Results of their analysis are presented on *JFSA Modelling Memo*, which is included in *Appendix I*.

As detailed in the *JFSA Modelling Memo*, the performance of the minor and major drainage systems for the drainage areas to Pond 1 and Pond 2 have been evaluated using the SWMHYMO and XPSWMM programs. It is noted that sump pump flows were included in the XPSWMM model at a rate of 0.23 L/s/ha, for those lands proposed to be equipped with sump pumps for foundation drainage (all lands north of Ottawa Street). Refer to the *JFSA Modelling Memo* in *Appendix I* for full details of the Pond 1 and Pond 2 minor system analysis. The 0.23 L/s/ha of flow was based on average development density of approximately 27.8 lots/ha, where 50% of sump pumps are on at any given time and a flow contribution of 1.44 m³/day/lot as estimated by Golder Associates Limited.

Profiles of the trunk sewers are illustrated on **Drawings 4, 5 and 6**. The profiles illustrate the existing ground, minimum depth of cover to finished grade, and hydraulic grade line elevations.

6.5 Moore Tributary

As shown on **Drawings 1, 2 and 3**, there is an existing Moore Tributary along the western property line that then traverses the Mattamy (Jock River) Limited Lands to the Arbuckle Drain. The Realignment of the Moore Tributary is shown on **Figure 22.** There are proposed to be two road crossings, which will be addressed by way of box culverts in the Moore Tributary. There will be a minimum of 0.30 m clearance (top of pipe to bottom of

pipe) between the box culverts and the associated storm sewer crossings, in line with typical pipe crossing criteria.

The minimum slope on the Moore Tributary is 0.10% and this slope is constrained by existing grades upstream and downstream, as well as maintaining the clearance as noted above at the culvert crossings.

7.0 STORMWATER MANAGEMENT FACILITIES

JFSA was retained to prepare hydrological and hydraulic models to assess the performance of the proposed stormwater management facilities. While Pond 1 has progressed to detailed design and construction (for an interim condition to service Phase 1 of the Fox Run Subdivision), Pond 2 is at the conceptual design stage. The current overall analysis for Pond 1 and Pond 2 is detailed in the *JFSA Modelling Memo* by JFSA dated October 9, 2019.

The following summarizes each stormwater management facility as well as the operational parameters of each.

7.1 Stormwater Management Facility #1

Pond 1 is located south of Perth Street and will treat part of the proposed development and then discharge to the Arbuckle Drain. Details of the interim Pond 1 design that has been constructed is discussed in the *Interim Stormwater Management Pond 1 Western Development Lands – Richmond* prepared by JFSA and DSEL dated March 2018. In September 2019, JFSA and DSEL prepared *Design Brief for Stormwater Management Pond 1 Western Development Lands – Richmond (Ultimate Pond 1 Design Brief)* for the ultimate Pond 1 design. The overall Western Development Lands have a total drainage area of 156.24 ha, 89.54 ha of which will be serviced by Pond 1. Additionally, 1.55 ha of external Perth Street and 99.36 ha of undeveloped lands southwest of the proposed development are also tributary to Pond 1, for a total drainage area of 190.45 ha to Pond 1.

Pond 1 is proposed as a wet pond with an erosion, quality, and quantity release components. Pond 1 outlets to the existing Arbuckle Drain. Water quality control is provided by the permanent pool sized for enhanced level of protection per MECP guidelines (80% TSS Removal). Erosion control is provided by controlling the 2-year release rate to 330 L/s, in accordance with the erosion threshold identified in the March 2009 **Natural Environmental & Impact Assessment Study for Mattamy Richmond Lands** by Parish Geomorphic. Furthermore, the October 26, 2012 Van Gaal Drain Erosion Assessment memo by JTB Environmental Systems Inc. indicated that the 2-year to 100-year outflows from Pond 1 should discharge to the Van Gaal / Arbuckle Drain at a velocity of 0.225 m/s or less. This is achieved by a velocity reduction measures at the Pond 1 extended detention outlet pipe to the watercourse. Water quantity control is provided to ensure that there is sufficient pond storage to meet the 5- to 100-year target release rates based on pre-development flows.

Low flows are directed to a storm sewer and outlet approximately 40 m downstream of the Fortune Street culvert. Runoff generated during events in excess of a 25-year storm would be released to the Arbuckle Drain through the overflow weir in addition to the low flow outlet. The outlet structure will consist of two orifices to attenuate flow to the Quality

and Erosion control targets. *Table 14* summarizes the outlet control design parameters from the *Ultimate Pond 1 Design Brief*.

Baseflow Control	Quality Control	Erosion Control	Quantity Control
Vertical Orifice	Vertical Orifice	Vertical Orifice	Rectangular Weir
100 mm dia.	300 mm dia.	300 mm dia.	67 m Wide
INV = 92.10	INV = 92.35	INV = 92.65	INV = 93.68

Table 14Summary of SWMP 1 Outlet Structure Design

Table 15a and 15b summarizes the pond's operational characteristics.

 Table 15a

 Summary of SWMP 1 Storage Characteristics (Free Outfall Conditions)

Pond Component	Total Inflow (m ³ /s)	Pond Level (m)	Pond Outflow ⁽²⁾ (m ³ /s)	Volume Used ⁽²⁾ (m ³)
Permanent Pool	N/A	92.350	N/A	45,330
Quality Control	N/A	92.607	0.080	7,618
2yr/24hr SCS	7.263	93.235	0.317	27,917
5yr/24hr SCS	11.494	93.668	0.418	43,496
10yr/24hr SCS	14.960	93.726	1.584	45,800
25hr/24hr SCS	18.304	93.757	2.715	47,046
50yr/24hr SCS	21.635	93.771	3.429	47,643
100yr/24hr SCS	23.506	93.785	4.084	48,196

Conditions)					
Pond Component	Total Inflow (m³/s)	Pond Level (m)	Pond Outflow ⁽²⁾ (m³/s)	Volume Used ⁽²⁾ (m ³)	
Permanent Pool	N/A	92.350	N/A	45,330	
Quality Control	N/A	92.607	0.080	7,618	
2yr/24hr SCS	7.263	93.558	0.000	39,285	
5yr/24hr SCS	11.494	93.717	0.920	45,450	
10yr/24hr SCS	14.960	93.744	1.833	46,536	
25hr/24hr SCS	18.304	93.767	2.880	47,483	
50yr/24hr SCS	21.635	93.780	3.484	47,990	
100yr/24hr SCS	23.506	93.793	4.171	48,563	

Table 15b Summary of SWMP 1 Storage Characteristics (Restrictive Downstream Conditions)

7.1.1 Base Flow Augmentation

In coordination with the RVCA, a base flow augmentation outlet to the tributary (Arbuckle Drain) of Jock River has been provided. The depth of the permanent pool within Pond 1 is set at 2.0 m at an elevation of 92.35 m, whereas **SWMPDM** suggest a mean depth between 1.0 and 3.0 m. Therefore, up to 1.0 m of contemplated permanent pool is available to provide base flow augmentation. Controlled flows from the base flow augmentation orifice will be conveyed by the 300 mm pipe with a slope of 0.13% and a capacity of 35 L/s. Base flow outflow to the 300 mm pipe is 32 L/s, which is less than the 35 L/s capacity, and will discharge to the Arbuckle Drain. Refer to **Figure 21**, included in **Figures**, for depiction of SWM Pond 1. A backwater valve is also provided in accordance with the **Section 7.1.2** of this report for the facility operation discussion.

7.1.2 Facility #1 Operation

In the pond design it is anticipated that spring floodwaters will back into Pond 1 for events more frequent than the 25-year spring event via the 300 mm diameter quality control orifice (92.35 m invert) and 300 mm diameter erosion control orifice (92.65 m invert). However, as explained below, until the quantity control weir is overtopped, this effectively only raises the permanent pool (i.e. dead storage) elevation and does not negatively impact the quality control performance of the pond. The base flow augmentation outlet, proposed below the permanent pool elevation of 92.35 m, will be equipped with a backwater valve to ensure that the Arbuckle Drain will not back into Pond 1 through this outlet.

The Pond 1 quality control and erosion control orifices outlet to the Jock River tributary downstream of the quantity control weir, via a constructed 900 mm diameter pipe

discharging to the drain between Fortune Street and Maitland Street. A short section of outlet pipe crossing under the Moore tributary has been replaced by two 525 mm storm pipes. As such, while the 25-year spring water level at the quantity control weir is 93.69 m (HEC-RAS cross-section 961), the water level at the quality/erosion control outlet is 93.43 m (HEC-RAS cross-section 521). Note that the 2-year spring water levels at these locations are 93.28 m and 92.65 m, respectively.

The active storage volume required for quality control in Pond 1 is 7,618 m³ based on 40 m³/ha for a 190.452 ha drainage area (89.54 ha subdivision drainage area, 1.555 ha external drainage area from Perth Street and 99.36 ha natural lands south of the subdivision). Please note the 40 m³/ha is per the *SWMPDM*. The 25-year spring flood level at the quality / erosion control outlet effectively raises the permanent pool (i.e. dead storage) elevation of Pond 1 from 92.35 m to 93.43 m, leaving 11,046 m³ of active storage volume between the effective permanent pool and the invert of the quantity control weir (93.68 m).

Therefore, for spring events up to the 25-year return period, more than sufficient active quality control volume is provided in Pond 1 below the quantity control weir to treat runoff from the 91.82 ha subdivision drainage area. As previously noted, for events exceeding the 25-year return period, flood levels will not overtop the quantity control weir until almost 5 days into the 10-day event; well after the "first flush" containing much of the winter's accumulation of road salt and grit has passed through the pond.

Similarly, the "first flush" of the 2- to 25-year spring events, taken as the first 25 mm of rainfall / snowmelt, will pass between 30 to 100 hours before the peak on the Van Gaal Drain.

It is noted that the 80% TSS removal required by the MECP is not a target to be met for every storm, but a long-term statistical average. Therefore, some storm events, and in particular large rainfall events, will not have 80% TSS removal; this is balanced by the TSS removal for smaller, more frequent storm events.

7.2 Stormwater Management Facility #2

Pond 2 is located north of Ottawa Street and is proposed to be a wet pond discharging to the Jock River and requires quality control only. The total drainage area to Pond 2 is 110.46 ha, which includes 38.66 ha of subdivision drainage and 71.8 ha of undeveloped land west of the subject site as shown on **Drawing 3.** *Figure 21* illustrates the proposed pond layout and cross-section.

Quality control will be provided for Pond 2 in accordance with MECP enhanced protection requirements (80% TSS removal). It is understood that quantity control is not required for discharging to the Jock River. However, Pond 2 will be limited to 100-year release rate of 2.235 m³/s based on the capacity of the 1500 mm diameter outlet (0.10% slope) pipe to the Jock River. JFSA has evaluated the Pond 2 outflows and they do not exceed the

outlet pipe capacity of 2.235 m³/s and the 100-year pond elevations are well below the top of berm elevation. Refer to **Addendum to Preliminary Stormwater Management Plan** memo prepared by JFSA on October 9, 2019 in **Appendix I** for further details.

The sewer profile of the outlet is shown on *Drawing 6* in *Drawings* (labelled Pond Outlet Pipe).

The outlet structure will consist of a vertical orifice and rectangular weir to attenuate flow to the quality and quantity control targets. *Table 16* summarizes the outlet control design parameters.

 Table 16

 Summary of SWMP 2 Outlet Structure Design

Quality Control	Quantity Control	
Vertical Orifice	Rectangular Weir	
280 mm dia.	1.60 m Wide	
INV = 93.20	INV = 93.70	

Table 17 summarizes the pond's operational characteristics.

Table 17Summary of SWMP 2 Storage Characteristics

Pond Component	Pre- development Outflow (m³/s)	Pond Level (m)	Pond Outflow ⁽²⁾ (m³/s)	Volume Used ⁽²⁾ (m ³)
Permanent Pool	N/A	93.20	N/A	16,669
Quality Control	N/A	93.70	0.101	6,446
2yr/24hr SCS	0.705	93.97	0.530	10,6633
5yr/24hr SCS	1.094	94.12	0.906	13,336
10yr/24hr SCS	1.364	94.22	1.173	15,138
25hr/24hr SCS	1.708	94.33	1.499	17,255
50yr/24hr SCS	1.976	94.43	1.795	19,152
100yr/24hr SCS	2.267	94.52	2.094	21,037

7.3 Stormwater Management Conclusions

JFSA was retained to prepare hydrological and hydraulic models to assess the performance of the proposed stormwater management facilities. While Pond 1 has progressed to detailed design and construction, Pond 2 is at the conceptual design stage.

Parts of the drainage systems tributary to Pond 1 have progressed to detailed design stage and construction is underway. Other areas, including the full drainage system tributary to Pond 2, are at the conceptual design stage and a preliminary analysis has been completed to confirm that the design is in accordance with current standard City of Ottawa modeling techniques. The elements of design that have been updated with the release of technical bulletins since the last version of this report have been fully incorporated.

In addition to updates based on the technical bulletins, additional revisions have been made. The drainage split between Pond 1 and Pond 2 has been updated but the overall areas x runoff coefficient have remained consistent to ensure there are no revisions to the existing pond designs and corresponding approvals.

Previously the entire Western Development Lands were planned to be designed with sump pumps providing foundation drainage. The updated design allows for the units south of Ottawa Street to have foundation drainage by gravity.

8.0 WATER BUDGET

To investigate the effect of proposed developments on existing infiltration rates the pre and post development hydrologic models prepared for this study were converted to continuous simulations. This included the conversion of CALIB NASHYD and CALIB STANDHYD commands to CONTINUOUS NASHYD and CONTINUOUS STANDHYD. The input and output files are included on a CD at the back of this report. These new hydrograph commands add time dependent parameters used in updating various hydrologic data during continuous simulations including initial abstraction recovery time, interval event time, etc. These new hydrographs commands are used with a COMPUTE API (Antecedent Precipitation Index) command which also updates various hydrological parameters during continuous simulations. Simulations were completed using AES (Atmospheric Environment Services Canada) rain gauge data from 1967 through to 2003 (excluding missing 2001 rainfall data).

Table 18 summarizes the estimated average annual infiltration volume for the proposed development under existing conditions and post-development conditions. The complete results of the Continuous simulation from 1967 to 2003 are located in **Appendix J** along with a technical memorandum prepared by JFSA.

Description	Area (ba) ⁽¹⁾	Estimated Annual Infiltrated Volume (m³/yr)			
Description		Average	Minimum	Maximum	
Total Rainfall	126.81	747,066	407,821	1,187,449	
Runoff (no Infiltration)	126.81	415,191	233,521	713,598	
Runoff (With Infiltration)	126.81	201,113	99,838	403,700	
Infiltration	126.81	214,079	109,247	328,818	

Table 18 Pre-development Infiltration

⁽¹⁾ Note: For a 126.81ha drainage area as per the October 2013 Preliminary Stormwater Management Plan memo by JFSA (found in *Appendix I*).

Table 19 summarizes the average percent decrease in infiltration as a result of development. As demonstrated, directing roof leaders to grassed areas improves post-development infiltration substantially.

Description	Area (ha)	Estimated Annual Infiltrated Volume (m ³ /yr)		
Description		Average	Minimum	Maximum
Total Rainfall	126.81	747,066	407,821	1,187,449
Runoff (no Infiltration)	126.81	425,089	241,345	724,288
Runoff (With Infiltration)	126.81	336,083	189,264	595,639
Infiltration	126.81	89,007	47,693	143,321

Table 19Post-development Infiltration

⁽¹⁾ Note: For a 126.81ha drainage area as per the October 2013 Preliminary Stormwater Management Plan memo by JFSA (found in *Appendix I*).

Based on the existing and proposed continuous simulations, the average annual infiltration over the drainage are is approximately 58.4% less under proposed conditions (89,007 m³) than under existing conditions (214,079 m³).

In addition to the above, there are areas of the development land (i.e. southwest portion) where there are silty sands which may be conducive to the incorporation of infiltration measures. It is proposed that a modified City Standard S29 (Perforated Pipe installation) be utilized which will include an additional depth of clear stone below the pipe invert. This added measure will be limited to rear yards and park spaces where receiving sewers will not be designed to accept flow from streets.

9.0 CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Mattamy (Jock River) Limited has retained David Schaeffer Engineering Ltd. (DSEL) to update a stormwater management report in support of their application for draft plan of subdivision. This study constitutes a resubmission of previously submitted work and addresses the City of Ottawa comment that the Master Drainage Plan (MDP) be updated to reflect the updates to the **Sewer Design Guidelines**.

Adjacent to the Mattamy (Jock River) Limited lands, the RVDC Lands comprise part of the overall Master Drainage Plan. The RVDC Lands were draft approved in 2015, with Phase 1 currently under construction and Phase 2 in detailed design stage. This report provides sufficient detail with respect to the stormwater management system including minor and major system conveyance and stormwater facilities to support the Mattamy (Jock River) Ltd.'s draft plan of subdivision application.

DSEL recommends the following:

- Works required to amend floodplain limits will need to be implemented prior to the development proceeding in the respective areas;
- A storm sewer system consisting of a minor and major systems with homes serviced via sump pumps is recommended;
- Two stormwater management facilities will service the development lands; of this one is currently constructed (to be expanded to ultimate) and one is conceptually designed;
- A site grading scheme for the Mattamy (Jock River) Ltd lands was developed to ensure major system conveyance and respect the grade raise restrictions;
- The detailed design for the Richmond Village Phase 1 and Fox Run Phase
 2 (north and south) as well as the external areas are designed in accordance with updated City of Ottawa design criteria; and
- The preliminary design for the Mattamy (Jock River) Ltd lands has been completed in accordance with updated City of Ottawa design criteria



Per: Jennifer Ailey, P.Eng.

© DSEL

\\dse-fso1\2011\$\projects\17-977_mattamy_richmond\b_design\b3_reports\b3-2_servicing (dsel)\mdp\2019-07_mdp_update\swm-2019-08-01_mattamy_richmond_mdp_update.docx

Figures





120 Iber Road, Unit 203 Stittsville, Ontario, K2S 1E9 Tel. (613) 836-0856 Fax. (613) 836-7183 www.DSEL.ca VILLAGE OF RICHMOND EXISTING CONDITIONS STORM DRAINAGE PLAN



CITY OF OTTAWA

LEGEND

ants dwg

Flood Plain



PROJECT No.: 07-303

DATE: 2012-11-09 DRAWN BY: ADF SCALE NTS

FIGURE: 5





120 Iber Road, Unit 203 Stittsville, Ontario, K2S 1E9 Tel. (613) 836-0856 Fax. (613) 836-7183 www.DSEL.ca

VILLAGE OF RICHMOND POST-DEVELOPMENT CONDITIONS STORM DRAINAGE PLAN

Sub Area (per JFSA/RVC/ Mapping) Subject Area

CITY OF OTTAWA

LEGEND



PROJECT No.: 07-303

DATE: 2012-11-09 DRAWN BY: ADF

SCALE NTS

FIGURE: 10





CITY OF OTTAWA








PROJECT No.: 17-977 DATE: October 2019 1:2000 SCALE: FIGURE: 22



Drawings











WESTERN DEVELOPMENT STORM SERVICING PROF CITY OF OTTAWA







PROPOSED GRADE

98.00

97.00

96.00

95.00



PROFILES KEYPLAN SCALE: 1:8000

MH 263		MH 264	MH 265	PROPOSED GRADE	MH 267	MH 263	98.00 97.00 96.00 95.00 94.00 93.00 92.00 91.00 90.00
NW 93.259	8 с б и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и	NW 93.077 NE 93.017	900Ø 9000 STM 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 26	1200Ø STM 99.0 @ 0.10% 1800x1200mm BOX STM 45.5 @ 0.10%	SW 92.547 N 92.487 S 92.441 N 92.381	1800x1200mm mc 20 BOX Ci Ci Ci STM S 20 40.5 @ S 0.10%	STORM
96 162		96.003	95.942 95.898		95.774 95.750	95.750	PROPOSED GRADES
0+206 756		0+313.352	0+354.075 0+384.236		0+483.261 0+511.532	0+576.878	CENTERLINE CHAINAGE

- 98.00 97.00 96.00
- 95.00 94.00 93.00
- STORM INVERT
- PROPOSED GRADES
- CENTERLINE CHAINAGE

	PROJECT No.	: 17-977
LANDS	DATE: Oc	tober 2019
TLES	SCALE:	1:2500
	DRAWING:	4







120 Iber Road, Unit 103 Stittsville, Ontario, K2S 1E9 Tel. (613) 836-0856 Fax. (613) 836-7183 www.DSEL.ca

WESTERN DEVELOPMENT L STORM SERVICING PROF CITY OF OTTAWA

TRUNK ²	97.00 96.00 95.00 94.00 93.00 92.00 91.00	439.85 439.85 		EXISTING GROUND			MH25		MH 223
	STORM INVERT	0623 F6 5639 F6 5659 F6 5659 F6 5659 F6 5759 F6 5759 F7 5759 F7 57	© NE 91.753 © NE 91.773 051 01.081 01.781 01.781 01.841 01.841	1200Ø STM 66 75.0 @ 0.11% 66 0Ø STM 7.0 @ 0.11%	86. 1200Ø STI 16 81.0 @ 0.17 80	NE 92.073 SW 92.148	905.30 5.0 @ 0.11% U 0.0 8 M 0.0 9 M 0	900Ø STM 68.5 @ 0.19%	NE 92.436 W 92.511 W 92.511 E 92.531 MW 92.606
	PROPOSED GRADES	10.5 @ 0.11 99 99 99 10 99 10 99 10 90 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 1	95.150 95.150	04 076		95.235	92.300		95.237 95.414
	CENTERLINE CHAINAGE	0-0010.000 0-004.139 0+006.521	0+051.115 0+058.265	0+133 248		0+214.288	0+289.052		0+357.775 0+371.116

	u	97.00	
RADE	T T	96.00	
	╾╾╾┲┲┲┲┲┲	95.00	
		94.00	
		93.00	
		92.00	
		91.00	
		90.00	
9 STM .5 @ 5%	SE 92.727	STOR	:M RT
	95.177	PROPO GRAD	SED ES
	0+380.396	CENTER CHAINA	LINI

TRUNK 1	97.00 96.00 95.00 94.00 93.00 92.00 91.00	TRUNK 108				MH 23	MH 22				MH20		MH 212	
	STORM INVERT	SW 91.704 NE 91.629 NW 91.854	900Ø STM 69.5 @ 0.11%	000000000000000000000000000000000000	SE 92.029 SE 92.029 SW 92.089	6 NE 92.118 00 S 92.178	N 92.199 SZ8 92.259 STM 55:	825Ø STM 64.5 @ 0.11% STM 19.5 @ 0. 5 @ 0.11%	% NE 92.330 SW 92.406	675Ø STM 77.0 @ 0.15%	NE 92.522 SW 92.542	675Ø STM 69.5 @ 0.15%	NE 92.646 SW 92.721	600Ø STM 56.5 @ 0.159
	PROPOSED GRADES	95.350		95.350	95.350	95.350	95.241		95.114		92.460		95.325	
	CENTERLINE CHAINAGE	0-010.000		0+059.397	0+121.743	0+148.303	0+167.600		0+232.059		0+309.057		0+378.447	







	PROJECT No.:	17-977
LANDS	DATE: Oc	tober 2019
ILES	SCALE:	1:2500
	DRAWING:	5

TRU

98.00 97.00 96.00 96.00

NK 1 93. 94. 93. 92. 91. 90.																										-95.00 -94.00 -93.00 -92.00 -91.00 -90.00
STORM INVERT	900 900 900 900 900 900 900 900 900 900	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	SW 91.905 SW 91.980	1500Ø STM 91.5 @ 0.11%	NE 92.081 SW 92.111	1500Ø STM 91.5 @ 0.11%	NE 92.212 SE 92.287	1350Ø STM 122.0 @ 0.17%	NW 92.494 SE 92.524	1350Ø STM 80.0 @ 0.10%	NW 92.604 SE 92.754	1200Ø STM 78.5 @ 0.10%	NW 92.833 SE 92.863	1200Ø STM 129.0 @ 0.10%	NW 92.992 SE 93.142	1050Ø STM 98.5 @ 0.10%	NW 93.241 SW 93.391	900Ø STM 78.0 @ 0.10%	693469 8642 8642 8658 8644 8746 8746 8746 8746 8746 8746 874	TM 689 7500 S 0 MN 899	%(®) NW 93.708 SW 93.783	675Ø STM 83.5 @ 0.12%	NE 93.883 SW 93.958	600Ø STM 95.5 @ 0.14%	NE 94.092	STORM
PROPOSED GRADES	91.656 95.400	95.400	93.555		95.630		95.770		96.070		93.954		96.310		94.192		96.640		96.750	96.820	94.458		97.010		97.120	PROPOSE GRADES
CENTERLIN CHAINAGE	0-0010.000 0+003.953	0+049.813	0+118.782		0+210.206		0+301.770		0+424.189		0+504.374		0+582.484		0+711.731		0+807.158		0+882.205	0+927.209	0+966.917		1+050.175		1+145.718	CENTERLI CHAINAG







POND OUTLET PIPE



120 Iber Road, Unit 103 Stittsville, Ontario, K2S 1E9 Tel. (613) 836-0856 Fax. (613) 836-7183 www.DSEL.ca

WESTERN DEVELOPMENT STORM SERVICING PROF CITY OF OTTAWA





98.00 97.00 96.00



	PROJECT N	lo.: 17-977
LANDS	DATE:	October 2019
TLES	SCALE:	1:2500
	DRAWING:	6

APPENDIX A

City of Ottawa / Agency Comments and Consultation Summary (from March 2010 Report) and Existing Approvals

Atta	acł	nment 1				
Item		Comment	Action / Response	Reference	City Response	
From:	omme Darle	ents Dated December 14, 2012 - Richmond Village - SWM and Drainage R	E: Western Development Lands		11-Jui-13	
4	A. Maj	jor system drainage analysis				
NEW		We have noticed that the 100-Year, 24hr SCS rainfall volume used for the drainage area to the Van Gaal Drain and the Jock River is smaller than the 106.7 mm volume that should be used according to the City Ottawa Sewer Design Guidelines. Please clarify.				The 100 on Ottaw (106.7 m <i>Jock Riv</i> <i>Floodpla</i>
1	1	The major system drainage analysis has been reviewed based upon the revised draft plan. As previously commented, it appears that subsequent to the STANDHYD command, each catchment is routed within its down drainage area (rather than routing commencing in the adjacent downstream catchment), using a ROUTE CHANNEL command. For example, the total flow from catchment 705b is routed from MH 701 to MH 705 (see Figure 1). This is typical of how the overland flows have been routed which appears to provide more attenuation than may actually occur. We do not agree that this is consistent with standard modeling practice. While this may be the case for DDSWMM (where catchments are typically quite small), this is not the case for how this development has been modeled with SWMHYMO (larger, longer catchments). Channel routing should not be applied to the flow generated within its own catchment at this level of analysis.	In accordance with City comments, the SWMHYMO model will be revised to commence routing for each catchment in the next downstream segment, rather than within the catchment itself. Please note that the model has been updated accordingly for the subsequent Mattamy draft plan application submitted to the City, April 2013.	Appendix I	Comment addressed.	
2	2	Section 6.1 of the DSEL report states: "Where major system flow is shown to cross Perth Street and Ottawa street, the minor system was designed to convey flow under these streets." From the SWMHYMO output files, it appears that the major flow is not fully captured (e.g., carry over is 112 l/s for Trunk 2 at MH 213 and 680 l/s for Trunk 11 at MH 1109). Please revise the modeling and sewer sizing as required and confirm how the major flow is captured before it crosses Perth Street and Ottawa Street (i.e., provide an indication of the CBs required. Please note excessive numbers of catchbasins should be avoided).	100% of the 100-year flows at Perth Street (538 L/s) and Ottawa Street (680 L/s) are captured to the minor system at SWMHYMO segments 1500aX and 1600aX, including the flows identified in Village comments for Trunks 2 and 11. Four double catchbasins (two on each side of the street) should be sufficient to capture these 100-year flows on Perth Street and Ottawa Street even with 50% blockage of the inlet grates.	Appendix I	Comment addressed.	
3	3	It appears that the carry over flow from Trunk 1 is not accounted for downstream of MH 107. In other words, the overland flow from MH 107 to MH 109 is missing (see Figure 2). Please revise the modeling and storm sewer sizing as required.	100% of the 100-year overland flow from MH 107 is captured to the minor system at SWMHYMO segment 1500aX, in order to prevent overland flow from crossing Perth Street.	Appendix I	Comment addressed.	
4	4	To inform the future draft plan, minimum widths for the easements located downstream of MH 710 and MH1108 must be confirmed based upon the respective proposed sewers and overland flows to be conveyed (provide conceptual calculations for each location).	The easement width is depicted as 6.0m per City Design guidelines. The 100-year flow to the 6.0 m wide easement from MH 1108 is approximately 1.04 cms, and the 100-year flow to the 6.0 m wide easement from MH 710 is approximately 1.16 cms. A trapezoidal channel with 4.0 bottom width, 6.0 m top width, 0.5% longitudinal slope and 3H:1V side slopes would be sufficient to convey these flows at depths of less than 30 cm. Therefore, the indicated easement width is sufficient to convey the 100-year flow and contain the proposed storm sewer.		Please provide typical details, calculations and confirm that sufficient freeboard is provided.	A 4.0 m width of the prop the 6.0 n (33.3 cm A 4.0 m width of the prop the 6.0 n (33.3 cm
5	5	As previously commented, it must be confirmed how the major system flows from south of Pond 1 will be conveyed into Pond 1 without filling in the floodplain (see figure 3). Again, provide conceptual design/grading, easement width, cross-section, etc.	Conceptual grading is illustrated on Drawing 2. Upstream road grade is 95.78m, 100-year floodplain elevation is 94.11 at this location. No filling is being proposed with floodplain.	Drawing 2	Comment not addressed: The level of detail shown on Drawing 2 of the latest Functional Servicing Report (DSEL, April 2013) does not demonstrate that the major system flow can be conveyed to Pond 1 without filling in the flood plain. Please provide sufficient detail to demonstrate this.	No filling to Pond existing Pond 1 a It should Van Gaa 94.2 ha o 100% of natural la subdivisi

D-year, 24-hour SCS type II storm used to model the Van Gaal Drain and Jock River is based wa CDA rainfall data (88.6 mm volume) rather than City of Ottawa Sewer Design Guidelines mm volume). This design storm was used in order to be consistent with the November 2004 *iver Flood Risk Mapping (within the City of Ottawa) Hydraulics Report*, and the November 2009 *ain Mapping Report for the Van Gaal and Arbuckle Drains in the Village of Richmond*.

pdated modelling area breakdown and flow routes have resulted in flow rates that differ than scussed previously.

a wide overland flow route in the easement from MH 710 to SWM Facility 1, with a curb cut f 4.0 m, will convey the 100-year overland flow safely to the SWM facility without flooding any of perties within the subdivision. Note that the 100-year flow depth of 12.8 cm is contained within m wide easement assuming 3H:1V side slopes for 1 m on either side of the 4.0 m bottom width n maximum depth).

a wide overland flow route in the easement from MH 1108 to SWM Facility 2, with a curb cut f 4.0 m, will convey the 100-year overland flow safely to the SWM facility without flooding any of perties within the subdivision. Note that the 100-year flow depth of 24.6 cm is contained within m wide easement assuming 3H:1V side slopes for 1 m on either side of the 4.0 m bottom width n maximum depth).

g of the floodplain (100-year Spring = 94.11 m) will take place in order to convey overland flows I 1; the subdivision areas to be developed south of Pond 1 are outside of the floodplain under conditions, as the limits of the pond block are defined by the floodplain. The roads south of are graded between 94.76 m and 95.05 m under proposed conditions.

d be noted that overland flows from 30.79 ha of the subdivision will discharge directly to the al Drain upstream of Perth Street, and overland flows from 21.75 ha of the subdivision (and of natural lands to the south) will discharge directly to the Moore Drain Tributary. Furthermore, if the 100-year flows draining to Perth Street from 3.71 ha of the subdivision (and 97.5 ha of lands to the south) will be captured to the minor system. As such, only 35.57 ha of the sion will drain overland to Pond 1.

6	6	Section 6.1 of the DSEL report states: "The hydraulic analysis assumed that the external areas would be captured in the minor system". Please confirm the conceptual design of the inlets required to convey this external flow.	The following 100-year flows are to be captured to the minor system from external areas (refer to Attachment 1 of the November 9, 2012 memo for area characteristics): 2392 L/s from VG-2; 992 L/s from VG-3; 867 L/s from VG-5; 908 L/s from VG-7 and 1259 L/s from JR-1. A 1200 mm x 600 mm ditch inlet catchbasin (DICB) has a capacity of approximately 741 L/s under a 30 cm head, and a 600 mm x 600 mm DICB has a 370 L/s capacity under 30 cm of head. The lead pipes of these ditch inlet catchbasins will be sized, based on head over the lead pipe to be determined at the detailed design stage, such that they do not restrict these inflows. One or two ditch inlet catchbasins on each area, as appropriate, should therefore be sufficient to capture the 100-year flows to the minor system for all but VG-2. The 2392 L/s 100-year flow on VG-2 may be captured by four 1200 mm x 600 mm DICBs, or by other means deemed appropriate at the detailed design stage.	Appendix I	Comment addressed.	
7	7	As per the Technical Bulletin (January 2012), the maximum flow depth on streets under either static or dynamic conditions shall not exceed 30 cm. From the modeling results provided, Table 1 summarizes the locations where the dynamic depth exceeds 15 cm. Please confirm that the assumptions used to account for the static ponding (stage-storage relationship) account for the reduced static ponding depths that would be available in these locations.	The model assumes that 30 cu.m./ha of surface storage, on average, will be provided on the streets. Exact surface storage volumes for each street segment will be calculated and modelled at the detailed design stage. Any reduced surface storage in segments with increased flow depths can be compensated for in other segments with the opportunity for greater than average surface storage, as necessary.	Appendix I	As previously requested, please confirm that the assumptions used to account for the static ponding (stage-storage relationship) account for the reduced static ponding depths that would be available in these locations.	Yes, ass that woul
8	8	Where are details of the future cross-section of the Moore Drain provided? Confirmation should be provided that the cross-section has sufficient capacity to convey the 100 year peak flow through the subdivision.	Figure 22 illustrates the conceptual design of the Moore channel. The Moore Channel was included in the overall proposed conditions Van Gaal Drain / Jock River model. The model shows some encroachment outside of the block due to the culverts for the road crossing. While the channel is adequate the culverts will need to be reviewed. Note that the proposed conditions model also included: - proposed conditions flows as simulated in SWMHYMO - the realignment of Van Gaal Drain upstream of Perth Street - the replacement of the Forture Street culvert	Appendix I and Figure 22.	There is insufficient clearance between the storm sewer and the proposed Moore tributary channel grade at Street 3. In addition, the design of the culvert must be revised to avoid any encroachments of the 100-year water level outside of the block. Please also plot the 100-year water level on the drawing to clearly demonstrate it is contained and ensure that sufficient freeboard is provided to the adjacent lots. What roughness has been assumed for the channel? To aovid the need for excessive maintenance, a manicured condition should not be assumed.	The 900 Tributary there are The Moo coefficier Under sp channel, of year. 1
	B. Erc	bsion Concerns				
9	1	To complete the review of the report (Van Gaal Drain Erosion Assessment, JTBES, October 26, 2012) and follow-up memo (Richmond Village Development: Exiting Erosion Remediation Costs, JTBES, November 22, 2012) a location plan identifying the location of the erosion sites identified is required. Please provide such a figure (i.e., locating all erosion sites and clearly identifying those proposed for remediation). Also, some description/summary of the high and medium priority class sites should be provided in the body of the report and/or in a summary table format, i.e., what is the particular infrastructure and/or property threatened? private or public, etc ?	JTBES prepared "Van Gaal Drain Restoration Memo" - January 25, 2013 and has included figures indicating a location plan.	JTBES - Van Gaal Drain Restoration Memo, January 25, 2013.	Refer to separate memo from Darlene Conway, P. Eng., dated July 11, 2013, for comments on the JTBES memo of January 25, 2013.	Please re Analysis Coldwate
10	2	While the report uses the term "Van Gaal Drain," it is important to note that the reaches in question are not part of the Van Gaal, but part of the Arbuckle Award Drain which does not have municipal drain status. As much, if not all, of the reaches in question are on private property, access to the erosion sites for remediation purposes will require a Drainage Act process in order to secure access to private property. This will presumably have to be coordinated with the proposed realignment of the Van Gaal Drain upstream of Perth St. In the alternative, drainage easements across all private properties affected will have to be negotiated if the advantage of using the Drainage Act is not taken. Please confirm how the required remediation work is to proceed.	Richmond Village Ltd will pursue coordinating the finalization of the engineer's report to create the Arbuckle Drain.		Confirmation from the proponent(s) of their commitment to implement the recommended works via a Drainage Act process and to the satisfaction of the City is required.	Caivan
11	3	Given that the subsequent JTBES memo of November 22, 2012 recommends rehabilitation of the erosion sites identified in the October 2012 JTBES report, detailed comments will be not be provided on the October 2012 report. However, based upon the information provided to date, the City questions the report's conclusion that the development will not exacerbate existing erosion rates in the drain. Nevertheless, subject to confirmation of the proposed remediation work (provide further details as noted above) and the proponent's commitment to undertake the required works to the satisfaction of the City and in keeping with the required Drainage Act process (or negotiation of required easements), this conclusion would appear to be moot.	No comment.		Confirmation from the proponent(s) of their commitment to implement the recommended works via a Drainage Act process and to the satisfaction of the City is required.	Caivan

sumptions used to account for the static ponding account for the reduced static ponding depths and be available in locations with significant flow depth.

mm diameter circular culverts proposed at the three proposed crossings of the Moore Drain y have been revised to 1800 mm by 900 mm rectangular culverts; under these conditions, e no encroachments of the 100-year flood level outside of the channel block.

bre Drain Tributary was modelled under summer conditions using Manning's roughness nts of 0.035 and 0.08 in the low flow channel (3 m top width) and on the banks, respectively. bring conditions, the Manning's roughness coefficient will remain as 0.035 in the low flow but is reduced to 0.05 on the banks to reflect the lack of standing vegetation during that time These values are appropriate for channels that are not subject to regular maintenance.

efer to October 31, 2013 Richmond Village (South) Limited Subdivision / Continuous Erosion memo by JFSA found in Appendix D.

er Consulting Ltd report can be found in Appendix D.

12	The recommendation for the application of the suggested erosion threshold to the design of SWM pond 1 requires clarification. Specifically, on p.15, the report notes: Assessment of the conditions of the creek show that the banks are comprised of consolidated clay materials, ranging from coarse to fine clay. When these materials are exposed to flowing water, velocities of between 0.225 metres per second (coarse clay) and 0.400 metres per second (fine clay) are required to entrain (erode) these materials (ref. Hjulstrom, 1935). The report then recommends the following re: discharge from the SWM 4 pond: Stormwater discharge from new facilities to the Drain be controlled to a maximum velocity of 0.225 metres per second for all flows up to and including the 2-year event, and to as many return events as is possible above the 2-year event. If the 0.225 m/s criterion is based on the erodability of the drain's banks, then the impact of the attenuated pond discharge should presumably be assessed based upon the total flow in the receiver, i.e., the pond discharge plus the upstream flow and how this does or does not meet the specified critical velocity and associated discharge (in the receiver)?	JTBES indicates that flows from the pond be controlled to a maximum velocity of 0.225m/s. This low target will not exacerbate the existing erosion occurring within the drain. Having said that, Richmond Village Ltd are pursuing the finalization of the Arbuckle Drain. JTBES indicates that the drainage works will provide an erosion threshold release target of at least 330L/s.	JTBES - letter Re: Richmond Village Development: Van Gaal Drain Erosion Thresholds, March 6, 2013.	<u>Comment not addressed</u> : Related to this comment, the purpose of the March 6, 2013 letter is not clear and it appears the intent of this comment may not have been understood. Further discussion with City staff is recommended to facilitate the resolution of this and other related comments.	Please n Analysis Coldwate
14	There also appears to be a lack of coordination between the design of SWM pond 1 and the recommendations from the October 2012 JTBES report. i) From the JFSA memo of November 9, 2012 (Appendix I of DSEL November 2012 report): Erosion control for SWM Pond 1 will be provided by controlling the 2-year release rate from each pond to 330 L/s or less, where 330 L/s is the erosion threshold for the Van Gaal Drain identified by Parish Geomorphic in the Natural Environment & Impact Assessment Study for the Mattamy Richmond 5 Lands (March 2009). Furthermore, the October 26, 2012 Van Gaal Drain Erosion Assessment memo by JTB Environmental Systems Inc. indicates that the 2-year outflows from Pond 1 should discharge to the Van Gaal Drain at a velocity reduction measures at the Pond 1 extended detention outlet pipe to the Van Gaal Drain. Is there any relationship between the Parish release rate and the JTBES critical velocity? Also, as noted above, the relevance of a plunge pool to limit discharge velocities from the pond is not apparent?	Addressed by JTBES. We may continue to use 330L/s.	JTBES - letter Re: Richmond Village Development: Van Gaal Drain Erosion Thresholds, March 6, 2013.	<u>Comment not addressed</u> : Related to this comment, the purpose of the March 6, 2013 letter is not clear and it appears that the intent of this comment may not have been understood. As previously requested, the provision of a continuous pre- and post simulation exercise is required, coordinated and integrated with the fluvial geomorphological work. Further discussion with City staff is recommended to facilitate the resolution of this and other related comments.	Please r Analysis Coldwat
15	In summary, an understanding should be provided of the overall response in the receiver and a comparison made between existing and post-development conditions. As previously requested, a continuous simulation should be undertaken to assess the impacts of increased runoff volume, peak flow 6 attenuation and the increased duration of flows. To demonstrate that the recommended targets are achieved, assessments of velocities at critical cross-sections in the drain for representative events should be provided for existing and post development conditions with the proposed stormwater management solution and instream works in place.	In accordance with City comments, a continuous model will be prepared to compare pre- and post-development peak flows and flow duration over a given threshold. Furthermore, velocities at critical cross-sections in the drain will be compared under pre- and post-development conditions for an appropriate design storm.	To be provided.	<u>Comment not addressed</u> : Please provide the information requested for review.	Please r <i>Analysis</i> Coldwate
16	C. Class EA The most recent response to this issue, provided in the Roberts memo of November 9, 2012, does not address the issue of piecemealing as originally raised in July 2010 (see Attachment 1). If the position is that this approach 1 does not represent piecemealing as defined in the MEA Class EA then this should be documented by the proponent. As there appears to be a difference of professional opinion on this matter and given that piecemealing is in contravention of the EA Act, this should also be confirmed with the Ministry of the Environment. D. Pond design/modelling	Having reviewed the correspondence related to piecemealing, it has become evident that there is a misunderstanding on the operation of the sump pumps. The sump pumps are not connected to the sanitary sewer system. As attached to the referenced correspondence, the MOE had provided feedback on this matter.	Delcan / Soloway Wright / RVCA / MOE	<u>Comment not addressed:</u> There is no misunderstanding. The issue of piecemealing has not been addressed: please refer to the correspondence noted in the previous comment. As per the e-mail from Cheryl McWilliams to Sarah Millar Martin (February 13, 2013), it is the City's position that an addendum to the Master Servicing Class EA is required.	Caivan?
17	Please expand the summary tables that compare pre- and post-development peak flows and water levels to include the full range of frequency events.	In accordance with City comments, pre- and post-development peak flows and water levels on the drain under spring and summer conditions will be compared for the 2-, 5-, 10-, 25- and 100-year return periods.	To be provided.	Comment not addressed: Please provide the information requested for review and approval.	Please r Prelimina

refer to October 31, 2013 Richmond Village (South) Limited Subdivision / Continuous Erosion s memo by JFSA.

ater Consulting Ltd report can be found in Appendix D.

refer to October 31, 2013 Richmond Village (South) Limited Subdivision / Continuous Erosion is memo by JFSA.

ater Consulting Ltd report can be found in Appendix D.

refer to October 31, 2013 Richmond Village (South) Limited Subdivision / Continuous Erosion is memo by JFSA found in Appendix D.

ater Consulting Ltd report can be found in Appendix D.

refer to Attachment 7 of the October 31, 2013 *Richmond Village (South) Limited Subdivision / nary Stormwater Management Plan* memo by JFSA found in Appendix I.

18 2	Per previous comments: As currently proposed, the bottom of Pond 2 is some 3 to 4 meters below existing grade and into bedrock. The bottom of Pond 1, some 3 meters below existing grade as currently proposed, may be at or marginally below bedrock. Some of the sewers (storm and sanitary) may also intercept the bedrock, in particular below Ottawa St. There has been no discussion provided as to the potential impacts on pond operation, existing wells, contribution to base flows, etc. Some discussion should be provided regarding these potential concerns and recommendations provided to mitigate any potential impacts provided as required.	The results of the subsurface investigations indicate that the hydraulic conductivity of the shallow bedrock in the area of Pond 1 and Pond 2 is moderate (1x10-5 m/s and 5x10-6 m/s at MW10-3 and MW10-6 respectively), similar to the hydraulic conductivity of the overlying silty sand and silty clay deposits. However, the design of the ponds should consider the possibility that vertical fractures in the shallow bedrock might permit increased groundwater flow through the bottom of the ponds, which could hamper their construction. Therefore, shallower pond designs should be considered if construction in the bedrock is not required, and a plan to control the inflow of water from the shallow bedrock during construction of the ponds should also be developed, if necessary. The normal operating levels in Ponds 1 and 2 will be approximately 1.5 and 1.2 metres below the typical groundwater levels as measured in groundwater levels in in the areas immediately adjacent to the ponds (including in the upper bedrock) will be reduced by a maximum of approximately 1.2 to 1.5 metres. The effect of the ponds on groundwater levels will diminish at greater distance from the pond. Considering that local water wells are typically cased a minimum of 6 metres below ground surface and are on the order of 30 meters deep, such small and localized reductions in the groundwater levels is not expected to negatively impact the water supply of local water wells. DSEL has reviewed pond 2 in further detail. Pond 2 is revised to a dry pond employing hydrodynamic separators to meet quality control objectives. The bottom of Pond 2 is situated above the rock elevation per test pit data.	To be provided.	It is not possible to review or comment on this response in the absence of supporting documentation and design information. Please provide the supporting information for review, sealed as required by the professional making the recommendation(s). Please also note that the City is inquiring about the risk to wells from pond leakage through fractures. Notwithstanding the hydraulic conductivity derived from a continuum (macroscopic) approach, porosity will vary erratically at volumes lower than the representative elementary volume. Individual fractures become significant at the City was not inquiring about the construction methodology of the pond, but rather about the long-term effect of groundwater on its operation, existing wells, contribution to base flows, etc.	As discus facility ha minimize excavatic
19 3	From the Nov.9, 2012 JFSA memo (Appendix I) - where is the future 16.5ha commercial site that is referenced located?	The 16.5ha property are the lands north of Perth street, immediately west of the Richmond Village (North) Ltd., parcel, inside the Western development expansion area, and includes the existing retail parcel on Perth Street. This is to be revised to represent the land uses contemplated in the CDP.	Appendix I	Please clearly delineate all external areas on the drainage plan for existing and future conditions.	Base pla considere
	Portion				
20 4	foodplain is based upon locating it above the summer event given that the higher regulatory flood level results from a backwater effect from the Jock River. However, the 100-year spring event on the drain (93.83m at 910), though lower than the backwater condition from the Jock, is still higher than the summer event (93.60 at 910, Fortune St. culvert upgraded). While the timing of peak flows may apply to the much larger Jock River and the spring event backwater condition, it is not apparent this is an appropriate assumption when comparing spring and summer events on the much smaller drain. Further, the rationale of locating the pond only above the summer condition floodplain could set a precedent such that ponds are proposed in future within the regulatory (spring) floodplain where there is no comparable backwater effect. From a technical perspective, the pond should be located above the 100-year spring event on the drain.	JFSA completed additional hydraulic modeling of the development and pond's impact on water levels within the receiving water courses. The analysis has demonstrated technical feasibility. Noting that this is a unique feature of these lands in particular.	Appendix I	This rationale is inconsistent with the rationale being used to justify locating the pond within the regulatory (spring) event on the Jock River and sets a bad precedent, however, resolution of this matter is deferred to RVCA.	See disc
21 5	Per previous comments, a 0.30m freeboard is required above the design high water level. This is a standard design criterion that must be incorporated into all pond designs – in this case, without filling in the floodplain. Therefore, the pond design must be revised accordingly to explicitly achieve this criterion.	As per the MOE SWMPD manual, a 0.3 m freeboard should be provided between the design high water level in the pond and surrounding grades. This qualification does not apply to that side of the pond adjacent to the Van Gaal Drain, which will be inundated by floodwaters during significant spring flood events. However, a 0.3 m freeboard should be provided on the sides of the pond adjacent to the proposed development (roads, residential lots, etc.).	MOE Design Guidelines - Section 4.2 Sitting of Facilities.	Comment not addressed: It appears that the purpose of providing freeboard for engineered works may not be fully appreciated. In this case, a key purpose of the pond is to provide flood control storage: providing the minimum standard freeboard around the pond ensures that a reasonable safety factor is provided that recognizes inherent modeling limitations, allows for construction tolerances, minor future settlement, etc., to ensure that the design flood control storage will be available for the life of the pond. It is not relevant whether the pond fronts on lots or onto the floodplain. Please revise the design accordingly such that the minimum standard freeboard of 0.3m is provided above the pond's design (100 year) water level for the entire pond.	JFSA / D
22 6	The draft plan indicates 2 sediment management areas are provided for Pond 1 (total area approximately. 2100 m2). The City requires that these areas be sized approximately equal to the size of the forebay(s) at the permanent pool elevation (total area approximately 6000 m2). Adjust the draft plan to provide for sufficient area for sediment storage purposes outside of the regulatory floodplain. These areas should also be clearly demarcated on the appropriate figures in the DSEL report.	The sediment pond drying area was sized employing the MOE Design guidelines for estimating sediment build-up in the forebays and a clean-out frequency of 20-years. This volume would be spread over the drying area at an average depth of 0.60m.	Calculation to be included in future submission	<u>Comment not addressed</u> : Please provide the calculations/documentation and identify the required sediment drying area on the drawings for review and approval.	As discus found in <i>J</i>
23 7	Please indicate the location of the Pond 1 spillway on Drawing 3 and Figure 20. Also note that the scale on Drawing 3 should be 1:4000.	Duly noted		Comment not addressed: The pond 1 spillway is still not shown on Drawing 3.	See upda
24 8	Per previous comments, the outlet invert elevation for Pond 1 (92.35m) is lower than the 2 year flood elevation. This is not consistent with the criterion specified in the MOE SWM Planning and Design Manual.	The MOE recommendations reads that the SWMP <u>should</u> be higher than the 2-year floodline and the overflow <u>must</u> be above the 25 year floodline.	MOE Design Guidelines - Section 4.2 Sitting of Facilities.	Comment not addressed.	Agreed to design re
	Pong 2		1		1

ussed with City staff a wetland facility is proposed for Pond #2. Incorporation of this type of has allowed for a bottom elevation that is above the anticipated rock surface and therefore es disturbance. Golder Associates has provided a memo for the justification of avoiding rock ion (see Appendix F and discussion in Section 7.2)

ans have been updated to reflect the areas. Note that the 16.5ha area is no longer being red as a commercial site and is being modelled as residential in line with the CDP.

cussion of the SWM Pond #1 operation in Section 7.1.2

OSEL / City to meet and debate this point.

ussed at Sept 12/13 meeting, drying area is shown. Sediment loading calculations can be Appendix I and a summary is provided in Section 7.3.

ated Drawing 3 and Figure 20.

to at Sept 12/13 meeting that the pond can have its outlet lower than the 2-year event. Pond emains as is.

25 9	As currently proposed, the quantity control weir elevation for Pond 2 (93.35m) 9 is below the 25-year floodline (93.82 m). This is inconsistent with the design criteria in the MOE SWM Planning and Design Manual	The design criteria speak to the overflow elevation above the 25-year, not the outlet. Pond 2 emergency overflow is at 96.00m spilling toward Burke Street. Note that 100-year elevation is Pond 2 is 94.31m.	Figure 21.	Based on the proposed design of pond 2, the water quantity weir elevation is below the 25 year floodline. As shown in Table 5B, the elevation of 96.0 m corresponds to the top of berm: how has the design accounted for a controlled spill out of the pond? (based on the proposed grading, the pond will spill toward the existing lots located on Ottawa Street).	The wate facility ex these con Jock Rive such that facility wa
26 10	The block for Pond 2 has not accounted for the required sediment drying storage area – please revise/expand the block accordingly.	Please note that sediment drying area indicated on Figure 21.	Figure 21.	<u>Comment not addressed</u> : As for Pond 1, please provide the calculations/documentation supporting the sizing of the sediment drying area.	As discus found in <i>J</i>
27 11	It is not clear where the emergency overflow from Pond 2 would be directed (should blockage or partial blockage of the outlet structure occur). Please I confirm there is an appropriate emergency outlet/flow path to the river that will not impact existing and future homes and indicate this on the appropriate figures.	Pond 2 emergency overflow is at 96.00m spilling toward Burke Street. Note that 100-year elevation is Pond 2 is 94.31m, therefore there is 1.7m of available emergency storage.	Figure 21.	For 100 year conditions, the flow from the outlet of pond 2 is about 2.14 cms, which exceeds the capacity of the downstream trunk sewer: confirm that any surcharge does not exceed the road elevation and/or increase the pipe size accordingly.	As discustributary with a po The SWN 2.235 m ³
	Figure 4, derived from the City's LiDAR data, indicates fill areas even without the required minimum freeboard provided.			Comment not addressed: As previously commented, please revise the design to ensure minimum freeboard is provided and filling in the regulatory floodplain is not required to provide the necessary quantity control storage.	As discus
E. St	orm sewer servicing				
28 1	Per standard design practice, sewer obverts should be matched at the crossing of the Moore Drain and minimum clearance provided between the Moore Drain crossing and the storm sewer.	Requesting deviation from Sewer Design Guidelines (6.2.10). In regards to standard engineering practices - invert to invert connections do not have a noticeable effect on hydraulics (See Haestad Methods Stormwater Conveyance Modeling and Design - Page 421/422.) Also note that invert to invert connections have been made numerous other circumstances when either depth of cover or volume of imported material is a problem.	Haestad Methods - Stormwater Conveyance Modeling and Design - Page 421/422	Matching obverts is a basic design requirement. Please revise the design accordingly. However, if a deviation is pursued further, rationale per the Sewer Design Guideline's exception criterion is to be provided for vetting by the Infrastructure Services and Environmental Services Departments.	Agreed to Guideline connectio
29 2	As previously commented, the use of a 300mm deep x 1800mm wide box culvert is not acceptable. It is apparent that this is being proposed to provide clearance from the existing servicing on Fortune St. – but it is not acceptable. Revise the design to an appropriate storm sewer cross-section and provide the minimum clearance required between existing storm and sanitary services. Provide the confirmed invert on the existing sanitary sewer at the crossing (drawings indicate this is still to be confirmed). In the alternative, relocate the outlet further upstream and revise the pond design accordingly. Note: this is not a detailed design issue as it brings into question whether the proposed outlet location is feasible. There is also minimal cover where the outfall sewer crosses the Moore Drain (approx. 0.30m based upon a drain invert of approx. 93.38m from LiDAR data).	Two options exist to resolve the conflict at Fortune Street. One, provide a multiple barrel outlet versus a custom box culvert. Two, lower the existing sanitary service on Fortune Street and connect to new sanitary sewer on Martin Street. Moore Drain crossing to be reviewed with Drainage Engineer.		<u>Comment not addressed</u> : Please provide the details of an acceptable design solution so that it may be reviewed: it appears that a lowering of the existing sanitary sewer on Fortune St. may be unavoidable and address the lack of cover outfall under Moore Drain.	Solutions (with a 7! for poten In additic in Drawir
30 3	The extensive use of box culverts (close to 1400m in total) is inconsistent with Sewer Design Guideline. Operations staff have confirmed that in lieu of box culverts, multiple round conduits that provide equivalent flow capacity are required.	Duly noted, multiple barrels will be investigated at detailed design.		Comment addressed.	
31 4	Per previous comments, the report notes (p.21) that the Jock River Estates drainage (MAT-E) is proposed to be conveyed north of Ottawa Street through a new culvert to the redesigned Moore Tributary channel and then to the Van Gaal/Arbuckle drain. It is not clear how this is to be achieved with a culvert. Please clarify. The report and drawings also note that this drainage will be picked up and conveyed to Pond 2. Whatever the case, consistency is required between drawings and documentation – please revise as required.	Page 21 outlines a high level review of servicing strategies. It is proposed to collect and convey the Jock River Estates drainage through Pond 2.		Please clearly document in the report and on the drawings how this drainage is to be dealt with.	To be inc Pond 2. text in Se
32 5	Minimum cleansing velocities (0.80 m/s at the 5 year design flow) have not been met for all storm sewers: 600 mm diameter: 244 m (4 pipe sections); 675 mm Diameter: 264 m (6 pipe sections). Please revise the design accordingly.	City of Ottawa Guidelines Section 6.1.2.1 "Storm sewers must be designed to provide a minimum velocity o 0.80m/s when flowing full."		Comment not addressed: Please revise design accordingly to ensure that mimimum velocities are achieved	At the ma 0.8m/s cl detailed o
33 6	Per previous comments: Given that the pond outlet crosses under (not into) the Moore Drain to connect to the Van Gaal, it is not apparent how cool "baseflow" can continue to be directed to the top of section 2 of the Moore. Is this still a requirement? If yes, how is it to be addressed?	Addressed with RVCA. Pond 1 to involve a bottom drain outlet to provide cool base flow to the Van Gaal.		Please provide the proposed concept on the drawing for review.	Coordina and Figu
34 7	Regarding the Pond 2 outfall along Ottawa St. – it appears there may be 7 potential for conflicts between existing sanitary services connections toward the end of Ottawa St.	The proposed pond 2 outlet is contemplated to be on the south side of Ottawa Street, therefore the existing homes on the south side of the street would be in potential conflict. However, this is limited to one home where the existing sanitary sewer is only slightly above the proposed storm, indicating that there is no conflict, only the possibility that the service may be close.	Drawing 6	Given confirmation that a conflict(s) may exist, clearly identify this on the drawing and indicate it will be further confirmed/addressed during detailed design.	The pote the detai
F. Sa	Initary HGL				
35 1	servicing.			Foundation drainage servicing not yet resolved.	
City Comm	ents Dated December 14, 2012 - Review of Updated Assessment of Subsu	rface Drainage and Analysis of 100 Year Flood Event			
Detai	ene Conway 10: Cheryl McWilliams				

er quantity weir will function as a partially-submerged weir once the water level in the SWM xceeds that of the Jock River at the proposed outlet. The performance of the facility under nditions was verified in XPSWMM based on the 100-year spring flood level of 94.18 m on the rer (conservatively assuming initial conditions where it has backed up into the SWM facility t it also has a water level of 94.18 m). Under these conditions, the maximum water level in the as simulated as 94.84 m - well below the top of berm at 96.0 m.

ssed at Sept 12/13 meeting, drying area is shown. Sediment loading calculations can be Appendix I and a summary is provided in Section 7.3.

ssed at Sept 12/13 meeting, emergency outlet to demonstrate conveyance to the Jock River (aka Arbuckle Drain). Due to road grading constraints, an outlet along rear yards is shown positive outlet to Queen Charlotte Street.

M facility outlet pipe has been updated to reflect a 1500 mm diameter pipe, with a capacity of ${}^{3}\!/s$.

ssed at Sept 12/13 meeting, City defers to the RVCA.

to at Sept 12/13 meeting that deviation is acceptable. A section on deviations from Design es is provided in Section 6.2.1 regarding potenial use of multiple barrels with invert to invert ons.

s discussed at Sept 12/13 meeting. Minimal separation below the Moore ditch is still shown 50mm pipe). A section on deviations from the Design Guidelines is provided in Section 6.2.1 tital invert to invert connections using multiple pipes to provide clearance from the Moore ditch. on, the sanitary sewer conflict has been rectified with the new sanitary servicing solution shown ng 7.

cluded with the RVCA submission for the Mattamy draft plan. Flows will be conveyed through Discussion on the proposed sequencing of closure of the existing ditch is included in updated ection 4.1.3 "Option 3".

acro design level there are still some pipe segments that are shown marginally below the leansing velocity. These select pipe segments will be refined to meet the 0.8m/s at the design stage.

ated with RVCA, see Section 7.1.1 for descriptions/discussion. Outlet shown on Drawing 3 are 20.

ential conflict is noted on Drawing 6 for "Pond Storm Outfall 2" and that it is to be reviewed at iled design stage.

36	The Golder memo of October 3, 2012 documents assumptions, conclusions and limitations but does not appear to provide specific recommendations with respect to engineering design. What are the recommendations related to the design of a foundation drainage system that can be offered from this modeling exercise? It would be of assistance for the author(s) of the memo to compare the utility of this modeling exercise to other technical work used to support the engineering design of this proposed development, for example, the recommendations proceeding from the Golder geotechnical memo of June 27, 2011 or the hydrotechnical modeling completed by JFSA (Appendix I in the DSEL November 2012 report).	Addressed by Golder in updated technical memorandum.	Golder Associates - Updated Assessment of Subsurface Drainage and Analysis of 100- year storm event, Proposed Village of Richmond Development, June 5, 2013	Defer to detailed comments provided by others (Dillon, Michel Kearney).
37	From the Golder October 2012 memo (emphasis added): In order to establish an initial groundwater condition, the model recharge was adjusted until the simulated groundwater elevation was directly beneath the foundation drains (which occurred at a recharge rate of 90 mm/yr). Using this initial condition, the 100 year storm was simulated transiently over a 24 hour period, during which time groundwater elevations in the storm sewer trench and service stub were increased from 92.98 masl to 94.11masl. Water levels were assumed to increase instantaneously at the onset of the storm. To simulate the additional impact of the 100 year storm occurring concurrently with the spring freshet, the recharge was increased to 2000 mm/year during the same 24 hour period. This value of recharge resulted in an average head throughout the model domain that approximated the 100 year storm water level. The magnitude and duration of the spring freshet used for the modelling were assumed values; however, the selected parameters are considered to be conservative. The 100 year spring event used to simulate the regulatory (100 year) flood level on the Jock River is a 10day snowmelt +rainfall event having a volume of approximately 270mm. The 100 year 24 hour storm has a volume of approximately 107mm. Pond operating levels under this condition are also higher than in the receivers. Further clarification regarding the contention that the parameters used to model the spring 100year condition are conservative would be helpful.	The 100 year storm event simulation increased the water table to the elevation of the foundation drains, increased the water elevation in the pond and in the service trenches to the designed operating level (94.11 masl) and added additional infiltration (2000 mm/yr recharge) due to rainfall. Higher rates of recharge have been included in the revised model, to be described in a separate memorandum	Golder Associates - Updated Assessment of Subsurface Drainage and Analysis of 100- year storm event, Proposed Village of Richmond Development, June 5, 2013	Comment not addressed: The analysis does not consider the impact of the extended duration of the event that generates the regulatory flood level (94.11m) on the Jock River which is a <i>10-day</i> rain on snow event - not a 24 hour event. Further, under the regulatory (spring, 10-day) event, the levels in the ponds are higher than 94.11m (the flood level in the river/drain). To further clarify: the regulatory event that generates the 100 year flood level of 94.11m is an extended event, resulting in days, not hours, of elevated flood levels that would presumably require sump pumps to operate for days in succession.
38	The attached tables summarize pond operating levels and Jock River flood levels for various conditions and frequencies. Separate from the issue of lowering the existing water table, the numbers in this table indicate that, based upon the USF elevations proposed, sump pumps could be expected to operate very frequently and at length, considering the fractured bedrock conditions in the southern portion of the site. Every USF is located below the 2 year flood elevation (section 20686) on the Jock River. Has the worst case scenario been considered in this exercise? What is to prevent the need for continuous operation of sump pumps given the 2 year flood level in the Jock River and the fractured bedrock conditions?	DSEL / Golder reviewed site grading in the area adjacent to the River. If USF's are situated in rock their elevations have been increased to be above the 100-year water level in the Jock River.		Please provide an updated grading plan for review that confirms the response provided.
39	From the Golder October 2012 memo: A service stub was specified using a constant head boundary from the storm sewer to towards the house. The stub was terminated at a distance of 3 m from the house. A 2 m width was assumed for the stub trench. The constant head boundary was assigned at the same elevation as the storm sewer trench; The modeling also assumed that the granular material within the service trenches will not directly connect to foundation drains. Inspection 4 during construction, to ensure implementation of this design, is recommended. Given the above modeling assumptions, is the memo recommending that sufficient protection would be provided during the 100 year event (and per the tables above events as frequent as the 5 year) by a width of some 2m of non- granular backfill material (assuming 1m of granular backfill adjacent to the foundation wall) that is further dependent on stringent inspection during the backfilling, process?	Yes, the technical memorandum is recommending that sufficient protection would be provided.		Based upon typical construction practices and the extent of site supervision available, it is not apparent that this is an acceptable approach on which to base the protection of basements from flooding due to backwatering of the service trenches.
40	Can examples from other municipalities be provided where all basements have been built well below the existing water table elevation on the basis of a groundwater modeling exercise with similar assumptions, along with a list of contacts such that the City may follow up on the performance of any such examples?	Please note that not all basements are situated below the existing high groundwater table. Where basements are lower than the recorded high groundwater table, it should be noted that the proposed USF's are higher than the adjacent existing properties on Fortune and Queen Charlotte where it is expected that pre-development conditions were similar.		<u>Comment not addressed</u> : No examples from other municipalities where all (or a significant number of) basements have been built well below the existing water table elevation on the basis of a groundwater modeling exercise with similar assumptions have been provided. To clarify, this request was referring to relatively recent developments from municipalities with relatively current/comparable design guidelines. If such examples cannot be pointed to, please indicate this.
From: Mic	hel Kearney To: Darlene Conway			
41	amental Considerations These comments are to be read in conjunction with the peer review performed by Dillon Consulting, dated November 29, 2012. There has been 1 an effort to avoid, as much as possible, the duplication of comments, but where deemed appropriate a comment made by Dillon may be reiterated, either for emphasis or for contextualization.	No comment.		

42 2	The use of sump pumps, as proposed, is a deviation from the Ottawa Sewer Design Guidelines. DSEL(285)3 refers to §§ 3.2.2, 5.7.3 and 5.9 of the Guidelines; however, §3.2.2 refers to infill developments and requires that sump pumps drain to the surface, §5.7.3 refers to sewers with limited capacity constraints and recommends discharge of the sump pump to the ground surface (this section mentions slab on grade as a means to eliminate the need for a sump pump), and § 5.9 refers to ditch pipes with storm sewer systems, and even though it does not refer to where the sump pump should discharge, in view of the shallowness of the ditch pipes and considering the other references in the Guidelines regarding sump pump discharge, it is understood that discharge is to be directed to the surface in this instance as well.	Is the City suggesting that the Sump pumps could be approved if they were directed to the surface? In our previous discussions regarding sump pump, the City had expressed concerns regarding this arrangement due to the possibility of future home owners creating illegal connections. Please advise.	Comment misinterpreted: The comment from the City was addressing the assertion by DSEL that the use of sump pumps in this development falls within the City of Ottawa Design Guidelines. DSEL quoted §§3.2.2, 5.7.3 and 5.9; however, as pointed out by the City, these sections of the Guidelines all refer to circumstances other than those found in the Richmond Western Development Lands (i.e., is the discharge of sump pumps into storm sewers). The possibility of sump pumps discharging to the surface of the ground (as an option for the subject lands) is not something that was being discussed in the comment.
43 3	DSEL continues to use a matrix evaluation procedure, even though it has been pointed out that the use of a weighted matrix is not appropriate at the subdivision level (see DSEL(14)). The use of a matrix may be justified for the first three options only, i.e. not the sump pump option (see DSEL 308, 309), as sump pumps can only be considered once it has been determined that other options are not viable.	Noted, it was determined by the client that the first three options are not financially viable. As described in Section 5.0 of the report, Option 1 exceeds grade raise recommendation throughout the subdivision.	<u>Comment not addressed:</u> There are other components to viability besides financial considerations. We reiterate that a matrix evaluation procedure is not appropriate at the subdivision level.
44 4	In view of the lower level of service provided by sump pumps, compared to the other three options, it has not been justified why future residents should be subjected to the lower level of service provided by sump pumps. The level of service must be addressed on its own merit and not based on a decision matrix.	Please note that Section 5.0 of the SWM report describes each option in its own light. The matrix provides a comparison table for the options and was not the sole vehicle for arriving at the sump pump conclusion.	<u>Comment not addressed:</u> As stated by the City, the matrix presented by DSEL is inappropriate as a comparison tool, even if the matrix was not the sole vehicle for arriving at the sump pump conclusion.
45 5	Although most of Richmond is currently on sump pumps, the vast majority of properties are historical and have sump pumps that discharge to the surface. There is a smaller and more recent subset of Richmond properties where sump pumps discharge into a storm sewer, but these developments are not as dense as the proposed Western Development Lands, and our review indicates, to the best of our knowledge, that the foundations were kept above the pre-development water table condition.	No comment.	No further comment required
46 6	The City has never considered approving the Western Development Lands on the basis of footing elevations that are lower than the existing water table4. In fact, it has been stated numerous times that footing elevations have to be above the water table (DSEL 15, 270, 271, 273, 274, 276, 290, 294, 314, 316). Although it is recognized that the proposal before the City is for the lowering of the existing water table, based on a predictive assessment of the effect of the storm sewer network and service stubs, this proposed solution is unprecedented at the City. Rather, it has been the practice of the City to only approve developments on sump pumps where it can be demonstrated that the foundation is above the pre-development high water table5. That being the case, it would have been prudent to liaise with the City prior to commencing a modelling exercise that looks at lowering the water table.	The City's reference to the determination of the high water table elevation by the Ottawa Septic office demonstrates that the high water table is typically determined after draft approval, and after other servicing (roads and storm drains) have been constructed. It also demonstrates that the City is typically satisfied with an estimation of the water table elevation, based on one-time observations. The City suggests that, "it would have been prudent to liaise with the City prior to commencing a modelling exercise that looks at modelling the water table." However, Golder participated in a meeting with the City, on February 17, 2010, and in a memorandum by the City dated April 29, 2010, the City states, "It was agreed at the meeting [of February 17th] that more fieldwork would be required in order to obtain better quality information on water table elevations and soil hydraulic conductivities. In conjunction with the fieldwork, Golder would perform a numerical modeling exercise in order to investigate some theoretical scenarios, which could later be fine-tuned with the new field information." It is our recollection that it was the City, not Golder, that suggested the use of groundwater modelling in order to assess the sump pump issue.	<u>Comment not addressed:</u> The City's reference to the Ottawa Septic System Office (OSSO) was in the context of an individual lot in the rural area, not in the case of a subdivision, where the City requires that the water table be determined as part of the design of the subdivision. Also the estimate of the water table by the OSSO is not a "one-time observation," but is rather based on the experience of the inspector in that particular area. The model referenced by Golder is not the same model as the one currently proposed. It was a much simpler model, and it was to be used to estimate a parameter under review at the time, which was dubbed by Golder "time to flood." The model was not suggested by the City and it had a fundamental flaw that rendered it unusable for the purpose intended by Golder at the time. When Golder recognized that the sump pit would be a direct conduit for groundwater accumulating around the foundation, the option of using the granulars under the floor slabs as storage was abandoned. This preliminary and abandoned model is not relevant to the current discussion, where Golder is proposing to use a model to predict the lowering of the water table for the purpose of setting the foundations at a lower elevation (than the existing monitored water table).
47 7	The relationship between basement elevations and the water table is of crucial importance for future homeowners within the subdivision, and it is evident that a high comfort level needs to be provided against the possibility of basement flooding. There is considerable doubt whether such a comfort level can be achieved through a predictive groundwater model. There is ample literature discussing the role of models in decision-making. It is widely recognized that groundwater numerical models have an important role to play in decision-making, as analytical solutions are available for only the simplest of problems; however, great caution needs to be exercised when relying on model predictions. In a recent issue of Ground Water7, Hunt and Zheng state that "models can never be considered crystal balls predicting the future, no matter how well constructed". They go on to say that this does not mean that models do not have utility today, but that it must be kept in mind that models have a "societal decision-making context", and that models are "better thought as heuristic8 science-based tools to assess what has happened, what is in the realm of possible for the future, and how uncertain the conjectures are". Golder is very familiar with these concepts, but they are nevertheless presented here for the non-specialist who is reading these comments and seeking understanding.	Golder has the necessary expertise and experience regarding the appropriate application of groundwater models. Golder has completed many projects involving groundwater modelling for many clients, including the City of Ottawa. In Golder's opinion, the models we have developed for this project reasonably approximate the real systems that they were developed to simulate, to the extent that they provide reasonable predictions of future groundwater levels. With regards to third party reliance, Golder's professional work produce was produced for the use of our client for the stated purpose only, as we have a contractual relationship with our client, only. Golder would not provide reliance to any third party in the absence of a contractual relationship. It is important to note that contracts and limitations statements address specific non-technical issues that are not related to quality of work or professional standards. The City should not confuse issues of a contractual and technical nature. We recommend that the City investigate the degree to which the City can rely on the services provided by the consultant it has retained in relation to this project (Dillon Consulting).	<u>Comment not addressed</u> : Godler's expertise is not being questioned by the City. The comment provided by the City was to highlight for the non-specialist the normal use of models, and that they have to be used with great caution when making predictions. The City does not agree with Golder that setting foundations based on a modeling exercise is appropriate. Dillon, in their July 11, 2013 review letter have also expressed a similar concern. In addition to this concern, the City is also concerned that it is excluded from the parties that can rely on the Golder report (see Dillon on this matter also).

	Specie	Golder has properly outlined the limitations of the model, stating that "[h]ydrogeological investigations and groundwater modelling are dynamic and inexact sciences" and that "groundwater systems are complicated beyond human capability to evaluate them comprehensively in detail". Golder also seems to acknowledge the heuristic use of the model when they state that "the behaviour of a valid groundwater model reasonably approximates that of the real system". It is however a large step to go beyond system behaviour to then predict future water table elevations with sufficient confidence to set basement elevations. Recognizing these limitations, Golder states that third parties9 can only rely on the model at their own risk. Dillon has pointed out that "[g]iven the significant limitations listed in the report, it is unclear if the assessment approach used is an adequate method to predict the impacts caused by the development." The City shares this concern. There is a need to couch the model within the "societal decision-making context", which in this case we understand to consist, at least partly, in protecting future homeowners who would have to deal with potential flooding problems should the model predictions be incorrect. It must therefore be recognized that the utility of a modelling exercise is limited when trying to establish basement elevations.			
	Speci	tic Comments on the Golder Technical Memorandum (TM)			
48	8	On page 1 the TM states that its contents represent a summary of the results; however, as pointed out by Dillon, additional documentation is required for a complete review. This review is therefore preliminary.	Addressed by Golder in updated technical memorandum.	Golder Associates - Updated Assessment of Subsurface Drainage and Analysis of 100- year storm event, Proposed Village of Richmond Development, June 5, 2013	<u>Comment partially addressed</u> : Additional information has been provided by Golder, but some information is still missing (see Dillon review letter, July 13, 2013).
49	9	There is a width of 2 m assumed for the service trench (page 2); however, this seems to be significantly wider than typical. Is a 2 m trench required in the model? (Also see Comment 18 below)	A 2 metre trench is not necessary. The width of the trench in the model has been revised to 1 m. The revised model is described under separate cover.		Comment partially addressed: The width of the service trench was reduced to 1 m, but no explanation was provided (as to the need for a specified trench width)
50	10	On page 3 there is an assumption that initial groundwater drainage will occur through the granular backfill material within service trenches; however, sewer trench bedding consists of Granular "A"10, which is a fairly well-graded material with substantial amounts of fines, and hence does not appear to exhibit the drainage characteristics assigned in the model. This premise of the model therefore needs to be reviewed. The hydraulic conductivity of the granular bedding material must be taken into account, and the longitudinal flow component of the dewatering regime—i.e. along the storm sewer bedding to the outlet—needs to be quantified.	Granular A was not specified in the Golder memo. We would recommend Granular O, which is Granular A with the fines removed, and thus is free draining.		
51	11	On page 3 weathered bedrock is assigned a hydraulic conductivity of 5x10-5 m/s, which appears to be an average value based on the measured values; however, since the fractured rock areas may be the worst case areas, it is important to assess the sensitivity of the model to the higher hydraulic conductivity (see also Comment 12 below).	The hydraulic conductivity of the upper bedrock was assigned a value that was the average of the measured values. This value is considered reasonable, and, based on the results of the subsurface investigation, is representative of the average conditions across the site		Comment not addressed: It is standard practice to provide a sensitivity assessment (see also Dillon's July 11, 2013 review letter).
52	12	Un page 3 an anisotropic ratio of 10:1 is applied to all layers; however, justification should be provided for assigning this ratio to the overburden. The sensitivity of the model to isotropic conditions in the overburden needs to be investigated.	The anisotropy of the overburden in the model has been revised. The revised model is described under separate cover.		Comment addressed.
53	13	On page 3 the worst case scenario is said to occur at the location shown on Figure 1; however, it would appear that a worst case may be at a location near the Jock River, where excavation is proposed in fractured bedrock, with fractures possibly connected to the river and where house excavations may open up more fractures. The entire area south of Ottawa Street therefore needs to be investigated separately. More field investigations may be required in order to better assess the connectivity between the fractures in the bedrock and the Jock River. All the foundations are below the 2-year flood level in the Jock River and many of these foundations are likely below even more frequent events. In houses constructed into the bedrock the sump pumps may not be able to keep up with the possible high flows from some parts of the fracture network. A work plan should be devised as to how this issue can be investigated.	DSEL / Golder reviewed site grading in the area adjacent to the River. USF's have been increased to either be situated above the 100-year water level in the Jock River or the rock elevation, which ever is lower.		<u>Comment partially addressed:</u> Please provide the revised Grading Plan.
54	14	The second bullet on page 4 states that the drain boundary elevations were specified at an elevation of 0.05 m above the storm sewer invert elevation to represent the potential flowing water depth in the sewer; however, the water in the sewer is not connected to the water in the trenches. Clarification is required, especially in view that the sixth bullet on the same page seems to indicate the opposite.	As stated by the City, water in the sewer is not to be connected to water in the trench bedding. This is clarified in the memorandum prepared by Golder regarding the revised model.		Comment addressed.

55	On page 5 there is a rationale for a 24-hour, 100-year storm; however, this rationale seems to miss the issue raised by the City. It appears that Golder is attempting to address the issue represented in DSEL(184). The City was raising the concern about the effect of the regulatory flood event, and also other events that might impact the basements, on houses located to the south of Ottawa Street. As stated above, there may be a hydraulic connection between the river and the fractured bedrock and the concern is that sump pumps may not keep up where basements are located below the water table and/or below the regulatory flood event (all underside of footing elevations south of Ottawa Street are located well below the regulatory flood elevation). The hydrograph for the regulatory flood will peak and recede relatively slowly. Assessing the effect of a 24-hour storm at the north portion of the subdivision does not address the City's concerns expressed in DSEL(184). See also Comment 13 (above) on this issue.	DSEL / Golder reviewed site grading in the area adjacent to the River. USF's have been increased to either be situated above the 100-year water level in the Jock River or the rock elevation, which ever is lower.	<u>Comment partially addressed:</u> Please provide the revised Grading Plan.
56	 Page 5 states that it will take 475 days for the water table to lower to a level where most basements are at or higher than the predicted water table. It should be specified whether it is intended to wait 475 days before the 16 construction of the first house, after it has been confirmed in the field that the water table lowering has been achieved. Also, in view of Comment 9 (above) the lowering of the water table may not be achieved if the trenches are not free draining as is assumed in the model. 	The modelling results provide general guidance regarding the timing of the lowering of the water table, under average conditions. Many factors may increase or decrease the actual time to achieve the required water table lowering. As such, field confirmation of the water table elevation during construction is recommended. Active dewatering during construction will 'likely be necessary (as is typical) for construction of the buried services, so it is likely that a combination of active and passive dewatering methods will achieve the water table lowering necessary to enable house construction.	<u>Comment misinterpreted</u> : The City was inquiring whether the developer will be waiting 475 days (now 400 days) to ensure that the water table has been lowered (we assume that this would be confirmed through monitoring). The City was not inquiring about the construction methodology.
57	On page 7 there is a predicted peak inflow into the sump pit of 1.07 m3/house/day based on the model. It would be useful to look at actual studies to see if this value is in fact an upper range for similar conditions. For 17 example, there is a study by the Ministry of the Environment12, where rain and pumping volumes were measured for a number of houses, and where flows exceeding 15 m3 were measured from a single house foundation drain over a period of approximately 25 hours.	Noted. Golder's analysis was specific to the study area.	Comment not addressed: The City is not necessarily asking Golder to provide data from studies in other areas; however, the City is suggesting that since the proposed solution is of a unique nature it would be useful to make use of data from studies where flows from foundations have been measured. The City provided a reference for one such study.
58	 Page 6 mentions that inspection is recommended in order to ensure that the service trench granular material is not connected to the house; however, this is not an area that is currently closely inspected. There may not be a mechanism to ensure that this gets inspected and therefore this particular inspection point should not be assumed as part of the solution. Under the proposed scheme, there is in effect only approximately 2 m of soil between the granular in the house service trench and the free draining material along the perimeter of the foundation (typically around 1 m). 	Clay seals are commonly designed for City sewers and watermains, and presumably the City carries out inspections to ensure that they are installed as designed. Our recommendation in this regard is that inspections be conducted at all service stubs, to ensure that the seals are installed as per the final designs.	<u>Comment not addressed</u> : The clay seals that Golder is referring to are normally in the main sewer trench, where continuous inspection is provided by the developer's consultant and supplemented by inspection by the City. The service trenches are not inspected to this degree.
59	Although the model is based on measured hydraulic conductivities, there is still a need to bracket parameters within possible ranges and run the model for several scenarios in order to determine the sensitivity of the model to variable inputs.	Golder has revised the groundwater model in response to questions and comments from the City's consultant. Description of the revised model and modelling results are presented under separate cover. In our opinion, the model is appropriately representative of the site conditions, based on site specific data, and as such, the model results present our best estimates of the groundwater conditions that will occur, in accordance with the scenarios as described. Further refinement or adjusting of model parameters is unlikely to provide better, or more accurate results.	<u>Comment not addressed:</u> It is standard practice to provide a sensitivity assessment (see also Dillon's July 11, 2013 review letter).
60	The Technical Memo by Hatch Mott MacDonald refers to an attached sketch showing a check valve, an isolation valve and a union; however the supporting drawing provided to the City (Figure 18, Dec 2012, "SUMP PUMP – DETAIL") does not show any valve(s). Notwithstanding the sketch, the memo states that the "[u]se of a backwater valve ahead of the 100 mm Y, is not considered necessary as potential backflow would be inhibited by the rise of the pump discharge coupled with the sump pump check valve", and further adds that "[g]iven that the pump discharge will be from a 40 or 50 mm pipe to a 100 mm pipe, there will be free air surface at the junction of the Y connection, therefore siphoning will not be an issue"; however, this would only happen if the 100 mm storm service was free draining, which will not be the case under 100-year conditions (and more frequent events as well), since the server in the street and the entire length of the storm service will be no air in the service connection. That being the case, the premise of relying on a check valve to protect against siphoning must be properly vetted and a case made for review by the City.	Duley noted, however there will be air in the outlet line at the top of the 'U' where it is exhausted above. Note that this is a typical arrangement employed throughout the GTA.	<u>Comment not addressed:</u> How will air enter the pipe at the top of the "U"? If the check valve in the sump pit (assuming that there is a check valve at this location) malfunctions, then the siphoning action will begin almost immediately after the sump pump shuts off. There is no time for air to come in (presuming that some kind of air entry device is designed—see question above). Please provide the details of the GTA arrangement (ensure that the level of detail is of "shop-drawing" level).

EL to provide shop drawings of the proposed arrangment. Refer to Goulbourn standard for the posed sump pump arrangement.

61	21	In view of the assumptions used, the uncertainties inherent in the modelling exercise and the limitations in the TM, the City does not have a comfort level that the water table will lower as predicted. Also, it would appear that a significant number of houses will not have any freeboard between the predicted water table and the foundation; in fact, some houses will be in the water table even after 475 days (page 5 of the TM). Notwithstanding the comments provided on the Golder model, it is anticipated that given the inherent risks with sump pumps in this particular setting, the requirements of the deviations/exceptions Section (§ 1.3) of the Ottawa Sewer Design Guidelines will not be met using this method of foundation drainage13. Consideration may have to be given to constructing homes without basements, or including a foundation drain collector system, should increased filling of the property be deemed not viable.	Please note that the sump pumps are expected to operate normally during the spring time where the ground water level is highest. The long term moc predicts that the high ground water level will be lower than existing due to th presence of the development.	el e	<u>Comment not addressed:</u> The City does not concur with Golder that a groundwater model can used as the basis for setting foundation elevations where the current water table is above the underside of footings.	
hird	Party	Review Comments Dated November 29, 2012 - Review of Oct 3, 2012 Tech	nnical Memorandum on Assessment of Drainage and Analysis of 100 y	ear flood event.		-
rom	Dillo	n Consulting To: Darlene Conway			For comments on prononant reasonage provided places refer to: V ^{BI}	r
62	1	Dillon is only in a position to provide limited comments at this time on the modeling work completed as the level of documentation is currently insufficient to support a full review. Additional documentation required to support a more complete review should include the following:	Addressed by Golder in updated technical memorandum.	Golder Associates - Updated Assessment of Subsurface Drainage and Analysis of 100 year storm event, Proposed Village of Richmond Development, June 5, 2013	For comments on proponent responses provided, please refer to: Village of Richmond, Western Development Lands, Review of June 5, 2013 Technical Memorandum on Assessment of Drainage and Analysis of 100 Year Storm Event, Dillon Consulting, July 11, 2013	
		 A figure showing the boundary conditions including assigned head elevations. 	Addressed by Golder in updated technical memorandum.	Golder Associates - Updated Assessment of Subsurface Drainage and Analysis of 100 year storm event, Proposed Village of Richmond Development, June 5, 2013		
		 A figure showing hydraulic conductivity zones in both plan and section. 	Addressed by Golder in updated technical memorandum.	Golder Associates - Updated Assessment of Subsurface Drainage and Analysis of 100 year storm event, Proposed Village of Richmond Development, June 5, 2013		
		• A figure showing actual water level distribution (in plan) and a comparison figure of modelled water level distribution.	Addressed by Golder in updated technical memorandum.	Golder Associates - Updated Assessment of Subsurface Drainage and Analysis of 100 year storm event, Proposed Village of Richmond Development, June 5, 2013		
		 A figure showing the predicted (modelled) water level distribution in plan after water levels have decreased after development and comparison to foundation elevations. 	Addressed by Golder in updated technical memorandum.	Golder Associates - Updated Assessment of Subsurface Drainage and Analysis of 100 year storm event, Proposed Village of Richmond Development, June 5, 2013		
		 A figure showing the amount of drawdown (decrease in water levels) predevelopment versus post-development. 	Addressed by Golder in updated technical memorandum.	Golder Associates - Updated Assessment of Subsurface Drainage and Analysis of 100 year storm event, Proposed Village of Richmond Development, June 5, 2013		
		Similar documentation for the 100 Year Storm Event Model.	Addressed by Golder in updated technical memorandum.	Golder Associates - Updated Assessment of Subsurface Drainage and Analysis of 100 year storm event, Proposed Village of Richmond Development, June 5, 2013		
		 An assessment of the sensitivity in the model to assumed and variable input parameters including hydraulic conductivity assumptions and recharge rates. 	Addressed by Golder in updated technical memorandum.	Golder Associates - Updated Assessment of Subsurface Drainage and Analysis of 100 year storm event, Proposed Village of Richmond Development, June 5, 2013		

63	Overall, further description should be provided to allow a better understanding of the methodology, assumptions and results of the modeling exercise. This should include supporting information on the basis and justification for the approach and assumptions applied. Given the significant limitations listed in the report, it is unclear if the assessment approach used is an adequate method to predict the impacts caused by the development. Further description and justification of the overall approach should be provided, specifically with respect to the level of reliance that should be placed upon the model predictions.	Addressed by Golder in updated technical memorandum.	Golder Associates - Updated Assessment of Subsurface Drainage and Analysis of 100- year storm event, Proposed Village of Richmond Development, June 5, 2013
64	The use of constant head boundaries to simulate the storm sewer infrastructure requires further description and justification. Constant head boundaries assume that the sewer trench is completely free-draining. The basis of this assumption should be discussed in greater detail. Also it is unclear if the elevations used as the basis of the constant heads take into account the rise in the sewer invert elevation away from the storm ponds.	Addressed by Golder in updated technical memorandum.	Golder Associates - Updated Assessment of Subsurface Drainage and Analysis of 100- year storm event, Proposed Village of Richmond Development, June 5, 2013
65	The 100 year storm event simulation methodology is unclear and would be better supported by a graphic. What is the basis for assuming a 24 hour 4 period for the storm event effect on water levels? Likewise what is the basis for the assumption that water levels will instantaneously decrease after 24 hours?	Addressed by Golder in updated technical memorandum.	Golder Associates - Updated Assessment of Subsurface Drainage and Analysis of 100- year storm event, Proposed Village of Richmond Development, June 5, 2013
66	Similarly, it is assumed that the constant heads simulating the foundation drains remained active during the 100 year storm event simulation. This should be confirmed and the requirements for ensuring that the storm sewer remains a viable outlet discussed.	Addressed by Golder in updated technical memorandum.	Golder Associates - Updated Assessment of Subsurface Drainage and Analysis of 100- year storm event, Proposed Village of Richmond Development, June 5, 2013
67	More explanation should be provided to support the conclusion " would not adversely effect baseflow to adjacent water courses," Are the expected flow rates greater than 50,000 L/day and is a Permit to Take Water required from the MOE?	Addressed by Golder in updated technical memorandum.	Golder Associates - Updated Assessment of Subsurface Drainage and Analysis of 100- year storm event, Proposed Village of Richmond Development, June 5, 2013
68	Other potential complicating factors should be considered and commented upon, whether implicitly as part of the modeling exercise or through discussion of their potential effects. This should include: a. the presence of upward gradients in the bedrock at some locations; 7 b. variable hydraulic conductivity in both the overburden and bedrock, as observed in the estimates provided in the TM; c. whether underside of footing (USF) elevations at some locations may encroach upon or be in contact with the more conductive bedrock materials (either within or beyond the modeled domain).	Addressed by Golder in updated technical memorandum.	Golder Associates - Updated Assessment of Subsurface Drainage and Analysis of 100- year storm event, Proposed Village of Richmond Development, June 5, 2013
69	As noted previously, further discussion should be provided with respect to the sensitivity of the model results to variations in model assumptions and a discussion of specific sources of uncertainty should be included with the overall conclusions of the assessment.	Addressed by Golder in updated technical memorandum.	Golder Associates - Updated Assessment of Subsurface Drainage and Analysis of 100- year storm event, Proposed Village of Richmond Development, June 5, 2013
70	9 Potential settlement issues associated with the water table lowering should be explicitly addressed.	Addressed by Golder in updated technical memorandum.	Golder Associates - Updated Assessment of Subsurface Drainage and Analysis of 100- year storm event, Proposed Village of Richmond Development, June 5, 2013
71	10 In the limitations section, the City of Ottawa and other review agencies should be included as third parties that can rely on the Golder report.	Addressed by Golder in updated technical memorandum.	Golder Associates - Updated Assessment of Subsurface Drainage and Analysis of 100- year storm event, Proposed Village of Richmond Development June 5, 2013



Community Information Session Status of the Village of Richmond Western Development Lands

You are invited to attend a public meeting regarding this application on:

Wednesday, May 08, 2019

7 to 8:30 p.m.

Richmond Memorial Community Centre 6095 Perth Street, Richmond

The purpose of the meeting is to provide the community with a status update of planning applications and development in Western Development lands in the Village of Richmond. Topics to be covered include:

New Municipal Well System and Source Water Protection Sanitary System

- Martin Street Sewer
- Capacity for development in the Village
- Infiltration and inflow reduction projects

Master Drainage Plan

Mattamy Subdivision

Fox Run (Caivan) Subdivision– Phase 1, Phase 2 revision and extension Official Plan Amendment – Landowner agreement for funding infrastructure Area Parks Plan – Western Development Lands

For additional information, please contact:

Cheryl McWilliams Planning, Infrastructure and Economic Development Department Tel: 613-580-2424, ext. 30234 E-mail: Cheryl.mcwilliams@ottawa.ca



Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change Ministère de l'Environnement et de l'Action en matière de changement climatique

AMENDED ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE APPROVAL

NUMBER 1060-AY8JK4 Issue Date: May 30, 2018

Richmond Village Development Corporation 2934 Baseline Road, Suite 302 Ottawa, Ontario K2H 1B2

Site Location: Western Development Lands 6350 Perth Street Lot 22, Concessions 2, 3, 4 City of Ottawa, Ontario

You have applied under section 20.2 of Part II.1 of the <u>Environmental Protection Act</u>, R.S.O. 1990, c. E. 19 (Environmental Protection Act) for approval of:

an amendment to existing stormwater management works for the collection, treatment and disposal of stormwater run-off servicing 33 hectare of an approximately 92 hectare residential subdivision development, located at 6350 Perth Street, west of Queen Charlotte Street, east of Joy's Road, north of CN Rail and the Jock River and south of Garvin Road, in the City of Ottawa, providing Enhanced Level water quality control and erosion protection and attenuating post-development peak flows to pre-development levels for all storm events up to and including the 100-year storm event, consisting of the following:

Proposed Works:

- outlet relocation to the Arbuckle Municipal Drain (originally located at the intersection of Arbuckle Drain and the Strachan Street road allowance) to a point downstream of the Fortune Street Culvert;
- headwall and storm sewer size adjustment to inlets of the proposed stormwater management pond described below.

Previous Works:

• storm sewers on Meynell Road, Equitation Circle, Hackamore Crescent, Cantle Crescent, Pelhem Crescent, Reynard Crescent, and Noriker Court collecting stormwater from the site,

discharging into the wet pond mentioned below;

- stormwater management facility (catchment area 33 hectares): one (1) wet pond with a sediment forebay, located just west of an unopened road allowance for Queen Charlotte Street, having a permanent pool volume of 23,546 cubic metres, an extended detention volume of 23,817 cubic metres, and a total storage volume of approximately 34,182 cubic metres, including the permanent pool volume, at a total depth of approximately 1.78 metres, receiving inflow from the storm sewers on-site, discharging to the Arbuckle Municipal Drain and ultimately to the Jock River;
- storm box culvert with a width of 3 metres and a height of 2.4 metres, beside the existing box culvert located under Fortune Street;

including erosion/sedimentation control measures during construction and all other controls and appurtenances essential for the proper operation of the aforementioned Works;

all in accordance with the submitted application and supporting documents listed in Schedule "A" forming part of this Approval.

For the purpose of this environmental compliance approval, the following definitions apply:

- 1. "Approval" means this entire document and any schedules attached to it, and the application;
- 2. "Director" means a person appointed by the Minister pursuant to section 5 of the EPA for the purposes of Part II.1 of the EPA;
- 3. "District Manager" means the District Manager of the appropriate local District Office of the Ministry, where the Works are geographically located;
- 4. "EPA" means the Environmental Protection Act, R.S.O. 1990, c.E.19, as amended;
- 5. "Ministry" means the ministry of the government of Ontario responsible for the EPA and OWRA and includes all officials, employees or other persons acting on its behalf;
- 6. "Owner" means Richmond Village Development Corporation, and includes its successors and assignees;
- 7. "OWRA" means the Ontario Water Resources Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. O.40, as amended;
- 8. "Works" means the sewage works described in the Owner's application, and this Approval.

You are hereby notified that this environmental compliance approval is issued to you subject to the terms and conditions outlined below:

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

1. <u>GENERAL CONDITIONS</u>

- 1.1 The Owner shall ensure that any person authorized to carry out work on or operate any aspect of the Works is notified of this Approval and the conditions herein and shall take all reasonable measures to ensure any such person complies with the same.
- 1.2 Except as otherwise provided by these Conditions, the Owner shall design, build, install, operate and maintain the Works in accordance with the description given in this Approval, the application for approval of the works and the submitted supporting documents and plans and specifications as listed in this Approval.
- 1.3 Where there is a conflict between a provision of any submitted document referred to in this Approval and the Conditions of this Approval, the Conditions in this Approval shall take precedence, and where there is a conflict between the listed submitted documents, the document bearing the most recent date shall prevail.
- 1.4 Where there is a conflict between the listed submitted documents, and the application, the application shall take precedence unless it is clear that the purpose of the document was to amend the application.
- 1.5 The conditions of this Approval are severable. If any condition of this Approval, or the application of any condition of this Approval to any circumstance, is held invalid or unenforceable, the application of such condition to other circumstances and the remainder of this Approval shall not be affected thereby.
- 1.6 The issuance of, and compliance with the conditions of, this Approval does not:
 - (a) relieve any person of any obligation to comply with any provision of any applicable statute, regulation or other legal requirement, including, but not limited to, the obligation to obtain approval from the local conservation authority/MNRF necessary to construct or operate the sewage works; or
 - (b) limit in any way the authority of the Ministry to require certain steps be taken to require the Owner to furnish any further information related to compliance with this Approval.
- 1.7 This Approval is for the treatment and disposal of stormwater run-off from approximately 33 hectares draining to the stormwater management facility, based on an average imperviousness of 51%. Any changes within the drainage area that might increase the required storage volumes or increase the flows to or from the stormwater management facility or any structural/physical changes to the stormwater management facility including the inlets or outlets will require an amendment to this Approval.

2. <u>EXPIRY OF APPROVAL</u>

- 2.1 The approval issued by this Approval will cease to apply to those parts of the Works which have not been constructed within five (5) years of the date of this Approval.
- 2.2 In the event that completion and commissioning of any portion of the Works is anticipated to be delayed beyond the specified expiry period, the Owner shall submit an application of extension to the expiry period, at least twelve (12) months prior to the end of the period. The application for extension shall include the reason(s) for the delay, whether there is any design change(s) and a review of whether the standards applicable at the time of Approval of the Works are still applicable at the time of request for extension, to ensure the ongoing protection of the environment.

3. <u>CHANGE OF OWNER</u>

- 3.1 The Owner shall notify the District Manager and the Director, in writing, of any of the following changes within thirty (30) days of the change occurring:
- (a) change of Owner;
- (b) change of address of the Owner;
- (c) change of partners where the Owner is or at any time becomes a partnership, and a copy of the most recent declaration filed under the Business Names Act, R.S.O. 1990, c.B17 shall be included in the notification to the District Manager; and
- (d) change of name of the corporation where the Owner is or at any time becomes a corporation, and a copy of the most current information filed under the Corporations Information Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. C39 shall be included in the notification to the District Manager.
- 3.2 In the event of any change in ownership of the Works, other than a change to a successor municipality, the Owner shall notify in writing the succeeding owner of the existence of this Approval, and a copy of such notice shall be forwarded to the Water Supervisor and the Director.
- 3.3 The Owner shall ensure that all communications made pursuant to this condition refer to the number at the top of this Approval.
- 3.4 Notwithstanding any other requirements in this Approval, upon transfer of the ownership or assumption of the Works to a municipality if applicable, any reference to the District Manager shall be replaced with the Water Supervisor.

4. <u>TEMPORARY EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL</u>

4.1 The Owner shall install and maintain temporary sediment and erosion control measures during construction and conduct inspections once every two (2) weeks and after each significant storm event (a significant storm event is defined as a minimum of 25 mm of rain in any 24 hours period). The inspections and maintenance of the temporary sediment and erosion control measures shall continue until they are no longer required and at which time they shall be

removed and all disturbed areas reinstated properly.

4.2 The Owner shall maintain records of inspections and maintenance which shall be made available for inspection by the Ministry, upon request. The record shall include the name of the inspector, date of inspection, and the remedial measures, if any, undertaken to maintain the temporary sediment and erosion control measures.

5. <u>MONITORING AND RECORDING</u>

- 5.1 The Owner shall, upon commencement of operation of the Works, carry out the following monitoring program:
 - (a) All samples and measurements taken for the purposes of this Approval are to be taken at a time and in a location characteristic of the quality and quantity of the effluent stream over the time period being monitored.
 - (b) Samples shall be collected at the following sampling points, at the frequency specified, by means of the specified sample type and analyzed for each parameter listed and all results recorded, as outlined in Schedule "B".
 - (c) The methods and protocols for sampling, analysis and recording shall conform, in order of precedence, to the methods and protocols specified in the following:
 - i. the Ministry's Procedure F-10-1, "Procedures for Sampling and Analysis Requirements for Municipal and Private Sewage Treatment Works (Liquid Waste Streams Only)", as amended from time to time by more recently published editions;
 - the Ministry's publication "Protocol for the Sampling and Analysis of Industrial/Municipal Wastewater" (January 1999), ISBN 0-7778-1880-9, as amended from time to time by more recently published editions; and
 - iii. the publication "Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater" (21st edition), as amended from time to time by more recently published editions.

6. **OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE**

- 6.1 If applicable, any proposed storm sewers or other stormwater conveyance in this Approval can be constructed but not operated until the proposed stormwater management facilities in this Approval or any other Approval that are designed to service the storm sewers or other stormwater conveyance are in operation.
- 6.2 The Owner shall make all necessary investigations, take all necessary steps and obtain all necessary approvals so as to ensure that the physical structure, siting and operations of the

stormwater works do not constitute a safety or health hazard to the general public.

- 6.3 The Owner shall inspect and ensure that the design minimum liquid retention volume is maintained in the Works at all times, except when maintenance is required.
- 6.4 The Owner shall undertake an inspection of the condition of the stormwater management system, at least once a year, and undertake any necessary cleaning and maintenance to ensure that sediment, debris and excessive decaying vegetation are removed from the above noted stormwater management Works to prevent the excessive build-up of sediment, debris and/or decaying vegetation to avoid reduction of capacity of the stormwater management Works. The Owner shall also regularly inspect and clean out the inlet to and outlet from the works to ensure that these are not obstructed.
- 6.5 The Owner shall construct, operate and maintain the Works with the objective that the effluent from the Works is essentially free of floating and settleable solids and does not contain oil or any other substance in amounts sufficient to create a visible film, sheen, foam or discoloration on the receiving waters.
- 6.6 The Owner shall maintain a logbook to record the results of these inspections and any cleaning and maintenance operations undertaken, and shall make the logbook available for inspection by the Ministry upon request. The logbook shall include, but not necessarily be limited to, the following information:
 - (a) the name of the Works; and
 - (b) the date and results of each inspection, maintenance and cleaning, including an estimate of the quantity of any materials removed.
- 6.7 The Owner shall prepare an operations manual prior to the commencement of operation of the Works that includes, but is not necessarily limited to, the following information:
 - (a) operating and maintenance procedures for routine operation of the Works;
 - (b) inspection programs, including frequency of inspection, for the Works and the methods or tests employed to detect when maintenance is necessary;
 - (c) repair and maintenance programs, including the frequency of repair and maintenance for the Works;
 - (d) contingency plans and procedures for dealing with potential spills and any other abnormal situations and for notifying the Water Supervisor; and
 - (e) procedures for receiving, responding and recording public complaints, including recording any follow-up actions taken.
- 6.8 The Owner shall maintain the operations manual current and retain a copy at the Owner's

administrative office for the operational life of the Works. Upon request, the Owner shall make the manual available to Ministry staff.

7. <u>REPORTING</u>

- 7.1 One (1) week prior to the start-up of the operation of the Works, the Owner shall notify the Water Supervisor (in writing) of the pending start-up date.
- 7.2 The Owner shall, upon request, make all reports, manuals, plans, records, data, procedures and supporting documentation available to Ministry staff.
- 7.3 The Owner shall prepare a performance report within ninety (90) days following the end of the period being reported upon, and submit the report(s) to the Water Supervisor when requested. The first such report shall cover the first annual period following the commencement of operation of the Works and subsequent reports shall be prepared to cover successive annual periods following thereafter. The reports shall contain, but shall not be limited to, the following information:

8. <u>RECORD KEEPING</u>

8.1 The Owner shall retain for a minimum of five (5) years from the date of their creation, all records and information related to or resulting from the operation and maintenance activities required by this Approval.

Schedule "A"

- 1. <u>Application for Environmental Compliance Approval for Municipal and Private Sewage</u> <u>Works</u>, dated March 11, 2016 and received on March 31, 2016, submitted by Richmond Village Development Corporation.
- Stormwater Management Pond 1 Western Development Lands- Richmond, Richmond Village (South) Limited, dated August, 2015 prepared by David Schaeffer Engineering Ltd.
- 3. <u>Interim Stormwater Management Pond 1 Western Development Lands- Richmond,</u> <u>Richmond Village (South) Limited</u>, dated August, 2015 prepared by David Schaeffer Engineering Ltd.
- 4. Pipe Data Form and sewer design sheets prepared by David Schaeffer Engineering Ltd.
- 5. Engineering Drawings: Richmond Village Development Corporation, dated January 29, 2016 prepared by David Schaeffer Engineering Ltd.
- Emails from Kevin Murphy, David Schaeffer Engineering Ltd. dated September 13, 2016;
- Emails from Kevin Murphy, David Schaeffer Engineering Ltd. dated September 28, 2016;
- 8. Email from Kevin Murphy, David Schaeffer Engineering Ltd. dated September 29, 2016;
- 9. Application for Environmental Compliance Approval, dated March 12, 2018, received on April 3, 2018, submitted by Richmond Village Development Corporation;
- Transfer of Review Letter of Recommendation, dated March 29, 2018 and signed by Damien Whittaker, P.Eng., Senior Engineer - Infrastructure Applications, Development Review, Rural Branch, Planning, Infrastructure & Economic Development Department, City of Ottawa;
- 11. Email from Kevin Murphy, David Schaeffer Engineering Ltd. dated April 20, 2018;
- 12. Email from Harry Alvey, City of Ottawa dated April 23, 2018;
- 13. Email from Damien Whittaker, City of Ottawa dated April 24, 2018;
- 14. Email from Damien Whittaker, City of Ottawa dated April 25, 2018;
- 15. Email from Harry Alvey, City of Ottawa dated April 27, 2018;
- 16. Email from Harry Alvey, City of Ottawa dated April 30, 2018;
- 17. Email from Kevin Murphy, David Schaeffer Engineering Ltd. dated May 2, 2018;
- 18. Email from Harry Alvey, City of Ottawa dated May 17, 2018; and
- 19. Email from Harry Alvey, City of Ottawa dated May 25, 2018.

Schedule "B"

Table 1: Effluent Monitoring

(Samples to be collected from the influent and effluent streams of the stormwater management facility)

Sample Type	Grab	
Frequency Three (3) rainfall <i>Wet Events</i> per year, with two (2) of the events occurring		
	between May and September	
Parameters	Total Suspended Solids, Phosphorus and Temperature	

The reasons for the imposition of these terms and conditions are as follows:

- 1. Condition 1 is imposed to ensure that the Works are built and operated in the manner in which they were described for review and upon which approval was granted. This condition is also included to emphasize the precedence of Conditions in the Approval and the practice that the Approval is based on the most current document, if several conflicting documents are submitted for review. The condition also advises the Owners their responsibility to notify any person they authorized to carry out work pursuant to this Approval the existence of this Approval. Condition 1.6 is included to emphasize that the issuance of the Approval does not diminish any other statutory and regulatory obligations to which the owner is subject in the construction, maintenance and operation of the works. The condition specifically highlights the need to obtain any necessary conservation authority approvals. The condition also emphasizes the fact that this Approval doesn't limit the authority of the Ministry to require further information.
- 2. Condition 2 is included to ensure that, when the Works are constructed, the Works will meet the standards that apply at the time of construction to ensure the ongoing protection of the environment.
- 3. Condition 3 is included to ensure that the Ministry records are kept accurate and current with respect to approved works and to ensure that subsequent owners of the Works are made aware of the Approval and continue to operate the Works in compliance with it.
- 4. Condition 4 is included as installation, regular inspection and maintenance of the temporary sediment and erosion control measures is required to mitigate the impact on the downstream receiving watercourse during construction, until they are no longer required.
- 5. Condition 5 is included to enable the Owner to evaluate and demonstrate the performance of the Works, on a continual basis, so that the Works are properly operated and maintained at a level which is consistent with the design objectives specified in the Approval and that the Works do not cause any impairment to the receiving watercourse or the environment.
- 6. Condition 6 is included as regular inspection and necessary removal of sediment and excessive decaying vegetation from the approved stormwater management Works is required to mitigate the impact of sediment, debris and/or decaying vegetation on the treatment capacity of the Works. It is also required to ensure that adequate storage is maintained in the stormwater management facilities at all times as required by the design, and to prevent stormwater impounded in the works from becoming stagnant. Furthermore, Condition 5 is included to ensure that the stormwater management Works are operated and maintained to function as designed.
- 7. Condition 7 is included to provide a performance record for future references, to ensure that the Ministry is made aware of problems as they arise, and to provide a compliance record for all the terms and conditions outlined in this Approval, so that the Ministry can work with the Owner in resolving any problems in a timely manner.

8. Condition 8 is included to require that all records are retained for a sufficient time period to adequately evaluate the long-term operation and maintenance of the Works.

Upon issuance of the environmental compliance approval, I hereby revoke Approval No(s). 8358-AEEQ9G issued on October 14, 2016.

In accordance with Section 139 of the Environmental Protection Act, you may by written Notice served upon me and the Environmental Review Tribunal within 15 days after receipt of this Notice, require a hearing by the Tribunal. Section 142 of the Environmental Protection Act provides that the Notice requiring the hearing shall state:

- a. The portions of the environmental compliance approval or each term or condition in the environmental compliance approval in respect of which the hearing is required, and;
- b. The grounds on which you intend to rely at the hearing in relation to each portion appealed.

Pursuant to subsection 139(3) of the Environmental Protection Act, a hearing may not be required with respect to any terms and conditions in this environmental compliance approval, if the terms and conditions are substantially the same as those contained in an approval that is amended or revoked by this environmental compliance approval.

The Notice should also include:

- 1. The name of the appellant;
- 2. The address of the appellant;
- 3. The environmental compliance approval number;
- 4. The date of the environmental compliance approval;
- 5. The name of the Director, and;
- 6. The municipality or municipalities within which the project is to be engaged in.

And the Notice should be signed and dated by the appellant.

This Notice must be served upon:

The Secretary*	etary* lental Review Tribunal Street, Suite 1500 <u>AND</u>	The Director appointed for the purposes of Part II.1 of
Environmental Review Tribunal 655 Bay Street, Suite 1500 <u>ANI</u> Toronto, Ontario		the Environmental Protection Act
		Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change
		135 St. Clair Avenue West, 1st Floor
		Toronto Ontorio
M5G 1E5		Toronto, Ontario
		M4V 1P5

* Further information on the Environmental Review Tribunal's requirements for an appeal can be obtained directly from the Tribunal at: Tel: (416) 212-6349, Fax: (416) 326-5370 or www.ert.gov.on.ca

The above noted activity is approved under s.20.3 of Part II.1 of the Environmental Protection Act.

DATED AT TORONTO this 30th day of May, 2018

C. Labaye

Christina Labarge, P.Eng. Director

appointed for the purposes of Part II.1 of the *Environmental Protection Act*

AL/

c: District Manager, MOECC Ottawa Water Supervisor, MOECC Ottawa Damien Whittaker, City of Ottawa (File No. D07-16-11-0014) Clerk, City of Ottawa Kevin Murphy, David Schaeffer Engineering Limited


Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change Ministère de l'Environnement et de l'Action en matière de changement climatique

ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE APPROVAL

NUMBER 5426-A5PMR9 Issue Date: January 6, 2016

Richmond Village (South) Ltd. 3894 Prince of Wales Drive Ottawa, Ontario K2C 3H2

Site Location: 6350 Perth Street Lot 22, Concession 2, 3 and 4 City of Ottawa, Ontario

You have applied under section 20.2 of Part II.1 of the Environmental Protection Act , R.S.O. 1990, c. E. 19 (Environmental Protection Act) for approval of:

sanitary sewers to be constructed in the City of Ottawa, on Block 18 (from Station 0+060.500 to Station 0+168.200), Strachan Street (from Station 0+128.500 to Station 0+304.200), Queen Charlotte Street (from Station 0+002.600 to Station 0+209.437) and Martin Street (from Station 0+016.000 to Station 0+170.600, and from Station 0+170.600 to Station 1+055.30);

all in accordance with the application from Richmond Village (South) Ltd., dated October 23, 2015, including final plans and specifications prepared by David Schaeffer Engineering Ltd.

In accordance with Section 139 of the Environmental Protection Act, you may by written Notice served upon me and the Environmental Review Tribunal within 15 days after receipt of this Notice, require a hearing by the Tribunal. Section 142 of the Environmental Protection Act provides that the Notice requiring the hearing shall state:

 The portions of the environmental compliance approval or each term or condition in the environmental compliance approval in respect of which the hearing is required, and;
 The grounds on which you intend to rely at the hearing in relation to each portion appealed.

The Notice should also include:

- 3. The name of the appellant;
- 4. The address of the appellant;
- 5. The environmental compliance approval number;
- 6. The date of the environmental compliance approval;
- 7. The name of the Director, and;
- 8. The municipality or municipalities within which the project is to be engaged in.

And the Notice should be signed and dated by the appellant.

This Notice must be served upon:

The Secretary*

Environmental Review Tribunal 655 Bay Street, Suite 1500 Toronto, Ontario M5G 1E5 purposes of Part II.1 of the Environmental Protection Act Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change 135 St. Clair Avenue West, 1st Floor Toronto, Ontario M4V 1P5

* Further information on the Environmental Review Tribunal's requirements for an appeal can be obtained directly from the Tribunal at: Tel: (416) 212-6349, Fax: (416) 326-5370 or www.ert.gov.on.ca

The above noted activity is approved under s.20.3 of Part II.1 of the Environmental Protection Act.

DATED AT TORONTO this 6th day of January, 2016

Gregory Zimmer, P.Eng. Director appointed for the purposes of Part II.1 of the *Environmental Protection Act*

YH/

c: District Manager, MOECC Ottawa District Office M. Rick O'Connor, Clerk, City of Ottawa Damien Whittaker, Senior Engineer, City of Ottawa (File No. D07-16-11-0014) Linda Carkner, Program Manager, City of Ottawa Kevin Murphy, P.Eng., David Schaeffer Engineering Ltd.



Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change Ministère de l'Environnement et de l'Action en matière de changement climatique

ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE APPROVAL

NUMBER 9297-AV9KAL Issue Date: January 25, 2018

Richmond Village Development Corporation 2934 Baseline Road, Unit 302 Ottawa, Ontario K2H 1B2

Site Location: Caivan Communities - Richmond Phase 1 6350 Perth Street City of Ottawa, Ontario

You have applied under section 20.2 of Part II.1 of the <u>Environmental Protection Act</u>, R.S.O. 1990, c. E. 19 (Environmental Protection Act) for approval of:

sanitary and storm sewers to be constructed in the City of Ottawa, as follows:

- sanitary sewers on Meynell Road (from Station 0+671.0 to Station 1+225.3), Cantle Crescent (from Station 0+000.0 to Station 0+267.9), Pelham Crescent (from Station 0-013.0 to Station 0+377.6), Reynard Crescent (from Station 0+000.0 to Station 0+308.6), Noriker Court (from Station 0-014.0 to Station 0+228.3), Hackamore Crescent (from Station 0+000.0 to Station 0+084.3), Equitation Circle (from Station 0+000.0 to Station 0+503.4), and Pond Inlet 3 Storm Trunk 2 (from Station 0+080.0 to Station 0+172.6), discharging to Richmond Stormwater Management Pond 1, located in the City of Ottawa; and
- storm sewers on Meynell Road (from Station 0+687.1 to Station 1+225.7), Cantle Crescent (from Station 0+002.5 to Station 0+267.9), Pelham Crescent (from Station 0-013.5 to Station 0+380.0), Reynard Crescent (from Station 0-002.0 to Station 0+310.6), Noriker Court (from Station 0-016.0 to Station 0+238.0), Hackamore Crescent (from Station 0-002.5 to Station 0+084.3), Equitation Circle (from Station 0+002.5 to Station 0+505.8), Block 235 (from Station 0+002.5 to Station 0+070.8), Pond Inlet 2 (from Station 0+006.9 to Station 0+076.8, Pond Inlet 3 Storm Trunk 1 (from Station 0+003.9 to Station 0+162.3), and Pond Inlet 3 Storm Trunk 2 (from Station 0+077.7 to Station 0+206.7), discharging to Richmond Stormwater Management Pond 1, located in the City of Ottawa;

all in accordance with the submitted application and supporting documents listed in Schedule "A" forming part of this approval.

For the purpose of this environmental compliance approval, the following definitions apply:

- 1. "Approval" means this entire document and any schedules attached to it, and the application;
- 2. "Director" means a person appointed by the Minister pursuant to section 5 of the EPA for the purposes of Part II.1 of the EPA;
- 3. "District Manager" means the District Manager of the appropriate local District Office of the Ministry, where the Works are geographically located;
- 4. "EPA" means the Environmental Protection Act, R.S.O. 1990, c.E.19, as amended;
- 5. "Ministry" means the ministry of the government of Ontario responsible for the EPA and OWRA and includes all officials, employees or other persons acting on its behalf;
- 6. "Owner" means Richmond Village Development Corporation, and includes their successors and assignees;
- 7. "OWRA" means the Ontario Water Resources Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. O.40, as amended;
- 8. "Significant Threat Policy(ies)" has the same meaning as in the Clean Water Act, 2006;
- 9. "Source Protection Plan" means a drinking water source protection plan prepared under the Clean Water Act, 2006;
- 10. "Works" means the sewage works described in the Owner's application, and this Approval.

You are hereby notified that this environmental compliance approval is issued to you subject to the terms and conditions outlined below:

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

<u>1.</u> GENERAL CONDITIONS

- 1. The Owner shall ensure that any person authorized to carry out work on or operate any aspect of the Works is notified of this Approval and the conditions herein and shall take all reasonable measures to ensure any such person complies with the same.
- 2. Except as otherwise provided by these Conditions, the Owner shall design, build, install, operate and maintain the Works in accordance with the description given in this Approval, and the application for approval of the Works.
- 3. Where there is a conflict between a provision of any document in the schedule referred to in this Approval and the conditions of this Approval, the conditions in this Approval shall take precedence, and where there is a conflict between the documents in the schedule, the document bearing the most recent date shall prevail.

- 4. Where there is a conflict between the documents listed in Schedule "A" and the application, the application shall take precedence unless it is clear that the purpose of the document was to amend the application.
- 5. The conditions of this Approval are severable. If any condition of this Approval, or the application of any requirement of this Approval to any circumstance, is held invalid or unenforceable, the application of such condition to other circumstances and the remainder of this Approval shall not be affected thereby.

2. EXPIRY OF APPROVAL

- 1. This Approval will cease to apply to those parts of the Work which have not been constructed within five (5) years of the date of this Approval.
- 2. In the event that completion and commissioning of any portion of the Works is anticipated to be delayed beyond the specified expiry period, the Owner shall submit an application of extension to the expiry period, at least twelve (12) months prior to the end of the period. The application for extension shall include the reason(s) for the delay, whether there is any design change(s) and a review of whether the standards applicable at the time of Approval of the Works are still applicable at the time of request for extension, to ensure the ongoing protection of the environment.

3. CHANGE OF OWNER

- 1. The Owner shall notify the District Manager and the Director, in writing, of any of the following changes within thirty (30) days of the change occurring:
 - a. change of Owner;
 - b. change of address of the Owner;
 - c. change of partners where the Owner is or at any time becomes a partnership, and a copy of the most recent declaration filed under the <u>Business Names Act</u>, R.S.O. 1990, c.B17 shall be included in the notification to the District Manager; or
 - change of name of the corporation where the Owner is or at any time becomes a corporation, and a copy of the most current information filed under the <u>Corporations Information Act</u>, R.S.O. 1990, c. C39 shall be included in the notification to the District Manager.
- 2. In the event of any change in ownership of the Works, other than a change to a successor municipality, the Owner shall notify in writing the succeeding owner of the existence of this Approval, and a copy of such notice shall be forwarded to the District Manager and the Director.
- 3. The Owner shall ensure that all communications made pursuant to this condition refer to the number at the top of this Approval.

4. Notwithstanding any other requirements in this Approval, upon transfer of the ownership or assumption of the Works to a municipality if applicable, any reference to the District Manager shall be replaced with the Water Supervisor.

4. OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE

1. If applicable, any proposed storm sewers or other stormwater conveyance in this Approval can be constructed but not operated until the proposed stormwater management facilities in this Approval or any other Approval that are designed to service the storm sewers or other stormwater conveyance are in operation.

5. SOURCE WATER PROTECTION

1. The Owner shall ensure, if applicable, that the design, construction and operation of the Works conforms to any Significant Threat Policies in any Source Protection Plan that applies to the location of the Works.

SCHEDULE "A"

- 1. Application for Environmental Compliance Approval for Municipal and Private Sewage Works, dated December 19, 2017 and received on December 28, 2017, submitted by Richmond Village Development Corporation.
- 2. Transfer of Review Letter of Recommendation, dated December 28, 2017 and signed by Damien Whittaker, Senior Engineer, City of Ottawa.

The reasons for the imposition of these terms and conditions are as follows:

- 1. Condition 1 is imposed to ensure that the Works are constructed and operated in the manner in which they were described and upon which approval was granted. This condition is also included to emphasize the precedence of conditions in the Approval and the practice that the Approval is based on the most current document, if several conflicting documents are submitted for review.
- 2. Condition 2 is included to ensure that, when the Works are constructed, the Works will meet the standards that apply at the time of construction to ensure the ongoing protection of the environment.
- 3. Condition 3 is included to ensure that the Ministry records are kept accurate and current with respect to approved Works and to ensure that subsequent owners of the Works are made aware of the Approval and continue to operate the Works in compliance with it.
- 4. Condition 4 is included to prevent the operation of stormwater pipes and other conveyance until such time that their required associated stormwater management Works are also constructed.
- 5. Condition 5 is included to ensure that the Works conform to the policies of the local Source Water Protection Plan.

In accordance with Section 139 of the Environmental Protection Act, you may by written Notice served upon me and the Environmental Review Tribunal within 15 days after receipt of this Notice, require a hearing by the Tribunal. Section 142 of the Environmental Protection Act provides that the Notice requiring the hearing shall state:

- a. The portions of the environmental compliance approval or each term or condition in the environmental compliance approval in respect of which the hearing is required, and;
- b. The grounds on which you intend to rely at the hearing in relation to each portion appealed.

The Notice should also include:

- 1. The name of the appellant;
- 2. The address of the appellant;
- 3. The environmental compliance approval number;
- 4. The date of the environmental compliance approval;
- 5. The name of the Director, and;
- 6. The municipality or municipalities within which the project is to be engaged in.

And the Notice should be signed and dated by the appellant.

This Notice must be served upon:

The Secretary* Environmental Review Tribunal 655 Bay Street, Suite 1500 Toronto, Ontario M5G 1E5

AND

The Director appointed for the purposes of Part II.1 of the Environmental Protection Act Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change 135 St. Clair Avenue West, 1st Floor Toronto, Ontario M4V 1P5 * Further information on the Environmental Review Tribunal's requirements for an appeal can be obtained directly from the Tribunal at: Tel: (416) 212-6349, Fax: (416) 326-5370 or www.ert.gov.on.ca

The above noted activity is approved under s.20.3 of Part II.1 of the Environmental Protection Act.

DATED AT TORONTO this 25th day of January, 2018

C. Labaye

Christina Labarge, P.Eng. Director appointed for the purposes of Part II.1 of the *Environmental Protection Act*

RS/

c: District Manager, MOECC Ottawa City Clerk, City of Ottawa (File No. D07-16-11-0014) Linda Carkner, Program Mananger, Right of Way Unit (MC 26-61) Harry R. Alvey, P.E., P.Eng., Project Manager, Rural Branch Kevin Murphy, David Schaeffer Engineering Ltd. Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change

Eastern Region Technical Support Section Water Resources 1259 Gardiners Rd, PO Box 22032 Kingston, ON K7P 3J6 Tel: (613) 549-4000

Ministère de l'Environnement et de l'Action en matière de changement climatique

Direction régionale de l'Est Section du Soutien Technique Ressource en eau 1259 Chemin Gardiners, CP 22032 Kingston, ON K7P 3J6 Tél:(613) 549-4000



August 10, 2016

Mr. Frank Cairo Richmond Village Development Corporation 3894 Prince of Wales Drive Ottawa, Ontario K2C 3H2

Dear Mr. Cairo:

RE: Permit To Take Water 8563-ABNQ5G Richmond West Development Lots: 22 and 23, Concessions: 3 and 4 Geographic Township of Goulbourn Ottawa Reference Number 3202-A9SHWQ

Please find attached Permit To Take Water 8563-ABNQ5G which authorizes the withdrawal of water in accordance with the application for this Permit To Take Water, dated April 28, 2016 and signed by Frank Cairo.

Please note the attached Permit expires on July 5, 2026.

Ontario Regulation 387/04 (Water Taking and Transfer) requires all water takers to report daily water taking amounts to the Water Taking Reporting System (WTRS) electronic database (https://www.lrcsde.lrc.gov.on.ca/wtrs/). Daily water taking must be reported on a calendar year basis. If no water is taken, then a "no taking" report must be entered. Please consult the Regulation and Section 4 of this Permit for monitoring requirements.

If you have questions about reporting requirements, please call the WTRS Help Desk at 416-235-6322 (toll free: 1-877-344-2011) or by email, <u>WTRSHelpdesk@ontario.ca</u>. It is preferred that you submit your data directly and electronically to the WTRS. Where this is impracticable, please contact the WTRS Help Desk to arrange for written submission of your data.

Take notice that in issuing this Permit, terms and conditions pertaining to the taking of water and to the results of the taking have been imposed. The terms and conditions have been designed to allow for the development of water resources, while providing reasonable protection to existing water uses and users.

Yours truly,

(rug kus

Greg Faaren Director, Section 34.1, Ontario Water Resources Act, R.S.O. 1990 Eastern Region

File Storage Number: SI OT 8563 220 (TS)

c: Caitlin Cooke, Golder Associates Ltd., ccooke@golder.com

Ottawa District Office



PERMIT TO TAKE WATER Surface and Ground Water NUMBER 8563-ABNQ5G

Pursuant to Section 34.1 of the <u>Ontario Water Resources Act</u>, R.S.O. 1990 this Permit To Take Water is hereby issued to:

Richmond Village Development Corporation 3894 Prince of Wales Drive Ottawa, Ontario K2C 3H2 Canada

For the water taking from: SWMP Excavation Communal Well - Pumping Station Excavation Trunk Sanitary Sewer and Local Sewer Excavations Located at: Lot 22 and 23 Concession 3 and 4 Geographic Townshir

Located at: Lot 22 and 23, Concession 3 and 4, Geographic Township of Goulbourn Ottawa

For the purposes of this Permit, and the terms and conditions specified below, the following definitions apply:

DEFINITIONS

- (a) "Director" means any person appointed in writing as a Director pursuant to section 5 of the OWRA for the purposes of section 34.1, OWRA.
- (b) "Provincial Officer" means any person designated in writing by the Minister as a Provincial Officer pursuant to section 5 of the OWRA.
- (c) "Ministry" means Ontario Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change.
- (d) "District Office" means the Ottawa District Office.
- (e) "Permit" means this Permit to Take Water No. 8563-ABNQ5G including its Schedules, if any, issued in accordance with Section 34.1 of the OWRA.
- (f) "Permit Holder" means Richmond Village Development Corporation.

(g) "OWRA" means the Ontario Water Resources Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. O. 40, as amended.

You are hereby notified that this Permit is issued subject to the terms and conditions outlined below:

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

1. Compliance with Permit

- 1.1 Except where modified by this Permit, the water taking shall be in accordance with the application for this Permit To Take Water, dated April 28, 2016 and signed by Frank Cairo, and all Schedules included in this Permit.
- 1.2 The Permit Holder shall ensure that any person authorized by the Permit Holder to take water under this Permit is provided with a copy of this Permit and shall take all reasonable measures to ensure that any such person complies with the conditions of this Permit.
- 1.3 Any person authorized by the Permit Holder to take water under this Permit shall comply with the conditions of this Permit.
- 1.4 This Permit is not transferable to another person.
- 1.5 This Permit provides the Permit Holder with permission to take water in accordance with the conditions of this Permit, up to the date of the expiry of this Permit. This Permit does not constitute a legal right, vested or otherwise, to a water allocation, and the issuance of this Permit does not guarantee that, upon its expiry, it will be renewed.
- 1.6 The Permit Holder shall keep this Permit available at all times at or near the site of the taking, and shall produce this Permit immediately for inspection by a Provincial Officer upon his or her request.
- 1.7 The Permit Holder shall report any changes of address to the Director within thirty days of any such change. The Permit Holder shall report any change of ownership of the property for which this Permit is issued within thirty days of any such change. A change in ownership in the property shall cause this Permit to be cancelled.

2. General Conditions and Interpretation

2.1 Inspections

The Permit Holder must forthwith, upon presentation of credentials, permit a Provincial Officer to carry out any and all inspections authorized by the OWRA, the *Environmental Protection Act*, R.S.O. 1990, the *Pesticides Act*, R.S.O. 1990, or the *Safe Drinking Water Act*, S. O. 2002.

2.2 Other Approvals

The issuance of, and compliance with this Permit, does not:

(a) relieve the Permit Holder or any other person from any obligation to comply with any other applicable legal requirements, including the provisions of the *Ontario Water Resources Act*, and the *Environmental Protection Act*, and any regulations made thereunder; or

(b) limit in any way any authority of the Ministry, a Director, or a Provincial Officer, including the authority to require certain steps be taken or to require the Permit Holder to furnish any further information related to this Permit.

2.3 Information

The receipt of any information by the Ministry, the failure of the Ministry to take any action or require any person to take any action in relation to the information, or the failure of a Provincial Officer to prosecute any person in relation to the information, shall not be construed as:

(a) an approval, waiver or justification by the Ministry of any act or omission of any person that contravenes this Permit or other legal requirement; or

(b) acceptance by the Ministry of the information's completeness or accuracy.

2.4 Rights of Action

The issuance of, and compliance with this Permit shall not be construed as precluding or limiting any legal claims or rights of action that any person, including the Crown in right of Ontario or any agency thereof, has or may have against the Permit Holder, its officers, employees, agents, and contractors.

2.5 Severability

The requirements of this Permit are severable. If any requirements of this Permit, or the application of any requirements of this Permit to any circumstance, is held invalid or unenforceable, the application of such requirements to other circumstances and the remainder of this Permit shall not be affected thereby.

2.6 Conflicts

Where there is a conflict between a provision of any submitted document referred to in this Permit, including its Schedules, and the conditions of this Permit, the conditions in this Permit shall take precedence.

3. Water Takings Authorized by This Permit

3.1 Expiry

This Permit expires on **July 5**, **2026**. No water shall be taken under authority of this Permit after the expiry date.

3.2 Amounts of Taking Permitted

The Permit Holder shall only take water from the source, during the periods and at the rates and amounts of taking specified in Table A. Water takings are authorized only for the purposes specified in Table A.

	Source Name / Description:	Source: Type:	Taking Specific Purpose:	Taking Major Category:	Max. Taken per Minute (litres):	Max. Num. of Hrs Taken per Day:	Max. Taken per Day (litres):	Max. Num. of Days Taken per Year:	Zone/ Easting/ Northing:
1	SWMP Excavation	Pond Dugout	Construction	Dewatering Construction	12,000	24	6,234,000	365	18 433620 5004100
2	Communal Well - Pumping Station Excavation	Pond Dugout	Construction	Dewatering Construction	3,000	24	174,000	365	18 433925 5003850
3	Trunk Sanitary Sewer and Local Sewer Excavations	Pond Dugout	Construction	Dewatering Construction	6,000	24	6,300,000	365	18 433290 5004000
							12,708,000		

<u>Table A</u>

4. Monitoring

- 4.1 The Permit Holder shall maintain a record of all water takings. This record shall include the dates and times of water takings, the rates of taking and an estimated calculation of the total amounts of water taken per day for each day that water is taken under the authorization of this Permit. A separate record shall be maintained for each source. The Permit Holder shall keep all required records up to date and available at or near the site of the taking and shall produce the records immediately for inspection by a Provincial Officer upon his or her request.
- 4.2 The Permit Holder shall notify all residents within 60 metres of the excavations described in Table A of the planned construction dewatering prior to commencement of dewatering operations. The residents shall be provided with contact information for the Permit Holder and shall be notified that the Permit Holder should be contacted in the event of a well water complaint.

4.3 If the Permit Holder receives a complaint regarding possible groundwater interference, the Permit Holder shall retain the services of a qualified person (Professional Geoscientist or qualified Professional Engineer) to investigate the water well(s) where the interference is reported to be occurring within 1 day of receiving the complaint. If it is determined that the water taking authorized by this Permit is causing interference with existing groundwater user(s) then the Permit Holder shall undertake the contingency plan included as Schedule A.

5. Impacts of the Water Taking

5.1 Notification

The Permit Holder shall immediately notify the local District Office of any complaint arising from the taking of water authorized under this Permit and shall report any action which has been taken or is proposed with regard to such complaint. The Permit Holder shall immediately notify the local District Office if the taking of water is observed to have any significant impact on the surrounding waters. After hours, calls shall be directed to the Ministry's Spills Action Centre at 1-800-268-6060.

5.2 For Surface-Water Takings

The taking of water (including the taking of water into storage and the subsequent or simultaneous withdrawal from storage) shall be carried out in such a manner that streamflow is not stopped and is not reduced to a rate that will cause interference with downstream uses of water or with the natural functions of the stream.

For Groundwater Takings

If the taking of water is observed to cause any negative impact to other water supplies obtained from any adequate sources that were in use prior to initial issuance of a Permit for this water taking, the Permit Holder shall take such action necessary to make available to those affected, a supply of water equivalent in quantity and quality to their normal takings, or shall compensate such persons for their reasonable costs of so doing, or shall reduce the rate and amount of taking to prevent or alleviate the observed negative impact. Pending permanent restoration of the affected supplies, the Permit Holder shall provide, to those affected, temporary water supplies adequate to meet their normal requirements, or shall compensate such persons for their reasonable costs of doing so.

If permanent interference is caused by the water taking, the Permit Holder shall restore the water supplies of those permanently affected.

5.3 Prevention of Adverse Effects:

The Permit Holder shall ensure the taking of water under authority of this Permit does not result in an adverse effect in area waters.

5.4 Prevention of Structural Adverse Effects:

The Permit Holder shall take all measures necessary to prevent damage to buildings, bridges, structures, roads and/or railway lines that may be impacted either directly or indirectly by this

taking.

- 5.5 Discharge Control Measures for Water that is Discharged to the Natural Environment: Siltation control measures shall be installed at the discharge site(s) and shall be sufficient to control the volumes. Continuous care shall be taken to properly maintain the siltation control devices.
- 5.6 The discharge of water shall be controlled in such a way as to avoid erosion and sedimentation in the receiving stream.
- 5.7 The Permit Holder shall ensure that any water discharged to the natural environment does not result in scouring, erosion or physical alteration of stream channels or banks and that there is no flooding in the receiving area or water body, downstream water bodies, ditches or properties caused or worsened by this discharge.
- 5.8 The Permit Holder shall not discharge turbid water to any watercourse. Turbid water shall be defined as any discharge water from the excavation or diverted water with a maximum increase of 8 NTUs above the receiving stream's background levels.
- 5.9 Discharged Water to the Sanitary or Storm Sewer System: The Permit Holder shall ensure that any water that is taken for dewatering purposes and discharged to the City of Ottawa sewer system is in accordance with a City of Ottawa Sewer Use Agreement.
- 5.10 The Permit Holder shall manage the discharge of water in accordance with Section 5.0 of the report entitled "Application for a Category 3 Permit To Take Water, Richmond West Development, On-site Water Taking, Richmond Village, Ottawa, Ontario" completed by Golder Associates Ltd. and dated May 3, 2016 included in Schedule A of this Permit.
- 5.11 If there are any exceedances of greater than 8 NTUs between the upstream and downstream sampling locations the Permit Holder shall notify the Ottawa District Office of the Ontario Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change. The Permit Holder shall also take water samples from the upstream and downstream locations and analyse the sample for Total Suspended Solids (TSS).

6. Director May Amend Permit

The Director may amend this Permit by letter requiring the Permit Holder to suspend or reduce the taking to an amount or threshold specified by the Director in the letter. The suspension or reduction in taking shall be effective immediately and may be revoked at any time upon notification by the Director. This condition does not affect your right to appeal the suspension or reduction in taking to the Environmental Review Tribunal under the *Ontario Water Resources Act*, Section 100 (4).

The reasons for the imposition of these terms and conditions are as follows:

- 1. Condition 1 is included to ensure that the conditions in this Permit are complied with and can be enforced.
- 2. Condition 2 is included to clarify the legal interpretation of aspects of this Permit.
- 3. Conditions 3 through 6 are included to protect the quality of the natural environment so as to safeguard the ecosystem and human health and foster efficient use and conservation of waters. These conditions allow for the beneficial use of waters while ensuring the fair sharing, conservation and sustainable use of the waters of Ontario. The conditions also specify the water takings that are authorized by this Permit and the scope of this Permit.

In accordance with Section 100 of the <u>Ontario Water Resources Act</u>, R.S.O. 1990, you may by written notice served upon me, the Environmental Review Tribunal and the Environmental Commissioner, **Environmental Bill of Rights**, R.S.O. 1993, Chapter 28, within 15 days after receipt of this Notice, require a hearing by the Tribunal. The Environmental Commissioner will place notice of your appeal on the Environmental Registry. Section 101 of the <u>Ontario Water Resources Act</u>, as amended provides that the Notice requiring a hearing shall state:

- 1. The portions of the Permit or each term or condition in the Permit in respect of which the hearing is required, and;
- 2. The grounds on which you intend to rely at the hearing in relation to each portion appealed.

In addition to these legal requirements, the Notice should also include:

- 3. The name of the appellant;
- 4. The address of the appellant;
- 5. The Permit to Take Water number;
- 6. The date of the Permit to Take Water;
- 7. The name of the Director;
- 8. The municipality within which the works are located;

This notice must be served upon:

The Secretary		The Environmental Commissioner		The Director, Section 34.1,
Environmental Review Tribunal	AND	1075 Bay Street	AND	Ministry of the Environment and
655 Bay Street, 15th Floor		6th Floor, Suite 605		Climate Change
Toronto ON		Toronto, Ontario M5S 2W5		1259 Gardiners Rd, PO Box
M5G 1E5				22032
Fax: (416) 326-5370				Kingston, ON
Email:				K7P 3J6
ERTTribunalsecretary@ontario.ca				

Further information on the Environmental Review Tribunal's requirements for an appeal can be obtained directly from the Tribunal:

by Telephone at (416) 212-6349 Toll Free 1(866) 448-2248

by Fax at (416) 326-5370 Toll Free 1(844) 213-3474 by e-mail at www.ert.gov.on.ca

This instrument is subject to Section 38 of the **Environmental Bill of Rights** that allows residents of Ontario to seek leave to appeal the decision on this instrument. Residents of Ontario may seek to appeal for 15 days from the date this decision is placed on the Environmental Registry. By accessing the Environmental Registry, you can determine when the leave to appeal period ends.

Dated at Kingston this 10th day of August, 2016.

Greg Faaren Director, Section 34.1 Ontario Water Resources Act, R.S.O. 1990

Schedule A

This Schedule "A" forms part of Permit To Take Water 8563-ABNQ5G, dated August 10, 2016.

Section 5.0 of the report entitled "Application for a Category 3 Permit To Take Water, Richmond West Development, On-site Water Taking, Richmond Village, Ottawa, Ontario" completed by Golder Associates Ltd. and dated May 3, 2016

Section 6.0 of the report entitled "Application for a Category 3 Permit To Take Water, Richmond West Development, On-site Water Taking, Richmond Village, Ottawa, Ontario" completed by Golder Associates Ltd. and dated May 3, 2016



3889 Rideau Valley Drive, P.O. Box 599, Manotick, ON K4M 1A5 tel 613-692-3571 | 1-800-267-3504 | fax 613-692-0831 | www.rvca.ca

LETTER OF PERMISSION – ONT. REG. 174/06, SECTION 28 CONSERVATION AUTHORITIES ACT 1990, AS AMENDED.

Date: October 18, 2016. File: RV5-22/16T Contact: Hal Stimson (613) 692-3571 Ext 1127 hal.stimson@rvca.ca

A member of Conservation or

Mr. Frank Cairo Richmond Village Development Corporation 5504 Wicklow Drive Manotick, Ontario K4M 1C4

Permit for Development under Section 28 of the Conservation Authorities Act for a Stormwater Management Facility at Lot 22, Concession 3, Goulbourn Township now in the City of Ottawa

Dear Mr. Cairo

The Rideau Valley Conservation Authority has reviewed your application on behalf of the Richmond Village Development Corporation and understands the proposal to be for: the construction of a new stormwater management facility within the flood plain of the Jock River and the Arbuckle Municipal Drain. Appropriate cut/fill analysis has been undertaken that meet RVCA fill policies. This infrastructure is to service the Richmond Village Residential subdivision to be located to the west of Queen Charlotte Street in Richmond in accordance with the approved Stormwater Management Report and Design Briefs. An enhanced level of treatment is expected as a result of the design and continued drainage outlet is to be provided for off-site lands in order to ensure the development does not cause flooding of other properties.

This proposal was reviewed under Ontario Regulation 174/06, the "Development, Interference with Wetlands and Alterations to Shorelines and Watercourses" regulation.

RV5-22/16T 18-Oct-16 Page 1 of 4

PERMISSION AND CONDITIONS

By this letter the Rideau Valley Conservation Authority hereby grants you approval to undertake this project as outlined in your permit application but subject to the following conditions:

- 1. Approval is subject to the understanding of the project as described above and outlined in the application and submitted plans and reports including:
 - Drawing Fig-1 titled Existing Ground -vs- 2010 Floodplain dated 2015-11-17 as prepared by DSEL.
 - Drawing Fig-2 titled Proposed Pond (100yr-WL) –vs- 2010 Floodplain dated 2015-11-17 as prepared by DSEL.
 - Drawing Fig-3 titled Proposed Pond (100yr-WL) dated 2015-11-17 as prepared by DSEL.
 - Drawing Fig-4 titled Existing Ground –vs- Proposed Pond (100yr-WL) dated 2015-11-17 as prepared by DSEL.
 - Drawing SEC-1 titled Section 1 dated 2015-11-17 as prepared by DSEL.
 - Drawing SEC-2 titled Section 2 dated 2015-11-17 as prepared by DSEL.
 - Drawing SEC-3 titled Section 3 dated 2015-11-17 as prepared by DSEL.
 - Drawing SEC-4 titled Section 4 dated 2015-11-17 as prepared by DSEL.
 - Drawings dated 16-01-29 with Interim and Final SWM Pond and Outlets.
 - Report dated Feb 2016 for interim Pond Design.
 - Report dated Nov 2015 for Final Pond Design.
 - Baseflow Information provided by JFSA dated April 13, 2016.

No conditions are subject to change/revision by the on-site contractor(s).

2. <u>There will be no in-water works between March 15 and July 1, of any given year</u> to protect local aquatic species populations during their spawning and nursery time periods.

- 3. It is recommended that you retain the services of an engineer to conduct on-site inspections to ensure adequacy of the work, verify stability of the final grades and confirm all imported fill is of a suitable type and has been adequately placed and compacted.
- 4. A final as built grading plan shall be submitted immediately upon completion of the approved works prepared by an Ontario Land Surveyor or Professional Engineer licensed to practice in Ontario indicating that grades achieved on the site conform to those indicated on the approved plan and detailing the new alignment of the 1:100 year flood line.
- 5. It is recommended that you ensure your contractor(s) are provided with a copy of this letter so as to ensure compliance with the conditions listed herein.
- 6. Any excess excavated material, as a result of the work, must be disposed of in a suitable location outside any regulatory floodplain and fill regulated area.

RV5-22/16T 18-Oct-16 Page **2** of **4**

- 7. Only clean material free from particulate matter may be placed in the water. Any stockpiled materials shall be stored and stabilized away from the water.
- 8. All materials and equipment used for the purpose of site preparation and project completion must be operated (washed, refuelled, and serviced) and all fuel stored in a manner that prevents any deleterious substance (e.g. petroleum products, silt, debris etc.) from entering any watercourse.
- 9. Sediment barriers should be used on site in an appropriate method according to the Ontario Provincial Standard Specifications (OPSS) for silt barriers as a minimum. If the sediment and erosion control methods include silt fence it should be placed along the shoreline to prevent overland flow on disturbed areas from entering the watercourse. Soil type, slope of land, drainage area, weather, predicted sediment load and deposition should be considered when selecting the type of sediment/erosion control.
- 10. Sediment and erosion control measures shall be in place before any excavation or construction works commence. All sediment/erosion control measures are to be monitored regularly by experienced personnel and maintained as necessary to ensure good working order. In the event that the erosion and sedimentation control measures are deemed not to be performing adequately, the contractor shall undertake immediate additional measures as appropriate to the situation to the satisfaction of the Conservation Authority.
- 11. Work in water shall not be conducted at times when flows are elevated due to local rain events, storms or seasonal floods.
- 12. Develop a response plan that is to be implemented immediately in the event of flooding, a sediment release or spill of a deleterious substance. This plan is to include measures to: a) stop work, contain sediment-laden water and other deleterious substances and prevent their further migration into the watercourse and downstream receiving watercourses; b) notify the RVCA and all applicable authorities in the area c) promptly clean-up and appropriately dispose of the sediment-laden water and deleterious substances; and d) ensure clean-up measures are suitably applied so as not to result in further alteration of the bed and/or banks of the watercourse.
- 13. The owner is ultimately responsible for failure to comply with any and/or all of these conditions and must take all precautions to ensure no sediment runoff from the work site into any watercourse during and after the construction period. Failure to comply with the approval and/or conditions of this letter will result in the permit being revoked and may also result in legal action being initiated to resolve the matter to the Conservation Authority's satisfaction.
- 14. The applicant agrees that Authority staff may visit the subject property, before, during and after project completion, to ensure compliance with the conditions as set out in this letter of permission.
- 15. A new application must be submitted should any work as specified in this letter be ongoing or planned for or after October 18, 2018.

RV5-22/16T 18-Oct-16 Page **3** of **4**

- 16. That the Authority be given twenty-four hours notice prior to the start of construction and within twentyfour hours of project completion.
- 17. All other approvals as might be required from the Municipality, and/or other Provincial or Federal Agencies must be obtained prior to initiation of work. This includes but is not limited to the Endangered Species Act., the Ontario Water Resources Act., Environmental Protection Act., Public Lands Act, and the Fisheries Act.

By this letter the Rideau Valley Conservation Authority assumes no responsibility or liability for any flood, erosion, or slope failure damage which may occur either to your property or the structures on it or if any activity undertaken by you adversely affects the property or interests of adjacent landowners. This letter does not relieve you of the necessity or responsibility for obtaining any other federal, provincial or municipal permits. This permit is not transferable to subsequent property owners.

Should you have any questions regarding this letter, please contact Hal Stimson at our Manotick office.

Tenny & Davidson

Terry K. Davidson, P. Eng. Conservation Authority S. 28 Signing delegate O. Reg. 174/06

Cc: K. Murphy, P. Eng. DSEL

D.Ryan, P. Geo., City Ottawa Drainage Manager

- Pursuant to the provisions of S. 28(12) of the Conservation Authorities Act (R.S.O.1990, as amended.) any or all of the conditions set out above may be appealed to the Executive Committee of the Conservation Authority in the event that they are not satisfactory or cannot be complied with.
- Failure to comply with the conditions of approval or the scope of the project may result in the cancelling of the permission and/or initiation of legal action under S. 28(16) of the Act.
- This letter of permission does not come into full force and effect until the attached copy of this letter is returned to the Authority offices in Manotick signed and dated which return shall be taken as indicating acceptance of the conditions of the Authority's approval and acknowledgement that the details of the proposal as described in this letter are a fair and accurate representation of the proposed undertaking.

Name: _____ (print)

Signed:

Date:

RV5-22/16T 18-Oct-16 Page 4 of 4

RVCA Letter of Permission —

Ont. Reg. 174/06, S. 28 *Conservation Authorities Act* 1990, As Amended.



Date: June 14, 2019 File: RV5-2219 Contact: Shelley Macpherson

3889 Rideau Valley Drive PO Box 599, Manotick ON K4M 1A5 T 613-692-3571 | 1-800-267-3504 F 613-692-0831 | www.rvca.ca

Mattamy (Jock River) Limited ATT: Kevin Murphy 50 Hines Road, Unit 100 Ottawa, ON K2K 2M5

Permit for: Development Under Section 28 of the Conservation Authorities Act for the placement of fill, at 6420 Ottawa Street West, Lot 22, Concession 2, former Township of Goulbourn, now in the City of Ottawa. Roll Number: 0614273815343000000

Dear Mr. Murphy,

The Rideau Valley Conservation Authority has reviewed the application and understands the proposal to be for:

a) The placement of fill between the "berm" and Ottawa Street West to a maximum level of 96.5m.

This proposal was reviewed under Ontario Regulation 174/06, the "*Development, Interference with Wetlands, and Alteration to Watercourse and Shorelines*" regulation and the RVCA Development Policies (approved by the RVCA, Board of Directors), specifically Section 2.0 Policies Regarding the Placement of Fill.



In 2005, the RVCA issued a Letter of Permission to the previous property owner for the construction of a berm and installation of a "water control gate" to maintain flood risk mapping land levels" to the 1980 Acres Flood Plain Mapping Study (96.0 metres). On May 6, 2006 changes to the RVCA's regulatory legislation resulted in the incorporation of the revised Flood Plain Mapping Study for this reach of the Jock River. The new mapping indicated the 1:100 year flood elevation for this reach to be 96.35 metres.

In 2009, Mattamy Ltd. Also received approval for "earthworks" on the property relating to removing the original berm constructed in the Spring of 2006 and locating it at the 2005 approved location and filling from the relocated berm to Ottawa Street and the removal of the "flap gate" water control structure. The filling between the location of the relocated berm (closer to Ottawa Street) was to be to a maximum height of 96.5 metres and to taper to match grades established at the berm.



2014 airphoto

This application is to complete the filling between the berm and Ottawa Street as that portion of the project has not been completed to date.

The proposal is not expected to impact the control of flooding, pollution, erosion or conservation of land based on the findings that the work should have been completed at the time and providing conditions are followed.

PERMISSION AND CONDITIONS

By this letter the Rideau Valley Authority hereby grants you approval to undertake this project as outlined in your permit application but subject to the following conditions:

1. Approval is subject to the understanding of the project as described above and outlined in the application and submitted plans completed by David Schaeffer Engineering Ltd., dated June 6, 2019, Project #977 and there will be no filling within 2 metres of the

watercourse and sediment and erosion control measures will be in place prior to commencement of the project.

- 2. There will be no work completed on the south side of the existing "berm" nor will there be any work completed on the watercourse.
- 3. A finished grading plan will be submitted as soon as the work is complete to confirm the grading completing. A refundable deposit of \$3190 is required to be submitted prior to commencement of the work. Satisfactory review of the finished grading plan and compliance with other conditions of approval will result in the return of the deposit (less 10% administrative fee).
- The Rideau Valley Conservation Authority is to receive two-day's notice of the start of the project.
- 5. The applicant agrees that Authority staff may visit the subject property before, during and after project completion to ensure compliance with the conditions as set out in this letter of permission.
- That the current municipal zoning will permit this development and no variances and/or amendments to the current zoning will be necessary in order to proceed with the development. Any Planning application will require further review and may not receive supportive comments.
- 7. Sediment control will be established to ensure no sediment migration from the site to either the River or the watercourse that runs through the property to the River. All grubbing and equipment storage and operation will be limited to the development envelope or North side of the berm. All areas located outside the development envelope will be left untouched. No fill including topsoil, sand, etc. will be placed outside the development envelope for any reason purpose. No equipment will be permitted to disturb area outside the development envelope.
- 8. A new application must be submitted should any work as specified in this letter be ongoing or planned for or after June 14, 2021.

By this letter the Rideau Valley Conservation Authority assumes no responsibility or liability for any flood, erosion, or slope failure damage which may occur either to your property or the structures on it or if any activity undertaken by you adversely affects the property or interests of adjacent landowners. This letter does not relieve you of the necessity or responsibility for obtaining any other federal, provincial or municipal permits. This permit is not transferable to subsequent property owners. Should you have any questions regarding this letter, please contact Shelley Macpherson.

Terry & Daiskon

Terry K. Davidson P.Eng Conservation Authority S. 28 Signing delegate O. Reg. 174/06

- cc: City of Ottawa David Schaeffer Engineering Ltd.
- Pursuant to the provisions of S. 28(12) of the Conservation Authorities Act (R.S.O.1990, as amended.) any or all of the conditions set out above may be appealed to the Executive Committee of the Conservation Authority in the event that they are not satisfactory or cannot be complied with.
- Failure to comply with the conditions of approval or the scope of the project may result in the cancelling of the permission and/or initiation of legal action under S. 28(16) of the Act.
- Commencement of the work and/or a signed and dated copy of this letter indicates acknowledgement and acceptance of the conditions of the RVCA's approval letter concerning the application and the undertaking and scope of the project.

KEVIN MURPHY Name: (print) Signed:

Date: 14 - Jun - 2019



LEGEN	LEGEND					
	100-Year Floodplain per City of Ottawa GIS					
	Jock River					
	Existing Berm per RV5 0309 (2009-	03-03)				
	New 100-year floodplain limit					
	Fill area requiring RCVA permit					
	Removed Berm per RV5 0309 (2009-03-03)					
06 38						
21178	Regulatory Flood Elevation Cross-Section Number (Source: RVCA Flood Risk Map)					
±96.40	Approximate top of berm elevation (proposed)					
	Centerline of existing ditch					
	Drainage Easement (City of Ottawa)					
95.849	As-built elevation (ASL, January 24, 2019)					
96.7	Elevation from City of Ottawa 2K Mapping					
Homes:		Date:				
alley Conservation		Date:				
		PROJECT No.: 977				
		2019-06-06				
		DRAWN BY: ajt				
		Scale = 1:1,500				
		Figure - 1				

3889 Rideau Valley Drive, PO. Box 599, Manotick, ON K4M 1A5 tel 613-692-3571 | 1-800-267-3504 | fax 613-692-0831 | www.rvca.ca

ION AUTHORITY

LETTER OF PERMISSION – ONT. REG. 174/06, SECTION 28 CONSERVATION AUTHORITIES ACT 1990, AS AMENDED.

Date: September 27, 2018. File: RV5-27/18 Previous: RV5-20/16 Contact: Hal Stimson (613) 692-3571 Ext 1127 hal.stimson@rvca.ca

A member of Conservation

Mr. Frank Cairo Richmond Village Development Corporation 5504 Wicklow Drive Manotick, Ontario K4M 1C4

Permit to alter a waterway under Section 28 of the Conservation Authorities Act for Storm Outlets at Lot 22, Concession 3, Goulbourn Township now in the City of Ottawa

Dear Mr. Cairo:

The Rideau Valley Conservation Authority has reviewed your renewed application on behalf of Richmond Village Development Corporation and understands the proposal to be for: the construction of two storm pond outlets to the Arbuckle Drain. The previous permit file RV5-2016 has expired and this new permit authorizes the completion of the unfinished portions of the project and acknowledges new and revised construction drawings. The main work yet to be completed include the storm water management facility spillway and a storm outlet with rip rap outlet protection into the Arbuckle Municipal Drain.

This proposal was reviewed under Ontario Regulation 174/06, the "Development, Interference with Wetlands and Alterations to Shorelines and Watercourses" regulation.

PERMISSION AND CONDITIONS

By this letter the Rideau Valley Conservation Authority hereby grants you approval to undertake this project as outlined in your permit application but subject to the following conditions:

- 1. Approval is subject to the understanding of the project as described above and outlined in the application and submitted plans including:
 - Drawing Sheets No. 2B and 2C for Project No. 15-764BB titled SWM POND 1 General Plan (Interim Condition), Revision No. 11, dated 18-06-12, stamped by W.Liu, P. Eng.as prepared by DSEL.
 - Drawing Sheet No. 12 for Project No. 15-764BB titled Plan and Profile of SWM Pond 1 Outfall 2, Revision No. 10, dated 18-06-12 stamped by W. Liu, P. Eng.as prepared by DSEL.
 - Drawing Sheet No. 14 for Project No. 15-764BB titled Erosion & Sediment Control Plan Stage 1, Revision No. 10, dated 18-06- 12 stamped by W. Liu, P. Eng.as prepared by DSEL.
 - Drawing Sheet No. 16 for Project No. 15-764BB titled Storm Drainage Plan (Interim condition), Revision No. 10, dated 18-06-12 stamped by W. Liu, P. Eng.as prepared by DSEL.
 - Drawing No. GEO-2 for Project No. 15078 titled SWM Pond 1 Outlet 2 Stilling Basin, Revision No. 3, dated 16-01-27 stamped by P. Villard, P. Geo., as prepared by Geomorphix.
 No conditions are subject to change/revision by the on-site contractor(s).
- 2. All grades are to be restored to the current elevations and as is conditions.
- 3. Any excess excavated material, as a result of the work, must be disposed of in a suitable location outside any regulatory floodplain and fill regulated area. No changes to area grades are to occur as a result of the work.
- 4. Rip rap erosion protection to be used at the storm outlet must be placed to ensure the top elevation of the rip rap is at the same elevation as the channel bed.
- 5. It is recommended that you retain the services of an engineer to conduct on-site inspections to ensure adequacy of the work, verify stability and re-instatement of the final grades and confirm all imported fill is of a suitable type and has been adequately placed and compacted.
- 6. Only clean non-contaminated fill material will be used and all work is to occur on your property, or if on other property only with full authorization of the owner(s).

7. There will be no in-water works between March 15 and July 15, of any given year to protect local aquatic species populations during their spawning and nursery time periods.

- 8. All in-stream work should be completed in the dry by de-watering the work area and diverting and/or pumping any flows around cofferdams placed at the limits of the work area. Silt or debris that has accumulated around the temporary cofferdams should be cautiously removed prior to their withdrawal. No channel modifications or dredging is permitted or implied by this letter.
- 9. Work in-water shall not be conducted at times when flows are elevated due to local rain events, storms or seasonal floods. Existing stream flows must be maintained downstream of the de-watered work area without interruption, during all stages of the work. There must be no increase in water levels upstream of the de-watered work area.
- 10. It is recommended that you ensure your contractor(s) are provided with a copy of this letter so as to ensure compliance with the conditions listed herein.
- 11. Any aquatic species (fish, turtles) trapped within an enclosed work area are to be safely relocated outside of the enclosed area to the main watercourse downstream of the work zone.

- 12. Sediment barriers should be used on site in an appropriate method according to the Ontario Provincial Standard Specifications (OPSS) for silt barriers as a minimum. If the sediment and erosion control methods include silt fence it should be placed along the shoreline to prevent overland flow on disturbed areas from entering the watercourse. Soil type, slope of land, drainage area, weather, predicted sediment load and deposition should be considered when selecting the type of sediment/erosion control.
- 13. Sediment and erosion control measures shall be in place before any excavation or construction works commence. All sediment/erosion control measures are to be monitored regularly by experienced personnel and maintained as necessary to ensure good working order. In the event that the erosion and sedimentation control measures are deemed not to be performing adequately, the contractor shall undertake immediate additional measures as appropriate to the situation to the satisfaction of the Conservation Authority.
- 14. The waters of the creek are NOT to be considered as machine staging areas. Activities such as equipment refuelling and maintenance must be conducted away from the water to prevent entry of petroleum products, debris, or other deleterious substances into the water. Operate machinery from outside the water, or on the water in a manner that minimizes disturbance to the banks or bed of the watercourse. Equipment shall not be cleaned in the watercourse or where wash-water can enter any watercourse. Machinery is to arrive on site in a clean condition and is to be maintained free of fluid leaks
- 15. All disturbed soil areas must be appropriately stabilized to prevent erosion and any stockpiled materials shall be stored and stabilized away from the water.
- 16. Develop a response plan that is to be implemented immediately in the event of flooding, a sediment release or spill of a deleterious substance. This plan is to include measures to: a) stop work, contain sediment-laden water and other deleterious substances and prevent their further migration into the watercourse and downstream receiving watercourses; b) notify the RVCA and all applicable authorities in the area c) promptly clean-up and appropriately dispose of the sediment-laden water and deleterious substances; and d) ensure clean-up measures are suitably applied so as not to result in further alteration of the bed and/or banks of the watercourse; and e) ensure construction equipment and/or materials are located outside the 100-year floodplain in the vent of flooding.
- 17. Nothing in this letter of permission relieves the applicant from requirements of any other federal, provincial or municipal permits or permission including, for example, Ontario Ministry of Environment Certificate of Approvals, or stormwater or site plan approvals.
- 18. The owner is ultimately responsible for failure to comply with any and/or all of these conditions and must take all precautions to ensure no sediment runoff from the work site into any watercourse during and after the construction period. Failure to comply with the approval and/or conditions of this letter will result in the permit being revoked and may also result in legal action being initiated to resolve the matter to the Conservation Authority's satisfaction.
- 19. The applicant agrees that Authority staff may visit the subject property, before, during and after project completion, to ensure compliance with the conditions as set out in this letter of permission.
- 20. A new application must be submitted should any work as specified in this letter be ongoing or planned for or after September 27, 2020.
- 21. That the Authority be given twenty-four hours notice prior to the start of construction and within twenty-four hours of project completion.

22. All other approvals as might be required from the Municipality, and/or other Provincial or Federal Agencies must be obtained prior to initiation of work. This includes but is not limited to the Endangered Species Act., the Ontario Water Resources Act., Environmental Protection Act., Public Lands Act, and the Fisheries Act.

By this letter the Rideau Valley Conservation Authority assumes no responsibility or liability for any flood, erosion, or slope failure damage which may occur either to your property or the structures on it or if any activity undertaken by you adversely affects the property or interests of adjacent landowners. This letter does not relieve you of the necessity or responsibility for obtaining any other federal, provincial or municipal permits. This permit is not transferable to subsequent property owners.

Should you have any questions regarding this letter, please contact Hal Stimson at our Manotick office.

Terry A. Davidson

Terry K. Davidson, P. Eng. Conservation Authority S. 28 Signing delegate O. Reg. 174/06

Cc: M. Pichette, P. Eng. DSEL

- Pursuant to the provisions of S. 28(12) of the Conservation Authorities Act (R.S.O.1990, as amended.) any or all of the conditions set out above may be appealed to the Executive Committee of the Conservation Authority in the event that they are not satisfactory or cannot be complied with.
- Failure to comply with the conditions of approval or the scope of the project may result in the cancelling of the permission and/or initiation of legal action under S. 28(16) of the Act.
- This letter of permission does not come into full force and effect until the attached copy of this letter is returned to the Authority offices in Manotick signed and dated which return shall be taken as indicating acceptance of the conditions of the Authority's approval and acknowledgement that the details of the proposal as described in this letter are a fair and accurate representation of the proposed undertaking.

Name: _____

Signed:

Date:

File# RV5-27/18 27-Sept-16 Page 4 of 4



3889 Rideau Valley Drive, P.O. Box 599, Manotick, ON K4M 1A5 tel 613-692-3571 | 1-800-267-3504 | fax 613-692-0831 | www.rvca.ca

LETTER OF PERMISSION - ONTARIO REGULATION 174/06, SECTION 28 CONSERVATION AUTHORITIES ACT 1990, AS AMENDED.

 Date
 October 13, 2016

 File:
 RV5-19/16T

 Contact:
 Hal Stimson

 (613) 692-3571 ext. 1127

 hal.stimson@rvca.ca

A member of Conservation

Mr. Frank Cairo Richmond Village Development Corporation 5504 Wicklow Drive Manotick, Ontario K4M 1C4

Permit to alter a waterway under Section 28 of the Conservation Authorities Act for a culvert installation at Lot 22 Concession 3, Township of Goulbourn now in the City of Ottawa

Dear Mr. Cairo

The Rideau Valley Conservation Authority has reviewed your application and understands the proposal to be for the installation of a new 3.0 by 2.4 m by 20.0 STM concrete box culvert with inlet and outlet erosion protection on the Arbuckle Municipal Drain crossing of Fortune Street in Richmond. All work is to occur within the municipal road allowance (or on other land with owner permission) with appropriate approvals of the City of Ottawa. The proposal is in support of development and the storm water and community design plans for new subdivision development in the village of Richmond.

This proposal was reviewed under Ontario Regulation 174/06, the "Development, Interference with Wetlands and Alterations to Shorelines and Watercourses" regulation.

PERMISSION AND CONDITIONS

RV5-19/16T 13-Oct-16 Page 1 of 4 By this letter the Rideau Valley Authority hereby grants you approval to undertake this project as outlined in your permit application but subject to the following conditions:

- 1. Approval is subject to the understanding of the project as described above and outlined in the application and submitted drawings including:
 - Drawing Sheet No. 13 for Project No. 15-764BB titled Plan and Profile of Fortune Street (Sta. 0+000 to Sta. 0+2000), dated 16-01-29, revision No. 5, as prepared by DSEL and stamped by Z. Li, P. Eng.
 - Drawing Sheet No. 6A for Project No. 15-764BB titled SWM Pond 1 Sections (Ultimate Condition), dated 16-01-29, revision No. 5, as prepared by DSEL and stamped by Z. Li, P. Eng.
 No conditions are subject to change (revision by the on site contractor(c))

No conditions are subject to change/revision by the on-site contractor(s).

- 2. A De-watering Plan and Sediment and Erosion Control Plan must be submitted to this office by the contractor for review prior to construction activities.
- 3. There will be no in-water works between March 15 and July 1, of any given year to protect local aquatic species populations during their spawning and nursery time periods.
- 4. Work in-water shall not be conducted at times when flows are elevated due to local rain events, storms or seasonal floods. Existing stream flows must be maintained downstream of the de-watered work area without interruption, during all stages of the work. There must be no increase in water levels upstream of the de-watered work area.
- 5. It is recommended that you ensure your contractor(s) are provided with a copy of this letter so as to ensure compliance with the conditions listed herein.
- 6. Any aquatic species (fish, turtles) trapped within an enclosed work area are to be safely relocated outside of the enclosed area to the main watercourse downstream of the work zone.
- 7. All in-stream work should be completed in the dry by de-watering the work area and diverting and/or pumping any flows around cofferdams placed at the limits of the work area (road right of way). Silt or debris that has accumulated around the temporary cofferdams should be cautiously removed prior to their withdrawal. No channel modifications or dredging is permitted or implied by this letter.
- 8. Sediment barriers should be used on site in an appropriate method according to the Ontario Provincial Standard Specifications (OPSS) for silt barriers as a minimum. Soil type, slope of land, drainage area, weather, predicted sediment load and deposition should be considered when selecting the type of sediment/erosion control.
- 9. Sediment and erosion control measures shall be in place before any excavation or construction works commence. All sediment/erosion control measures are to be monitored regularly by experienced personnel and maintained as necessary. In the event that the erosion and sedimentation control measures are deemed not to be performing adequately, the contractor shall undertake immediate additional measures as appropriate to the situation to the satisfaction of the Conservation Authority.

RV5-19/16T 13-Oct-16 Page 2 of 4

- 10. Demolition or construction debris is not to be deposited in the waters of any creek; inert concrete/asphalt debris will be considered a deleterious substance. An emergency spill kit should be kept on site in case of fluid leaks or spills from machinery.
- 11. The waters of the creek are NOT to be considered as machine staging areas. Activities such as equipment refuelling and maintenance must be conducted away from the water to prevent entry of petroleum products, debris, or other deleterious substances into the water. Operate machinery from outside the water, or on the water in a manner that minimizes disturbance to the banks or bed of the watercourse. Equipment shall not be cleaned in the watercourse or where wash-water can enter any watercourse. Machinery is to arrive on site in a clean condition and is to be maintained free of fluid leaks.
- 12. Develop a response plan that is to be implemented immediately in the event of a sediment release or spill of a deleterious substance. This plan is to include measures to: a) stop work, contain sediment-laden water and other deleterious substances and prevent their further migration into the watercourse and downstream receiving watercourses; b) notify the RVCA and all applicable authorities in the area c) promptly clean-up and appropriately dispose of the sediment-laden water and deleterious substances; and d) ensure clean-up measures are suitably applied so as not to result in further alteration of the bed and/or banks of the watercourse.
- 13. The RVCA is to receive 48 hours notice of the proposed commencement of the works to ensure compliance with all conditions. The applicant agrees that Authority staff may visit the subject property, before, during and after project completion, to ensure compliance with the conditions as set out in this letter of permission.
- 14. A new application must be submitted should any work as specified in this letter be ongoing or planned for or after October 13, 2018.
- 15. All other approvals as might be required from the Municipality, and/or other Provincial or Federal Agencies must be obtained prior to initiation of work. This includes but is not limited to the Drainage Act, the Endangered Species Act, the Ontario Water Resources Act, Environmental Protection Act, Public Lands Act, or the Fisheries Act.

By this letter the Rideau Valley Conservation Authority assumes no responsibility or liability for any flood, erosion, or slope failure damage which may occur either to your property or the structures on it or if any activity undertaken by you adversely affects the property or interests of adjacent landowners. This letter does not relieve you of the necessity or responsibility for obtaining any other federal, provincial or municipal permits. This permit is not transferable to subsequent property owners.
Should you have any questions regarding this letter, please contact Hal Stimson at our Manotick office.

Terry & Davidson

Terry K. Davidson P.Eng Conservation Authority S. 28 Signing delegate O. Reg. 174/06

c.c. K. Murphy, P. Eng. DSEL D. Ryan, P. Geo. City Drainage Manager

- Pursuant to the provisions of S. 28(12) of the Conservation Authorities Act (R.S.O.1990, as amended.) any or all of the conditions set out above may be appealed to the Executive Committee of the Conservation Authority in the event that they are not satisfactory or cannot be complied with.
- Failure to comply with the conditions of approval or the scope of the project may result in the cancelling of the permission and/or initiation of legal action under S. 28(16) of the Act.
- This letter of permission does not come into full force and effect until the attached copy of this letter is returned to the Authority offices in Manotick signed and dated which return shall be taken as indicating acceptance of the conditions of the Authority's approval and acknowledgement that the details of the proposal as described in this letter are a fair and accurate representation of the proposed undertaking.

Name: ______(print)

Signed:

Date:

RV5-19/16T 13-Oct-16 Page 4 of 4



3889 Rideau Valley Drive, P.O. Box 599, Manotick, ON K4M 1A5 tel 613-692-3571 | 1-800-267-3504 | fax 613-692-0831 | www.rvca.ca

LETTER OF PERMISSION – ONT. REG. 174/06, SECTION 28 CONSERVATION AUTHORITIES ACT 1990, AS AMENDED.

Date: July 7, 2016. File: RV5-20/16 Contact: Hal Stimson (613) 692-3571 ext. 1127 hal.stimson@rvca.ca

A member of Conservation On

Mr. Frank Cairo Richmond Village Development Corporation 5504 Wicklow Drive Manotick, Ontario K4M 1C4

> Permit to alter a waterway under Section 28 of the Conservation Authorities Act for Service Crossings and Storm Outlets at Lot 22/23, Concession 3, Goulbourn Township now in the City of Ottawa

Dear Mr. Cairo

The Rideau Valley Conservation Authority has reviewed your application on behalf of Richmond Village Development Corporation and understands the proposal to be for: the installation by open cut trench of new Sanitary and Storm Sewer crossings of the Arbuckle and Moore Municipal Drains and the installation of a new storm water management facility spillway and a storm outlet with concrete headwall and rip rap outlet protection into the Arbuckle Municipal Drain.

This proposal was reviewed under Ontario Regulation 174/06, the "Development, Interference with Wetlands and Alterations to Shorelines and Watercourses" regulation.

PERMISSION AND CONDITIONS

RV5-20/16 7-July-16 Page 1 of 5 By this letter the Rideau Valley Conservation Authority hereby grants you approval to undertake this project as outlined in your permit application but subject to the following conditions:

- 1. Approval is subject to the understanding of the project as described above and outlined in the application and submitted plans including:
 - Drawing Sheet No. 2 titled General Plan of Services Village of Richmond Sanitary Trunk, Revision No. 3 dated 15-10-20 stamped by Z. Li, P. Eng.as prepared by DSEL.
 - Drawing Sheet No. 5 titled Plan and Profile of Strachan Street (STA. 0+120.000 to STA. 0+320.000 Village of Richmond Sanitary Trunk, Revision No. 3 dated 15-10-20 stamped by Z. Li, P. Eng.as prepared by DSEL.
 - Drawing Sheet No. 6 titled Plan and Profile of Queen Charlotte Street (STA. 0+000.000 to STA. 0+209.437 Village of Richmond Sanitary Trunk, Revision No. 3 dated 15-10-20 stamped by Z. Li, P. Eng.as prepared by DSEL.
 - Drawing Sheet No. 7 titled Plan and profile of Martin Street (STA. 0-040.000 to STA. 0+200.000 Village of Richmond Sanitary Trunk, Revision No. 4 dated 15-10-20 stamped by Z. Li, P. Eng.as prepared by DSEL.
 - Drawing Sheet No. 13 titled Siltation Control Plan Village of Richmond Sanitary Trunk, Revision No. 3 dated 15-10-20 stamped by Z. Li, P. Eng.as prepared by DSEL.
 No conditions are subject to change/revision by the on-site contractor(s).

2. A De-watering Plan and Sediment and Erosion Control Plan must be submitted by the contractor to this office for review prior to construction activities commencing.

- 3. All grades are to be restored to the current elevations and as is conditions.
- 4. Any excess excavated material, as a result of the work, must be disposed of in a suitable location outside any regulatory floodplain and fill regulated area. No changes to area grades are to occur as a result of the work.
- 5. Rip rap erosion protection to be used at the storm outlet or on the utility crossings must be placed to ensure the top elevation of the rip rap is at the same elevation as the channel bed.
- 6. It is recommended that you retain the services of an engineer to conduct on-site inspections to ensure adequacy of the work, verify stability and re-instatement of the final grades and confirm all imported fill is of a suitable type and has been adequately placed and compacted.
- 7. Only clean non-contaminated fill material will be used and all work is to occur on your property, or if on other property only with full authorization of the owner(s).
- 8. There will be no in-water works between March 15 and July 15, of any given year to protect local aquatic species populations during their spawning and nursery time periods.

RV5-20/16 7-Jul-16 Page **2** of **5**

- 9. All in-stream work should be completed in the dry by de-watering the work area and diverting and/or pumping any flows around cofferdams placed at the limits of the work area. Silt or debris that has accumulated around the temporary cofferdams should be cautiously removed prior to their withdrawal. No channel modifications or dredging is permitted or implied by this letter.
- 10. Work in-water shall not be conducted at times when flows are elevated due to local rain events, storms or seasonal floods. Existing stream flows must be maintained downstream of the de-watered work area without interruption, during all stages of the work. There must be no increase in water levels upstream of the de-watered work area.
- 11. It is recommended that you ensure your contractor(s) are provided with a copy of this letter so as to ensure compliance with the conditions listed herein.
- 12. Any aquatic species (fish, turtles) trapped within an enclosed work area are to be safely relocated outside of the enclosed area to the main watercourse downstream of the work zone.
- 13. Sediment barriers should be used on site in an appropriate method according to the Ontario Provincial Standard Specifications (OPSS) for silt barriers as a minimum. If the sediment and erosion control methods include silt fence it should be placed along the shoreline to prevent overland flow on disturbed areas from entering the watercourse. Soil type, slope of land, drainage area, weather, predicted sediment load and deposition should be considered when selecting the type of sediment/erosion control.
- 14. Sediment and erosion control measures shall be in place before any excavation or construction works commence. All sediment/erosion control measures are to be monitored regularly by experienced personnel and maintained as necessary to ensure good working order. In the event that the erosion and sedimentation control measures are deemed not to be performing adequately, the contractor shall undertake immediate additional measures as appropriate to the situation to the satisfaction of the Conservation Authority.
- 15. The waters of the creek are NOT to be considered as machine staging areas. Activities such as equipment refuelling and maintenance must be conducted away from the water to prevent entry of petroleum products, debris, or other deleterious substances into the water. Operate machinery from outside the water, or on the water in a manner that minimizes disturbance to the banks or bed of the watercourse. Equipment shall not be cleaned in the watercourse or where wash-water can enter any watercourse. Machinery is to arrive on site in a clean condition and is to be maintained free of fluid leaks
- 16. All disturbed soil areas must be appropriately stabilized to prevent erosion.
- 17. Develop a response plan that is to be implemented immediately in the event of flooding, a sediment release or spill of a deleterious substance. This plan is to include measures to: a) stop work, contain sediment-laden water and other deleterious substances and prevent their further migration into the

RV5-20/16 7-Jul-16 Page **3** of **5** watercourse and downstream receiving watercourses; b) notify the RVCA and all applicable authorities in the area c) promptly clean-up and appropriately dispose of the sediment-laden water and deleterious substances; and d) ensure clean-up measures are suitably applied so as not to result in further alteration of the bed and/or banks of the watercourse; and e) ensure construction equipment and/or materials are located outside the 100-year floodplain in the vent of flooding.

- 18. Nothing in this letter of permission relieves the applicant from requirements of any other federal, provincial or municipal permits or permission including, for example, Ontario Ministry of Environment Certificate of Approvals, or stormwater or site plan approvals.
- 19. Any stockpiled materials shall be stored and stabilized away from the water.
- 20. The owner is ultimately responsible for failure to comply with any and/or all of these conditions and must take all precautions to ensure no sediment runoff from the work site into any watercourse during and after the construction period. Failure to comply with the approval and/or conditions of this letter will result in the permit being revoked and may also result in legal action being initiated to resolve the matter to the Conservation Authority's satisfaction.
- 21. The applicant agrees that Authority staff may visit the subject property, before, during and after project completion, to ensure compliance with the conditions as set out in this letter of permission.
- 22. A new application must be submitted should any work as specified in this letter be ongoing or planned for or after July 7, 2018.
- 23. That the Authority be given twenty-four hours notice prior to the start of construction and within twenty-four hours of project completion.
- 24. All other approvals as might be required from the Municipality, and/or other Provincial or Federal Agencies must be obtained prior to initiation of work. This includes but is not limited to the Endangered Species Act., the Ontario Water Resources Act., Environmental Protection Act., Public Lands Act, and the Fisheries Act.

By this letter the Rideau Valley Conservation Authority assumes no responsibility or liability for any flood, erosion, or slope failure damage which may occur either to your property or the structures on it or if any activity undertaken by you adversely affects the property or interests of adjacent landowners. This letter does not relieve you of the necessity or responsibility for obtaining any other federal, provincial or municipal permits. This permit is not transferable to subsequent property owners.

RV5-20/16 7-Jul-16 Page 4 of 5 Should you have any questions regarding this letter, please contact Hal Stimson at our Manotick office.

Terry L. Davidson

Terry K. Davidson, P. Eng. Conservation Authority S. 28 Signing delegate O. Reg. 174/06

Cc: K. Murphy, P. Eng. DSEL

M. Gagné, City Ottawa Drainage Coordinator

- Pursuant to the provisions of S. 28(12) of the Conservation Authorities Act (R.S.O.1990, as amended.) any or all of the conditions set out above may be appealed to the Executive Committee of the Conservation Authority in the event that they are not satisfactory or cannot be complied with.
- Failure to comply with the conditions of approval or the scope of the project may result in the cancelling of the permission and/or initiation of legal action under S. 28(16) of the Act.
- This letter of permission does not come into full force and effect until the attached copy of this letter is returned to the Authority offices in Manotick signed and dated which return shall be taken as indicating acceptance of the conditions of the Authority's approval and acknowledgement that the details of the proposal as described in this letter are a fair and accurate representation of the proposed undertaking.

Name: _____ (print)

Signed:

Date:

RV5-20/16 7-Jul-16 Page **5** of **5**

RVCA Letter of Permission -

Ont. Reg. 174/06, S. 28 *Conservation Authorities Act* 1990, As Amended.

Date: October 1, 2019 File: RV5-4619 Contact: hal.stimson@rvca.ca (613) 692-3571 Ext 1127



3889 Rideau Valley Drive PO Box 599, Manotick ON K4M 1A5 T 613-692-3571 | 1-800-267-3504 F 613-692-0831 | www.rvca.ca

Mr. Andrew Finnson Richmond Village Development Corporation 2934 Baseline Rd - # 302 Ottawa, Ontario K2H 1B2

Permit for: Alteration to a Watercourse under Section 28 of the Conservation Authorities Act for storm water management pond at Lot 22, Concession 3, Goulbourn Township, now the City Ottawa, known municipally as 6350 Perth Street

Dear Mr. Andrew Finnson,

The Rideau Valley Conservation Authority has reviewed your application on behalf of the Richmond Village Development Corporation and understands the proposal to be for:

The construction/expansion of a stormwater management facility from its existing interim size to its ultimate footprint within the floodplain of the Arbuckle Municipal Drain which is a direct tributary to the Jock River. The works will provide stormwater outlet for minor and major system flows. The work will need to be carried out cautiously due to the condition of on-site soils and to ensure current stormwater and drainage is appropriately handled given the ultimate solution is to be constructed over existing stormwater systems.

This proposal was reviewed under Ontario Regulation 174/06, the "Development, Interference with Wetlands, and Alteration to Watercourse and Shorelines" regulation and the RVCA Development Policies (approved by the RVCA, Board of Directors), specifically Section 3 Alteration to Waterways. The proposal is not expected to impact the control of flooding, pollution, erosion or conservation of land providing conditions are followed.

PERMISSION AND CONDITIONS

By this letter the Rideau Valley Authority hereby grants you approval to undertake this project as outlined in your permit application but subject to the following conditions:

1. Approval is subject to the understanding of the project as described above and outlined in the application and submitted plans and reports including:

 Report titled Design Brief for Stormwater Management Pond 1 Western Development Lands – Richmond dated August 2015 and Revised July 2019 as prepared by DSEL & JFSA. with associated drawings

No conditions are subject to change/revision by the on-site contractor(s).

- 2. A Sediment and Erosion Control Plan and a dewatering plan must be submitted to this office by the contractor for review prior to construction activities.
- 3. Any changes to the proposed work must be submitted in writing to the Conservation Authority for review and approval prior to implementation.
- 4. Any excess excavated material, as a result of the work, must be disposed of in a suitable location outside any regulatory floodplain and fill regulated area.
- 5. Only clean non-contaminated fill material will be used, and all work is to occur on your property or on other property with permission of the owners.
- 6. There will be no in-water works between March 15 and June 30, of any given year to protect local aquatic species populations during their spawning and nursery time periods.
- 7. Work in-water shall not be conducted at times when flows are elevated due to local rain events, storms or seasonal floods.
- 8. All in-stream work should be completed in the dry by de-watering the work area and diverting and/or pumping any flows around cofferdams placed at the limits of the work area. Silt or debris that has accumulated around the temporary cofferdams should be cautiously removed prior to their withdrawal. No other channel modifications or dredging is permitted or implied by this letter.
- 9. Sediment barriers should be used on site in an appropriate method according to the Ontario Provincial Standard Specifications (OPSS) for silt barriers as a minimum. In-water work will require the use of a properly secured silt curtain. Soil type, slope of land, drainage area, weather, predicted sediment load and deposition should be considered when selecting the type of sediment/erosion control.
- 10. Sediment and erosion control measures shall be in place before any excavation or construction works commence. All sediment/erosion control measures are to be monitored regularly by experienced personnel and maintained as necessary to ensure good working order. In the event that the erosion and sedimentation control measures are deemed not to be performing adequately, the contractor shall undertake immediate additional measures as appropriate to the situation to the satisfaction of the Conservation Authority.
- 11. Activities such as equipment refueling and maintenance must be conducted away from the water to prevent entry of petroleum products, debris, or other deleterious substances into the water. Operate machinery from outside the water, or on the water in a manner that minimizes disturbance to the banks or bed of the watercourse. Equipment shall not be

cleaned in the watercourse or where wash-water can enter any watercourse. Machinery is to arrive on site in a clean condition and is to be maintained free of fluid leaks.

- 12. Any aquatic species (fish, turtles) trapped within an enclosed work area are to be safely relocated outside of the enclosed area to the main watercourse downstream of the work zone.
- 13. All disturbed soil areas must be appropriately stabilized to prevent erosion.
- 14. It is recommended that you retain the services of a professional engineer to conduct on-site inspections to ensure adequacy of the work, verify stability of the final grade and slopes and confirm all imported fill is of suitable type and has been adequately placed and compacted.
- 15. It is recommended that you ensure your contractor(s) are provided with a copy of this letter to ensure compliance with the conditions listed herein.
- 16. The applicant agrees that Authority staff may visit the subject property, before, during and after project completion, to ensure compliance with the conditions as set out in this letter of permission.
- 17. A new application must be submitted should any work as specified in this letter be ongoing or planned for or after October 1, 2021.
- 18. The RVCA is to receive 48 hours notice of the proposed commencement of the works to ensure compliance with all conditions. The applicant agrees that Authority staff may visit the subject property, before, during and after project completion, to ensure compliance with the conditions as set out in this letter of permission.

All other approvals as might be required from the Municipality, and/or other Provincial or Federal Agencies must be obtained prior to initiation of work. This includes but is not limited to the Drainage Act, the Endangered Species Act, the Ontario Water Resources Act, Environmental Protection Act, Public Lands Act, or the Fisheries Act.

By this letter the Rideau Valley Conservation Authority assumes no responsibility or liability for any flood, erosion, or slope failure damage which may occur either to your property or the structures on it or if any activity undertaken by you adversely affects the property or interests of adjacent landowners. This letter does not relieve you of the necessity or responsibility for obtaining any other federal, provincial or municipal permits. This permit is not transferable to subsequent property owners. Should you have any questions regarding this letter, please contact Hal Stimson.

Terry & Davidson

Terry K. Davidson P.Eng Conservation Authority S. 28 Signing delegate O. Reg. 174/06

c.c. K. Murphy, P. Eng., DSEL

- Pursuant to the provisions of S. 28(12) of the Conservation Authorities Act (R.S.O. 1990, as amended.) any or all of the conditions set out above may be appealed to the Executive Committee of the Conservation Authority in the event that they are not satisfactory or cannot be complied with.
- Failure to comply with the conditions of approval or the scope of the project may result in the cancelling of the permission and/or initiation of legal action under S. 28(16) of the Act.
- Commencement of the work and/or a signed and dated copy of this letter indicates acknowledgement and acceptance of the conditions of the RVCA's approval letter concerning the application and the undertaking and scope of the project.

Name: _____ (print)

Signed: Date:



J.F. Sabourin and Associates Inc. 52 Springbrook Drive, Ottawa, ON K2S 1B9 T 613-836-3884 F 613-836-0332

November 14, 2018

Project # P922(p)

Robinson Consultants Inc. 350 Palladium Drive Ottawa. Ontario K2V 1A8

Attention: Andy Robinson

Subject: Fisheries Review of Van Gaal Drain Re-alignment and Municipal Drain Designation

Dear Mr. Robinson.

As requested, below is a summary of the fisheries review history and status relating to proposed works on the Van Gaal Drain. Based on the below, it is unlikely that the most recent request for review will result in any changes to the design of the Van Gaal as proposed and therefore should not hold up any movement forward son the process.

Record of review

June 2011: Jennifer Lamoureux (RVCA), Mark Ferguson (DFO) and Bruce Kilgour (Kilgour and Assoc.) conducted a site visit to the Van Gaal and Arbuckle Drains. At the time, two separate projects were evaluated (SWM Pond and altering the Van Gaal in its current location). The attendees established the following conclusions relating to the Van Gaal:

WIDENING AND DEEPENING OF DRAIN (no realignment).

- The channel receives flows from a large wetland complex, but there have been • periods of extreme low flow when the channel has been documented to be dry.
- The channel supports upwards of a dozen species of fish including pike. There is an • existing pike spawning "shelf" that was previously constructed in the channel upstream of Perth Street. It is unknown if pike use that shelf, but young of year pike have been observed in the channel a few hundred metres downstream of Perth Street.
- The proposed project will widen the channel by some 7 m, from 3 m to 10 m. This • will effectively reconnect the channel to its floodplain. A low-flow channel will be designed in the feature using natural channel design principals. Staging of the construction of the widened channel will consider timing windows, etc. Design of the widened channel will consider the requirements for pike spawning: elevations will require some understanding of how long water will stay in the new floodplain. Stormwater will be conveyed by pipe to the proposed SWM pond south of Perth Street, so the design must address those losses of water.
- Discussed the approach to managing risks, with the following highlights:



• Kilgour will a write fish habitat risk assessment for the proposed undertaking, following DFO's RMF. It is anticipated that the completed RMF will result in a conclusion that the project will have an overall low risk to fish and fish habitat.

NEW DRAIN REALIGNMENT PROPOSAL

August 5, 2011: Email from Jocelyn Chandler (RVCA) to Jennifer Ailey (DSEL) with comments on the revised proposal to realign the Van Gaal Drain. Indicates that an RMF must be completed regarding the development proposal and the predicted impacts to fish habitat will be required, although at this time a general statement from the biologist will suffice to achieve some degree of assurance that this will remain a Level II approval under the Federal Fisheries act.

September 7, 2012: Submission by Kilgour to DSEL reviewing the proposed realignment of the Van Gaal Drain providing a written risk assessment. Describes Van Gaal as intermittent habitat with no riparian zone providing shade. States that proposal will lengthen the channel and increase the wetted area during periods of high flow. A low flow channel will enhance the fish habitat value for longer periods of time through dry periods and the floor of the channel will be planted appropriately. The realignment of the feature should enhance ecological functions of the feature and broader area. States that the realignment presents a low risk to fisheries in the system and that provided the design includes fish habitat features, the fish species present in the drain will continue to use the drain after realignment.

Feb 4, 2013: Memo prepared by RVCA speaks to realignment Van Gaal design and fish monitoring/salvage reports. Comments provided on where more detail required and request info regarding potential fish migration barrier at perched Perth culvert during low flow conditions. No mention of requirements for DFO review.

April 10, 2013: Post effectiveness monitoring plan submitted to RVCA by Kilgour.

April 26, 2013: RVCA accepts document titled "Van Gaal Drain Realignment Proposed Effectiveness Monitoring Program"

November 2013: MDP document for Western Development Lands includes section 1.2.3 on Department of Fisheries and Oceans stating that Approval will be required from the RVCA, acting as an agent for DFO, regarding the infilling and re-alignment of the Van Gaal Drain north of Perth Street and the closure of the existing ditch(es) between Perth Street and Ottawa Street. Ultimately the impact on aquatic systems in the preferred option (Option 3) was considered to result in "conversation of indirect fish habitat to direct fish habitat, for a total gain of direct fish habitat of some 3386 m2" due to creation of new potential fish spawning habitats.

November 22, 2013: RVCA letter to Ottawa regarding upcoming approval of MDP/EA document. The RVCA considered the MDP document acceptable within review mandate, and noted that fish habitat is identified in the Van Gaal Drain. At the time the prosed alterations to the Van Gaal and Arbuckle were under review by RVCA technical staff to ensure no adverse impact to fish and fish habitat. There is no mention of DFO review required.

November 25, 2013: Changes to DFO Fisheries Act.



December 13, 2013: Memo from RVCA providing review comments on proposed Van Gaal Drain Channel realignment indicating that among other things, habitat features for fish and setbacks must support fish habitat.

June 23, 2014: Formal completion of EA process and accompanying November 2013 MDP via issuance of OMB decision PL130778.

November 17, 2014: DSEL submits Van Gaal natural channel design report and drawings for RVCA review. Kilgour have provided review and input into the Coldwater design to address fish passage.

March 5, 2015: Email from RVCA following review of proposed Van Gaal realignment design indicating that conditions would be required under O.Reg 174/06.

Summary

It appears that the initial plan to widen and deepen the Van Gaal and construct the SWM pond were considered by RVCA, Kilgour and DFO during their site visit. Although the plans have evolved from that period, the conclusion drawn at that time suggests that the RVCA and DFO agreed that the overall risks to fish were low therefor the prosed work would not trigger a Level 3 DFO review and would fit in the delegated Level 2 RVCA review. There is a letter prepared by Kilgour on the realignment proposal which states that the project will present a low risk to fish and will result in fishery enhancements.

With respect to how far along the decision relating to fisheries was at the time of the DFO legislative changes in November 2013, I can only reference that the MDP (and related EA) was completed and accepted by the RVCA at that time with the statement regarding "low risk" to fisheries included.

In a 2014 email on an unrelated project, Tom Hoggarth, Regional Director, Ecosystems Management DFO indicated that "If the past review indicated it was low risk and the detailed design have now come in and the project has not changed, no further DFO review is required".

At this time Kilgour has undertaken a fall 2018 site visit to update existing conditions information and are submitting a request for review to DFO. However, given the extensive review history on this file, it seems unlikely the proposed works would require revisions to the design for the purpose of satisfying fishery requirements.

I hope this information is sufficient for your purposes to continue with the Van Gaal Municipal Drainage Act process. Please let me know if you require anything further.

Lucreh

Jocelyn Chandler, RPP, MCIP Planner/Project Manager, JFSA



1.3 Public and Agency Consultation

Public consultation is an integral part of the preparation of Mattamy Homes Official Plan Amendment and supporting studies including the Stormwater Management and Drainage Plan exercise. A transparent process in which members of the public, community groups, residents, City of Ottawa, public agencies and other stakeholders can express their issues and concerns and obtain timely information on the study as it progresses are key components of this study. Regulatory public meetings are also a requirement of the Class Environmental Assessment Process which is being followed, in spirit, for the Stormwater Management and Drainage Plan exercise. The following consultation points are outlined under the Class EA Process for Phases 1 and 2:

Phase 1 – Problem or Opportunity

• Discretionary public consultation to review problem or opportunity

Phase 2 – Alternative Solutions

• Mandatory public and agency consultation on the identified problem or opportunity and identified and evaluated alternative solutions to the problem

The City of Ottawa initiated the Richmond Village Community Design Plan (CDP) process in March of 2008. Through the Ward Councillor, a Steering Committee made up of representatives from the Village was established to facilitate a community based approach to prepare and develop the Community Design Plan for the Village of Richmond. The Steering Committee is comprised of residents, farmers, the Richmond Village Association, business people, and individuals/companies with a development interest. The community based Steering Committee allows the Richmond Village Community Design Plan to be developed by the community, for the community. Mattamy Homes is a member of the Richmond Village Steering Committee.

A collaborative public consultation approach has been undertaken that informs both Mattamy Homes Official Plan Amendment process and the Richmond Village CDP. A number of public events have taken place either lead by the City, the Richmond Village Steering Committee or Mattamy Homes that have assisted with the preparation of the technical documents supporting Mattamy's OPA as well as the preparation of the Village CDP. These public consultation events are briefly described below with supporting documentation in *Appendix B*.

April 12th Public Open House

The City of Ottawa held a public open house at the Richmond Public School from 9:00 a.m. to Noon on Saturday, April 12, 2008. The purpose of the open house was to introduce the commencement of the Richmond Village Community Design Plan process. As well, a number of information stations were displayed with City staff on hand to answer questions and share information related to: the existing village plan, heritage buildings, natural environment, groundwater and servicing. Participants were

asked to identify "Places We Like Most" and "Places We Like Least" in the Village of Richmond through red (least) and green (most) dots placed on a mounted aerial photo of the Village. Participants were also asked to place yellow dots on the aerial photo to identify traffic problems and pedestrian safety "hot spots" in Richmond. This event was well attended with approximately 125 people participating in the event.

April 19th Visioning Workshop

The City of Ottawa and Richmond Village Steering Committee hosted a visioning workshop to bring together the residents and stakeholders in Richmond to see what they wanted the Village to be in 20 years. Participants were also asked to identify "greatest opportunities" and "greatest challenges" to meet the vision for the Village. The workshop was held at the Richmond Public School from 9:00 a.m. to Noon. The "Dotmocracy" map was on display and those who had not attended the April 12th session were asked to place their red, green and yellow dots on the aerial photo of the Village. The workshop had discussion tables set up for the following topic areas: Village/Heritage Character; Future Development; Transportation and Pathways; Environment, Drainage and Floodplains; Servicing and Groundwater; Building Richmond as a sustainable community; and Recreation, Community Facilities and Open Space. Each participant could participate in 5 topic areas within the time period established for the break out sessions. City staff and Richmond Village Steering Committee facilitated the discussions at each of the topic area tables. Approximately 75 people attended and participated in the visioning workshop.

Community Visioning Principles

Based on the feedback from the April community visioning exercise, City staff and the Richmond Village Steering Committee drafted a primarily community vision for the Richmond Village which comprised of six main community principles:

- Create a Livable and Sustainable Community
- > Protect and Enhance Richmond's Historic Village Character
- Protect the Natural Environment and Incorporate Constraints in the Plan
- > Expand and Maintain Transportation Infrastructure
- Create and Protect Open Space, Recreation and Community Services
- Ensure Sustainability of Servicing (Groundwater, Wastewater and Stormwater Systems)

On June 4, 2008, the Richmond Village Steering Committee hosted a Strategic Direction Workshop at the Richmond Library from 7:00 p.m. to 9:00 p.m. The public was invited to participate in a small working group session to provide input on the draft community visioning principles on: Village Character and Development; Environment,

Recreation and Sustainability; Transportation and Facilities; and Servicing and Groundwater. Based on the input received, the Village of Richmond Community Vision Workbook was prepared and circulated for comment to all residents in the Village in July 2008. A total of 2461 booklet were distributed directly to residents in the Village and additional copies were available at the Richmond Library and the Valu-Mart. A total of 246 booklet responses were returned to the City. More than two-thirds of respondents agreed with the community visioning principles. The response suggests that the principles are in line with the areas that Richmond residents feel important in the planning process. The Richmond Community Visioning Principles are contained in *Appendix B*.

September 2008 Design Workshop

The Richmond Village Steering Committee endorsed Looney Ricks Kiss (LRK), architects and community planners, to undertake a four-day design workshop in the community to define the Village Core based on the established visioning principles. The Councillor along with the Richmond Village Steering Committee invited residents to attend the four-day workshop held from September 22 to September 25 at the vacant storefront situated at 3480 McBean Street. The workshop was set up as a drop-in centre – day or night – to participate in defining and designing the village core plan.

In preparation for this workshop, LRK conducted site visit investigations to 16 villages in Eastern Ontario called benchmarking. This exercise involved measuring and documenting local built precedents and historic and contemporary examples that could be used as the base line for defining architectural character as well as urban design and landscape patterns. This process documented landscape/streetscape treatments and patterns and architectural buildings that could provide examples to draw from when preparing the Richmond Village plan.

As well, Mattamy Homes consultant team set up and manned display boards in the store on the existing conditions information related to planning, design, natural environment, stormwater management, transportation, water, groundwater and sanitary servicing. The public visiting the workshop could view the display information and asked questions to the consultant on existing information and the overall process being undertaken to support Mattamy Homes Official Plan Amendment.

This workshop was very well attended with over 250 individuals attending at least one of the four days, with many persons making repeated visits. A summary of the four day design workshop is provided below:

Monday, September 22

Focus groups were set up for the morning inviting representatives from the businesses, real estate agents, recreational groups, residents along McBean and Perth, community groups, schools, churches, and farmers. The public was invited to participate in a benchmarking tour of other Eastern Ontario villages in the afternoon to investigate comparable communities and the design examples that may be applicable to Richmond. In the evening, the Councillor sponsored a barbeque which attracted around 100

residents. Participants were asked to participate in a community design survey developed by LRK. Participants were asked through a PowerPoint presentation to vote for the image that best represents their vision for Richmond associated with: residential building design, commercial building design, parks and open space, Perth Street, McBean Street, river corridor, local streetscape. The survey was available during all four days so that all attendees could participate. A total of 120 surveys were completed.

Tuesday, September 23

On Tuesday morning, residents and stakeholders were invited to take part in a walking tour of the village core. Participants were encouraged to talk about McBean Street, Perth Street, the Jock River and the surrounding area and how these spaces can be improved.

Roundtable discussions took place in the afternoon where City staff, agencies and the public participated in several topic areas hosted by Mattamy Homes and the consultant team including: transportation, servicing, natural environment and open space, as well as the design of McBean Street. The Master Servicing Study presented the preliminary list of alternatives being considered for water and sanitary servicing for the Village.

On Tuesday evening, LRK presented the results of the visioning survey which would serve as the foundation to create the design for the Village Core. Through public input, the Village Core was defined the Perth Street and McBean t-intersection extending along McBean Street to the Jock River bridge.

Wednesday, September 24 and Thursday, September 25

The last two days of the workshop focused on the design of the Village Plan. Participants could view the progress being made on the plan and the street and building designs. The technical information was also on display for the public to review, ask questions and provide comments. On Thursday evening, LRK presented the Village Core Plan at the South March High School. Over a hundred people attended the presentation.

Mattamy's December 2008 Design Workshop

Following the September workshop, Mattamy Homes conducted a similar workshop in December to prepare a conceptual land use plan for Mattamy's lands in Richmond based on the vision developed for the Village. Looney Ricks Kiss facilitated this threeday workshop that took place at the same storefront on McBean Street from December 8-10, 2008. As well, the findings of the technical studies was available through a series of display boards related to planning, design, transportation, stormwater management, natural environment, hydrogeology, water and sanitary servicing. Mattamy Homes consultant team attended the three day event to allow the opportunity for the public to ask questions, provide input and comments on the technical findings and preliminary recommendations. A total of 52 persons attended the event on one of the three days. This workshop was conducted to assist Mattamy Homes in preparing an Official Plan Amendment application for our future development lands in the Village of Richmond. The workshop was also advertised as a formal meeting (Phase 1) under the Municipal Engineers Association Class Environmental Assessment Process as the Master Servicing Study being prepared by Mattamy Homes is being planned as a Schedule C undertaking.

The storefront opened on Monday, December 8th at 4:00 p.m. There were two open house sessions held from 4:00 p.m. to 6:00 p.m. and again from 6:00 p.m. to 8:00 p.m. to present three different land use options for public review, input and comment. These sessions were conducted as an open house/workshop format to understand the public preferences related to the amount, distribution and type of land use for Mattamy Homes lands. On Tuesday, December 9th the doors opened at 1:00 p.m. to present to the public the consolidated land use plan based on the input heard from the public the previous evening. Mattamy's planning, design and technical studies were also presented through a series of display boards related to planning, design, transportation, stormwater management, natural environment, hydrogeology, water and sanitary servicing. Roundtable discussions took place with the public, city staff and stakeholders on various technical aspects including water and sanitary servicing. The Master Servicing study evaluation criteria were displayed and a roundtable discussion took place on the evaluation process, criteria and weighting. As well the alternatives for water and sanitary servicing were also presented and discussed.

On Tuesday evening, LRK presented the preferred concept plan for Mattamy lands based on the input received on Monday and earlier in the day. Based on the public response, LRK then finalized the concept plan. On Wednesday, December 10th, the open house started at 10:00 a.m. where the public could drop in and visit the design, planning and technical displays as well as see the land use plan that had resulted over the two day workshop. On Wednesday evening, the evolution of the concept plan for Mattamy's land was presented by LRK with design examples associated with different aspects of the plan. The plan was well received by the participants in attendance.

February 12, 2009 Open House

Mattamy Homes held a Public Open House on Thursday, February 12th from 5:00 p.m. to 8:00 p.m. at St. Phillips Catholic Church in the Village of Richmond. A total of 80 persons attended the public open house. The purpose of the open house was to present the land use concept plan for Mattamy's lands, the results of Phase 1 and 2 of the water and sanitary Master Servicing Class EA Study and the findings to date on the planning, natural environment, stormwater and transportation studies supporting Mattamy's Official Plan Amendment. The workshop was also advertised as a formal meeting (Phase 2) under the Municipal Engineers Association Class Environmental Assessment Process as the Master Servicing Study being prepared by Mattamy Homes is being planned as a Schedule C undertaking. The preferred solutions for water and sanitary were presented to the public along with the natural environment constraints, the

preliminary stormwater management options and the recommended transportation solutions for the Village.

This meeting provided stormwater management and drainage information associated with the problem, existing conditions, and identification of alternatives satisfying Phase 1, discretionary consultation point of contact.

September 12, 2009 Open House

The City of Ottawa hosted a public open house on Saturday, September 12, 2009 for Mattamy's Official Plan Amendment application. The meeting was held at the Richmond Memorial Community Centre situated at 6095 Perth Street from 9:00 a.m. to Noon. The meeting was well attended with 103 signed-in attendees. The purpose of the meeting was to present the recommendations of the planning and technical studies supporting Mattamy's Official Plan Amendment application. The meeting started with a presentation on the concept plan. An "Ask the Experts" session was then available for participants to visit each of the display stations and ask questions to the consultants. Display materials were exhibited for the concept plan, transportation, stormwater management, natural environment, land use planning, water and wastewater servicing. An open "Question and Answer" period followed to allow additional questions to be asked to Mattamy, the consultant team and City staff. A list of the questions asked by attendees is contained in Appendix B.

Village of Richmond Planning Project Steering Committee

Ward Councillor Glenn Brooks established a Steering Committee to guide the development of the Community Design Plan for the Village of Richmond in concert with City Planning Staff. The Steering Committee was established in April of 2008 and meets once a month at the Richmond Library. These meetings are open to the public and all documentation is filed at the library. Mattamy Homes is a non-voting member of the Steering Committee. Updates on Mattamy's planning and technical studies are provided at these meetings.

Technical Advisory Committee

Mattamy Homes is the proponent of the Village of Richmond Water and Sanitary Master Servicing Study. The Master Servicing Study will identify preferred infrastructure projects that will ultimately be owned and operated by the City of Ottawa. As such, City input along with approval agencies and the public is required throughout the process. At the request of Mattamy Homes, a Technical Advisory Committee was established by the City of Ottawa to provide technical input and advice throughout the preparation of the MSS. As a Stormwater Management and Drainage Plan was also being prepared for Mattamy Homes lands, the TAC was broaden to include stormwater as well. Infrastructure Planning in the City's Infrastructure Services and Community Sustainability Department has been assigned the lead at the City. The Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) is comprised of City staff from various sectors of the City related to water, wastewater and stormwater in areas of policy, planning, approvals, operating and maintenance. As well representatives from the Ministry of Environment and Rideau Valley Conservation Authority participate as members of the TAC. Members of the Richmond Village Steering Committee and interested public were extended an invitation to attend the TAC meetings following the first TAC meeting.

Two meetings have taken place with the TAC through Phases 1 and 2 of the EA process. The first meeting took place on September 28, 2008 with City and agency staff that focused on the existing servicing setting in the Village of Richmond, the workplan for the MSS as well as to introduce the stormwater management and drainage plan study. The evaluation criteria were presented and distributed to the TAC for input and comments. Comments were later received by the TAC requesting that the Operation and Maintenance criterion weight be increased and equal to the capital cost weighting to make sure the maintenance of the system is sustainable in order to protect the City's infrastructure.

As per the MEA Class EA process, it is urged that the proponent contact the Regional Coordinator of the Environmental Assessment and Approvals Branch to discuss the approach being considered for the Master Plan. As well, it is recommended that First Nations and Aboriginal Peoples be recognized as a stakeholder and notified of the Class EA process being undertaken, early in the process. Mattamy Homes wrote to both of these parties in December 2008 notifying them of the Village of Richmond Master Servicing Study and stormwater management and drainage plan being undertaken by Mattamy Homes. The Regional Coordinator responded indicating no concerns with the Master Plan or stormwater management approach. The representative for the First Nations indicated an interest in the Master Servicing Study and Archeological information. This information was sent to the First Nation representative on October 5, 2009. At this time of writing this report, a reply has not been received.

A meeting was held on January 28, 2009 with the RVCA and City staff from Infrastructure Planning to discuss the Stormwater Management and Drainage Plan study as well as the floodplain mapping update being conducted for the Van Gaal Drain by the RVCA. The minutes of this meeting are contained in **Appendix B**.

The second Technical Advisory Committee Meeting was held on February 4, 2009 at City Hall. The focus of this meeting was to present the results of the evaluation of water and sanitary alternatives applying the evaluation criteria developed for the study. As well, the three preliminary stormwater management options were presented by David Schaeffer Engineering Limited. The advertisement for the February 12, 2008 open house was distributed to attendees encouraging their attendance at the meeting. The TAC minutes are contained in **Appendix B**.

January 22, 2009 Agriculture and Rural Affairs Committee

At the January 22, 2009 meeting of the Agriculture and Rural Affairs Committee, City staff presented a report on the status of the Richmond Village Community Design Plan

and the processes associated with the future development lands. The report acknowledges the technical studies Mattamy Homes is leading and funding including the Village-wide Master Servicing Study. It states that the City will be using these studies to assist with completing the Richmond Village Community Design Plan that will be provided through Mattamy Homes Official Plan Amendment submission.

Technical Circulation Comments

Mattamy Homes Official Plan Amendment application was circulated for technical and public review and comment in June 2009. The various studies were posted on the City of Ottawa website, Mattamy Homes Richmond website as well hard copies of the reports were made available at the Richmond library. A number of comments were received on the various reports submitted as part of this application. Time has been spent on resolving the relevant issues with City staff, agencies and the public. Revised reports addressing the comments were submitted back to the City beginning in February 2010 for review and concurrence.

The comments received on the DSEL Stormwater Management and Drainage Plan report (March 2009) are contained in *Appendix B*. This report now replaces the 2009 report originally submitted with the application. Subsequent meeting(s) maybe required with City and RVCA staff following their review of this report.

2.0 RELEVANT STUDIES, GUIDELINES AND POLICIES

2.1 Policies and Guidelines

The following provides a brief summary of the policy, standards and guidelines that are applicable to stormwater management, drainage and sewers that need to be considered when preparing this Stormwater Management and Drainage Plan.

Ottawa 20/20 Official Plan (OP) (Consolidated, 2007)

The Official Plan (OP) provides a framework for future growth in the City of Ottawa. The OP also serves as a basis for a wide range of municipal services, including water and sewage servicing requirements, as well as surface drainage.

Of particular relevance to the Richmond Village project are the determinations of water and sanitary service areas:

Drainage and Stormwater Management:

The Official Plan states that planning to be done on the basis of natural systems to protect and enhance natural processes and ecological functions (e.g. watershed planning, groundwater and surface water protection and green space policies).

Ottawa 20/20 Infrastructure Master Plan (IMP) (June 2003)

The IMP focuses on many aspects related to the planning of infrastructure systems. It is intended to direct the management and extension of public works systems related to

Ontario Municipal Board

Commission des affaires municipales de l'Ontario



ISSUE DATE: June 23, 2014

CASE NO(S).: PL130778

Richmond Village (North) Ltd. and Richmond Village (South) Ltd. have appealed to the Ontario Municipal Board under subsection 34(11) of the *Planning Act*, R.S.O. 1990, c. P.13, as amended, from Council's neglect to enact a proposed amendment to Zoning By-law 2008-250 of the City of Ottawa to re-zone the subject properties known municipally as 6335-6350 Perth St. from DR1 (Developmental Reserve 1) to Village Residential Second Density, Village Residential Third Density, Open Space and Floodplain Overlay to permit a proposed plan of subdivision of 1000 units of mixed residential types and park space OMB File No.: PL130778

Richmond Village (North) Ltd. and Richmond Village (South) Ltd. have to the Ontario Municipal Board under subsection 51(34) of the *Planning Act*, R.S.O. 1990, c. P.13, as amended, from the failure of the City of Ottawa to make a decision respecting a proposed plan of subdivision on lands composed of Lot 22, Concessions II, III, and IV, Village of Richmond, known municipally as 6335-6350 Perth St. D07-16-11-0014

OMB File No.: PL130779

APPEARANCES:

Parties

Counsel^{*}/Representative

City of Ottawa

T. Marc⁺

Richmond Village (North) Ltd. and Richmond Village (South) Ltd.

Richmond Village Association Inc.

J. Shearer B. Webster

A.K. Cohen⁺

J.L. Cohen⁺

HEARING EVENT INFORMATION:

Hearing:

Held in Ottawa, Ontario on May 26 and 27, 2014

MEMORANDUM OF ORAL DECISION DELIVERED BY R.G.M. MAKUCH ON MAY 27, 2014 AND ORDER OF THE BOARD

[1] Richmond Village (North) Ltd. and Richmond Village (South) Ltd. ("Applicants/Appellants") had applied for an amendment to the City's zoning by-law to change the zoning designation from "Development Reserve 1" (DR1) to "Village Residential Second Density", "Village Residential Third Density", "Open Space" and "Floodplain Overlay" to permit a proposed plan of subdivision of 1000 units of mixed residential types and park space across 53 hectares. They filed appeals with the Ontario Municipal Board ("Board") on the grounds that the City of Ottawa ("City") had not provided approvals within the statutory time limits set out in the *Planning Act* ("Act").

[2] Counsel for the City and the Applicants/Appellants advised the Board at the commencement of the hearing that they had reached an agreement as to a set of conditions of draft approval for the plan of subdivision after extensive discussions over the days leading up to the hearing. Representatives for Richmond Village Association Inc. were not involved in those discussions and asked the Board to stand down the hearing to give them an opportunity to discuss the proposed draft conditions with the City's engineers to get a better understanding of these draft conditions.

[3] Richmond Village Association Inc. has indicated, following its discussions with City representatives that it is now in agreement with the proposed draft conditions.

[4] The issues for determination by the Board related to storm water management, the need for environmental assessments, the need for a financial plan, sanitary servicing, water servicing, the layout of the subdivision, floodplain mapping, drainage as well as whether it was pre-mature to re-zone 6335-6350 Perth Street ("subject lands") at this time.

[5] The Board is satisfied based on the un-contradicted professional evidence of Pamela Sweet, the land use planning consultant for the Applicants/Appellants that the

PL130778

proposal is consistent with the Provincial Policy Statement 2005 and 2014, is in conformity with the City's Official Plan including Official Plan Amendment 88 ("OPA 88") and as such represents appropriate land use planning.

[6] Ms. Sweet provided the Board with an overview of the planning evolution of the subject lands, which were included in the "Village" designation as far back as 1986. The approval of OPA 88 and the "Community Design Plan" in 2010 followed three years of collaborative planning/consultation which involved all stakeholders including the local community association.

[7] The Board is also satisfied that the criteria set out under s. 51(24) of the Act have been adequately considered and that the draft-plan as well as the conditions of approval fully address these criteria.

ORDER

[8] Accordingly, the appeal pursuant to s. 51(34) of the Act is allowed and Attachment 1 (Exhibit 3, Tab 18- Page 1)is hereby granted draft approval subject to the conditions set out in Attachment 2 (Exhibit 4, Tab 6). Furthermore, the appeal pursuant to s. 34(11) is also allowed and the zoning by-law attached as Attachment 3 (Exhibit 4, Tab 7) is hereby approved.

[9] The Board will retain jurisdiction with respect to the final approval of the plan of subdivision.

"R.G.M. Makuch"

R.G.M. MAKUCH MEMBER

Ontario Municipal Board

A constituent tribunal of Environment and Land Tribunals Ontario Website: www.elto.gov.on.ca Telephone: 416-212-6349 Toll Free: 1-866-448-2248



ATTACHMENT 2

May 27, 2014 File: D07-16-11-0014

CONDITIONS OF DRAFT APPROVAL Richmond Village North and South 6335 & 6350 Perth Street

DRAFT APPROVED DD/MM/YYYY REVISED DD/MM/YYYY DRAFT APPROVAL EXTENDED FROM DD/MM/YYYY TO DD/MM/YYYY

INDEX

General	2
Zoning	
Roadway Modifications	
Highways/Roads	
Public Transit	
Geotechnical	
Sidewalks, Walkways, Fencing, and Noise Barriers	
Landscaping/Streetscaping	
Gateway Features	
Parks	
Environmental Constraints	
Archaeology	
Stormwater Management	
Fisheries	
Sanitary Services	
Water Services	
Serviced Lands	
Hydro	
Fire Services	
Utilities	
Noise Attenuation	
Land Transfers	
Development Charges By-law	
Survey Requirements	ookmark not defined.
Closing Conditions	

l

The City of Ottawa's conditions applying to the approval of the final plan for registration of Richmond Village North and South Subdivision (File No. D07-16-11-0014) are as follows:

This approval applies to the draft plan certified by _______ Ontario Land Surveyor, dated ______ December 2012(Need revised plan), showing _______ development.

1.

The Owner agrees, by entering into a Subdivision Agreement, to satisfy all terms, <u>Clearing</u> conditions and obligations, financial and otherwise, of the City of Ottawa, at the Owner's sole expense, all to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.

General

2.

G1 Prior to the issuance of a Commence Work Notification, the Owner shall obtain such permits as may be required from Municipal or Provincial authorities and shall file copies thereof with the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.

3. G2 Prior to commencing construction, the Owner shall enter into a subdivision agreement with the City. The subdivision agreement shall, among other matters, require that the Owner post securities in a format approved by the City Solicitor. in an amount of 100% of the estimated cost of all works, save and except nonmunicipal buildings. The aforementioned security for site works shall be for works on both private and public property and shall include, but not be limited to, lot grading and drainage, landscaping and driveways, roads and road works, road drainage, underground infrastructure and services (storm, sanitary, watermains), streetlights, stormwater management works. The amount secured by the City shall be determined by the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management, based on current City tender costs, which costs shall be reviewed and adjusted annually. Engineering, Inspection and Review fees will be collected based on the estimated cost of the works as noted herein and in accordance with the City's Planning Fees By-laws, as amended:

4. G4 The Owner acknowledges and agrees that any residential blocks for streetoriented dwelling units on the final Plan shall be configured to ensure that there will generally be not more than 25 units per block. OTTAWA Planning

OTTAWA Planning The Owner acknowledges and agrees that any person who, prior to the draft plan approval, entered into a purchase and sale agreement with respect to lots or blocks created by this Subdivision, shall be permitted to withdraw from such agreement without penalty and with full refund of any deposit paid, up until the acknowledgment noted above has been executed.

OTTAWA Legal

OTTAWA

The Owner shall provide to the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management an acknowledgement from those purchasers who signed a purchase and sale agreement before the Plan was draft approved, that the Plan had not received draft approval by the City. The Owner agrees that the purchase and sale agreements signed prior to draft approval shall be amended to contain a clause to notify purchasers of this fact, and to include any special warning clauses, such as but not limited to Noise Warnings and easements.

Legal **G7** The Owner, or his agents, shall not commence or permit the commencement of **OTTAWA** 6. any site related works until such time as a pre-construction meeting has been held Planning with Planning and Growth Management staff and until the City issues a Commence Work Notification.

> The Owner acknowledges and agrees that prior to final approval of the lands **OTTAWA** associated with the HydroOne Corridor Crossings, they shall obtain ownership Planning for the City of the road crossings for Streets 14 and 15 through the HydroOne HONI/OR Corridor as well as the HydroOne owned component of the realigned corridor for CI/Hydro the Van Gaal Drain. One

8. The Owner acknowledges and agrees prior to the earlier of early servicing, lifting **OTTAWA** of the holding zone, final approval or commence work for the lands north of Planning Perth Street that Owner shall obtain all approvals and complete all works CA necessary to remove the lands north of Perth Street from the interim flood plain subject to the approval of the Rideau Valley Conservation Authority, City's Drainage Supervisor, General Manager Planning and Growth Management.

encountered during construction shall be decommissioned/removed.

3

9. The Owner acknowledges and agrees that any permitted front yard projections **OTTAWA** shall not have a full foundation in order to facilitate street tree planting. Planning **OTTAWA** 10. The Owner shall acknowledge and agree that the agricultural tile drains

Planning

G5

5.

7e - 8

1[.		The Owner agrees that the underside of all footings shall be located at or above the elevation of the spring line of the storm sewer installed in the adjacent roadway. Owner agrees that a professional engineer or surveyor shall certify to the City that the underside of all footings have been installed at or above the level of the spring line.	OTTAWA Planning ISD
		Following the issuance of building permits, for the first phase of the first subdivision, the owner shall install monitoring wells at locations satisfactory to the City in order to verify that the sustained ground water level is at or lower than the location of the underside of footings. Reports on the levels in the monitoring wells shall be to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.	×
		If required based upon the monitored results, the Owner's professional engineers shall provide recommendations to the Owner and the City for any revisions to the approved Master Drainage Plan and any required reports.	
12. 12.1		The Owner agrees that the total number of units to be constructed within this plan shall be approximately 750 dwelling units. The Owner acknowledges that the Community Design Plan has provided guidance which responds to Village design.	OTTAWA Planning
		Zoning	
13.	Z 1	The Owner agrees that prior to registration of the Plan of Subdivision, the Owner shall ensure that the proposed Plan of Subdivision shall conform with a Zoning By-law approved under the requirements of the <i>Planning Act</i> , with all possibility of appeal to the Ontario Municipal Board exhausted.	OTTAWA Planning
14.	Z2	The Owner undertakes and agrees that prior to the registration of the Plan of Subdivision, the Owner shall deliver to the City a certificate executed by an Ontario Land Surveyor showing that the area and frontage of all lots and blocks within the Subdivision are in accordance with the applicable Zoning By-law.	OTTAWA Planning
15,		The Owner agrees that the minimum front yard setback for all residential zones within the subdivision shall be no less than 4.0 metres on rights of way with a 16.5 metre width or less.	OTTAWA Planning

4

The Owner acknowledges and agrees that a holding zone will be placed on the proposed subdivision lands as follows:

- a) To require that prior to proceeding with registration of any phase of development the Owner shall demonstrate a program for both servicing capacity for sanitary and stormwater and water for the phase in question;
- b) That the works required to remove the lands north of Perth Street from the interim flood plain are completed; and
- c) That a detailed grading and drainage plan demonstrating the underside of footings to be above the groundwater pursuant to Condition 11

Prior to the registration of each plan, capacity for stormwater and water must be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.

A construction traffic management plan will be provided for each registration.

Individual Traffic Impact Assessments (TIA) shall be provided to discuss the transportation needs for each phase. They shall identify required road works and when modifications are warranted. Design shall be 80% complete when seeking a Road Modification Approval and approval for a construction traffic management plan for each phase.

The Owner acknowledges and agrees that any proposed changes to the proposed of the proposed of

Roadway Modifications

- 19. RM1 The Owner shall pay all expenses associated with all works related to roadway OTTAWA modifications, and shall provide financial security in the amount of 100% of the Planning cost of implementing the required works.
- 20.Prior to lifting the reserves between phases the owner shall provide to the City an
updated Traffic study which will identify any required roadway modifications.OTTAWA
PlanningShould modifications be required they shall be submitted at 80% design complete
as part of any application to lift reserves. Prior to registration of the reserve the
RMA must have been entered into.OTTAWA

Highways/Roads

16.

17.

18.

-

OTTAWA Planning

5

- 21. HR1 The Owner shall retain a licensed or registered professional with expertise in the field of transportation planning and/or traffic operations to prepare a Transportation Impact Assessment. The study shall comply with the City of Ottawa's Transportation Impact Assessment Guidelines. The Owner agrees to revise the Draft Plan in accordance with the recommendations of the study, if required, to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.
- 22. HR2 The Owner shall provide for temporary turn-arounds for all streets terminating at the edge of any phase of development, prior to registration of the Plan, to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management. The Owner agrees that it will convey to the City at no cost any temporary easements that may be required in order to establish the temporary turn-arounds. Turning circle(s) may include a 0.3 metre reserve along the perimeter of any temporary turning circle(s), to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management. For any portion of the temporary turn-around easements that do not form part of the permanent road allowance, the easements shall be released at the expense of the Owner when the easements are no longer required by the City.
- 23. HR3 The Owner shall convey to the City, at no cost to the City, an unencumbered road widening along Perth Street adjacent to the subdivision lands, in accordance with the Official Plan. The required widening shall be illustrated on the Draft M-Plan and Final Plan of Subdivision as a dimension from the existing centerline of the public highway to the required widened limit. If it is determined that a widening is not required, the Owner's Surveyor shall illustrate the distance from the existing centerline of the Public Highway to the existing road limit on the Draft M-Plan and the Final Plan of Subdivision. All of which will be to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management and the City Surveyor.
- 24. HR4 Any dead ends and/or open spaces of road allowances created by this plan of subdivision shall be terminated in 0.3 metre reserves. This may include a 0.3 metre reserve along any temporary turning circle(s). The Owner may place 0.3 metre reserves on the following locations:
 - North end of Street 22
 - West side of Street 22
 - At Block 77 and Block 69
 - Block 76
- 25.

HR5

The Owner shall provide the following site triangles on the final plan: - At all intersections OTTAWA Plannin

OTTAWA Planning

OTTAWA Planning City Surveye

OTTAWA Planning and Legal

OTTAWA Planning and Legal

б

26.	HR6	A 0.3 m reserve adjacent to the widened limit of Perth Street shall be indicated on the plan submitted for registration and conveyed at no cost to the City.	OTTAWA Planning and Lorrel	
27.	HR8	The Owner agrees to provide a construction traffic management plan for the subdivision prior to the earlier of registration of the Agreement or early servicing. Such plan shall be to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.	OTTAWA Planning	
28.		The Owner agrees that a construction traffic management plan shall be required as a condition of each subsequent phase of the subdivision developing.		
29.	HR9	 The Owner acknowledges that should the plan be registered in phases, the first phase of registration shall include: Communal well design, construction and operation to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management 	OTTAWA Planning	
	з	 Storage and treatment capacity for the water sufficient for that phase to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management. water system, design and, construction by the City sufficient for that phase Stormwater management sufficient for that phase Sanitary system upgrades sufficient for that phase 		
30.	HR10	All streets shall be named to the satisfaction of the Director of Building Code Services and in accordance with the Municipal Addressing By-law or the Private Roadways By-law as applicable.	OTTAWA Planning BCS	
31.	HR11	The design of all roads and intersections shall be to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.	OTTAWA Planning	
32.	HR12	Where land has been dedicated for road widening purposes as part of the planning process, where the Owner receives no financial compensation or in-kind consideration in exchange for the widening, and where the City deems that the land is no longer required for that purpose, the lands may be conveyed back to the original Owner, or its successor in title, for \$1.00. The Owner, or its successor in title, will be responsible for all costs to complete said conveyance, including an administrative fee.	OTTAWA Planning	
33.	HR17	The Owner acknowledges that the construction of buildings may be restricted on certain lots and/or blocks until such time as Road connections are made so that snowplow turning and garbage collection can be implemented to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.	OTTAWA Planning	
34.		Prior to final approval the Owner shall ensure that the road widening along Perth Street and site triangles at the intersection of Street 3 and 14 are adequate to accommodate the future round-about.	2	

The Owner acknowledges and agrees that street 22 shall be constructed within the 18 metres right of way shown to a 22 metre standard cross section, save and except for the western boulevard which shall be finished to an acceptable interim standard and shall be the responsibility of the adjacent owner to complete as part of their development.

Public Transit

- 36. **PT1**
- The Owner shall design and construct, at its expense Streets number 3, 14, 22 and the connection through the HydroOne corridor between Streets 14 and 22, which have been identified as transit service routes, to Transportation Association of Canada standards, including right-of-way width, horizontal and vertical geometry based upon a 22 metre right-of-way. The Owner shall design and construct, at its expense transit passenger standing areas and shelter pads, to the specifications of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.
- 37. PT2 The Owner shall ensure that the staging of the Subdivision, including the construction of dwellings, roadways, walkways, and paved passenger standing areas, or shelter pads, shall occur in a sequence that permits the operation of an efficient, high quality transit service at all stages of development.
- 38. **PT3** The Owner shall orient dwellings and vehicular accesses in the vicinity of bus stops in such a manner as to avoid traffic conflicts and visual intrusion and to submit plans to Planning and Growth Management for approval indicating the orientation of all dwellings and private accesses in the vicinity of all bus stop locations.
- 39. PT4 The Owner shall inform all prospective purchasers, through a clause in all agreements of Purchase and Sale and indicate on all plans used for marketing purposes, those streets identified for potential transit services, the location of the bus stops, paved passenger standing areas, or shelters pads and shelters, any of which may be located in front of or adjacent to the purchaser's lot at any time.

Geotechnical

OTTAWA Plannin

OTTAWA Transit Services and Planning

OTTAWA Transit Services

OTTAWA Transit Service. and Planning

OTTAWA Transit Services

8

35.

GT1 The Owner covenants and agrees that the following clause shall be incorporated into all agreements of purchase and sale for all Blocks, and registered separately against the title:

OTTAWA Planning

"The Owner acknowledges that special soils conditions exist on this lot which will require:

(a) a geotechnical engineer licensed in the Province of Ontario to approve any proposal or design for a swimming pool installation on this lot prior to applying for a pool enclosure permit or installing the pool; and

(b) the Owner to submit a copy of the geotechnical engineer's report to the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management at the time of the application for the pool enclosure permit.

The Owner also acknowledges that said engineer will be required to certify that the construction has been completed in accordance with his/her recommendation and that a copy of the certification or report will be submitted to the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management."

GT3 The Owner shall submit a geotechnical report prepared in accordance with the City's Approved Geotechnical Investigation and Slope Stability Guidelines for Development Applications by a geotechnical Engineer, licensed in the Province of Ontario, containing detailed information on applicable geotechnical matters and recommendations which matters may include, where applicable, but are not limited to:

OTTAWA Planning

- i. existing sub-surface soils, groundwater conditions;
- ii. slope stability and erosion protection, in addition to any building construction requirements adjacent to unstable slopes;
- iii. design and construction of underground services to the building, including differential settlement near any buildings or structures;
- iv. design and construction of the shared water services and sewer services below the stacked units and confirmation that the soils will support the pipes and building, and that any settlement will not adversely effect the pipes;
- v. design and construction of roadways, fire routes and parking lots;
- vi. design and construction of retaining walls and/or slope protection;
- vii. design and construction of engineered fill;
- viii. design and construction of building foundations;
- ix. site dewatering;
- xii. tree planting;
- xiii design and construction of swimming pools; and
- xvi. any restrictions to landscaping, in particular type and size of trees and the proximity of these to structures/buildings; and

xvii. design and construction of park blocks.

40.

41.

- The Owner acknowledges and agrees that as part of any submission for engineering review for early servicing or final approval an updated Geotechnical Report shall be required to be completed to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management. Such report shall include:
- OTTAWA Plannin
- Additional subgrade soil testing in the development area with at least three samples taken north of Perth Street and two south of Perth Street and shall include:
 - Provide five soil boring locations collecting samples of soils at depths of 0.5, 1.0, 1.5, 2.0 metres.
 - Provide Atterberg Limits (per ASTM D4318) reporting Liquid Limit, Plastic Limit and Water content;
 - Shrinkage Limit (per ASTM D4943 or acceptable standard to the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management) reporting Shrinkage Ratio and Shrinkage Limit; and
 - Consolidation Testing (D2435) of soils at the natural water content of the soils, test conditions to be confirmed with City staff.
- 2) Recommendations based on the detailed soils tests for construction, design and maintenance of:
 - Buildings, roads, infrastructure, landscaping especially for tree planting;
 - Any required monitoring.

Sidewalks, Walkways, Fencing, and Noise Barriers

S2 The Owner agrees to design and construct, at no cost to the City, sidewalks in accordance with City Specifications in the following locations:

OTTAWA Planning

- Both sides Streets 3, 14 and through the HydroOne owned lands
- South side Streets 8, 9, 10 (from Block 20 to Street 3), 16
- East side of Streets 5, 22 and Block 69
- Both Sides of Perth Street that abut this plan to connect with the existing sidewalk on the south side approximately 30 metres to the east and on the north side approximately 95 metres to the east.

 42_{\odot}

43.

44.	S3	The Owner agrees to design and construct, at no cost to the City, fully accessible	OTTAWA
		 walkways and related Works through the length of the public lands identified on the Plan in accordance with City Specifications in the following locations: Blocks 49, 61, 62, 63, 64, 65, 68, 	Planning
		 Through Block 20 connecting Street 5 sidewalk to Street 10 sidewalk Should the Owner acquire the HydroOne owned block, a connecting walkway to Block 60 and crossing the re-aligned Van Gaal Drain, subject to the concurrence of the RVCA and being permitted through the Devices 4 at access. 	
		 Connection through to the open portion of Martin Street A walkway through Blocks 59 and 60 subject to the concurrence of the RVCA and being permitted through the Drainage Act process 	
	5	 A connection from the walkway in Block of through to Street 12 subject to the concurrence of the RVCA and being permitted through the Drainage Act process unless a permanent connection is obtained through to Perth Street. 	
45.	S3.1	The Owner agrees to connect all new sidewalks/pathways to the existing sidewalk/pathway(s) located at Perth Street to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.	OTTAWA Planning
46.	S4	The Owner agrees to design and construct, at no cost to the City, 1.8 metre black vinyl-coated chain link fences in accordance with the Fence By-law and all other City Specifications, at the following locations: Block 68	OTTAWA Planning
		 Block 20 abutting Blocks 1, 21 and 30 Blocks abutting residential Blocks 59, 60, 62, 64. 	
47.	S4.1	The Owner agrees that any vinyl-coated chain link fence required to be installed under this Agreement, shall be located a minimum of 0.15 metres inside the property line of the private property.	OTTAWA Planning
48.	S6	 The Owner agrees to design and erect, at no cost to the City, noise attenuation barriers in accordance with City Specifications at the following locations: As required pursuant to an approved Noise Study. 	OTTAWA Planning
49.	S6.1	The Owner agrees that any noise attenuation barrier required to be installed under this Agreement, shall be located a minimum of 0.30 metres inside the property line of the private property, and the location of the fence shall be verified by an Ontario Land Surveyor, prior to the release of securities for the noise attenuation barrier.	OTTAWA Planning

¥ E
50. S7 The Owner agrees to design and erect, at no cost to the City, 1.8 metre 9-gauge **OTTAWA** galvanized chain link fence in accordance with City Specifications at the Plannin 2 following locations: · Block 62 limiting access to any control structures associated with the Stormwater Management Pond S7.1 51. The Owner agrees that any 9-gauge galvanized chain link fence required to be **OTTAWA** installed under this Agreement, shall be located a minimum of 0.15 metres inside Planning the property line of the private property. 52. **S**8 The Owner shall insert a clause in each agreement of purchase and sale and Deed **OTTAWA** for lands which fences have been constructed stating that: Planning "Purchasers are advised that they must maintain all fences in good repair, including those as constructed by Richmond Village (North) and (South) along the boundary of this land, to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth management. The Purchaser agrees to include this clause in any future purchase and sale agreements". 53. The Owner agrees to design and erect, at no cost to the City, a chain link fence in Ottawa accordance to City Specifications around the Richmond Municipal Well parcel, Planning

ESD

Landscaping/Streetscaping

54.

The Owner agrees that for all single detached and semi-detached lots, a minimum of 1 tree per interior lot and 2 trees per exterior side yard lots shall be provided on the Landscape Plan to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management. All blocks containing street townhouses or other multiple unit dwellings shall have at least half the number of street trees in relation to the total number units in the block. Said streetscape or landscape plan shall also include trees at a 6-8 metre on-centre separation distance the full extent of the road right-of-way abutting the future park block(s) and other open space areas.

55. LS2 The Owner agrees to have a landscape plan for the draft plan of subdivision prepared by a Landscape Architect. The landscape plan shall include detailed planting location and species list, pathway width and materials, access points, fencing requirements and fencing materials and shall be approved by the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management prior to subdivision registration.

56. The Owner acknowledges that only low water consuming trees, ie. ornamental pear, Japanese lilac, crabapple cultivar, service berry cultivar, as per City of Ottawa guidelines, are acceptable as a result of sensitive marine clay soils on site. The tree species will be re-evaluated by the City following the provision of additional information and monitoring of the subdivision to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.

- 57. LS3 The Owner agrees to implement the approved landscape plan to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.
- 58. LS4 The Owner acknowledges having commissioned a tree conservation report prepared by an arborist, forester, landscape architect, or other qualified professional, which will be coordinated with the grading and drainage plan. The tree conservation report identified the vegetation communities and specimens that are to be preserved, to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.
- The Owner agrees to implement the approved tree conservation report measures, 59. LS5 prepared in accordance with City Specifications and Standards following registration of the plan, at the cost of the Owner. The Owner shall provide the and General Manager, Planning and Growth Management with an arborist's. forester's, landscape architect's, or other qualified professional's certification that Services the plan has been fully implemented.

OTTAWA Planning

Forestry Services **OTTAWA** Planning and Forestry

Services

OTTAWA

Planning

and

OTTAWA Planning and Forestry Services **OTTAWA** Planning and Forestry Services

OTTAWA Planning Forestry

LS6 The Owner shall implement the protection measures outlined in the tree **OTTAWA** 60. conservation report, to ensure preservation of the trees identified for protection, Plannin to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management. and Forestry Services 61. The Owner acknowledges and agrees that it shall implement the landscaping and **OTTAWA** naturalization of the realigned Van Gaal Drain north of Perth Street pursuant to Planning the approved Drainage Engineer's Report and the permissions of the RVCA **RVCA** under O.Reg 174/06. 62. The Owner shall design the sediment storage areas on Block 63 and 64 to lie **OTTAWA** outside of the flood plain and to allow for sediment storage, required fencing, Planning landscaping and buffering of the storage and related activities from adjacent paths and residential units. 63. The Owner shall as part of the Landscape and Streetscape Plan and Tree **OTTAWA** Conservation Report, make reasonable efforts in accordance with the draft Planning approved plan to preserve: the woodlot and significant trees at the north of the site; the hedge row along east side of property to south of Perth Street, and; the hedge row along west property line abutting realigned Van Gaal Drain north of

Perth Street. Tree preservation details shall be demonstrated on the grading and

Gateway Features

drainage plan.

64. GF1 Community Features:

OTTAWA Planning

The Owner acknowledges and agrees that any proposed Community Gateway Feature(s) located at Perth Street shall be designed, constructed and certified by a qualified professional and shall be in accordance with the City's Design Guidelines for Development Application Gateway Features, applicable by-laws and policies as may be amended from time to time. The Community Gateway Feature shall be subject to the approval of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management. The Owner shall deposit security in the amount to be determined by the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management prior to registration of the Plan to meet the on-going maintenance obligations of the Feature by the Owner for a one-year period after the construction of the Feature. The amount of security shall be determined by the General Manager of Planning and Growth Management and will not be reduced or released until the expiration of the one-year period and certification by a qualified professional that the Feature is constructed in accordance with the Guidelines and approved plans and is in a good state of repair. The Owner shall file copies of the aforementioned certification with the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management. During the warranty period the Owner shall be solely responsible for the ongoing upkeep and maintenance of the Community Gateway Feature to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management. The Owner shall be required to make a financial contribution to the "Maintenance Fund" as determined by the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management prior to registration of the Plan in accordance with the City's Design Guidelines for Development Application Gateway Features.

<u>Parks</u>

P1 The Owner covenants and agrees that Block 20 will be conveyed to the City, at no cost, as dedicated parkland. The size and configuration of Block 20 on the Final Plan shall be to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.

OTTAWA Planning

66.

65.

In accordance with the *Planning Act*, the City of Ottawa Parkland Dedication **OTTAWA** By-law and the Village of Richmond Community Design Plan, the Owner shall **Planning** convey Block 20 to the City for parkland purposes.

67.	P4	All Owner obligations associated with the Park Block must be completed by the time that Street 3 is constructed along the frontage of Block 20 to the satisfaction of the General Manager of Planning and Growth Management or as otherwise agreed between the Owner and the City.	OTTAWA Planning
68.	P5	The Owner acknowledges and agrees that no stormwater management facilities, encumbrances such as retaining walls, utility lines or easements of any kind shall be located on dedicated park blocks without the prior written approval of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.	OTTAWA Planning
69.	P6	The Owner acknowledges and agrees that any encumbrances which are not solely for the benefit of the park such as retaining walls, utility lines or easements of any kind on lands, or portion thereof encumbering the design and function of future Park Block 20 will not form part of the required <i>Planning Act</i> parkland dedication requirements at the discretion of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.	OTTAWA Planning
70.	Ρ7	The Owner acknowledges and agrees, at his expense, to erect on Park Block 20, at a location(s) selected by the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management, a professionally painted sign. Sign material, size and installation and construction details shall be to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management. This sign shall clearly read, in English and in French: Future Parkland No Dumping No Removal Soil or Vegetation No Storage of Materials	OTTAWA Planning
		The Owner further agrees to maintain the sign (including graffiti removal) and that such sign shall be removed only with the approval of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.	
71.	P8	The Owner shall have a design approved by the City for the construction of the Park, including the timing for such construction. The construction of the Park shall be in accordance with the process for local park construction currently being developed by the City through its development charge review process.	OTTAWA Planning
72.	P9	The Owner shall grade areas of parkland where necessary, to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management, so as to provide a uniform surface, free of debris, necessary to establish a safe clean and maintainable surface. Park Blocks shall be graded in accordance with the approved Grading Plan for the plan of subdivision. No storage of building materials, including granular or topsoil, will be permitted on the Park Block, unless approved by the City.	OTTAWA Planning
73.	P10	All works shall be shown on the approved park drawings and shall be subject to the approval of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.	OTTAV Planning

The Owner shall install fencing of uniform appearance and quality, with a minimum height of five feet (5') (1.5m) along the common boundary of all residential lots and blocks and ravine lands, and hazard lands which abut public walkways and Park Blocks. Fences shall be installed 0.15m on the private side of the common property line, and the location of the fence shall be verified by an Ontario Land Surveyor. Fence materials will be of commercial grade and consist of 6 gauge black vinyl coated chain link material and black powder coated schedule 40 pipe rails and posts or an approved alternative.

No access from private property to public property will be allowed without the prior written approval of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management. The Owner shall place the following clause in each Agreement of Purchase and Sale and in Deeds for all Lots and Blocks:

"The Transferee for himself, his heirs, executors, administers, successors and assigns acknowledges being advised that gates accessing public property are not permitted in the fences without the express written permission of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.

6 The Owner shall include a clause in each Agreement of Purchase and Sale and in Deeds for all Lots and Blocks which shall provide notification to all purchasers of lands within the Subdivision that parkland within this subdivision and/or already existing in the vicinity of the subdivision may have:

OTTAWA Planning

OTTAWA

Planning

OTTAWA

Planning

- a) active hard surface and soft surface recreational facilities
- b) active lighted sports fields
- c) recreation and leisure facilities
- d) other potential public buildings/facilities.

74. P13

75.

76. P16

Unless otherwise specified or approved on an alternate owner's engineering OTTAWA servicing plan, the Owner shall provide the following services and utilities to the Plannin Park Block:

- a) A 300mm diameter storm sewer and CB/MH at 2m inside the park property line.
- b) 50mm diameter water line at 2m inside the park property line.
- c) A 120/240 volt, 200 ampere single phase hydro service at 2m inside the park property line. The Owner is responsible for making all arrangements and coordinating the connection of the new hydro service, including costs and inspections, with the respective electrical agencies.
- d) 150mm diameter sanitary sewer and MH at 2m inside the park property line.

All works shall be subject to the approval of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.

At the earlier of the first registration after the City being advised that a Land Owners Agreement is in place (and for all subsequent registrations) or immediately prior to the registration of the final plan the Owner shall provide to the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management with confirmation from the Land Owners' Trustee, that the Owner is in good standing with the owners' Master Parkland Agreement for the Western Development Lands, relating to under and over dedication of parkland and requirements for payment of cash-in-lieu payments such that the payments are balanced amongst the affected Owners.

Environmental Constraints

- 79. EC2 The Owner shall have an Integrated Environmental Review Statement prepared, in accordance with the policies of the Official Plan, to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.
- 80. EC3 The Owner agrees to establish a "No Touch/No Development" setback of the Van Gaal Drain watercourse as shown by Blocks 59 and 60 and as has been conceptually approved by the RVCA, which shall be 60 metres in total and subject to change, while maintaining the same principles as in Blocks 59 and 60, if required by an inability to get landowner consent for the realignment. The final approved plan of subdivision shall clearly show this setback. The 60 m corridor, if realigned, shall be subject to the approval of the RVCA and the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.

OTTAWA Planning CA

OTTAWA Planning CA

78.

81.	EC4	The Owner acknowledges and agrees that the construction of the subdivision shall be in accordance with the recommendation of the approved Environmental Management Plan for the Village, the Environmental Impact Statement, where one has been required, and Tree Conservation Report.	OTTAWA Planning CA
82.	EC5	The Owner shall convey, at no cost to the City, the following lands (Blocks 59, 60 and the HydroOne Corridor connecting Blocks 59 and 60). Final configuration of the Blocks shall be in accordance with the Rideau Valley Conservation Authority. These lands shall not be credited towards determining parkland dedication requirements.	OTTAWA Planning CA
83.	EC6	The Owner shall erect protective fencing along the setback perimeter of the Van Gaal Drain prior to any site preparation works within the Subdivision to ensure no disturbance of the watercourse during construction to the satisfaction of the Conservation Authority.	OTTAWA Planning, CA
84.	EC7	The Owner shall prepare, to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management, a Conservation Handbook describing the natural attributes of the subdivision and the importance of good stewardship practices to ensure the long-term health and sustainability of the wetlands and woodlots. The Handbook shall be distributed to all purchasers with the Agreement of Purchase and Sale.	OTTAWA Planning. CA
85.	EC8	The Owner shall prepare a Homeowners' Awareness Package highlighting the advantages and responsibilities of a home or landowner living in the natural area. This package is to be included in all Agreements of Purchase and Sale.	OTTAWA Planning CA
86.		The Owner agrees to prepare an updated Environmental Impact Assessment, including a tree conservation report, after three years of subdivision registration in support of the next phase developing.	OTTAWA Planning
87.		The Owner shall be required to obtain all permissions under the Drainage Act prior to commencing any works on any municipal drain.	OTTAWA Drainage
88.		The Owner agrees to contact the Forester to arrange a site visit to inspect the tree protection measures prior to the commencement of any tree removal and/ or site works.	OTTAWA Planning
89.		Prior to registration the Owner shall provide a plan prepared by an Ontario Land Surveyor demonstrating the proposed development south of Perth Street is in compliance with the required water course setbacks as per the Official Plan and the Community Design Plan.	OTTAWA Planning CA

Prior to early servicing or final approval, whichever comes first, the Owner shall provide to the satisfaction of the RVCA, a Sediment and Erosion Control Plan, including the location of the bright orange construction fencing and sediment fences a minimum of 30 metres from the tributary of the Jock River, except where permitted work is proposed and approved by a permit under O.Reg. 174/06 within the setback.

ъr

90.

91.

92.

93.

94.

The Owner acknowledges and agrees that an average 30 metre setback with respect to the Van Gaal Drain, as has been conceptually approved by the RVCA (wherever its location is established at any point in time) and the tributary to the Jock River south of Perth Street shall be fenced with bright orange construction fencing to identify the setback area. Protection for the watercourse setbacks shall be in place and maintained throughout the development of the subdivision lands.

The Owner acknowledges and agrees to undertake any works or work programs as required by any permits issued by the RVCA under O.Reg. 174/06 for protection of the watercourses, aquatic habitat and associated vegetation. This may include planting vegetation, aquatic species removal/ relocation and monitoring programs.

The Owner acknowledges and agrees that prior to registration of the phase following the completion of the construction of stormwater Pond 1, that an 'as built' elevation survey of the completed grades in the regulated floodplain area shall be submitted to the RVCA for review and acceptance in accordance with any issued permits under O.Reg. 174/06. This information shall be accompanied by documentation that the completed works have resulted in 'no net fill' placement in the floodplain to the satisfaction of the RVCA.

The Owner acknowledges and agrees that approvals under Section 28 of the *Conservation Authorities Act*, Ontario Regulation 174/06, as administered by the Rideau Valley Conservation Authority are required for but not limited to the following works:

- Construction of Pond 1;
- Construction of outlet for Pond 1 into the tributary of the Jock River;
- Construction of the base flow augmentation outlet into the tributary of the Jock River;
- Enlargement of the culvert under Fortune Street;
- Construction of any pathways, service roads, bridges within the areas regulated under O.Reg. 174/06;
- Any alterations, including erosion protection works on watercourses such as the tributary to the Jock River;
- Any works resulting in the temporary or permanent placing, dumping or removal of any materials, originating on the site or elsewhere, any construction reconstruction erection or placing of a building or structure of any kind, with the regulated areas and any works resulting in the alteration to the beds or banks of an existing river, creek, stream or watercourse.

OTTAWA Plannin CA

OTTAWA Planning CA

OTTAWA Planning CA

OTTAWA Planning CA

OTTAWA Planning CA

Archaeology

The Owner shall adhere to the procedures of the "Contingency Plan for the Protection of Archaeological Resources in Urgent Situations" as approved by the Ministry of Citizenship, Culture and Recreation in the Archaeological Resource Potential Mapping Study of the Director, Planning and Infrastructure Approvals.

Stormwater Management

96. SW1

The Owner shall provide to the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management any and all stormwater reports not addressed by this draft approval that may be required by the City for approval prior to the commencement of any works in any phase of the Plan of Subdivision. Such reports shall be in accordance with any watershed or subwatershed studies, conceptual stormwater reports, City or Provincial standards, specifications and guidelines. The reports shall include, but not be limited to, the provision of erosion and sedimentation control measures, implementation or phasing requirements of interim or permanent measures, and all stormwater monitoring and testing requirements. All reports shall be to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.

97. SW2

(a) Prior to the commencement of construction of any phase of this Subdivision (roads, utilities, any off site work, etc.) the Owner shall:

- i. Provide an erosion and settlement control plan along with an associated stormwater management staging plan prepared by a Professional Engineer in accordance with current best management practices,
- ii. have said plans approved by the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management, and
- iii. provide certification to the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management through a Professional Engineer that the plans have been implemented.

(b) Any changes made to the Plan shall be submitted to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management and the Conservation Authority.

(c) The Owner shall implement an inspection and monitoring plan to maintain erosion control measures.

98. SW3 On completion of all stormwater works, the Owner shall provide certification to Other the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management through a Professional Plane Engineer that all measures have been implemented in conformity with the approved Stormwater Site Management Plan.

OTTAWA Planning

21

OTTAWA Planning and CA

OTTAWA Planning

99.	SW4	Prior to the registration, or the making of an application for a Ministry of Environment, Environmental Compliance Approval, for any stormwater works, whichever event first occurs, the Owner shall prepare a Stormwater Site Management Plan in accordance with the approved Master Drainage Plan, Revision November 2013 and Functional Servicing Report, April 2014. The Stormwater Site Management Plan shall identify the sequence of its implementation in relation to the construction of the subdivision and shall be to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management and the Rideau Valley Conservation Authority.	OTTAWA Planning and CA
100.	SW5	The Owner shall maintain the stormwater management pond in accordance with the recommendations of the Stormwater Management Plan and to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management until such time as the stormwater management pond has been given Final Acceptance and assumed by the City of Ottawa.	OTTAWA Planning
101.	SW6	The Owner shall design and construct, as part of the stormwater management infrastructure, at no cost to the City, a monitoring facility or facilities and vehicular access to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.	OTTAWA Planning
102.	SW7	The Owner agrees that the development of the Subdivision shall be undertaken in such a manner as to prevent any adverse effects, and to protect, enhance or restore any of the existing or natural environment, through the preparation of any storm water management reports, as required by the City. All reports are to be approved by the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management prior to the commencement of any Works.	OTTAWA Planning
103.	SW8	The Owner covenants and agrees that the following clause shall be incorporated into all agreements of purchase and sale for the whole or any part of a lot or block on the Plan of Subdivision, and registered separately against the title:	OTTAWA Legal
		"The Owner acknowledges that some of the rear yards within this subdivision are used for on-site storage of infrequent storm events. Pool installation and/or grading alterations on some of the lots may not be permitted and/or revisions to the approved Subdivision Stormwater Management Plan Report may be required to study the possibility of pool installation on any individual lot. The Owner must obtain approval of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management of the City of Ottawa prior to undertaking any grading alterations."	
104	•	The Owner acknowledges and agrees that prior to the issuance of any building permit north of Perth Street, the Stormwater Management Pond and the Van Gaal Drain realignment shall be completed.	OTTAWA Planning. CA

105.

Prior to a pre-servicing agreement with the City or prior to registration, a detailed OTTAWA design plan for downstream erosion protection/restoration works on the receiving watercourse (tributary to the Jock River) shall be prepared to the satisfaction of the RVCA. The design shall include any appropriate works deemed necessary by the RVCA to address erosion impacts on the watercourse from the proposed stormwater management infrastructure, and shall be in conformity with the local policies under O. Reg. 174/06. Such may be achieved through the Drainage Act process or alternative means agreeable to the City and the RVCA.

The Owner acknowledges and agrees that the use of sumps shall be designed and

installed with backflow valves and back-up power supply with design and

capacity in accordance with the Master Drainage Report. The details of the system, maintenance, repair and replacement shall be included within a Homeowners Handbook prepared by the Owner acceptable to the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management and supplied to each purchaser. Notice shall be placed on title and within every purchase and sale agreement of same. Such notice shall clearly indicate that the maintenance and repair of the foundation drainage systems shall be the sole responsibility of the homeowner. The notice shall also clearly indicate that failure to maintain the sump pumps and

106.

107.

108.

The Master Drainage Plan and Functional Servicing Report have been prepared and are deemed approved with the draft approval of the subdivision.

back-up systems could result in basement flooding.

In addition, refinements to the conceptual design as presented in the report "Master Drainage Plan Western Development Lands, Village of Richmond for Richmond Village (South) Limited" prepared by DSEL, project # 11-468 dated November 2013 - Rev. 3, the detailed stormwater management design plan shall:

- Identify locations for perforated pipe systems in rear yards and park systems where suitable soils are identified;
- Confirm that the lowering of the saturated zone (local lowering of the water table) shall not have any unintended adverse impacts on the hydrologic characteristics of any up gradient wells;
- Provide mitigation solutions should the lowering of the groundwater table impact any offsite up gradient wells;
- Address flow conclusions and erosions impacts with respect to the tributary to the Jock River south of Perth Street

The Owner acknowledges and agrees that a statement shall be contained in the subdivision agreement describing any lot level BMP's relating to stormwater management and informing future owners of the function and maintenance requirements associated with these features.

OTTAWA Planning CA

OTTAWA Planning CA

Planning CA

OTTAWA

Planning

109.

Prior to final approval, the following information shall be provided to the satisfaction of the RVCA and the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management which shall include:

- Information and documentation of final flow conclusions resulting from the construction and operation of Pond 1 on the tributary to the Jock River, storm sewer design and foundation drainage;
- An implementation plan to address any geomorphological impacts, if necessary, on the tributary to the Jock River, including when they should be undertaken in relation to servicing and construction and direction on which party (ies) shall be responsible for ensuring the downstream works and undertaken;
- Documentation on the relationship between the stormwater management servicing and infrastructure, including the enlargement of the culverts under Fortune Street, stormwater Pond 1 and any other infrastructure as they relate to management of flood risk and erosion control within the local area;
- An addendum to the Master Drainage Plan incorporating all other information and documentation relating the Master Drainage Plan but not incorporated into the November 2013 revision.

Such addendum shall be included in the Final Master Drainage Plan document. The Owner acknowledges and agrees that that the final design for stormwater Pond 1 and the adjacent regulated floodplain areas shall:

- Identify sediment storage areas outside of the mapped floodplain areas for the Van Gaal and Jock River;
- Shall maintain a 'no net fill' balance in the final grading.

Prior to early servicing for the lands North of Perth Street the Owner acknowledges and agrees that the Drainage Act process for the Van Gaal Drain realignment shall be completed. Should the permissions from the affected owners not be obtained then the Owner acknowledges and agrees that all drainage works required to move the drain shall be located solely on the Owner's property with respect to the abutting owner not being in agreement and that the Owner shall amend the layout of the subdivision accordingly. The Owner acknowledges that draft conditions and zoning may need to be amended to reflect the revisions and that all changes are at no cost to the City.

The owner agrees to hold a public meeting in Richmond, within 30 days of the later of the issuance of an ECA for the stormwater pond or the approval of the design for the communal well, at which the engineers responsible for the design of the master drainage solution and stormwater management will present them for explanation to the public. The General Manager, Planning and Growth Management shall be consulted as to the aspects of these matters that shall be presented.

Fisheries

OTTAWA Planning CA

OTTAWA Planning CA

ī11.

110.

113. The Owner acknowledges and agrees to ensure any requirements under the Federal Fisheries Act for the implementation of projects supporting the development are met.

Sanitary Services

OTTAWA Planning CA

OTTAWA

OTTAWA

OTTAWA

Planning

Planning

Planning

114.

The Owner shall submit detailed municipal servicing plans, prepared by a Civil Engineer licensed in the Province of Ontario, to the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.

115. SS1

Where the Owner is required under this Agreement to provide and install sanitary sewers of a diameter larger and/or at a greater depth than would be required to service the area to be developed, as detailed in the approved plans of this agreement, the Owner shall convey to the City such 0.3m reserves as may be necessary to prevent the Owners and developers of adjacent lands from making connections to the sanitary sewers installed by the Owner. Insofar as it legally may, the City will require other persons connecting to the sewer to pay an equitable share of the cost thereof to the Owner, the amount of which payment shall be determined by the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.

116. SS2

Where the Owner is required under this Agreement to provide the oversize and/or over-depth storm sewers or open drains in order to make provisions for later development of upstream lands not owned by the Owner herein, as referred to in the approved plans, the City shall, insofar as it legally may, require that payment shall be made by the Owner of such upstream undeveloped land which will utilize the said storm sewers as an outlet(s), prior to the approval of a Plan of Subdivision for such land by the City, the amount of which shall be determined by the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.

117. SS3

As the Owner proposes a road allowance(s) of less than 20 meters, and if the Owner also proposed boulevards between 4.0 and 5.0 meters wide, the Owner shall meet the following requirements:

- a) extend water, sanitary, and storm services a minimum of 2.0 meters onto private property during installation before being capped;
- b) install hydro high voltage cable through the transformer foundations to maintain adequate clearance from the gas main;
- c) provide and install conduits as required by each utility;
- d) provide and install transformer security walls when a 3.0 meters clearance, as required by the Electrical Code, cannot be maintained. The design and location of the security wall must be approved by the local hydro utility; and
- e) install all road-crossing ducts at a depth not to exceed 1.2 meters from top of duct to final grade.

118. SS4 The Owner acknowledges that all components of the sewage system shall be designed and constructed to ensure that there are no significant drinking water threats to the municipal drinking water source of the Richmond Municipal well and no cost to and to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management and/or Risk Management Official.

Plannin

OTTAWA

OTTAWA a schedule that is to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Planning

The stages may include:

- a) Construction of a new length of 1,200 m of 600 mm forcemain along the Jock River from the pumping station to the lagoon.
- b) Construction of an additional 400 m of 600 mm forcemain from the lagoon to the Jock River Crossing;
- c) Upgrades to the existing pump units at the Richmond Pumping Station.

The construction of the sanitary sewer services shall be staged in accordance with

Management, recognizing the goal of reducing infrastructure expenditures. The

number of units constructed in each stage shall be controlled through the

utilization of holding provisions within the zoning by-law.

Proposed stage c) will requiring further engineering analysis to be provided to the City

Other options for the staging of the sanitary sewer works may be considered provided that satisfactory engineering analysis is provided to the City.

Water Services

The Owner shall design and construct all necessary watermains and the details of services and meters for the lots abutting the watermains within the subject lands to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management. The Owner shall pay all related costs, including the cost of connection, inspection and sterilization by City personnel, as well as the supply and installation of water meters by the City.

121. W1 The details for water servicing and metering shall be to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management. The Owner shall pay all related costs, including the cost of connections and the supply and installation of water meters by City personnel.

OTTAWA Planning ESD

OTTAWA Planning

119.

120.

122.	W2	Upon completion of the installation of all watermains, hydrants, water services and the new communal well, treatment and storage, the Owner shall provide the City with Mylar(s) of the "as-built" plan(s), certified under seal by a Professional Engineer, showing the location of the watermains, hydrants and services. Furthermore, the Owner shall provide the "as-built" information and the attribute data for the water plant installation in a form that is compatible with the City's computerized systems.	OTTAWA Planning
123.		The Owner shall prepare, at its cost, a hydraulic network analysis of the proposed water plant within the Plan of Subdivision. This analysis shall be submitted to the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management for review and approval as part of the water plant design submission.	OTTAWA Planning
124.	W4	The Owner agrees to construct and install all services in all the streets and offsite locations identified below and, where applicable, oversized services shall be constructed and installed in accordance with the conditions and City Specifications and approved reports: • municipal communal well water system	OTTAWA Planning
125.	W5	The Owner acknowledges and agrees not to permit any occupancy of buildings until the water plant has been installed, sterilized and placed in service to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.	OTTAWA Planning
126.		The Owner acknowledges and agrees that no services shall be tapped into the new watermain until the disinfection has been successfully completed and the watermain has been placed in service by the City.	OTTAWA Planning
127.	W7	The Owner further acknowledges and agrees that the service post, which is the fitting located near the property line that allows access to the shutoff valve, must be visible, raised to finished grade and in working condition in order for the City to turn on the service.	OTTAWA Planning
128.	W8	The Owner acknowledges and agrees that the details of services and meters for the lots abutting the watermain shall be to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management. The Owner shall pay all related costs, including the cost of connections and the supply and installation of water meters.	OTTAWA Planning
129.	W9	The Owner acknowledges and agrees to install triple outlet fire hydrants and watermains in accordance with City specifications. The Owner further acknowledges and agrees to ensure that all hydrants shall be maintained accessible, and shall be in good operating condition at all times to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management. In the event that any hydrants are not operational, then the Owner shall clearly label these hydrants as out of service.	OTTAWA Planning

130. W10 The Owner acknowledges and agrees not to apply for, nor shall the City issue, building permits for more than 50 dwelling units (or the equivalent) where the watermain for such units is unlooped. Any unit serviced by an unlooped watermain shall be required to have sufficient fire protection, to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.

132.

- 131. W11 The Owner prepares, entirely at its cost, a hydraulic network analysis of the OTT proposed Communal Water System. Said report shall be submitted to the Plann General Manager, Planning and Growth Management for review and approval as part of the design submission.
 - The Owner acknowledges and agrees that prior to proceeding with any subsequent phase they shall demonstrate the capacity of the existing well(s), water treatment, storage and distribution system with respect to quality and quantity – including fire flow - and upgrade such systems accordingly, all to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management. This shall include the 10 State Standards, demonstrating that they still have to demonstrate the capacity of the weakest well, and they also need to meet the conditions of the MOE Minister regarding the conditional lifting of the Class EA Part II Order Request (this involves making sure that private wells in the Oxford Formation will not be unduly impacted). The Water system shall be designed to include fire flow that does not include direct pumping from the wells.

The Owner acknowledges that prior to requesting any early servicing the detailed design for the proposed Municipal Communal Water System shall be approved by the City of Ottawa and the Ministry of the Environment.

The Owner shall complete the design and construction of the Communal Water System to City standards and at no cost to the City.

The Owner acknowledges that full building permits shall not be issued until such time as the City assumes the operation of the Communal Water System.

As part of the assumption of the water system the owner shall provide the General Manager, Environmental Services Department as-built drawings, operation manuals, staff training as well as all up to date test records, Ministry of the Environment permits and licenses as may be required. This shall be at no cost to the City.

OTTAWA Planning

OTTAWA Planning

133

134.

135.

Prior to supporting any building permits including conditional ones or final approval the Owner shall obtain ownership for the City of the lands containing the future Richmond Municipal well(s). It shall be appropriately sized to contain pumping, treatment, storage, setbacks or clearances from the 3 actual wells, fencing, parking and other associated works. The Owner acknowledges being required prior to draft approval to provide the City of Ottawa with an executed document from the owner (presently Mattamy) of the lands upon which the municipal wells are located to convey the ownership of the wells at the time of the registration of the Owner's first plan of subdivision, failing such conveyance Mattamy has agreed to be responsible for all costs for the expropriation of such lands. The Owner and the City acknowledge that such executed document has been received by the City. No registration of a plan and no occupancy of any dwelling can occur until the lands upon which the wells are located and are to be located have been conveyed to the City

Pursuant to the direction of the Village of Richmond Community Design Plan the Owner agrees that the design of the proposed water system shall be such that the City can expand it to accommodate any potential requirement for that system to service the existing Village if required. The balance of the design, construction and preliminary operation to final acceptance of the water system to service the Owner's lands shall be at no cost to the City. Prior to the connection by the City to the water system, the financial terms of permitting the land in the existing developed areas in the village to be serviced by the well(s) shall be as negotiated between the Owner and the City.

The Owner acknowledges that prior to lifting of the inhibiting order the water system shall be commissioned, and operated by the City

Source Water Protection

OTTAWA Planning ESD, Fire Services

OTTAWA Planning ESD

OTTAWA Planning ESD OTTAWA Planning ESD The Owner acknowledges that much of the proposed development is located within the Wellhead Protection Area of the Richmond Municipal drinking waterwell and that the Drinking Water Source Protection Plan is not in place to allow the City to ensure that any potential threat posed to the municipal drinking water is eliminated. As such, the City will not contemplate any early servicing or commence work, rezoning to allow for building to occur nor to allow for the inhibiting order to be lifted on the above-noted lots until such time as it has been demonstrated by the Owner that the lots can be developed and pose no significant threat to the municipal drinking water. This shall be to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management and Mississippi-Rideau Source Water Protection Committee and in keeping with the intent of the Ontario Clean Water Act. Further, that the Owner acknowledges and agrees to adhere to the policies of the Drinking Water Source Protection Plan on the following matters:

a) The storage and handling of heating fuel is not supported and that the subdivision will be serviced by natural gas;

b) Any stormwater management facility (i.e. pond, stormceptor) proposed to be located within the Richmond Municipal Well-head Protection Area (WHPA), shall be designed accordingly area according to the policies in the proposed Mississippi-Rideau Nation Source Water Protection Plan.

c) All sanitary and storm sewers shall be designed to ensure no significant drinking water threat.

- 136.1 The Owner shall take reasonable steps during construction of the sanitary sewers so as not to cause adverse effects to private wells.
 - 137. The Owner acknowledges and agrees that parts of the subdivision and adjacent OTTAWA lands lie within the Wellhead Protection Area of the Richmond Municipal drinking water-well and as such covenants will be placed on title of all affected lands and in all purchase and sale agreements of affected lands to ensure that the above noted concerns are known to all land owners.
 - Dewatering through construction or as a result of the clear stone bedding under 137. the storm sewer will be done so as to ensure that private wells in the Oxford 1 formation will not be unduly impacted.
 - The Owner acknowledges that the lands lie within the Wellhead Protection Area **OTTAWA** 138. of the future Richmond Municipal Well and that prior to any on-site works shall Planning demonstrate that the proposed construction practice to do not create a threat to the municipal drinking water source.
 - The Owner acknowledges and agrees that it shall prepare a homeowner's 139. **OTTAWA** information brochure to provide information on best practices for private Planning homeowners within wellhead protection areas.
 - 140. The Owner acknowledges that the subdivision agreement shall contain wording **OTTAWA** acceptable to General Manager, Planning and Growth Management that the Planning above noted conditions will be implemented.

Planning

141.		required sentinel or monitoring wells for the subdivision in a number and Pl location to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management, unless otherwise specified. Each required well shall be on a separate block secured by easement to and directly accessible by the City. If at all reasonably possible, access shall be provided by the road.					
142.		The Owner acknowledges and agrees that prior to proceeding with any phase of the subdivision a construction management plan will be filed with the City demonstrating to the greatest extent feasible that all potential threats from the temporary use of any portion of the property to be used for construction purposes of the subdivision have been minimized.	OTTAWA Planning				
143.		The Owner will comply with the Clean Water Act with respect to the Wellhead Protection Area Assessment.	OTTAWA Planning				
		Serviced Lands					
144.		The Owner shall be responsible for the provisions of the following works, including oversizing and overdepth where appropriate, at its cost, in accordance with plans approved by the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management, and/or the Province;	OTTAWA Planning				
		 a. Watermains; b. Sanitary Sewers; c. Storm Sewers; d. Roads and traffic plant(s); e. Street Lights; f. Sidewalks; g. Landscaping; h. Street name, municipal numbering, and traffic signs; i. Stormwater management facilities; and j. Grade Control and Drainage. 					
145.		The Owner shall not commence construction of any Works or cause or permit the commencement of any Works until the City issues a Commence Work Notification, and only then in accordance with the conditions contained therein.					
146.	SL1	The Owner shall provide services oversized and overdepth to service lands beyond the limits of the subdivision as required and to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.	OTTAWA Planning				
147.	SL2	The Owner shall not be entitled to a building permit, early servicing, or commencement of work construction until they can demonstrate to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management that there is adequate road, sanitary, storm, and water capacity including fire flow.	OTTAWA Planning				

3 f

SL3 **OTTAWA** HydroOttawa Planning 148. The Owner shall comply with Hydro Ottawa's Conditions of Service and thus OTTAV should be consulted for the servicing terms. The document, including referenced Planning standards, guidelines and drawings, may be found at www.hydroottawa.com/development/. The Owner should consult Hydro Ottawa prior to commencing engineering designs to ensure compliance with these documents. 149, The Owner acknowledges that servicing from new rear lanes is not permitted. The Owner shall pre-consult with Hydro Ottawa any proposed reduction to the City 150. **H1** Hydro of Ottawa three-metre minimum standard setback prior to designing the electrical Ottawa servicing, as it may affect the electrical servicing design, timeline for installation and cost. This includes any proposed overhang encroachment into the 3m-setback space. 151. The Owner may be required to enter into an Electrical Servicing Agreement with Hydro H₂ Hydro Ottawa Limited, to the satisfaction of Hydro Ottawa. Ottawa The Owner shall contact Hydro Ottawa to discuss electrical servicing for the Hydro 152. H₃ property. By Hydro Ottawa commenting on this proposal, Hydro Ottawa has not Ottawa committed to, or approved the electrical servicing of the proposed development. The Owner may be responsible for a Capital Contribution payment(s) towards a Hydro 153. **H4** Ottawa distribution system expansion, if the proposed development requires electrical servicing greater than can be provided by the existing distribution system in the vicinity, either in capacity or in extension limit. This amount shall be in accordance with Hydro Ottawa's Contributed Capital Policy and Conditions of Service. Hydro Hydro Ottawa's standard distribution network is overhead for any voltage system 154. H5 Ottawa along or through open fields, business parks, rural areas, arterial, major collector and collector roads. Any additional premium costs beyond the standard shall be at the Owner's cost. In all instances, electrical distribution above 27kV is via overhead distribution. The Owner shall be responsible for servicing the buildings within the property. Hydro 155. H6 Only one service entrance per property shall be permitted. Ottawa 156. H7 The Owner shall convey, at its cost, all required easements as determined by Hydro Hydro Ottawa. The Owner further acknowledges and agrees that the City's Ottawa Inhibiting Order will not be lifted until such time as the required transfer of easements to Hydro have occurred. The Owner will be required to provide written confirmation from Hydro to the City that the required easements have been obtained to Hydro's satisfaction and that the Inhibiting Order may be lifted, subject to any other City conditions for lifting.

157.	H8	Prior to commencement of any construction activities, the Owner shall inform Hydro Ottawa of any acute shock construction process or rubbelization to be used during construction, and apply Hydro Ottawa's work procedure UDS0022 "Protecting Electrical Distribution Underground Plant & Support Structures from Acute Shock Construction Processes". The Owner shall be responsible for any damage to Hydro Ottawa distribution assets.	Hydro Ottawa
158.	H9	The Owner shall be responsible for all costs for feasible relocations, protection or encasement of any existing Hydro Ottawa plant.	Hydro Ottawa
159.	H10	The Owner shall ensure that any landscaping or surface finishing does not encroach into existing or proposed Hydro Ottawa's overhead or underground assets or easement. When proposing to plant in proximity of existing power lines, the Owner shall refer to Hydro Ottawa's free publication "Tree Planting Advice". The shrub or tree location and expected growth must be considered. If any Hydro Ottawa related activity requires the trimming, cutting or removal of vegetation, or removal of other landscaping or surface finishing, the activity and the re- instatement shall be at the Owner's expense.	Hydro Ottawa
160.	H12	The Owner is advised that there are overhead medium voltage overhead lines along the Perth Street. The Owner shall ensure that no personnel or equipment encroaches within three meters (3.0m) of the Hydro Ottawa overhead medium voltage distribution lines, unless approved by Hydro Ottawa. The Owner shall contact Hydro Ottawa prior to commencing work when proposing to work within 3.0m of the Hydro Ottawa distribution lines as noted above. No such work shall commence without approval of Hydro Ottawa.	Hydro Ottawa
161.	H13	The Owner shall ensure that no permanent structures are located within the "restricted zone" defined by Hydro Ottawa's standard OLS0002, which can be found at www.hydroottawa.com/development/. The "restricted zone" surrounds overhead medium voltage pole lines, consisting of a five-meter (5m) radial distance from overhead medium voltage conductors, and a two-meters (2m) distance from a vertical line drawn from the conductors to ground level along, the tength of the pole line. This standard complies with the requirements of the Ministry of Labour's <i>Occupational Health & Safety Act</i> , the Building Code and the Ontario Electrical Safety Code.	Hydro Ottawa
162.	H14	The Owner and its agents shall arrange for an underground electricity cable locate by contacting Ontario One Call at 1-800-400-2255, not less than seven (7) working days prior to excavating. There shall be no mechanical excavation within 1.5m of any Hydro Ottawa underground plant unless the exact position of plant is determined by hand digging methods. Direct supervision by Hydro Ottawa forces, and protection or support of the underground assets shall be at the Owner's expense.	Hydro Ottawa

163. H15		5 Hydro Ottawa may be required to service this subdivision by means of underground wiring, thus any other underground work must be coordinated. At least 14 weeks are needed from receipt of the Owner's deposit to start the material purchase and scheduling of the work.		
164.	H16	Hydro Ottawa reserves the right to raise conditions throughout the development of this proposal should revisions contain non-conformance with, for example, Hydro Ottawa's Conditions of Service or Standards. The Owner shall contact Hydro Ottawa in the request.	Hydro Ottawa	
		HydroOne	Hydro	
165.		The Owner acknowledges that prior to final approval, copies of the lot grading and drainage plan, showing existing and final grades, must be submitted to HONI in triplicate for review and approval. Drainage must be controlled and directed away from the OILC/HONI transmission corridor.	Ottawa Hydro Ottawa	
166.		Temporary fencing must be installed along the edge of the transmission corridor prior to the start of construction at the developer's expense.		
167.		Permanent 1.5 metres fencing must be installed along the mutual property line after construction is completed at the developer's expense.	HydroOne	
168.		The Owner acknowledges that the OILC/HONI transmission corridor is not to be used without the express written permission of the Hydro One Networks Inc. on behalf of OILC. During construction there will be not storage of materials or mounding of earth, snow of other debris on the transmission corridor. The proponent will be responsible for the restoration of any damage to the transmission corridor or HONI facilities thereon resulting from construction of the subdivision.	HydroO	
169.		The Owner shall obtain the permission of OILC/HONI for any proposed works and road crossings of the transmission corridor. Prior to final approval the developer shall provide HONI/OILC detailed engineering. All road allowances shall be transferred directly to the City of Ottawa.	HydroOne	
170.		All costs associated with the relocation or revisions to the facilities to accommodate the subdivision shall be the responsibility of the owner.	HydroOne	
		Fire Services	HydroOne	
171.		The Owner shall not demand of the City to issue, nor shall anyone claiming title from it or under its authority, demand of the City to issue, one or building permits to construct any building or other structure on any lots or block in the Subdivision until firebreak lots are designated to the satisfaction of the City's Fire Chief.		

ny full OTTAWA Il provide Fire le and Services
aplete to OTTAWA the year Fire a shall be Services
reak Lots OTTAWA acent units Fire Services ix homes Planning six homes
municipal OTTAWA n and of Fire fior to Services such Planning
OTTAWA Fire Services
any be Fire security, Services heral the ts and ager, phasing of approval of

<u>Utilities</u>

172.

178.

The Owner is hereby advised that prior to commencing any work within the Draft Plan, the Owner must confirm that sufficient wire-line

communication/telecommunication infrastructure is currently available to the proposed development to provide communication/ telecommunication service to the proposed development. In the event that such infrastructure is not available, the Owner is hereby advised that the Owner shall ensure, at no cost to the City, the connection to and/or extension of the existing communication/ telecommunication infrastructure. The Owner shall be required to demonstrate to the municipality that sufficient communication/telecommunication infrastructure facilities are available within the proposed development to enable, at a minimum, the effective delivery of communication /telecommunication for emergency management services (i.e. 911 Emergency Services).

Canada Post

- 179. U1 The Owner agrees to inform all prospective purchasers through a clause in all agreements of purchase and sale as to the locations of all potential community mailboxes.
- 180. The Owner acknowledges and agrees that the locations, standards and installation of all community mailboxes shall be to the satisfaction of Canada Post.
 - 181. The Owner acknowledges and agrees that all community mailboxes shall be shown on the Streetscape/Landscape plans as well as the Composite Utility Plans.

182. <u>Noise Attenuation</u>

- 183. The Owner shall have a Noise Study undertaken related to noise assessment and land use planning with respect to noises generated by moving and stationary sources. The study shall be to the satisfaction and approval of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management and shall comply with:
 - (i) the City of Ottawa's Environmental Noise Control Guidelines; and
 - the City of Ottawa's Standards for Noise Barriers and Noise Control Guidelines; and
 - (iii) address, and be in accordance with, the current version of the Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario Guidelines for Professional Engineers providing Acoustical Engineering Services in Land Use Planning.
- 184. The Owner shall have a Noise Study undertaken related to noise assessment and land use planning with respect to noises generated by moving and stationary sources and in accordance with the City's Environmental Noise Control Guidelines. The study shall provide all specific details on the methods and measures required to attenuate any noise that exceeds the allowable noise limits in locations as determined by the recommendations of the Noise Assessment Study.

OTTAWA Planning CA

OTTAWA Planning

Canada Post Canada Post Canada Post OTTAWA Planning

- 185. N1 Where structural mitigation measures are required as a result of the Noise Assessment Study, the Owner shall provide, prior to final building inspection, certification to the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management, through a Professional Engineer, that the noise control measures have been implemented in accordance with the approved study.
- 186. N2 The Owner agrees that all purchase and sale agreements, and the Deed(s) for the oTTAWA whole or any part of the lot/block on the Plan of Subdivision shall contain the planning following clause in the next condition that shall be incorporated in all Transfers/Deeds from the Owner so that the clauses shall be covenants running with the lands in the Subdivision.

N3 Notice to Purchasers

187. N5 The Owner acknowledges and agrees that all purchase and sale agreement shall include the following types of notices to purchasers:

- Proximity to an active park
- Proximity to a storm pond, water course or natural area
- Potential transit routes
- Handbooks relating to Source Water Protection
- Handbooks relating to Basement Sump Pump systems purpose, operation and maintenance

OTTAWA Planning

OTTAWA

Planning

and

Legal

- Information on the approved Streetscape/Landscape Plan
- Information on the approved Grading and Composite Utility Plans
- Information on Tree Planting in Sensitive Marine Clay Soils
- Noise Attenuation for lots in proximity to Perth Street.
- Other matters as may be determined prior to final approval.

Land Transfers

- 188. The Owner shall convey, at no cost to the City, all lands required for public purposes, OTTAWA including but not limited to, reserves, road widenings, daylighting triangles, walkway blocks, open space blocks, lands required for parks (or cash-in-lieu thereof) and for storm water measures, to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management. In particular, the Owner shall convey, at no cost to the City, the following lands:
 - i) Pathway, Walkway or Servicing Blocks 61, 68, 78
 - ii) Open Space Blocks 61
 - Watercourses (buffer strips/riparian corridors) 59, 60 (Subject to RVCA concurrence and Drainage Act compliance)
 - iv) Park Blocks 20
 - v) Storm Water Management Blocks Block 62, 63, 64
 - vi) Road Widening Blocks 66, 67
 - vii) 0.3 m Reserve Blocks West Side and end of Street 22, Blocks 70, 72 71, 74, 73, 75, 76.
 - viii) Municipal Well Block

The Owner shall convey, at no cost to the City, any easements that may be required for the provision of water and wastewater systems, in addition to underground or overland stormwater drainage systems to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.

LT Development Charges

1

190.

189. LT The Owner acknowledges that some of the works of the Subdivision are eligible for development charges revenues pursuant to the City's applicable Development Charges By-law and background study, as well as budget approval by City Council where required. Such contributions are to be determined and agreed to by the City, prior to the commencement of the associated Works or as agreed to by the City. The Owner agrees to enter into any agreements that may be required pursuant to the applicable Development Charges By-law.

The Owner shall inform the purchaser after registration of each lot or block of the development charges that have been paid or which are still applicable to the lot or block. The applicable development charges shall be as stated as of the time of the conveyance of the relevant lot or block and the statement shall be provided at the time of the conveyance. The statement of the Owner of the applicable development charges shall also contain the statement that the development charges are subject to changes in accordance with the *Development Charges Act*, 1997 and the *Education Development Charges Act*.

191. D The Owner acknowledges and agrees to enter into any front-ending agreements with
 C1 the City of Ottawa for transportation, water, and waste water that are anticipated to be required in advance of the time as approved by Council. The City shall repay the Owner for the cost of works as noted herein in accordance with the approved Front-Ending Policy of the City's Development Charge By-law, and subject to budget approval of the required expenditure by City Council in the year in which it is approved.

OTTAWA Planning and Legal

OTTAWA Planning and Legal OTTAWA Planning and Legal

192. D

D The Owner acknowledges that for building permits issued after January 15, 2010,
 C2 payment of non-residential development charges, excluding development charges for institutional developments, may be calculated in two installments at the option of the Owner, such option to be exercised by the Owner at the time of the application for the building permit. The non-discounted portion of the development charge shall be paid at the time of issuance of the building permit and the discounted portion of the development charge shall be payable a maximum of two years from the date of issuance of the initial building permit subject to the following conditions:

OTTAWA Planning and Legal

- (a) a written acknowledgement from the Owner of the obligation to pay the discounted portion of the development charges;
- (b) no reduction in the Letter of Credit below the amount of the outstanding discounted development charges; and
- (c) indexing of the development charges in accordance with the provisions of the Development Charges By-law.

The Owner further acknowledges that Council may terminate the eligibility for this two stage payment at any time without notice, including for the lands subject to this agreement and including for a building permit for which an application has been filed but not yet issued.

For the purposes of this provision, "discounted portion" means the costs of eligible services, except fire, police and engineered services, that are subject to 90% cost recovery of growth-related net capital costs for purposes of funding from development charges. The 10% discounted portion, for applicable services, must be financed from non-development charge revenue sources.

"Non-discounted portion" means the costs of eligible services, fire, police and engineered services, that are subject to 100% cost recovery of growth-related net capital costs for purposes of funding from development charges.

193. D Financial Plan

C4

The Owner agrees that all infrastructure required for this subdivision shall be at no cost to the City. This is subject to recoveries from Development Charges by the owner under the approved Background Study and to the acknowledged right of the Owner to appeal to the Ontario Municipal Board pursuant to the *Development Charges Act*, the allocation for benefit to existing development for the forcemain to be constructed.

194. Survey Requirements

The Owner shall provide the final plan intended for registration in a digital format that is compatible with the City's computerized system.

195. The Plan of Subdivision shall be referenced to the Horizontal Control Network in accordance with the City requirements and guidelines for referencing legal surveys. **Closing Conditions** 196. Su **OTTAWA** rv Planning 1 197. Su The City Subdivision Agreement shall state that the conditions run with the land and **OTTAWA** are binding on the Owner's, heirs, successors and assigns. Surveys \mathbf{rv} 2 198. At any time prior to final approval of this plan for registration, the City may, in accordance with Section 51 (44) of the Planning Act, amend, delete or add to the conditions and this may include the need for amended or new studies. 199. C1 Prior to registration of the Plan of Subdivision, the City is to be satisfied that **OTTAWA** conditions one through 198 have been fulfilled. Legal 200. C2 The Owner covenants and agrees that should damage be caused to any of the Works **OTTAWA** Bil in this Subdivision by any action or lack of any action whatsoever on its part, the Legal I General Manager, Planning and Growth Management may serve notice to the Owner 16 to have the damage repaired and if such notification is without effect for a period of 3 two full days after such notice, the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management may cause the damage to be repaired and shall recover the costs of the ап d repair plus the Management Fees under Section 427, of the Municipal Act, 2001, like 20 manner as municipal taxes. 201. C4 If the Plan(s) of Subdivision, including all phases within the draft approved plan of **OTTAWA** subdivision, has not been registered by five years from the date of draft approval, the Planning draft approval shall lapse pursuant to Section 51 (32) of the Planning Act. Extensions may only be granted under the provisions of Section 51 (33) of said Planning Act prior to the lapsing date. The Owner shall pay any outstanding taxes owing to the City of Ottawa prior to

202.

registration.

ATTACHMENT 3

BY-LAW NO. 2014 - XX

A by-law of the City of Ottawa to amend By-law No. 2008-250 of the City of Ottawa to change the zoning of the lands known municipally as 6335 and 6350 Perth Street

The Council of the City of Ottawa, pursuant to Section 34 of the *Planning Act*, R.S.O.1990, enacts as follows:

1. The Zoning Map of By-law No. 2008-250, entitled the "City of Ottawa Zoning By-law" is amended by rezoning the lands shown on Attachment 1 to this by-law as follows:

- (a) Area A from DR1 to V10[778r]-h,
- (b) Area B from DR1 to V2E[779r]-h,
- (c) Area C from DR1 to V3B[780r]-h,
- (d) Area D from DR1 to O1[781r]-h.

2. Section 240 – Rural Exceptions of the said By-law No. 2008-250 is amended by adding the following exception:

1	H	Exception Provisions		
Exception	Applicable	IIE A L MAR	IV	V
Number	Zone	Additional	Land	Provisions
		Permitted	Prohibited	
778	V1O[778r]-h		- all uses until holding symbol removed	 minimum front yard setback: 4.0 m minimum rear yard setback: 6.0 m minimum corner side yard setback: 4.0 m total interior side yard setback 1.8m with one minimum yard no less than 0.6 m maximum lot coverage: 60% despite Section 57(1), the distance used to determine a corner sight triangle is 2.75 metres despite Section 107(3)(ii) the
			λ.	area of the driveway cannot exceed 65 per cent of the area of the yard in which it is located

				A holding symbol can only be removed when servicing capacity is demonstrated to the satisfaction of the City A holding symbol on lands north of Perth Street can only be removed when: i. servicing capacity is demonstrated to the satisfaction of the City, and ii. at such time as the 'interim floodplain' as shown on Schedule A in the Richmond Secondary Plan is deemed to be appropriately removed by the Conservation Authority and the City
779	V2E[779r]-h	- townhouse dwelling	- all uses until	 minimum front yard setback: 4.0 m
1	-		holding	- minimum rear yard setback:
1	i i		symbol	6.0 m
			removed	- minimum corner side yard
	5			SetDack: 4.0 m
				distance used to determine a
	Í.			corner sight triangle is 2.75
				metres
C				- despite Section 107(3)(ii) the
				area of the driveway cannot
				exceed 65 per cent of the area
				of the yard in which it is located
				Provisions specific to detached
				i. minimum lat width: 9.0 m
0				ii. minimum lot deoth: 27.0 m
				iii. minimum lot area: 243 m2
				iv. total interior side yard
	-	2		setback 1.8m with one
				minimum yard no less than
	×.			0.6m
				v. maximum lot coverage: 60%
	-			dwellinge:
				i minimum lot width: 6.0 m
	J			. maaman for wider, 0,0 m

proprieto a sector de la sector	-	بمرجا المتبعين والعتبان		
1 Joanne Merrir				 ii. minimum lot depth: 25.0 m iii. minimum lot area: 150 m2 iv. minimum interior side yard setback: 1.5 m v. maximum lot coverage: 65%
				A holding symbol can only be removed when servicing capacity is demonstrated to the satisfaction of the City A holding symbol on lands north of Perth Street can only be removed
				when: i. servicing capacity is demonstrated to the satisfaction of the City, and ii. at such time as the 'interim floodplain' as shown on Schedula A in the Pichmond
				Secondary Plan is deemed to be appropriately removed by the Conservation Authority and the City
780	V3B[780r]-h		- all uses until holding symbol removed	 minimum front yard setback: 4.0 m minimum rear yard setback: 6.0 m minimum corner side yard setback: 4.0 m despite Section 57(1), the
			n	distance used to determine a corner sight triangle is 2.75 metres - despite Section 107(3)(ii) the area of the driveway cannot exceed 65 per cent of the area of the yard in which it is located
		u S		Provisions specific to detached dwellings: i. minimum lot width: 9.0 m ii. minimum lot depth: 25.0 m iii. minimum lot area: 225 m2 iv. total interior side yard setback 1.8m with one

	minimum yard no less than
	0.6m
	v. maximum lot coverage:
1	60%
	vi. despite l'able 236, column
1	VIII the minimum
	landscaped area is 25%
	Provisions specific to townhouse
1	I. MINIMUM IOT WIGHT: 5.0 M
	II. minimum lot depth: 25.0 m
	in. minimum lot area: 150 m2
	IV. minimum interior side yard
1	Selback, 1.5 m
	00%
	VI. despite rable 250, column
	Via the mannum
	Provisions encoitio to townhouse
	dwellings that are attached back
	to back:
	i minimum lot dopth: 12.5 m
	ii. minimum lot area: 80 m2
	iii maximum lot coverage: 70%
	iv despite Table 236, column
	VIII the minimum
	landscaped area is 3.0 m^2
	ner unit
	por unit
	A holding symbol can only be
	removed when servicing
	capacity is demonstrated to the
	satisfaction of the City A holding
	symbol on lands north of Perth
	Street can only be removed
	when:

ii. servicing capacity is demonstrated to the satisfaction of the City, and

ii. at such time as the 'interim floodplain' as shown on Schedule A in the Richmond Secondary Plan is deemed to be appropriately removed by

			the Conservation Authority and the City
781	01[781r]-h	- all uses until holding symbol removed	A holding symbol can only be removed when servicing capacity is demonstrated to the satisfaction of the City

ENACTED AND PASSED this day of , 2014.

CITY CLERK

MAYOR



APPENDIX B

Geotechnical


Environmental Engineering Scientific Management Consultants

Suite 200 2781 Lancaster Road Ottawa ON Canada K1B 1A7

> Bus 613 738 0708 Fax 613 738 0721

www.jacqueswhitford.com







Jacques Whitford

An Environment of Exceptional Solutions

> Registered to ISO 9001:2000 ISO 14001:2004

100% Post Consumer Content

PRELIMINARY GEOTECHNICAL INVESTIGATION REPORT

Proposed Residential Subdivision Perth and Ottawa Streets Richmond Area Ottawa, Ontario

Mattamy Homes Ltd.

PROJECT NO. 1026929

÷ 2

REPORT NO. 1026929

REPORT TO

ON

Mattamy Homes – Ottawa Division 123 Huntmar Drive Ottawa, ON, K2S 1B9

Preliminary Geotechnical Investigation Proposed Residential Subdivision, Perth and Ottawa Streets, Richmond Area Ottawa, Ontario

June 22, 2007

Jacques Whitford Limited 2781 Lancaster Road, Suite 200 Ottawa, Ontario K1B 1A7

> Phone: 613-738-0708 Fax: 613-738-0721

www.jacqueswhitford.com



ξ.

Table of Contents

1.0	INTRODUCTION	1
2.0	PROJECT DESCRIPTION	1
3.0	SITE DESCRIPTION AND BACKGROUND	1
4.0	SCOPE OF WORK	2
5.0	METHOD OF INVESTIGATION	3
5.1	Geotechnical Field Investigation	3
5.2	Survey	4
5.3	Laboratory Testing	5
6.0	RESULTS OF INVESTIGATION	5
6.1	Site Description	5
6.2	Subsurface Information	6
6.2.1	Surficial Materials	6
6.3	Clay (CL)	7
6.4	Sandy Silt (ML)	7
6.5	Silty Sand (SM)	8
6.6	Glacial Till	8
6.6.1	Inferred Bedrock	8
6.7	Groundwater1	0
7.0	DISCUSSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS1	0
7.1	Preliminary Geotechnical Assessment1	0
8.0	CLOSURE1	3

List of Tables

Table 6.1:	Summary of Depth to Bedrock9
Table 6.2:	Summary of Measured Groundwater Levels10
Table 7.1:	Preliminary Grade Raise Restrictions
Table 7.2:	Geotechnical Resistance for Shallow Foundations
Table 7.3:	Site Classification for Seismic Site Response12
Table 7.4:	Suitable Re-uses for Site Generated Materials12



List of Appendices

APPENDIX A

Drawing No. 1 - Key Plan

Drawing No. 2 - Test Hole Location Plan

Drawing No. 3 - Estimated Thickness of Clay Deposit

Drawing No. 4 - Inferred Depth to Bedrock

Drawing No. 5 – Stratigraphic Plot

Drawing No. 6 - Stratigraphic Plot

APPENDIX B

Symbols and Terms Used on the Test Hole Records Borehole and Test Pit Records

APPENDIX C

Symbols and Terms Used on the SCPTu Probe Records SCPTu Probe Records

APPENDIX D

Soil Grain Size Distribution Test Results



1.0 INTRODUCTION

This report presents the results of the Geotechnical Investigation carried out for the proposed residential subdivision to be located to the west of the Village of Richmond in Ottawa, Ontario. The work was carried out in general accordance with our Proposal Number 1026824, dated June 7, 2007. Authorization to carry out the work was received on June 8, 2007, from Mr. Matthew Kingston of Mattamy Homes – Ottawa Division.

This report has been prepared specifically and solely for the project described herein. It presents the factual results of the Geotechnical Investigation and provides preliminary geotechnical recommendations for the design and construction of the residential subdivision.

2.0 PROJECT DESCRIPTION

The project site location is shown on the Key Plan, Drawing No. 1 in Appendix A. The property boundaries are indicated on Drawing No. 2 in Appendix A, and is based on Drawing Reference No. 07-10-724-00 prepared by J.D. Barnes Surveying Limted and dated April 21, 2007.

Although the layout and configuration of the proposed development has not yet been completed, it is anticipated that it will include numerous single family homes and townhouses on a new street network and that the development will be connected to municipal sewer services. Water supply, it is anticipated, will be through individual private wells.

3.0 SITE DESCRIPTION AND BACKGROUND

Geological maps, of the area indicate that the soil conditions vary significantly across the site. Southeast of Ottawa Street, maps indicate that a layer of glacial till is present overlying bedrock at shallow depth. Northwest of Ottawa Street the soil map profile includes sand (beach and reworked glaciofluvial origin) over silts and clays (marine origin) over glacial till. The thickness of the silt and clay layer increase along with depth to bedrock from southeast to northwest with total overburden thickness estimated to be as much as 10 m at the northwest limit of the site.

The subject site is approximately 300 acres in area and includes nine parcels of land. The site is roughly rectangular, 600 m wide and 2500 m long, with the long axis oriented northwest to southeast. The eight parcels include PINS 0062 and 0061 to the north of Perth Street, 0285, 0286, 0287 and 0714 between Perth and Ottawa Street and the Jock River and PIN 0075 on the southeast side of the Jock River.



The site is primarily used as an agricultural field. The Jock River crosses the southern end of the site. The layout of the site is shown on Drawing No. 2 in Appendix A.

The slopes adjacent to the Jock River are indicated in Ontario Geological Society Paper MP68 to have a Factor of Safety of 2.0 to 2.5 which indicates that only routine inspection will be necessary to determine the need and extent of a geotechnical investigation.

4.0 SCOPE OF WORK

Due to time constraints the scope of work for the project is divided into two phases; the Due Diligence Phase (Preliminary Phase) and Detailed Design Phase. The work completed for this report was conducted as part of the Due Diligence Phase. The scope of for each phase is summarized below:

Due Diligence Phase (Preliminary Phase)

- Field investigation
- Laboratory testing
- Prepare an initial due diligence report which will includes a test hole location plan, draft test hole logs and discussion of the geotechnical constraints to residential development of the site.

Detailed Design Phase

- Design discussions with the project team.
- Prepare a detailed geotechnical design report for the project. The report will include test hole location plan, test hole logs and recommendations for the detailed design of the development. The report will reflect the discussions from the other members of the design team including the proposed grading and layout of the subdivision.

The present report is the due diligence report. Further discussion and analysis will be carried out prior to presenting a final report for the proposed development.

Jacques Whitford is also conducting a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) for the site. The results of the Phase I ESA are reported separately.



5.0 METHOD OF INVESTIGATION

5.1 Geotechnical Field Investigation

Prior to carrying out the investigation, Jacques Whitford staked out the proposed borehole locations and made arrangements to identify and clear the locations of underground utilities. The drain tile system that is present on the site could not be accurately located in the field. The drain tile system was encountered and may have been damaged at test pit locations TP07-10, TP07-22 and TP07-23.

Between June 14 and 20, 2007, test holes numbered BH 07-1 to TP 07-72 were advanced at the approximate locations shown on Drawing No. 2 in Appendix A. Several parcel's of the originally planned project site were eliminated from the scope of work, therefore test holes at locations BH 07-4, CPT 07-8, TP 07-12 and BH 07-16 were dropped after initiation of the project.

The test holes consisted of boreholes, Seismic Piezocone Penetration Tests, test pits and hand auger holes.

Boreholes

The boreholes were advanced using a track mounted CME power drill and hollow stem augers. Soil samples were collected at close intervals using a split spoon sampler while conducting standard penetration testing (SPT). Several relatively undisturbed samples of cohesive materials were acquired by pushing thin-walled samplers (Shelby tubes). The undrained shear strength of cohesive soils was measured in the boreholes by carrying out vane shear and pocket penetration tests. The boreholes were backfilled with auger cuttings.

Seismic Piezocone Penetration Test (SCPTu)

The Seismic Piezocone (SCPTu) tests consisted of pushing an instrumented rod with a cone-shaped tip into the ground at a controlled rate (20 mm/s) using the hydraulics of the CME power auger drill. The device contains electronic sensors that measure tip resistance, sleeve friction and pore water pressure at very short intervals in order to provide a near continuous profile. These measurements can be used to assess a wide variety of engineering properties of the subsurface soils. The equipment standards and test procedures are outlined in ASTM D5779-95. Seismic cone tests were also conducted at 1.0 m intervals to estimate the shear wave velocity of the soil.

When performing a seismic evaluation, the cone contains a built in geophone to measure compression and shear wave velocities in addition to the standard piezocone parameters. The seismic soundings were performed approximately at 1 m intervals.



During the seismic soundings, shear waves are generated by striking the seismic beam using a sledgehammer. The seismic beam is placed under the rear stabilizers of the drill rig and secured to the ground surface by using the weight of the drill. Seismic triggers are attached to this seismic beam, which initiate the recording of the seismic wave trace.

Geophones in the body of the piezocone recognize the arriving waves generated at the ground surface. Any waves received by the geophones on the cone penetrometer are sent back up to the control unit to be displayed on an oscilloscope. On site software then plots the wave amplitude versus time to calculate wave velocities.

For this assignment the piezocone testing also included several pore water pressure dissipation tests.

Test Pits

The test pits were excavated with rubber tired backhoes. Samples of all soil types were acquired from test pit walls. The test pits were backfilled with the excavated materials.

Hand Auger Holes

Access restrictions in the south east corner of the site prevented the use of mechanized equipment. Soil conditions were evaluated based on hand auger holes.

The subsurface stratigraphy encountered in each test hole was recorded in the field by our personnel. All samples recovered were stored in moistureproof bags and were returned to our laboratory for detailed classification and testing.

Monitoring wells and standpipes were installed in several locations to allow for the measurement of groundwater levels. Groundwater levels were measured on June 20, 2007.

5.2 Survey

Prior to the fieldwork, the borehole locations were established in the field by Jacques Whitford personnel. The ground surface elevations at the test hole locations were surveyed relative to a temporary benchmark with an assigned elevation of 100.00 m Local. The temporary benchmark was established on the top of the concrete base of a light pole located on the north side of Perth Street. The location of the temporary benchmark is shown on Drawing 2 in Appendix A.



4

5.3 Laboratory Testing

All samples returned to the laboratory were subjected to detailed visual examination and additional classification by a geotechnical engineer. Selected samples were tested for moisture content, organic content, particle size gradation and Atterberg Limits. Results of this testing are shown on the Borehole Records and in Appendix D. Consolidation testing on two relatively undisturbed samples and some classification testing is currently underway. The results will be forwarded when they become available.

Samples will be stored for a period of one (1) month after issuance of this report unless we are otherwise directed by the client.

6.0 RESULTS OF INVESTIGATION

6.1 Site Description

The site is primarily used as an agricultural field. Some trees and brush were noted at localized areas throughout the site. Denser trees and brush are present in the vicinity of Jock River. A fill pile was observed near the south side of Ottawa Street. The approximate location of the fill pile, trees and brush are indicated on Drawing No. 2 in Appendix A.

A large drainage ditch is located near the northeast corner of the site. Steel corrugated pipe culvert provides access over the drainage ditch. A second drainage ditch which outlets to the Jock River runs through the southern parcel of land. The approximate locations of the ditches are indicated on Drawing No. 2 in Appendix A.

The slopes adjacent to the Jock River are heavily covered in trees and brush. The slopes heights were visually estimated to be less than 3 m in height and are sloped at angles shallower than 2H:1V.



6.2 Subsurface Information

In general, the subsurface profile changes significantly across the site.

Drawings 3 and 4 in Appendix A present plan summaries of the Estimated Thickness of the Clay Deposit and the Estimated Depth to Bedrock Respectively. Drawing No. 5 in Appendix A presents two stratigraphic plots across the site.

PIN 04437-0062, 0061, PIN 03933-0285, 0286

Within these parcels of land, the soils consist of a thick deposit of clay overlying a till deposit overlying inferred bedrock. Bedrock is anticipated at depths in excess of 6 m below ground surface to the north of Perth Street and becoming shallower to the south of Perth Street. The estimated thickness of the clay deposit and the depth to inferred bedrock are shown on Drawings No. 3 and 4, respectively.

PIN 03933-0287

Within this parcel of land the soils consist of a thin deposit of clay overlying a sandy silt deposit over a till deposit over inferred bedrock. Bedrock is anticipated at depths between 3 m to 4 m below ground surface. The estimated thickness of the clay deposit and the depth to inferred bedrock are shown on Drawings No. 3 and 4, respectively.

PIN 03933-0714 and PIN 03933-0746, 0047, 0075

Within these parcel's of land the soils consist of a deposit sandy silt over a till deposit over inferred bedrock. Bedrock is anticipated at depths greater than 4 m to less than 1 m below ground surface. The depth to inferred bedrock is shown on Drawing No. 4.

The subsurface conditions observed in the test holes are presented in detail on the Test Hole Records provided in Appendix B. An explanation of the symbols and terms used to describe the Borehole Records is also provided. The result of the Seismic Piezocone Tests is provided in Appendix C.

A summary of the observed subsurface conditions is presented below.

6.2.1 Surficial Materials

Topsoil was encountered in the majority of the test pits and boreholes and was observed to range from 0 mm to 300 mm in thickness. Two organic content tests were conducted on grab sample from test pits the results will be provided when testing is complete.



6.3 Clay (CL)

Borehole and Test Pit Results

Beneath the surficial materials a clay deposit was encountered across the majority of the northern half of the site. The upper 2 m to 3 m of clay was greyish brown and had a stiff to firm consistency. This upper clay layer is commonly referred to as a "crust". Several pocket penetration tests and insitu shear tests were conducted on the clay crust; the result indicated shear strength between 48 kPa to greater than 160 kPa. The moisture content of the crust samples tested ranged from 23% to 53%.

Beneath the crust, the clay was grey and firm as indicated by the measured in-situ shear strength which varied from 20 kPa to 53 kPa. The moisture content of the clay samples tested ranged from 38% to 65%. Soil gradation test results are presented in Appendix D.

The clay can be classified as a lean clay (CL) in accordance with the Unified Soil Classification System (USCS).

The results of consolidation testing are not yet available and will be forwarded upon completion of the tests.

Seismic Piezocone Penetration Test (SCPTu)

The SPCTu tests classify the deposit as clays and organics. The results are presented in Appendix C.

Pore pressure dissipation tests were conducted within the SCPTu. The results of the pressure dissipation tests will be presented at the detailed design stage. The results of the SCPTu tests are presented in Appendix C.

6.4 Sandy Silt (ML)

Borehole and Test Pit Results

Beneath the surficial materials or clay a deposit of sandy silt with variable quantities of gravel was encountered. The deposit was generally encountered to the south of Perth Street. The color of the deposit was brown changing to grey with depth. The deposit was generally loose to compact as indicated by the SPT 'N" values which ranged from 1 to 37.

The moisture content of the samples tested ranged from 13 % to 37%. Soil gradation test results are presented in Appendix D. This material can be classified as sandy silt (ML) in accordance with the Unified Soil Classification System (USCS).



Seismic Piezocone Penetration Test

The SCPTu test classifies the deposit as sands and silt mix. The test results are presented in Appendix C.

6.5 Silty Sand (SM)

Borehole and Test Pit Results

A deposit of silty sand with variable quantities of sand and silt was encountered. The deposit was generally encountered near the Jock River. The color of the deposit was brown changing to grey with depth. The deposit was generally compact based on visual observation during the excavation of the test pits.

Soil gradation test results are presented in Appendix D. This material can be classified as sandy silt (SM) in accordance with the Unified Soil Classification System (USCS).

Seismic Piezocone Penetration Test

The SCPTu test was not conducted in this deposit.

6.6 Glacial Till

Borehole and Test Pit Results

Beneath the sandy silt and silty sand deposits a glacial till was observed. The till consists of a variable mixture of silt, sand and gravel with frequent cobbles and boulders. The deposit was generally compact to dense based on visual observation during the excavation of the test pits.

The moisture content of the samples tested ranged from 8 % to 20%. Wash sieve analysis are presented in Appendix D. This material can be classified as sandy silt (ML) in accordance with the Unified Soil Classification System (USCS).

Seismic Piezocone Penetration Test

The SCPTu was not conducted in this deposit.

6.6.1 Inferred Bedrock

Inferred bedrock was encountered at multiple test locations. The inferred bedrock was based on auger refusal, refusal of the back hoe bucket and refusal of the SCPTu. Table 6.1 summarizes the depth to inferred bedrock and Drawing No. 4 in Appendix A visually presents the bedrock depths inferred across the site.



Test Hole Location	Depth to Inferred Bedrock		
	Measured from Ground Surface		
	(m)		
MVV 07-18	5.9		
ВН 07-21	5.3		
TP 07-23	4.2		
TP 07-24	4.3		
MW 07-25	4.8		
TP 07-26	4.4		
BH 07-27	3.6		
BH 07-28	3.9		
TP 07-29	3.8		
MW 07-30	3.9		
TP 07-31	3.8		
TP 07-32	3.5		
TP 07-33	4.0		
TP 07-34	3.6		
MW 07-37	3.4		
TP 07-36	2.9		
TP 07-39	2.9		
TP 07-40	1.9		
TP 07-41	2.2		
TP 07-42	3.3		
TP 07-44	2.3		
TP 07-45	2.9		
TP 07-46	4.0		
TP 07-48	3.6		
TP 07-49	2.0		
TP 07-50	3.8		
TP 07-57	0.2		
TP 07-58	0.9		
TP 07-59	0.5		
TP 07-60	1.9		
TP 07-61	0.6		
TP 07-62	0.7		
TP 07-63	0.4		
TP 07-64	3.5		
TP 07-65	2.9		
TP 07-67	1.6		
TP 07-71	0.6		
TP 07-75	3.5		

Table 6.1: Summary of Depth to Bedrock



6.7 Groundwater

Standpipes were installed five of the test pits. Monitoring wells were installed at eight of the boreholes. The groundwater levels were measured on June 20, 2007. Table 6.2 summarizes the groundwater levels measured on June 20, 2007. Fluctuations in the groundwater level due to seasonal variations or in response to a particular precipitation event should be anticipated.

Test Hole Location	Groundwater Level Measured Below Ground Surface on June 20, 2007
MW 07-1	1.25
MVV 07-7	1.44
MVV 07-13	1.09
MW 07-18	0.72
MVV 07-25	1.02
MW 07-30	1.21
MW 07-37	0.78
MW 07-40	1.68
TP 07-45	1.64
TP 07-47	0.60
TP 07-55	No reading
TP 07-66	1.05
TP 07-75	1.33

Table 6.2: Summary of Measured Groundwater Levels

7.0 DISCUSSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1 Preliminary Geotechnical Assessment

Based on the soil conditions encountered in the test holes and our understanding of the project the following geotechnical constraints should be considered:

A compressible deposit of clay was encountered within the northern section of the site. The approximate limits of the clay deposit are shown on Drawing No. 3 in Appendix A. Due to the compressible nature of the clay, grade raises over sections of the site should be restricted to minimize total settlements. Table 7.1 summarizes the preliminary grade raise restrictions for the site.



Site Area	Maximum Grade Raise above Existing Site Grades (m)
0062, 0061; north of Perth Street	1.0
PIN 0285, 0286; parcel to the south of Perth Street	1.5
PIN 0287; parcel north of Ottawa St.	2.0
PIN 0714, 0746, 0047, 0075; parcel north and south of Ottawa St.	4.0

Table 7.1: Preliminary Grade Raise Restrictions

- Shallow bedrock was encountered within the southern half of the site. It is anticipated that bedrock excavation for underground services and building foundations will be required in the area south of Ottawa Street. Estimated depths to inferred bedrock are presented on Drawing No. 4 in Appendix A.
- The soil conditions encountered are suitable for the use of conventional spread and strip footings for the support of structures. Table 7.2 provides Geotechnical Bearing Resistance Values for Preliminary Design purposes. The values have been calculated assuming no modifications to existing grades, a footing depth of 2.4 m below finished grade with an embedment of 0.5 m and a footing width of 0.8 m.

Site Area	Founding Material	ULS (kPa)	SLS (kPa)
PIN 0062, 0061	Firm Clay	125	100
PIN 0285, 0286	Firm Clay	125	100
PIN 0287	Dense sandy silt	300	150
PIN 0714, 0746, 0047, 0075	Dense sandy silt, glacial till	300	150
PIN 0714, 0746, 0047, 0075	Bedrock	500	NA

Table 7.2: Geotechnical Resistance for Shallow Foundations

The Ultimate Limit State (ULS) bearing resistance includes a resistance factor of 0.5. The Serviceability Limit State (SLS) bearing resistance corresponds to total settlement of 25 mm. Differential settlements between footings are expected to be less than 19 mm.

Note that settlement estimates are highly dependent on grade changes. The geotechnical resistance values will need to be reviewed in conjunction with the proposed grading plan.

The groundwater table was observed to be relatively high. Grade reductions may lead to drainage concerns.



- Several test pits were terminated between 3 m to 4 m below ground surface within the sandy silt deposit due to side wall collapse and groundwater seepage. Excavations below the groundwater level may require shoring protection or special dewatering treatments.
- Several ditch's may require backfilling and the water courses may need diverting.
- In accordance with Table 4.1.8.4.A. of the 2006 Ontario Building Code, the project site is considered to be classified under several site classifications for seismic site response. Table 7.3 summarizes the appropriate site classification for the various parcels of land.

Parcel of Land	Ground Profile Name	Site Class
PIN 0062, 0061,0285,	Soft Soil	E
0286		
PIN 0287, 0714	Stiff Soil	D
PIN 0746, 0047, 0075	Very Dense Soil and	С
	Soft Rock	

Table 7.3: Site Classification for Seismic Site Response

Table 7.4 summarizes the possible re-uses of site generated materials.

Soil Deposit	Exterior Foundation Wall Backfill	Subgrade Fill	Landscaping Fill
Clay Crust		х	Х
Clay			Х
Sandy Silt, Silt,			Х
Glacial Till, Silty Sand	х	х	Х
Crushed Bedrock	x	х	Х

Table 7.4: Suitable Re-uses for Site Generated Materials



8.0 CLOSURE

This report has been prepared for the sole benefit of Mattamy Homes Ltd and its agents, and may not be used by any third party without the express written consent of Jacques Whitford Limited and Mattamy Homes Ltd. Any use which a third party makes of this report is the responsibility of such third party.

The recommendations made in this report are in accordance with our present understanding of your project. We request that we be permitted to review our recommendations when your drawings and specifications are complete.

This report is based on the site conditions encountered by Jacques Whitford at the time of the work, and at the specific testing and/or sampling locations, and can only be extrapolated to a limited extent around these locations. The extent depends on the variability of soil and groundwater conditions as influenced by geological processes, construction activities and site use. Should any conditions at the site be encountered which differ from those at the test locations, we require that we be notified immediately in order to permit reassessment of our findings.

We trust the above meets your present requirements. Should you require any further information please do not hesitate to contact us.

Yours very truly,

JACQUES WHITFORD LIMITED

malh

Christopher McGrath, P.Eng. Project Manager

7.22/+2

Fred J. Griffiths, Ph.D., P.Eng. Principal and Group Leader Geotechnical and Materials Engineering

P:\2007\1026929\Geotech\Reports\Report June 22, 2007.doc



ν.

18

ŝ





	1
	AN
_	
M	Jacques
	Whitford

JACQUES WHITFORD 2781 Lancaster Road, Suite 200 Ottawa, Ontario Canada, K1B 1A7

Bus: (613) 738-0708 Fax: (613) 738-0721

Engineering, Scientific, Planning and Management Consultants

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

DATE:	June 22, 2007		PROJECT N	O.: 1026929)
то:	Mattamy Homes – Ottawa Division 123 Huntmar Drive Ottawa, ON K2S 1B9		RE: F	Preliminary Geotech	nical Investigation
ATTN:	Matthew Kingstor	Ì			
WE ARE ⊠Draft R ∏Final R	SENDING YOU: Report Report	☐Attached ☐Copy of Letter ☐Prints	☐Under separate ☐Plans ☐Change Order	cover via: Samples Other:	Specifications

COPIES	DATE	NO.	DESCRIPTION
3	June 22, 2007	1026929	Preliminary Geotechnical Investigation Report
			Proposed Residential Subdivision
			Perth and Ottawa Streets
			Richmond Area – Ottawa, Ontario

THESE ITEMS ARE TRANSMITTED:

For Approval For Your Use

Approved as Submitted Approved as Noted

For Review and Comment As Requested Other

REMARKS:

SIGNED: Christine Fisher

COPY TO:

APPENDIX A

- Drawing No. 1 Key Plan
- Drawing No. 2 Test Hole Location Plan
- Drawing No. 3 Estimated Thickness of Clay Deposit
- Drawing No. 4 Inferred Depth to Bedrock
- Drawing No. 5 Stratigraphic Plot
- Drawing No. 6 Stratigraphic Plot







Jacques Whitford © 2007

PRINTED: Jun 22, 2007

P:\2007\1026929\Geotech\1026929-1.dwg

S o cer



Jacques Whitford © 2007

×



. .8



Jacques Whitford © 2007





• a ×
*:

-



APPENDIX B

Symbols and Terms Used on the Borehole Records Borehole and Test Pit Records



a G * 3•5

SYMBOLS AND TERMS USED ON BOREHOLE AND TEST PIT RECORDS

SOIL DESCRIPTION

Terminology describing common soil genesis:

Topsoil	 mixture of soil and humus capable of supporting vegetative growth
Peat	- mixture of visible and invisible fragments of decayed organic matter
Till	- unstratified glacial deposit which may range from clay to boulders
Fill	- material below the surface identified as placed by humans (excluding buried services)

Terminology describing soil structure:

Desiccated	- having visible signs of weathering by oxidization of clay minerals, shrinkage cracks, et					
Fissured	sured - having cracks, and hence a blocky structure					
Varved	 composed of regular alternating layers of silt and clay 					
Stratified	- composed of alternating successions of different soil types, e.g. silt and sand					
Layer	- > 75 mm in thickness					
Seam	- 2 mm to 75 mm in thickness					
Parting	- < 2 mm in thickness					

Terminology describing soil types:

The classification of soil types are made on the basis of grain size and plasticity in accordance with the Unified Soil Classification System (USCS) (ASTM D 2487 or D 2488). The classification excludes particles larger than 76 mm (3 inches). The USCS provides a group symbol (e.g. SM) and group name (e.g. silty sand) for identification.

Terminology describing cobbles, boulders, and non-matrix materials (organic matter or debris):

Terminology describing materials outside the USCS, (e.g. particles larger than 76 mm, visible organic matter, construction debris) is based upon the proportion of these materials present:

Trace, or occasional	Less than 10%
Some	10-20%
Frequent	> 20%

Terminology describing compactness of cohesionless soils:

The standard terminology to describe cohesionless soils includes compactness (formerly "relative density"), as determined by the Standard Penetration Test N-Value (also known as N-Index). A relationship between compactness condition and N-Value is shown in the following table.

Compactness Condition	SPT N-Value
Very Loose	<4
Loose	4-10
Compact	10-30
Dense	30-50
Very Dense	>50

Terminology describing consistency of cohesive soils:

The standard terminology to describe cohesive soils includes the consistency, which is based on undrained shear strength as measured by *in situ* vane tests, penetrometer tests, or unconfined compression tests.

Consistency	Undrained Shear Strength						
	kips/sq.ft.	kPa					
Very Soft	<0.25	<12.5					
Soft	0.25 - 0.5	12.5 - 25					
Firm	0.5 - 1.0	25 - 50					
Stiff	1.0 - 2.0	50 - 100					
Very Stiff	2.0 - 4.0	100 - 200					
Hard	>4.0	>200					



SYMBOLS AND TERMS USED ON BOREHOLE AND TEST PIT RECORDS - MARCH 2006

Page 1 of 3

ROCK DESCRIPTION

Terminology describing rock quality:

Rock Mass Quality			
Very Poor			
Poor			
Fair			
Good			
Excellent			

Rock quality classification is based on a modified core recovery percentage (RQD) in which all pieces of sound core over 100 mm long are counted as recovery. The smaller pieces are considered to be due to close shearing, jointing, faulting, or weathering in the rock mass and are not counted. RQD was originally intended to be done on NW core; however, it can be used on different core sizes if the bulk of the fractures caused by drilling stresses are easily distinguishable from *in situ* fractures. The terminology describing rock mass quality based on RQD is subjective and is underlain by the presumption that sound strong rock is of higher engineering value than fractured weak rock.

Terminology describing rock mass:

Spacing (mm)	Joint Classification	Bedding, Laminations, Bands
> 6000	Extremely Wide	
2000-6000	Very Wide	Very Thick
600-2000	Wide	Thick
200-600	Moderate	Medium
60-200	Close	Thin
20-60	Very Close	Very Thin
<20	Extremely Close	Laminated
<6		Thinly Laminated

Terminology describing rock strength:

Strength Classification	Unconfined Compressive Strength (MPa)
Extremely Weak	<1
Very Weak	1-5
Weak	5-25
Medium Strong	25 - 50
Strong	50 – 100
Very Strong	100 250
Extremely Strong	> 250

Terminology describing rock weathering:

Term	Description
Fresh	No visible signs of rock weathering. Slight discolouration along major discontinuities
Slightly Weathered	Discolouration indicates weathering of rock on discontinuity surfaces. All the rock material may be discoloured.
Moderately Weathered	Less than half the rock is decomposed and/or disintegrated into soil.
Highly Weathered	More than half the rock is decomposed and/or disintegrated into soil.
Completely Weathered	All the rock material is decomposed and/or disintegrated into soil. The original mass structure is still largely intact.



SYMBOLS AND TERMS USED ON BOREHOLE AND TEST PIT RECORDS - MARCH 2006





RECOVERY

For soil samples, the recovery is recorded as the length of the soil sample recovered. For rock core, recovery is defined as the total cumulative length of all core recovered in the core barrel divided by the length drilled and is recorded as a per run basis.

N-VALUE / RQD

Numbers in this column are the field results of the Standard Penetration Test: the number of blows of a 140 pound (64 kg) hammer falling 30 inches (760 mm), required to drive a 2 inch (50.8 mm) O.D. split spoon sampler one foot (305 mm) into the soil. For split spoon samples where insufficient penetration was achieved and N-values cannot be presented, the number of blows are reported over sampler penetration in millimetres (e.g. 50/75). Some design methods make use of N value corrected for various factors such as overburden pressure, energy ratio, borehole diameter, etc. No corrections have been applied to the N-values presented on the log. RQD is based on a modified core recovery percentage in which all pieces of sound core over 100 mm long are counted as recovery.

DYNAMIC CONE PENETRATION TEST (DCPT)

Dynamic cone penetration tests are performed using a standard 60 degree apex cone connected to A size drill rods with the same standard fall height and weight as the Standard Penetration Test. The DCPT value is the number of blows of the hammer required to drive the cone one foot (305 mm) into the soil. The DCPT is used as a probe to assess soil variability. Soil type may be inferred from adjacent boreholes and test pits.

OTHER TESTS

S	Sieve analysis
Н	Hydrometer analysis
k	Laboratory permeability
V	Unit weight
Gs	Specific gravity of soil particles
CD	Consolidated drained triaxial
си	Consolidated undrained triaxial with pore pressure measurements
UU	Unconsolidated undrained triaxial
DS	Direct Shear
С	Consolidation
Qu	Unconfined compression
lp	Point Load Index (I _p on Borehole Record equals I _p (50) in which the index is corrected to a reference diameter of 50 mm)

	Single packer permeability test; test interval from depth shown to bottom of borehole
	Double packer permeability test; test interval as indicated
Ŷ	Falling head permeability test using casing
T I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	Falling head permeability test using well point or piezometer



÷.

3

(ŧ

0

543

ко I.

	LIENT _	Mattamy Homes			_				BOREHO)LE No	MW07-1
	ATES. D	Proposed Subdivision, Richmor	1d, (DN			Ŧ		PROJECT	No	1026929
D.	ATES: B	WA'	TER	LEV	EL		Jun	e 20, 2	007 DATUM		Local
Ê	E Z		5	Ē		SA	AMPLES		UNDRAINED SHEA	R STRENGTH -	kPa
DEPTH (ELEVATION	SOIL DESCRIPTION	STRATA PL	WATER LEV	TYPE	NUMBER	RECOVERY (mm)	N-VALUE OR RQD	WATER CONTENT & ATTERBERG	LIMITS LOWS/0.3m	200 Vp w V H 0 +
	100 32		1-	\square		-			STANDARD PENETRATION TEST,	BLOWS/0.3m	•
- 0 -	100.2	150 mm TOPSOIL	10%	\square		-			10 20 30 40	50 60	70 80
		Firm to stiff, greyish brown lean CLAY (CL)			SS	1	300	4			
• 1 -				¥.	SS	2	610	5			
2 -				¥	SS	3	610	6 4			
3	97.3								1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 11111 11111 1111 1111 1111 1111 10111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 11111 1111		
i Nel Gar		Firm to stiff, grey lean CLAY			SS	4	610	3		1111 1111 1111 1111 1011	
4											
5					ST	5	610				
6								C			
1.1.1	93.8	Very loose, grey SANDY SILT			SS	6	610	2		ни, ини 1111 ини 1111 ини 1111 ини	1 1
7 -	2.	(ML)									
0		Monitoring Well Installed									
0											
9 -											

	Jac	cques itford]	E	ST]	PIT	RE	COR	2D		TP07-3	1 of 1
	LIENT	Mattamy Homes	_							BOREHOLE No	TP07-	3
L	OCATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmon	1d, ()N				_		PROJECT No	102692	29
D	ATES: BC	DRING June 16, 2007 WA	TER	LEV	EL	-				DATUM	Loca	L[
	Ê		-			SA	MPLES		UNDR	AINED SHEAR STRE	NGTH - kPa	
E T	NO		PLO	LEVE		~	2		50	100	150 2	00
EPT	/ATI	SOIL DESCRIPTION	ATA	TER	Ä	ABE	Э С	ALUE			W _P W	w
	ELEV		STR	WA ⁻	È	л И	Ű. Ű	N-V ORI	DYNAMIC PENETRA	TION TEST, BLOWS/0	3m *	
	. h		-						STANDARD PENETR	ATION TEST, BLOWS	/0.3m ●	. T
- 0 -	100.27		100			-			10 20 3	0 40 50	60 70 8) 90
ļ	100.0	230 mm TOPSOIL	4. 1									HHE
		Stiff, greyish brown lean CLAY										ШE
		(CL)		V								!!!!E
										ini ni hii		iiii‡
- 1 -					BS	1						
						_						
-												ÜÜ₽.
- 2 -									<u>ini nii nii</u>			
1 3					BS	2						
28 22												
	97.7									$\begin{array}{c}1111\\1111\\1111\\1111\\1111\\1111\\1111\\11$		
24		Firm, grey lean CLAY (CL)										
- 3 -					BS	3			<u>++++</u> @++++++	i liiliiilii ii		
(2) (2)					0.0							
-										1 1		
												:::E
- 4 -												iii-
1	96.1				BS	4						iii-
-		End of Borehole							1111 1111 1111			
-												出出
-												
- 5 -												μĘ,
												ШH
												iiiF!
6												ijĘ.
0				_	·l.		l		Field Vane Test	st. kPa		ш
	7	✓ Inferred Groundwater Level							□ Remoulded Va	ne Test, kPa	App'd	
		 Groundwater Level Measured in St 	andp	ipe					△ Pocket Penetro	meter Test, kPa	Date	

	W Jac	itford	BC)R	EH	OL	E RI	ECO	RD BH07-4
	LIENT	Mattamy Homes							BODEHOLE No. BH07-4
L	OCATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmo	ond, C	DN				_	PROJECT No. 1026929
Г	ATES: BO	DRING W	ATER	LEV	EL		_		DATUM Local
2	(E)		5	E		SA	MPLES		UNDRAINED SHEAR STRENGTH - kPa
Ц (ц	NOL		A PLC	C LEV		ж	ERY	щО	
DEPT	EVAT	SOL DESCRIPTION	RAT/	ATER	IYPE	JMBI	NO NO N	VALL RQI	WP W WL WATER CONTENT & ATTERBERG LIMITS
	EL		ST	3		Ĩ	REC (żÖ	DYNAMIC PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m
- 0 -									10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90
U		Borehole was not drilled							
- 1 -						ļ			
- 2 -									
- 3 -									
- 4 -									
- 5 -									
1									
- 6 -								ł	
- 10									
2000									
- 7 -								ł	
5 7 5									
- 8 -								-	
10									
9 -								F	
-10 -									Field Vane Test, kPa
		☑ Inferred Groundwater Level	~						Remoulded Vane Test, kPa App'd
	-	Groundwater Level Measured in	Standp	ipe					△ Pocket Penetrometer Test, kPa Date

มพาคาปม 1020325.3PJ Simari .0DT 07/บซ่าย

	W Jac	ques tford	Т	'ES	ST I	PIT	RE	COR	D TP07-5
C	LIENT	Mattamy Homes							BOREHOLE No
L	OCATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmor	nd, C	N					PROJECT No. <u>1026929</u>
D	ATES: BC	DRINGJune 16, 2007 WA	TER	LEV	EL				— DATUM <u>Local</u>
(m)	(m) N		LOT	EVEL		SA	MPLES	1	UNDRAINED SHEAR STRENGTH - kPa 50 100 150 200
DEPTH	ELEVATIC	SOIL DESCRIPTION	STRATA I	WATER L	ТҮРЕ	NUMBER	RECOVER (mm)	N-VALUE OR RQD	WP W WL WATER CONTENT & ATTERBERG LIMITS HOUSE DYNAMIC PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m
	100.11			Ħ					STANDARD PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m ● 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90
- 0 -	00.0	250 mm TOPSOIL	A.1.	Π	BS	1			1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
all. Area a Aliana ana	99.9	Stiff, greyish brown lean CLAY (CL)		Ā					
					BS	2			
									1 1
- 2 -	98.1				BS	3			
		Firm, grey lean CLAY (CL)			BS	4			
- 3 -									
4									11 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
					BS	5			1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
- 4 -	05.0				BS	6			
	93.9	End of Borehole							
- 5 -									
- 6 -		 	i Standj	pipe					 □ Field Vane Test, kPa □ Remoulded Vane Test, kPa App'd △ Pocket Penetrometer Test, kPa Date

	W Jac	cques tford	Т	E	ST I	PIT	RE	COR	D TP07-6
CI	LIENT	Mattamy Homes							BOREHOLE No
LO	OCATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmo	nd, C)N					PROJECT No1026929
D.	ATES: BC	DRING June 16, 2007 WA	TER	LEV	EL.				DATUM Local
()	(E		5	Ē		SA	MPLES		UNDRAINED SHEAR STRENGTH - kPa
u) H	ION	SOIL DESCRIPTION	A PL	S LE		н	ERY	병요	
DEPI	EVA		RAT	ATE	ТҮРЕ	UMB	N U U U U U	VALI R RQ	WATER CONTENT & ATTERBERG LIMITS
	E		SI	3		z	R	żΟ	DYNAMIC PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m
	99.85								10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90
- 0 -	00.6	250 mm TOPSOIL	<u></u>						
	99.0	Compact to dense, brown and	ĪĪĪ						
4 J		grey SANDY SILT (ML)							
1				∇	BS	1			
				Ť					
- 1-							0		
-					BS	2			
									1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
	97.9								
- 2 -		Firm, grey lean CLAY (CL)	1						
					BS	3			
									im 09 00 m mi in in m m m
ļ									
-									
- 3 -					BS	4			
					0.0	-			
									1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
- 4 -									
	95.6				BS	5			
_		End of Borehole							
- 5 -									
-									
- 6 -									
		V Informed Course Inc. I							□ Field Vane Test, kPa
		 Interred Groundwater Level Groundwater Level Measured in 	Stand	pipe					L Remoulded Vane Test, kPa App'd △ Pocket Penetrometer Test kPa Date
				r-1-0					- i Jokot i onoti ometer i est, ki a Date

ייעער-טבט 10בטטבי:אט אוייער 10בטטבי:10 10בטטבי

• | 10

×

	W Jac	xques Itford	T	E	ST I	PIT	RE	COR	D TP07-11
c	LIENT	Mattamy Homes							BOREHOLE No TP07-11
L	OCATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmon	d, ()N		_			PROJECT No1026929
	ATES: BO	DRING June 16, 2007 WAT	rer T		EL				DATUM Local
Ê	E Z		5	ЧЕГ		SA I	MPLES		UNDRAINED SHEAR STRENGTH - kPa 50 100 150 200
TH (10IT	SOIL DESCRIPTION	TA PL	ER LE	ш	BER	VERY	Щ	<u> </u>
DEF	ILEVA		TRA	VATE	ТҮР	MUN	ECO ECO	4-VAI DR R(
	ш			Ĺ			~	20	STANDARD PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m
- 0 -	99.89	250 mm TODSOU	NE		T				10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90
	99.6	250 mm TOPSOIL	4. 5						
23 23		Stiff, brown and grey lean CLAY (CL)			BS	1			
				Į₽					
						× 1			
- 1 -					PS	2			<u> </u>
					DS	2			
- 2 -					BS	3	5		
									1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
- 									1101 1111 I P IE 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 <u>1111 </u>
-									
	96.9				BS	4			
- 3 -		Firm, grey lean CLAY (CL)							<u>,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,</u>
								1	1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
					DC	_			1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
	96.2	End of Borehole			BS	5			·····································
- 1 -									
1									
-		.*							
									[1,1,1] = [1,1] = [1
-							l.		
- 5 -									
5									
1									
			1						
- 6 -									
		V Informal Ground to 1							Field Vane Test, kPa
		 Interred Groundwater Level Groundwater Level Measured in St 	and	pipe					L Remoulded Vane Test, kPa App'd △ Pocket Penetrometer Test, kPa Date
				- r *					· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

CL	IENT	Mattamy Homes Proposed Subdivision Richm	ond C	N					BOREHOLE No. TP07-
DA	TES: BC	DRING V	VATER	LEV	EL				— PROJECT № 10269 DATUM Loca
	Ê					SA	MPLES		UNDRAINED SHEAR STRENGTH - kPa
Ê	²⁾ NO		PLO'	LEVE		~	≿		50 100 150 2
EPTH	VATIO	SOIL DESCRIPTION	ATA	TER	ΥPE	MBE	n) EF	ALUE	
	ELEY		STR	WA	F	Z	REC (n	N N N	DYNAMIC PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m
				-				•	- STANDARD PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m
0 +		Test pit was not excavated							
9.4									
9)									TITE FEE TEE CONTRACTOR FEED FEED FEED FEED FEED FEED
12									
-									
²]									
									$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
-									
3									
					1				
200 24									1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
5									
4 -									
-									
1									
1.1									$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
									$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
5									$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
1) (1)									
•									
-									
6									

.

J	Jac	eques tford	BC)R	EH	OL	ER	ECO	RD	В	H07-	1 of 21	1
	LIENT DCATION ATES: BC	Mattamy Homes Proposed Subdivision, Richmon DRING June 15, 2007 WA	id, C)N LEV	EL-]]	BOREHOLE No. PROJECT No	BE 10 I	107-21 26929 .ocal	
-	Ê				L	SA	MPLES		UNDRAIN	NED SHEAR STREM	IGTH - kPa		-
DEPTH (m)	ELEVATION	SOIL DESCRIPTION	STRATA PLC	WATER LEVI	TYPE	NUMBER	RECOVERY (mm)	N-VALUE OR RQD	50 WATER CONTENT & AT DYNAMIC PENETRATIC	TTERBERG LIMITS	150 	200 W WL	
0	98.99								10 20 30	40 50	60 70	80 9	ю
	98.7	Loose brown sandy silt, some gravel, occasional cobbles: FILL Firm to stiff, gravish brown lean			SS	1	100	13					
1		CLAY (CL)			SS	2	280	9		111 111 111 111 111 PIII		111 1111 111 11P74	
2					SS	3	610	5					
The second second					ST	4	620						L.L.L.
3													LI LI LI
4	95.2	Compact, grey SANDY SILT		Ā									
		(ML)			55	5	150						L L L L L L
5 -	93.7				SS	6	360	12		111 111 111 111 111 111 111 1111 111 111 111 1111			11111
5 -		End of Borehole Auger Refusal on Inferred											1 1 1 1 1 1
1. Constant		Bedrock											1111111
7										1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1			11.1.1.1
8										111 1111 1111 111 1111 1111 111 1111 1			The second
Dereilleren													TTTT TTTT
and the set													
D		 ✓ Inferred Groundwater Level ✓ Groundwater Level Measured in S 	tand			L	I		 Field Vane Test Remoulded Van Pocket Penetror 	t, kPa ne Test, kPa neter Test kPa	App'd _		

CLIENT Mattamy Homes BORFHOLE No. TP07-22 DATES: BORDA June 15, 2007 WATER LIVEL DATES: PROJECT No. TD26529 DATES: BORDA June 15, 2007 WATER LIVEL DATES: Solutions of the second of th		Jac	aues tford	Т	E:	ST I	PIT	RE(COR	RD TP07-22 ^{1 of 1}
LOCATION: Dropased Subdivision, Richmond, ON. PROJECT No. 1026020 DATES: BORING June 15, 2007 WATER LEVEL DATUM Local Image: Solid DESORPTION Image: Solid DESORPTIO	CI	LIENT	Mattamy Homes							BOREHOLE No. <u>TP07-22</u>
DATES: BORINGJUIE 15, 2007WATER LEVEL	LC	CATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmon	<u>id, C</u>	<u>)</u> N					PROJECT No1026929
Soll DESCRIPTION Soll DESCRIPTION<	D	ATES: BO	RING June 15, 2007 WA?	TER I		EL				DATUM Local
End SOIL DESCRIPTION Ref Ref <td>- -</td> <td>Ê.</td> <td>I</td> <td>6</td> <td>μ</td> <td></td> <td>SA</td> <td>MPLES</td> <td></td> <td>UNDRAINED SHEAR STRENGTH - kPa 50 100 150 200</td>	- -	Ê.	I	6	μ		SA	MPLES		UNDRAINED SHEAR STRENGTH - kPa 50 100 150 200
55 50 60 70 80 90 20 00 20 00 <th< td=""><td>LH (n</td><td>NOL</td><td>SOIL DESCRIPTION</td><td>APL</td><td>R LE</td><td></td><td>ER</td><td>ERY</td><td>ЧŖ</td><td></td></th<>	LH (n	NOL	SOIL DESCRIPTION	APL	R LE		ER	ERY	ЧŖ	
-0 99.23 -0 -0 -0 0 200 mm TOPSOII. -0 -0 0 200 mm TOPSOII. -0 -0 0 </td <td>DEP⁻</td> <td>EVA.</td> <td></td> <td>TRAT</td> <td>VATE</td> <td>IΠΥΓ</td> <td>UME</td> <td>M L CO L CO L CO</td> <td>-VAL JR RC</td> <td>WATER CONTENT & ATTERBERG LIMITS</td>	DEP ⁻	EVA.		TRAT	VATE	IΠΥΓ	UME	M L CO L CO L CO	-VAL JR RC	WATER CONTENT & ATTERBERG LIMITS
-0 99.23 -0 10 20 50 60 70 80 90 90.0 200 mm TOPSOIL 95 1 10		ü		S	5		z	B.	żυ	DYNAMIC PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0,3m STANDARD PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m
90.0 200 mm TOPSOIL 100 mm TOPSOIL Stiff, greyish brown lean CLAY BS 1 BS 2 1 BS 3 1 BS 3 1 BS 3 1 BS 3 1 BS 4 1 97.0 Dense, grey SANDY SILT (ML) 1 BS 4 1 95.2 End of Borehole 1 BS 6 1 95.2 End of Borehole 1 F Field Vane Test, kPa 0	- 0 -	99.23								10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90
Stiff, greyish brown lean CLAY (CL) BS 2 BS 3 97.0 Dense, grey SANDY SILT (ML) BS 4 95.2 End of Borehole - 5 - 5 - 6 - 7 - 7 - 7 - 7 - 7 - 7 - 7 - 7		99.0	200 mm TOPSOIL	177		BS	1			
-1 BS 2 0 -2 97.0 BS 3 -3 0 0 -3 0 0 -4 95.2 0 -5 0 0 -6 0 0 -7 0 0 -7 0 0 -3 0 0 -3 0 0 -4 95.2 0 -5 0 0 -6 0 0 -7 0 0 -7 0 0 -7 0 0 -7 0 0 -7 0 0 -7 0 0 -7 0 0 -7 0 0 -7 0 0 -7 0 0 -7 0 0 -7 0 0 -7 0 0 -7 0 0 -7			Stiff, greyish brown lean CLAY							
- 1 - 1 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 3 - 4 - 5 - 5 - 5 - 5 - 5 - 5 - 6 - 7 - 7 - 7 - 7 - 7 - 7 - 7 - 7	- 1					BS	2			
-1 97.0 BS 3 0	-		1				-			
-2 97.0 -3 95.2 -4 95.2 -5 95.2 -6	- 1 -		1							
-2 97.0 Dense, grey SANDY SILT (ML) -3 BS 4 -3 BS 5 -4 95.2 End of Borehole BS -5 Field Vane Test, kPa -6 Y -7 Field Vane Test, kPa -6 Y			I			_				
-2 97.0 Dense, grey SANDY SILT (ML) -3 B8 4 -3 B8 5 -4 95.2 -5 B8 6 -6 V -7 Inferred Groundwater Level			I			BS	3			
-2 97.0 Property SANDY SILT (ML) BS 4 Property SANDY SILT (ML) -3 BS 5 BS 6 Property SANDY SILT (ML) Property SANDY SILT (ML) -3 BS 5 BS 6 Property SANDY SILT (ML) Property SANDY SILT (ML) -3 BS 5 Property SANDY SILT (ML) Property SANDY SILT (ML) Property SANDY SILT (ML) -3 BS 5 Property SANDY SILT (ML) Property SANDY SILT (ML) Property SANDY SILT (ML) -3 BS 5 Property SANDY SILT (ML) Property SANDY SILT (ML) Property SANDY SILT (ML) -3 BS 5 Property SANDY SILT (ML) Property SANDY SILT (ML) Property SANDY SILT (ML) BS 5 BS 6 Property SANDY SILT (ML) Property SANDY SILT (ML) Property SANDY SILT (ML) BS 5 BS 6 Property SANDY SILT (ML) Property SANDY SILT (ML) Property SANDY SILT (ML) BS 6 BS 6 Property SANDY SILT (ML) Property SANDY SILT (ML) Property SANDY SILT (ML) -4 Property SANDY SILT (ML) Property SANDY SILT (ML) Property SANDY SILT (ML) Property SANDY SILT (ML) -5 End of Borehole Property SANDY SILT (ML) Property SAN			I							
- 2 97.0 97.0 0	-		I							
97.0 97.0 97.0 95.2 95.2 End of Borehole 5 6 7 9 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	- 2 -				₽					
-3 -3 -3 -3 -4 95.2 End of Borehole -4 -5 -5 -6 -7 -7 -		97.0	Dense grev SANDY SILT (ML)			DC				
-3 -3 -4 95.2 End of Borehole -5 -6 ✓ Inferred Groundwater Level ✓ Inferred Groundwater Level			Dense, grey brand i bibli (hib)	: .].;		B2	4			
- 3 - 3 - 4 - 95.2 - 4 - 5 - 6 - 6 - 7 - 6 - 7 - 7 - 8 - 8 - 95.2 - 95			I							
- 3 - 4 - 95.2 - 4 - 5 - 6 - 7 - 6 - 7 - 7 - 6 - 7 - 7 - 7 - 7 - 7 - 7 - 7 - 7			I							
-4 -95.2 BS 6 -5 - -6 - -7 Inferred Groundwater Level -6 - -7 Field Vane Test, kPa -6 - -7 - <td>- 3 -</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>BS</td> <td>5</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	- 3 -					BS	5			
= 4 $= 5$ $= 6$			I						-	
= 4 $= 5$ $= 6$			I							
-4 95.2 End of Borehole -5 -6 -7 -6 ✓ Field Vane Test, kPa -6 ✓ Remoulded Vane Test, kPa	-		l			BS	6			
4 93.2 End of Borehole 1111 </td <td></td> <td>05.2</td> <td>1</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>		05.2	1							
 5 6 ✓ Inferred Groundwater Level ✓ Inferred Groundwater Level ✓ Remoulded Vane Test, kPa App'd 	- 4 -	95.2	End of Borehole	1111	\vdash					
 5 6 	200		1							
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	14 H		I							
$ \begin{array}{c} -5 \\ -6 \\ \hline & \hline$			1							
5 Image: Solution of the second			1							
6	13		I							<u>1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 -</u>
6										
6 □ Field Vane Test, kPa □ Remoulded Vane Test, kPa	5.3									
6 □ Field Vane Test, kPa □ Remoulded Vane Test, kPa □ Remoulded Vane Test, kPa										1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
♥ Inferred Groundwater Level ♥ Inferred Groundwater Level ♥ Remoulded Vane Test, kPa □ Remoulded Vane Test, kPa										
✓ Inferred Groundwater Level □ Remoulded Vane Test, kPa App'd	0									Field Vane Test, kPa
Groundwater Level Measured in Standnine			 ✓ Inferred Groundwater Level ✓ Groundwater Level Measured in 5 	Stand	inin	e				Remoulded Vane Test, kPa App'd A Pocket Penetrometer Test, kPa Date

Whitford

TEST PIT RECORD

TP07-23

BOREHOLE No. TP07-23

PROJECT No. 1026929

1 of 1

CLIENT <u>Mattamy Homes</u>

LOCATION Proposed Subdivision, Richmond, ON

DATES BORING June 15, 2007 WATED LEVEL

D	ATES: BO	DRING June 15, 2007 WAT	TER	LEV	EL									I	DAT	ΓUN	1		-	_	\underline{L}	oca	1	
	Ê		-			SA	MPLES					ι	INDF	RAIN	IED	SH	EAR	STRE	ENG	τн -	kPa			
Ē	z		0	EVE			7					50				100			15	0		2	200	
TH	ATIC	SOIL DESCRIPTION	T	L L L	щ	BER	VER د	9Ľ				N)								v	Vp	w	1 Wi	
DEI	-EV,		IRA	IE	Τ	N N	U CO	R R	V V	VATE	RCC	ONTE	ENT	& AT	TEF	RBEF	RG L	IMITS		- 1		-0-	<u> </u>	
	Ξ		l,v	5		Z	RE	żО		YNA	MICI	PEN	ETR	ATIC	N T	EST	, BLC	DWS/0).3m			7	r	
	00.36										DARI	D PE	NET	RAT	ION	TES	эт, в	LOWS	5/0.3r	n	-		•	00
- 0 -	<u> </u>	200 mm TOPSOIL	<u>\.</u>		1	-			10		111		111	30 T	11	40 111	3		60	111		8	0	90
	99.2	Vom stiff anovish harman har	in						liii	i li	iii	li.	iii	1	Шi	lii	ii.	111	i i	iii	hi	ii	iii	iĘ.
		CLAY (CL)			BS	1			111	111	Ш	li.		10	Н	Н	i.		111			11		łŁ
				∇		-				11					Н	18	IT		11	111		11	111	1
-									iii	i i	111	1	iii	lü	ij	11	İİ	liii	<u>i li</u>	<u>iii</u>	111	ii.	iii	iF'
					BS	2		1	111	ili		j.	ш	11	11	中门		iii	ili	Ш	H	ii.	Ш	it.
- 1 -						-				$\frac{1}{1}$		1		H	11		$\frac{11}{11}$		$\frac{1}{1}$		HH	++	111	
									111	1 I	111	li	ĤÌ		11	H	ij.	Шİ	ili	<u>iii</u>	11	ij.	iii	it (
									liii	11i	iii	li	iii	lii	ij	lii	ii	iii	ili	Ш	lii	ü	iii	it i
Î												H				H			뷥					¦Η
							Î			11				11			11		11	111	11	11		I E
					BS	3			1iii	ijį	<u>iii</u>	Įį.	i II	lij	ij	lij	ij	iii	ili	ш	hi	ij.	iii	it i
- 2 -						_			HH	ili	$\frac{111}{111}$	Ħ	ΗŤ	H	÷	H	Η Π	111	ili		₩	++	$\frac{111}{111}$	
-											111	1										11		1
-	06.0								111	11	111	1		1 i	11	1ŭ	ii	Шi	ili	i i i	lii	ij.	ЦÌ.	
	20.2	Compact to dense, grey and	111						liii	ili	iii	li	iii	lii	ij	lii	ii	iii	i li	III	lii	ii	ili	-
		brown SANDY SILT (ML)			BS	4															HI			F.
-																	出		11					
- 3 -					BS	5			iii	iti	iii	t	H	H	Ħ	ti	ii	tii	ili	Ħ	H	<u>ii</u>	iii	H-
						5			ili		Ш	h	Цį,	li	ii.	ii	Ш	iii	i i		11	Ш		i F i
															11									Ē
										11			Ц		H.	11			I I		11	Ц	111	F
					BS	6			Ιij	ili	iii	lij	ij.	lii	ij.	ii	ii	iii	ili	iii	lii	ij	ΠÌ	- 1
	95.4								liii	lli	ш	18	Ш	lii	ii.	11	Ш				HI.		H	-
4 -		Dense, grey sandy silt, trace									+++ 				++	11		+++			H	H	++++	T.
1	95.1	gravel, occasional cobbles: TILL			BS	7					111	11	11	11	11		11	111	i i		11		111	-
		(ML)							iii	ili	iii	ii	ii	ii	ii	11	11	iii	ili	111	ii	ii.	1111	-
		End of Borenole							111	ili			11		Ш									F
1		Refusal on Inferred Bedrock											11	11			Ш					H.	1111	El
									111	ili	ij	1 <u>ii</u>	ij.	ij	ij	ii	<u>ii</u>	ij.	i li	ij	U.	ii	iii	F
5									111	ili	111	11	11	11	11	11	11	111			11		1111	FI
1																11								-
. 3												11	11		11	11					11	11	Шİ	- [
										í li		10	11		ii	ij.		Πh					HH	, i
1																							HĤ	E
																11		111	1					-1
0									0	Fie	eld V	Van	e T	est.	kP	a								Π
		☑ Inferred Groundwater Level								Re	moi	ulde	ed V	/an	e Te	est,	kPa	a	A	pp'd	I			
		Groundwater Level Measured in St	andr	oipe					Δ	Po	cke	t Pe	net	rom	ete	r T	est,	kPa	D	ate	_			

	W Ja	cques	 '1	CF.	ST	ртт	RF	COE	TD TD 7.24
	LIENT	Mattamy Homes						COP	IP0/-24
L	OCATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmon	nd, (ON					BOREHOLE No. <u>1P07-24</u>
D	ATES: BO	DRINGJune 15, 2007 WA	TER	LEV	EL				DATUM Local
	(E		F			SA	MPLES		UNDRAINED SHEAR STRENGTH - kPa
L (m)	NO		PLC	LEVE		~	RY	ш _о	50 100 150 200
DEPT	EVAT	SOIL DESCRIPTION	SATA	ATER	ΥPE	MBE	n (OVE	RQE	
	ELE		STI	Ň	-	Z	REC	Q ² /N	DYNAMIC PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m
	99.94								STANDARD PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m
	99.7	200 mm TOPSOIL	11		BS	1			
		Very stiff to stiff, greyish brown			BS	2			
		lean CLAY (CL)		Ā					
- 1 -					BS	3			111 HIL HIL III II 4 III III III III III
- 2 -									
					BS	4			<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>
-	07.4								
	97.4	Firm, grey lean CLAY (CL)							
-									
- 3 -	96.9				BS	5			
	06.6	Compact to dense, grey SANDY SILT (ML)	·						
	90.0	Dense, grey sandy silt, trace			BS	6			
1		gravel, occasional cobbles: TILL							
		(ML)			BS	7			
- 4 -									
	05.6				BS	8			
2	95.0	End of Borehole	111		50	-			
		Refusal on Informed Deducate							
4		Kerusar on mierred Bedrock							
- 5 -									
-									
- 6 +									
		Inferred Groundwater I1							Field Vane Test, kPa
		Groundwater Level Measured in Sta	ando	ipe					Remoulded Vane Test, kPa App'd App'd Det
				-r·•					- rocket renetrometer lest, kPa Date

DT 07

3PJ (

11 JI

LI	ENT	Mattamy Homes	1.0						BOREHOLE No
.00	CATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmon	<u>id, (</u>	<u>)N</u>			Tue	- 20 - 20	PROJECT №1026929_
T	TES: BO	WA	TER.		EL		Jun	<u>e 20, 20</u>	DATUM Local
L	(E)		5	Ē		SA	MPLES		UNDRAINED SHEAR STRENGTH - kPa 50 100 150 200
	10 10	SOIL DESCRIPTION	A PL	SLEY		н	ERY	۳ <u>e</u>	
	EVA		RAT	ATEI	TYPE	JMB		VAL! R RC	WATER CONTENT & ATTERBERG LIMITS
	Ē		ST	3		Ī	RE	żō	DYNAMIC PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m
Γ	98.72								10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80
	98.5	_200 mm TOPSOIL	<u>N.F.</u>						
		Firm to stiff, greyish brown lean			SS	1	320	19	
		CLAY (CL)			-				
				Ţ	SS	2	610	8	<u> </u>
						-			
					00	2	(10	7	
					22	3	010		
	95.7			Ā					
		Loose to compact, SANDY SILT			SS	4	610	14	
		(WIL)				Ŀ	010		
					SS	5	450	7	
	+				-				
┝	93.9	Find of Doroholo	111		SS	6	150	50/	
		End of Borchoic						50 1111	
		Auger Refusal on Inferred							
		Bedrock							
		Monitoring Well Installed							
							10		
									 Field Vane Test, kPa
		$\overline{\underline{\nabla}}$ Inferred Groundwater Level							□ Remoulded Vane Test, kPa App'd
1		Groundwater Level Measured in S	tand	nine					△ Pocket Penetrometer Test kPa Date

	Jac Whi	ques tford	T	E	ST 1	PIT	RE	COR	D TP07-26
	LIENT	Mattamy Homes							BOREHOLE No. $TP07-26$
LC	OCATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmon	d, ()N			_		PROJECT No1026929
D	ATES: BC	DRINGJune 15, 2007 WAT	ΓER	LEV	'EL		_		DATUM Local
	(m		F			SA	MPLES		UNDRAINED SHEAR STRENGTH - KPa
Ű T	N O		PLO	LEV		~	RY	що	
DEPTI	VAT	SOIL DESCRIPTION	VATA	VTER	ΥPE	MBE		/ALU RQI	WP W WL WATER CONTENT & ATTERBERG LIMITS
	ELE		STF	Ň	-	۲	REC	2-20	DYNAMIC PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m
	00.46			-					STANDARD PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m
- 0 -	00.2	200 mm TOPSOIL	NOZ.	-	1	-			
19 19	99.3	Very stiff to stiff, greyish brown	11						
		lean CLAY (CL)			BS	1			
(4) (1)						-			
1				Σ	BS	2			
2± 1+						-			
- 2 -					BS	3		·	
, é					100	5			
 									1111 IIII IIII IIII IIII IIII IIII III
					BC	4			
	96.6				0.0	4			
- 3 -		Dense, grey SANDY SILT (ML)							
					DC	5			
					0.0	5			
- 4 -	95.5	Dense, grey sandy silt trace			DC				
4		gravel, occasional cobbles: TILL	leff		DS	0			
	95.1	_(ML) End of Boreholo							
		FUR OF DOLEHOLE							
		Refusal on Inferred Bedrock							
- 5 -									
1									
8									
6									
									Field Vane Test, kPa Removaled Vane Test kPa
		Groundwater Level Measured in S	tand	pipe	:				△ Pocket Penetrometer Test, kPa Date

L)	IENT	Mattamy Homes							BORFHOLE No. BH07-2										
0	CATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmon	d, C)N					BOREHOLE NO D107-2										
A	TES: BC	RING June 15, 2007 WAT	ΓER	LEV	EL.				DATUM Local										
Γ	Ê		1	Π		SA	MPLES		UNDRAINED SHEAR STRENGTH - kPa										
	Ľ Z		Image: Second se	VEL					50 100 150 20										
l	OIT	SOIL DESCRIPTION	I > P	ER LE	Ψ	BER	VER)	ы Ч	We W										
	EVA		R	/ATE	₹	M	Û L	R R(WATER CONTENT & ATTERBERG LIMITS										
			S	5		Z	R R	zo	DYNAMIC PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m										
	99.64								10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80										
		Stiff to very stiff, greyish brown	11																
		lean CLAY (CL)			SS		280	8											
					SS	2	30	8	$\frac{1}{1} \frac{1}{1}						_				
-	97.3	Compact brown SANDY SILT		Ť			1-21. (
		(ML)		1	SS	3	320	13	1111 ω 11 ΙΙΦ 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111										
					66		250	10											
	96.0				66	4	330	10											
		End of Borehole																	
		Auger Refusal on Inferred	-8																
		Bedrock																	
			6																
			b																
	· · · ·																		

	W Jac	aques itford	BC	DR	EH	οι	E R	ECO	RD BH07-28
C C	LIENT	Mattamy Homes						200	Dirov-20
L	OCATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmon	d, (DN					$= BOREHOLE N_0. BH07-28$ $= PROJECT N_0 1026929$
D	ATES: BO	DRINGJune 15, 2007 WAT	TER	LEV	EL	_	_		DATUM Local
	Ê		E			SA	MPLES		UNDRAINED SHEAR STRENGTH - kPa
L (E)	NO		V PLC	LEVI		R.	R	Ш _Ш О	50 100 150 200
DEPT	EVAT	SUIL DESCRIPTION	RATA	ATER	ΥPE	MBE	E OVE	ALU	
	EL		ST	Š	-	ž	REC E	1 Z B	DYNAMIC PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m
	100.04								STANDARD PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90
	99.9	100 mm TOPSOIL	ĬŤ		00		1.50	-	
20 20 20 20		Compact, greyish brown SANDY SILT (ML)			22	1	150	/	
					SS	2	420	29	1111 1111 119 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
			•••••••			_			
- 2 -				Ā	SS	3	520	26	
-	97.8	Compact house OIL TV CANTS	Щ		-				
		(SM)			SS	4	500	27	1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
- 3 -	97.0								
		Compact, grey SILTY SAND			SS	5	420	25	
	06.2					5	+20	25	
- 4 -	90.2	End of Borehole	11.1		SS	_	_100_	50/ 0 mm	
		Auger Refusal on Inferred						• mm	
-		Bedrock							
- 5 -									
- 6 -									1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
- 7 -									
- 8 -									
									111 11 1111
- 9 -									
_									
-10-				_[]					Field Vane Test kPa
		☑ Inferred Groundwater Level							Remoulded Vane Test, kPa App'd
		Groundwater Level Measured in Sta	ndp	ipe					△ Pocket Penetrometer Test, kPa Date

DT 07

S LAE

)LD 1(

IENT	Mattamy Homes							B0	OREHOLE No.	TPO	7-29
CATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmor	nd, C)N_					PI	ROJECT No	102	5929
TES: B	ORINGJUNE 15, 2007 WA	TER		EL				D.	ATUM	Lc	
Ē		5			SA	MPLES		UNDRAINE	D SHEAR STREN	3TH - kPa	200
NO		PLO	E		2	Ϋ́	<u>۳</u> 0			+	<u> </u>
VAT	SOIL DESCRIPTION	ATA	TER	ΥPE	MBE	NO E	RQI	WATER CONTENT & ATT	ERBERG LIMITS	₩ _₽	w w∟ ⊖ 1
ELE		STR	Ň	H	2 Z	L L L	2 Z	DYNAMIC PENETRATION	I TEST, BLOWS/0.3r	n	*
		-						STANDARD PENETRATIC	ON TEST, BLOWS/0.	.3m	•
99.04		1315			·			10 20 30	40 50 6	0 70	80
98.8	200 mm TOPSOIL	4.7									
	Very stiff to stiff, greyish brown			DC	1						
	lean CLAY (CL)		Ā	82	1					<u>iiiiiii</u>	iiliii
											답답
				DG							
				BS	2					41111	ii liii
								iiii iiii iiii ii		iiiiiii	
											H H
										iiiilii	ii iii
				BS	3			····			
96.8	Dense grev SANDY SILT (ML)			DD	5	_					$\begin{array}{c c} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 \end{array}$
				BS	4					<u>iiiiii</u>	ЦЩ
	-										
96.0											
	Dense, grey sandy silt, trace			BS	5					1111111	
	gravel, occasional cobbles: TILL	4									
	(ML)	1							i ini hiri	iiiilii	iliii
				70							
95.2	End of Devel 1			BS	6				1	1111111	
	End of Borenole										
	Refusal on Inferred Bedrock									iiii ii	ilii
								1111 1111 1111 111			
											alii
										iiii ii	ilii
								+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++			i li li
								1111 1111 1111 111		iiiiiii	iliii
		r 1							3 T 2 2 3 4 T 2 3 4 5 T	ASS 11 141	

V	W Jac Whi	ques tford MON		[0]	RIN	G	WE]	LL R	ECORD MW07-30
CI	LIENT	Mattamy Homes	_						BOREHOLE No. MW07-30
L	OCATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmon	d, ()N					PROJECT No. 1026929
D	ATES: BO	RING June 14, 2007 WAT	ER	LEV	EL		Jun	e 20, 20	DO7 DATUM Local
	(iii)		Ŀ	-		SA	MPLES		UNDRAINED SHEAR STRENGTH - kPa
(m) H	NO		PLO	LEVI		~	R	ш.	
EPTI	VATI	SOIL DESCRIPTION	WTA	TER	γPE	MBE	m (m	RQI	WP W WL WATER CONTENT & ATTERBERG LIMITS H
Ω	E		STF	X	H	2	E C C	2-2	DYNAMIC PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m
	00.53								STANDARD PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m
- 0 -	<u>99.52</u> 99.4	-150 mm TOPSOIL	316	\square		_			
		Firm to stiff, greyish brown lean			SS	1	100	13	1111 •11 111001111 1111 1111 1111 1111
		CLAY (CL)							
-1-					SS	2	500	7	
1				Ŧ					
- 2 -	97.5	Compact brown to grou SANDY	44						
		SILT (ML)							
70 - T					SS	3	320	13	
- 3 -									
				V	92	л	420	17	
					66	4	420	17	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
- 4 -	95.6	End of Douch als	111		SS	_5_	150	50/	
		End of Borenoie						100 mn	
1		Auger Refusal on Inferred							
F		Bedrock							1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
2		Monitoring Well Installed							
10									
- 6 -									
197 197									
- 7 -									
K.									
- 8 -									
		÷.							
- 9 -									
-									
-10-									
		☑ Inferred Groundwater Loval							Field Vane Test, kPa Removed ad Vane Test, hPa
		 Groundwater Level Measured in S 	tand	pipe					△ Pocket Penetrometer Test kPa Date

JWL-OLD 1UZ5923.GPJ SMARI.GDT 011U5/22

4		itford	Ί	'E	ST I	211	RE	COR	U)]	ΓP	07	'-3	51			
L	ENT	Mattamy Homes		_								_		_	BC	ORE	ЕНО	LE	No			TP(07.	.31	L	_
0	CATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmon	nd, ()N										_	PR	OJ	ECT	'N	0		1	102	269	29)	
A	TES: BC	DRING June 15, 2007 WA	TER	LEV	EL					_		-			DA	٩T	Л					L	002	aL_	_	
	Ê					SA	MPLES		Г				UN	IDR.	AINE	DS	HEAI	R S	TRE	NGT	'H - k	<pa< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>1</td></pa<>				1
) N		101	EVE			≿		L				50			10	0	_		150)			200)	
	ATIC	SOIL DESCRIPTION	T	ER L	붠	1BER	S CER	B LL								1					w	þ	w	193	w	Ĺ
	ILEV		TRA	VAT	≽	l ≥	ы П П П П П П П П П П	N-VA NR R	L	WA			NTEN	IT &					IITS	2	F		0	*	-	
				[2	~	20		ST		ARD		ETR		N T	EST.	BLO	wsiu. DWSi	эт /0.3n	n			•		
	99.82										10	1	20	3	0	40		50		60	· ·	70	\$	80		
	99.6	200 mm TOPSOIL	11						1	111	11	111	11	11	111	1	111	1	111	II.	111	11	11	1	11	ī
	00.4	Stiff, greyish brown lean CLAY	VII						Įi.		18			Н								111	Ш	H	H	1
	99.4	¬(CL)	<i>K</i> ff	1	BS	1									낦	1					111			H		l
		Dense, grey SANDY SILT (ML)			Da	•							11		111	1				ļļ,	111	11	11	Į į	ij.	
					BS	2			Įį.	iii	lij	iii	liii	ii	iii	1	iii		11	i li	iii	lii	ij	li	ij	
				¥					li	ш	li		11	ĽÍ.	Ш	1				LL.		H	П	Ľ	ü	
					BS	3			ł		H															
							1									1						H	11	1D		
									1			11	111		111	į.				ĮÌ.	iii:	11	ij	11	ij	
									i	iii	10	ii	liii		iii	il.	iii			11	iii.	lii	ii.	1ü	H	
					DC	4			ł.			11			Ш											
					50	4			+	H	H	#				+				+	111		#	11	11	į
									ļ.		11	ii.	111	i.	iii	i I	111	l	<u>ii</u>	ļį	iii.	11	H.	Ū	ii.	
			4						1	Ц	lii	ij.	liii		ш	į.	111	l		1	iii.	11	ii	ii	ii.	
					1 1							11														
			ŀ										H							1			11			
	06.9				BS	5						11			<u>iii</u>	11	111	1	111	1	iii.	[]]	į.	11	ļ	
	90.0	Dense, grey sandy silt, trace							t.	i i i	H	Ħ	in	÷	H	t	111	t	11	t	H	H	H	11	H	
		gravel, occasional cobbles: TILL							Li i		11	H		E	Ш	11						H	ii.	11		
		(ML)			-							11		1												Ì
			H		BS	6					H	11							111	Ĩ	ii i	H		H	1	l
_	96.0								li	ij	lii	ij	iii	il	iii	ili	iii	li	iii	i	iii	ii	ij.	ij	ij	j
		End of Borehole								11	11	11	111	i		1	111	li	111			11	11	11		1
		Refusal on Inferred Bedrook			1					11		11	111	1	+++ 111		+++	1	+++	Ħ		++	++-	++		-
		Kerusar on merred Bedrock								11		11		Į.		<u>i li</u>	111	İ	111	Ľ			H.	11	1)	1
									1.	ij.	lii	ij.	Цij	j]	iii	ili	ij	li	iii	10	iil	ii	ij	ii	i	ļ
										Н		11	ΗH	1			111	li	111	18			11	11		
										11				1			111									ļ
												11	111	1			111	1	111	10	11	11	11	11	11	ļ
									ii	11	11	ii.	iii	1		ili	iii	li	iii	Ti	ii	II	ii	11	11	1
										11		11	111										11 11			1
										11																1
									11	11		11		1	11	1	iii	1	iii	1	ii	ii	i i	ii	į	1
									ii	11	h.	ii I	111	1				li		H			i i	H	Ü	1
_														1				1					H			1
														-				-				-	-		1	2

	W Jac	ques tford	Г	E	ST I	PIT	RE	COR	D TP07-32 ^{1 of 1}
СІ	LIENT	Mattamy Homes				_			BOREHOLE No. TP07-32
	DCATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmon	id, C)N					PROJECT No. <u>1026929</u>
	ATES: BC	RING JULE 13, 2007 WA	TER T	LEV	EL	C A			DATUM Local
Ê	Ű Z		[0]	NEL		SA	MPLES		50 100 150 200
PTH	ΑΠΟ	SOIL DESCRIPTION	TA P	ER LE	붠	1BER	VER) n)	B	Wp w WL
DE	ELEV,		STRA	WAT	Σ	NUN	(ju CO	N-VA OR R	WATER CONTENT & ATTERBERG LIMITS
			-						STANDARD PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m
- 0 -	99.92	150 mm TOPSOIL	11.		1				10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90
	99.0	Stiff, greyish brown lean CLAY	1						111 HIL HIL III III III III III III III III
 		(CL)		∇	BS	1			
- 24									
a 1 a					BS	2			
2 27						-			
а н а									
1	98.1								
le Es	20,1	Compact to dense, grey SANDY	Î		BS	3			
2 -		SILT (ML)							
1					BS	4			
3									
	96.9				BS	5			
		Dense, grey sandy silt, trace							1411 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 111
		(ML) gravel, occasional cobbles: TILL			DO				11 TI 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 111
	96.4	End of Borehole			82	0			
72									
4		Refusal on Inferred Bedrock							1111 111 111 111 111 111 111 111 111 1
									1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
				ii					1000 1000 4000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000
≂ = 0									
54).5									
- 5 -									
10.2									
1.00									
7 0 3									
30 10									
6									
									Field Vane Test, kPa Remoulded Vane Test, kPa
		✓ Groundwater Level Measured in St	tandj	pipe					△ Pocket Penetrometer Test, kPa Date
			_						

..... TO 102..... SM. 07// 07//

\checkmark	W Jac	itford	T	TE S	ST I	PIT	RE	COR	D TP07-33
C	LIENT	Mattamy Homes							BOREHOLE No. TP07-33
L	DCATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmor	nd, C)N					PROJECT No1026929
D,	ATES: BO	DRINGJune 15, 2007 WA	TER	LEV	EL				DATUM Local
	Ê					SA	MPLES		UNDRAINED SHEAR STRENGTH - kPa
ш Т	NO	2	PLO	LEV		ĸ	RY	ш о	
EPT	VATI	SOIL DESCRIPTION	ATA	TER	ΥPE	MBE	а О Г	RQI	WP W WL WATER CONTENT & ATTERBERG LIMITS
	ELEY		STR	ΜŇ	ĥ	R	C REC	N N N	DYNAMIC PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m
									STANDARD PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m
- 0 -	99.45		N.		DC	1			<u>10</u> 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90
	99.3	Stiff, brown lean CLAY (CL)	VII		B2	1			
					DC	2			1111 1111 1111 1111 111 4 1111 1114 1111 1111
					B2	2			
212 -									
_	08.0				BS	3			
	90.0	Dense, brown SANDY SILT							
		(ML)							
-									
- 2 -									
					BS	4			1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
1				V					
-									
-					BS	5			
- 3 -	0()								
	90.2	Dense, grey sandy silt, trace			BS	6			1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
		gravel, occasional cobbles: TILL			05	0			1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
-		(ML)							1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
			1						1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
- 4 -	95.4		Lik		BS	7			
		End of Borehole							
		Refusal on Inferred Bedrock							1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
3 -									
									1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
- 5 -									
0									Field Vane Test, kPa
		$\overline{2}$ Inferred Groundwater Level							Remoulded Vane Test, kPa App'd
		其 Groundwater Level Measured in S	stand	pipe					△ Pocket Penetrometer Test, kPa Date

	Jac	ques	 Т	יקוי	STT 1	ріл		COD	1 of 1
V		Mattamy Homes	I		511		KE	COR	D 1P0/-34
	DCATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmor	nd, C)N					BOREHOLE No. <u>TP07-34</u> PROJECT No. <u>1026929</u>
D	ATES: BC	RINGJune 15, 2007 WA	TER	LEV	EL				DATUM Local
	(m)		F			SA	MPLES		UNDRAINED SHEAR STRENGTH - kPa
(m) H	NO		LO I	LEVE		2	RY	ш.	
DEPTI	EVAT	SOIL DESCRIPTION	RATA	ATER	ΥPE	IMBE	UOVE	/ALU RQI	WP W WL WATER CONTENT & ATTERBERG LIMITS H
	ELE		ST	Ň	F	ž	REC	żÖ	DYNAMIC PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m
0	99.56								STANDARD PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0,3m ● 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90
	00.3	250 mm TOPSOIL	1. N		BS	1			
	11.5	Stiff, brown lean CLAY (CL)	VII						1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
									1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
1.0					BS	2			
- 1 -									
14				Ţ		_			······································
1					BS	3			
-									
- 2 -	97.6	Dense, brown to grey SANDY							1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
(e 72		SILT (ML)			BS	4			
17 									
					BS	5			
1									
- 3 -									
	96.3	Dense grev sandy silt trace			BS	6			
	96.0	gravel, occasional cobbles: TILL	UK		BS	7			
1 72		(ML) End of Borehole							
- 4 -									
100		Refusal on Inferred Bedrock							
1 22									
1									
- 5 -									
100									
3									
- 6 -									Field Vane Test kPa
		♀ Inferred Groundwater Level							Remoulded Vane Test, kPa App'd
		Groundwater Level Measured in S	tandı	pipe					△ Pocket Penetrometer Test, kPa Date

	W Jac	ques tford	°T	E	ST I	PIT	RE	COR	RD		Т	P07-3	1 of .
C		Mattamy Homes	nd (N						E	BOREHOLE No.	TP	07-36
	ATES: BO	PRINGJune 15, 2007WA	TER	LEV	EL					P	ROJECT No	102 1	<u>.6929</u>
	Ê		T			SA	MPLES			UNDRAIN	IED SHEAR STREN	GTH - kPa	
(E) T	UN (PLO	LEVEI		~	2	ша	L	50	100	150	200
EPTH	VATI	SOIL DESCRIPTION	CATA	TER	ΥPE	MBEI	UVE UM	RQD		WATER CONTENT & AT	TERBERG LIMITS	Wp ┣━	w w∟
	ELE		STF	××	F	С Z	REC	N-2 N-2 N-2 N-2 N-2 N-2 N-2 N-2 N-2 N-2		DYNAMIC PENETRATIO	N TEST, BLOWS/0.3	m	*
	100.16									STANDARD PENETRATI	ION TEST, BLOWS/0 40 50 (.3m 60 70	• 80 90
- 0 -	100.0	200 mm TOPSOIL	<u>\\.</u>		BS	1		1	ŀ				111111-
		Stiff, brown lean CLAY (CL)							Ì			liii i	00 1 00 . *
- 5					DC	2			ł			liiili	ΗÜΗ
3					DO	2			-li				
- 1 -	00.1												
1	99.1	Dense, brown SANDY SILT		₽			-		1				
23 24		(ML)			BS	3			i.				
									1. T				
2 2 2									i				
- 2 -									11				
					BS	4							ii iiii≉ ⊔iiiii≁
8													
	97.3				BS	5							
- 3 -		End of Borehole							H				<u></u>
68 12		Refusal on Inferred Bedrock							ļ				
									i				
3													
2.0 2.0										$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			11 1111-
- 4 -											 	· ··· ·	 + = -
								×					
- 5 -									H				
5									i				
													:::::::E'
									11				HHH
-													
- 6 +													
										Field Vane Test,	kPa Test kPa	Annid	
		Groundwater Level Measured in S	Standy	pipe						Pocket Penetrom	eter Test, kPa	Date _	,

\checkmark	Whi	itford MON	TI	0]	RIN	G	WE	LL R	RECORD	Μ	[W07-37	1 of 1 7
CI	LIENT	Mattamy Homes								BOREHOLE No.	MW0	7-37
LC	OCATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmon	<u>d, C</u>)N						PROJECT No.	10269	29
D	ATES: BC	DRING June 14, 2007 WAT	TER :	LEV	EL		Jun	e 20, 2	007	– DATUM	Loca	al
	(Ê					SA	MPLES		UNE	DRAINED SHEAR STREM	NGTH - kPa	
(E) NO		2	EVE			2		50	100	150	200
PTH	ΑΤΙΟ	SOIL DESCRIPTION	ITA I	ERI	Ч	1BER) CER	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		1	∙ W _P w	w
ä	ILEV		TRA	VAT	≽	ļ Š	Ц С Ц Ц Ц Ц Ц Ц Ц	DR R	WATER CONTENT	& ATTERBERG LIMITS	. 0-	
			0,	[∞	20	STANDARD PENE	TRATION TEST, BLOWS/U.	лт 0.3m	•
	99.62								10 20	30 40 50	60 70	80 90
- 0 -	99.5	75 mm TOPSOIL	11						1111 1111 111		ini ini	1111
		Firm, greyish brown lean CLAY			SS	1	150	6				
		(CL)		I								
- 1 -	09.4				SS	2	300	6				HITE
-	90.4	Compact to dense, grevish brown		1		Ĩ	500					HITE
- 5		SANDY SILT (ML)	[] .							1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		
2				Ā	SS	3	350	37	1111 111	사망동 방법 방법		
4					-							1111
- 3												
-					SS	4	320	27		1		HILE
- 3 -	96.4											1111-
	96.2	Compact to dense, grey SANDY			SS	5	280	50/	1111 1111 101			Li i E
1		SILT (ML)						75 mm	1111 1111 111	1 1111 1111 1111		IIIIE
		End of Borehole										
		Auger Refusal on Inferred										HILE
_, 2		Bedrock		-							liiiliii	IIIIE
												liiiiE
- 5 -		Monitoring Well Installed									+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	
72										t		
		1										HILE
- 6 -									1111 1111 111			liiiE
	I											
- 8										1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		
5												
- 7 -												HIII
												mit
1												Hille
- 8 -												
									1111 1111 111		1111 1111	11115
												HIE
3												
- 9 -												HIL
									itti itti itti			
-										1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		
_10												
10				_					Field Vane	Test, kPa		
		☑ Inferred Groundwater Level							□ Remoulded	Vane Test, kPa	App'd	
		Groundwater Level Measured in St	tand	pipe					△ Pocket Pene	etrometer Test, kPa	Date	

ij

טווטסיבע GDT טווטניער GDT טווטסיבע

	Whi	cques tford	Т	'ES	ST I	PIT	RE	COR	D TP07-38
C	LIENT	Mattamy Homes							BOREHOLE No. TP07-38
L	OCATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmor	nd, C)N					PROJECT No1026929
D.	ATES: BO	DRINGJune 15, 2007 WA	TER	LEV	EL				DATUM Local
e	Ê.		5			SA	MPLES		UNDRAINED SHEAR STRENGTH - kPa
TH (m	NOL		A PLC	S LEV		۲ ۲	ERY	30	
DEPT	EVAT	SOLE DESCRIPTION	RAT,	ATER	ТҮРЕ	UMB	N (m U CO L	VALI R RQ	WP W WL WATER CONTENT & ATTERBERG LIMITS I
	EL		SI	3		Ī	RE	żō	DYNAMIC PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m *
- 0 -	99.75								10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90
	99.6	200 mm TOPSOIL	512		BS	1			
		Stiff, brown lean CLAY (CL)							1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
					DC	2			1911 I.I.I. 1911 I.I.I. II.I. II.I. II.I.I.I.I.I.I.I.I
					D2	2			
-1-									
					BS	3			1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
-	98.2								
		Dense, brown SANDY SILT			1				
		(IVIL.)			BS	4			
1			••••••						
2									
					DG				
۲					BS	5			
)					BS	6			
	96.4			[
		Dense, brown sandy silt, trace			Da	-			1111 11111 11111 1111 1111 1111 1111 11111 1111 1111 1111
		gravel, occasional cobbles: TILL (ML)			BS	1			
	95.8	. ,							
4		End of Borehole							
13									1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
								5	
10									
1									
- 5 -									
20 20									
-									
:• :=									
3 19									
- 6 -			<u> </u>						Field Vane Test, kPa
		☑ Inferred Groundwater Level							Remoulded Vane Test, kPa App'd
			tandr	oipe					△ Pocket Penetrometer Test, kPa Date

CI	JENT	Mattamy Homes								BOREHOLE No.	TP07-3
LC	OCATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmo	ond, C	N						PROJECT No.	102692
	ATES: BO	RING June 13, 2007 W	ATER		EL						
<u> </u>	(m)		5	Ē	SAMPLES				50	100 I	150 20
TH (r	VIION	SOIL DESCRIPTION	TA PL	ER LE	Ы	BER	VERY n)	S C			W _P W
DEF	ELEVA		STRA	WAT	Ě	NUN	(mr	N-VA OR R	WATER CONTENT	& ATTERBERG LIMITS ATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3	 m *
_			-			-			STANDARD PENET	RATION TEST, BLOWS/0	.3m •
0	99.83	220 mm TOPSOII	111.		Da	1				30 40 50 6	
	99.6	220 mm TOF SOIL	4.5		BS	1					
2		Still, brown least CLAT (CL)									
					BS	2					
19											
1					BS	3			<u></u>		
25 24				Ā							
	98.1	Dongo brown SANDY SILT									
		(ML)			BS	4					
2											
					BS	5					
-											
2	06.0				BS	6					
3 -	96.9	End of Borehole	113	F		-					
24 24		Refusal on Inferred Bedrock									
1											
1											
3											
- 4 -											
	- -										
- 5 -											1111 1111

CL	JENT	Mattamy Homes	1.0						BOREHOLE No MW07-40
LOCATION Proposed Subdivision, Richmond, ON									PROJECT No1026929
		KIIIU WAI	ER		EL	SA	MPLES		UNDRAINED SHEAR STRENGTH - KPa
	elevation (m	SOIL DESCRIPTION	STRATA PLOT	WATER LEVEL	TYPE	NUMBER	RECOVERY (mm)	N-VALUE OR RQD	50 100 150 200 WP W WL WATER CONTENT & ATTERBERG LIMITS Image: March and and and and and and and and and and
-			_						STANDARD PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m
	100.26	-150 mm TOPSOII	112	\vdash					10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 9
	100.1	Compact to dense, brownish grey SANDY SILT (ML)			SS	1	320	7	
				Ţ	SS	2	420	17	
1	98.3				SS	3	300	50/	$ \begin{smallmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 &$
		End of Borehole	-114					50 mm	
		Auger Refusal on Inferred Bedrock							
A to be to be		Monitoring Well Installed							
		51 - 300							
e statistica a									
La caracta e a									Image: state Image: state<
d control of									
AUDION - TH									
these and 1903									
\checkmark	W Jac Whi	ques tford	T	E	ST I	PIT	RE	COR	D TP07-41
---------------	--------------	--	-------------	-----------	------	--------	------------------	-------------------	---
CI	LIENT	Mattamy Homes							BOREHOLE No. TP07-41
	DCATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmon	<u>d, (</u>	<u>)N</u>	upt.				PROJECT No. 1026929
		KING WA	ER		EL_	SA	MPLES		UNDRAINED SHEAR STRENGTH - KPa
Ê	L) Z		LOT	EVEL					50 100 150 200
DEPTH	ELEVATIO	SOIL DESCRIPTION	STRATA F	WATER LI	ТҮРЕ	NUMBER	RECOVER' (mm)	N-VALUE OR RQD	WP W WL WATER CONTENT & ATTERBERG LIMITS WP W L DYNAMIC PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m *
	99.77								10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90
- 0 -	99.6	200 mm TOPSOIL	N12					1	1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
		Compact to dense, grey and brown SANDY SILT (ML)			BS	1			
-1-				¥					1 1
					BS	2			
	98.0	Dansa grav sandy silt trace			BS	3			
- 2 -	97.6	gravel, occasional cobbles: TILL (ML)	łł		BS	4			
	5710	End of Borehole							1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
		Refusal on Inferred Bedrock							
- 3 -									
- 4 -									
1 - 1 - 1 - 1									
- 5 -									
- 6 -									
		 ✓ Inferred Groundwater Level ✓ Groundwater Level Macrosoft in G 	+0 m -1						 Field Vane Test, kPa Remoulded Vane Test, kPa App'd
		- Groundwater Level Measured in S	tand	pıpe	•				\triangle Pocket Penetrometer Test, kPa Date

	Jac	cques itford	T	TE;	ST I	PIJ	RE	COR	RD	TP	07-42
C C	LIENT	Mattamy Homes								POPEHOLE No	TP07 42
L	OCATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmon	d, ()N	_			-		PROJECT No.	1026929
D	ATES: BC	DRINGJune 14, 2007 WAT	TER	LEV	EL					DATUM	Local
	Ê		⊢			SA	MPLES		UNDR	AINED SHEAR STRENGT	H - kPa
(Ĵ	Ň		PLO.	EVE!			Σ	[50	100 150	200
HTH	'ATIC	SOIL DESCRIPTION	ATA	LER L	Ы	ABER	m) VER	GD			W _P w W _L
ā	ELEV		STR/	WAT	≽	N N N	U SEC	OR F	DYNAMIC PENETRA	ATTERBERG LIMITS	*
			_		_		-		STANDARD PENETR	ATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m	• •
- 0 -	100.05		315						10 20 3	0 40 50 60	70 80 90
1 10	99.8		4								
		SANDY SILT (ML)			BS	1					
1				Ţ						$\begin{array}{c} 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 $	
- 1 -					BS	2					
2											
18.1 St											
7 5 5											
							ĺ.,				
	98.0										
-		Dense, grey sandy silt, trace	•		BS	3					
		gravel, occasional cobbles: TILL (ML)		ſ							
216 01 - 1			X								ùluuluu ⊦ ∎
					BS	4					
- 3 -					BS	5		1			
	96.7		1								
		End of Borehole									
-		Refusal on Inferred Bedrock									
									un mi mi		
- 4 -									<u></u>	┠┼┼╂╒┼┟╎┍┥┼╎┟╎╸┠┨	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
									iiii iiii iiii		
-							l l				
										1111 1111 1111 11 1111 1111 1111 11	
- 5 -											
-											
	1										
											HIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII
-											;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;
6											
		∇					I		Field Vane Te	st, kPa	
		✓ Inferred Groundwater Level ✓ Groundwater Level		•					□ Remoulded Va	nne Test, kPa Ap	p'd
		- Oroundwater Level Measured in Sta	andp	ipe					△ Pocket Penetro	ometer Test, kPa Da	te

	W Jac	ques tford	Т	'E	ST 1	PIT	RE	COR	D TP07-43
С	LIENT	Mattamy Homes							BOREHOLE No
	DCATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmon	d, ()N					PROJECT No1026929
	ATES: BC	DRINGJUIIe_14, 2007 WAT	TER	LEV	EL				DATUM Local
Ê	(m) Z		5	VEL		SA I	MPLES		UNDRAINED SHEAR STRENGTH - kPa 50 100 150 200
TH (VTIOI	SOIL DESCRIPTION	TA PI	ER LE	ų	BER	VERY	ыç	
DEI	ELEV/		STRA	VATI	<u>₹</u>		(D L CO	4-VAI	
				Ē		-	<u>~</u>	20	STANDARD PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m
- 0 -	100.16	200 mm TOPSOII	16	L		-			10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90
	100.0	Compact to dense brown to grav	in		BS	1			
		SANDY SILT (ML)	• • • •		Da				
				⊻	BS	2			
								1	
- 1 -					BS	3			
53 10					00	5		· · · ·	
100									
() ()									
- 2 -					BS	4			
	97.5	Dansa anay sandy silt trace							
		gravel, occasional cobbles: TILL	K		BS	5			
	97.0	(ML)			BS	6			<u>1111</u> <u>1111</u> <u>1111</u> <u>1111</u> <u>1111</u> <u>1111</u> <u>1111</u> <u>1111</u> <u>1111</u>
		End of Borehole							1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
		X.							1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
- 4 -									
									1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
- 5 -									
- 6 -									
		☑ Inferred Groundwater Level							Field Vane Test, kPa Remoulded Vane Test, kPa Appld
		▼ Groundwater Level Measured in St	andŗ	oipe					△ Pocket Penetrometer Test, kPa Date

	Jac	cques tford	T	'Es	ST I	PIT	RE	COR	RD	Т	^{1 of 1} P07-44
c	LIENT	Mattamy Homes								BOREHOLE No.	TP07-44
L	OCATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmon	d, C	DN						PROJECT No	1026929
	ATES: BC	DRING June 15, 2007 WAT	ER I		EL	1.1				DATUM	Local
2	(L)		5	ĒL		SA	MPLES		UNDR 50	AINED SHEAR STREM	IGTH - kPa 150 200
TH (r	LOI I	SOIL DESCRIPTION	APL	R LEV		H H	ERY	ЧQ			
DEP	ILEVA.		TRAT	VATE	IΥΡ	NUME	ECOV ECOV	4-VAL DR RC	WATER CONTENT &	ATTERBERG LIMITS	
	ш		S	_			~	20	STANDARD PENETRA	ATION TEST, BLOWS/0,3	sm n j 0.3m ●
- 0 -	100.41								10 20 3	0 40 50	60 70 80 90
ľ.	100.2	200 mm TOPSOIL	in .								
3		Compact to dense, brown to grey			BS	1					
2 L				Ā	00	1		r			
1											
-1-					BS	2					
					BS	3					
e 14	98.8										
		Dense, grey sandy silt, trace			BS	4					
- 1		(ML)									
2		. ,			DO	-					
	98.1	End of Borehole		_	BS	5					
- 4											
		Refusal on Inferred Bedrock									
- 3 -											
- 4 -			1						\ <u>++++</u> + <u>+</u> ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++		
-											
											hillin hie
											HIIIIII III FI
- 5 -											
-											
]											
- 6 -											
		V Informal Communication I							Field Vane Te	est, kPa	
		 Interred Groundwater Level Groundwater Level Measured in St 	andr	nine					□ Remoulded V	ane Test, kPa	App'd
			ոսի	npe					- rocket Penetr	ometer rest, kra	

	W Wh	cques itford]	ſE	ST]	PIT	RE	COF	TP07-45 1 of 1
C	LIENT	Mattamy Homes							BOREHOLE No. TP07-45
L	OCATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmon	d, ()N		_		100.00	PROJECT No. 1026929
D.	ATES: BO	DRINGJune 15, 2007 WAT	TER	LEV	EL.	_	Jun	e 20, 2	007 DATUM Local
Ê	E)		5	Ē		SA	MPLES		UNDRAINED SHEAR STRENGTH - kPa
TH (r	10 ¹	SOIL DESCRIPTION	APL	SLE		ER	ERY	30	
DEP'	EVA		RAT	ATEF	TYPE	IMB	N (m	VALL	WP W WL WATER CONTENT & ATTERBERG LIMITS
	긢		ST	3		Ī	Ğ.	żō	DYNAMIC PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m
- 0 -	100.19								STANDARD PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0,3m 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90
	100.0	200 mm TOPSOIL	<u></u>						
		Compact to dense, brown to grey	ĨĨ	1					
2 2 0		SANDY SILI (ML)			BS	1			
1				¥					
					BS	2			
-				Ŧ	BS	3			
.]	98.3	Dense grev sondy silt trees							
- 2 -		gravel, occasional cobbles: TILL	IH						
-		(ML)							1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
			1						
-									
	97.3	End of Develop			BS	4			
- 3 -		End of Borenole							
		Refusal on Inferred Bedrock							
		Standpipe Installed							1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
-									
4 -									
5 -								-	
-									
се 12									
6 -								i	
	-	☑ Inferred Groundwater Level							 Field Vane Test, kPa Remoulded Vane Test kPa Appld
	-	Groundwater Level Measured in Sta	ndp	ipe					△ Pocket Penetrometer Test, kPa Date

3DT 07

S LAE

11 DUC

	Jac	ques tford	Т	'ES	ST I	PIT	RE	COR	D TP07-46
C	LIENT	Mattamy Homes							BOREHOLE No. TP07-46
L	OCATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmon	d, C	N	-	-		_	PROJECT №1026929
D	ATES: BC	DRING June 14, 2007 WAT	FER I	LEV	EL				DATUM Local
	E)		5	Ē		SA	MPLES		UNDRAINED SHEAR STRENGTH - kPa
LH (n	NOL	SOIL DESCRIPTION	A PL	R LEV		ER	ERY	۳Q	
DEPT	EVA		FRAT	/ATEI	TYPE	UMB		-VAL	WATER CONTENT & ATTERBERG LIMITS
	ᇳ		Ś	5		Z	B	z0	DYNAMIC PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m
- 0 -	100.16								10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90
	00.0	300 mm TOPSOIL	4. 5						1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
	99.9	Compact to dense, brown to grey	İΠ		BS	1			
5 5 3		SANDY SILT (ML)							
1				Ā	BS	2			
* 1 -									<u></u>
5					DC				
2 H 2 H					B2	3			1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
3									
1									
- 2 -					BS	4			1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
						-			
4									
					BS	5			
- 3 -									,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,
	96.8								
# :-		Dense, grey sandy silt, trace	•		BS	6			
		gravel, occasional cobbles: TILL (ML)							1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
- 4 -	96.2		1		BS	7			1111 1111¢1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 111
		End of Borehole							
		Refusal on Inferred Bedrock							
7 (7 1									
					1				1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
- 5 -									
-									
						,			1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
-									
- 6 -									
		♀ Inferred Groundwater Level							 Field Vane Test, kPa Remoulded Vane Test, kPa App'd
		▼ Groundwater Level Measured in S	tand	pipe					△ Pocket Penetrometer Test, kPa Date

	W Jac	ques	T	`E	ST 1	PIT	RE	COR	D TP07-47
C	LIENT	Mattamy Homes							POPEHOLE No. TP07-47
L	OCATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmor	nd, C)N					PROJECT No. 1026929
D	ATES: BC	DRINGJune 14, 2007 WA	TER	LEV	EL		June	<u>e 20, 2</u>	DO7 DATUM Local
	Ê.		F			SA	MPLES		UNDRAINED SHEAR STRENGTH - kPa
E I	NO		LC PLC	LEVI		R	R	ш о	
DEPT	EVAT	SOIL DESCRIPTION	SATA	ATER	ΥPE	IMBE	UC (mr	/ALU RQI	WP W WL WATER CONTENT & ATTERBERG LIMITS
	ELE		STF	Ň		z	REC	2-2 2 N	DYNAMIC PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m
	100 24					-			STANDARD PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m
- 0 -	100.24	200 mm TOPSOIL	<u>\0</u>		BS	1			
	100.0	Stiff, brown lean CLAY (CL)	11			-			
	00.6				BS	2			
	99.0	Compact to dense, brown and	III	-					
		grey SANDY SILT (ML)							
-1-					BS	3			
						_			
					BS	4			
- 2 -									
100					BS	5			
						5			
1.2									
3					BS	6		-	
- 3 -	07.0				05	0			1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
22	97.0	Dense, grey sandy silt, trace			BS	7			
		gravel, occasional cobbles: TILL	41		DS	/			
27		(ML)							
- 4 -					DC	0			
3					DO	0			111 111 111 111 111 111 1111 1111 1111 1111
 	95.7				BS	9			
		End of Borehole							
		Standpipe Installed							
- 5 -		* *							
C									
2 2									
- 6 -									
		☑ Inferred Groundwater Level							Field Vane Test, kPa Removal ded Vane Test, kPa
		▼ Groundwater Level Measured in St	tandp	oipe					△ Pocket Penetrometer Test, kPa Date

יאער-טבט 10בטינין SMAKI. 102 וואאארי

J	Jac Whi	ques tford	Т	'Es	ST I	PIT	RE	COR	2D	TP	07-48 ^{1 of 1}
C	LIENT	Mattamy Homes								BORFHOLE No	TP07-48
L	OCATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmon	d, (Ŋ						PROJECT No.	1026929
D.	ATES: BC	DRING June 15, 2007 WA	ΓER	LEV	EL					DATUM	Local
	Ê			Π		SA	MPLES		UNDR	AINED SHEAR STRENG	ГН - кРа
(E)	L) Z		0	EVEL			≻	1	50	100 15	0 200
ΗT	ATIC	SOIL DESCRIPTION	TAF	ERL	щ	BER	n ČER	9E			W _P W W _L
DEI	LEV/		TRA	VAT	Τ		С Ш Ш Ш	A-VA	WATER CONTENT &	ATTERBERG LIMITS	*
	ш		L _N				<u>~</u>	20	STANDARD PENET	RATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3	n 🔸 🕌
- 0 -	100.51								10 20 3	0 40 50 60	70 80 90
- 0 -	100.4	150 mm TOPSOIL	1.12						1111 1111 1111		
		Compact to dense, brown and			BS	1					
4 24		grey SANDY SILI (ML)		¥		_					
					BS	2					
					03	2					
- 1-											
					BS	3					
100			· · · .								
											H H H H H H H H H H H H H
192					BS	4					
- 2 -											tititi titi
					DC	5					
	98.0			i i	DS	5					
		Dense, grey sandy silt, trace			BS	6					
		gravel, occasional cobbles: TILL	4								
- 3 -		(ML)								ini ni ni i	
Ŭ										uii uu uu i	in in ini ini -
	96.9				BS	7					
1	,,,	End of Borehole	LIK								
- 4 -		Refusal on Inferred Bedrock							+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	<u></u>	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
100											
									iiii iiii iiii		
- 5 -											
											in in the second
- 6 -											
v									□ Field Vane T	est, kPa	
		$\stackrel{\checkmark}{=}$ Inferred Groundwater Level							C Remoulded V	ane Test, kPa	App'd
		Groundwater Level Measured in S	stand	pipe	;				△ Pocket Penetr	rometer Test, kPa I	Date

L(D	OCATION ATES: BO	Proposed Subdivision, Richmo DRING June 14, 2007 w	ond, C	DN LEV	FI				H	BOREHOLE No PROJECT No	TP07-49 1026929
(L	Ê.	W.	5	LEV JEL	EL.	SA	MPLES		UNDRAIN	IED SHEAR STRENGT	H - kPa
DEPTH (r	ELEVATION	SOIL DESCRIPTION	STRATA PL	WATER LEV	ТҮРЕ	NUMBER	RECOVERY (mm)	N-VALUE OR RQD	WATER CONTENT & AT DYNAMIC PENETRATIO	TERBERG LIMITS	
0 -	100.67								10 20 30	40 50 60	70 80
a Alternation of Alternation	100.4	230 mm TOPSOIL Compact to dense, brown and grey SANDY SILT (ML)			BS	1					
1-					BS	2			$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	11 11.1 1	<u>11</u> 1111 1111 11 1111 1111 11 1111 1111
	98.7				BS	3					1 1
2 -	- 50.7	End of Borehole	-141								
3 -		Refusal on Inferred Bedrock									
4 -											1
										1 1	11 1111 1111 11 1111 1111 11 1111 1111
5 -											

•

CLIE	INT	Mattamy Homes				1			1FV/-32
LOCA	ATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmo	nd (N					BOREHOLE No. <u>1P07-52</u>
DATI	ES: BC	DRING June 14, 2007 w/	TER	IEV	EI				PROJECT No1026929
	-	WI WI			CL.				DATUM Local
	7 (m		6	Ē		SA	MPLES		UNDRAINED SHEAR STRENGTH - kPa
	0	SOIL DESCRIPTION	A PL	E		ĸ	RΥ	<u></u>	
	LA		AT/	IE	γpe	MBI	N E	RQ R	WP W WL
	ELE		STF	Š		2 Z	REC	1 2 8	DYNAMIC PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m
-			+						STANDARD PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m
10	0.59	280 mm TODSOU	NE						10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80
	100.3	280 mm TOPSOIL	4. 1		BS	1			
1	100.5	Compact to dense, brown and	III		Da				
		grey SANDY SILT (ML)			BS	2			
				¥					
-					-				
-					BS	3			
1									
5					DC	4			
					82	4			1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
	98.1	Dange group CANDY SHIT							
-		Dense, grey SANDY SIL1			BS	5			
-			111						
-	97.4	-	<u>III</u>						
		Dense, grey sandy silt, trace			BS	6			
		(ML)		Γ					
1									
1			01						
					BS	7			
			K		DC	-			
	96.1	End of Bornholo	111		RZ	8			
		End of DOICHOIC							
	۲	7							Field Vane Test, kPa
	Ţ	Inferred Groundwater Level							Remoulded Vane Test, kPa App'd
	-	Groundwater Level Measured in St	andpi	ipe					△ Pocket Penetrometer Test, kPa Date

\checkmark	W Whi	cques itford	T	E	ST]	PIT	RE	COR	D	TI	^{1 o} 207-53
C		Mattamy Homes	and ()NI						BOREHOLE No	TP07-53
D	ATES BC	110poscu subdivision, Richnickov Subdivision, Rich	<u>ліц, с</u> лтер		-					PROJECT No.	1026929
-						S A					
(iii)	L) Z		LOT	NEL		5/			50	100 15	0 200
PTH	ATIO	SOIL DESCRIPTION	TAP	ER LE	ž	BER	VER)	Щą.			wow Wi
B	ILEV,		TRA	VAT	Σ	MUN		I-VAI	WATER CONTENT &	ATTERBERG LIMITS	
	ш			_			~	20	STANDARD PENETRA	TION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m	m •
0 -	100.94								10 20 3	0 40 50 60	70 80
	100.7	200 mm TOPSOIL	And A		BS	1					
1		Firm, brown lean CLAY (CL)									
-							-				
									HI HI HI		ni ini hi
					BS	2					
1											
-											
: :-	99.4	0 ++ 1 1 1		⊻		_					
-		compact to dense, brown and grev SANDY SILT (ML)			BS	3					
-							3	6			
2 -					BS	4					
1					DD	4				$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
1	98.5	Dense, grey sandy silt, trace									
	- 21	gravel, occasional cobbles and	UH		BS	5					
		boulders: TILL (ML)									
3 -											
	97.4			ļ	BS	6					
-		End of Borehole	K						+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	****	
1		Refusal on Inferred Bouldom									
4		Refusar on miched Doulders									
20 16										iiii iiii iiii i	
- 5											
3											
_										$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 $	
°]								Ì			
- 3											
2											
1											
6 +				_						<u>aidiiidiidi</u>	uiliiiliiii
									Field Vane Te Remoulded Va	st, kPa me Test kPa 🔥 🔥	pn'd
	-	Groundwater Level Measured in S	Standp	oipe					\triangle Pocket Penetro	meter Test kPa D	ate

•

		:ques itford	1	TE:	ST I	PIT	C RE	COR	RD TP07-66
C	LIENT	Mattamy Homes							BOREHOLE No. $TP07-66$
L	OCATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmon	d, (ON					PROJECT No1026929
D	ATES: BO	DRING June 14, 2007 WAT	FER	LEV	'EL		June	e 20, 2	2007 DATUM Local
	Ê			Ι.		SA	MPLES		UNDRAINED SHEAR STRENGTH - kPa
Ű.	NO		LO L	EVE			Σ		50 100 150 200
PTH	ATIC	SOIL DESCRIPTION	ITAI	ER L	붠	1BER	n) VER	SLUE	
B	ELEV		STRA	WAT	⊭	NC N	UCU EUCU	DR R	WATER CONTENT & ATTERBERG LIMITS
			-	Ĺ		_	<u> </u>	2.0	STANDARD PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m
- 0 -	100.48								10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90
	100.4	100 mm TOPSOIL	T		BS	1			
		SILTY SAND (SM)							
- 1					BS	2			
100									
- 1 -				Ĭ₹	BS	3			
						0		-	
	98.9	Dense grev sandy silt trace			BS	4			
1		gravel, occasional cobbles: TILL							
- 2 -		(SM)							
			1						
					BS	5			
-			X						
					BS	6			1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
- 3 -					55	0			1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
-									1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
	97.0								
		End of Borehole							1111 11111 11111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
-		Refusal on Inferred Douldow							
- 4 -		Refusat on interred Boulders							
		Standpipe Installed							
							1		
-									
- 5 -									+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
-									
1									
- 6									
									Field Vane Test, kPa
		 ✓ Inferred Groundwater Level ✓ Groundwater Level 	_						Remoulded Vane Test, kPa App'd
		- Groundwater Level Measured in St	andp	pipe					△ Pocket Penetrometer Test, kPa Date

\checkmark	W Jac	ques tford	Т	'ES	ST I	PIT	RE	COR	D TP07-67			
CI	LIENT	Mattamy Homes	_						BOREHOLE No			
L	OCATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmor	nd, C)N				_	PROJECT No1026929			
D.	ATES: BO	RING June 14, 2007 WA	TER	LEV	EL.	_			DATUM Local			
ĉ	(L)		5	/EL		SA	MPLES		UNDRAINED SHEAR STRENGTH - kPa 50 100 150 200			
LH (n	ION	SOIL DESCRIPTION	A PL	R LEV		К	ERY	щQ				
DEP'	EVA.		IRAT	/ATE	IΥΡΙ	UMB		-VAL	WATER CONTENT & ATTERBERG LIMITS			
	<u> </u>		s	5		z	R	zo	DYNAMIC PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m			
- 0 -	101.50								10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90			
U	101.3	200 mm TOPSOIL	1		BS	1						
		Compact, brown SILTY SAND (SM)										
				(SM)		Ā	De	2	-			
					D2	2						
1												
					BS	3						
	100.2	Dense, grev sandy silt, trace										
	99.9	gravel, occasional cobbles: TILL	K		DC	-1						
		(SM) End of Borehole	/		00							
- 2 -					1							
Ĩ		Refusal on Inferred Bedrock										
-												
-												
- 7 -			1									
5												
22									111 111 111 111 111 111 111 111			
-												
- 4 -									1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111			
- 5 -												
6												
									Field Vane Test, kPa			
		 Interred Groundwater Level Groundwater Level Measured in S 	Stand	nine					Remoulded Vane Test, kPa App'd			
				- I JUKEL FEHERIOINELEI TESI, KFA Dale								

1210-170 TCo. 178482 44-522020 44-522

	Jac	xques itford	T	'Es	ST 1	PIT	RE	COR	D TP07-70
C	LIENT	Mattamy Homes							BOREHOLE No. TP07-70
L	OCATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmon	nd, C)N					PROJECT No1026929
	ATES: BO	DRINGJune 20, 2007WA	TER		EL				DATUM Local
Ê	E Z		Ы	ЧЕГ		SA T	MPLES		UNDRAINED SHEAR STRENGTH - kPa 50 100 150 200
TH (10L	SOIL DESCRIPTION	LA PL	R LE	ш	BER	/ERY	ы Ч	
DEP	LEVA		TRAT	VATE	TΥΡ	INN	ECO/	I-VAL DR RC	
	ш		s	>			22	ZO	STANDARD PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m
- 0 -					1	_			10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90
- 00 je		30 mm TOPSOIL	1						
-		(SM)							
		End of Hand Auger Hole	11	\square					1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
- 1 -		Lind of Hand Auger Hole							
		Hand Auger Refusal							
-									
- 2 -									1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
-									
									1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
- 3 -						ł			
14 112									
- 4 -									1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111
2									
									111 IIII IIII IIII IIII IIII IIII IIII
3 3									
- 5 -									
- 6 -									
		∇ is the second seco							Field Vane Test, kPa
	 Interred Groundwater Level Groundwater Level Measured in Standnine 							Remoulded Vane Test, kPa App'd	
$rac{1}{2}$ $ ac{1}{2}$ $ ac{$								- I OUKEI I EHEII OIIIEIEI I ESI, KPA DAIE	

ż

	Vacques TEST PIT RECORD TP07-71												
C	LIENT	Mattamy Homes							BOREHOLE No				
	OCATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmo	ond, ()N					PROJECT No1026929				
D.	ATES: BC	RINGJune 14, 2007W	ATER	LEV T	EL	_		-	DATUM Local				
Ê	(E)		5	ΈL		SA	MPLES		UNDRAINED SHEAR STRENGTH - kPa				
TH (r	40IT	SOIL DESCRIPTION	A PL	R LEV		ER	ERY	ЩQ					
DEP	EVA		IRAT	/ATE	ΤΥΡ	NM	N LO	R RC	WATER CONTENT & ATTERBERG LIMITS				
			s	5		Z	RE	ź0	DYNAMIC PENETRATION TEST, BLOWS/0.3m				
	102.71								10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90				
F ° 3	102.5	230 mm TOPSOIL	N. 1.		BS	1							
	102.5	Fractured Bedrock	2. 5										
= =	102.1		Ξ										
1 6 20		End of Borehole		Π									
		Refusal on Inferred Bedrock											
8 I 8 3													
3													
(5 (5													
12 12													
- 2 -													
100													
ы 4 — 4													
-													
- 3 -									<u>1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 11</u>				
20 54 12													
									1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1				
() (2)													
- 4 -													
23 (3													
* - 2													
6									111 111 111 111 111 111 111 111 111 111				
_													
								1					
-													
- 6 -			1						Field Vane Test kPa				
									□ Remoulded Vane Test, kPa App'd				
	Groundwater Level Measured in Standpipe								△ Pocket Penetrometer Test, kPa Date				

----- 07 10----- SN. SN. ----- 07

V	W Jac	cques itford]	ſE	ST]	PIJ	Г RE	COF	RD										,	ΤI	P 0'	7-7	72]	1 of .
C	LIENT	Mattamy Homes	-												в	OR	EHG	OLF	ENG) .		ТР	07-	-72	
L	OCATION	Proposed Subdivision, Richmon	nd, (DN		-								_	P	ROJ	IEC'	ΤN	0			1026929			
	ATES: BO	DRINGJUNE_14, 2007 WA	TER	LEV	EL.		Jun	<u>e 20, 2</u>	.007	'			_	_	– DATUM			_	L	002	ıl				
2	Э.		E			SA	MPLES						UN	DR.	RAINED SHEAR STRENGTH - kPa										
H (T	NO		PLC	LEVI		~	Z		1_			5	0	_	_	10)0			15	0			200 	
DEPT	VAT	SOIL DESCRIPTION	ATA	TER	ΥPE	MBE	N E	ALU		NΔT	FR			TR	ΔΤΤ	EDE	EPC	21.0	NTC		١	W _P w WL			
	ELE		STR	WA	-1	DZ	LG L	N N N		DYN	AMIC) PE	NET	RA		TE	ST, E	BLOV	NS/0	.3m				*	
	102.44		\vdash	\vdash					1 8	STAI	NDAF	RDI	PENI	ETR	ATIC	т ис	EST	, BLO	ows	/0.3r	n				
- 0 -	102.44	200 mm TOPSOIL	172	\vdash	Da	_				1	0	20	0	30)	4()	50		60	11.12	70	8	0	90
	102.2	Dense grev sandy silt trace	1		BS	1			li.			1	11	1		1									쁥
		gravel, occasional cobbles: TILL	IH						h			i			Ш	1								11	HE
		(SM)			BS	2						1													HF
			1		-	_				I		ł		1		1					111		11		ΪĒ
- 1 -				V						1		H	111	P				11		i li	İİİ	lii	11	ii	ΪĒ
				-						1		Ì		Î	111	Ì		İİ	<u>ii</u>		111	11	İİ	ii	11-
1			H	Ţ	BS	3				il	iii	i	iii	1	iii	il.	iii.	ili	<u>iii</u>	l i	Ш	18	ij	ü	iit.
									Ш	i	iii	i	iii	il.		jį,		i l i	Ш	1i	Ш	H	ii	ii.	ΗĿ
																1		11	111						ii-
3					BS	4				1		1		1										111	HF
- 2 -					00	-				+		$\frac{1}{1}$		+	$\left \right $	#	++		H	++		11	11		11
35									111			1					11	ļļ	111	Į!	Ш	lii.	<u>îi</u>	iii	iit.
94 2										ĵ]	ЦÌ.	i li		ili	ij.	ili	ii.	ij	iii	1	iii	lii	ii	iii	iE
					BS	5			111	il.	ij	ili	ij	ili	ii	ili	iii	lli	iii	li			ii	iii	iF
1			H	ľ					111	il.	ii.	i	ii:	ili	Ц	ili	Ш	l i		li.		lii.			iF
- 3 -			-								11		ii.		11										lF
<u> </u>			扪					[111	1	11		11				111	T				11		111	T
1	-																111							111	11
	98.9	End of Borehole	10	_					111		111	4	11		11		111	1		11	11	11		111	it
											111				11	H	111	li		1.	ij.	ļ		iii	iÈ
1		Refusal on Inferred Bedrock							iii	ij	iii	ļ	iii	ļ	<u>ii</u>	li	iii	1	iii.	lii	ij.	ιü		Ш	i-
4 -		Standnine Installed						ŀ	!!!	H		H	H	H	111	H	÷÷÷	H.	H	Hi	++	+++	+	+++	#
		orandpripe instance							ij.		iii	ľ			111	li					11		I.		1-1
1														H		H					H		ł		11
														11								111	1		出
												I		1	111	H		11	11	ļļ	ii	iii	i l	ii	i - 1
5-										li		li	iii	ļį	iii	11	iii	lii	ij.	ii	ii	iii	i li	ii	iF
(*										li	111	li	111	Ì	111	i			ij.	ii		ili	i	11	F
-										li	ij	li	iii	li	iii	h		H	ii.	H			11		it i
										1				ł											1E
2												1		-					11	11		111	H	11	[]-]
										l		1		i		h	H		ii	ii	ii l	iii	ili	11	F
6 -									iiii	li	iii.	li	ίi	li	ii	Ш	ii	lii	ii	ii	iil.	Ш	iLi	Ш	ι‡ι
	Ţ	Z Inferred Groundwater Level								Fie Pr	ld V	Var	ne T	est	:, kI	Pa	1 5								11
	-	Groundwater Level Measured in Sta	ındpi	pe					Kemoulded Vane Test, kPa App'd																
	÷ Groundwater Level Measured in Standpipe													- 01		~ 1	vol,	, Aľ	ų	Jd	~				

•



C4

APPENDIX C

Soil Grain Size Distribution Test Results



Hydrometer Analysis

2781 Lancaster Rd. Tel: 613 738-0708 Ottawa, Ontario K1B 1A7 Fax: 613 738-0721

R

÷

Blaine Miller 14-Jun-07 21-Jun-07 1026929 LS702 N/A Date Sampled: Test Method: Date Tested: Sample No.: Project No.: Tested By: Mattamy Homes, Rickmond **Mattamy Homes** BH07-18, SS-6 17.5' to 19.5' Jeff Forrester Sampled From: Material Type: Sampled By: Source: Project: Client:



ł



Laboratory Supervisor : Buian Rewat

Date: June 21/2007

P:\2007\1026929\Lab Testing\Wash Sieve, BH07-25, SS-5 xls

(ii) Þ.

N	2781 Lancaster Rd. Ottawa ON, K1B 1A7	Wash S	Sieve Analysis
Client :	Mattamy Homes	Project No. :	1026929
Project :	Mattamy Homes, Richmond	Test Method :	LS 602 (ASTM C136)
Material Type :	Soils / Aggregate:		
Proposed Use :	Fill / Granulars:	Sample No. :	N/A
Supplier :	N/A		
Source :	BH07-28		
Sampled From :	SS-3, 5' to 7'		
Sampled By :	Jeff Forrester	Date Sampled :	15-Jun-07
Tested By :	Eric Naylor	Date Tested:	20-Jun-07
P. Roman H. Star	Wash Test Da	ta	Sale and the second second

Sar	mple Weight E	Before Sieve :		Sample Weig	ht Before Wash :	325.3	
Sa	ample Weight	Aftter Sieve :	HULL US	Sample We	ight After Wash :	180.6	Corrected
	% L	oss In Sieve :		%	Passing No.200	44.5	N/A
				Sieve Analysis			A DECEMBER OF A
Sieve	Size of	Opening	Wt. Retained	Cum Wt. Retained	% Passing	Specifi	cations
No.	Inches	mm	grams	grams		Min	Max
	3	76.2					
	2	53.0					
	1	26.5			727.		
	3/4	19.0					
	5/8	16.0					
	1/2	13.2					
	3/8	9.5					
+4	0.187	4.75		1.0	99.7		
		- 4.75		180.5			
8	0.0937	2.36					
16	0.0469	1.18					
30	0.234	0.600					
50	0.0117	0.300					
100	0.0059	0.150					
200	0.0029	0.075					
		Pan					
Cla	ssification of a	sample :	% Gravel :	0.3 % Sand :	55.2	% Silt and Clay :	44.5
10	0						
9	0						
5	0						
7 SSI	0						
e 5	0						
u a 4	0						
Serce 3	0						
1	0						
	0					10	
	0,01		0,1	1		10	100
		NT.		Grain Size in Millin	ieters		

Remarks :

Laboratory Supervisor : Buian Runot

Date: Juno 21/2007

ŝ

Hydrometer Analysis

 2781 Lancaster Rd.
 Tel:
 613 738-0708

 Ottawa, Ontario K1B 1A7
 Fax:
 613 738-0721

N

,

Blaine Miller 14-Jun-07 21-Jun-07 1026929 LS702 NA Date Sampled: Test Method: Date Tested: Sample No.: Project No.: Tested By: Mattamy Homes, Rickmond **Mattamy Homes** BH07-37, SS-3 Jeff Forrester 5' to 7' Sampled From: Material Type: Sampled By: Source: Project: Client:



ē

	W	2781 Lancaster Ottawa ON, K1	Rd. B 1A7			Wash \$	Sieve Analysis
Client :	MINUT	Mattamy Hor	nes			Project No.	1026929
Project :		Mattamy Hor	nes, Richmond		Test Method :	LS 602 (ASTM C136	
, Material 1	Гуре :	Soils / Aggre	gate:				
Proposed	Use :	Fill / Granula	rs:			Sample No. :	N/A
Supplier :	Supplier : N/A						
Source :		TP-48					
Sampled	ampled From BS-3						44 1
Sampled	By :	Jeff Forreste	r			Date Sampled :	14-Jun-07
Tested B	у:	Eric Naylor				Date lested:	21-Jun-07
	2	MAN NOT	Les de la Carl	Wash Test Data		A STATE TO A STATE	No. 10 State
San	nple Weight	Before Sieve :	THE REAL PROPERTY.	Sample Weigh	nt Before Wash :	254.2	
Sa	mple Weigh	ht Aftter Sieve :	The state of the s	Sample Wei	ght After Wash :	8.3	Corrected
	%	Loss In Sieve :		%	Passing No.200	96.7	N/A
· 注意	No. Com		Y WARD SHE	Sieve Analysis			F. C. LINE STORE
Sieve	Size o	of Opening	Wt. Retained	Cum Wt. Retained	% Passing	Specific	cations
No.	Inches	mm	grams	grams		Min	Max
	3	76.2					
	2	53.0					
	1	26.5					
	3/4	19.0					
	5/8	16.0					

	0.004	0.000						
0	0.234	0.000						
50	0.0117	0.300						
00	0.0059	0.150						
200	0.0029	0.075						
		Pan						
Clas	ssification of s	ample :	% Gravel :	0.6	% Sand :	2.6	% Silt and Clay :	96.7
100 90 80 50 50 40 30 20 10 10	0.01		0.1	Grain S	1 Size in Millimete	rs	10	100
mark								

1.6

6.7

99.4

Remarks :

Laboratory Supervisor : Buin Rund P:\2007\1026929\Lab Testing\Wash Sieve, TP48, SS-3.xis

13.2

9.5

4.75

- 4.75

2.36

1.18

1/2 3/8

0.187

0.0937

0.0469

+4

Date: June 22/2007

N	2781 Lancaster Rd. Ottawa ON, K1B 1A7	Wash S	Sieve Analysis
Client :	Mattamy Homes	Project No.	1026929
Project :	Mattamy Homes, Richmond	Test Method :	LS 602 (ASTM C136)
Material Type :	Soils / Aggregate:		
Proposed Use :	Fill / Granulars:	Sample No. :	N/A
Supplier :	N/A		
Source :	TP-48		
Sampled From	BS-7		
Sampled By :	Jeff Forrester	Date Sampled :	14-Jun-07
Tested By :	Eric Naylor	Date Tested :	20-Jun-07

~ 日 作歌			enters of your of Long	vasn Test Da		1 1 20 th 10 m 3		
San	nple Weight I	Before Sieve :	Tradeous de Salera	Sample Weig	ht Before Wash :	385		
Sa	ample Weight	Aftter Sieve :	AND THE SHORE	Sample We	eight After Wash :	232	Corrected	
	% L	oss In Sieve :		%	Passing No.200	39.7	N/A	
N. Carton				Sieve Analysi	S	a second and the second second	State State State	
Sieve	Size of	Opening	Wt. Retained	Cum Wt. Retained	% Passing	Specifi	ications	
No.	Inches	mm	grams	grams	l	Min	Max	
	3	76.2						
	2	53.0						
	1	26.5						
	3/4	19.0						
	5/8	16.0						
	1/2	13.2			UL			
	3/8	9.5						
+4	0.187	4.75		44.7	88.4			
		- 4.75		231.9				
8	0.0937	2.36						
16	0.0469	1.18						
30	0.234	0.600						
50	0.0117	0.300						
100	0.0059	0.150						
200	0.0029	0.075						
		Рап						
Cla	ssification of	sample :	% Gravel	11.6 % Sand :	48.6	% Silt and Clay :	39.7	
100	0							
90	0 +							
5 80								
Se 6	0							
± 50	0							
	0							
10	0							
(0.01		0.1			10	إيكانيا	
	'			Grain Size in Millin	neters			

Remarks :

Laboratory Supervisor : Brian Que

Date: June 21/2007

P:\2007\1026929\Lab Testing\Wash Sieve, TP48, SS-7,xls

<u></u>	2781 Lancaster Rd. Ottawa ON, K1B 1A7	Wash S	Sieve Analysis
Client :	Mattamy Homes	Project No. :	1026929
Project :	Mattamy Homes, Richmond	Test Method :	LS 602 (ASTM C136)
Material Type :	Soils / Aggregate:		
Proposed Use	Fill / Granulars:	Sample No. :	N/A
Supplier :	N/A		
Source :	TP-54		
Sampled From :	BS-3		
Sampled By :	Jeff Forrester	Date Sampled :	14-Jun-07
Tested By :	Eric Naylor	Date Tested :	21-Jun-07

	的理题问题		Rep - Con Strand	Nash	Test Data	a) - den internet	的。 在1999年1月1日	
Sar	mple Weight E	Before Sieve :	Bunn to A Frank	S	ample Weigh	nt Before Wash :	259.3	
Sa	ample Weight	Aftter Sieve :	and the second second		Sample Wei	ght After Wash :	9.5	Corrected
	% L	oss In Sieve :	HALL BALL THE		%	Passing No.200	96.3	N/A
記録				Sieve	Analysis			
Sieve	Size of	Opening	Wt. Retained	Cum W	vt. Retained	% Passing	Specif	ications
No.	Inches	mm	grams	ļ g	grams		Min	Max
	3	76.2						
	2	53.0						
	1	26.5						
	3/4	19.0						
	5/8	16.0			· · · · · · · · ·			
	1/2	13.2						
	3/8	9.5						
+4	0.187	4.75			0.0	100.0		
		- 4.75						
8	0.0937	2.36						
16	0.0469	1.18						
30	0.234	0.600						
50	0.0117	0.300						
100	0.0059	0.150						
200	0.0029	0.075						
		Pan						
Cla	ssification of s	sample :	% Gravel ;	0.0	% Sand :	3.7	% Silt and Clay :	96.3
10	0							
90	0							
2 80	0							
70 SSI	0							
ed 1 50	0							
Le 40	0							
	0							
1	0							
	0		0.1		 1		10	
	0.01		0.1	C 1				100
				Grain	Size in Millime	eters		

Remarks :

Laboratory Supervisor : B. Con Russ

Date: June 22/2007

P:\2007\1026929\Lab Testing\Wash Sieve, TP54, SS-3.xls

a 4. 1

N	2781 Lancaster Rd. Ottawa ON, K1B 1A7	Wash S	Wash Sieve Analysis		
Client :	Mattamy Homes	Project No.	1026929		
Project :	Mattamy Homes, Richmond	Test Method :	LS 602 (ASTM C136)		
Material Type :	Soils / Aggregate:				
Proposed Use :	Fill / Granulars:	Sample No. :	N/A		
Supplier :	N/A				
Source :	TP-66				
Sampled From :	SS-4				
Sampled By :	Jeff Forrester	Date Sampled :	14-Jun-07		
Tested By :	Eric Naylor	Date Tested :	20-Jun-07		

Sontes of				Nash	Test Data		在10.00000000000000000000000000000000000	A STATISTICS			
Sample Weight Before Sieve :			Sample Weight Before Wash :			2163.8					
Sample Weight Aftter Sieve :			Sample Weight After Wash :			1424.5	Corrected				
% Loss In Sieve :		ilist .	% Passing No.200			34.2	N/A				
Sieve Analysis											
Sieve	Size of Opening		Wt. Retained	Cum Wt. Retained		% Passing	Specifications				
No.	Inches	mm	grams	grams			Min	Max			
	3	76.2									
	2	53.0									
	1	26.5	(
	3/4	19.0		1. 1							
	5/8	16.0									
	1/2	13.2									
	3/8	9.5									
+4	0.187	4.75		3	92.4	81.9					
		- 4.75		1.	424.3						
8	0.0937	2.36									
16	0.0469	1.18									
30	0.234	0.600				1					
50	0.0117	0.300									
100	0.0059	0.150									
200	0.0029	0.075									
		Pan									
Classification of sample : % Gravel :		% Gravel :	18.1	% Sand :	47.7	% Silt and Clay :	34.2				
100											
p 80	ő										
	0										
60 CL 50	0										
	0										
Ŭ 30	0										
<u>6</u> 20	0										
	0										
	0.01		0.1		1		10	100			
Grain Size in Millimeters											

Remarks :

Laboratory Supervisor : R. in Record

Date: There 212007

P:\2007\1026929\Lab Testing\Wash Sieve, TP66, SS-4,xIs

,
N	2781 Lancaster Rd. Ottawa ON, K1B 1A7	Wash S	Wash Sieve Analysis			
Client :	Mattamy Homes	Project No. :	1026929			
Project :	Mattamy Homes, Richmond	Test Method :	LS 602 (ASTM C136)			
Material Type :	Soils / Aggregate:					
Proposed Use :	Fill / Granulars:	Sample No.	N/A			
Supplier :	N/A					
Source :	TP-75					
Sampled From :	SS-4					
Sampled By :	Jeff Forrester	Date Sampled :	14-Jun-07			
Tested By :	Eric Naylor	Date Tested :	20-Jun-07			

CALL HOLE				Vash Test Data			而是是这些小文情
Sample Weight Before Sieve :			Sample Weigh	t Before Wash :	2454.1		
Sample Weight Aftter Sieve :		Stoll-Mail 1981	Sample Weight After Wash :		1688.2	Corrected	
% Loss In Sieve :			% Passing No.200		31.2	N/A	
Sieve Analysis							
Sieve	Size of	Opening	Wt. Retained	Cum Wt. Retained	% Passing	Specifi	cations
No.	Inches	mm	grams	grams		Min	Max
	3	76.2					
	2	53.0					
	1	26.5					
	3/4	19.0					
	5/8	16.0					
	1/2	13.2					
	3/8	9.5					
+4	0.187	4.75		669.2	72.7		
		- 4.75		1688.1			
8	0.0937	2.36					
16	0.0469	1.18					
30	0.234	0.600					
50	0.0117	0.300					
100	0.0059	0.150					
200	0.0029	0.075					
		Pan					
Cla	ssification of s	sample :	% Gravel :	27.3 % Sand :	41.5	% Sill and Clay :	31.2
100)						<u> </u>
90	2						
5 in 20							
Se 60	5						
	D						
e 20	5						
10							
	0.01		0.1	1		10	100
Grain Size in Millimeters							

Remarks:

Laboratory Supervisor : Brian Russel P:\2007\1026929\Lab Testing\Wash Sieve, TP75, SS-4.xis

Date: Ture 21/200)

C l, . -8



APPENDIX D

Symbols and Terms Used on the SCPTu Records SCPTu Probe Records





Key Terminology and Principles

SCPTu:

- 1988 1 . . .

1102

- Seismic Piezocone (SCPTu);
- A piezocone (CPTu) is an enhanced cone penetration test (CPT) probe that is able to measure porewater pressure (u);
- A seismic piezocone (SCPTu) is further enhanced to measure surface generated compression and shear waves at depth; used to define the shear wave velocity of soils.

Equipment Type and Governing Standard:

- 10 cm² seismic piezocone;
- 150 cm² friction sleeve;
- manufactured by Applied Research Associates, Inc.;
- ASTM Specification D3441.

PCPT Investigation Objectives:

- evaluate soil type and soil stratigraphy;
- estimate the relative density of granular soils and in situ undrained shear strength of cohesive soils.

Soil Behaviour Type (SBT):

- The SBT is selected based on a soil's response to cone penetration, which is different from an explicit soil type defined by specified laboratory testing procedures, but is normally what the geotechnical engineer requires for design purposes.
- The SBT can be classified on the basis of the soil friction ratio, f_s ; ratio between the side shear on the friction sleeve and cone tip resistance.
- The SBT can also be classified on the basis of the normalized pore pressure, Bq; a function of the pore water response and the cone tip resistance.
- The "CPT Soil Behaviour Type Legend" used for this project is attached.

Canadian Foundation Engineering Manual (3rd Edition) Statement on the CPT

- "The most significant advantage that the electric cone penetrometers offer is their repeatability and accuracy."
- "One of the most important applications of the cone penetration test is to accurately determine the soil profile."

Key References:

T. Lunne, P.K. Robertson, and J.J.M. Powell (1997). "Cone Penetration Testing in Geotechnical Practice"; Spon Press.

P.W. Mayne (1986). "CPT indexing of in situ OCR in Clays"; Proceedings of the ASCE Specialty Conference In Situ '86: Use of In Situ Tests in Geotechnical Engineering, Blacksburg, 780-93, ASCE.

P.K. Robertson and R.G. Campanella (1988). "Guidelines for geotechnical design using CPT and CPTU"; University of British Columbia, Vancouver, Department of Civil Engineering, Soil Mechanics Series 120.



CPT Soil Behavior Type Legend (Robertson et al. 1990)





s



S Health .

ė pr

.



Class FR: Friction Ratio Classification (Robertson, 1990)

•/) . 1

ŝ



Class FR: Friction Ratio Classification (Robertson, 1990)

Î,





Class FR: Friction Ratio Classification (Robertson, 1990)



Class FR: Friction Ratio Classification (Robertson, 1990)





lautocad drawings/geotechnical/pg46xx/pg4683/pg4683-2 rev1 may30 dwg

APPENDIX C

Regulatory Floodplain

RIDEAU VALLEY CONSERVATION AUTHORITY

3889 Rideau Valley Drive, P.O. Box 599, Manotick, ON K4M 1A5 tel 613-692-3571 | 1-800-267-3504 | fax 613-692-0831 | www.rvca.ca

A member of Conservation Ontari **RVCA LETTER OF PERMISSION - ONT. REG. 174/06,** S. 28 CONSERVATION AUTHORITIES ACT 1990. AS AMENDED.

Revised Date: March 3, 2009 Orig Date: February 17, 2009 File: RV5 0309

Mattamy Ltd. (Jock River) 123 Huntmar Drive Ottawa, ON K2S 1B9

Attention: Sean MacFarlane,

Subject: Application for Development being the establishment of an earth berm on a property at part of Unit 19, Index Plan 4D-23 and part of Lot 2, Concession 2, former Township of Goulbourn, now in the City of Ottawa, bounded by Ottawa Street to the North and the Jock River to the south within the Village of Richmond.

Dear Mr. MacFarlane,

The Rideau Valley Conservation Authority has reviewed the application submitted on behalf of Mattamy Ltd. and understands the proposal to be for:

- 1. The removal of fill associated with construction of a berm already on the property.
- The establishment of a new berm closer to the municipal road and farther from the river. 2.
- 3. The reinstatement of the land area at the existing/"original" berm site.
- The placement of fill between the new berm and Ottawa Street to match existing surrounding 4. grades.

This proposal was reviewed under Ontario Regulation 174/06, the "Development, Interference with Wetlands, and Alteration to Watercourse and Shorelines" regulation, which the Conservation Authority administers as well as the approved "Policies Regarding the Construction of Buildings and Structures, Placing of Fill and Alterations to Waterways" (Adopted by the Executive Committee, October 21, 1993 and last revised and approved by the Board of Directors, April 2006).

History

This proposal relates to two previous regulation application filings on the property, RV5-16/05 submitted and approved by the RVCA on December 9, 2005 under Ont. Regulation 166/90 and RV5-01/08 submitted by Mattamy relating to work undertaken in December 2007.

In 2005, a letter of permission was issued by the RVCA for the construction of a berm "to maintain flood risk mapping land levels as per (the 1980 Acres Floodplain) Mapping Study (96.0 metres)". The application indicated that the berm would be 15 cm to 30 cm in height and on site material would be used to construct the berm at a height of land determined in the field as the natural or high point of land, approximately the 96.0 metre contour. The berm as it exists today is 1-2 metres in height, 10-20 metres in width at the base, 2-100 metres from the Jock River and established more or less at the 95.5 metres contour.

On May 6, 2006, Ontario Regulation 166/90 (Fill, Construction and Alteration to Waterways Regulation) was rescinded and Ontario Regulation 174/06 was enacted. Both regulations were made pursuant to the provisions of Section 28 of the Conservation Authorities Act, and both gave responsibility for administration to the Rideau Valley Conservation Authority. The change in the regulatory legislation in May 2006 resulted in, amongst other things, incorporation of revised and extended hazard delineation along the Jock River (Jock River Floodplain Mapping Study completed in July 2005 by PSR). The new Mapping Study extended the hazard mapping upstream of the previous limit of study and provided for additional lands being subject to RVCA's regulatory jurisdiction; the 1:100 year flood level was considered to be 96.35 metres. A provincially mandated public process was followed in order for this new mapping to take effect.

The purpose of the 2005 application (previous property owner) was to establish a berm at the flood level, (96.0 metres – defined by the pre 2006 Flood Plain Mapping Study) thereby, preventing the remainder of the property from being subject to the floodplain regulations after incorporation of the New Mapping Study into the regulation in May 2006.

Project Scope

This application proposes removing the existing berm [established in Winter/Spring 2006, with further filling and reinforcement in December 2007] and locating it at the 2005 approved location. It is also proposed to remove the flapgate and culvert from the drainage easement until the issues relating to drainage for the property and greater surrounding area can be addressed. The berm will also be extended parallel along both sides of the drainage easement north up to Ottawa Street. The overall function of the drainage ditch/easement will be reviewed as part of a Storm Water Management and Drainage Plan to be completed by Mattamy respecting any future development applications.

The placing of fill for the berm and the associated filling behind the berm up to Ottawa Street is not expected to have a negative impact on the control of flooding. The filling operation and location of the "berm" should not impact the roadside conveyance of water and should not impact the conveyance of water through the Drainage Easement running through the centre of the subject property providing the work in undertaken as proposed.

This permission results in the re-location of the 2005 berm in the originally approved location. The filling between the relocated berm (maximum height 96.4 metres geodetic) and Ottawa Street will be to a maximum level of 96.5 and only to a level to taper to match existing grades.

Permission and Conditions

By this letter the Rideau Valley Conservation Authority hereby grants you permission to undertake the works on this property as outlined in the application, covering letter dated January 23, 2009 from David Schaeffer Engineering Ltd. and Drawings completed by same, Project 303, Figures 1-4, dated January 21, 2009 prepared for Mattamy Ltd. and all subject to the following conditions:

- 1. The existing berm will be removed from its current site. The material may be used for the construction of the new berm **if** deemed appropriate by a qualified Professional Engineer. Any excess material not required for the construction of the new berm may be used as fill in areas to the north of the relocated berm to a maximum elevation of 96.5 metres, noting the maximum berm height will be 96.4 metres. Any excess material will be disposed of in a suitable location outside all 1:100 year floodplains and regulated areas and not within a wetland.
- 2. The proposed berm shall be established as noted on the attached plan, (DSEL, Project 303, Figure 1-4 dated January 21, 2009) with the southern most boundary of the berm located no further south than the line denoted on the plan and established at an original grade no lower than 96. 1 metres

as depicted on the plan with the top of the berm at a maximum elevation of 96.4 metres or not greater than 0.3 metres in height. Grades along Ottawa Street will also be no higher than 96.4 metres.

- 3. The berm is to be located <u>no closer than</u> 3 metres to the drainage watercourse on both sides and/or **not** within the City of Ottawa's Drainage Easement, whichever is greater.
- 4. The culvert located in the drainage easement will be removed as the earthworks are completed and no fill or other obstruction will be placed in the drainage easement without approval from the City of Ottawa. The flap gate will be removed immediately from the culvert to ensure free flow of water.
- 5. The area of the original berm will be rehabilitated to original grade with plant material reestablished as discussed in DSEL letter dated January 23, 2009.
- 6. A finished grading plan will be submitted as soon as the work is complete to confirm the height and location of the new berm and the grade height and location of the existing berm reinstated to original grade. A refundable deposit of \$3000.00 is required to be submitted prior to commencement of the work.
- 7. No earthworks shall commence before May 1, 2009 and only if flows in the Jock River are considered at or lower than summer levels. Sediment control will be established as defined on Figure 3 prepared by David Schaeffer Engineering Ltd. (DSEL), dated January 21, 2009 and additional measures will be installed as deemed necessary.
- 8. Sediment and Erosion control Inspections will take place daily by DSEL or other appropriate and designated engineering staff while work is ongoing, and thereafter prior to and immediately following any forecasted rainfall event until such time as the site is revegetated, to ensure sediment control is operational and functional. This is ultimately the responsibility of the property owner and all persons associated with the construction/earthworks/grading on the property. Failure to comply may result in this permission being revoked and charges under other applicable law.
- 9. Any material excavated from the property and not required must be removed immediately and disposed of at a suitable disposal site outside the 100 year floodplain and regulated area.
- 10. The RVCA is to receive 48 hours notice of the proposed commencement of the proposed works to ensure compliance with all conditions.
- 11. There is to be **no** work at the bank or in the Jock River as part of this approval. The contractor will take all necessary measures to ensure no sediment migration into the river occurs and that no machinery, no grubbing and no further vegetation clearing takes place on the property as part of the proposed rehabilitation work. Failure to comply may result in this permission being revoked and charges under other applicable law.
- 12. It is acknowledged by all parties that the area of the fill operation between the new berm and Ottawa Street, when completed and confirmed, will be considered outside the 1:100 year flood plain of the Jock River. The Regulated Area of Ontario Regulation 174/06 nevertheless extends 15 metres from the 1:100 flood elevation which will be confirmed as the outer limit of the relocated berm. The portion of the property within the Regulated Area of Ontario Regulation 174/06 remains subject to the RVCA's regulatory jurisdiction regarding the <u>Development</u>, <u>Interference with Wetlands and Alteration to Watercourses</u>" regulation and associated implementation policies, as amended from time to time by the RVCA Board of Directors.

The regulatory mapping for Ontario Regulation 174/06 is reviewed once a year and amendments introduced as required. Once the works are completed, the Rideau Valley Conservation Authority agrees to pursue an amendment to the regulatory mapping to reflect the changes to the 1:100 floodplain contemplated in this approval.

Failure to comply with any or all conditions will result in the letter of permission being revoked with associated legal action to remedy the situation to the Conservation Authority's satisfaction.

By this letter, the Rideau Valley Conservation Authority assumes no responsibility or liability for any flood or erosion damage which may occur either to your property or the structures on it, or if any activity undertaken by you adversely affects the property or interests of adjacent landowners. This letter does not relieve you of the necessity or responsibility for obtaining any other federal or provincial permits including, but not limited to, approvals under the Public Lands Act, Ontario Water Resources Act, Building Code Act, Planning Act, Endangered Species Act etc.

Nothing in this letter of permission is intended to imply or confer any right of occupation or use of public land. This permission may not be transferred to any other party.

Should you have any questions, please contact Shelley Macpherson at our office.

Yours truly,

Donald A. Maciver, MCIP, RPP Director of Planning

SM/DAM/sm

Name (nrinted)

Signed:

cc: Susan Murphy, Mattamy Ltd. City of Ottawa, Guy Bourgon City of Ottawa, Mike Wildman City of Ottawa, Don Morse MCIP RPP Helmut Brodmann LL.B. Bell, Baker DSEL

NOTE: This letter of permission does not come into full force and effect until the attached copy of this letter is signed by the responsible corporate official, dated, and returned to the Authority offices in Manotick.

This letter's return shall be taken as an acknowledgment and an acceptance of the conditions contained herein, as per the Authority's approval based on the application submitted.

Pursuant to the provisions of S. 28 (12) of the Conservation Authorities Act (R.S.O. 1990, as amended) any or all of the conditions set out above may be appealed to the Executive Committee of the Conservation Authority in the event that they may be unsatisfactory or can not be met.

Date[.]

Corporate position / title:	 	

Page 4 of 4 Mattamy RV5-03/09 3/3/2009

Supplementary STAFF REPORT

To: RVCA Board of Directors

Prepared by: Bruce A. Reid, P.Eng., Director, Watershed Science and Engineering Services

Subject: Van Gaal Drain Flood Plain Mapping – Final Report

Date: January 28, 2010

At it's December 18, 2009 meeting, the Board postponed its decision with respect to the acceptance of the JF Sabourin and Associates Final Report on the Van Gaal Drain Flood Plain Mapping (item 6 on the December 18th agenda), in order to give "staff and proponent engineers a further chance to review and come to agreement on the methodology".

Staff met with representatives the City of Ottawa, and Mattamy Homes and their engineering consultants on January 14th. Minutes of that meeting are attached hereto.

There continues to be difference of opinion between Mattamy's consultants and RVCA's consultant with respect to the selection of the 1:100 year design flow (summer event) on the Van Gaal Drain. RVCA staff continue to be confident that using the JFSA design flows will be defensible before appeal tribunals (Mining and Lands Commissioner, OMB or the Courts) if and when necessary.

At the January 14th meeting we did achieve consensus on a step-by-step process to bring the matter to a successful conclusion, summarized as follows

- 1. RVCA will accept the JFSA flood plain mapping for original conditions of the land, and begin administering and enforcing O.Reg. 174/06 on the flood hazard areas defined in it.
- Additional channel modifications will be done to increase the channel's conveyance capacity, compensating for the loss of conveyance capacity in overbank areas due to recent berm construction and returning the 1:100 year water surface profile to its pre-berm position. The work will be done by Mattamy, and will be subject to formal approval by the City's Drainage Superintendent as well as RVCA (under O.Reg. 174/06).
- 3. Grades will be raised in the areas behind (upland) of the existing berms, such that the finished grades will no longer be lower than the water surface profile

1



120 Iber Road, Unit 203 Stittsville, Ontario, K2S 1E9 Tel. (613) 836-0856 Fax (613) 836-7183 www.DSEL.ca

September 14, 2012

Jocelyn Chandler M.PI. MCIP, RPP Rideau Valley Conservation Authority 3889 Rideau Valley Drive Ottawa, ON K2C 3H1

Re: RVCA File No. 11-GOU-SUB Richmond Village (South) Ltd. Proposed Van Gaal Channel Re-Alignment

DSEL in collaboration with JFSA, nak design strategies, JTBES, and Kilgour and Associates have prepared a preliminary design in support of a Richmond Village (South) Ltd., proposal to realign and widen the Van Gaal Drain north of Perth Street in order to redefine the floodplain North of Perth Street. The following and attached supporting information was prepared to provide the Rideau Valley Conservation an opportunity provide preliminary feedback on the proposed realignment.

The supporting information is presented as a first step toward addressing the existing floodplain north of Perth Street. The following meetings and reports concerning the Van Gaal channel and associated floodplain north of Perth Street have taken place to date:

- January 28, 2010 Supplemental Staff Report to the RVCA Board of directors, supporting a 2008 proposal to raise the grade of the subject property behind the existing constructed berms. The proposal to fill the area behind the berms was relying on fill generated from the development itself. To import fill specifically to raise the grade would have negative environmental impact (ie numerous trucks to import fill).
- May 19, 2011 Representatives from Richmond Village (South) Ltd., met with RVCA staff to discuss a proposal to widen and realign and widen the Van Gaal drain north of Perth Street as a vehicle to remove the interim floodplain north of Perth Street.
- ➢ July 7, 2011 DSEL submitted a preliminary design and supporting hydraulic analysis to realign and remove the interim floodplain north of Perth Street for RVCA review and input.
- August 5, 2011 RVCA provided review comments by e-mail to be addressed and considered in the subsequent submission.

A new channel alignment has been contemplated to address the interim floodplain North of Perth Street and also addresses a number of additional issues. The current proposal is a deviation from the previously submitted channel re-alignment and as such, the consulting team felt it prudent to involve the RVCA prior to completing detailed design.

The following supporting information is attached:

- Site photographs of the existing Van Gaal Drain taken 2012-08-30.
 - At the time of the site visit, the existing drain was dry. Note that a total of 81.9mm of rain fell in the previous 30days leading to August 30, with 8.5mm of rain on August 25 (source: The Weather Network Online). The site photographs show that the existing channel has very few trees providing shade.
- Site photographs of the existing Todd Pond outlet taken 2012-08-30.
 - Nak design strategies was part of the team who created the Todd Pond outlet. This channel is fed by an upstream pond, and therefore has a consistent base flow. These photographs illustrate the desired end product for the proposed Van Gaal Drain outlet.
- > nak design strategies Van Gaal Drain Re-Alignment and Channel Enhancement Plans
 - The attached plans illustrate a conceptual planting and meandering low flow channel. These plans were developed in coordination with JFSA, JTBES, and Kilgour and Assoc.
- > J.F. Sabourin and Associates Inc Technical Memo
 - Hydraulic Analysis of realigned drain. The channel hydrology considers the type and placement of the proposed landscaping treatment in predicting water levels along the realigned drain. The analysis shows that the 100-year event is contained within the channel. Some modest modifications to the inlet of the Perth Street culvert are required.
- > JTBES Technical memo
 - JTBES provided advice on the proposed re-aligned channel. Their office prepared additional investigations of the downstream water course and have noted areas of concern. The proposed re-aligned channel will reduce upstream velocities and will benefit the downstream system.
- Kilgour and Associates Technical Memo
 - Kilgour and Associates were involved in discussions pertaining to the realigned drain and were asked for their feedback and input. Their technical memorandum comments on the proposed design and gives design advise.

The following summarizes additional benefits the re-aligned channel will have on the site as a whole.

1. Addresses and contains the interim floodplain north of Perth Street.

- a. Proposed channel realignment and widening meets the goals set forth to contain the 100-year flood elevations without increasing water levels.
- b. Eliminates the need to import soils to redefine floodplain per previous agreement. Importing additional soils would prevent continued agricultural practices from taking place. Would unnecessarily add numerous vehicles required to import soils, which would have a negative impact on the existing community. IE noise / traffic.
- 2. Fish Habitat
 - a. Channel definition is greater in length and provides opportunity for natural channel design thus improving and adding to the total available habitat.
- 3. Potential for preservation of woodlot.
 - a. Channel definition would potentially minimize the impact on the existing woodlot.
- 4. No road crossing
 - a. Re-aligning channel to the eastern property line eliminates need for the proposed road crossing.
- 5. Potential for benefit to mitigate existing downstream erosion.
 - a. Low flow channel definition may provide opportunities to reduce in stream velocities providing a benefit downstream (JTBES to confirm requirements, JFSA to review impact of greater friction in channel on predicted water levels.)
- 6. Removes Isolated Stormwater Management Facility
 - a. The previous alignment required the introduction of a small stormwater management facility to service a 3.4ha area. The previously conceived facility was not optimal in that it serviced an area less than MOE recommendations (greater than 5ha). Eliminating this facility reduces infrastructure requirements for development. In turn potential reduction in capital expenditures as well as operation and maintenance.

We look forward to discussing the attached proposal and moving forward with detailed engineering plans.

Yours truly, **David Schaeffer Engineering Ltd.**

Per: Adam D. Fobert, P.Eng.

Yours truly, David Schaeffer Engineering Ltd.

Per: Stephen J. Pichette, P.Eng.

© DSEL

z:\projects\11-468 caivan - richmond\b_design\b3_reports\van gaal re-alignment\ltr-2012-09-06_468_van_gaal_realignment.docx







VAN GAAL DRAIN RE-ALIGNMENT & CHANNEL ENHANCEMENTS **Richmond Village Development Corporation**







12.08.30



design s 250 Besserer Street | Studio 100 | Ottawa, Ontario | K1N 6B tel: 613.237.2345 | fax: 613.237.6423 | nak@nak-design.com



Richmond Village Development Corporation



Job No. 1-12

250 Besserer Street | Studio 100 | Ottawa, Ontario | K1N 6B3 tel: 613.237.2345 | fax: 613.237.6423 | nak@nak-design.com





VAN GAAL DRAIN RE-ALIGNMENT & CHANNEL ENHANCEMENTS **Richmond Village Development Corporation**

LAYOUT PLANS



Job No. 1-12

12.09.31


J.F. Sabourin and Associates Inc. WATER RESOURCES AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTANTS

52 Springbrook Drive Ottawa (Stittsville), ON K2S 1B9 TEL: (613) 836-3884 FAX: (613) 836-0332 WEB: www.jfsa.com

September 6, 2012

David Schaeffer Engineering Limited 120 Iber Road, Unit 203 Ottawa, Ontario K2S 1E9

Attention: Mr. Adam Forbert, P.Eng.

Subject: Richmond Village Development / Proposed Realignment of Van Gaal Drain *our file:922-11*

As requested by your office, we have evaluated, based on the available information as described below, the preliminary channel dimensions required to contain the 100-year design water levels within the proposed realignment of the Van Gaal Drain. It is understood that approximately 900 m of the existing Van Gaal Drain upstream of Perth Street will be realigned to follow the boundary of the Richmond Village Development Corporation site in the Village of Richmond.

In undertaking this work, the following information was considered:

- HEC-RAS models of Van Gaal Drain under existing conditions (spring and summer) were obtained from the Floodplain Mapping Report for the Van Gaal and Arbuckle Municipal Drains in the Village of Richmond (JFSA, November 2009). The November 2009 Floodplain Mapping Report defined the maximum flood levels in the Van Gaal Drain based on three scenarios: (1) the Van Gaal Drain 100-year 24-hour SCS peak flow reaches the Jock River; (2) The Van Gaal 100-year spring snowmelt plus rainfall peak flow reaches the Jock River; and (4) The Jock River 100-year spring snowmelt plus rainfall peak flow reaches the outlet of the Van Gaal Drain.
- 2) The HEC-RAS models of existing conditions were modified to reflect the proposed channel realignment based on information provided by DSEL. As noted above, it is proposed that approximately 900 m of the existing Van Gaal Drain upstream of Perth Street be realigned to follow the boundary of the Richmond Village Development Corporation site. Note that in order to best define the upstream limit of the channel realignment, existing conditions cross-sections were interpolated in HEC-RAS every 50 m between existing conditions cross-sections 2478 and 2157. The downstream limit of the channel realignment is defined by the Perth Street crossing. Refer to Figure 1 for the proposed channel realignment and cross-section locations.
- 3) Note that the proposed channel realignment will not impact flows in the Van Gaal Drain. As such, flows provided in the existing conditions HEC-RAS models were also used for the proposed conditions models.
- 4) The proposed channel dimensions were set to contain the 100-year flood levels within the channel for all three spring and summer scenarios, and to set the 100-year proposed conditions water levels at comparable cross-sections (2554, 2478, and 1615 1340) equal to or less than the maximum existing conditions flood levels defined in the November 2009 *Floodplain Mapping Report*. Note that 100-year water levels within the majority of the realigned channel are not comparable to existing conditions, given the different locations of the existing and proposed cross-sections.
- 5) The required low flow channel dimensions for the realigned channel are currently unknown. As such, a 0.3 m deep low flow channel with 0.3 m bottom width, 1H:1V side slopes and 0.9 m top width was assumed for the purposes of this analysis. The top of the low flow channel (beginning of the floodplain) was set to match existing minimum channel elevations at the upstream and downstream limits of the proposed channel

realignment. It should therefore be noted that the bottom of the proposed low flow channel is 0.3 m below the invert of the Perth Street culvert.

- 6) Two typical cross-sections were sized for the proposed channel realignment; Section A, from the upstream limit of the realignment to cross-section 1682; and Section B, from cross-section 1682 to the downstream limit of the realignment at Perth Street. Refer to Figure 2 for the typical proposed cross-section dimensions. Section A has a floodplain width of 7.5 m and a total depth of 1.7 m based on the existing grade of surrounding lands and the depth required to contain the 100-year design water levels in the channel. Section B has a floodplain width of 15.0 m and a variable depth; the top of the channel is set to match the existing grade of the surrounding land in order to ensure that the adjacent existing Cedarstone Subdivision is unaffected by the proposed channel realignment.
- 7) The existing conditions HEC-RAS models specify Manning's roughness coefficients of 0.035 for the low flow channel, 0.05 for the banks under spring conditions and 0.08 for the banks under summer conditions. These Manning's roughness coefficients are generally to be maintained in the proposed realigned channel. However, plantings are to be selected in Section B for a 5.0 m wide area of the proposed floodplain (centred around the low flow channel) to set a low Manning's roughness coefficient of 0.04 under both spring and summer conditions.
- 8) The entrance loss coefficient of Perth Street culvert was changed from 0.5 under existing conditions to 0.2 under proposed conditions, to represent proposed changes to the culvert entrance consisting of a headwall parallel to the embankment (no wingwalls) with three edges rounded to radius of 1/12 barrel dimension. This proposed conditions entrance loss coefficient is in accordance with the *HEC-RAS River Analysis System Hydraulic Reference Manual Version 4.1* (US Army Corps of Engineers, January 2010).

Based on the above information, 100-year design water levels for the proposed realignment of the Van Gaal Drain under the three spring and summer scenarios were determined using HEC-RAS and are presented in Table 1. The proposed conditions 100-year water levels are contained within the proposed channel for all scenarios. Furthermore, as may be seen in Table 1, the proposed conditions water levels at comparable cross-sections are equal to or less than the maximum existing conditions flood levels defined in the November 2009 *Floodplain Mapping Report*.

Yours truly, J.F. Sabourin and Associates Inc.

Laura Pipkins, P.Eng.

cc: J.F. Sabourin, M.Eng, P.Eng. Director of Water Resources Projects

River			Scenario	
Station	1	2	4	Max. Allowable ⁽²⁾
2554	96.26	96.28	95.86	96.28
2478	96.13	96.14	95.77	96.16
2427.58*	96.04	96.05	95.71	N/A
2377.17*	95.95	95.95	95.63	N/A
2326.76*	95.86	95.88	95.53	N/A
2276.35*	95.80	95.64	95.14	N/A
2252	95.77	95.59	95.04	N/A
2237	95.75	95.57	95.02	N/A
2217	95.72	95.55	94.99	N/A
2197	95.69	95.52	94.95	N/A
2177	95.67	95.49	94.92	N/A
2157	95.64	95.47	94.89	N/A
2154	95.62	95.44	94.85	N/A
2153	95.57	95.39	94.81	N/A
2152	95.52	95.35	94.77	N/A
2132	95.48	95.31	94.73	N/A
2112	95.44	95.26	94.69	N/A
2092	95.39	95.22	94.65	N/A
2072	95.35	95.18	94.61	N/A
2052	95.31	95.14	94.57	N/A
2032	95.26	95.10	94.53	N/A
2002	95.20	95.03	94.48	N/A
1982	95.15	94.99	94.44	N/A
1962	95.11	94.95	94.41	N/A
1942	95.06	94.90	94.38	N/A
1922	95.02	94.86	94.35	N/A
1902	94.97	94.82	94.32	N/A
1882	94.92	94.77	94.29	N/A
1862	94.87	94.73	94.27	N/A
1842	94.83	94.69	94.25	N/A
1822	94.78	94.64	94.23	N/A
1802	94.73	94.60	94.21	N/A
1782	94.67	94.56	94.19	N/A
1762	94.62	94.51	94.18	N/A
1742	94.56	94.47	94.17	N/A
1722	94.50	94.42	94.16	N/A
1702	94.44	94.37	94.15	N/A
1682	94.44	94.38	94.15	N/A
1662	94.42	94.37	94.15	N/A
1642	94.41	94.36	94.15	N/A
1622	94.40	94.35	94.14	N/A
1615	94.39	94.35	94.14	94.61
1555	94.37	94.33	94.14	94.55
1488	94.34	94.31	94.14	94.45
1416	94.32	94.30	94.14	94.41
1400	94.31	94.29	94.14	94.36
1364	94.30	94.29	94.13	94.31
1340	94.17	94.16	94.12	94.21

Table 1: Water Levels on Van Gaal Drain Reach 2 to Perth Street Under Proposed Conditions (1)

⁽¹⁾ Scenario Descriptions:

1. The Van Gaal Drain 100-year 24-hour SCS peak flow reaches the Jock River.

2. The Van Gaal Drain 100-year spring snowmelt plus rainfall peak flow reaches the Jock River.

4. The Jock River 100-year spring snowmelt plus rainfall peak flow reaches the outlet of the Van Gaal Drain.

⁽²⁾ Maximum water level at existing cross-sections as per "Floodplain Mapping Report for the Van Gaal and Arbuckle Municipal Drains in the Village of Richmond" (JFSA, November 2009)



SECTION A :



SECTION B :



	ι	EGEND :					
			PROPOSED) CROSS-S	ECTION		
		SCALE :					
		0 50	100 15	0 200 25	50 300 35	0 400cm	
N			F Sabo	urin & A	ssociates	Inc	
			WATER RESOU	RCES AND ENVIRO	NMENTAL CONSULTA	NTS	
	-	2	GATI	NEAU (819)	243-6858		
	CL	IENT :		Æ			
			david s	chaeffer engineer	ing Itd		
			120 I OTTAW	BER ROAD, UNIT VA, ONTARIO, K2 (613) 836–0856	7 203 25 1E9 5		
	PF	OJECT :					
		PR		REALIG	NMENT O	F	
			VAN	GAAL L	/RAIN		
F		BY	DATE	DESCRIPTIO	N	BY	
		D	IMENSIO	NS OF	PROPOSEI)	
			CRO	SS-SEC	TIONS		
					DESIGNED:		
		FI	GURE 2		DRAWN: LP VERIFIED: JFS		
	DRAV	MNG REF.			APPROVED: JFS DATE	PROJECT No.	
	922 Des	=11\201209 ign\CAD\JFS	Channel Reali A Figures.dwg	gnment\	Sep/12	922-11	1



September 6, 2012

David Schaeffer Engineering Limited 120 Iber Road, Unit 203, OTTAWA, Ontario K2S 1E9

Attention: Mr. Adam Fobert, P. Eng

Subject: Richmond Village Development: Van Gaal Drain Geomorphology Assessment

JTBES was contacted by DSEL to complete an erosion threshold analysis for the Van Gaal drain. A previous erosion analysis did not appear to factor in sensitivity to erosion for the reach between Perth Street and Fortune Avenue, and it did not include any information between Fortune Avenue and the Jock River outlet.

Further, an assessment of the potential for realigning the existing drain upstream of Perth Street to accommodate site development has also been requested. The overall benefit of the realignment relative to maintaining the existing condition is discussed.

REALIGNMENT OF THE VAN GAAL DRAIN UPSTREAM OF PERTH STREET

A realignment concept has been provided which shows the drain shifting from its current alignment across the property to a position along the boundary of the property. This realignment will result in an overall straightening of the drain corridor; however the low flow function of the drain will be designed to show a sinuous path.

The result of this shift in position will be an increase in the overall stream length of the drain. Normally there would be concerns with sedimentation as energy budgets are affected by such realignments, particularly in low-gradient sections. However, based on our site visits in 2012 it is possible to create a series of steeper and gentler sections along the realigned drain to maintain sediment transport relationships and overall drain function.

A low flow channel will be incorporated into the design. The purpose of the low flow is to provide for fish habitat; the purpose of the overbank areas will be to provide velocity control which will aid in erosion protection. The overall design will be a positive outcome considering the existing condition of the drain. This is discussed further below.

CAUSES OF EXISTING EROSION ON THE VAN GAAL DRAIN

Erosion on the Drain is caused by a number of factors, some of which are natural and others which are induced as a result of changes in land use/hydrologic behaviour.

Natural erosion delivers sediment to the Drain through a number of possible mechanisms, including sheetwash, frost heave and desiccation fracturing, gravity failures due to oversteepening of the banks, and natural weathering of the clays (caused by repeated wet/dry cycles) which weakens the structural bonds in the clay matrix. Once operated upon by these mechanisms flowing water is easily able to erode and transport this weakened material. Large clumps of bank, once in the active channel, get quickly broken down into constituent clay particles which are cohesionless and very susceptible to erosion by flowing water.

Further, as banks become partly separated by slumps, flow from upstream can get behind the failing

portion of the bank and hydraulic pressure forces the bank to fail more quickly. All of these processes (with the exception of frost heaving due to the time of year of the assessment) were visible along the drain.

Induced changes are the result of human activity upstream in the watershed. In this case, a recent small residential development along Rochelle Drive/Mira Court upstream of Perth Street may have changed the hydrologic properties of overland flow in the area. The increased impervious surface, and apparent lack of stormwater detention, delivers runoff quickly to the Drain during storms, creating a first pulse of fast flow through the Drain during storm events. When additional storm inlets are added to the mix (for instance the drain at Queen Charlotte Street) the cumulative effect of this fast rise in stage and velocity could result in erosion.

Finally, there is the construction of the Drain itself to consider. It is not known whether the Drain cross section was designed using flow analysis at the time of design (though the fact that the 2-year flow is well outside the cross-sectional area of the Drain under current conditions may be telling); if the necessary hydrologic calculations were not used to size the Drain then there is a chance it is undersized. This is currently evident as the Drain appears to be widening in response to flows, though it may be a combination of factors that is causing this to occur and, given the upstream development, may have sent the Drain past a stability threshold and initiated erosion at the scale which is evident today.

Results from the geomorphic analysis indicate the Van Gaal Drain system is a sediment rich as well as energy rich (at times of flowing water) system, which erodes, transports and deposits bed material under rising and falling hydrographs under existing conditions.

Mobilization of bed materials which have been deposited from upstream will occur under almost all flows and should be encouraged as the system needs to flush out these large deposits of silts and clays. Establishing a threshold discharge based on these surficial deposits is not appropriate as their transport requires very low velocities. Since the 'bedrock' layer is comprised of tight, cohesive clays and is highly resistant to erosion by flowing water, that material is also unsuitable for establishing thresholds. Therefore, given these two points and the fact that the Drain is eroding its banks in multiple locations, the most appropriate erosion threshold for use in this analysis is the bank erosion threshold.

Erosion along banks can be caused by flows that exceed the theoretical critical velocity for entrainment of the cohesive bank material. Assessment of the conditions of the creek show that the banks are comprised of consolidated clay materials, ranging from coarse to fine clay. When these materials are exposed to flowing water, velocities of between 0.225 metres per second (coarse clay) and 0.400 metres per second (fine clay) are required to entrain (erode) these materials (ref. Hjulstrom, 1935).

IMPLICATIONS

Existing Erosion

The analysis clearly shows that there are significant erosion sites on the Van Gaal Drain that have their cause in a number of areas. Addition of stormwater flows from the proposed site, even if controlled to the threshold rate, will not prevent existing erosion from continuing. It must be well understood that existing erosion will continue to occur for the simple reason that once erosion scars develop in banks they become weak points and as such are susceptible to continual erosion unless an intervention is undertaken. For those sites downstream of the stormwater connection point erosion will continue to

occur, the rates of erosion may be lower as there will be some control on velocities which does not occur at present. For those sites upstream of the connection point, the degree and rates of erosion that are currently occurring will continue and that material which is eroded into the Drain will transport to the downstream reach. This continual influx of high sediment loads from upstream will complicate the erodibility of the downstream section.

OVERALL BENEFIT OF THE REALIGNMENT UPSTREAM OF PERTH STREET

Given erosion conditions in the drain downstream of Perth Street, application of the erosion thresholds and redesign of the drain upstream will provide the following benefit:

- 1. The existing erosive conditions in the drain upstream of Perth Street will be remediated in the design; and
- 2. Downstream erosion will be mitigated somewhat through the design upstream through the use of erosion thresholds and design principles tasked with controlling erosional velocities

Existing erosion along the Drain will continue once the site has been developed and while the degree of erosion may be somewhat addressed using the thresholds outlined in this study, the fact of the matter is that all erosion will not cease.

This condition assumes the Drain remains in its current configuration. With that condition in place, application of the erosion thresholds will not exacerbate erosion. There is an opportunity to mitigate some of the existing erosion in Reach 3 in a manner which will reduce some stress on reaches 2 and 1, which would be an overall benefit to the Drain system. Considering use of the Drain by aquatic species there is an added benefit to modification of the form and function of the Drain from the homogeneous nature it currently displays to a more diverse state. This can be done using natural channel design principles.

Natural Channel Design Principles

The purpose of natural channel design is to create/modify a system that is not properly functioning to a state where it is more in equilibrium with processes acting upon it. Doing so builds into the system a natural resilience to flow variability which is found in all stable, functioning watercourse systems. With respect to the Drain, and specifically Reach 3 from Perth Street to Fortune Street, it currently is classified as a straight channel with steep, vertical eroding banks that prevent connection to a floodplain during frequent flow events. Low flow events occupy the same channel width as high flow events which means that, as the Drain dries up, water depth is spread over a wide area resulting in shallow water which is not conducive to fish health. In addition, the concentration of flow during multiple events concentrates energy and erosion. This combination of factors acts to further entrench the Drain and create sidewall erosion as it tries to create a stable form over time.

JTBES has modelled a three-stage channel as described above at a coarse level and finds that through natural channel design it is possible to contain stormwater velocities below the threshold value through the site. Doing so lessens pressure on un-restored reaches downstream.

Details of the channel have also incorporated the channel dimensions used by JFSA in their floodplain analysis and findings support the notion that a stable, functioning system can be developed for the realigned sections of the Van Gaal Drain. Upon acceptance in principle by approval agencies JTBES will complete the full design for submission and will provide documentation with respect to function and lessening of downstream impacts.

If I can provide any further details please contact me directly.

Respectfully Submitted,

AC

John T. Beebe, PhD JTB Environmental Systems Inc. CAMBRIDGE, ON



2012 September 7

Our File: 156

Mr. Adam Fobert David Schaeffer Engineering Ltd. 120 Iber Road, Unit 203 Ottawa, Ontario, K2S 1E9

Dear Mr. Fobert,

Reference: Richmond Village Development, Van Gaal Drain Realignment.

Per your request, we have reviewed the proposed realignment of the Van Gaal Drain for the Richmond Village Development Corporation, as illustrated in Figures 1 and 2 provided by JF Sabourin and Associates, and in the illustrations of the landscaping plans prepared by NAK Design.

Under a prior assignment in support of development in the area, we demonstrated that the feature can contain up to 16 species of fish (Kilgour & Associates and Parish Geomorphic, 2010). Northern Pike (*Esox lucius*) are known to inhabit the feature, while a pike spawning was feature created near Perth Street. Pike are considered a key species for the area, and any works to the channel should consider the spawning requirements of the species.

We also understand that the Van Gaal Drain was dry this year associated with reduced precipitation in June and July. The feature was very dry in 2008 as well. The feature, therefore, is best described as providing intermittent fish habitat. The existing feature has a bankfull width of ~ 5 m, and has no riparian zone providing shade (Kilgour & Associates and Parish Geomorphic, 2010).

The proposed realignment will lengthen the channel, and increase the wetted area during periods of high flow. The realigned feature will also have a low-flow channel that will enhance the fish habitat value for a longer period of time through dry periods. The floor of the realigned channel will is to be planted with a mixture of plants including a mixture of grasses and sedges that are selected to grow under wet and dry conditions.

The realignment of the feature should be enhance ecological functions of the feature and broader area. Northern pike can be anticipated to use the flat shelves, planted with grasses and sedges, for spawning in the spring when the shelves are inundated with water. Riparian canopy will result in greater shade, and reduce heating of the channel. The improved riparian corridor associated with the realigned feature will increase the movements of larger wildlife like deer, from the Jock River corridor through and to the Richmond Wetland to the west of the study area (assuming that other connections are also made). The various plantings within the corridor will increase the diversity of plant life, thus providing a greater diversity of potential habitats for avifauna.

Adam Fobert, DSEL September 7, 2012 Page 2 of 2

Realignment of the feature presents a minor risk to fishes in the system. Assuming that fish habitat features are provided for in the design, we anticipate that all of the fish species that were demonstrated to be using the Van Gaal Drain will continue to use the drain after the realignment.

Regards,

KILGOUR & ASSOCIATES LTD.

Bruce Kilgour, PhD

Literature Cited

Kilgour & Associates Ltd., and Parish Geomorphic. 2010. Mattamy Richmond Lands, Natural Environment and Impact Assessment Study.



3889 Rideau Valley Dr, Box 599Manotick, Ontario K4M 1A5Ph: (613) 692-3571 fax: 692-0831

MEMO

Date: October 16, 2012

From: Jocelyn Chandler

To: Adam Fobert. P.Eng., Stephen J. Pichette, P.Eng. DSEL

RE: Richmond Floodplain Lands, Proposed Van Gaal Channel Re-Alignment.

RVCA staff have reviewed the submission dated September 14, 2012 which proposes a preliminary design to realign and widen the Van Gaal Drain north of Perth Street. The intent is to ultimately redefine the boundaries of the 1:100 year floodplain associated with the Van Gaal Drain.

Staff provide the following comments for your consideration prior to submitting an application for full technical and regulatory policy review under O.Reg 174/06.

- Provide details on corridor width and setbacks showing that applicable policies are being achieved.
- Provide cross sections showing the 3 tier channel as described in the text. It is the understanding of staff that a three tier channel should incorporate a low flow channel, bank full channel (more frequent events) and floodplain.
- Calculation showing loss of direct surface runoff within the subject reach of the Van Gaal Drain once the proposed municipal storm system is in place and overland run-off no longer contributes to instream flow. This comment arises out of the removal of the conceptual swm pond at the upstream location. A longer channel may not be beneficial if there are substantially reduced flows through urbanization of adjacent lands.
- Habitat features built into the new channel should consider all species of fish that have been recorded in the existing channel. For example if there are species that rely in riffle habitat to carry out their life processes then they should be included within the design. Once the detail design stage commences a review of the local fish species should be undertaken and measures to incorporate those habitat types should be incorporated into the design. If the channel is improved adequately it is conceivable that other species from the Jock River might access the new channel that have not in the past.
- Consider including re-use of existing stream bed materials to seed new bed etc.
- Provide status regarding municipal drain. The applicant must have support of the Drainage Superintendent to either abandon the drain or undertake these works.
- Provide information on how the groundwater recharge and base flow contributions will be maintained.

- A statement, supported by necessary analysis, from the consultant must be provided that the design will not adversely impact the control of upstream or downstream flooding.
- The design of the culvert modifications should be described in detail, with appropriate reference to standard manuals/texts.

Required documents for review under O.Reg 174/06:

- Application forms. One for each land owner. (One consultant may act as the agent for all owners provided a letter of authorization is submitted for each).
- Municipal Drain status paperwork if abandoned or comments/authorization from Municipal Drainage Dept.
- Location of works plan showing affected property parcels & ownership (for physical works and related setback influences).
- Documentation regarding the imposition of the setbacks, if applicable, on neighbouring properties must be provided and proof of such resolution (ie. signed documents acknowledging and accepting impact of the setbacks on adjacent property from property owners).
- This application will trigger a floodplain amendment therefore all technical calculations and modelling to support the amendment should be provided.
- Grading plan and cross sections of proposed design
- Design drawings for changes to culvert under Perth St.
- Any information on changes upstream or downstream of subject area.
- Natural Channel Design plans including:
 - Cross-section, profiles and plan view
 - Planting species, amounts, density, location
 - Pools, riffles, instream structures.
 - Description of materials (aggregates, stream bed materials, etc).
- Location of municipal pathway in the corridor and the width must be show on plans.
- Sediment and Erosion Control Plan
- Phasing and Implementation Plan when will this work be undertaken? When will the new channel be established and the connection to the up and downstream connections be made.
- Fish rescue/relocation plan
- Post effectiveness monitoring plan (5 years)
- Fee Level 5 = \$2140.00

This memo has been prepared in consultation with and on behalf of RVCA Watershed Science and Engineering, and Regulatory staff. Technical report review fees will be invoiced separately. Please contact me if you have any questions or require additional information.

Chanc

Jocelyn Chandler, M.Pl., RPP, MCIP Planner, RVCA



J.F. Sabourin and Associates Inc. 52 Springbrook Drive

WATER RESOURCES AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTANTS 52 Springbrook Drive Ottawa (Stittsville), ON K2S 1B9 TEL: (613) 836-3884 FAX: (613) 836-0332 WEB: www.jfsa.com

April 20, 2017

David Schaeffer Engineering Limited 120 Iber Road, Unit 103 Ottawa, Ontario K2S 1E9

Attention: Mr. Kevin Murphy, P.Eng.

Subject: Richmond Village Development / Proposed Realignment of Van Gaal Drain *our file:922-11*

As requested by your office, we have evaluated, based on the available information as described below, the channel dimensions required to contain the 100-year design water levels within the proposed realignment of the Van Gaal Drain. It is understood that approximately 900 m of the existing Van Gaal Drain upstream of Perth Street will be realigned to follow the boundary of the Richmond Village Development Corporation site in the Village of Richmond.

In undertaking this work, the following information was considered:

- HEC-RAS models of Van Gaal Drain under existing conditions (spring and summer) were obtained from the Floodplain Mapping Report for the Van Gaal and Arbuckle Municipal Drains in the Village of Richmond (JFSA, November 2009). The November 2009 report defined the maximum flood levels in the Van Gaal Drain based on three scenarios: (1) the Van Gaal Drain 100-year 24-hour SCS peak flow reaches the Jock River; (2) The Van Gaal 100-year spring snowmelt plus rainfall peak flow reaches the Jock River; and (4) The Jock River 100-year spring snowmelt plus rainfall peak flow reaches the outlet of the Van Gaal Drain.
- 2) In order to best define the upstream limit of the channel realignment, existing conditions cross-sections were interpolated in HEC-RAS every 50 m between existing conditions cross-sections 2478 and 2157. The downstream limit of the channel realignment is defined by the Perth Street crossing.
- 3) While the floodplain mapping study for the drain was in progress, a berm was constructed by Mattamy Homes on the Richmond Village Development Corporation lands north of Perth Street. Refer to the *Mattamy Homes Richmond - Channelization / Berm Modifications Analysis, North of Perth Street* memo (AECOM Canada Ltd., January 2010) for further details. The berm generally follows the Van Gaal Drain upstream of Perth Street at an offset of 30 m. However, the November 2009 *Floodplain Mapping Report* does not account for this berm in its modelling. As such, the HEC-RAS models obtained from the November 2009 *Floodplain Mapping Report* have been modified to include this berm in order to best represent existing conditions. The existing topography of the berm was provided by DSEL.
- 4) The HEC-RAS models were modified to reflect the proposed channel realignment based on information provided by DSEL. As noted above, it is proposed that approximately 900 m of the existing Van Gaal Drain upstream of Perth Street be realigned to follow the boundary of the Richmond Village Development Corporation site. Refer to Figure 1 for the proposed channel realignment and cross-section locations.
- 5) Note that the proposed channel realignment will not significantly impact flows in the Van Gaal Drain. As such, existing conditions flows provided were also used to model proposed conditions. The 2-, 5-, 10-, 25- and 100-year return periods were assessed, as per the flows provided in the March 26, 2010 *P709(02) Richmond 2, 5, 10, 25 Year WSEL Results* email from JFSA to the City of Ottawa (forwarded to RVCA on March 30, 2012).

The 25 mm 3-hour Chicago storm flows, as simulated using the March 26, 2010 SWMHYMO models, were also evaluated.

- 6) For the purpose of calculating floodplain elevations, all channel infrastructure was included in the existing and proposed conditions models. Conversely, for the purpose of calculating riparian storage volumes, all channel infrastructure was removed from the models. The existing flow profiles for the 25 mm and 2- to 100-year events were used to compare existing and proposed riparian storage volumes.
- 7) The proposed channel dimensions were set to contain the 100-year flood levels within the channel for all three spring and summer scenarios, and to set the 100-year proposed conditions water levels at comparable cross-sections (2554, 2478, 2157 and 1615 1340 in Van Gaal Drain Reach 2) equal to or less than the maximum existing conditions flood levels defined in the November 2009 *Floodplain Mapping Report*. Note that 100-year water levels within the majority of the realigned channel are not comparable to existing conditions, given the different locations of the existing and proposed cross-sections.
- 8) The required low flow channel dimensions for the realigned channel were provided by Coldwater Engineering. The proposed low flow channel is 0.5 m deep with a 1.0 m bottom width, 2H:1V side slopes and a 3.0 m top width. The top of the low flow channel (beginning of the floodplain) was set to match existing minimum channel elevations at the upstream and downstream limits of the proposed channel realignment. It should therefore be noted that the bottom of the proposed low flow channel is below the invert of the Perth Street culvert.
- 9) The typical cross-section for the proposed channel realignment is presented in Figure 2 and has a floodplain width of 10 m and a total depth between 1.8 m and 2.4 m based on the existing grade of surrounding lands and the depth required to contain the 100-year design water levels in the channel. Note that a berm will be constructed along the southwest side of the channel, from cross-section 1416 to the downstream limit of the realignment at Perth Street, in order to contain the 100-year flow within the channel through an existing residential lot. Additionally, note that a 6.7 m wide (5.0 m wide from cross-section 1416 to the downstream limit of the realignment at Perth Street) level area (at 0.6% cross-slope) has been included on one side of the channel for future maintenance access.
- 10) The existing conditions HEC-RAS models specify Manning's roughness coefficients of 0.035 for the low flow channel, 0.05 for the banks under spring conditions and 0.08 for the banks under summer conditions. These Manning's roughness coefficients are generally to be maintained in the proposed realigned channel. However, we understand that trees and shrubs are to be planted on the banks above the 25 mm water level; Manning's roughness coefficients for this area of the proposed channel have been set to 0.08 under spring conditions and 0.10 under summer conditions.
- 11) The low flow channel will widen into a 9.0 m wide and 1.0 m deep sediment detention pool, from Perth Street to approximately 50 m upstream, in order to ensure that the operation of the culvert is not adversely affected by overgrown vegetation or sediment accumulation.
- 12) The entrance loss coefficient of Perth Street culvert was changed from 0.5 under existing conditions to 0.2 under proposed conditions, to represent proposed changes to the culvert entrance consisting of a headwall parallel to the embankment (no wingwalls) with three edges rounded to radius of 1/12 barrel dimension. This proposed conditions entrance loss coefficient is in accordance with the *HEC-RAS River Analysis System Hydraulic Reference Manual Version 4.1* (US Army Corps of Engineers, January 2010).

Based on the above information, 25 mm and 2- to 100-year design water levels and velocities were determined using HEC-RAS under the three spring and summer scenarios and are presented in Attachments A for existing conditions and Attachment C for proposed conditions. The 25 mm "normal" water level and 100-year floodplain within the proposed channel are presented in plan view in Figure 3 for the most critical of the three scenarios.

The 100-year design water levels for the proposed realignment of the Van Gaal Drain are presented in Table 1 and are contained within the proposed channel for all scenarios. Furthermore, as may be seen in Table 1, the proposed conditions 100-year water levels at comparable cross-sections are equal to or less than the maximum existing conditions flood levels defined in the November 2009 *Floodplain Mapping Report*, except where the water level increases by 3 cm at cross-section 1340. However, the water level at this location is unreliable due to instabilities in the model through the downstream Perth Street culvert; for example, in comparing the energy gradeline elevations at this location, the existing conditions 100-year level is 4 cm higher than the proposed conditions level. At the next upstream cross-section, both the 100-year water level and 100-year energy gradeline elevations are higher under existing than under proposed conditions. It may therefore be concluded, excepting the instabilities at cross-section 1340, that the proposed realignment of the Van Gaal Drain upstream of Perth Street will not adversely impact upstream flooding.

Table 1: 100-Year Water Levels on Van Gaal Drain Reach 2 to Perth Street Under Proposed Conditions (1)

River			Scenario	
Station	1	2	4	Max. Allowable ⁽²⁾
2554	96.26	96.28	95.86	96.28
2478	96.13	96.14	95.77	96.16
2427.58*	96.04	96.05	95.71	N/A
2377.17*	95.95	95.95	95.63	N/A
2326.76*	95.88	95.88	95.53	N/A
2276.35*	95.50	95.64	95.15	N/A
2261	94.89	94.98	94.35	N/A
2258	95.00	94.94	94.46	N/A
2256	94.98	94.92	94.44	N/A
2254	94.96	94.91	94.42	N/A
2235	94.95	94.89	94.40	N/A
2207	94.92	94.87	94.38	95.48
2188	94.88	94.83	94.36	N/A
2163	94.85	94.80	94.33	N/A
2141	94.82	94.77	94.31	N/A
2121	94.80	94.74	94.30	N/A
2101	94.77	94.72	94.28	N/A
2080	94.74	94.69	94.26	N/A
2059	94.71	94.66	94.25	N/A
2038	94.69	94.63	94.23	N/A
2017	94.67	94.62	94.23	N/A
2003	94.66	94.61	94.22	N/A
1982	94.63	94.58	94.21	N/A
1961	94.61	94.56	94.20	N/A
1940	94.58	94.54	94.19	N/A
1919	94.56	94.51	94.18	N/A
1898	94.54	94.49	94.18	N/A
1877	94.52	94.47	94.17	N/A
1857	94.50	94.45	94.17	N/A
1837	94.48	94.44	94.16	N/A
1817	94.46	94.42	94.16	N/A
1797	94.45	94.41	94.16	N/A
1777	94.43	94.39	94.15	N/A
1757	94.42	94.38	94.15	N/A
1736	94.41	94.37	94.15	N/A
1715	94.39	94.36	94.15	N/A
1694	94.38	94.35	94.15	N/A
1673	94.37	94.34	94.14	N/A
1653	94.36	94.33	94.14	N/A
1632	94.35	94.33	94.14	N/A
1615	94.35	94.32	94.14	94.61
1555	94.33	94.31	94.14	94.55
1488	94.31	94.29	94.14	94.45
1416	94.29	94.28	94.14	94.41
1400	94.28	94.27	94.13	94.36
1364	94.28	94.27	94.13	94.31
1340	94.24	94.22	94.13	94.21

⁽¹⁾ Scenarios:

1. The Van Gaal Drain 100-year 24-hour SCS peak flow reaches the Jock River.

2. The Van Gaal Drain 100-year spring snowmelt plus rainfall peak flow reaches the Jock River.

4. The Jock River 100-year spring snowmelt plus rainfall peak flow reaches the outlet of the Van Gaal Drain. ⁽²⁾ Maximum water level at existing cross-sections as per *Floodplain Mapping Report for the Van Gaal and Arbuckle Municipal Drains in the Village of Richmond* (JFSA, November 2009). An analysis of riparian storage in the channel under existing and proposed conditions was performed using the 25 mm and 2-, 5-, 10-, 25- and 100-year flows for the three scenarios. All drainage infrastructure was removed from the models for the purpose of this analysis. Refer to Attachments B and D for detailed results under existing and proposed conditions, respectively. Table 2 presents a summary of the riparian storage analysis results.

Event	Exis	ting Volume	(m ³)	Proposed Volume (m ³)			
	Scenario 1	Scenario 2	Scenario 4	Scenario 1	Scenario 2	Scenario 4	
25 mm	3570	N/A	N/A	6920	N/A	N/A	
2-Year	7640	12550	11550	14460	19570	18310	
5-Year	11950	16610	5890	19950	23710	11050	
10-Year	15650	20280	5250	24070	26690	9110	
25-Year	22190	26230	9590	29880	31360	15270	
100-Year	38090	39190	36830	42020	41220	44480	

Fable 2: Riparian Storage on	Van Gaal Drain Reach	2 Under Existing and Propose	d Conditions ^{(1) (2)}
1 9			

⁽¹⁾ All channel infrastructure removed from the models for the purpose of calculating riparian storage volumes.

1. The Van Gaal Drain 100-year 24-hour SCS peak flow reaches the Jock River.

2. The Van Gaal Drain 100-year spring snowmelt plus rainfall peak flow reaches the Jock River.

4. The Jock River 100-year spring snowmelt plus rainfall peak flow reaches the outlet of the Van Gaal Drain.

As may be seen from Table 1, riparian storage volumes under proposed conditions are equal to or greater than existing riparian storage volumes for all scenarios and return periods, and will not adversely impact downstream flooding.

Yours truly,

⁽²⁾ Scenarios:

J.F. Sabourin and Associates Inc.

Laura Pipkins, P.Eng.

cc: J.F. Sabourin, M.Eng, P.Eng. Director of Water Resources Projects

Figure 1: Location of Proposed Cross-Sections

Figure 2: Dimensions of Proposed Cross-Sections

Figure 3: 25 mm and 100-Year Flood Extents in Proposed Channel

Attachment A: HEC-RAS Results for Van Gaal Drain Reach 2 Existing Conditions (Floodplain Analysis)
 Attachment B: HEC-RAS Results for Van Gaal Drain Reach 2 Existing Conditions (Riparian Storage Analysis)
 HEC-RAS Results for Van Gaal Drain Reach 2 Proposed Conditions (Floodplain Analysis)

Attachment D: HEC-RAS Results for Van Gaal Drain Reach 2 Proposed Conditions (Riparian Storage Analysis)







	ι	EGEND :				
	-		PROPOSED) CROSS-S	ECTION	
H:1V						
		SCALE :				
	0		100	200	300	400cm
		J	.F. Sabo	urin & A	ssociates	Inc.
		15	WATER RESOU OTTA GATII	WA (613) NEAU (819)	836–3884 243–6858	115
		JENT :				
			david s	chaeffer engineer	ing Itd	
			OTTAW	BER ROAD, UNIT (A, ONTARIO, K2 (613) 836–0856	203 IS 1E9	
	PF	OJECT :				_
		Ρĸ	VAN	GAAL D	IRAIN	
		BY	DATE	DESCRIPTIO	N	BY
		D	IMENSIO CRO	NS OF SS-SEC	PROPOSEE TIONS)
					DESIGNED:	
		FIC	GURE 2		DRAWN: LP VERIFIED: JFS	
	DRAV	WING REF.	Channel\ Doc!-		APPROVED: JFS DATE	PROJECT No.
	JFS	A Figures.dwg	Gridiniei (Desiĝ J		Apr/17	922-11





ATTACHMENT



HEC- RAS Results for Van Gaal Drain Reach 2 Existing Conditions (Floodplain Analysis)





Water Resources and Environmental Consultants

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
2554	(1) 25 mm	0.72	94.75	95.41	0.41	0.85
2554	(1) 2-Year	1.95	94.75	95.72	0.56	0.70
2554	(1) 5-Year	3.20	94.75	95.93	0.65	0.61
2554	(1) 10-Year	4.11	94.75	96.04	0.71	0.57
2554	(1) 25-Year	5.28	94.75	96.14	0.78	0.55
2554	(1) 100-Year	7.27	94.75	96.26	0.84	0.58
2478	(1) 25 mm	0.72	94.75	95.35	0.42	0.80
2478	(1) 2-Year	1.95	94.75	95.65	0.59	0.66
2478	(1) 5-Year	3.20	94.75	95.85	0.72	0.58
2478	(1) 10-Year	4.11	94.75	95.94	0.82	0.54
2478	(1) 25-Year	5.28	94.75	96.03	0.93	0.53
2478	(1) 100-Year	7.27	94.75	96.12	1.10	0.56
2427.58*	(1) 25 mm	0.72	94.68	95.30	0.43	0.76
2427.58*	(1) 2-Year	1.95	94.68	95.60	0.61	0.64
2427.58*	(1) 5-Year	3.20	94.68	95.79	0.74	0.56
2427.58*	(1) 10-Year	4.11	94.68	95.87	0.84	0.53
2427.58*	(1) 25-Year	5.28	94.68	95.95	0.95	0.52
2427.58*	(1) 100-Year	7.27	94.68	96.04	1.11	0.54
0077 (7)	(1) 07					
2377.17*	(1) 25 mm	0.72	94.61	95.25	0.44	0.73
23/7.1/*	(1) 2-Year	1.95	94.61	95.54	0.62	0.61
2377.17*	(1) 5-Year	3.20	94.61	95.72	0.76	0.55
23/7.1/*	(1) 10-Year	4.11	94.61	95.80	0.86	0.51
23/7.1/*	(1) 25-Year	5.28	94.61	95.87	0.97	0.50
2377.17*	(1) 100-Year	1.27	94.61	95.95	1.09	0.53
2226 76*	(1) 25 mm	0.72	04 54	05 10	0.46	0.70
2320.70	(1) 25 mm	1.05	94.54	95.19	0.40	0.70
2326.76*	(1) <u>2-1</u> ear	3.20	94.54	95.40	0.04	0.53
2326.76*	(1) 3 - 1 ear	3.20 4 11	94.94	95.05	0.78	0.55
2326.76*	(1) 10-Tear (1) 25 Voor	5.28	94.94	95.72	0.00	0.30
2326.76*	(1) 23-rear	7.20	94.94	95.76	1.07	0.49
2320.70	(1) 100-1 ear	1.21	34.34	33.03	1.07	0.52
2276.35*	(1) 25 mm	0.72	94,48	95.13	0.49	0.67
2276.35*	(1) 2-Year	1.95	94.48	95.41	0.68	0.57
2276.35*	(1) 5-Year	3.20	94.48	95.57	0.80	0.51
2276.35*	(1) 10-Year	4.11	94.48	95.63	0.89	0.48
2276.35*	(1) 25-Year	5.28	94.48	95.69	0.96	0.47
2276.35*	(1) 100-Year	7.27	94.48	95.77	0.98	0.50
	()					
2225.94*	(1) 25 mm	0.72	94.41	95.05	0.54	0.65
2225.94*	(1) 2-Year	1.95	94.41	95.33	0.74	0.55
2225.94*	(1) 5-Year	3.20	94.41	95.48	0.84	0.49
2225.94*	(1) 10-Year	4.11	94.41	95.54	0.88	0.46
2225.94*	(1) 25-Year	5.28	94.41	95.59	0.95	0.46
2225.94*	(1) 100-Year	7.27	94.41	95.66	1.05	0.49
2175.53*	(1) 25 mm	0.72	94.34	94.93	0.68	0.62
2175.53*	(1) 2-Year	1.95	94.34	95.18	0.92	0.53
2175.53*	(1) 5-Year	3.20	94.34	95.33	1.04	0.48

Table A-1: HEC-RAS Results for Van Gaal Drain Reach 2 Under Existing Conditions (Floodplain)⁽¹⁾

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m ³ /s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
2175.53*	(1) 10-Year	4.11	94.34	95.42	0.95	0.45
2175.53*	(1) 25-Year	5.28	94.34	95.47	1.01	0.44
2175.53*	(1) 100-Year	7.27	94.34	95.54	1.07	0.48
2157	(1) 25 mm	0.72	94.31	94.72	1.45	0.62
2157	(1) 2-Year	1.95	94.31	94.93	1.76	0.53
2157	(1) 5-Year	3.20	94.31	95.13	1.64	0.47
2157	(1) 10-Year	4.11	94.31	95.25	1.54	0.44
2157	(1) 25-Year	5.28	94.31	95.37	1.28	0.44
2157	(1) 100-Year	7.27	94.31	95.48	1.13	0.47
2076	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.86	94.39	0.64	0.60
2076	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.86	94.74	0.76	0.51
2076	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.86	94.99	0.82	0.46
2076	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.86	95.10	0.90	0.43
2076	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.86	95.20	0.96	0.42
2076	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.86	95.33	0.99	0.45
	(.,)					
1974	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.68	94.22	0.62	0.55
1974	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.68	94.61	0.70	0.48
1974	(1) 5-Year	4 4 1	93.68	94 87	0.75	0.42
1974	(1) 10-Year	5 53	93.68	94 96	0.84	0.39
1974	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.68	95.05	0.93	0.39
1974	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.68	95.17	1.02	0.42
1071	(1) 100 100	0.01	00.00	00.11	1.02	0.12
1922	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93 59	94 14	0.61	0.53
1922	(1) 2-Year	2 80	93 59	94 56	0.67	0.46
1922	(1) 5-Year	4 4 1	93 59	94 82	0.74	0.40
1922	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93 59	94 90	0.84	0.38
1922	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93 59	94 97	0.96	0.38
1922	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93 59	95.06	1 11	0.00
1022	(1) 100 100	0.04	00.00	00.00	1.11	0.41
1833	(1) 25 mm	1 16	93 44	94 02	0.56	0 49
1833	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93 44	94 48	0.59	0.42
1833	(1) 5-Year	4 4 1	93.44	94 74	0.61	0.37
1833	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93 44	94.80	0.69	0.35
1833	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93 44	94.86	0.76	0.35
1833	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93 44	94 95	0.85	0.39
1000	(1) 100 100	0.01	00.11	01.00	0.00	0.00
1796	(1) 25 mm	1 16	93 37	93 97	0.54	0.47
1796	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.37	94 45	0.57	0.40
1796	(1) 5-Year	4 4 1	93.37	94 71	0.64	0.35
1796	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.37	94.76	0.76	0.33
1796	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.37	94 80	0.90	0.33
1796	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.37	94.86	1 13	0.38
1100	(1) 100 100	0.01	00.01	01.00	1.10	0.00
1735	(1) 25 mm	1 16	93 26	93 93	0 47	0 44
1735	(1) 2-Year	2 80	93.26	94 42	0.48	0.37
1735	(1) 5-Year	4 4 1	93.26	94.68	0.51	0.32
1735	(1) 10-Year	5 53	93.26	94 73	0.58	0.31
1735	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.26	94 77	0.66	0.31
1735	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.26	94.82	0.79	0.36

Table A-1: HEC-RAS Results for Van Gaal Drain Reach 2 Under Existing Conditions (Floodplain)⁽¹⁾

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocitv	Travel Time
Station		(m ³ /s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
			()	()	((**/
1728	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.25	93.91	0.56	0.44
1728	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.25	94.41	0.60	0.37
1728	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.25	94.67	0.68	0.32
1728	(1) 10-Year	5 53	93 25	94 71	0.80	0.31
1728	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93 25	94 73	0.96	0.31
1728	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93 25	94 75	1 25	0.36
	(1) 100 100	0.01	00.20	00		0.00
1727		Culvert				
1717	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.24	93.79	0.70	0.43
1717	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.24	94.17	0.85	0.36
1717	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.24	94.39	0.97	0.32
1717	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.24	94.51	1.03	0.30
1717	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.24	94.62	1.13	0.31
1717	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.24	94.74	1.28	0.35
	(1) 100 100					
1615	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.05	93 64	0.56	0 39
1615	(1) 2-Year	2 80	93.05	94 04	0.64	0.32
1615	(1) 5-Year	4 4 1	93.05	94 24	0.77	0.28
1615	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.05	94.36	0.84	0.27
1615	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.05	94 47	0.87	0.28
1615	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.05	94 61	0.87	0.33
1010	(1) 100 1001	0.01	00.00	01.01	0.01	0.00
1555	(1) 25 mm	1 16	92 94	93 58	0 50	0.35
1555	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.94	93.99	0.59	0.30
1555	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.94	94.19	0.72	0.26
1555	(1) 10-Year	5 53	92 94	94 29	0.80	0.25
1555	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.94	94 40	0.86	0.26
1555	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.94	94 53	0.94	0.31
	(.)					
1488	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.82	93.53	0.43	0.31
1488	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.82	93.96	0.53	0.26
1488	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.82	94.13	0.66	0.23
1488	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.82	94.23	0.73	0.23
1488	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.82	94.33	0.82	0.24
1488	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.82	94.46	0.92	0.29
1416	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.71	93.48	0.54	0.28
1416	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.71	93.89	0.73	0.23
1416	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.71	94.03	0.96	0.21
1416	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.71	94.10	1.07	0.21
1416	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.71	94.20	1.13	0.22
1416	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.71	94.38	0.94	0.27
-						
1400	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.68	93.47	0.39	0.27
1400	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.68	93.89	0.47	0.23
1400	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.68	94.03	0.60	0.20
1400	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.68	94.11	0.67	0.20
1400	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.68	94.20	0.75	0.22
1400	(1) 100-Year	9,54	92.68	94.36	0.86	0.27
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					

Table A-1: HEC-RAS Results for Van Gaal Drain Reach 2 Under Existing Conditions (Floodplain)

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
1364	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.62	93.46	0.34	0.24
1364	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.62	93.87	0.46	0.20
1364	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.62	94.00	0.61	0.19
1364	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.62	94.07	0.71	0.19
1364	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.62	94.16	0.81	0.20
1364	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.62	94.31	0.92	0.25
	. ,					
1340	(1) 25 mm	1.53	92.61	93.45	0.37	0.22
1340	(1) 2-Year	3.64	92.61	93.85	0.60	0.19
1340	(1) 5-Year	5.57	92.61	93.97	0.84	0.18
1340	(1) 10-Year	6.92	92.61	94.03	1.00	0.18
1340	(1) 25-Year	8.58	92.61	94.09	1.18	0.20
1340	(1) 100-Year	11.43	92.61	94.21	1.46	0.25
	()					
1339		Culvert				
1312	(1) 25 mm	1.53	92.47	93.45	0.32	0.20
1312	(1) 2-Year	3.87	92.47	93.84	0.57	0.18
1312	(1) 5-Year	5.93	92.47	93.95	0.82	0.17
1312	(1) 10-Year	7.38	92.47	94.00	0.99	0.17
1312	(1) 25-Year	9 17	92 47	94 05	1.19	0 19
1312	(1) 100-Year	12.20	92.47	94.14	1.50	0.24
	(.)					
1302	(1) 25 mm	1 53	92 57	93 41	0.83	0 19
1302	(1) 2-Year	3.87	92 57	93.81	0.88	0.17
1302	(1) 5-Year	5.93	92.57	93.92	1.05	0.17
1302	(1) 10-Year	7.38	92.57	93.98	1.00	0.17
1302	(1) 25-Year	9 17	92.57	94.04	1.10	0.19
1302	(1) 100-Year	12 20	92.57	94.15	1.20	0.10
1002	(1) 100 100	12.20	02.01	04.10	1.20	0.24
1268	(1) 25 mm	1.53	92 47	93 33	0 79	0.18
1268	(1) 2-Year	3.87	92.47	93 75	0.56	0.16
1268	(1) <u>5</u> -Year	5.93	92.47	93.88	0.57	0.16
1268	(1) 10-Year	7.38	92.47	93 94	0.60	0.16
1268	(1) 25-Year	9 17	92.47	94.01	0.61	0.18
1268	(1) 100-Year	12 20	92.47	94.01	0.52	0.10
1200	(1) 100 100	12.20	02.47	04.14	0.02	0.20
1212	(1) 25 mm	1 53	92 36	93 18	0.86	0.16
1212	(1) 2-Vear	3.87	92.36	93.61	0.89	0.16
1212	(1) <u>5-</u> Year	5.07	92.36	93.78	0.00	0.14
1212	(1) 10-Vear	7 38	92.36	93.85	0.91	0.13
1212	(1) 25-Vear	0.17	92.36	03.03	0.00	0.14
1212	(1) 100-Vear	12 20	92.36	94.10	0.76	0.10
1212	(1) 100-1001	12.20	52.50	54.10	0.70	0.21
1160	(1) 25 mm	1 53	92.30	93 10	0 60	0.15
1160	$(1) 2 V_{Par}$	3.87	02.00	03.53	0.00	0.10
1160	$(1) 5 V_{\text{par}}$	5.07	92.00	93.55	0.27	0.13
1160	(1) J-real (1) 10 Voor	J.33 7 22	92.30	93.70	0.00	0.12
1160	(1) 10-1 cal	0.17	02.30	02.05	0.91	0.12
1169	(1) 20 - 1 ear	9.17 10.00	92.3U	93.03	0.90	0.14
1109	(1) 100-1ear	12.20	32.30	34.04	0.00	0.19
1091	(1) 25 mm	1 53	92 15	92.98	0.65	0 11

Table A-1: HEC-RAS Results for Van Gaal Drain Reach 2 Under Existing Conditions (Floodplain)⁽¹⁾

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
1091	(1) 2-Year	3.87	92.15	93.40	0.75	0.10
1091	(1) 5-Year	5.93	92.15	93.57	0.82	0.09
1091	(1) 10-Year	7.38	92.15	93.65	0.85	0.10
1091	(1) 25-Year	9.17	92.15	93.75	0.85	0.12
1091	(1) 100-Year	12.20	92.15	93.97	0.83	0.17
1002	(1) 25 mm	1.53	92.06	92.81	0.76	0.08
1002	(1) 2-Year	3.87	92.06	93.21	0.90	0.07
1002	(1) 5-Year	5.93	92.06	93.39	0.98	0.07
1002	(1) 10-Year	7.38	92.06	93.50	0.93	0.07
1002	(1) 25-Year	9.17	92.06	93.65	0.83	0.09
1002	(1) 100-Year	12.20	92.06	93.93	0.65	0.13
961	(1) 25 mm	1.53	91.96	92.77	0.54	0.06
961	(1) 2-Year	3.87	91.96	93.14	0.71	0.05
961	(1) 5-Year	5.93	91.96	93.31	0.76	0.05
961	(1) 10-Year	7.38	91.96	93.44	0.71	0.06
961	(1) 25-Year	9.17	91.96	93.61	0.52	0.07
961	(1) 100-Year	12.20	91.96	93.92	0.35	0.11
910	(1) 25 mm	1.53	91.93	92.72	0.57	0.04
910	(1) 2-Year	3.87	91.93	93.07	0.72	0.03
910	(1) 5-Year	5.93	91.93	93.25	0.73	0.04
910	(1) 10-Year	7.38	91.93	93.40	0.69	0.04
910	(1) 25-Year	9.17	91.93	93.59	0.53	0.05
910	(1) 100-Year	12.20	91.93	93.91	0.33	0.07
840	(1) 25 mm	1.53	91.86	92.64	0.50	0.00
840	(1) 2-Year	3.87	91.86	93.00	0.44	0.00
840	(1) 5-Year	5.93	91.86	93.22	0.37	0.00
840	(1) 10-Year	7.38	91.86	93.38	0.33	0.00
840	(1) 25-Year	9.17	91.86	93.58	0.30	0.00
840	(1) 100-Year	12.20	91.86	93.91	0.25	0.00

Table A-1: HEC-RAS Results for Van Gaal Drain Reach 2 Under Existing Conditions (Floodplain)⁽¹⁾

⁽¹⁾ All channel infrastructure included in the HEC-RAS model for floodplain analysis.

For Scenario 1 (the Van Gaal Drain 100-year 24-hour SCS peak flow reaches the Jock River).

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m ³ /s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
2554	(2) 2-Year	4.13	94.75	96.03	0.71	0.58
2554	(2) 5-Year	5.24	94.75	96.13	0.78	0.55
2554	(2) 10-Year	6.01	94.75	96.18	0.81	0.54
2554	(2) 25-Year	6.94	94.75	96.23	0.83	0.57
2554	(2) 100-Year	8.32	94.75	96.28	0.82	0.68
2554	(4) 2-Year	3.97	94.75	96.02	0.70	0.58
2554	(4) 5-Year	2.02	94.75	95.74	0.56	0.71
2554	(4) 10-Year	1.57	94.75	95.64	0.52	0.82
2554	(4) 25-Year	2.25	94.75	95.78	0.58	0.93
2554	(4) 100-Year	2.86	94 75	95.88	0.63	2 01
	(1) 100 100	2.00	00		0.00	
2478	(2) 2-Year	4.13	94,75	95.93	0.83	0.55
2478	(2) 5-Year	5.24	94 75	96.02	0.93	0.52
2478	(2) 10-Year	6.01	94 75	96.06	1.00	0.52
2478	(2) 25-Year	6.94	94 75	96 10	1 09	0.55
2478	(2) 100-Year	8.32	94 75	96 14	1 17	0.66
2478	(4) 2-Year	3.97	94 75	95.92	0.81	0.56
2478	(4) 5-Year	2.02	94 75	95.67	0.60	0.67
2478	(4) 10-Year	1.57	94 75	95.57	0.55	0.78
2478	(4) 25-Year	2.25	94.75	95 71	0.63	0.89
2478	(4) 100-Year	2.20	94.75	95.80	0.69	1.98
2470	(4) 100 100	2.00	04.10	00.00	0.00	1.00
2427.58*	(2) 2-Year	4.13	94.68	95.86	0.85	0.53
2427.58*	(2) 5-Year	5.24	94.68	95.94	0.95	0.51
2427.58*	(2) 10-Year	6.01	94.68	95.97	1.04	0.51
2427.58*	(2) 25-Year	6.94	94.68	96.01	1.09	0.53
2427.58*	(2) 100-Year	8.32	94.68	96.05	1.16	0.65
2427.58*	(4) 2-Year	3.97	94.68	95.85	0.83	0.54
2427.58*	(4) 5-Year	2.02	94.68	95.61	0.61	0.65
2427.58*	(4) 10-Year	1.57	94.68	95.52	0.56	0.75
2427.58*	(4) 25-Year	2.25	94.68	95.65	0.64	0.87
2427.58*	(4) 100-Year	2.86	94.68	95.74	0.70	1.96
2377.17*	(2) 2-Year	4.13	94.61	95.79	0.87	0.52
2377.17*	(2) 5-Year	5.24	94.61	95.85	0.97	0.49
2377.17*	(2) 10-Year	6.01	94.61	95.88	1.03	0.49
2377.17*	(2) 25-Year	6.94	94.61	95.91	1.08	0.52
2377.17*	(2) 100-Year	8.32	94.61	95.95	1.13	0.63
2377.17*	(4) 2-Year	3.97	94.61	95.78	0.85	0.52
2377.17*	(4) 5-Year	2.02	94.61	95.56	0.63	0.63
2377.17*	(4) 10-Year	1.57	94.61	95.47	0.58	0.73
2377.17*	(4) 25-Year	2.25	94.61	95.60	0.65	0.85
2377.17*	(4) 100-Year	2.86	94.61	95.68	0.72	1.94
2326.76*	(2) 2-Year	4.13	94.54	95.71	0.88	0.50
2326.76*	(2) 5-Year	5.24	94.54	95.76	0.98	0.48
2326.76*	(2) 10-Year	6.01	94.54	95.79	1.02	0.48
2326.76*	(2) 25-Year	6.94	94.54	95.82	1.06	0.51
2326.76*	(2) 100-Year	8.32	94.54	95.85	1.11	0.62
2326.76*	(4) 2-Year	3.97	94.54	95.70	0.87	0.51
2326.76*	(4) 5-Year	2.02	94.54	95.50	0.65	0.61
2326.76*	(4) 10-Year	1.57	94.54	95.41	0.60	0.70

Table A-2: HEC-RAS Results for Van Gaal Drain Reach 2 Under Existing Conditions (Floodplain)⁽¹⁾

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m ³ /s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
2326.76*	(4) 25-Year	2.25	94.54	95.54	0.68	0.83
2326.76*	(4) 100-Year	2.86	94.54	95.61	0.75	1.92
	(.,					
2276 35*	(2) 2-Year	4 13	94 48	95 62	0.90	0 49
2276 35*	(2) 5-Year	5.24	94 48	95.66	0.98	0.46
2276 35*	(2) 10-Year	6.01	94 48	95.69	1 00	0.47
2276 35*	(2) 25-Year	6.94	94 48	95 72	1.00	0.50
2276 35*	(2) 100-Year	8.32	94 48	95.76	0.99	0.61
2276 35*	(4) 2-Year	3.97	94 48	95.61	0.89	0.49
2276 35*	(4) 5-Year	2 02	94 48	95 43	0.69	0.58
2276.35*	(4) 10-Year	1.57	94 48	95.34	0.63	0.68
2276.35*	(4) 25-Year	2 25	94 48	95.46	0.00	0.81
2276.35*	(4) 100-Year	2.86	94 48	95 53	0.77	1.91
227 0.00	(1) 100 1001	2.00	01.10	00.00	0.11	1.01
2225 94*	(2) 2-Year	4 13	94 41	95 52	0.87	0 47
2225.94*	(2) 5-Year	5.24	94 41	95 56	0.93	0.45
2225.94*	(2) 10-Year	6.01	94 41	95 59	0.97	0.45
2225.94*	(2) 25-Year	6.94	94 41	95.62	1 01	0.48
2225.94*	(2) 100-Year	8.32	94 41	95.65	1.06	0.59
2225.94*	(4) 2-Year	3.97	94 41	95 52	0.86	0.47
2225.94*	(4) 5-Year	2.02	94 41	95.34	0.75	0.57
2225.94*	(4) 10-Year	1.57	94 41	95.26	0.69	0.66
2225.94*	(4) 25-Year	2 25	94 41	95.37	0.77	0.79
2225 94*	(4) 100-Year	2.20	94.41	95.44	0.81	1.89
2220.01	(1) 100 1001	2.00	01.11	00.11	0.01	1.00
2175 53*	(2) 2-Year	4 13	94 34	95 43	0.83	0 45
2175 53*	(2) 5-Year	5.24	94 34	95 46	0.92	0.44
2175 53*	(2) 10-Year	6.01	94.34	95 47	0.99	0.44
2175 53*	(2) 25-Year	6.94	94 34	95 49	1 02	0.47
2175 53*	(2) 100-Year	8.32	94 34	95 54	1.02	0.58
2175 53*	(4) 2-Year	3.97	94.34	95 41	0.85	0.46
2175.53*	(4) 5-Year	2 02	94 34	95 19	0.93	0.55
2175.53*	(4) 10-Year	1.57	94 34	95 12	0.86	0.64
2175 53*	(4) 25-Year	2 25	94 34	95.23	0.96	0.77
2175 53*	(4) 100-Year	2.86	94.34	95.30	0.98	1.87
	(1) 100 100	2.00	0.101		0.00	
2157	(2) 2-Year	4.13	94.31	95.20	1.80	0.45
2157	(2) 5-Year	5.24	94.31	95.34	1.36	0.43
2157	(2) 10-Year	6.01	94.31	95.38	1.22	0.43
2157	(2) 25-Year	6.94	94.31	95.43	1.14	0.46
2157	(2) 100-Year	8.32	94.31	95.49	1.02	0.58
2157	(4) 2-Year	3.97	94 31	95 17	1.85	0.45
2157	(4) 5-Year	2.02	94 31	94 94	1 78	0.54
2157	(4) 10-Year	1.57	94 31	94 88	1 70	0.64
2157	(4) 25-Year	2 25	94 31	94 97	1.81	0.77
2157	(4) 100-Year	2.86	94 31	95.03	1 89	1.87
,	(.,		0			
2076	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.86	95.05	0.86	0.43
2076	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.86	95.16	0.93	0.41
2076	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.86	95.21	0.95	0.41
2076	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.86	95.27	0.95	0.44
2076	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.86	95.35	0.96	0.55

Table A-2: HEC-RAS Results for Van Gaal Drain Reach 2 Under Existing Conditions (Floodplain)

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
2076	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.86	95.03	0.85	0.44
2076	(4) 5-Year	2.34	93.86	94.65	0.75	0.53
2076	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.86	94.53	0.71	0.62
2076	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.86	94.70	0.76	0.75
2076	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.86	94.85	0.76	1.85
1974	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.68	94.92	0.80	0.40
1974	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.68	95.01	0.90	0.38
1974	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.68	95.06	0.94	0.38
1974	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.68	95.11	0.98	0.41
1974	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.68	95.20	1.01	0.53
1974	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.68	94.90	0.78	0.40
1974	(4) 5-Year	2.34	93.68	94.51	0.70	0.49
1974	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.68	94.37	0.67	0.58
1974	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.68	94.57	0.70	0.71
1974	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.68	94.74	0.68	1.81
	(1) 100 100					
1922	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.59	94.86	0.79	0.38
1922	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93 59	94 93	0.91	0.37
1922	(2) 10-Year	7 24	93 59	94 97	0.99	0.37
1922	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93 59	95.01	1.07	0.40
1022	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93 59	95.08	1.07	0.40
1922	(2) 100-10ar	4 78	93.59	94.84	0.77	0.39
1022	(4) <u>5</u> -Vear	2.34	03 50	94.04	0.67	0.00
1022	(4) 10 Voor	1 79	93.59	94.44	0.66	0.47
1922	(4) 10-1 ear	2.60	93.59	94.50	0.00	0.50
1022	(4) 20 - 1 ear	2.00	93.59	94.51	0.65	1 70
1922	(4) 100-Teal	5.29	93.39	94.09	0.05	1.75
1833	(2) 2-Vear	5.00	03 44	94 78	0.65	0.35
1833	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.44	94.84	0.00	0.34
1833	(2) 10-Vear	7.24	03.44	04.87	0.75	0.34
1833	(2) 70-1 ear	8 38	93.44	94.07	0.75	0.34
1833	(2) 23 - 1 ear	10.91	93.44	94.90	0.78	0.37
1833	(2) 100-real	10.01	93.44	94.97	0.62	0.49
1000	(4) 2-1eai	4.70	93.44	94.70	0.04	0.33
1033	(4) 5- real	2.34	93.44	94.35	0.00	0.43
1033	(4) 10-1 ear	1.70	93.44	94.20	0.59	0.52
1033	(4) 25 - 1 ear	2.00	93.44	94.42	0.00	0.05
1033	(4) 100-real	5.29	93.44	94.03	0.55	1.75
1706	(2) 2 Veer	F 00	02.27	04.74	0.70	0.22
1796	(2) Z-Year	5.00	93.37	94.74	0.70	0.33
1790	(2) 5- Year	0.32	93.37	94.79	0.83	0.32
1796	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.37	94.80	0.93	0.33
1796	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.37	94.83	1.04	0.36
1790	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.37	94.87	1.23	0.48
1790	(4) ∠-rear	4.78	93.37	94.73	0.00	0.34
1796	(4) 5-Year	2.34	93.37	94.33	0.57	0.41
1/96	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.37	94.17	0.56	0.50
1/96	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.37	94.40	0.57	0.64
1796	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.37	94.60	0.55	1.73
4705		- 00	00.00	04.74	0.50	
1/35	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.26	94.71	0.53	0.31
1735	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.26	94.76	0.57	0.30

Table A-2: HEC-RAS Results for Van Gaal Drain Reach 2 Under Existing Conditions (Floodplain)⁽¹⁾

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
1735	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.26	94.77	0.63	0.31
1735	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.26	94.79	0.68	0.34
1735	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.26	94.84	0.74	0.46
1735	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.26	94.70	0.53	0.31
1735	(4) 5-Year	2.34	93.26	94.29	0.49	0.38
1735	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.26	94.13	0.49	0.47
1735	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.26	94.36	0.49	0.61
1735	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.26	94.58	0.45	1.70
1728	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.25	94.69	0.73	0.31
1728	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.25	94.74	0.84	0.30
1728	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.25	94.74	0.95	0.31
1728	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.25	94.75	1.07	0.34
1728	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.25	94.76	1.32	0.46
1728	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.25	94.68	0.72	0.31
1728	(4) 5-Year	2.34	93.25	94.28	0.61	0.38
1728	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.25	94.11	0.60	0.47
1728	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.25	94.35	0.61	0.60
1728	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.25	94.57	0.58	1.70
1727		Culvert				
1717	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.24	94.45	1.02	0.30
1717	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.24	94.57	1.10	0.29
1717	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.24	94.62	1.17	0.30
1717	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.24	94.67	1.26	0.34
1717	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.24	94.74	1.39	0.46
1717	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.24	94.42	1.01	0.30
1717	(4) 5-Year	2.34	93.24	94.06	0.84	0.37
1717	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.24	93.94	0.80	0.46
1717	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.24	94.12	0.86	0.60
1717	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.24	94.32	0.79	1.69
1615	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.05	94.29	0.83	0.27
1615	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.05	94.40	0.88	0.26
1615	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.05	94.47	0.87	0.28
1615	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.05	94.53	0.87	0.31
1615	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.05	94.62	0.82	0.43
1615	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.05	94.26	0.82	0.27
1615	(4) 5-Year	2.34	93.05	93.92	0.65	0.34
1615	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.05	93.78	0.63	0.42
1615	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.05	93.98	0.66	0.56
1615	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.05	94.24	0.58	1.65
1555	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.94	94.22	0.79	0.25
1555	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.94	94.33	0.85	0.25
1555	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.94	94.39	0.88	0.26
1555	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.94	94.45	0.91	0.29
1555	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.94	94.55	0.96	0.41
1555	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.94	94.19	0.78	0.25
1555	(4) 5-Year	2.34	92.94	93.87	0.59	0.31
1555	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.94	93.72	0.58	0.40

Table A-2: HEC-RAS Results for Van Gaal Drain Reach 2 Under Existing Conditions (Floodplain)⁽¹⁾

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Flevation	Flevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m ³ /s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
1555	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.94	93.93	0.60	0.54
1555	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.94	94.21	0.53	1.62
	(1) 100 100	0.20	02.01	0.121	0.00	
1488	(2) 2-Year	5 00	92 82	94 16	0.72	0.23
1488	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.82	94 26	0.81	0.22
1488	(2) 10-Year	7 24	92.82	94 31	0.86	0.24
1488	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.82	94 37	0.91	0.27
1488	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.82	94 46	1.00	0.40
1488	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.82	94.13	0.72	0.23
1488	(4) 5-Year	2 34	92.82	93.82	0.53	0.28
1488	(4) 10-Year	1 78	92.82	93.66	0.51	0.36
1488	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.82	93.88	0.54	0.50
1488	(4) 100-Year	3 29	92.82	94 18	0.46	1 59
	(1) 100 100	0.20	02:02	0.110	0110	
1416	(2) 2-Year	5 00	92 71	94 02	1 09	0.21
1416	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92 71	94 10	1.21	0.20
1416	(2) 10-Year	7 24	92 71	94 17	1.21	0.22
1416	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92 71	94 25	1.12	0.25
1416	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92 71	94 40	0.82	0.37
1416	(4) 2-Year	4 78	92 71	93 99	1.08	0.21
1416	(4) 5-Year	2.34	92 71	93 74	0.74	0.25
1416	(4) 10-Year	1 78	92 71	93 58	0.71	0.33
1416	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92 71	93.81	0.76	0.00
1416	(4) 100-Year	3 29	92 71	94 14	0.58	1 55
1410	(4) 100 100	0.20	02.11	04.14	0.00	1.00
1400	(2) 2-Year	5 00	92.68	94 02	0.68	0 20
1400	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.68	94 11	0.77	0.20
1400	(2) 10-Year	7 24	92.68	94 16	0.82	0.21
1400	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.68	94 23	0.87	0.25
1400	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.68	94 36	0.96	0.37
1400	(4) 2-Year	4 78	92.68	93 99	0.68	0.20
1400	(4) 5-Year	2 34	92.68	93 74	0.50	0.20
1400	(4) 10-Year	1 78	92.68	93 58	0.50	0.32
1400	(4) 25-Year	2 60	92.68	93 80	0.50	0.47
1400	(4) 100-Year	3 29	92.68	94 14	0.38	1.54
	(1) 100 100	0.20	02.00	0	0.00	
1364	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.62	93.99	0.71	0.19
1364	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.62	94.06	0.82	0.19
1364	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.62	94.11	0.88	0.20
1364	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.62	94.18	0.95	0.24
1364	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.62	94.29	1.06	0.36
1364	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.62	93.96	0.70	0.19
1364	(4) 5-Year	2.34	92.62	93.72	0.46	0.22
1364	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.62	93.56	0.44	0.30
1364	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.62	93.79	0.47	0.45
1364	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.62	94.13	0.39	1.51
	(.)					
1340	(2) 2-Year	5.79	92.61	93.96	0.88	0.18
1340	(2) 5-Year	7.32	92.61	94.01	1.06	0.18
1340	(2) 10-Year	8.34	92.61	94.05	1.18	0.19
1340	(2) 25-Year	9.65	92.61	94.10	1.33	0.23
1340	(2) 100-Year	11.62	92.61	94.19	1.50	0.35

Table A-2: HEC-RAS Results for Van Gaal Drain Reach 2 Under Existing Conditions (Floodplain)

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
1340	(4) 2-Year	5.26	92.61	93.93	0.81	0.18
1340	(4) 5-Year	2.44	92.61	93.71	0.45	0.21
1340	(4) 10-Year	1.86	92.61	93.55	0.40	0.29
1340	(4) 25-Year	2.71	92.61	93.78	0.47	0.43
1340	(4) 100-Year	3.43	92.61	94.13	0.46	1.50
1339		Culvert				
1010	(2) 2 Veer	6.09	02.47	02.04	0.95	0.17
1312	(2) Z -Year	0.00	92.47	93.94	0.85	0.17
1312	(2) 5-Year	7.69	92.47	93.98	1.04	0.17
1312	(2) 10-Year	8.76	92.47	94.01	1.16	0.19
1312	(2) 25-Year	10.15	92.47	94.04	1.32	0.23
1312	(2) 100-Year	12.20	92.47	94.12	1.51	0.35
1312	(4) 2-Year	5.46	92.47	93.91	0.77	0.17
1312	(4) 5-Year	2.47	92.47	93.71	0.41	0.19
1312	(4) 10-Year	1.87	92.47	93.55	0.35	0.27
1312	(4) 25-Year	2.73	92.47	93.77	0.43	0.41
1312	(4) 100-Year	3.44	92.47	94.12	0.43	1.48
1302	(2) 2-Year	6.08	92.57	93.91	1.03	0.17
1302	(2) 5-Year	7.69	92.57	93.97	1.12	0.17
1302	(2) 10-Year	8.76	92.57	94.00	1.18	0.19
1302	(2) 25-Year	10.15	92.57	94.04	1.26	0.23
1302	(2) 100-Year	12.20	92.57	94.14	1.07	0.35
1302	(4) 2-Year	5.46	92.57	93.89	0.98	0.17
1302	(4) 5-Year	2.47	92.57	93.68	0.77	0.18
1302	(4) 10-Year	1.87	92.57	93.51	0.84	0.26
1302	(4) 25-Year	273	92 57	93 75	0.72	0.41
1302	(4) 100-Year	3.44	92.57	94.12	0.33	1.47
	(1) 100 100					
1268	(2) 2-Year	6.08	92.47	93.87	0.59	0.15
1268	(2) 5-Year	7.69	92.47	93.93	0.62	0.16
1268	(2) 10-Year	8.76	92.47	93.96	0.64	0.18
1268	(2) 25-Year	10.15	92.47	94.00	0.65	0.22
1268	(2) 100-Year	12.20	92.47	94.14	0.45	0.34
1268	(4) 2-Year	5.46	92.47	93.84	0.57	0.15
1268	(4) 5-Year	2.47	92.47	93.59	0.68	0.17
1268	(4) 10-Year	1.87	92.47	93.44	0.79	0.25
1268	(4) 25-Year	2.73	92.47	93.69	0.51	0.39
1268	(4) 100-Year	3.44	92.47	94.12	0.14	1.43
1010		0.00	00.00	00.70	0.04	0.40
1212	(∠) ∠-Year	۵.U8 ۲.CC	92.30	93.78	0.84	0.13
1212	(2) 5-Year	7.69	92.30	93.85	0.85	0.14
1212	(2) 10-Year	8.76	92.36	93.89	0.85	0.15
1212	(2) 25-Year	10.15	92.36	93.94	0.80	0.19
1212	(2) 100-Year	12.20	92.36	94.11	0.56	0.30
1212	(4) 2-Year	5.46	92.36	93.74	0.83	0.13
1212	(4) 5-Year	2.47	92.36	93.41	0.89	0.15
1212	(4) 10-Year	1.87	92.36	93.32	0.81	0.23
1212	(4) 25-Year	2.73	92.36	93.58	0.66	0.37
1212	(4) 100-Year	3.44	92.36	94.12	0.15	1.32
			1			

Table A-2: HEC-RAS Results for Van Gaal Drain Reach 2 Under Existing Conditions (Floodplain)⁽¹⁾

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
1169	(2) 2-Year	6.08	92.30	93.70	0.85	0.12
1169	(2) 5-Year	7.69	92.30	93.76	0.91	0.13
1169	(2) 10-Year	8.76	92.30	93.80	0.94	0.14
1169	(2) 25-Year	10.15	92.30	93.87	0.94	0.18
1169	(2) 100-Year	12.20	92.30	94.08	0.73	0.29
1169	(4) 2-Year	5.46	92.30	93.67	0.83	0.12
1169	(4) 5-Year	2.47	92.30	93.32	0.73	0.13
1169	(4) 10-Year	1.87	92.30	93.26	0.62	0.21
1169	(4) 25-Year	2.73	92.30	93.54	0.53	0.35
1169	(4) 100-Year	3.44	92.30	94.12	0.17	1.25
1091	(2) 2-Year	6.08	92.15	93.57	0.82	0.09
1091	(2) 5-Year	7.69	92.15	93.64	0.85	0.10
1091	(2) 10-Year	8.76	92.15	93.69	0.84	0.12
1091	(2) 25-Year	10.15	92.15	93.78	0.78	0.15
1091	(2) 100-Year	12.20	92.15	94.04	0.57	0.25
1091	(4) 2-Year	5.46	92.15	93.54	0.82	0.09
1091	(4) 5-Year	2.47	92.15	93.19	0.70	0.10
1091	(4) 10-Year	1.87	92.15	93.17	0.55	0.18
1091	(4) 25-Year	2.73	92.15	93.50	0.45	0.30
1091	(4) 100-Year	3.44	92.15	94.12	0.13	1.10
1002	(2) 2-Year	6.08	92.06	93.38	1.02	0.07
1002	(2) 5-Year	7.69	92.06	93.49	0.94	0.07
1002	(2) 10-Year	8.76	92.06	93.59	0.82	0.09
1002	(2) 25-Year	10.15	92.06	93.71	0.70	0.12
1002	(2) 100-Year	12.20	92.06	94.02	0.41	0.20
1002	(4) 2-Year	5.46	92.06	93.33	1.01	0.06
1002	(4) 5-Year	2.47	92.06	93.01	0.83	0.07
1002	(4) 10-Year	1.87	92.06	93.09	0.55	0.13
1002	(4) 25-Year	2.73	92.06	93.47	0.36	0.24
1002	(4) 100-Year	3.44	92.06	94.12	0.09	0.88
961	(2) 2-Year	6.08	91.96	93.28	0.83	0.05
961	(2) 5-Year	7.69	91.96	93.41	0.78	0.06
961	(2) 10-Year	8.76	91.96	93.52	0.65	0.07
961	(2) 25-Year	10.15	91.96	93.69	0.43	0.10
961	(2) 100-Year	12.20	91.96	94.02	0.24	0.17
961	(4) 2-Year	5.46	91.96	93.23	0.82	0.05
961	(4) 5-Year	2.47	91.96	92.97	0.62	0.06
961	(4) 10-Year	1.87	91.96	93.06	0.40	0.11
961	(4) 25-Year	2.73	91.96	93.46	0.25	0.21
961	(4) 100-Year	3.44	91.96	94.12	0.05	0.72
910	(2) 2-Year	6.08	91.93	93.22	0.70	0.03
910	(2) 5-Year	7.69	91.93	93.38	0.63	0.04
910	(2) 10-Year	8.76	91.93	93.49	0.52	0.05
910	(2) 25-Year	10.15	91.93	93.68	0.34	0.06
910	(2) 100-Year	12.20	91.93	94.02	0.20	0.10
910	(4) 2-Year	5.46	91.93	93.17	0.73	0.03
910	(4) 5-Year	2.47	91.93	92.91	0.64	0.03
910	(4) 10-Year	1.87	91.93	93.05	0.35	0.07

Table A-2: HEC-RAS Results for Van Gaal Drain Reach 2 Under Existing Conditions (Floodplain)⁽¹⁾

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
910	(4) 25-Year	2.73	91.93	93.46	0.18	0.14
910	(4) 100-Year	3.44	91.93	94.12	0.05	0.44
840	(2) 2-Year	6.08	91.86	93.18	0.41	0.00
840	(2) 5-Year	7.69	91.86	93.35	0.34	0.00
840	(2) 10-Year	8.76	91.86	93.48	0.30	0.00
840	(2) 25-Year	10.15	91.86	93.67	0.26	0.00
840	(2) 100-Year	12.20	91.86	94.02	0.18	0.00
840	(4) 2-Year	5.46	91.86	93.11	0.44	0.00
840	(4) 5-Year	2.47	91.86	92.83	0.47	0.00
840	(4) 10-Year	1.87	91.86	93.03	0.19	0.00
840	(4) 25-Year	2.73	91.86	93.45	0.10	0.00
840	(4) 100-Year	3.44	91.86	94.12	0.04	0.00

Table A-2: HEC-RAS Results for Van Gaal Drain Reach 2 Under Existing Conditions (Floodplain)⁽¹⁾

⁽¹⁾ All channel infrastructure included in the HEC-RAS model for floodplain analysis.

For Scenario 2 (the Van Gaal Drain 100-year spring snowmelt plus rainfall peak flow reaches the Jock River) and

Scenario 4 (the Jock River 100-year spring snowmelt plus rainfall peak flow reaches the outlet of the Van Gaal Drain).



ATTACHMENT



HEC- RAS Results for Van Gaal Drain Reach 2 Existing Conditions (Riparian Storage Analysis)

JFSA




HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Cumulative
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m ³)
2554	(1) 25 mm	0.72	94.75	95.41	0.41	3.57
2554	(1) 2-Year	1.95	94.75	95.72	0.56	7.64
2554	(1) 5-Year	3.20	94.75	95.93	0.65	11.95
2554	(1) 10-Year	4.11	94.75	96.04	0.71	15.65
2554	(1) 25-Year	5.28	94.75	96.14	0.78	22.19
2554	(1) 100-Year	7.27	94.75	96.26	0.84	38.09
2478	(1) 25 mm	0.72	94.75	95.35	0.42	3.44
2478	(1) 2-Year	1.95	94.75	95.65	0.59	7.39
2478	(1) 5-Year	3.20	94.75	95.85	0.72	11.60
2478	(1) 10-Year	4.11	94.75	95.94	0.82	15.23
2478	(1) 25-Year	5.28	94.75	96.03	0.93	21.64
2478	(1) 100-Year	7.27	94.75	96.12	1.10	37.03
2427.58*	(1) 25 mm	0.72	94.68	95.30	0.43	3.36
2427.58*	(1) 2-Year	1.95	94.68	95.60	0.61	7.23
2427.58*	(1) 5-Year	3.20	94.68	95.79	0.74	11.38
2427.58*	(1) 10-Year	4.11	94.68	95.87	0.84	14.96
2427.58*	(1) 25-Year	5.28	94.68	95.95	0.95	21.30
2427.58*	(1) 100-Year	7.27	94.68	96.04	1.11	36.45
2377.17*	(1) 25 mm	0.72	94.61	95.25	0.44	3.28
2377.17*	(1) 2-Year	1.95	94.61	95.54	0.62	7.07
2377.17*	(1) 5-Year	3.20	94.61	95.72	0.76	11.16
2377.17*	(1) 10-Year	4.11	94.61	95.80	0.86	14.68
2377.17*	(1) 25-Year	5.28	94.61	95.87	0.97	20.90
2377.17*	(1) 100-Year	7.27	94.61	95.95	1.09	35.75
2326.76*	(1) 25 mm	0.72	94.54	95.19	0.46	3.20
2326.76*	(1) 2-Year	1.95	94.54	95.48	0.64	6.91
2326.76*	(1) 5-Year	3.20	94.54	95.65	0.78	10.93
2326.76*	(1) 10-Year	4.11	94.54	95.72	0.88	14.37
2326.76*	(1) 25-Year	5.28	94.54	95.78	0.97	20.42
2326.76*	(1) 100-Year	7.27	94.54	95.85	1.07	34.92
2276.35*	(1) 25 mm	0.72	94.48	95.13	0.49	3.12
2276.35*	(1) 2-Year	1.95	94.48	95.41	0.68	6.77
2276.35*	(1) 5-Year	3.20	94.48	95.57	0.80	10.67
2276.35*	(1) 10-Year	4.11	94.48	95.63	0.89	14.00
2276.35*	(1) 25-Year	5.28	94.48	95.69	0.96	19.84
2276.35*	(1) 100-Year	7.27	94.48	95.77	0.98	33.90
0007.0.1	(1) 2-	- -		67 67	<u> </u>	
2225.94*	(1) 25 mm	0.72	94.41	95.05	0.54	3.05
2225.94*	(1) 2-Year	1.95	94.41	95.33	0.74	6.63
2225.94*	(1) 5-Year	3.20	94.41	95.48	0.84	10.38
2225.94*	(1) 10-Year	4.11	94.41	95.54	0.88	13.58
2225.94^	(1) 25-Year	5.28	94.41	95.59	0.95	19.24
2225.94^	(1)100-Year	1.27	94.41	95.66	1.05	32.94
0175 50+	(1) 05	0.70	04.04	04.00	0.00	0.00
21/0.53"	(1) 25 mm	0.72	94.34	94.93	0.00	2.99
21/0.05"	(1) 2- Year	1.90	94.34	90.10	0.92	0.01
21/0.00	(i) 5- real	3.20	94.34	90.00	1.03	10.12

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Cumulative
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m ³ /s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m ³)
2175.53*	(1) 10-Year	4.11	94.34	95.42	0.94	13.14
2175.53*	(1) 25-Year	5.28	94.34	95.47	1.01	18.68
2175.53*	(1) 100-Year	7.27	94.34	95.54	1.07	32.14
2157	(1) 25 mm	0.72	94.31	94.72	1.45	2.98
2157	(1) 2-Year	1.95	94.31	94.93	1.77	6.48
2157	(1) 5-Year	3.20	94.31	95.12	1.71	10.06
2157	(1) 10-Year	4.11	94.31	95.24	1.59	13.03
2157	(1) 25-Year	5.28	94.31	95.37	1.29	18.50
2157	(1) 100-Year	7.27	94.31	95.48	1.13	31.84
2076	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.86	94.39	0.64	2.89
2076	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.86	94.71	0.81	6.30
2076	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.86	94.94	0.89	9.79
2076	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.86	95.07	0.93	12.67
2076	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.86	95.19	0.97	17.86
2076	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.86	95.33	0.99	30.64
1974	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.68	94.21	0.63	2.71
1974	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.68	94.54	0.78	5.95
1974	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.68	94.77	0.86	9.29
1974	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.68	94.92	0.89	12.06
1974	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.68	95.04	0.95	16.97
1974	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.68	95.17	1.02	28.90
1922	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.59	94.12	0.63	2.62
1922	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.59	94.46	0.78	5.77
1922	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.59	94.70	0.87	9.04
1922	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.59	94.84	0.91	11.76
1922	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.59	94.95	0.98	16.58
1922	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.59	95.07	1.10	28.19
1833	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.44	93.97	0.62	2.45
1833	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.44	94.33	0.75	5.45
1833	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.44	94.56	0.81	8.57
1833	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.44	94.70	0.82	11.18
1833	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.44	94.82	0.83	15.73
1833	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.44	94.95	0.84	26.54
4700	(1) 05	4.40	00.07	00.04	0.00	0.00
1796	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.37	93.91	0.62	2.38
1796	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.37	94.28	0.73	5.31
1796	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.37	94.51	0.83	8.38
1796	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.37	94.64	0.88	10.95
1796	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.37	94.75	0.96	15.39
1796	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.37	94.87	1.11	25.93
1725	(1) 25 mm	1 16	03.26	03 83	በ 58	0 07
1725	(1) 25 11111 (1) 2 Voor	1.10 2.80	90.20	93.03 QA 91	0.50	2.21 5.02
1725	(1) 2-1 ear	2.00	90.20 02.26	34.21 01 11	0.07	9.00 9.05
1725	(1) 10 Voor	4.41	30.20 02.26	34.44 04 57	0.74	0.00
1725	(1) 10-1 ear (1) 25 Voor	6.06	30.20 03.26	94.97 04.60	0.77	1/ 92
1735	(1) 100_Veer	9.54	93.20	94.09	0.00	24 60
	(.) 100 IOu	0.0 1	00.20	01.00		

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Cumulative
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m ³ /s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m ³)
		. , ,				
1728	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.25	93.81	0.68	2.26
1728	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.25	94.19	0.84	5.05
1728	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.25	94.41	0.95	8.01
1728	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.25	94.53	1.01	10.51
1728	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.25	94.64	1.11	14.76
1728	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.25	94.78	1.17	24.43
	(1) 100 100					
1717	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.24	93.79	0.71	2.24
1717	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.24	94.16	0.86	5.01
1717	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.24	94.38	0.98	7.96
1717	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.24	94.50	1.04	10.45
1717	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.24	94.61	1.14	14.69
1717	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.24	94.73	1.32	24.28
1615	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.05	93.63	0.56	2.05
1615	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.05	94.03	0.65	4.63
1615	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.05	94.24	0.78	7.45
1615	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.05	94.35	0.85	9.83
1615	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.05	94.46	0.89	13.75
1615	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.05	94.59	0.90	22.47
1555	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.94	93.57	0.50	1.92
1555	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.94	93.99	0.60	4.36
1555	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.94	94.18	0.73	7.10
1555	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.94	94.28	0.81	9.41
1555	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.94	94.39	0.88	13.09
1555	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.94	94.51	0.97	21.28
1488	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.82	93.53	0.43	1.76
1488	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.82	93.95	0.53	4.04
1488	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.82	94.12	0.67	6.69
1488	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.82	94.22	0.75	8.93
1488	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.82	94.31	0.83	12.45
1488	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.82	94.43	0.97	20.32
1416	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.71	93.47	0.55	1.59
1416	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.71	93.88	0.74	3.73
1416	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.71	94.01	0.98	6.31
1416	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.71	94.08	1.11	8.48
1416	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.71	94.16	1.22	11.83
1416	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.71	94.28	1.29	19.29
1400	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.68	93.46	0.39	1.55
1400	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.68	93.87	0.48	3.65
1400	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.68	94.01	0.61	6.21
1400	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.68	94.08	0.69	8.37
1400	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.68	94.16	0.79	11.69
1400	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.68	94.27	0.95	19.07
	()					
1364	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.62	93.45	0.35	1.44
1364	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.62	93.86	0.46	3.44

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Cumulative
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m ³)
1364	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.62	93.98	0.63	5.96
1364	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.62	94.04	0.73	8.09
1364	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.62	94.11	0.85	11.37
1364	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.62	94.20	1.05	18.72
1340	(1) 25 mm	1.53	92.61	93.45	0.19	1.30
1340	(1) 2-Year	3.64	92.61	93.86	0.29	3.22
1340	(1) 5-Year	5.57	92.61	93.98	0.41	5.71
1340	(1) 10-Year	6.92	92.61	94.05	0.48	7.82
1340	(1) 25-Year	8.58	92.61	94.12	0.57	11.09
1340	(1) 100-Year	11.43	92.61	94.21	0.71	18.39
1312	(1) 25 mm	1.53	92.47	93.45	0.29	1.10
1312	(1) 2-Year	3.87	92.47	93.84	0.51	2.91
1312	(1) 5-Year	5.93	92.47	93.96	0.71	5.36
1312	(1) 10-Year	7.38	92.47	94.01	0.84	7.45
1312	(1) 25-Year	9.17	92.47	94.07	1.01	10.69
1312	(1) 100-Year	12.20	92.47	94.13	1.29	17.96
1302	(1) 25 mm	1.53	92.57	93.41	0.83	1.07
1302	(1) 2-Year	3.87	92.57	93.81	0.88	2.84
1302	(1) 5-Year	5.93	92.57	93.92	1.05	5.28
1302	(1) 10-Year	7.38	92.57	93.98	1.15	7.35
1302	(1) 25-Year	9.17	92.57	94.03	1.27	10.58
1302	(1) 100-Year	12.20	92.57	94.11	1.41	17.81
1268	(1) 25 mm	1.53	92.47	93.33	0.79	1.00
1268	(1) 2-Year	3.87	92.47	93.75	0.56	2.62
1268	(1) 5-Year	5.93	92.47	93.88	0.57	4.91
1268	(1) 10-Year	7.38	92.47	93.94	0.60	6.88
1268	(1) 25-Year	9.17	92.47	94.01	0.62	9.89
1268	(1) 100-Year	12.20	92.47	94.10	0.60	16.63
1212	(1) 25 mm	1.53	92.36	93.18	0.86	0.90
1212	(1) 2-Year	3.87	92.36	93.61	0.89	2.25
1212	(1) 5-Year	5.93	92.36	93.77	0.91	4.21
1212	(1) 10-Year	7.38	92.36	93.85	0.93	5.90
1212	(1) 25-Year	9.17	92.36	93.92	0.94	8.43
1212	(1) 100-Year	12.20	92.36	94.04	0.90	14.29
				/-		
1169	(1) 25 mm	1.53	92.30	93.10	0.69	0.81
1169	(1) 2-Year	3.87	92.30	93.53	0.78	2.01
1169	(1) 5-Year	5.93	92.30	93.70	0.86	3.67
1169	(1) 10-Year	7.38	92.30	93.77	0.92	5.11
1169	(1) 25-Year	9.17	92.30	93.84	0.98	7.33
1169	(1) 100-Year	12.20	92.30	93.94	1.09	12.63
4004	(1) 05	4 50	00.45	00.00	0.05	0.00
1091	(1) 25 mm	1.53	92.15	92.98	0.05	0.63
1091	(1) 2-Year	3.87	92.15	93.40	0.75	1.62
1091	(1) 5-Year	5.93	92.15	93.57	0.83	2.89
1091	(1) 10-1 ear (1) 25 Voor	1.30 0.17	92.10 02.15	33.04 03.71	0.07	4.03 5.01
1091		5.17	92. IU	50./1	0.92	5.91

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Cumulative
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m ³)
1091	(1) 100-Year	12.20	92.15	93.82	0.97	10.61
1002	(1) 25 mm	1.53	92.06	92.81	0.76	0.44
1002	(1) 2-Year	3.87	92.06	93.21	0.91	1.21
1002	(1) 5-Year	5.93	92.06	93.37	1.02	2.15
1002	(1) 10-Year	7.38	92.06	93.46	1.04	2.97
1002	(1) 25-Year	9.17	92.06	93.55	1.03	4.45
1002	(1) 100-Year	12.20	92.06	93.69	1.02	8.49
961	(1) 25 mm	1.53	91.96	92.77	0.54	0.34
961	(1) 2-Year	3.87	91.96	93.13	0.72	1.01
961	(1) 5-Year	5.93	91.96	93.28	0.80	1.85
961	(1) 10-Year	7.38	91.96	93.37	0.83	2.56
961	(1) 25-Year	9.17	91.96	93.47	0.82	3.85
961	(1) 100-Year	12.20	91.96	93.64	0.64	7.42
910	(1) 25 mm	1.53	91.93	92.72	0.57	0.20
910	(1) 2-Year	3.87	91.93	93.06	0.74	0.62
910	(1) 5-Year	5.93	91.93	93.20	0.81	1.16
910	(1) 10-Year	7.38	91.93	93.30	0.82	1.62
910	(1) 25-Year	9.17	91.93	93.41	0.83	2.38
910	(1) 100-Year	12.20	91.93	93.60	0.68	4.32
840	(1) 25 mm	1.53	91.86	92.65	0.50	0.00
840	(1) 2-Year	3.87	91.86	92.98	0.47	0.00
840	(1) 5-Year	5.93	91.86	93.16	0.43	0.00
840	(1) 10-Year	7.38	91.86	93.26	0.41	0.00
840	(1) 25-Year	9.17	91.86	93.38	0.41	0.00
840	(1) 100-Year	12.20	91.86	93.58	0.39	0.00

Table B-1: HEC-RAS Results for Van Gaal Drain Reach 2 Under Existing Conditions (Riparian)⁽¹⁾

⁽¹⁾ All channel infrastructure removed from the HEC-RAS model for riparian storage analysis.

For Scenario 1 (the Van Gaal Drain 100-year 24-hour SCS peak flow reaches the Jock River).

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Cumulative
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m ³ /s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m ³)
2554	(2) 2-Year	4.13	94.75	96.03	0.71	12.55
2554	(2) 5-Year	5.24	94.75	96.13	0.78	16.61
2554	(2) 10-Year	6.01	94.75	96.18	0.81	20.28
2554	(2) 25-Year	6.94	94.75	96.23	0.83	26.23
2554	(2) 100-Year	8.32	94.75	96.28	0.82	39.19
2554	(4) 2-Year	3.97	94.75	96.02	0.70	11.55
2554	(4) 5-Year	2.02	94.75	95.74	0.56	5.89
2554	(4) 10-Year	1.57	94.75	95.64	0.52	5.25
2554	(4) 25-Year	2.25	94.75	95.78	0.58	9.59
2554	(4) 100-Year	2.86	94 75	95.88	0.63	36.83
2001	(1) 100 1001	2.00	01.10	00.00	0.00	00.00
2478	(2) 2-Year	4 13	94 75	95 93	0.83	12 14
2478	(2) 5-Year	5.24	94 75	96.02	0.93	16.08
2478	(2) 10-Year	6.01	94 75	96.06	1.00	19.63
2478	(2) 25-Year	6.94	94 75	96.10	1.00	25.37
2478	(2) 100-Year	8.32	94 75	96.14	1.00	37.97
2478	(4) 2-Year	3.97	94 75	95.92	0.81	11 15
2478	(4) 5-Year	2.02	94.75	95.67	0.60	5.63
2478	(4) 10-Year	1.57	94 75	95.57	0.55	5.03
2478	(4) 25-Year	2.25	94.75	95 71	0.63	9.31
2478	(4) 100-Year	2.20	94.75	95.80	0.69	36.50
2470	(4) 100 100	2.00	04.10	00.00	0.00	00.00
2427.58*	(2) 2-Year	4.13	94.68	95.86	0.85	11.88
2427.58*	(2) 5-Year	5.24	94.68	95.94	0.95	15.75
2427.58*	(2) 10-Year	6.01	94.68	95.97	1.04	19.25
2427.58*	(2) 25-Year	6.94	94.68	96.01	1.09	24.89
2427.58*	(2) 100-Year	8.32	94.68	96.05	1.16	37.34
2427.58*	(4) 2-Year	3.97	94.68	95.85	0.83	10.90
2427.58*	(4) 5-Year	2.02	94.68	95.61	0.61	5.47
2427.58*	(4) 10-Year	1.57	94.68	95.52	0.56	4.88
2427.58*	(4) 25-Year	2.25	94.68	95.65	0.64	9.13
2427.58*	(4) 100-Year	2.86	94.68	95.74	0.70	36.30
2377.17*	(2) 2-Year	4.13	94.61	95.79	0.87	11.60
2377.17*	(2) 5-Year	5.24	94.61	95.85	0.97	15.39
2377.17*	(2) 10-Year	6.01	94.61	95.88	1.03	18.81
2377.17*	(2) 25-Year	6.94	94.61	95.91	1.08	24.33
2377.17*	(2) 100-Year	8.32	94.61	95.95	1.13	36.61
2377.17*	(4) 2-Year	3.97	94.61	95.78	0.85	10.63
2377.17*	(4) 5-Year	2.02	94.61	95.56	0.63	5.30
2377.17*	(4) 10-Year	1.57	94.61	95.47	0.58	4.75
2377.17*	(4) 25-Year	2.25	94.61	95.60	0.65	8.96
2377.17*	(4) 100-Year	2.86	94.61	95.68	0.72	36.10
2326.76*	(2) 2-Year	4.13	94.54	95.71	0.88	11.31
2326.76*	(2) 5-Year	5.24	94.54	95.76	0.98	14.98
2326.76*	(2) 10-Year	6.01	94.54	95.79	1.02	18.30
2326.76*	(2) 25-Year	6.94	94.54	95.82	1.06	23.69
2326.76*	(2) 100-Year	8.32	94.54	95.85	1.11	35.80
2326.76*	(4) 2-Year	3.97	94.54	95.70	0.87	10.35
2326.76*	(4) 5-Year	2.02	94.54	95.50	0.65	5.14
2326.76*	(4) 10-Year	1.57	94.54	95.41	0.60	4.61

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Cumulative
River			Flevation	Flevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m ³ /s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m^3)
2326 76*	(4) 25-Year	2 25	94 54	95 54	0.68	8 79
2326.76*	(4) 100-Year	2.20	94 54	95.61	0.00	35.90
2020.70	(4) 100 100	2.00	04.04	00.01	0.70	00.00
2276 35*	(2) 2 Vear	1 13	94.48	95.62	0.90	10.97
2276.35*	(2) <u>2-1</u> ear	5.24	94.40	95.02 95.66	0.90	14.50
2270.35	$(2) \ 10 \ Voor$	5.24 6.01	94.40	95.00	1.00	17.70
2270.33	(2) 10-Tear	6.01	94.40	95.09	1.00	22.05
2270.33	(2) 23 - 1 ear	0.94 8.32	94.40	95.72	0.00	22.95
2270.33	(2) 100-real	2.07	94.40	95.70	0.99	10.02
2270.33	(4) 2- Fear	3.97	94.40	95.01	0.69	10.03
2276.35	(4) 5-Year	2.02	94.48	95.43	0.69	4.99
2276.35	(4) 10-Year	1.57	94.48	95.34	0.63	4.48
2276.35	(4) 25-Year	2.25	94.48	95.46	0.71	8.62
2276.35"	(4) 100-Year	2.86	94.48	95.53	0.77	35.68
0005 0.4*		4.40	04.44	05 50	0.07	40.50
2225.94*	(2) 2-Year	4.13	94.41	95.52	0.87	10.59
2225.94^	(2) 5-Year	5.24	94.41	95.56	0.93	14.00
2225.94*	(2) 10-Year	6.01	94.41	95.59	0.97	17.11
2225.94*	(2) 25-Year	6.94	94.41	95.62	1.01	22.24
2225.94*	(2) 100-Year	8.32	94.41	95.65	1.06	33.93
2225.94*	(4) 2-Year	3.97	94.41	95.52	0.86	9.67
2225.94*	(4) 5-Year	2.02	94.41	95.34	0.75	4.85
2225.94*	(4) 10-Year	1.57	94.41	95.26	0.69	4.36
2225.94*	(4) 25-Year	2.25	94.41	95.37	0.77	8.46
2225.94*	(4) 100-Year	2.86	94.41	95.44	0.81	35.46
2175.53*	(2) 2-Year	4.13	94.34	95.43	0.83	10.17
2175.53*	(2) 5-Year	5.24	94.34	95.46	0.92	13.49
2175.53*	(2) 10-Year	6.01	94.34	95.47	0.99	16.55
2175.53*	(2) 25-Year	6.94	94.34	95.49	1.02	21.61
2175.53*	(2) 100-Year	8.32	94.34	95.54	1.02	33.17
2175.53*	(4) 2-Year	3.97	94.34	95.42	0.85	9.27
2175.53*	(4) 5-Year	2.02	94.34	95.19	0.93	4.73
2175.53*	(4) 10-Year	1.57	94.34	95.12	0.86	4.26
2175.53*	(4) 25-Year	2.25	94.34	95.23	0.96	8.33
2175.53*	(4) 100-Year	2.86	94.34	95.30	0.98	35.25
2157	(2) 2-Year	4.13	94.31	95.18	1.86	10.06
2157	(2) 5-Year	5.24	94.31	95.34	1.37	13.33
2157	(2) 10-Year	6.01	94.31	95.38	1.22	16.37
2157	(2) 25-Year	6.94	94.31	95.43	1.14	21.39
2157	(2) 100-Year	8.32	94.31	95.49	1.02	32.87
2157	(4) 2-Year	3.97	94.31	95.16	1.91	9.17
2157	(4) 5-Year	2.02	94.31	94.94	1.78	4.70
2157	(4) 10-Year	1.57	94.31	94.88	1.70	4.24
2157	(4) 25-Year	2.25	94.31	94.97	1.81	8.29
2157	(4) 100-Year	2.86	94.31	95.03	1.90	35.20
2076	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.86	95.01	0.91	9.75
2076	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.86	95.14	0.95	12.81
2076	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.86	95.21	0.96	15.68
2076	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.86	95.27	0.95	20.49
2076	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.86	95.35	0.96	31.59

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Cumulative
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m ³)
2076	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.86	94.98	0.91	8.88
2076	(4) 5-Year	2.34	93.86	94.63	0.77	4.53
2076	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.86	94.52	0.72	4.10
2076	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.86	94.67	0.79	8.11
2076	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.86	94.79	0.83	34.98
1974	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.68	94.85	0.88	9.20
1974	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.68	94.99	0.93	12.10
1974	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.68	95.05	0.96	14.73
1974	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.68	95.11	0.98	19.20
1974	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.68	95.20	1.00	29.64
1974	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.68	94.82	0.88	8.35
1974	(4) 5-Year	2.34	93.68	94.46	0.76	4.23
1974	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.68	94.35	0.71	3.86
1974	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.68	94.51	0.78	7.79
1974	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.68	94.62	0.80	34.59
-	()					
1922	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.59	94.77	0.89	8.92
1922	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.59	94.90	0.94	11.76
1922	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.59	94.96	1.00	14.32
1922	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.59	95.01	1.07	18.67
1922	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.59	95.08	1.18	28.85
1922	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.59	94.74	0.89	8.08
1922	(4) 5-Year	2.34	93.59	94.37	0.76	4.08
1922	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93 59	94 26	0.71	3.73
1922	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93 59	94 42	0.77	7.62
1922	(4) 100-Year	3 29	93 59	94 55	0.80	34 38
	(1) 100 100	0.20		0 1100	0.00	0 1100
1833	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.44	94.63	0.82	8.40
1833	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.44	94.77	0.84	11.10
1833	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.44	94.83	0.82	13.41
1833	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.44	94.89	0.80	17.44
1833	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.44	94.98	0.81	27.04
1833	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.44	94.60	0.82	7.58
1833	(4) 5-Year	2.34	93.44	94.24	0.73	3.80
1833	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.44	94.12	0.69	3.51
1833	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.44	94.29	0.74	7.31
1833	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.44	94.42	0.76	34.01
	(.)					
1796	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.37	94.57	0.87	8.19
1796	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.37	94.70	0.93	10.83
1796	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.37	94.76	0.99	13.05
1796	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.37	94.81	1.06	16.97
1796	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.37	94.88	1.20	26.38
1796	(4) 2-Year	4,78	93.37	94.54	0.86	7,38
1796	(4) 5-Year	2.34	93.37	94 19	0.71	3.68
1796	(4) 10-Year	1 78	93 37	94.06	0.68	3 41
1796	(4) 25-Year	2 60	93 37	94 24	0.73	7 19
1796	(4) 100-Year	3 29	93 37	94.37	0.75	33.85
1700	<u>,</u> +, 100-10ai	0.20	00.01	07.07	0.70	00.00
1735	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.26	94.50	0.77	7.83
1735	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.26	94.63	0.80	10.38

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Cumulative
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m ³ /s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m ³)
1735	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.26	94.70	0.80	12.45
1735	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.26	94.77	0.74	16.06
1735	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.26	94.85	0.69	24.90
1735	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.26	94.47	0.76	7.04
1735	(4) 5-Year	2.34	93.26	94.11	0.66	3.49
1735	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.26	93.98	0.64	3.26
1735	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.26	94.17	0.67	6.97
1735	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.26	94.31	0.67	33.58
	()					
1728	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.25	94.47	1.00	7.79
1728	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.25	94.59	1.07	10.33
1728	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.25	94.65	1.14	12.38
1728	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.25	94.71	1.19	15.95
1728	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.25	94.81	1.12	24.69
1728	(4) 2-Year	4 78	93 25	94 44	0.99	7.00
1728	(4) 5-Year	2.34	93.25	94.09	0.82	3.46
1728	(4) 10-Year	1 78	93.25	93.96	0.78	3 24
1728	(4) 25-Year	2 60	93 25	94 14	0.84	6.94
1728	(4) 100-Year	3 29	93 25	94 29	0.85	33 55
1120	(1) 100 1001	0.20	00.20	01.20	0.00	00.00
1717	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93 24	94 44	1.03	7 74
1717	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.24	94 56	1 11	10.26
1717	(2) 10-Year	7 24	93.24	94 61	1 18	12.30
1717	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.24	94.66	1.10	15.86
1717	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.24	94 73	1.20	24 52
1717	(4) 2-Year	4 78	93.24	94.41	1.40	6 94
1717	(4) 5-Year	2 34	93.24	94.06	0.85	3 43
1717	(4) 10-Year	1 78	93.24	93.93	0.81	3 21
1717	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.24	94 11	0.87	6.91
1717	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.24	94.26	0.87	33 51
	(4) 100 100	0.20	00.24	04.20	0.07	00.01
1615	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.05	94 28	0.84	7 18
1615	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.05	94.40	0.89	9.52
1615	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.05	94.46	0.88	11.35
1615	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.05	94 52	0.88	14 62
1615	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.05	94.62	0.84	22.57
1615	(4) 2-Year	4 78	93.05	94 25	0.83	6 4 1
1615	(4) 5-Year	2 34	93.05	93 92	0.65	3 11
1615	(4) 10-Year	1 78	93.05	93 77	0.64	2.96
1615	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.05	93.97	0.66	6.56
1615	(4) 100-Year	3 29	93.05	94 15	0.65	33.06
	(1) 100 100	0.20		00	0.00	00.00
1555	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92 94	94 21	0 79	6.82
1555	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.94	94.33	0.86	9.01
1555	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.94	94 39	0.89	10.68
1555	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.94	94 45	0.92	13 73
1555	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.94	94 54	0.98	21.28
1555	(4) 2-Year	4 78	92.94	94 19	0.79	6.06
1555	(4) 5-Year	2.34	92.94	93.86	0.60	2 89
1555	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.94	93 71	0.59	2 79
1555	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.94	93 92	0.61	6.32
1555	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.94	94.11	0.59	32.74

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Cumulative
River	1 Tollio	1101	Flevation	Flevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m ³ /s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m^3)
Oldion		(,0)	(''')	(11)	(11/0)	(1000)
1488	(2) 2-Year	5 00	92 82	94 15	0.73	6 39
1488	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.82	94.25	0.82	8 47
1488	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.82	94.31	0.82	10.04
1400	(2) 70-1 ear	8.38	92.02	94.31	0.07	12.04
1400	(2) 20 - 1 ear	10.81	02.02	94.30	1.06	20.28
1400	(2) 100-real (4) 2-Vear	10.01	92.02	94.43	0.73	5.64
1400	(4) 2- Tear	4.70	92.02	94.12	0.73	2.62
1400	$(4) \ 3 - 1 \ ear$	1 70	92.02	93.01	0.54	2.02
1400	(4) 10-1 ear	1.70	92.02	93.05	0.52	2.00
1488	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.82	93.88	0.55	6.02
1488	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.82	94.07	0.53	32.30
1110	(2) 2 Veer	E 00	00.71	04.00	1 1 1	6.00
1416	(2) 2- Year	5.00	92.71	94.00	1.11	6.00
1416	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.71	94.08	1.27	8.01
1416	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.71	94.12	1.34	9.48
1416	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.71	94.18	1.35	12.25
1416	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.71	94.28	1.32	19.24
1416	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.71	93.98	1.11	5.27
1416	(4) 5-Year	2.34	92.71	93.73	0.75	2.36
1416	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.71	93.57	0.73	2.38
1416	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.71	93.80	0.77	5.74
1416	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.71	94.01	0.73	31.99
1400	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.68	94.00	0.70	5.91
1400	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.68	94.08	0.80	7.90
1400	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.68	94.12	0.86	9.35
1400	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.68	94.17	0.93	12.10
1400	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.68	94.25	1.10	19.02
1400	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.68	93.97	0.70	5.18
1400	(4) 5-Year	2.34	92.68	93.73	0.51	2.30
1400	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.68	93.56	0.51	2.33
1400	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.68	93.79	0.51	5.67
1400	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.68	94.01	0.46	31.90
1364	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.62	93.97	0.73	5.66
1364	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.62	94.03	0.85	7.62
1364	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.62	94.06	0.93	9.06
1364	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.62	94.10	1.03	11.79
1364	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.62	94.15	1.27	18.68
1364	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.62	93.94	0.72	4.94
1364	(4) 5-Year	2.34	92.62	93.71	0.47	2.13
1364	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.62	93.54	0.46	2.20
1364	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.62	93.77	0.48	5.48
1364	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.62	93.99	0.46	31.64
1340	(2) 2-Year	5.79	92.61	93.97	0.42	5.41
1340	(2) 5-Year	7.32	92.61	94.04	0.51	7.36
1340	(2) 10-Year	8.34	92.61	94.07	0.57	8.79
1340	(2) 25-Year	9.65	92.61	94 11	0.64	11 50
1340	(2) 100-Year	11 62	92.61	94 16	0.74	18.38
1340	(4) 2-Year	5 26	92.61	93 94	0.40	4 70
1340	(4) 5-Year	2.44	92.61	93.71	0.22	1.94

River Elevation Elevation Valacity	Volumo
	volume
Station (m ³ /s) (m) (m) (m/s)	(1000 m ³)
1340 (4) 10-Year 1.86 92.61 93.54 0.20	2.05
1340 (4) 25-Year 2.71 92.61 93.78 0.23	5.28
1340 (4) 100-Year 3.43 92.61 93.99 0.25	31.39
1312 (2) 2-Year 6.08 92.47 93.95 0.71	5.07
1312 (2) 5-Year 7.69 92.47 94.00 0.85	7.00
1312 (2) 10-Year 8.76 92.47 94.03 0.95	8.41
1312 (2) 25-Year 10.15 92.47 94.06 1.08	11.11
1312 (2) 100-Year 12.20 92.47 94.09 1.27	17.96
1312 (4) 2-Year 5.46 92.47 93.92 0.65	4.37
1312 (4) 5-Year 2.47 92.47 93.71 0.36	1.67
1312 (4) 10-Year 1.87 92.47 93.54 0.32	1.82
1312 (4) 25-Year 2.73 92.47 93.77 0.37	4.99
1312 (4) 100-Year 3.44 92.47 93.99 0.39	31.03
1302 (2) 2-Year 6.08 92.57 93.91 1.03	4.98
1302 (2) 5-Year 7.69 92.57 93.97 1.13	6.90
1302 (2) 10-Year 8.76 92.57 94.00 1.18	8.31
1302 (2) 25-Year 10.15 92.57 94.04 1.26	11.00
1302 (2) 100-Year 12.20 92.57 94.07 1.39	17.84
1302 (4) 2-Year 5.46 92.57 93.89 0.98	4.28
1302 (4) 5-Year 2.47 92.57 93.68 0.77	1.62
1302 (4) 10-Year 1.87 92.57 93.50 0.85	1.79
1302 (4) 25-Year 2.73 92.57 93.74 0.73	4.94
1302 (4) 100-Year 3.44 92.57 93.98 0.49	30.93
1268 (2) 2-Year 6.08 92.47 93.87 0.59	4.63
1268 (2) 5-Year 7.69 92.47 93.93 0.62	6.46
1268 (2) 10-Year 8.76 92.47 93.96 0.64	7.77
1268 (2) 25-Year 10.15 92.47 94.00 0.67	10.34
1268 (2) 100-Year 12.20 92.47 94.05 0.64	16.97
1268 (4) 2-Year 5.46 92.47 93.84 0.57	3.96
1268 (4) 5-Year 2.47 92.47 93.59 0.68	1.50
1268 (4) 10-Year 1.87 92.47 93.43 0.81	1.71
1268 (4) 25-Year 2.73 92.47 93.67 0.53	4.78
1268 (4) 100-Year 3.44 92.47 93.98 0.24	30.37
	2.02
1212 (2) 2-Year 6.08 92.36 93.78 0.84	3.93
1212 (2) 5-Year 7.09 92.36 93.85 0.85	5.52
1212 (2) 10-Year 0.70 92.30 93.00 0.00	0.02
1212 (2) 23-Year 10.15 92.36 93.93 0.64	0.90
1212 (2) 100-Year 12.20 92.36 94.00 0.80	15.05
1212 (4) 2-16a1 5.46 92.36 93.74 0.63	3.30
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	1.52
1212 (4) 25 Vear 273 02 26 03 54 0.74	1.50
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	4.02 28 90
1212 (4) 100-16ai 3.44 92.30 93.97 0.24	20.09
1169 (2) 2-Year 6.08 02 30 03 70 0.86	3 30
1169 (2) 5-Year 7.69 92.30 93.76 0.00	Δ.33 Δ.7Δ
1169 (2) 10-Year 8 76 92.30 93.80 0.95	5 69
1169 (2) 25-Year 10.15 92.30 93.84 0.99	7 77

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Cumulative
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m ³)
1169	(2) 100-Year	12.20	92.30	93.91	1.04	13.62
1169	(4) 2-Year	5.46	92.30	93.67	0.83	2.90
1169	(4) 5-Year	2.47	92.30	93.32	0.73	1.19
1169	(4) 10-Year	1.87	92.30	93.24	0.65	1.47
1169	(4) 25-Year	2.73	92.30	93.49	0.59	4.33
1169	(4) 100-Year	3.44	92.30	93.97	0.28	27.39
1091	(2) 2-Year	6.08	92.15	93.57	0.83	2.61
1091	(2) 5-Year	7.69	92.15	93.64	0.85	3.66
1091	(2) 10-Year	8.76	92.15	93.68	0.88	4.46
1091	(2) 25-Year	10.15	92.15	93.72	0.91	6.34
1091	(2) 100-Year	12.20	92.15	93.80	0.88	11.79
1091	(4) 2-Year	5.46	92.15	93.53	0.82	2.26
1091	(4) 5-Year	2.47	92.15	93.18	0.71	0.93
1091	(4) 10-Year	1.87	92.15	93.14	0.58	1.23
1091	(4) 25-Year	2.73	92.15	93.42	0.51	3.94
1091	(4) 100-Year	3.44	92.15	93.96	0.19	24.73
1002	(2) 2-Year	6.08	92.06	93.36	1.05	1.89
1002	(2) 5-Year	7.69	92.06	93.45	1.07	2.63
1002	(2) 10-Year	8.76	92.06	93.50	1.06	3.23
1002	(2) 25-Year	10.15	92.06	93.57	0.99	4.82
1002	(2) 100-Year	12.20	92.06	93.70	0.86	9.70
1002	(4) 2-Year	5.46	92.06	93.32	1.03	1.66
1002	(4) 5-Year	2.47	92.06	93.00	0.85	0.65
1002	(4) 10-Year	1.87	92.06	93.04	0.60	0.95
1002	(4) 25-Year	2.73	92.06	93.37	0.47	3.41
1002	(4) 100-Year	3.44	92.06	93.96	0.14	20.76
961	(2) 2-Year	6.08	91.96	93.25	0.88	1.61
961	(2) 5-Year	7.69	91.96	93.33	0.93	2.25
961	(2) 10-Year	8.76	91.96	93.39	0.95	2.77
961	(2) 25-Year	10.15	91.96	93.48	0.88	4.19
961	(2) 100-Year	12.20	91.96	93.67	0.55	8.56
961	(4) 2-Year	5.46	91.96	93.22	0.85	1.41
961	(4) 5-Year	2.47	91.96	92.95	0.64	0.51
961	(4) 10-Year	1.87	91.96	93.02	0.43	0.80
961	(4) 25-Year	2.73	91.96	93.35	0.32	3.09
961	(4) 100-Year	3.44	91.96	93.96	0.08	18.01
910	(2) 2-Year	6.08	91.93	93.17	0.79	0.99
910	(2) 5-Year	7.69	91.93	93.26	0.80	1.41
910	(2) 10-Year	8.76	91.93	93.32	0.77	1.75
910	(2) 25-Year	10.15	91.93	93.43	0.70	2.59
910	(2) 100-Year	12.20	91.93	93.65	0.44	4.99
910	(4) 2-Year	5.46	91.93	93.14	0.78	0.86
910	(4) 5-Year	2.47	91.93	92.89	0.67	0.31
910	(4) 10-Year	1.87	91.93	93.00	0.40	0.51
910	(4) 25-Year	2.73	91.93	93.35	0.24	2.01
910	(4) 100-Year	3.44	91.93	93.96	0.06	10.36
840	(2) 2-Year	6.08	91.86	93.10	0.50	0.00

Table B-2:	HEC-RAS F	Results for `	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2 Und	er Existing	Condition	s (Riparian) ⁽	1)

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Cumulative
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m ³)
840	(2) 5-Year	7.69	91.86	93.21	0.48	0.00
840	(2) 10-Year	8.76	91.86	93.28	0.46	0.00
840	(2) 25-Year	10.15	91.86	93.41	0.41	0.00
840	(2) 100-Year	12.20	91.86	93.64	0.34	0.00
840	(4) 2-Year	5.46	91.86	93.06	0.51	0.00
840	(4) 5-Year	2.47	91.86	92.80	0.52	0.00
840	(4) 10-Year	1.87	91.86	92.97	0.23	0.00
840	(4) 25-Year	2.73	91.86	93.34	0.12	0.00
840	(4) 100-Year	3.44	91.86	93.96	0.05	0.00

⁽¹⁾ All channel infrastructure removed from the HEC-RAS model for riparian storage analysis.

For Scenario 2 (the Van Gaal Drain 100-year spring snowmelt plus rainfall peak flow reaches the Jock River) and

Scenario 4 (the Jock River 100-year spring snowmelt plus rainfall peak flow reaches the outlet of the Van Gaal Drain).



ATTACHMENT



HEC- RAS Results for Van Gaal Drain Reach 2 Proposed Conditions (Floodplain Analysis)



Richmond Village Development Proposed Realignment of Van Gaal Drain



HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
2554	(1) 25 mm	0.72	94.75	95.41	0.41	1.10
2554	(1) 2-Year	1.95	94.75	95.71	0.57	0.85
2554	(1) 5-Year	3.20	94.75	95.91	0.67	0.69
2554	(1) 10-Year	4.11	94.75	96.03	0.72	0.64
2554	(1) 25-Year	5.28	94.75	96.14	0.78	0.60
2554	(1) 100-Year	7.27	94.75	96.26	0.84	0.60
2478	(1) 25 mm	0.72	94.75	95.34	0.43	1.05
2478	(1) 2-Year	1.95	94.75	95.63	0.62	0.81
2478	(1) 5-Year	3.20	94.75	95.82	0.75	0.67
2478	(1) 10-Year	4.11	94.75	95.93	0.83	0.61
2478	(1) 25-Year	5.28	94.75	96.03	0.93	0.58
2478	(1) 100-Year	7.27	94.75	96.13	1.10	0.58
2427.58*	(1) 25 mm	0.72	94.68	95.29	0.45	1.02
2427.58*	(1) 2-Year	1.95	94.68	95.57	0.65	0.79
2427.58*	(1) 5-Year	3.20	94.68	95.75	0.77	0.65
2427.58*	(1) 10-Year	4.11	94.68	95.85	0.86	0.59
2427.58*	(1) 25-Year	5.28	94.68	95.95	0.95	0.56
2427.58*	(1) 100-Year	7.27	94.68	96.04	1.10	0.57
2377.17*	(1) 25 mm	0.72	94.61	95.23	0.47	0.99
2377.17*	(1) 2-Year	1.95	94.61	95.50	0.68	0.77
2377.17*	(1) 5-Year	3.20	94.61	95.68	0.82	0.63
2377.17*	(1) 10-Year	4.11	94.61	95.77	0.90	0.58
2377.17*	(1) 25-Year	5.28	94.61	95.86	0.99	0.55
2377.17*	(1) 100-Year	7.27	94.61	95.95	1.07	0.56
2326.76*	(1) 25 mm	0.72	94.54	95.15	0.52	0.97
2326.76*	(1) 2-Year	1.95	94.54	95.41	0.75	0.75
2326.76*	(1) 5-Year	3.20	94.54	95.57	0.90	0.61
2326.76*	(1) 10-Year	4.11	94.54	95.67	0.97	0.56
2326.76*	(1) 25-Year	5.28	94.54	95.77	1.02	0.54
2326.76*	(1) 100-Year	7.27	94.54	95.88	0.95	0.54
2276.35*	(1) 25 mm	0.72	94.48	94.86	1.40	0.95
2276.35*	(1) 2-Year	1.95	94.48	95.05	1.72	0.74
2276.35*	(1) 5-Year	3.20	94.48	95.18	1.92	0.60
2276.35*	(1) 10-Year	4.11	94.48	95.25	2.02	0.55
2276.35*	(1) 25-Year	5.28	94.48	95.34	2.14	0.53
2276.35*	(1) 100-Year	7.27	94.48	95.50	2.13	0.53
2261	(1) 25 mm	0.72	93.57	94.17	0.86	0.94
2261	(1) 2-Year	1.95	93.57	94.39	1.57	0.74
2261	(1) 5-Year	3.20	93.57	94.51	2.15	0.60
2261	(1) 10-Year	4.11	93.57	94.55	2.61	0.55
2261	(1) 25-Year	5.28	93.57	94.68	2.87	0.53
2261	(1) 100-Year	7.27	93.57	94.89	3.13	0.53
				-		
2258	(1) 25 mm	0.72	93.52	94.14	0.47	0.93
2258	(1) 2-Year	1.95	93.52	94.41	0.61	0.73
2258	(1) 5-Year	3.20	93.52	94.60	0.71	0.59

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
2258	(1) 10-Year	4.11	93.52	94.70	0.79	0.55
2258	(1) 25-Year	5.28	93.52	94.82	0.87	0.52
2258	(1) 100-Year	7.27	93.52	95.00	0.99	0.53
2256	(1) 25 mm	0.72	93.49	94.12	0.46	0.92
2256	(1) 2-Year	1.95	93.49	94.39	0.63	0.72
2256	(1) 5-Year	3.20	93.49	94.58	0.75	0.59
2256	(1) 10-Year	4.11	93.49	94.68	0.81	0.54
2256	(1) 25-Year	5.28	93.49	94.80	0.88	0.51
2256	(1) 100-Year	7.27	93.49	94.98	0.96	0.52
2254	(1) 25 mm	0.72	93.46	94.11	0.44	0.91
2254	(1) 2-Year	1.95	93.46	94.38	0.62	0.71
2254	(1) 5-Year	3.20	93.46	94.57	0.73	0.58
2254	(1) 10-Year	4.11	93.46	94.67	0.80	0.53
2254	(1) 25-Year	5.28	93.46	94.78	0.87	0.51
2254	(1) 100-Year	7.27	93.46	94.96	0.95	0.52
2235	(1) 25 mm	0.72	93.44	94.10	0.43	0.90
2235	(1) 2-Year	1.95	93.44	94.36	0.60	0.70
2235	(1) 5-Year	3.20	93.44	94.55	0.72	0.57
2235	(1) 10-Year	4.11	93.44	94.65	0.78	0.53
2235	(1) 25-Year	5.28	93.44	94.77	0.85	0.50
2235	(1) 100-Year	7.27	93.44	94.95	0.94	0.51
2207	(1) 25 mm	0.72	93.40	94.08	0.40	0.88
2207	(1) 2-Year	1.95	93.40	94.35	0.59	0.69
2207	(1) 5-Year	3.20	93.40	94.53	0.71	0.56
2207	(1) 10-Year	4.11	93.40	94.63	0.78	0.52
2207	(1) 25-Year	5.28	93.40	94.74	0.85	0.49
2207	(1) 100-Year	7.27	93.40	94.92	0.94	0.50
2188	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.37	94.05	0.65	0.87
2188	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.37	94.31	0.84	0.68
2188	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.37	94.50	0.98	0.56
2188	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.37	94.60	1.05	0.51
2188	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.37	94.71	1.12	0.49
2188	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.37	94.88	1.23	0.50
2163	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.34	94.02	0.65	0.86
2163	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.34	94.28	0.84	0.67
2163	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.34	94.46	0.97	0.55
2163	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.34	94.56	1.04	0.50
2163	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.34	94.67	1.11	0.48
2163	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.34	94.85	1.22	0.49
2141	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.31	93.99	0.65	0.85
2141	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.31	94.25	0.83	0.67
2141	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.31	94.43	0.97	0.54
2141	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.31	94.53	1.04	0.50
2141	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.31	94.65	1.11	0.48
2141	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.31	94.82	1.22	0.49

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m ³ /s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
2121	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.28	93.97	0.64	0.84
2121	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.28	94.23	0.83	0.66
2121	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.28	94.41	0.96	0.54
2121	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.28	94.51	1.03	0.49
2121	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.28	94.62	1.11	0.47
2121	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.28	94.80	1.22	0.48
2101	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.26	93.94	0.66	0.83
2101	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.26	94.20	0.84	0.65
2101	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.26	94.38	0.97	0.53
2101	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.26	94.48	1.04	0.49
2101	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.26	94.59	1.12	0.47
2101	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.26	94.77	1.23	0.48
2080	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.24	93.90	0.68	0.82
2080	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.24	94.17	0.85	0.65
2080	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.24	94.35	0.99	0.52
2080	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.24	94.45	1.06	0.48
2080	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.24	94.56	1.14	0.46
2080	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.24	94.74	1.24	0.47
2059	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.21	93.87	0.69	0.81
2059	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.21	94.14	0.85	0.64
2059	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.21	94.32	0.99	0.52
2059	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.21	94.42	1.06	0.48
2059	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.21	94.53	1.14	0.46
2059	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.21	94.71	1.24	0.47
2038	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.18	93.84	0.70	0.81
2038	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.18	94.12	0.84	0.63
2038	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.18	94.30	0.98	0.51
2038	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.18	94.40	1.05	0.47
2038	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.18	94.51	1.12	0.45
2038	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.18	94.69	1.23	0.46
2017	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.17	93.82	0.71	0.80
2017	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.17	94.11	0.85	0.63
2017	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.17	94.28	1.00	0.51
2017	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.17	94.38	1.07	0.47
2017	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.17	94.49	1.14	0.45
2017	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.17	94.67	1.25	0.46
2003	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.16	93.81	0.73	0.80
2003	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.16	94.10	0.86	0.63
2003	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.16	94.27	1.00	0.51
2003	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.16	94.37	1.07	0.47
2003	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.16	94.48	1.15	0.45
2003	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.16	94.66	1.26	0.46
1982	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.12	93.77	0.71	0.79
1982	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.12	94.07	0.82	0.62

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
1982	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.12	94.25	0.97	0.50
1982	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.12	94.35	1.04	0.46
1982	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.12	94.46	1.11	0.44
1982	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.12	94.63	1.22	0.46
1961	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.08	93.74	0.70	0.78
1961	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.08	94.05	0.80	0.62
1961	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.08	94.22	0.94	0.50
1961	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.08	94.32	1.01	0.46
1961	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.08	94.43	1.09	0.44
1961	(1) 100-Year	9 54	93.08	94 61	1 20	0.45
	(1) 100 100	0.01		0 110 1		01.0
1940	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.04	93 70	0.68	0.78
1940	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.04	94.03	0.77	0.61
1940	(1) 5-Year	4 4 1	93.04	94.20	0.92	0.01
1940	(1) 10-Year	5 53	93.04	94.30	0.92	0.45
1040	(1) 76-1 Car (1) 25 Voor	6.06	03.04	94.30	1.07	0.43
1940	(1) 23-Tear (1) 100 Voor	0.90	93.04	94.41	1.07	0.45
1940	(1) 100-1eai	9.04	55.04	94.50	1.10	0.45
1010	(1) 25 mm	1 16	02.01	02.67	0.69	0.77
1919	(1) 25 11111	1.10	93.01	93.07	0.00	0.77
1919	(1) 2- Year	2.00	93.01	94.01	0.75	0.60
1919	(1) 5- Year	4.41	93.01	94.18	0.90	0.49
1919	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.01	94.27	0.97	0.45
1919	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.01	94.38	1.05	0.43
1919	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.01	94.56	1.16	0.44
1000	(1) 65	4.40	00.07			0.70
1898	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.97	93.64	0.66	0.76
1898	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.97	93.99	0.72	0.59
1898	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.97	94.16	0.87	0.48
1898	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.97	94.25	0.94	0.44
1898	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.97	94.36	1.03	0.42
1898	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.97	94.54	1.14	0.44
1877	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.93	93.61	0.64	0.75
1877	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.93	93.97	0.70	0.59
1877	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.93	94.14	0.84	0.47
1877	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.93	94.24	0.91	0.43
1877	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.93	94.34	1.00	0.42
1877	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.93	94.52	1.12	0.43
1857	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.89	93.59	0.62	0.74
1857	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.89	93.96	0.67	0.58
1857	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.89	94.12	0.81	0.47
1857	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.89	94.22	0.89	0.43
1857	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.89	94.32	0.98	0.41
1857	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.89	94.50	1.10	0.43
1837	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.86	93.57	0.60	0.73
1837	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.86	93.95	0.65	0.57
1837	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.86	94.11	0.79	0.46
1837	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.86	94.20	0.87	0.42
1837	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.86	94.31	0.96	0.40

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
1837	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.86	94.48	1.08	0.42
1817	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.81	93.55	0.56	0.72
1817	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.81	93.94	0.62	0.56
1817	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.81	94.10	0.76	0.45
1817	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.81	94.19	0.84	0.41
1817	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.81	94.29	0.93	0.40
1817	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.81	94.46	1.05	0.42
1797	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.77	93.53	0.52	0.71
1797	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.77	93.93	0.58	0.55
1797	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.77	94.08	0.73	0.44
1797	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.77	94.17	0.81	0.41
1797	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.77	94.28	0.90	0.39
1797	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.77	94.45	1.03	0.41
1777	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.73	93.52	0.48	0.70
1777	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.73	93.92	0.55	0.54
1777	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.73	94.07	0.69	0.44
1777	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.73	94.16	0.78	0.40
1777	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.73	94.26	0.87	0.39
1777	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.73	94.43	0.99	0.41
1757	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.69	93.51	0.46	0.69
1757	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.69	93.91	0.53	0.53
1757	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.69	94.07	0.67	0.43
1757	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.69	94.15	0.75	0.39
1757	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.69	94.25	0.85	0.38
1757	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.69	94.42	0.98	0.40
1736	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.66	93.50	0.43	0.68
1736	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.66	93.91	0.50	0.52
1736	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.66	94.06	0.65	0.42
1736	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.66	94.14	0.73	0.39
1736	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.66	94.24	0.82	0.37
1736	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.66	94.41	0.95	0.40
1715	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.62	93.50	0.40	0.66
1715	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.62	93.90	0.48	0.51
1715	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.62	94.05	0.61	0.41
1715	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.62	94.13	0.70	0.38
1715	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.62	94.23	0.79	0.37
1715	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.62	94.39	0.92	0.39
	(1) 100 100					
1694	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.58	93.49	0.38	0.65
1694	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.58	93.90	0.46	0.50
1694	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.58	94.04	0.59	0.40
1694	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.58	94.13	0.68	0.37
1694	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92 58	94 22	0.77	0.36
1694	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92 58	94 38	0.90	0.38
		0.01	02.00	2	0.00	0.00
1673	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.53	93.49	0.35	0.63

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
1673	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.53	93.89	0.43	0.48
1673	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.53	94.04	0.57	0.39
1673	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.53	94.12	0.65	0.36
1673	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.53	94.21	0.74	0.35
1673	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.53	94.37	0.87	0.38
1653	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.50	93.48	0.33	0.62
1653	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.50	93.89	0.41	0.47
1653	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.50	94.03	0.55	0.38
1653	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.50	94.11	0.63	0.35
1653	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.50	94.20	0.72	0.34
1653	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.50	94.36	0.85	0.37
1632	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.46	93.48	0.31	0.60
1632	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.46	93.89	0.40	0.46
1632	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.46	94.03	0.53	0.37
1632	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.46	94.11	0.61	0.34
1632	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.46	94.20	0.71	0.34
1632	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.46	94.35	0.84	0.36
1615	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.43	93.48	0.31	0.58
1615	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.43	93.89	0.38	0.45
1615	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.43	94.02	0.51	0.36
1615	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.43	94.10	0.59	0.34
1615	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.43	94.19	0.68	0.33
1615	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.43	94.35	0.81	0.36
4555	(1) 05	4.40	00.05	00.47	0.00	0.50
1555	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.35	93.47	0.28	0.53
1555	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.35	93.88	0.35	0.40
1555	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.35	94.01	0.47	0.33
1555	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.35	94.09	0.55	0.31
1555	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.35	94.17	0.64	0.30
1555	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.35	94.33	0.76	0.34
1/99	(1) 25 mm	1 16	02.28	03.46	0.24	0.46
1400	(1) 25 mm	2.80	92.20	93.40	0.24	0.40
1/88	(1) 2-1 ear	2.00	92.20	93.07	0.32	0.35
1/88	(1) 10-Vear	5.53	92.20	94.00	0.44	0.23
1/99	(1) 10-1 ear	6.06	02.20	94.00	0.51	0.27
1/88	(1) 20 - 1 ear	0.90	92.20	94.10	0.00	0.27
1400	(1) 100-1001	0.04	52.20	54.51	0.72	0.01
1416	(1) 25 mm	1 16	92 20	93 46	0.21	0.38
1416	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.20	93.87	0.30	0.29
1416	(1) 5-Year	4 4 1	92.20	94.00	0.00	0.25
1416	(1) 10-Year	5 53	92.20	94.07	0.48	0.20
1416	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.20	94 15	0.57	0.24
1416	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.20	94.29	0.70	0.20
		0.04	02.20	07.20	0.70	0.20
1400	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.17	93.46	0.20	0.35
1400	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.17	93.87	0.29	0.27
1400	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.17	93.99	0.40	0.23
1400	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.17	94.06	0.47	0.22

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
1400	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.17	94.14	0.55	0.23
1400	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.17	94.28	0.68	0.28
1364	(1) 25 mm	1.16	91.63	93.46	0.08	0.28
1364	(1) 2-Year	2.80	91.63	93.87	0.15	0.22
1364	(1) 5-Year	4.41	91.63	93.99	0.22	0.20
1364	(1) 10-Year	5.53	91.63	94.06	0.26	0.20
1364	(1) 25-Year	6.96	91.63	94 14	0.31	0.21
1364	(1) 100-Year	9.54	91.63	94 28	0.39	0.26
1001	(1) 100 100	0.01	01.00	01.20	0.00	0.20
1340	(1) 25 mm	1.53	91.60	93 46	0 18	0.23
1340	(1) 2-Vear	3.64	91.60	93.86	0.10	0.20
1340	(1) <u>5</u> -Vear	5.04	91.60	03.08	0.50	0.20
1340	(1) 10 Voor	6.02	91.00	93.98	0.50	0.10
1340	(1) 10-1 ear	0.92	91.00	94.04	0.01	0.10
1340	(1) 25-Year	8.58	91.60	94.11	0.73	0.20
1340	(1) 100-Year	11.43	91.60	94.24	0.93	0.25
1000						
1339		Culvert				
1010	(1) 65	4 50	00.47	aa 45		
1312	(1) 25 mm	1.53	92.47	93.45	0.32	0.20
1312	(1) 2-Year	3.87	92.47	93.84	0.57	0.18
1312	(1) 5-Year	5.93	92.47	93.95	0.82	0.17
1312	(1) 10-Year	7.38	92.47	94.00	0.99	0.17
1312	(1) 25-Year	9.17	92.47	94.05	1.19	0.19
1312	(1) 100-Year	12.20	92.47	94.14	1.50	0.24
1302	(1) 25 mm	1.53	92.57	93.41	0.83	0.19
1302	(1) 2-Year	3.87	92.57	93.81	0.88	0.17
1302	(1) 5-Year	5.93	92.57	93.92	1.05	0.17
1302	(1) 10-Year	7.38	92.57	93.98	1.15	0.17
1302	(1) 25-Year	9.17	92.57	94.04	1.26	0.19
1302	(1) 100-Year	12.20	92.57	94,15	1.23	0.24
	()	-			-	-
1268	(1) 25 mm	1.53	92.47	93.33	0.79	0.18
1268	(1) 2-Year	3.87	92.47	93 75	0.56	0.16
1268	(1) 5-Year	5.07	92.47	93.88	0.57	0.16
1268	(1) 10-Vear	7 38	02.47	03.04	0.60	0.16
1269	(1) 10-1 ear	0.17	92.47 02.47	93.94	0.60	0.10
1200	(1) 25 - 1 ear	9.17	92.47	94.01	0.01	0.10
1200	(1) 100-Year	12.20	92.47	94.14	0.52	0.23
1010	(1) 05 mm	4.50	00.00	02.40	0.00	0.10
1212	(1) 25 mm	1.53	92.30	93.18	0.80	0.16
1212	(1) 2-Year	3.87	92.36	93.61	0.89	0.14
1212	(1) 5-Year	5.93	92.36	93.78	0.91	0.13
1212	(1) 10-Year	7.38	92.36	93.85	0.93	0.14
1212	(1) 25-Year	9.17	92.36	93.93	0.91	0.16
1212	(1) 100-Year	12.20	92.36	94.10	0.76	0.21
1169	(1) 25 mm	1.53	92.30	93.10	0.69	0.15
1169	(1) 2-Year	3.87	92.30	93.53	0.77	0.13
1169	(1) 5-Year	5.93	92.30	93.70	0.86	0.12
1169	(1) 10-Year	7.38	92.30	93.77	0.91	0.12
1169	(1) 25-Year	9.17	92.30	93.85	0.95	0.14

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
1169	(1) 100-Year	12.20	92.30	94.04	0.88	0.19
1091	(1) 25 mm	1.53	92.15	92.98	0.65	0.11
1091	(1) 2-Year	3.87	92.15	93.40	0.75	0.10
1091	(1) 5-Year	5.93	92.15	93.57	0.82	0.09
1091	(1) 10-Year	7.38	92.15	93.65	0.85	0.10
1091	(1) 25-Year	9.17	92.15	93.75	0.85	0.12
1091	(1) 100-Year	12.20	92.15	93.97	0.82	0.17
1002	(1) 25 mm	1.53	92.06	92.81	0.76	0.08
1002	(1) 2-Year	3.87	92.06	93.21	0.90	0.07
1002	(1) 5-Year	5.93	92.06	93.39	0.98	0.07
1002	(1) 10-Year	7.38	92.06	93.50	0.93	0.07
1002	(1) 25-Year	9.17	92.06	93.65	0.83	0.09
1002	(1) 100-Year	12.20	92.06	93.93	0.64	0.13
961	(1) 25 mm	1.53	91.96	92.77	0.54	0.06
961	(1) 2-Year	3.87	91.96	93.14	0.71	0.05
961	(1) 5-Year	5.93	91.96	93.31	0.76	0.05
961	(1) 10-Year	7.38	91.96	93.44	0.71	0.06
961	(1) 25-Year	9.17	91.96	93.61	0.52	0.07
961	(1) 100-Year	12.20	91.96	93.92	0.35	0.11
910	(1) 25 mm	1.53	91.93	92.72	0.57	0.04
910	(1) 2-Year	3.87	91.93	93.07	0.72	0.03
910	(1) 5-Year	5.93	91.93	93.25	0.73	0.04
910	(1) 10-Year	7.38	91.93	93.40	0.69	0.04
910	(1) 25-Year	9.17	91.93	93.59	0.53	0.05
910	(1) 100-Year	12.20	91.93	93.91	0.33	0.07
840	(1) 25 mm	1.53	91.86	92.64	0.50	0.00
840	(1) 2-Year	3.87	91.86	93.00	0.44	0.00
840	(1) 5-Year	5.93	91.86	93.22	0.36	0.00
840	(1) 10-Year	7.38	91.86	93.38	0.33	0.00
840	(1) 25-Year	9.17	91.86	93.58	0.30	0.00
840	(1) 100-Year	12.20	91.86	93.91	0.25	0.00

Table C-1:	HEC-RAS F	Results for	Van G	aal Drain	Reac	h 2 Uno	ler Propo	osed	Condit	tions	(Floodplain)) (1)

⁽¹⁾ All channel infrastructure included in the HEC-RAS model for floodplain analysis.

For Scenario 1 (the Van Gaal Drain 100-year 24-hour SCS peak flow reaches the Jock River).

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m ³ /s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
2554	(2) 2-Year	4.13	94.75	96.03	0.72	0.71
2554	(2) 5-Year	5.24	94.75	96.13	0.78	0.65
2554	(2) 10-Year	6.00	94.75	96.18	0.81	0.64
2554	(2) 25-Year	6.94	94.75	96.23	0.83	0.65
2554	(2) 100-Year	8.32	94.75	96.28	0.82	0.73
2554	(4) 2-Year	3.97	94.75	96.01	0.71	0.72
2554	(4) 5-Year	2.02	94.75	95.72	0.58	0.95
2554	(4) 10-Year	1.57	94.75	95.63	0.54	1.06
2554	(4) 25-Year	2.25	94.75	95.76	0.60	1.16
2554	(4) 100-Year	2.86	94.75	95.86	0.65	2.34
2478	(2) 2-Year	4.13	94.75	95.93	0.83	0.68
2478	(2) 5-Year	5.24	94.75	96.02	0.93	0.63
2478	(2) 10-Year	6.00	94.75	96.06	1.00	0.61
2478	(2) 25-Year	6.94	94.75	96.10	1.09	0.63
2478	(2) 100-Year	8.32	94.75	96.14	1.17	0.71
2478	(4) 2-Year	3.97	94.75	95.91	0.82	0.69
2478	(4) 5-Year	2.02	94.75	95.64	0.63	0.92
2478	(4) 10-Year	1.57	94.75	95.55	0.58	1.03
2478	(4) 25-Year	2.25	94.75	95.68	0.66	1.13
2478	(4) 100-Year	2.86	94.75	95.77	0.71	2.30
2427.58*	(2) 2-Year	4.13	94.68	95.85	0.86	0.67
2427.58*	(2) 5-Year	5.24	94.68	95.94	0.95	0.61
2427.58*	(2) 10-Year	6.00	94.68	95.97	1.03	0.60
2427.58*	(2) 25-Year	6.94	94.68	96.01	1.09	0.61
2427.58*	(2) 100-Year	8.32	94.68	96.05	1.16	0.70
2427.58*	(4) 2-Year	3.97	94.68	95.84	0.85	0.67
2427.58*	(4) 5-Year	2.02	94.68	95.58	0.65	0.90
2427.58*	(4) 10-Year	1.57	94.68	95.49	0.60	1.00
2427.58*	(4) 25-Year	2.25	94.68	95.62	0.68	1.11
2427.58*	(4) 100-Year	2.86	94.68	95.71	0.74	2.29
2377.17*	(2) 2-Year	4.13	94.61	95.77	0.90	0.65
2377.17*	(2) 5-Year	5.24	94.61	95.85	0.97	0.60
2377.17*	(2) 10-Year	6.00	94.61	95.89	1.02	0.59
2377.17*	(2) 25-Year	6.94	94.61	95.92	1.05	0.60
2377.17*	(2) 100-Year	8.32	94.61	95.95	1.13	0.69
2377.17*	(4) 2-Year	3.97	94.61	95.76	0.88	0.66
2377.17*	(4) 5-Year	2.02	94.61	95.51	0.69	0.88
2377.17*	(4) 10-Year	1.57	94.61	95.43	0.63	0.98
2377.17*	(4) 25-Year	2.25	94.61	95.54	0.72	1.09
2377.17*	(4) 100-Year	2.86	94.61	95.63	0.78	2.27
2326.76*	(2) 2-Year	4.13	94.54	95.67	0.96	0.64
2326.76*	(2) 5-Year	5.24	94.54	95.76	0.98	0.59
2326.76*	(2) 10-Year	6.00	94.54	95.81	0.94	0.57
2326.76*	(2) 25-Year	6.94	94.54	95.85	0.89	0.59
2326.76*	(2) 100-Year	8.32	94.54	95.88	0.95	0.68
2326.76*	(4) 2-Year	3.97	94.54	95.66	0.95	0.64
2326.76*	(4) 5-Year	2.02	94.54	95.42	0.76	0.86
2326.76*	(4) 10-Year	1.57	94.54	95.34	0.69	0.96

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
2326.76*	(4) 25-Year	2.25	94.54	95.45	0.79	1.07
2326.76*	(4) 100-Year	2.86	94.54	95.53	0.86	2.25
2276.35*	(2) 2-Year	4.13	94.48	95.25	2.02	0.63
2276.35*	(2) 5-Year	5.24	94.48	95.33	2.16	0.58
2276.35*	(2) 10-Year	6.00	94.48	95.38	2.23	0.56
2276.35*	(2) 25-Year	6.94	94.48	95.49	2.09	0.58
2276.35*	(2) 100-Year	8.32	94.48	95.64	1.66	0.66
2276.35*	(4) 2-Year	3.97	94.48	95.24	2.02	0.63
2276.35*	(4) 5-Year	2.02	94.48	95.06	1.73	0.85
2276.35*	(4) 10-Year	1.57	94.48	95.00	1.64	0.95
2276.35*	(4) 25-Year	2.25	94.48	95.08	1.78	1.06
2276.35*	(4) 100-Year	2.86	94.48	95.14	1.87	2.24
2261	(2) 2-Year	4.13	93.57	94.53	2.64	0.62
2261	(2) 5-Year	5.24	93.57	94.66	2.81	0.57
2261	(2) 10-Year	6.00	93.57	94.74	2.92	0.56
2261	(2) 25-Year	6.94	93.57	94.84	3.02	0.58
2261	(2) 100-Year	8.32	93.57	94.95	3.19	0.66
2261	(4) 2-Year	3.97	93.57	94.51	2.61	0.63
2261	(4) 5-Year	2.02	93.57	94.30	1.87	0.84
2261	(4) 10-Year	1.57	93.57	94.26	1.56	0.94
2261	(4) 25-Year	2.25	93.57	94.31	2.05	1.06
2261	(4) 100-Year	2.86	93.57	94.36	2.40	2.24
2258	(2) 2-Year	4.13	93.52	94.59	0.80	0.62
2258	(2) 5-Year	5.24	93.52	94.68	0.87	0.57
2258	(2) 10-Year	6.00	93.52	94.74	0.91	0.56
2258	(2) 25-Year	6.94	93.52	94.81	0.96	0.57
2258	(2) 100-Year	8.32	93.52	94.94	0.99	0.66
2258	(4) 2-Year	3.97	93.52	94.57	0.79	0.62
2258	(4) 5-Year	2.02	93.52	94.33	0.68	0.84
2258	(4) 10-Year	1.57	93.52	94.26	0.65	0.93
2258	(4) 25-Year	2.25	93.52	94.36	0.70	1.05
2258	(4) 100-Year	2.86	93.52	94.46	0.71	2.23
2256	(2) 2-Year	4.13	93.49	94.56	0.83	0.61
2256	(2) 5-Year	5.24	93.49	94.66	0.88	0.56
2256	(2) 10-Year	6.00	93.49	94.72	0.91	0.55
2256	(2) 25-Year	6.94	93.49	94.79	0.95	0.57
2256	(2) 100-Year	8.32	93.49	94.92	0.95	0.65
2256	(4) 2-Year	3.97	93.49	94.55	0.82	0.62
2256	(4) 5-Year	2.02	93.49	94.30	0.69	0.83
2256	(4) 10-Year	1.57	93.49	94.23	0.66	0.93
2256	(4) 25-Year	2.25	93.49	94.34	0.71	1.04
2256	(4) 100-Year	2.86	93.49	94.44	0.72	2.22
2254	(2) 2-Year	4.13	93.46	94.54	0.81	0.60
2254	(2) 5-Year	5.24	93.46	94.64	0.87	0.56
2254	(2) 10-Year	6.00	93.46	94.70	0.90	0.55
2254	(2) 25-Year	6.94	93.46	94.77	0.94	0.56
2254	(2) 100-Year	8.32	93.46	94.91	0.94	0.65

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m ³ /s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
2254	(4) 2-Year	3.97	93.46	94.53	0.81	0.61
2254	(4) 5-Year	2.02	93.46	94.28	0.68	0.82
2254	(4) 10-Year	1.57	93.46	94.21	0.65	0.92
2254	(4) 25-Year	2.25	93.46	94.31	0.70	1.04
2254	(4) 100-Year	2.86	93.46	94.42	0.71	2.22
2235	(2) 2-Year	4.13	93.44	94.53	0.80	0.60
2235	(2) 5-Year	5.24	93.44	94.62	0.86	0.55
2235	(2) 10-Year	6.00	93.44	94.68	0.89	0.54
2235	(2) 25-Year	6.94	93.44	94.76	0.92	0.55
2235	(2) 100-Year	8.32	93.44	94.89	0.92	0.64
2235	(4) 2-Year	3.97	93.44	94.51	0.80	0.60
2235	(4) 5-Year	2.02	93.44	94.26	0.68	0.81
2235	(4) 10-Year	1.57	93.44	94.19	0.64	0.91
2235	(4) 25-Year	2.25	93.44	94.29	0.70	1.03
2235	(4) 100-Year	2.86	93.44	94.40	0.69	2.21
2207	(2) 2-Year	4.13	93.40	94.50	0.80	0.59
2207	(2) 5-Year	5.24	93.40	94.60	0.86	0.54
2207	(2) 10-Year	6.00	93.40	94.66	0.89	0.53
2207	(2) 25-Year	6.94	93.40	94.73	0.93	0.55
2207	(2) 100-Year	8.32	93.40	94.87	0.92	0.63
2207	(4) 2-Year	3.97	93.40	94.48	0.80	0.59
2207	(4) 5-Year	2.02	93.40	94.23	0.68	0.80
2207	(4) 10-Year	1.57	93.40	94.16	0.65	0.90
2207	(4) 25-Year	2.25	93.40	94.26	0.70	1.02
2207	(4) 100-Year	2.86	93.40	94.38	0.69	2.20
2188	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.37	94.47	0.96	0.58
2188	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.37	94.56	1.03	0.54
2188	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.37	94.62	1.07	0.53
2188	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.37	94.69	1.11	0.54
2188	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.37	94.83	1.20	0.63
2188	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.37	94.45	0.95	0.59
2188	(4) 5-Year	2.33	93.37	94.20	0.77	0.79
2188	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.37	94.13	0.71	0.89
2188	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.37	94.24	0.79	1.01
2188	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.37	94.36	0.77	2.19
2163	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.34	94.44	0.95	0.58
2163	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.34	94.53	1.02	0.53
2163	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.34	94.59	1.06	0.52
2163	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.34	94.66	1.10	0.53
2163	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.34	94.80	1.18	0.62
2163	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.34	94.42	0.94	0.58
2163	(4) 5-Year	2.33	93.34	94.17	0.77	0.78
2163	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.34	94.10	0.71	0.88
2163	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.34	94.20	0.79	1.00
2163	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.34	94.33	0.75	2.18
2141	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.31	94.41	0.95	0.57
2141	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.31	94.50	1.01	0.52

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
2141	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.31	94.56	1.05	0.51
2141	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.31	94.63	1.10	0.53
2141	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.31	94.77	1.18	0.62
2141	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.31	94.39	0.94	0.57
2141	(4) 5-Year	2.33	93.31	94.14	0.76	0.78
2141	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.31	94.07	0.71	0.87
2141	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.31	94.17	0.78	0.99
2141	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.31	94.31	0.74	2.17
2121	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.28	94.38	0.94	0.56
2121	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.28	94.48	1.01	0.52
2121	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.28	94.54	1.05	0.51
2121	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.28	94.61	1.09	0.52
2121	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.28	94.74	1.18	0.61
2121	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.28	94.36	0.93	0.57
2121	(4) 5-Year	2.33	93.28	94.12	0.76	0.77
2121	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.28	94.04	0.70	0.86
2121	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.28	94.15	0.78	0.99
2121	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.28	94.30	0.72	2.17
2101	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.26	94.35	0.95	0.56
2101	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.26	94.45	1.02	0.51
2101	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.26	94.51	1.06	0.50
2101	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.26	94.58	1.10	0.52
2101	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.26	94.72	1.19	0.61
2101	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.26	94.33	0.95	0.56
2101	(4) 5-Year	2.33	93.26	94.09	0.77	0.76
2101	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.26	94.01	0.72	0.86
2101	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.26	94.12	0.79	0.98
2101	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.26	94.28	0.71	2.16
-	()				-	
2080	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.24	94.32	0.97	0.55
2080	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.24	94.42	1.04	0.51
2080	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.24	94.48	1.08	0.50
2080	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.24	94.55	1.12	0.51
2080	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.24	94.69	1.20	0.60
2080	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.24	94.30	0.97	0.56
2080	(4) 5-Year	2.33	93.24	94.06	0.80	0.75
2080	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.24	93.98	0.75	0.85
2080	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.24	94.09	0.81	0.97
2080	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.24	94.26	0.71	2.15
	()				-	-
2059	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.21	94.29	0.98	0.55
2059	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.21	94.39	1.04	0.50
2059	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.21	94.45	1.08	0.49
2059	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.21	94.52	1.12	0.51
2059	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.21	94.66	1.20	0.60
2059	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.21	94.27	0.97	0.55
2059	(4) 5-Year	2.33	93.21	94.02	0.80	0.75
2059	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.21	93.95	0.76	0.84
2059	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.21	94.06	0.81	0.97
2059	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.21	94.25	0.70	2.14

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m ³ /s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
2038	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.18	94.27	0.96	0.54
2038	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.18	94.36	1.03	0.50
2038	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.18	94.43	1.07	0.49
2038	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.18	94.50	1.11	0.50
2038	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.18	94.63	1.19	0.59
2038	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.18	94.25	0.96	0.55
2038	(4) 5-Year	2.33	93.18	94.00	0.80	0.74
2038	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.18	93.92	0.76	0.83
2038	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.18	94.03	0.80	0.96
2038	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.18	94.23	0.67	2.13
2017	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.17	94.26	0.98	0.54
2017	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.17	94.35	1.05	0.49
2017	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.17	94.41	1.09	0.49
2017	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.17	94.48	1.13	0.50
2017	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.17	94.62	1.21	0.59
2017	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.17	94.23	0.98	0.54
2017	(4) 5-Year	2.33	93.17	93.98	0.81	0.74
2017	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.17	93.90	0.78	0.83
2017	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.17	94.02	0.82	0.96
2017	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.17	94.23	0.68	2.13
2003	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.16	94.25	0.99	0.54
2003	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.16	94.34	1.06	0.49
2003	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.16	94.40	1.10	0.48
2003	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.16	94.47	1.14	0.50
2003	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.16	94.61	1.22	0.59
2003	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.16	94.22	0.98	0.54
2003	(4) 5-Year	2.33	93.16	93.97	0.83	0.74
2003	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.16	93.88	0.81	0.83
2003	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.16	94.01	0.83	0.95
2003	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.16	94.22	0.68	2.13
1982	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.12	94.22	0.95	0.53
1982	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.12	94.31	1.02	0.49
1982	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.12	94.38	1.06	0.48
1982	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.12	94.45	1.10	0.50
1982	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.12	94.58	1.18	0.59
1982	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.12	94.20	0.95	0.54
1982	(4) 5-Year	2.33	93.12	93.94	0.79	0.73
1982	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.12	93.85	0.78	0.82
1982	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.12	93.98	0.79	0.95
1982	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.12	94.21	0.63	2.12
1961	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.08	94.19	0.92	0.52
1961	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.08	94.29	0.99	0.48
1961	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.08	94.35	1.03	0.47
1961	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.08	94.42	1.08	0.49
1961	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.08	94.56	1.16	0.58
1961	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.08	94.17	0.92	0.53
1961	(4) 5-Year	2.33	93.08	93.91	0.77	0.72

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
1961	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.08	93.82	0.76	0.81
1961	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.08	93.96	0.76	0.94
1961	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.08	94.20	0.60	2.11
1940	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.04	94.17	0.90	0.52
1940	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.04	94.27	0.97	0.48
1940	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.04	94.33	1.01	0.47
1940	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.04	94.40	1.05	0.48
1940	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.04	94.54	1.13	0.58
1940	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.04	94.15	0.89	0.52
1940	(4) 5-Year	2.33	93.04	93.89	0.74	0.71
1940	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.04	93.78	0.74	0.81
1940	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.04	93.93	0.73	0.93
1940	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.04	94.19	0.57	2.10
1919	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.01	94.15	0.87	0.51
1919	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.01	94.24	0.94	0.47
1919	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.01	94.31	0.98	0.46
1919	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.01	94.38	1.03	0.48
1919	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.01	94.51	1.11	0.57
1919	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.01	94.13	0.87	0.52
1919	(4) 5-Year	2.33	93.01	93.86	0.72	0.71
1919	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.01	93.75	0.73	0.80
1919	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.01	93.91	0.71	0.93
1919	(4) 100-Year	3 29	93.01	94 18	0.54	2 09
	(1) 100 100	0.20		00	0.01	2.00
1898	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.97	94.13	0.84	0.51
1898	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.97	94.22	0.91	0.46
1898	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.97	94.29	0.95	0.46
1898	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.97	94.36	1.00	0.47
1898	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.97	94.49	1.09	0.57
1898	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.97	94.11	0.84	0.51
1898	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.97	93.84	0.69	0.70
1898	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.97	93.73	0.71	0.79
1898	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.97	93.90	0.68	0.92
1898	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.97	94.18	0.51	2.08
	()					
1877	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.93	94.11	0.81	0.50
1877	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.93	94.21	0.88	0.46
1877	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.93	94.27	0.92	0.45
1877	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.93	94.34	0.97	0.47
1877	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.93	94 47	1.06	0.56
1877	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.93	94.09	0.81	0.50
1877	(4) 5-Year	2 33	92.93	93.82	0.65	0.69
1877	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.93	93.70	0.68	0.78
1877	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.93	93.88	0.64	0.91
1877	(4) 100-Year	3 29	92.93	94 17	0.48	2 07
		0.20	02.00		0.10	2.07
1857	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.89	94 10	0.78	0 49
1857	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.80	94.19	0.86	0.45
1857	(2) 10-Year	7 24	92.80	94 25	0.00	0.40
1857	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.89	94.32	0.95	0.46

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
1857	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.89	94.45	1.04	0.55
1857	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.89	94.07	0.78	0.50
1857	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.89	93.81	0.62	0.68
1857	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.89	93.68	0.65	0.78
1857	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.89	93.87	0.62	0.90
1857	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.89	94.17	0.46	2.06
1837	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.86	94.08	0.75	0.48
1837	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.86	94.17	0.83	0.44
1837	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.86	94.23	0.87	0.44
1837	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.86	94.30	0.92	0.46
1837	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.86	94.44	1.01	0.55
1837	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.86	94.06	0.75	0.49
1837	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.86	93.80	0.59	0.67
1837	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.86	93.66	0.63	0.77
1837	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.86	93.85	0.59	0.89
1837	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.86	94.16	0.44	2.04
1817	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.81	94.07	0.72	0.48
1817	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.81	94.16	0.80	0.44
1817	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.81	94.22	0.85	0.43
1817	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.81	94.29	0.90	0.45
1817	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.81	94.42	0.99	0.54
1817	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.81	94.04	0.72	0.48
1817	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.81	93.78	0.56	0.66
1817	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.81	93.64	0.59	0.76
1817	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.81	93.84	0.56	0.88
1817	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.81	94.16	0.42	2.03
1797	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.77	94.06	0.69	0.47
1797	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.77	94.15	0.77	0.43
1797	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.77	94.21	0.82	0.42
1797	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.77	94.27	0.87	0.44
1797	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.77	94.41	0.96	0.54
1797	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.77	94.03	0.69	0.47
1797	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.77	93.77	0.53	0.65
1/9/	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.77	93.63	0.55	0.75
1/9/	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.77	93.84	0.53	0.87
1/9/	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.77	94.16	0.40	2.02
4777	(0) 0 \/a an	F 00	00.70	04.05	0.05	0.40
1///	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.73	94.05	0.65	0.46
1///	(2) 5-Year	0.32	92.73	94.14	0.73	0.42
1777	(2) 10-Year	7.24 0.20	92.73	94.20	0.78	0.42
1777	(2) 20-1 ear	0.30	92.13 02.72	94.20 04.30	0.03	0.44
1777	(2) 100-rear	10.01	32.13 02.72	94.39	0.93	0.55
1777	(4) 2- Year (4) 5 Voor	4./ð	9∠./3 02.72	94.UZ	0.40	0.47
1777	(4) 0 - 10	2.33	32.13 02.72	30.11 03.60	0.49	0.04
1777	$(4) 25 V_{22}$	1.70	52.13 02.72	93.0Z	0.01	0.74
1777	(4) 20-1 ear	2.00	92.13 02.72	93.03	0.49	0.00
1777	(+) 100-Teal	5.23	52.13	34 .13	0.57	2.00
1757	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.69	94.04	0.63	0.45

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
1757	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.69	94.13	0.71	0.42
1757	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.69	94.18	0.76	0.41
1757	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.69	94.25	0.81	0.43
1757	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.69	94.38	0.90	0.53
1757	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.69	94.02	0.63	0.46
1757	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.69	93.76	0.47	0.63
1757	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.69	93.61	0.48	0.73
1757	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.69	93.82	0.47	0.85
1757	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.69	94.15	0.36	1.99
1736	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.66	94.04	0.60	0.44
1736	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.66	94.12	0.68	0.41
1736	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.66	94.18	0.73	0.40
1736	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.66	94.24	0.78	0.42
1736	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.66	94.37	0.88	0.52
1736	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.66	94.01	0.60	0.45
1736	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.66	93.75	0.44	0.62
1736	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.66	93.60	0.45	0.71
1736	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.66	93.82	0.44	0.84
1736	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.66	94.15	0.34	1.97
1715	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.62	94.03	0.57	0.43
1715	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.62	94.11	0.65	0.40
1715	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.62	94.17	0.69	0.39
1715	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.62	94.23	0.75	0.42
1715	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.62	94.36	0.84	0.51
1715	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.62	94.00	0.57	0.44
1715	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.62	93.75	0.41	0.60
1715	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.62	93.59	0.42	0.70
1715	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.62	93.81	0.41	0.82
1715	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.62	94.15	0.32	1.95
1694	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.58	94.03	0.55	0.42
1694	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.58	94.11	0.63	0.39
1694	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.58	94.16	0.67	0.39
1694	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.58	94.22	0.73	0.41
1694	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.58	94.35	0.82	0.51
1694	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.58	94.00	0.55	0.43
1694	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.58	93.75	0.39	0.59
1694	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.58	93.59	0.40	0.69
1694	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.58	93.81	0.39	0.81
1694	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.58	94.15	0.31	1.94
1673	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.53	94.02	0.52	0.41
1673	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.53	94.10	0.60	0.38
1673	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.53	94.15	0.65	0.38
1673	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.53	94.22	0.70	0.40
1673	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.53	94.34	0.80	0.50
1673	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.53	93.99	0.52	0.42
1673	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.53	93.74	0.37	0.57
1673	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.53	93.58	0.37	0.67
1673	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.53	93.81	0.37	0.79

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
1673	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.53	94.14	0.30	1.92
1653	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.50	94.02	0.50	0.40
1653	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.50	94.09	0.58	0.37
1653	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.50	94.15	0.62	0.37
1653	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.50	94.21	0.68	0.39
1653	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.50	94.33	0.77	0.49
1653	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.50	93.99	0.50	0.41
1653	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.50	93.74	0.35	0.56
1653	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.50	93.58	0.35	0.66
1653	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.50	93.80	0.35	0.78
1653	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.50	94.14	0.28	1.90
1632	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.46	94.01	0.49	0.39
1632	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.46	94.09	0.56	0.36
1632	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.46	94.14	0.61	0.36
1632	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.46	94.20	0.66	0.38
1632	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.46	94.33	0.76	0.49
1632	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.46	93.98	0.48	0.39
1632	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.46	93.74	0.33	0.54
1632	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.46	93.58	0.33	0.64
1632	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.46	93.80	0.33	0.76
1632	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.46	94.14	0.28	1.88
1615	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.43	94.01	0.46	0.38
1615	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.43	94.09	0.53	0.35
1615	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.43	94.14	0.57	0.35
1615	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.43	94.20	0.62	0.38
1615	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.43	94.32	0.71	0.48
1615	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.43	93.98	0.46	0.38
1615	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.43	93.73	0.32	0.53
1615	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.43	93.58	0.32	0.63
1615	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.43	93.80	0.32	0.75
1615	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.43	94.14	0.26	1.86
1555	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.35	94.00	0.42	0.34
1555	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.35	94.08	0.48	0.32
1555	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.35	94.13	0.53	0.32
1555	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.35	94.19	0.57	0.35
1555	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.35	94.31	0.66	0.45
1555	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.35	93.97	0.41	0.35
1555	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.35	93.73	0.28	0.47
1555	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.35	93.57	0.29	0.57
1555	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.35	93.79	0.29	0.69
1555	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.35	94.14	0.24	1.80
1488	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.28	93.99	0.38	0.30
1488	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.28	94.07	0.45	0.28
1488	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.28	94.12	0.49	0.29
1488	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.28	94.17	0.53	0.32
1488	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.28	94.29	0.62	0.43
1488	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.28	93.96	0.38	0.30

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
1488	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.28	93.73	0.25	0.41
1488	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.28	93.56	0.25	0.50
1488	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.28	93.79	0.26	0.63
1488	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.28	94.14	0.22	1.71
1416	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.20	93.99	0.36	0.25
1416	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.20	94.06	0.42	0.24
1416	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.20	94.11	0.46	0.25
1416	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.20	94.16	0.51	0.28
1416	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.20	94.28	0.59	0.40
1416	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.20	93.96	0.35	0.25
1416	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.20	93.72	0.22	0.33
1416	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.20	93.56	0.22	0.43
1416	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.20	93.79	0.23	0.55
1416	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.20	94.14	0.20	1.63
1400	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.17	93.99	0.34	0.23
1400	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.17	94.06	0.41	0.23
1400	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.17	94.10	0.45	0.23
1400	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.17	94.16	0.49	0.27
1400	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.17	94.27	0.58	0.39
1400	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.17	93.96	0.34	0.23
1400	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.17	93.72	0.21	0.30
1400	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.17	93.56	0.20	0.40
1400	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.17	93.79	0.22	0.52
1400	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.17	94.13	0.20	1.60
1364	(2) 2-Year	5.00	91.63	93.98	0.23	0.20
1364	(2) 5-Year	6.32	91.63	94.05	0.28	0.20
1364	(2) 10-Year	7.24	91.63	94.10	0.31	0.21
1364	(2) 25-Year	8.38	91.63	94.16	0.35	0.25
1364	(2) 100-Year	10.81	91.63	94.27	0.42	0.37
1364	(4) 2-Year	4.78	91.63	93.95	0.23	0.20
1364	(4) 5-Year	2.33	91.63	93.72	0.13	0.25
1364	(4) 10-Year	1.78	91.63	93.56	0.12	0.34
1364	(4) 25-Year	2.60	91.63	93.79	0.14	0.47
1364	(4) 100-Year	3.29	91.63	94.13	0.14	1.54
1340	(2) 2-Year	5.79	91.60	93.97	0.53	0.18
1340	(2) 5-Year	7.32	91.60	94.03	0.65	0.18
1340	(2) 10-Year	8.33	91.60	94.07	0.72	0.20
1340	(2) 25-Year	9.65	91.60	94.12	0.82	0.23
1340	(2) 100-Year	11.62	91.60	94.22	0.95	0.36
1340	(4) 2-Year	5.26	91.60	93.94	0.48	0.18
1340	(4) 5-Year	2.44	91.60	93.72	0.25	0.21
1340	(4) 10-Year	1.86	91.60	93.56	0.21	0.30
1340	(4) 25-Year	2.71	91.60	93.78	0.27	0.44
1340	(4) 100-Year	3.43	91.60	94.13	0.29	1.51
1339		Culvert				
1312	(2) 2-Year	6.08	92.47	93.94	0.85	0.17

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m ³ /s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
1312	(2) 5-Year	7.69	92.47	93.98	1.04	0.17
1312	(2) 10-Year	8.76	92.47	94.01	1.16	0.19
1312	(2) 25-Year	10.15	92.47	94.04	1.32	0.23
1312	(2) 100-Year	12.20	92.47	94.12	1.51	0.35
1312	(4) 2-Year	5.46	92.47	93.91	0.77	0.17
1312	(4) 5-Year	2.47	92.47	93.71	0.41	0.19
1312	(4) 10-Year	1.87	92.47	93.55	0.35	0.27
1312	(4) 25-Year	2.73	92.47	93.77	0.43	0.42
1312	(4) 100-Year	3.44	92.47	94.12	0.42	1.49
1302	(2) 2-Year	6.08	92.57	93.91	1.03	0.17
1302	(2) 5-Year	7.69	92.57	93.97	1.12	0.17
1302	(2) 10-Year	8.76	92.57	94.00	1.18	0.19
1302	(2) 25-Year	10.15	92.57	94.04	1.26	0.23
1302	(2) 100-Year	12.20	92.57	94.14	1.07	0.35
1302	(4) 2-Year	5.46	92.57	93.89	0.98	0.17
1302	(4) 5-Year	2.47	92.57	93.68	0.77	0.18
1302	(4) 10-Year	1.87	92.57	93.51	0.84	0.26
1302	(4) 25-Year	2.73	92.57	93.75	0.72	0.41
1302	(4) 100-Year	3.44	92.57	94.12	0.33	1.48
1268	(2) 2-Year	6.08	92.47	93.87	0.59	0.15
1268	(2) 5-Year	7.69	92.47	93.93	0.62	0.16
1268	(2) 10-Year	8.76	92.47	93.96	0.64	0.18
1268	(2) 25-Year	10.15	92.47	94.00	0.65	0.22
1268	(2) 100-Year	12.20	92.47	94.14	0.45	0.34
1268	(4) 2-Year	5.46	92.47	93.84	0.57	0.15
1268	(4) 5-Year	2.47	92.47	93.59	0.68	0.17
1268	(4) 10-Year	1.87	92.47	93.44	0.79	0.25
1268	(4) 25-Year	2.73	92.47	93.69	0.51	0.40
1268	(4) 100-Year	3.44	92.47	94.12	0.13	1.44
1212	(2) 2-Year	6.08	92.36	93.78	0.84	0.13
1212	(2) 5-Year	7.69	92.36	93.85	0.85	0.14
1212	(2) 10-Year	8.76	92.36	93.89	0.85	0.15
1212	(2) 25-Year	10.15	92.36	93.94	0.80	0.19
1212	(2) 100-Year	12.20	92.36	94.11	0.56	0.30
1212	(4) 2-Year	5.46	92.36	93.74	0.83	0.13
1212	(4) 5-Year	2.47	92.36	93.41	0.89	0.15
1212	(4) 10-Year	1.87	92.36	93.32	0.81	0.23
1212	(4) 25-Year	2.73	92.36	93.58	0.66	0.37
1212	(4) 100-Year	3.44	92.36	94.12	0.15	1.33
1169	(2) 2-Year	6.08	92.30	93.70	0.85	0.12
1169	(2) 5-Year	7.69	92.30	93.76	0.91	0.13
1169	(2) 10-Year	8.76	92.30	93.80	0.94	0.14
1169	(2) 25-Year	10.15	92.30	93.87	0.94	0.18
1169	(2) 100-Year	12.20	92.30	94.08	0.72	0.29
1169	(4) 2-Year	5.46	92.30	93.67	0.83	0.12
1169	(4) 5-Year	2.47	92.30	93.32	0.73	0.13
1169	(4) 10-Year	1.87	92.30	93.26	0.62	0.22
1169	(4) 25-Year	2.73	92.30	93.54	0.53	0.35

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
1169	(4) 100-Year	3.44	92.30	94.12	0.17	1.26
1091	(2) 2-Year	6.08	92.15	93.57	0.82	0.09
1091	(2) 5-Year	7.69	92.15	93.64	0.85	0.10
1091	(2) 10-Year	8.76	92.15	93.69	0.84	0.12
1091	(2) 25-Year	10.15	92.15	93.78	0.78	0.15
1091	(2) 100-Year	12.20	92.15	94.04	0.57	0.25
1091	(4) 2-Year	5.46	92.15	93.54	0.82	0.09
1091	(4) 5-Year	2.47	92.15	93.19	0.70	0.10
1091	(4) 10-Year	1.87	92.15	93.17	0.55	0.18
1091	(4) 25-Year	2.73	92.15	93.50	0.45	0.30
1091	(4) 100-Year	3.44	92.15	94.12	0.13	1.11
1002	(2) 2-Year	6.08	92.06	93.38	1.02	0.07
1002	(2) 5-Year	7.69	92.06	93.49	0.94	0.07
1002	(2) 10-Year	8.76	92.06	93.59	0.82	0.09
1002	(2) 25-Year	10.15	92.06	93.71	0.70	0.12
1002	(2) 100-Year	12.20	92.06	94.03	0.41	0.20
1002	(4) 2-Year	5.46	92.06	93.33	1.01	0.06
1002	(4) 5-Year	2.47	92.06	93.01	0.83	0.07
1002	(4) 10-Year	1.87	92.06	93.09	0.55	0.13
1002	(4) 25-Year	2.73	92.06	93.47	0.36	0.24
1002	(4) 100-Year	3.44	92.06	94.12	0.09	0.88
961	(2) 2-Year	6.08	91.96	93.28	0.83	0.05
961	(2) 5-Year	7.69	91.96	93.41	0.78	0.06
961	(2) 10-Year	8.76	91.96	93.52	0.65	0.07
961	(2) 25-Year	10.15	91.96	93.69	0.43	0.10
961	(2) 100-Year	12.20	91.96	94.02	0.24	0.17
961	(4) 2-Year	5.46	91.96	93.23	0.82	0.05
961	(4) 5-Year	2.47	91.96	92.97	0.62	0.06
961	(4) 10-Year	1.87	91.96	93.06	0.40	0.11
961	(4) 25-Year	2.73	91.96	93.46	0.25	0.21
961	(4) 100-Year	3.44	91.96	94.12	0.05	0.72
910	(2) 2-Year	6.08	91.93	93.22	0.70	0.04
910	(2) 5-Year	7.69	91.93	93.38	0.63	0.04
910	(2) 10-Year	8.76	91.93	93.49	0.52	0.05
910	(2) 25-Year	10.15	91.93	93.68	0.34	0.06
910	(2) 100-Year	12.20	91.93	94.02	0.20	0.10
910	(4) 2-Year	5.46	91.93	93.17	0.73	0.03
910	(4) 5-Year	2.47	91.93	92.91	0.64	0.03
910	(4) 10-Year	1.87	91.93	93.05	0.35	0.07
910	(4) 25-Year	2.73	91.93	93.46	0.18	0.14
910	(4) 100-Year	3.44	91.93	94.12	0.05	0.44
840	(2) 2-Year	6.08	91.86	93.18	0.41	0.00
840	(2) 5-Year	7.69	91.86	93.35	0.34	0.00
840	(2) 10-Year	8.76	91.86	93.48	0.30	0.00
840	(2) 25-Year	10.15	91.86	93.67	0.26	0.00
840	(2) 100-Year	12.20	91.86	94.02	0.18	0.00
840	(4) 2-Year	5.46	91.86	93.11	0.44	0.00

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Channel
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Travel Time
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(h)
840	(4) 5-Year	2.47	91.86	92.83	0.47	0.00
840	(4) 10-Year	1.87	91.86	93.03	0.19	0.00
840	(4) 25-Year	2.73	91.86	93.45	0.10	0.00
840	(4) 100-Year	3.44	91.86	94.12	0.04	0.00

⁽¹⁾ All channel infrastructure included in the HEC-RAS model for floodplain analysis.

For Scenario 2 (the Van Gaal Drain 100-year spring snowmelt plus rainfall peak flow reaches the Jock River) and

Scenario 4 (the Jock River 100-year spring snowmelt plus rainfall peak flow reaches the outlet of the Van Gaal Drain).



ATTACHMENT



HEC- RAS Results for Van Gaal Drain Reach 2 Proposed Conditions (Riparian Storage Analysis)





Water Resources and Environmental Consultants
HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Cumulative
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m ³)
2554	(1) 25 mm	0.72	94.75	95.41	0.41	6.92
2554	(1) 2-Year	1.95	94.75	95.71	0.57	14.46
2554	(1) 5-Year	3.20	94.75	95.91	0.67	19.95
2554	(1) 10-Year	4.11	94.75	96.03	0.72	24.07
2554	(1) 25-Year	5.28	94.75	96.14	0.78	29.88
2554	(1) 100-Year	7.27	94.75	96.26	0.84	42.02
2478	(1) 25 mm	0.72	94.75	95.34	0.43	6.79
2478	(1) 2-Year	1.95	94.75	95.63	0.62	14.21
2478	(1) 5-Year	3.20	94.75	95.82	0.75	19.61
2478	(1) 10-Year	4.11	94.75	95.93	0.83	23.66
2478	(1) 25-Year	5.28	94.75	96.03	0.93	29.33
2478	(1) 100-Year	7.27	94.75	96.13	1.10	40.96
2427.58*	(1) 25 mm	0.72	94.68	95.29	0.45	6.71
2427.58*	(1) 2-Year	1.95	94.68	95.57	0.65	14.06
2427.58*	(1) 5-Year	3.20	94.68	95.75	0.77	19.40
2427.58*	(1) 10-Year	4.11	94.68	95.85	0.86	23.40
2427.58*	(1) 25-Year	5.28	94.68	95.95	0.95	28.99
2427.58*	(1) 100-Year	7.27	94.68	96.04	1.10	40.37
2377.17*	(1) 25 mm	0.72	94.61	95.23	0.47	6.63
2377.17*	(1) 2-Year	1.95	94.61	95.50	0.68	13.91
2377.17*	(1) 5-Year	3.20	94.61	95.68	0.82	19.20
2377.17*	(1) 10-Year	4.11	94.61	95.77	0.90	23.14
2377.17*	(1) 25-Year	5.28	94.61	95.86	0.99	28.61
2377.17*	(1) 100-Year	7.27	94.61	95.95	1.07	39.64
2326.76*	(1) 25 mm	0.72	94.54	95.15	0.52	6.56
2326.76*	(1) 2-Year	1.95	94.54	95.41	0.75	13.77
2326.76*	(1) 5-Year	3.20	94.54	95.57	0.90	19.01
2326.76*	(1) 10-Year	4.11	94.54	95.67	0.97	22.88
2326.76*	(1) 25-Year	5.28	94.54	95.77	1.02	28.17
2326.76*	(1) 100-Year	7.27	94.54	95.88	0.95	38.69
2276.35*	(1) 25 mm	0.72	94.48	94.86	1.40	6.51
2276.35*	(1) 2-Year	1.95	94.48	95.05	1.72	13.68
2276.35*	(1) 5-Year	3.20	94.48	95.18	1.92	18.88
2276.35*	(1) 10-Year	4.11	94.48	95.25	2.02	22.70
2276.35*	(1) 25-Year	5.28	94.48	95.34	2.14	27.87
2276.35*	(1) 100-Year	7.27	94.48	95.50	2.13	38.05
2261	(1) 25 mm	0.72	93.57	94.17	0.86	6.49
2261	(1) 2-Year	1.95	93.57	94.39	1.57	13.65
2261	(1) 5-Year	3.20	93.57	94.51	2.15	18.84
2261	(1) 10-Year	4.11	93.57	94.55	2.62	22.65
2261	(1) 25-Year	5.28	93.57	94.68	2.87	27.82
2261	(1) 100-Year	7.27	93.57	94.89	3.13	37.96
	(,					
2258	(1) 25 mm	0.72	93.52	94.14	0.47	6.44
2258	(1) 2-Year	1.95	93.52	94.41	0.61	13.54
2258	(1) 5-Year	3.20	93.52	94.60	0.72	18.68

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Cumulative
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m ³)
2258	(1) 10-Year	4.11	93.52	94.70	0.79	22.47
2258	(1) 25-Year	5.28	93.52	94.82	0.87	27.60
2258	(1) 100-Year	7.27	93.52	94.99	0.99	37.69
2256	(1) 25 mm	0.72	93.49	94.12	0.46	6.40
2256	(1) 2-Year	1.95	93.49	94.39	0.63	13.42
2256	(1) 5-Year	3.20	93.49	94.58	0.75	18.50
2256	(1) 10-Year	4.11	93.49	94.68	0.81	22.25
2256	(1) 25-Year	5.28	93.49	94.80	0.88	27.34
2256	(1) 100-Year	7.27	93.49	94.97	0.97	37.35
2254	(1) 25 mm	0.72	93.46	94.11	0.44	6.35
2254	(1) 2-Year	1.95	93.46	94.38	0.62	13.32
2254	(1) 5-Year	3.20	93.46	94.56	0.73	18.35
2254	(1) 10-Year	4.11	93.46	94.67	0.80	22.06
2254	(1) 25-Year	5.28	93.46	94.78	0.87	27.10
2254	(1) 100-Year	7.27	93.46	94.96	0.96	37.05
2235	(1) 25 mm	0.72	93.44	94.10	0.43	6.30
2235	(1) 2-Year	1.95	93.44	94.36	0.60	13.21
2235	(1) 5-Year	3.20	93.44	94.55	0.72	18.20
2235	(1) 10-Year	4.11	93.44	94.65	0.79	21.87
2235	(1) 25-Year	5.28	93.44	94.77	0.86	26.87
2235	(1) 100-Year	7.27	93.44	94.94	0.95	36.74
2207	(1) 25 mm	0.72	93.40	94.08	0.40	6.23
2207	(1) 2-Year	1.95	93.40	94.35	0.59	13.06
2207	(1) 5-Year	3.20	93.40	94.53	0.71	17.96
2207	(1) 10-Year	4.11	93.40	94.63	0.78	21.58
2207	(1) 25-Year	5.28	93.40	94.74	0.85	26.51
2207	(1) 100-Year	7.27	93.40	94.92	0.94	36.28
2188	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.37	94.05	0.65	6.18
2188	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.37	94.31	0.84	12.95
2188	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.37	94.49	0.98	17.80
2188	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.37	94.59	1.05	21.38
2188	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.37	94.70	1.13	26.27
2188	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.37	94.88	1.25	35.98
2163	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.34	94.02	0.65	6.12
2163	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.34	94.28	0.84	12.81
2163	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.34	94.46	0.97	17.60
2163	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.34	94.56	1.04	21.13
2163	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.34	94.67	1.12	25.97
2163	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.34	94.84	1.23	35.59
2141	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.31	93.99	0.65	6.06
2141	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.31	94.25	0.84	12.69
2141	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.31	94.43	0.97	17.42
2141	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.31	94.53	1.04	20.91
2141	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.31	94.64	1.11	25.69
2141	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.31	94.81	1.23	35.23

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Cumulative
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m ³)
2121	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.28	93.97	0.64	6.00
2121	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.28	94.23	0.83	12.58
2121	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.28	94.41	0.96	17.25
2121	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.28	94.51	1.03	20.70
2121	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.28	94.62	1.11	25.44
2121	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.28	94.79	1.23	34.91
2101	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.26	93.94	0.66	5.95
2101	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.26	94.20	0.84	12.46
2101	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.26	94.38	0.98	17.08
2101	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.26	94.48	1.05	20.49
2101	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.26	94.59	1.12	25.18
2101	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.26	94.76	1.24	34.58
2000	(1) 05	1.10	02.04	02.00	0.00	5 00
2080	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.24	93.90	0.68	5.89
2080	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.24	94.17	0.86	12.34
2080	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.24	94.35	0.99	16.91
2080	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.24	94.45	1.00	20.28
2080	(1) 25-Year	0.90	93.24	94.50	1.14	24.93
2080	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.24	94.73	1.20	34.25
2059	(1) 25 mm	1 16	93.21	93.87	0.70	5.84
2059	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.21	94 14	0.86	12 23
2059	(1) 5-Year	4 41	93.21	94.32	0.00	16.73
2059	(1) 10-Year	5 53	93.21	94.42	1.06	20.06
2059	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.21	94.53	1.00	24.66
2059	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.21	94 69	1 27	33.91
2000	(1) 100 100	0.01		0 1100		
2038	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.18	93.84	0.70	5.80
2038	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.18	94.12	0.84	12.12
2038	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.18	94.29	0.98	16.58
2038	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.18	94.39	1.05	19.87
2038	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.18	94.50	1.13	24.44
2038	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.18	94.67	1.25	33.62
2017	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.17	93.82	0.71	5.78
2017	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.17	94.10	0.86	12.08
2017	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.17	94.28	1.00	16.52
2017	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.17	94.38	1.07	19.79
2017	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.17	94.49	1.15	24.33
2017	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.17	94.65	1.28	33.49
2003	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.16	93.81	0.73	5.76
2003	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.16	94.09	0.86	12.04
2003	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.16	94.27	1.01	16.46
2003	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.16	94.37	1.08	19.72
2003	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.16	94.48	1.16	24.24
2003	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.16	94.64	1.28	33.37
4000	(1) 05 (200	4.40	00.40	00.77	0.74	F 74
1982	(1) 25 mm	1.10	93.12	93.77	0.71	5./1
1902	(i) z-rear	2.00	93.12	94.07	0.03	11.93

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Cumulative
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m ³)
1982	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.12	94.24	0.97	16.29
1982	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.12	94.34	1.04	19.51
1982	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.12	94.45	1.12	23.99
1982	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.12	94.61	1.25	33.04
1961	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.08	93.74	0.70	5.66
1961	(1) 2-Year	2.80	93.08	94.04	0.80	11.81
1961	(1) 5-Year	4.41	93.08	94.22	0.95	16.11
1961	(1) 10-Year	5.53	93.08	94.32	1.02	19.29
1961	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.08	94.42	1.10	23.73
1961	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.08	94.59	1.24	32.71
	()					-
1940	(1) 25 mm	1.16	93.04	93.70	0.68	5.61
1940	(1) 2-Year	2 80	93.04	94 02	0.78	11.68
1940	(1) 5-Year	4 4 1	93.04	94 19	0.92	15.93
1940	(1) 10-Year	5 53	93.04	94 29	1.00	19.07
1940	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.04	94.40	1.00	23.46
1940	(1) 20-1 car (1) 100-Year	9.50	93.04	94.56	1.00	32 38
1040	(1) 100-1001	0.04	55.04	54.50	1.22	02.00
1919	(1) 25 mm	1 16	93.01	93.67	0.69	5 56
1010	(1) 23 mm	2.80	03.01	93.07	0.09	11 55
1919	(1) 2-1eai	2.00	93.01	94.00	0.70	15.74
1919	(1) 5- real	4.41	93.01	94.17	0.90	10.74
1919	(1) 10-1ear	5.55	93.01	94.27	0.98	10.04
1919	(1) 25-Year	6.96	93.01	94.38	1.06	23.19
1919	(1) 100-Year	9.54	93.01	94.53	1.20	32.04
1909	(1) 25 mm	1 16	02.07	02.64	0.67	E E 1
1898	(1) 25 mm	1.10	92.97	93.64	0.67	5.51
1898	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.97	93.99	0.73	11.42
1898	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.97	94.15	0.87	15.55
1898	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.97	94.25	0.95	18.61
1898	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.97	94.35	1.04	22.91
1898	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.97	94.51	1.18	31.69
	<i>(</i>), - -					
1877	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.93	93.61	0.64	5.45
1877	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.93	93.97	0.70	11.28
1877	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.93	94.13	0.84	15.34
1877	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.93	94.23	0.92	18.36
1877	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.93	94.33	1.01	22.62
1877	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.93	94.49	1.16	31.33
1857	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.89	93.59	0.62	5.39
1857	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.89	93.96	0.68	11.13
1857	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.89	94.12	0.82	15.13
1857	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.89	94.21	0.90	18.11
1857	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.89	94.31	0.99	22.33
1857	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.89	94.46	1.14	30.97
1837	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.86	93.56	0.60	5.33
1837	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.86	93.94	0.65	10.98
1837	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.86	94.10	0.80	14.91
1837	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.86	94.19	0.88	17.86
1837	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.86	94.30	0.97	22.02

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Cumulative
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m ³)
1837	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.86	94.44	1.12	30.60
1817	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.81	93.54	0.56	5.27
1817	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.81	93.93	0.62	10.81
1817	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.81	94.09	0.77	14.68
1817	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.81	94.18	0.85	17.59
1817	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.81	94.28	0.94	21.71
1817	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.81	94.42	1.10	30.23
1797	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.77	93.53	0.53	5.20
1797	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.77	93.92	0.59	10.64
1797	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.77	94.08	0.74	14.44
1797	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.77	94.17	0.82	17.31
1797	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.77	94.26	0.92	21.39
1797	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.77	94.41	1.07	29.85
1777	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.73	93.52	0.49	5.13
1777	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.73	93.91	0.56	10.45
1777	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.73	94.07	0.70	14.19
1777	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.73	94.15	0.78	17.02
1777	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.73	94.25	0.88	21.06
1777	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.73	94.39	1.04	29.45
	(1) 65			aa = <i>i</i>	a (a	
1/5/	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.69	93.51	0.46	5.04
1/5/	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.69	93.91	0.53	10.24
1757	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.69	94.06	0.68	13.92
1757	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.69	94.14	0.76	16.72
1/5/	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.69	94.24	0.86	20.72
1/5/	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.69	94.37	1.02	29.05
1736	(1) 25 mm	1 16	02.66	03 50	0.44	4.06
1736	(1) 23 mm	2.80	92.00	93.50	0.44	4.90
1736	(1) 2-1ear	2.00	92.00	93.90	0.51	13.65
1736	(1) 10-Year	5 53	92.66	94.03 94.13	0.03	16.40
1736	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.66	94.73	0.83	20.36
1736	(1) 100-Year	9.56	92.66	94.36	1.00	28.63
1100	(1) 100 100	0.04	02.00	04.00	1.00	20.00
1715	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.62	93.49	0.40	4.86
1715	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.62	93.90	0.48	9.80
1715	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.62	94.04	0.62	13.35
1715	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.62	94.13	0.70	16.07
1715	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.62	94.22	0.80	20.00
1715	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.62	94.35	0.96	28.20
-	()					
1694	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.58	93.48	0.38	4.76
1694	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.58	93.89	0.46	9.56
1694	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.58	94.03	0.60	13.05
1694	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.58	94.12	0.68	15.73
1694	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.58	94.21	0.78	19.61
1694	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.58	94.33	0.94	27.76
1673	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.53	93.48	0.35	4.64

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Cumulative
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m ³)
1673	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.53	93.89	0.44	9.30
1673	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.53	94.03	0.57	12.73
1673	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.53	94.11	0.66	15.38
1673	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.53	94.20	0.75	19.22
1673	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.53	94.32	0.92	27.31
1653	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.50	93.48	0.33	4.52
1653	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.50	93.88	0.42	9.02
1653	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.50	94.02	0.55	12.39
1653	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.50	94.10	0.64	15.01
1653	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.50	94.19	0.73	18.81
1653	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.50	94.31	0.89	26.85
1632	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.46	93.47	0.31	4.39
1632	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.46	93.88	0.40	8.74
1632	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.46	94.02	0.54	12.05
1632	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.46	94.10	0.62	14.63
1632	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.46	94.18	0.72	18.39
1632	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.46	94.30	0.88	26.37
1615	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.43	93.47	0.31	4.28
1615	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.43	93.88	0.39	8.49
1615	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.43	94.02	0.52	11.75
1615	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.43	94.09	0.60	14.30
1615	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.43	94.18	0.69	18.04
1615	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.43	94.29	0.85	25.97
1555	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.35	93.46	0.28	3.83
1555	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.35	93.87	0.36	7.55
1555	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.35	94.00	0.48	10.64
1555	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.35	94.08	0.56	13.09
1555	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.35	94.16	0.64	16.71
1555	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.35	94.27	0.80	24.49
1488	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.28	93.46	0.25	3.24
1488	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.28	93.87	0.33	6.40
1488	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.28	93.99	0.44	9.30
1488	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.28	94.07	0.52	11.64
1488	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.28	94.14	0.61	15.14
1488	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.28	94.24	0.76	22.76
1416	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.20	93.45	0.21	2.59
1416	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.20	93.86	0.30	5.23
1416	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.20	93.99	0.42	7.96
1416	(1) 10-Year	5.53	92.20	94.06	0.49	10.20
1416	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.20	94.13	0.58	13.61
1416	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.20	94.22	0.73	21.09
4.400	(4) 05		aa 4-	00.45	0.00	<i>.</i>
1400	(1) 25 mm	1.16	92.17	93.45	0.20	2.31
1400	(1) 2-Year	2.80	92.17	93.86	0.29	4./6
1400	(1) 5-Year	4.41	92.17	93.98	0.40	1.42
1400	(1)10-Year	5.53	92.17	94.05	0.48	9.63

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Cumulative
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m ³)
1400	(1) 25-Year	6.96	92.17	94.12	0.56	12.99
1400	(1) 100-Year	9.54	92.17	94.22	0.72	20.42
1364	(1) 25 mm	1.16	91.63	93.45	0.09	1.80
1364	(1) 2-Year	2.80	91.63	93.86	0.15	3.97
1364	(1) 5-Year	4.41	91.63	93.98	0.22	6.53
1364	(1) 10-Year	5.53	91.63	94.05	0.27	8.69
1364	(1) 25-Year	6.96	91.63	94.12	0.32	12.00
1364	(1) 100-Year	9.54	91.63	94.22	0.41	19.35
1340	(1) 25 mm	1.53	91.60	93.45	0.11	1.42
1340	(1) 2-Year	3.64	91.60	93.86	0.20	3.39
1340	(1) 5-Year	5.57	91.60	93.98	0.28	5.90
1340	(1) 10-Year	6.92	91.60	94.05	0.33	8.02
1340	(1) 25-Year	8.58	91.60	94.12	0.39	11.29
1340	(1) 100-Year	11.43	91.60	94.21	0.50	18.60
1312	(1) 25 mm	1.53	92.47	93.45	0.29	1.10
1312	(1) 2-Year	3.87	92.47	93.84	0.51	2.91
1312	(1) 5-Year	5.93	92.47	93.96	0.71	5.36
1312	(1) 10-Year	7.38	92.47	94.01	0.84	7.45
1312	(1) 25-Year	9.17	92.47	94.07	1.01	10.69
1312	(1) 100-Year	12.20	92.47	94.13	1.29	17.96
1302	(1) 25 mm	1.53	92.57	93.41	0.83	1.07
1302	(1) 2-Year	3.87	92.57	93.81	0.88	2.84
1302	(1) 5-Year	5.93	92.57	93.92	1.05	5.28
1302	(1) 10-Year	7.38	92.57	93.98	1.15	7.35
1302	(1) 25-Year	9.17	92.57	94.03	1.27	10.58
1302	(1) 100-Year	12.20	92.57	94.11	1.41	17.81
1268	(1) 25 mm	1.53	92.47	93.33	0.79	1.00
1268	(1) 2-Year	3.87	92.47	93.75	0.56	2.62
1268	(1) 5-Year	5.93	92.47	93.88	0.57	4.91
1268	(1) 10-Year	7.38	92.47	93.94	0.60	6.88
1268	(1) 25-Year	9.17	92.47	94.01	0.62	9.89
1268	(1) 100-Year	12.20	92.47	94.10	0.60	16.64
1212	(1) 25 mm	1.53	92.36	93.18	0.86	0.90
1212	(1) 2-Year	3.87	92.36	93.61	0.89	2.25
1212	(1) 5-Year	5.93	92.36	93.77	0.91	4.21
1212	(1) 10-Year	7.38	92.36	93.85	0.93	5.90
1212	(1) 25-Year	9.17	92.36	93.92	0.94	8.43
1212	(1) 100-Year	12.20	92.36	94.04	0.90	14.29
1169	(1) 25 mm	1.53	92.30	93.10	0.69	0.81
1169	(1) 2-Year	3.87	92.30	93.53	0.78	2.02
1169	(1) 5-Year	5.93	92.30	93.70	0.86	3.67
1169	(1) 10-Year	7.38	92.30	93.77	0.92	5.11
1169	(1) 25-Year	9.17	92.30	93.84	0.98	7.33
1169	(1) 100-Year	12.20	92.30	93.94	1.09	12.64

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Cumulative
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m ³)
1091	(1) 25 mm	1.53	92.15	92.98	0.65	0.63
1091	(1) 2-Year	3.87	92.15	93.40	0.75	1.62
1091	(1) 5-Year	5.93	92.15	93.57	0.83	2.89
1091	(1) 10-Year	7.38	92.15	93.64	0.87	4.03
1091	(1) 25-Year	9.17	92.15	93.71	0.92	5.91
1091	(1) 100-Year	12.20	92.15	93.82	0.97	10.62
1002	(1) 25 mm	1.53	92.06	92.81	0.76	0.44
1002	(1) 2-Year	3.87	92.06	93.21	0.91	1.21
1002	(1) 5-Year	5.93	92.06	93.37	1.02	2.15
1002	(1) 10-Year	7.38	92.06	93.46	1.04	2.97
1002	(1) 25-Year	9.17	92.06	93.55	1.03	4.45
1002	(1) 100-Year	12.20	92.06	93.69	1.02	8.49
961	(1) 25 mm	1.53	91.96	92.77	0.54	0.34
961	(1) 2-Year	3.87	91.96	93.13	0.72	1.01
961	(1) 5-Year	5.93	91.96	93.28	0.80	1.86
961	(1) 10-Year	7.38	91.96	93.37	0.83	2.56
961	(1) 25-Year	9.17	91.96	93.47	0.82	3.85
961	(1) 100-Year	12.20	91.96	93.64	0.64	7.42
910	(1) 25 mm	1.53	91.93	92.72	0.57	0.20
910	(1) 2-Year	3.87	91.93	93.06	0.74	0.62
910	(1) 5-Year	5.93	91.93	93.20	0.81	1.16
910	(1) 10-Year	7.38	91.93	93.30	0.82	1.62
910	(1) 25-Year	9.17	91.93	93.41	0.83	2.38
910	(1) 100-Year	12.20	91.93	93.60	0.68	4.32
840	(1) 25 mm	1.53	91.86	92.65	0.50	
840	(1) 2-Year	3.87	91.86	92.98	0.47	
840	(1) 5-Year	5.93	91.86	93.16	0.42	
840	(1) 10-Year	7.38	91.86	93.26	0.41	
840	(1) 25-Year	9.17	91.86	93.38	0.41	
840	(1) 100-Year	12.20	91.86	93.58	0.39	

⁽¹⁾ All channel infrastructure removed from the HEC-RAS model for riparian storage analysis.

For Scenario 1 (the Van Gaal Drain 100-year 24-hour SCS peak flow reaches the Jock River).

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Cumulative
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m ³)
2554	(2) 2-Year	4.13	94.75	96.03	0.72	19.57
2554	(2) 5-Year	5.24	94.75	96.13	0.78	23.71
2554	(2) 10-Year	6.00	94.75	96.18	0.81	26.69
2554	(2) 25-Year	6.94	94.75	96.23	0.83	31.36
2554	(2) 100-Year	8.32	94.75	96.28	0.82	41.22
2554	(4) 2-Year	3.97	94.75	96.01	0.71	18.31
2554	(4) 5-Year	2.02	94.75	95.72	0.58	11.05
2554	(4) 10-Year	1.57	94.75	95.63	0.54	9.11
2554	(4) 25-Year	2.25	94.75	95.76	0.60	15.27
2554	(4) 100-Year	2.86	94.75	95.86	0.65	44.48
2478	(2) 2-Year	4.13	94.75	95.93	0.83	19.16
2478	(2) 5-Year	5.24	94.75	96.02	0.93	23.18
2478	(2) 10-Year	6.00	94.75	96.06	1.00	26.04
2478	(2) 25-Year	6.94	94.75	96.10	1.09	30.49
2478	(2) 100-Year	8.32	94.75	96.14	1.17	40.01
2478	(4) 2-Year	3.97	94.75	95.91	0.82	17.92
2478	(4) 5-Year	2.02	94.75	95.64	0.63	10.80
2478	(4) 10-Year	1.57	94.75	95.55	0.58	8.89
2478	(4) 25-Year	2.25	94.75	95.68	0.66	15.00
2478	(4) 100-Year	2.86	94.75	95.77	0.71	44.17
2427.58*	(2) 2-Year	4.13	94.68	95.85	0.86	18.91
2427.58*	(2) 5-Year	5.24	94.68	95.94	0.95	22.85
2427.58*	(2) 10-Year	6.00	94.68	95.97	1.03	25.66
2427.58*	(2) 25-Year	6.94	94.68	96.01	1.09	30.01
2427.58*	(2) 100-Year	8.32	94.68	96.05	1.16	39.37
2427.58*	(4) 2-Year	3.97	94.68	95.84	0.85	17.67
2427.58*	(4) 5-Year	2.02	94.68	95.58	0.65	10.65
2427.58*	(4) 10-Year	1.57	94.68	95.49	0.60	8.76
2427.58*	(4) 25-Year	2.25	94.68	95.62	0.68	14.83
2427.58*	(4) 100-Year	2.86	94.68	95.71	0.74	43.97
2377.17*	(2) 2-Year	4.13	94.61	95.77	0.90	18.65
2377.17*	(2) 5-Year	5.24	94.61	95.85	0.97	22.49
2377.17*	(2) 10-Year	6.00	94.61	95.89	1.02	25.20
2377.17*	(2) 25-Year	6.94	94.61	95.92	1.05	29.43
2377.17*	(2) 100-Year	8.32	94.61	95.95	1.13	38.64
2377.17*	(4) 2-Year	3.97	94.61	95.76	0.88	17.42
2377.17*	(4) 5-Year	2.02	94.61	95.51	0.69	10.49
2377.17*	(4) 10-Year	1.57	94.61	95.43	0.63	8.63
2377.17*	(4) 25-Year	2.25	94.61	95.54	0.72	14.67
2377.17*	(4) 100-Year	2.86	94.61	95.63	0.78	43.78
0006 70*	(2) 2 //	4.40	04 54	05.67	0.00	40.00
2320.70	(2) Z-Year (2) 5 V	4.13	94.94	90.07	0.90	10.30
2320.70"	(∠) 5-rear	5.24	94.54	95.70	0.98	22.08
2320.70"	(2) 10-Year	0.00	94.54	95.81	0.94	24.03
2320.70	(2) 20 - rear	0.94	94.04	90.00 05.00	0.09	20.00
2320.70	(2) 100-Year	0.32	94.94	90.00 05.66	0.95	31.1Z
2320.70	(4) 2 - 1 ear	3.91 2.02	94.94 04 54	90.00	0.95	10.36
2326 76*	(4) 10-Year	1 57	94 54	95 34	0.70	8 51
			01.01	50.0 T	0.00	0.01

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Cumulative
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m ³ /s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m ³)
2326.76*	(4) 25-Year	2.25	94.54	95.45	0.79	14.52
2326.76*	(4) 100-Year	2.86	94.54	95.53	0.86	43.61
2276.35*	(2) 2-Year	4.13	94.48	95.25	2.02	18.20
2276.35*	(2) 5-Year	5.24	94.48	95.33	2.16	21.79
2276.35*	(2) 10-Year	6.00	94.48	95.38	2.23	24.23
2276.35*	(2) 25-Year	6.94	94.48	95.49	2.09	28.12
2276.35*	(2) 100-Year	8.32	94.48	95.64	1.66	36.98
2276.35*	(4) 2-Year	3.97	94.48	95.24	2.02	17.00
2276.35*	(4) 5-Year	2.02	94.48	95.06	1.73	10.26
2276.35*	(4) 10-Year	1.57	94.48	95.00	1.64	8.43
2276.35*	(4) 25-Year	2.25	94.48	95.08	1.78	14.42
2276.35*	(4) 100-Year	2.86	94.48	95.14	1.87	43.49
2261	(2) 2-Year	4.13	93.57	94.53	2.64	18.16
2261	(2) 5-Year	5.24	93.57	94.66	2.81	21.74
2261	(2) 10-Year	6.00	93.57	94.74	2.92	24.17
2261	(2) 25-Year	6.94	93.57	94.84	3.02	28.04
2261	(2) 100-Year	8.32	93.57	94.95	3.19	36.83
2261	(4) 2-Year	3.97	93.57	94.51	2.61	16.96
2261	(4) 5-Year	2.02	93.57	94.30	1.87	10.23
2261	(4) 10-Year	1.57	93.57	94.26	1.56	8.41
2261	(4) 25-Year	2.25	93.57	94.31	2.05	14.39
2261	(4) 100-Year	2.86	93.57	94.36	2.40	43.46
2258	(2) 2-Year	4.13	93.52	94.59	0.80	18.00
2258	(2) 5-Year	5.24	93.52	94.68	0.87	21.55
2258	(2) 10-Year	6.00	93.52	94.74	0.91	23.97
2258	(2) 25-Year	6.94	93.52	94.81	0.96	27.82
2258	(2) 100-Year	8.32	93.52	94.93	1.00	36.57
2258	(4) 2-Year	3.97	93.52	94.57	0.79	16.81
2258	(4) 5-Year	2.02	93.52	94.33	0.68	10.14
2258	(4) 10-Year	1.57	93.52	94.26	0.65	8.33
2258	(4) 25-Year	2.25	93.52	94.36	0.70	14.29
2258	(4) 100-Year	2.86	93.52	94.44	0.73	43.34
2256	(2) 2-Year	4.13	93.49	94.56	0.83	17.83
2256	(2) 5-Year	5.24	93.49	94.66	0.88	21.34
2256	(2) 10-Year	6.00	93.49	94.72	0.92	23.73
2256	(2) 25-Year	6.94	93.49	94.79	0.95	27.55
2256	(2) 100-Year	8.32	93.49	94.91	0.96	36.26
2256	(4) 2-Year	3.97	93.49	94.55	0.82	16.64
2256	(4) 5-Year	2.02	93.49	94.30	0.69	10.04
2256	(4) 10-Year	1.57	93.49	94.23	0.66	8.25
2256	(4) 25-Year	2.25	93.49	94.34	0.71	14.19
2256	(4) 100-Year	2.86	93.49	94.42	0.75	43.21
2254	(2) 2-Year	4.13	93.46	94.54	0.82	17.68
2254	(2) 5-Year	5.24	93.46	94.64	0.87	21.16
2254	(2) 10-Year	6.00	93.46	94.70	0.91	23.53
2254	(2) 25-Year	6.94	93.46	94.77	0.94	27.32
2254	(2) 100-Year	8.32	93.46	94.90	0.95	35.98

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Cumulative
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m ³)
2254	(4) 2-Year	3.97	93.46	94.53	0.81	16.50
2254	(4) 5-Year	2.02	93.46	94.28	0.69	9.96
2254	(4) 10-Year	1.57	93.46	94.21	0.65	8.19
2254	(4) 25-Year	2.25	93.46	94.31	0.70	14.10
2254	(4) 100-Year	2.86	93.46	94.40	0.74	43.10
2235	(2) 2-Year	4.13	93.44	94.53	0.80	17.54
2235	(2) 5-Year	5.24	93.44	94.62	0.86	20.98
2235	(2) 10-Year	6.00	93.44	94.68	0.89	23.32
2235	(2) 25-Year	6.94	93.44	94.75	0.93	27.09
2235	(2) 100-Year	8.32	93.44	94.88	0.93	35.69
2235	(4) 2-Year	3.97	93.44	94.51	0.80	16.36
2235	(4) 5-Year	2.02	93.44	94.26	0.68	9.88
2235	(4) 10-Year	1.57	93.44	94.19	0.64	8.12
2235	(4) 25-Year	2.25	93.44	94.29	0.70	14.01
2235	(4) 100-Year	2.86	93.44	94.38	0.73	42.99
2207	(2) 2-Year	4.13	93.40	94.50	0.80	17.32
2207	(2) 5-Year	5.24	93.40	94.60	0.86	20.70
2207	(2) 10-Year	6.00	93.40	94.66	0.89	23.01
2207	(2) 25-Year	6.94	93.40	94.73	0.93	26.74
2207	(2) 100-Year	8.32	93.40	94.86	0.93	35.27
2207	(4) 2-Year	3.97	93.40	94.48	0.80	16.15
2207	(4) 5-Year	2.02	93.40	94 23	0.68	9.76
2207	(4) 10-Year	1.57	93.40	94 16	0.65	8.02
2207	(4) 25-Year	2 25	93.40	94.26	0.00	13.88
2207	(4) 100-Year	2.86	93.40	94.35	0.73	42.83
	(1) 100 100	2.00		0 1100	0.1.0	12.00
2188	(2) 2-Year	5 00	93 37	94 47	0.96	17 17
2188	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.37	94 56	1.03	20.52
2188	(2) 10-Year	7 24	93.37	94.62	1.00	22.81
2188	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.37	94.69	1.07	26.51
2188	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.37	94.82	1.12	34 99
2188	(4) 2-Year	4 78	93.37	94.62	0.95	16.01
2188	(4) 5-Year	2 33	93.37	94.20	0.77	9.68
2188	(4) 10-Year	1 78	93.37	94.13	0.71	7.96
2188	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.37	94.76	0.79	13 79
2188	(4) 100-Year	3 29	93.37	94.33	0.82	42 72
2100	(4) 100 1001	0.20	00.07	04.00	0.02	72.12
2163	(2) 2-Vear	5.00	93 34	94 44	0.95	16.98
2163	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.34	94.53	1.02	20.29
2103	(2) 10 Voor	7.24	03.34	94.55	1.02	20.29
2103	(2) 10-Tear	9.24	03.34	94.59	1.00	22.34
2103	(2) 20 - 1 ear	10.91	03.34	94.00	1.11	20.21
2103	(4) 2 - Voor	Δ 78	03 3/	94.79	0.0/	15.82
2103	(4) 5 Voor	222	03.24	04.42 0/ 17	0.34	0.57
2103	(4) 10 Voor	2.33	93.34	94.17 04.10	0.77	9.07 7 07
2103	(4) 10-1 ear	1.70	50.04 02.24	94.10 04.20	0.71	10.01
2103	(4) 20 - 1 ear	2.00	33.34	94.20	0.79	10.07
2103	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.34	94.30	0.01	42.00
01/1	(2) 2 Vaar	E 00	02.24	04.44	0.05	16 01
2141	$(2) \ge 1 \text{ ear}$	5.00	02.01	94.41	1.90	20.07
2141		0.52	30.01	34.00	1.02	20.07

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Cumulative
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m ³)
2141	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.31	94.56	1.06	22.30
2141	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.31	94.63	1.11	25.94
2141	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.31	94.76	1.20	34.30
2141	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.31	94.39	0.94	15.66
2141	(4) 5-Year	2.33	93.31	94.14	0.77	9.48
2141	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.31	94.07	0.71	7.79
2141	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.31	94.17	0.79	13.57
2141	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.31	94.27	0.80	42.45
2121	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.28	94.38	0.94	16.65
2121	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.28	94.48	1.01	19.88
2121	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.28	94.54	1.05	22.08
2121	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.28	94.60	1.10	25.70
2121	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.28	94.73	1.20	34.00
2121	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.28	94.36	0.94	15.51
2121	(4) 5-Year	2.33	93.28	94.12	0.76	9.39
2121	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.28	94.04	0.70	7.72
2121	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.28	94.15	0.78	13.48
2121	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.28	94.25	0.79	42.34
	()					-
2101	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.26	94.35	0.96	16.49
2101	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.26	94.45	1.03	19.68
2101	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.26	94.51	1.07	21.86
2101	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.26	94 57	1.12	25 45
2101	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.26	94.70	1.21	33.69
2101	(4) 2-Year	4 78	93.26	94 33	0.95	15.36
2101	(4) 5-Year	2.33	93.26	94.09	0.77	9.30
2101	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.26	94.01	0.72	7 65
2101	(4) 25-Year	2 60	93.26	94 12	0.79	13 38
2101	(4) 100-Year	3 29	93.26	94 23	0.79	42.22
	(.,)					
2080	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.24	94.32	0.98	16.33
2080	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.24	94.42	1.05	19.48
2080	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.24	94.48	1.09	21.64
2080	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93 24	94 54	1 14	25.20
2080	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93 24	94 67	1.23	33 39
2080	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.24	94.30	0.97	15.21
2080	(4) 5-Year	2.33	93.24	94.05	0.80	9.21
2080	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.24	93.98	0.75	7.58
2080	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.24	94.09	0.81	13.28
2080	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.24	94.20	0.80	42.09
	(.,					
2059	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.21	94.29	0.98	16.17
2059	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.21	94.39	1.05	19.28
2059	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.21	94.45	1.09	21.41
2059	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.21	94.51	1.14	24.94
2059	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.21	94.64	1.24	33.08
2059	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.21	94.27	0.97	15.05
2059	(4) 5-Year	2.33	93.21	94.02	0.81	9.13
2059	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.21	93.94	0.76	7,51
2059	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.21	94.06	0.82	13.19
2059	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.21	94.18	0.79	41.96

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel Water Surface		Channel	Cumulative
River			Flevation	Flevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m ³ /s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m^3)
olution		(, -)	()	()	(11,10)	()
2038	(2) 2-Year	5 00	93 18	94 27	0.97	16 03
2038	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.18	94.36	1.03	19.00
2038	(2) 10-Year	7 24	93.18	94 42	1.00	21.22
2038	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.18	94.49	1.00	24.72
2038	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.18	94.61	1.13	32.81
2038	(4) 2-Year	4 78	93.18	94 24	0.96	14.92
2038	(4) 5-Year	2.33	93.18	93.99	0.80	9.05
2038	(4) 10-Year	1 78	93.18	93.95	0.00	7 45
2038	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.18	94.03	0.81	13 10
2038	(4) 20 - 1 ear	3.20	93.10	94.05	0.01	11.10
2000	(4) 100-1eai	5.23	33.10	94.10	0.77	41.00
2017	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93 17	94 25	0 99	15.96
2017	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.17	94.35	1.06	19.03
2017	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.17	94.66	1.00	21 13
2017	(2) 25-Vear	8 38	93.17	94.47	1.10	24.62
2017	(2) 20 - 1 car	10.81	03.17	94.59	1.15	32.60
2017	(2) 100-real (4) 2-Year	10.01	93.17	94.39	0.08	1/ 87
2017	(4) 2-1 ear	2 33	93.17	94.25	0.90	9.02
2017	$(4) \ 3 - 1 \ \text{ear}$	2.33	93.17	93.90	0.02	9.02 7.42
2017	(4) 10-1 ear	2.60	93.17	93.90	0.79	12.07
2017	(4) 25 - 1 ear	2.00	93.17	94.02	0.02	13.07
2017	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.17	94.15	0.76	41.01
2003	(2) 2 Voor	5.00	03 16	04.24	1.00	15.01
2003	(2) 2- Tear	5.00	93.10	94.24	1.00	19.06
2003	(2) 3- fear	0.32	93.10	94.34	1.07	21.05
2003	(2) 10-fear	0.24	93.10	94.40	1.11	21.00
2003	(2) 25 - fear	0.30	93.10	94.40	1.10	24.00
2003	(2) 100-rear	10.01	93.10	94.56	1.20	32.30
2003	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.16	94.22	0.99	14.81
2003	(4) 5- Year	2.33	93.10	93.97	0.83	0.99
2003	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.16	93.88	0.81	7.40
2003	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.16	94.01	0.84	13.03
2003	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.16	94.14	0.78	41.76
1002	(2) 2 Voor	5 00	02 12	04.22	0.06	15 75
1902	(2) 2- fear	5.00	93.12	94.22	0.90	10.75
1902	(2) 3- fear	0.32	93.12	94.31	1.03	10.70
1902	(2) 10-Tear	9.39	03.12	94.37	1.07	20.05
1962	(2) 25 - fear	0.30	93.12	94.43	1.12	24.20
1962	(2) 100-rear	10.01	93.12	94.55	1.23	32.20
1962	(4) 2- Year	4.70	93.12	94.19	0.95	14.07
1902	(4) 5- Fear	2.33	93.12	93.94	0.79	0.90
1982	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.12	93.85	0.78	7.34
1982	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.12	93.98	0.80	12.94
1902	(4) 100-rear	3.29	93.12	94.12	0.74	41.03
1061	(2) 2-Vear	5.00	03.08	94 19	0 03	15 50
1061	(2) 2 - 1 - 6 - 6 - 6 - 6 - 6 - 6 - 6 - 6 - 6	632	03.00	0/ 28	1 00	12.59
1061	(2) 10 - Voor	7.0/	03.00	04.20 0/ 3/	1.00	20.60
1061	(2) 25 Voor	8 20	03.00	04.04	1 10	20.00
1061	(2) 20 - 1 ear	0.00	33.00	34.41 04 52	1.10	24.00
1061	(2) 100-rear	10.01	33.00	94.00 0/ 17	0.02	31.90 11 E1
1061	(4) 5 Vear	4.10 2.33	93.00	94.17 Q3.01	0.93	8 82
1 1001	(-, -, -, -, -a	2.00	00.00	55.51	0.11	0.02

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Minimum Channel Water Surface		Cumulative
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m ³ /s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m ³)
1961	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.08	93.81	0.77	7.27
1961	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.08	93.95	0.77	12.84
1961	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.08	94.11	0.71	41.50
1940	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.04	94.17	0.90	15.42
1940	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.04	94.26	0.97	18.35
1940	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.04	94.32	1.02	20.37
1940	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.04	94.38	1.07	23.77
1940	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.04	94.50	1.19	31.67
1940	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.04	94.14	0.90	14.35
1940	(4) 5-Year	2.33	93.04	93.88	0.74	8.72
1940	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.04	93.78	0.75	7.20
1940	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.04	93.93	0.74	12.74
1940	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.04	94.09	0.68	41.36
1919	(2) 2-Year	5.00	93.01	94.15	0.88	15.24
1919	(2) 5-Year	6.32	93.01	94.24	0.95	18.14
1919	(2) 10-Year	7.24	93.01	94.30	1.00	20.13
1919	(2) 25-Year	8.38	93.01	94.36	1.05	23.50
1919	(2) 100-Year	10.81	93.01	94.47	1.17	31.35
1919	(4) 2-Year	4.78	93.01	94.12	0.88	14.18
1919	(4) 5-Year	2.33	93.01	93.86	0.72	8.63
1919	(4) 10-Year	1.78	93.01	93.75	0.74	7.13
1919	(4) 25-Year	2.60	93.01	93.91	0.72	12.63
1919	(4) 100-Year	3.29	93.01	94.08	0.65	41.21
	()					
1898	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.97	94.13	0.85	15.06
1898	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.97	94.22	0.92	17.91
1898	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.97	94.27	0.97	19.89
1898	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.97	94.34	1.03	23.23
1898	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.97	94.45	1.15	31.03
1898	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.97	94.10	0.85	14.01
1898	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.97	93.84	0.69	8.53
1898	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.97	93.72	0.72	7.06
1898	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.97	93.89	0.68	12.52
1898	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.97	94.07	0.62	41.05
1877	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.93	94.11	0.82	14.86
1877	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.93	94.20	0.89	17.68
1877	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.93	94.25	0.94	19.63
1877	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.93	94.32	1.00	22.95
1877	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.93	94.43	1.12	30.70
1877	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.93	94.08	0.81	13.82
1877	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.93	93.82	0.66	8.43
1877	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.93	93.70	0.69	6.99
1877	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.93	93.87	0.65	12.41
1877	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.93	94.06	0.58	40.88
1857	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.89	94.09	0.79	14.66
1857	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.89	94.18	0.87	17.44
1857	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.89	94.24	0.92	19.37
1857	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.89	94.30	0.98	22.66

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Cumulative
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m ³)
1857	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.89	94.40	1.10	30.37
1857	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.89	94.07	0.79	13.63
1857	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.89	93.80	0.63	8.32
1857	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.89	93.67	0.67	6.91
1857	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.89	93.86	0.62	12.29
1857	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.89	94.05	0.56	40.69
1837	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.86	94.08	0.76	14.45
1837	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.86	94.17	0.84	17.20
1837	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.86	94.22	0.89	19.10
1837	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.86	94.28	0.95	22.36
1837	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.86	94.38	1.08	30.03
1837	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.86	94.05	0.76	13.43
1837	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.86	93.79	0.60	8.21
1837	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.86	93.65	0.64	6.83
1837	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.86	93.85	0.60	12.16
1837	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.86	94.04	0.53	40.50
1817	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.81	94.07	0.73	14.23
1817	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.81	94.15	0.81	16.94
1817	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.81	94.20	0.87	18.82
1817	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.81	94.26	0.93	22.06
1817	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.81	94.36	1.06	29.68
1817	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.81	94.04	0.73	13.23
1817	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.81	93.78	0.57	8.09
1817	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.81	93.63	0.60	6.75
1817	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.81	93.84	0.56	12.03
1817	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.81	94.04	0.50	40.30
1797	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.77	94.05	0.70	14.00
1797	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.77	94.14	0.78	16.68
1797	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.77	94.19	0.83	18.54
1797	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.77	94.25	0.90	21.74
1797	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.77	94.35	1.03	29.32
1797	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.77	94.03	0.70	13.01
1797	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.77	93.77	0.53	7.97
1797	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.77	93.62	0.56	6.66
1797	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.77	93.83	0.53	11.89
1/9/	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.77	94.03	0.48	40.08
4777		5.00	00.70	04.04	0.00	40.70
1///	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.73	94.04	0.66	13.76
1///	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.73	94.13	0.74	16.40
1///	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.73	94.18	0.79	18.23
1///	(2) 25-Year	0.30 10.91	92.73	94.24	0.80	21.42
4777	(2) 100-Year	10.01	92.73	94.33	0.99	20.90
4777	(4) 2- Year	4./ð	92.73	94.02	0.00	12.11
1777	(4) 5- Year	2.33 1.70	92.73	93.70	0.50	1.03 6.56
1///	(4) 10-Year	1./ð	92.73	93.01	0.52	0.00
1777	(4) 25-Year	2.00	92.73	93.82	0.50	20.04
	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.13	94.03	0.45	39.04
1757	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.69	94.04	0.64	13.50

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Cumulative
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m ³)
1757	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.69	94.12	0.72	16.10
1757	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.69	94.17	0.77	17.92
1757	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.69	94.22	0.83	21.08
1757	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.69	94.31	0.97	28.58
1757	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.69	94.01	0.63	12.53
1757	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.69	93.75	0.47	7.69
1757	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.69	93.60	0.49	6.46
1757	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.69	93.81	0.47	11.57
1757	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.69	94.02	0.43	39.59
1736	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.66	94.03	0.61	13.23
1736	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.66	94.11	0.69	15.80
1736	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.66	94.16	0.74	17.60
1736	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.66	94.21	0.81	20.73
1736	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.66	94.30	0.94	28.19
1736	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.66	94.00	0.61	12.27
1736	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.66	93.75	0.45	7.54
1736	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.66	93.59	0.47	6.35
1736	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.66	93.81	0.45	11.39
1736	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.66	94.02	0.41	39.33
1715	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.62	94.02	0.58	12.95
1715	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.62	94.10	0.66	15.48
1715	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.62	94.15	0.71	17.26
1715	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.62	94.20	0.77	20.37
1715	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.62	94.29	0.91	27.79
1715	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.62	93.99	0.57	12.00
1715	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.62	93.74	0.42	7.37
1715	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.62	93.58	0.43	6.23
1715	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.62	93.81	0.42	11.20
1715	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.62	94.02	0.38	39.05
1694	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.58	94.02	0.56	12.65
1694	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.58	94.09	0.64	15.15
1694	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.58	94.14	0.69	16.91
1694	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.58	94.19	0.75	19.99
1694	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.58	94.28	0.89	27.37
1694	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.58	93.99	0.55	11.72
1694	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.58	93.74	0.39	7.19
1694	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.58	93.58	0.41	6.10
1694	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.58	93.80	0.40	10.99
1694	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.58	94.01	0.37	38.75
4070		F 00	00.50	04.04	0.50	40.04
1673	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.53	94.01	0.53	12.34
10/3	(2) 5-Year	0.32	92.53	94.09	0.61	14.81
16/3	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.53	94.13	0.66	16.54
16/3	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.53	94.19	0.72	19.60
16/3	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.53	94.27	0.86	20.95
16/3	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.53	93.98	0.52	11.42
16/3	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.53	93.74	0.37	6.99 F 07
10/3	(4) 10-Year	1./ð	92.53	93.57	0.38	5.9/ 10.77
10/3	(4) 25- rear	∠.00	92.53	93.00	0.37	10.77

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel Water Surface		Channel	Cumulative
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m ³)
1673	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.53	94.01	0.35	38.44
1653	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.50	92.50 94.01		12.01
1653	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.50	94.08	0.59	14.45
1653	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.50	94.13	0.64	16.16
1653	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.50	94.18	0.70	19.20
1653	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.50	94.26	0.83	26.51
1653	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.50	93.98	0.50	11.10
1653	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.50	93.73	0.35	6.78
1653	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.50	93.57	0.36	5.82
1653	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.50	93.80	0.35	10.53
1653	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.50	94.01	0.33	38.11
1632	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.46	94.00	0.49	11.68
1632	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.46	94.08	0.57	14.08
1632	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.46	94.12	0.62	15.77
1632	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.46	94.17	0.68	18.78
1632	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.46	94.25	0.82	26.06
1632	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.46	93.97	0.49	10.78
1632	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.46	93.73	0.33	6.56
1632	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.46	93.56	0.34	5.66
1632	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.46	93.79	0.34	10.29
1632	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.46	94.01	0.32	37.77
1615	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.43	94.00	0.47	11.39
1615	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.43	94.07	0.55	13.76
1615	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.43	94.12	0.60	15.44
1615	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.43	94.17	0.66	18.43
1615	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.43	94.24	0.79	25.68
1615	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.43	93.97	0.47	10.50
1615	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.43	93.73	0.32	6.36
1615	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.43	93.56	0.32	5.52
1615	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.43	93.79	0.32	10.07
1615	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.43	94.01	0.31	37.48
1555	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.35	93.99	0.42	10.29
1555	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.35	94.06	0.49	12.57
1555	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.35	94.10	0.54	14.19
1555	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.35	94.15	0.59	17.12
1555	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.35	94.22	0.71	24.27
1555	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.35	93.96	0.42	9.44
1555	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.35	93.72	0.29	5.61
1555	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.35	93.55	0.30	4.97
1555	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.35	93.79	0.29	9.24
1555	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.35	94.00	0.27	36.37
1488	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.28	93.98	0.39	8.97
1488	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.28	94.05	0.45	11.14
1488	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.28	94.09	0.50	12.70
1488	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.28	94.14	0.55	15.56
1488	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.28	94.20	0.67	22.62
1488	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.28	93.95	0.38	8.16

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Cumulative
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m ³)
1488	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.28	93.72	0.26	4.66
1488	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.28	93.55	0.26	4.26
1488	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.28	93.78	0.26	8.20
1488	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.28	94.00	0.25	35.03
1416	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.20	93.98	0.36	7.64
1416	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.20	94.04	0.43	9.72
1416	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.20	94.08	0.47	11.22
1416	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.20	94.13	0.52	14.02
1416	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.20	94.18	0.64	21.00
1416	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.20	93.95	0.35	6.88
1416	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.20	93.72	0.23	3.69
1416	(4) 10-Year	1.78	92.20	93.55	0.22	3.49
1416	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92.20	93.78	0.23	7.15
1416	(4) 100-Year	3.29	92.20	94.00	0.23	33.68
1400	(2) 2-Year	5.00	92.17	93.97	0.35	7.11
1400	(2) 5-Year	6.32	92.17	94.04	0.41	9.15
1400	(2) 10-Year	7.24	92.17	94.08	0.46	10.63
1400	(2) 25-Year	8.38	92.17	94.12	0.51	13.41
1400	(2) 100-Year	10.81	92.17	94.18	0.62	20.36
1400	(4) 2-Year	4.78	92.17	93.95	0.34	6.36
1400	(4) 5-Year	2.33	92.17	93.71	0.22	3.28
1400	(4) 10-Year	1 78	92 17	93 54	0.21	3 17
1400	(4) 25-Year	2.60	92 17	93 78	0.22	6.71
1400	(4) 100-Year	3 29	92.17	94.00	0.22	33 13
1100	(1) 100 1001	0.20	02.11	01.00	0.22	00.10
1364	(2) 2-Year	5.00	91.63	93 97	0 24	6 23
1364	(2) 5-Year	6.32	91.63	94 04	0.28	8.22
1364	(2) 10-Year	7 24	91.63	94.08	0.32	9.67
1364	(2) 25-Year	8.38	91.63	94 12	0.36	12 41
1364	(2) 100-Year	10.81	91.63	94 17	0.45	19.32
1364	(4) 2-Year	4 78	91.63	93 94	0.23	5 50
1364	(4) 5-Year	2.33	91.63	93 71	0.13	2.60
1364	(4) 10-Year	1 78	91.63	93 54	0.12	2.60
1364	(4) 25-Year	2.60	91.63	93.78	0.12	5.98
1364	(4) 100-Year	3 29	91.63	94.00	0.14	32.24
1004	(4) 100 1001	0.20	01.00	04.00	0.10	02.24
1340	(2) 2-Year	5 79	91.60	93 97	0.27	5 60
1340	(2) 5-Year	7.32	91.60	94.04	0.33	7.56
1340	(2) 10-Year	8.33	91.60	94.08	0.37	8 99
1340	(2) 25-Year	9.65	91.60	94.12	0.41	11 71
1340	(2) 20 - 1 car (2) 100-Year	11.62	91.60	94.12	0.48	18 58
1340	(2) 100-real (4) 2-Vear	5.26	91.60	94.17	0.40	10.50
1340	$(4) 5_V_{Par}$	2 11	Q1 60	03.71	0.20	2 00
12/0	(4) 10-Voor	1 86	01.60	03.57	0.14	2.03
1340	$(4) 25 V_{00r}$	2.00	01 60	03 79	0.12	5 11
1340	(4) 20 - 1 ear	2.11	91.00	93.70	0.15	0.44 21 50
1340	(+) 100-rear	3.43	91.00	94.00	0.10	51.59
1212	(2) 2 Voor	6.09	02 47	03.05	0.71	5.07
1212	$(2) \leq 1$ ear	7 60	92.47	93.93	0.71	7.00
1312	$(2) 10 V_{00r}$	8.76	92.47	94.00 04.02	0.00	7.00 8.41
	(<u>~)</u> 10-10ai	0.70	52.41	J 34.00	0.35	0.41

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Minimum Channel Water Surface		Cumulative
River			Elevation	Elevation Elevation		Volume
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m ³)
1312	(2) 25-Year	10.15	92.47	94.06	1.08	11.11
1312	(2) 100-Year	12.20	92.47	94.09	1.27	17.97
1312	(4) 2-Year	5.46	92.47	93.92	0.65	4.37
1312	(4) 5-Year	2.47	92.47	93.71	0.36	1.67
1312	(4) 10-Year	1.87	92.47	93.54	0.32	1.82
1312	(4) 25-Year	2.73	92.47	93.77	0.37	5.00
1312	(4) 100-Year	3.44	92.47	93.99	0.39	31.05
1302	(2) 2-Year	6.08	92.57	93.91	1.03	4.98
1302	(2) 5-Year	7.69	92.57	93.97	1.13	6.90
1302	(2) 10-Year	8.76	92.57	94.00	1.18	8.31
1302	(2) 25-Year	10.15	92.57	94.04	1.26	11.00
1302	(2) 100-Year	12.20	92.57	94.07	1.39	17.85
1302	(4) 2-Year	5.46	92.57	93.89	0.98	4.29
1302	(4) 5-Year	2.47	92.57	93.68	0.77	1.62
1302	(4) 10-Year	1.87	92.57	93.50	0.85	1.79
1302	(4) 25-Year	2.73	92.57	93.74	0.73	4.94
1302	(4) 100-Year	3.44	92.57	93.98	0.49	30.95
1268	(2) 2-Year	6.08	92.47	93.87	0.59	4.63
1268	(2) 5-Year	7.69	92.47	93.93	0.62	6.46
1268	(2) 10-Year	8.76	92.47	93.96	0.64	7.77
1268	(2) 25-Year	10.15	92.47	94.00	0.67	10.34
1268	(2) 100-Year	12.20	92.47	94.05	0.64	16.97
1268	(4) 2-Year	5.46	92.47	93.84	0.57	3.96
1268	(4) 5-Year	2.47	92.47	93.59	0.68	1.50
1268	(4) 10-Year	1.87	92.47	93.43	0.81	1.71
1268	(4) 25-Year	2.73	92.47	93.67	0.53	4.78
1268	(4) 100-Year	3.44	92.47	93.98	0.24	30.39
1010	(2) 2 Veer	6.09	02.26	02.70	0.94	2.02
1212	(2) 2- fear	0.08	92.30	93.76	0.04	5.93
1212	(2) 5- fear	7.09 8.76	92.30	93.65	0.00	0.02 6.62
1212	(2) 10-Tear	10.15	92.30	93.00	0.80	8.00
1212	(2) 20 - 1 ear	12.20	02.36	93.95	0.80	15.06
1212	(2) 100-real	5.46	92.30	94.00	0.80	3.36
1212	(4) 2-1 ear	2.40	92.30	93.74	0.89	1 32
1212	(4) 10-Vear	1.87	92.30	93.41	0.83	1.52
1212	(4) 10-1 ear	2.72	02.36	93.50	0.03	1.50
1212	(4) 23-rear	2.75	92.30	93.34	0.74	4.JZ 28.01
1212	(4) 100-1eai	5.44	92.00	55.57	0.24	20.91
1169	(2) 2-Year	6.08	92.30	93.70	0.86	3.39
1169	(2) 5-Year	7.69	92.30	93.76	0.91	4.74
1169	(2) 10-Year	8.76	92.30	93.80	0.95	5.69
1169	(2) 25-Year	10.15	92.30	93.84	0.99	7.78
1169	(2) 100-Year	12.20	92.30	93.91	1.04	13.62
1169	(4) 2-Year	5.46	92.30	93.67	0.83	2.90
1169	(4) 5-Year	2.47	92.30	93.32	0.73	1.19
1169	(4) 10-Year	1.87	92.30	93.24	0.65	1.47
1169	(4) 25-Year	2.73	92.30	93.49	0.59	4.34
1169	(4) 100-Year	3.44	92.30	93.97	0.28	27.40

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel	Water Surface	Channel	Cumulative
River			Elevation	Elevation	Velocity	Volume
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m ³)
1091	(2) 2-Year	6.08	92.15	93.57	0.83	2.61
1091	(2) 5-Year	7.69	92.15	93.64	0.85	3.66
1091	(2) 10-Year	8.76	92.15	93.68	0.88	4.46
1091	(2) 25-Year	10.15	92.15	93.72	0.91	6.34
1091	(2) 100-Year	12.20	92.15	93.80	0.88	11.79
1091	(4) 2-Year	5.46	92.15	93.53	0.82	2.26
1091	(4) 5-Year	2.47	92.15	93.18	0.71	0.93
1091	(4) 10-Year	1.87	92.15	93.14	0.58	1.23
1091	(4) 25-Year	2.73	92.15	93.42	0.51	3.95
1091	(4) 100-Year	3.44	92.15	93.96	0.19	24.74
1002	(2) 2-Year	6.08	92.06	93.36	1.06	1.89
1002	(2) 5-Year	7.69	92.06	93.45	1.07	2.63
1002	(2) 10-Year	8.76	92.06	93.50	1.06	3.23
1002	(2) 25-Year	10.15	92.06	93.57	0.99	4.83
1002	(2) 100-Year	12.20	92.06	93.70	0.86	9.70
1002	(4) 2-Year	5.46	92.06	93.32	1.03	1.66
1002	(4) 5-Year	2.47	92.06	93.00	0.85	0.65
1002	(4) 10-Year	1.87	92.06	93.04	0.60	0.95
1002	(4) 25-Year	2.73	92.06	93.37	0.47	3.42
1002	(4) 100-Year	3.44	92.06	93.96	0.14	20.77
961	(2) 2-Year	6.08	91.96	93.25	0.88	1.61
961	(2) 5-Year	7.69	91.96	93.33	0.93	2.25
961	(2) 10-Year	8.76	91.96	93.39	0.95	2.77
961	(2) 25-Year	10.15	91.96	93.48	0.88	4.20
961	(2) 100-Year	12.20	91.96	93.67	0.55	8.56
961	(4) 2-Year	5.46	91.96	93.22	0.85	1.41
961	(4) 5-Year	2.47	91.96	92.95	0.64	0.51
961	(4) 10-Year	1.87	91.96	93.02	0.43	0.80
961	(4) 25-Year	2.73	91.96	93.35	0.32	3.09
961	(4) 100-Year	3.44	91.96	93.96	0.08	18.02
910	(2) 2-Year	6.08	91.93	93.17	0.79	0.99
910	(2) 5-Year	7.69	91.93	93.26	0.80	1.41
910	(2) 10-Year	8.76	91.93	93.32	0.77	1.75
910	(2) 25-Year	10.15	91.93	93.43	0.70	2.59
910	(2) 100-Year	12.20	91.93	93.65	0.44	5.00
910	(4) 2-Year	5.46	91.93	93.14	0.78	0.86
910	(4) 5-Year	2.47	91.93	92.89	0.67	0.31
910	(4) 10-Year	1.87	91.93	93.00	0.40	0.51
910	(4) 25-Year	2.73	91.93	93.35	0.24	2.01
910	(4) 100-Year	3.44	91.93	93.96	0.06	10.36
840	(2) 2-Year	6.08	91.86	93.10	0.50	
840	(2) 5-Year	7.69	91.86	93.21	0.48	
840	(2) 10-Year	8.76	91.86	93.28	0.46	
840	(2) 25-Year	10.15	91.86	93.41	0.41	
840	(2) 100-Year	12.20	91.86	93.64	0.34	
840	(4) 2-Year	5.46	91.86	93.06	0.51	
840	(4) 5-Year	2.47	91.86	92.80	0.52	
840	(4) 10-Year	1.87	91.86	92.97	0.23	

HEC-RAS	Profile	Flow	Minimum Channel Water Surface		Channel	Cumulative
River			Elevation Elevation		Velocity	Volume
Station		(m³/s)	(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(1000 m ³)
840	(4) 25-Year	2.73	91.86	93.35	0.12	
840	(4) 100-Year	3.44	91.86	93.96	0.05	

⁽¹⁾ All channel infrastructure removed from the HEC-RAS model for riparian storage analysis.

For Scenario 2 (the Van Gaal Drain 100-year spring snowmelt plus rainfall peak flow reaches the Jock River) and

Scenario 4 (the Jock River 100-year spring snowmelt plus rainfall peak flow reaches the outlet of the Van Gaal Drain).

APPENDIX D

Geomorphology



J.F. Sabourin and Associates Inc. WATER RESOURCES AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTANTS

52 Springbrook Drive Ottawa (Stittsville), ON K2S 1B9 TEL: (613) 836-3884 FAX: (613) 836-0332 WEB: www.jfsa.com

October 31, 2013

David Schaeffer Engineering Limited 120 Iber Road, Unit 203 Ottawa, Ontario K2S 1E9

Attention: Kevin Murphy, P.Eng.

Subject: Richmond Village (South) Limited Subdivision / Continuous Erosion Analysis

our file: 922-11

As requested by your office, we have performed, based on the available information described below, a continuous erosion analysis for Van Gaal Drain in the City of Ottawa under existing and proposed conditions.

As per the October 2013 *Richmond Village (South) Limited Subdivision / Preliminary Stormwater Management Analysis*, the proposed Richmond Village (South) development consists of a 126.81 ha drainage area to be treated by two Stormwater Management (SWM) facilities; SWM Facility 1 (91.82 ha at 51% imperviousness) discharging to Van Gaal Drain, and SWM Facility 2 (34.99 ha at 51% imperviousness) discharging to the Jock River. It should be noted that excess major system flows from 30.79 ha and 21.75 ha of the SWM Facility 1 drainage area will discharge directly to the Van Gaal Drain and Moore Drain Tributary, respectively. Additionally, of the undeveloped lands south of the proposed subdivision, 97.50 ha will drain through SWM Facility 1, 71.8 ha will drain through SWM Facility 2, and 94.2 ha will be conveyed through the subdivision by a tributary of the Moore Drain.

Existing drainage characteristics of the subject site, and of the undeveloped lands south of the proposed subdivision, are as per the *Floodplain Mapping Report for the Van Gaal and Arbuckle Municipal Drains in the Village of Richmond* (November 2009, JFSA). Refer to the October 2013 *Preliminary SWM Analysis* memo for existing and proposed drainage plans and further details.

Continuous SWMHYMO models of the Van Gaal Drain under existing and proposed conditions were created for the purposes of this erosion analysis based on the single-event SWMHYMO models submitted with the October 2013 *Preliminary SWM Analysis* memo. Continuous modelling parameters were set as follows for both existing and proposed conditions:

APII=[50], APIK=[0.90]/day;	used to compute the Antecedent Precipitation Index during the continuous simulation. Without model calibration these are the default values.
IaREC=[6](hrs);	the time that it takes for the Initial Abstraction over pervious areas to recover during a dry period in undeveloped areas.
SMIN=[-1], SMAX=[-1](mm);	the negative values indicate that the storage volume in the SCS procedure will vary between the "S" determined for AMC I and AMC III conditions of the entered CN value in undeveloped areas.
SK=[0.03]/(mm);	a calibration coefficient that can typically vary from 0.01 to 0.3 for undeveloped areas. The higher the value, the more runoff generated. To set the baseline for existing conditions, we decided to take a value in the low range.

InitGWResVol=[100](mm), GV	VResK=[0.9](mm/day/mm), VhydCond=[1](mm/hr); parameters that are used to simulate both the groundwater storage and discharge to surface watercourses from undeveloped areas. Without adequate field measurements, these parameters were selected based on previous experience.
IaRECper=[3](hrs);	the time that it takes for the Initial Abstraction over pervious areas to recover during a dry period in urban areas.
IaRECimp=[2](hrs);	the time that it takes for the Initial Abstraction over impervious areas to recover during a dry period in urban areas.
InterEventTime=[12](hrs);	the continuous dry time required to reset the parameters in the SCS procedure to their initial values.

Under existing and proposed conditions, by means of 36 years of continuous hydrologic simulations using hourly rainfall data from the Ottawa International Airport from 1967 to 2003 (excluding missing 2001 rainfall data), flows at the Fortune Street erosion site were computed and compared. It should be noted that restoration works are proposed for this critical erosion site and several other points along the Van Gaal Drain. The erosion thresholds at Fortune Street were set at 60 L/s, 151 L/s and 385 L/s, as provided by Coldwater Consulting Limited to correspond to their critical shear stress thresholds of 0.5 Pa, 1.0 Pa and 2.0 Pa.

Based on the 60 L/s erosion threshold, erosion occurs for 479.45 hours and 596.88 hours in an average year under existing and proposed conditions, respectively; that is, for 9.87% and 12.29% of the total simulation duration. This corresponds to a 24.5% increase in erosion under proposed conditions. Similarly, based on the 151 L/s erosion threshold, erosion occurs for 328.44 hours and 362.94 hours in an average year under existing and proposed conditions, respectively; that is, for 6.76% and 7.47% of the total simulation duration. This corresponds to a 10.5% increase in erosion under proposed conditions. Finally, based on the 385 L/s erosion threshold, erosion occurs for 203.81 hours and 201.84 hours in an average year under existing and proposed conditions, respectively; that is, for 4.20% and 4.15% of the total simulation duration. This corresponds to a 1.0% decrease in erosion under proposed conditions.

A summary of the erosion analysis results may be found in Attachment A. Digital SWMHYMO modelling input and output files are also attached.

Yours truly, **J.F. Sabourin and Associates Inc.**

Laura Pipkins, P.Eng.

cc: J.F. Sabourin, M.Eng, P.Eng. Director of Water Resources Projects

Attachment A: Simulated Annual Erosion Hours in the Van Gaal Drain at Fortune Street



ATTACHMENT

Simulated Annual Erosion Hours In the Van Gaal Drain at Fortune Street









Year ⁽¹⁾	Duration	Peak	Average	Erosion	Total
		Flow	Flow	Hours	Exceedance
	(h)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)	(h)	(%)
1967	2544	6.576	0.129	373.00	14.66
1968	5160	5.096	0.068	488.80	9.47
1969	5160	5.825	0.049	382.50	7.41
1970	5160	6.150	0.058	452.30	8.77
1971	5160	5.267	0.051	419.80	8.14
1972	5160	10.071	0.111	668.30	12.95
1973	5160	7.253	0.088	585.50	11.35
1974	4392	3.542	0.038	324.00	7.38
1975	3696	5.493	0.080	444.50	12.03
1976	5160	3.728	0.045	421.80	8.17
1977	5160	5.297	0.062	512.00	9.92
1978	5160	5.782	0.050	486.00	9.42
1979	5160	8.422	0.107	608.80	11.80
1980	5160	3.583	0.054	544.80	10.56
1981	5160	21.687	0.142	701.80	13.60
1982	5160	5.226	0.043	442.30	8.57
1983	5160	6.867	0.054	465.50	9.02
1984	3696	4.399	0.069	394.00	10.66
1985	5160	3.375	0.045	446.80	8.66
1986	5160	9.724	0.120	731.00	14.17
1987	5160	6.648	0.068	494.80	9.59
1988	5160	7.423	0.066	462.00	8.95
1989	5160	4.226	0.045	413.80	8.02
1990	5160	7.061	0.079	542.80	10.52
1991	5160	4.841	0.051	442.30	8.57
1992	5160	9.789	0.072	490.50	9.51
1993	5160	1.914	0.048	532.50	10.32
1994	4416	4.772	0.077	471.80	10.68
1995	2952	12.479	0.098	248.30	8.41
1996	5136	4.963	0.052	427.50	8.32
1997	5160	1.542	0.029	396.50	7.68
1998	5088	2.992	0.044	428.00	8.41
1999	4440	4.772	0.052	450.50	10.15
2000	5160	7.496	0.064	502.30	9.73
2002	5088	12.146	0.095	535.80	10.53
2003	4440	5.617	0.09	527.30	11.88
Average	4858	6.446	0.069	479.45	9.87

Table 1A: Existing Conditions (60 L/s Erosion Threshold)

⁽¹⁾ Based on a simulation period from April 1st to October 31st.

Year ⁽¹⁾	Duration	ration Peak Average		Erosion	Total
		Flow	Flow	Hours	Exceedance
	(h)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)	(h)	(%)
1967	2544	4.540	0.110	458.80	18.03
1968	5160	3.532	0.063 615		11.92
1969	5160	4.144	0.046	463.00	8.97
1970	5160	4.088	0.054	567.80	11.00
1971	5160	3.474	0.048	528.30	10.24
1972	5160	7.493	0.102	867.00	16.80
1973	5160	4.845	0.081	745.80	14.45
1974	4392	2.280	0.037	387.30	8.82
1975	3696	3.628	0.073	575.50	15.57
1976	5160	2.671	0.043	513.30	9.95
1977	5160	3.518	0.059	629.80	12.21
1978	5160	3.804	0.048	589.30	11.42
1979	5160	6.585	0.099	805.30	15.61
1980	5160	2.665	0.051	640.30	12.41
1981	5160	17.112	0.128	893.00	17.31
1982 5160		3.685	0.043	534.00	10.35
1983 5160		5.072	0.051	573.80	11.12
1984	3696	3.216	0.063	472.50	12.78
1985	5160	2.345	0.044	550.50	10.67
1986	5160	7.984	0.110	938.30	18.18
1987	5160	4.851	0.064	623.30	12.08
1988 5160		4.984	0.062	582.80	11.29
1989	5160	2.795	0.044	519.30	10.06
1990	5160	5.063	0.073	687.50	13.32
1991	5160	3.393	0.048	521.00	10.10
1992	5160	6.769	0.067	612.00	11.86
1993	5160	1.350	0.048	636.30	12.33
1994	4416	3.266	0.071	605.30	13.71
1995	2952	10.216	0.084	308.50	10.45
1996	5136	3.443	0.049	536.80	10.45
1997	5160	1.037	0.029	474.00	9.19
1998	5088	1.986	0.042	519.30	10.21
1999	4440	3.255	0.051	542.00	12.21
2000	5160	5.238	0.060	622.30	12.06
2002	5088	9.318	0.09	686.30	13.49
2003	4440	4.038	0.082	662.00	14.91
Average	4858	4.658	0.064	596.88	12.29

Table 1B: Proposed Conditions (60 L/s Erosion Theshold)

⁽¹⁾ Based on a simulation period from April 1st to October 31st.

Avg. Change in Erosion Threshold Exceedance:

24.5%

Year ⁽¹⁾	Duration	Peak	Average	Erosion	Total
		Flow Flow		Hours	Exceedance
	(h)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)	(h)	(%)
1967	2544	6.576	0.129	288.00	11.32
1968	5160	5.096	0.068	349.30	6.77
1969	5160	5.825	0.049	266.30	5.16
1970	5160	6.150	0.058	295.80	5.73
1971	5160	5.267	0.051	292.80	5.67
1972	5160	10.071	0.111	468.00	9.07
1973	5160	7.253	0.088	402.30	7.80
1974	4392	3.542	0.038	206.30	4.70
1975	3696	5.493	0.080	307.80	8.33
1976	5160	3.728	0.045	284.00	5.50
1977	5160	5.297	0.062	361.00	7.00
1978	5160	5.782	0.050	323.00	6.26
1979	5160	8.422	0.107	446.30	8.65
1980	5160	3.583	0.054	369.00	7.15
1981	5160	21.687	0.142	464.50	9.00
1982 5160		5.226	0.043	281.00	5.45
1983	1983 5160		0.054	295.80	5.73
1984	3696	4.399	0.069	297.30	8.04
1985	5160	3.375	0.045	322.50	6.25
1986	5160	9.724	0.120	502.50	9.74
1987	5160	6.648	0.068	313.30	6.07
1988	1988 5160		0.066	327.00	6.34
1989	5160	4.226	0.045	272.00	5.27
1990	5160	7.061	0.079	374.00	7.25
1991	5160	4.841	0.051	273.50	5.30
1992	5160	9.789	0.072	338.30	6.56
1993	5160	1.914	0.048	348.30	6.75
1994	4416	4.772	0.077	328.80	7.45
1995	2952	12.479	0.098	185.50	6.28
1996	5136	4.963	0.052	278.00	5.41
1997	5160	1.542	0.029	256.50	4.97
1998	5088	2.992	0.044	295.30	5.80
1999	4440	4.772	0.052	306.80	6.91
2000	5160	7.496	0.064	343.80	6.66
2002	5088	12.146	0.095	393.80	7.74
2003	4440	5.617	0.09	365.30	8.23
Average	4858	6.446	0.069	328.44	6.76

Table 2A: Existing Conditions (151 L/s Erosion Threshold)

⁽¹⁾ Based on a simulation period from April 1st to October 31st.

Year ⁽¹⁾	Duration	Peak	Average	Erosion	Total	
			Flow	Hours	Exceedance	
	(h)		(m ³ /s)	(h)	(%)	
1967	2544	4.540	0.110	315.50	12.40	
1968	5160	3.532	0.063	388.00	7.52	
1969	5160	4.144	0.046	282.00	5.47	
1970	5160	4.088	0.054	329.30	6.38	
1971	5160	3.474	0.048	306.50	5.94	
1972	5160	7.493	0.102	559.50	10.84	
1973	5160	4.845	0.081	468.30	9.08	
1974	4392	2.280	0.037	199.50	4.54	
1975	3696	3.628	0.073	344.30	9.32	
1976	5160	2.671	0.043	294.00	5.70	
1977	5160	3.518	0.059	391.00	7.58	
1978	5160	3.804	0.048	350.50	6.79	
1979	5160	6.585	0.099	527.50	10.22	
1980	5160	2.665	0.051	408.30	7.91	
1981	1981 5160		0.128	542.50	10.51	
1982 5160		3.685	0.043	295.50	5.73	
1983	1983 5160		0.051	325.80	6.31	
1984	3696	3.216	0.063	325.30	8.80	
1985	5160	2.345	0.044	360.30	6.98	
1986	5160	7.984	0.110	567.50	11.00	
1987	5160	4.851	0.064	349.00	6.76	
1988	5160	4.984	0.062	365.80	7.09	
1989	5160	2.795	0.044	291.50	5.65	
1990	5160	5.063	0.073	418.30	8.11	
1991	5160	3.393	0.048	300.50	5.82	
1992	5160	6.769	0.067	377.30	7.31	
1993	5160	1.350	0.048	367.30	7.12	
1994	4416	3.266	0.071	364.00	8.24	
1995	2952	10.216	0.084	201.80	6.84	
1996	5136	3.443	0.049	297.50	5.79	
1997	5160	1.037	0.029	259.00	5.02	
1998	5088	1.986	0.042	321.00	6.31	
1999	4440	3.255	0.051	341.30	7.69	
2000	5160	5.238	0.060	378.00	7.33	
2002	5088	9.318	0.09	447.00	8.79	
2003	4440	4.038	0.082	405.30	9.13	
Average	4858	4.658	0.064	362.94	7.47	

Table 2B: Proposed Conditions (151 L/s Erosion Theshold)

⁽¹⁾ Based on a simulation period from April 1st to October 31st.

Avg. Change in Erosion Threshold Exceedance:

10.5%

Year ⁽¹⁾	Duration	Peak	Average	Erosion	Total	
		Flow	Flow	Hours	Exceedance	
	(h)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)	(h)	(%)	
1967	2544	6.576	0.129	205.80	8.09	
1968	5160	5.096	0.068	231.30	4.48	
1969	5160	5.825	0.049	171.80	3.33	
1970	5160	6.150	0.058	188.30	3.65	
1971	5160	5.267	0.051	171.50	3.32	
1972	5160	10.071	0.111	276.00	5.35	
1973	5160	7.253	0.088	273.80	5.31	
1974	4392	3.542	0.038	109.00	2.48	
1975	3696	5.493	0.080	176.80	4.78	
1976	5160	3.728	0.045	161.30	3.13	
1977	5160	5.297	0.062	225.30	4.37	
1978	5160	5.782	0.050	194.80	3.78	
1979	5160	8.422	0.107	283.30	5.49	
1980	5160	3.583	0.054	203.30	3.94	
1981	5160	21.687	0.142	306.00	5.93	
1982 5160		5.226	0.043	170.00	3.29	
1983	1983 5160		0.054	177.00	3.43	
1984	3696	4.399	0.069	191.80	5.19	
1985	5160	3.375	0.045	193.50	3.75	
1986	5160	9.724	0.120	302.50	5.86	
1987	5160	6.648	0.068	182.50	3.54	
1988	5160	7.423	0.066	220.00	4.26	
1989	5160	4.226	0.045	155.50	3.01	
1990	5160	7.061	0.079	268.00	5.19	
1991	5160	4.841	0.051	177.30	3.44	
1992	5160	9.789	0.072	205.80	3.99	
1993	5160	1.914	0.048	212.50	4.12	
1994	4416	4.772	0.077	227.00	5.14	
1995	2952	12.479	0.098	104.00	3.52	
1996	5136	4.963	0.052	161.30	3.14	
1997	5160	1.542	0.029	131.00	2.54	
1998	5088	2.992	0.044	184.00	3.62	
1999	4440	4.772	0.052	183.00	4.12	
2000	5160	7.496	0.064	207.30	4.02	
2002	5088	12.146	0.095	262.00	5.15	
2003	4440	5.617	0.09	243.00	5.47	
Average	4858	6.446	0.069	203.81	4.20	

Table 3A: Existing Conditions (385 L/s Erosion Threshold)

⁽¹⁾ Based on a simulation period from April 1st to October 31st.

Year ⁽¹⁾	Duration	Peak Average		Erosion	Total
			Flow	Hours	Exceedance
	(h)		(m ³ /s)	(h)	(%)
1967	2544	4.540	0.110	211.30	8.31
1968	5160	3.532	0.063	228.30	4.42
1969	5160	4.144	0.046	169.80	3.29
1970	5160	4.088	0.054	175.00	3.39
1971	5160	3.474	0.048	171.30	3.32
1972	5160	7.493	0.102	295.50	5.73
1973	5160	4.845	0.081	278.00	5.39
1974	4392	2.280	0.037	105.00	2.39
1975	3696	3.628	0.073	174.80	4.73
1976	5160	2.671	0.043	153.00	2.97
1977	5160	3.518	0.059	222.30	4.31
1978	5160	3.804	0.048	183.00	3.55
1979	5160	6.585	0.099	287.00	5.56
1980	5160	2.665	0.051	185.00	3.59
1981	5160	17.112	0.128	319.80	6.20
1982 5160		3.685	0.043	158.00	3.06
1983 5160		5.072	0.051	170.30	3.30
1984	3696	3.216	0.063	191.50	5.18
1985	5160	2.345	0.044	187.00	3.62
1986	5160	7.984	0.110	316.50	6.13
1987	5160	4.851	0.064	182.50	3.54
1988	5160	4.984	0.062	221.50	4.29
1989	5160	2.795	0.044	152.00	2.95
1990	5160	5.063	0.073	277.00	5.37
1991	5160	3.393	0.048	172.30	3.34
1992	5160	6.769	0.067	207.80	4.03
1993	5160	1.350	0.048	197.80	3.83
1994	4416	3.266	0.071	233.80	5.29
1995	2952	10.216	0.084	95.80	3.25
1996	5136	3.443	0.049	154.00	3.00
1997	5160	1.037	0.029	112.80	2.19
1998	5088	1.986	0.042	179.30	3.52
1999	4440	3.255	0.051	182.50	4.11
2000	5160	5.238	0.060	208.30	4.04
2002	5088	9.318	0.09	273.30	5.37
2003	4440	4.038	0.082	233.30	5.25
Average	4858	4.658	0.064	201.84	4.15

Table 3B: Proposed Conditions (385 L/s Erosion Theshold)

⁽¹⁾ Based on a simulation period from April 1st to October 31st.

Avg. Change in Erosion Threshold Exceedance: -

-1.0%



Erosion Hazard Assessment: Van Gaal Drain, Richmond, ON

Submitted to:	David Schaeffer Engineering Limited
Prepared by:	M.H. Davies, Ph.D., P.Eng.
	Coldwater Consulting Ltd. 5510 Canotek Road, Suite 203 Ottawa, ON, K1J 9J4 (613) 747-2544
Version:	1.3
Date:	1 November 2013

Version History

Version	Date	Status	Comments	Reviewed by	Approved by
0.91	3 October 2013	For discussion with DSEL	Completed 1 st draft	MIM	MHD
1.0	10 Oct 2013	For discussion with RVCA and City	Working Draft	MHD	MHD
1.1	15 Oct 2013	For discussion with RVCA and City	Working Draft	MHD	MHD
1.2	15 Oct 2013	For discussion with RVCA and City	Working Draft	MHD	MHD
1.3	1 Nov 2013	For Client Use	Final Report	MHD	MHD

For further information please contact:

Michael Davies (mdavies@coldwater-consulting.com) 613 747-2544

Provisos

This report was prepared by Coldwater Consulting Ltd. The recommendations and opinions contained in this report are based upon a limited dataset and a limited scope of work. The material contained herein reflects the judgement of Coldwater Consulting Ltd. in light of the information available to them at the time of preparation. Any use which a Third Party makes of this report, or any reliance on decisions to be made based on it, is the responsibility of such Third Parties. Coldwater Consulting Ltd. accepts no responsibility for damages, if any, suffered by any Third Party as a result of decisions made or actions based on this report.

Submitted 1 November 2013,

H. Jorenel.

M.H. Davies, Ph.D., P.Eng. Coldwater Consulting Ltd.



Table of Contents

E)	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY1					
1	In	ntroduction2				
	1.1	Background Information2				
2	Ba	ackground3				
	2.1	Previous Work3				
	2.2	Review5				
3	Fie	eld Investigation5				
4	Er	osion Model6				
	4.1	Methodology7				
	4.2	Critical Shear Stress7				
	4.3	HEC-RAS Model Refinement7				
	4.4	Threshold Flow Rates9				
	4.5	Model Operation9				
5	Re	esults9				
	5.1	Single Event Simulation9				
	5.2	Long-term Simulations11				
6	Re	storation and Protection Works16				
7	Su	Summary19				
8	Bi	bliography19				

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

An analysis has been undertaken of present erosion conditions in the van Gaal Drain in Richmond, ON. Using hydrologic analysis supplied by J.F. Sabourin & Associates, Coldwater Consulting Ltd. has assessed erosion thresholds for the length of the drain extending from Perth Street downstream to the Jock River. An existing HEC-RAS one-dimensional flow model was refined over the study area and used to compute bed shears and erosive power. Using a 36-year continuous hydrologic simulation (supplied by JFSA) and a critical bed shear stress of 0.5 Pa, it is shown that while the number of hours that erosion thresholds are exceeded will increase by 12% post-development, these increases mostly occur during low flow conditions. The effects of flood attenuation by stormwater management facilities offset this effect, resulting in a net decrease in erosional power (as quantified by the Erosion Index) by 21%.

Although conditions post-development will be an improvement over existing conditions, the drain will continue to experience erosion. Conceptual designs are presented herein for protection and restoration measures that will protect critical areas – notably in the immediate vicinity of Fortune St. and downstream of Fowler St.
1 Introduction

Coldwater Consulting Ltd., (Coldwater) has been engaged to provide the following analysis and design services to David Schaeffer Engineering Ltd (DSEL):

- Review previous studies of the Van Gaal Drain, its present condition and hydraulic conditions as provided by DSEL;
- Conduct site investigations of the drain, its bed composition, morphology and bank characteristics for the reach (VGR1) extending from Perth Street downstream to its confluence with the Jock River; and,
- Develop a preliminary erosion hazard model and present quantitative estimates for any required restoration works.

1.1 Background Information

The following documents were referenced when preparing this design brief:

- Report from JFSA "Floodplain mapping report for the van Gaal and Arbuckle municipal drains in the village of Richmond", provided by DSEL dated November 2009.
- Report by Robinson Consultants (Robinson) for the City of Ottawa on the Arbuckle Municipal Drain dated February 2010
- Report by Parish Geomorphic (Parish) and Kilgour and Associates (Kilgour) for Mattamy Homes on the Mattamy Lands natural environment and assessment on impacts from development dated February 2010
- Report from JTB Environmental Systems Inc. " Van Gaal Drain Erosion Assessment, Richmond, Ontario", provided by DSEL dated October 2012.
- Memorandum from JTB Environmental Systems Inc. "Richmond Village Development: Existing Erosion Remediation Costs", provided by DSEL dated November 2012.
- Report from JTB Environmental Systems Inc. "Van Gaal Drain Restoration Memo, Richmond, Ontario", provided by DSEL dated January 2013.
- HEC-RAS model developed and provided by JFSA, September 2013.
- Continuous time series of discharge for pre- and post-development at 4 junctions (provided by JFSA, September 2013),
- JFSA report on continuous erosion analysis and updated pre-and post development hydrology (JFSA file 922-11, dated 18 Oct, 2013),
- Stormwater Management Planning and Design Manual, (Ontario MoE, March 2003),
- Cross-sectional data (Arbuckle drain cross sections.dwg) surveyed by J.D.Barnes and provided by DSEL.

2 Background

2.1 Previous Work

Six reports dealing with Van Gaal Drain and surrounding area were reviewed in the preparation of the present report. These reports are the first six documents listed in Section 1.1.

<u>Floodplain Mapping Report for the Van Gaal and Arbuckle Municipal Drains in the Village of</u> <u>Richmond (JFSA, 2009)</u>

The JFSA report details the flood risk mapping that was performed for the Arbuckle and Van Gaal Drains. Hydrologic analyses were performed using the SYMHYMO model and hydraulic analyses using the HEC-RAS model. Based on a review of earlier DSEL models, the drainage area was estimated at 1147 ha. The report notes that access to certain areas could be obtained and so it was necessary to assume cross-sectional profiles based on earlier data at these sections. Channel sections were modelled using a Manning's n value of 0.035 for the channels, and 0.08 for the summer floodplain and 0.05 for the spring floodplain.

Three 100-year spring and summer event discharges were studied and the maximum discharge from the Van Gaal Drain at the Jock River was found to be 16.419 m³/s. The 2-year spring and summer event discharges varied ranged from 5.666 m³/s to 7.883 m³/s. Flood risk elevations were computed at various stations along the river from the maximum of three values (Van Gaal Drain spring flood, Van Gaal Drain summer flood, Jock River flood).

Engineer's Report, Arbuckle Municipal Drain Modifications and Improvements, Goulbourn Ward (Robinson, 2010)

The Robinson report notes that while the Arbuckle Award Drain has existed from the late 1800s, the Van Gaal Municipal Drain was only constructed in 1971. Based on contour mapping, the drainage area was estimated at 1095 ha. SYMHYMO modelling was also performed and 2-year return period flows at various points in the Van Gaal Drain were within the range determined be JFSA (2009); the 100-year event was not investigated. The report details recommendations for:

- works to improve drainage, including culvert replacement and re-leveling, and land clearing and excavation;
- erosion control, such as buffer strips, rock protection, rootwads and revetment, and;
- flow checks and sediment traps.

The report also contains a discussion of the apportioning of costs for construction and future maintenance. The discussion identifies six principles that should be used to determine assessment and then applies the principles and rules from the Drainage Act to determine project cost sharing.

<u>Mattamy Richmond Lands Natural Environment and Impact Assessment Study</u>, (Parish and Kilgour, 2010)

This report covers a broad range of environmental topics, including an erosion threshold analysis. The erosion threshold analysis was conducted at four sites; however, only one site ("VG-R2") was located on the main branch of the Van Gaal Drain and this site was upstream of Perth St, the limit of the present analysis. The analysis was based on critical shear stress and permissible velocities, and found that the calculated erosion thresholds for the four reaches were discharges well below bankfull. At the VG-R2 site, the critical discharge was calculated to be 0.33 m³/s.

Van Gaal Drain Erosion Assessment, (JTBES, 2012a)

This report describes work that was undertaken to investigate erosion downstream of Perth Street, a reach not specifically investigated in the earlier Mattamy report (Parish and Kilgour, 2010). This study delineated the drain into three reaches: Reach 1 running between the Jock River and the Fowler Culvert; Reach 2 running between the Fowler Culvert and the Fortune Culvert, and; Reach 3 running between the Fortune Culvert and the Perth Culvert. Following on a site visit, 51 erosion assessment sites were investigated and categorized, and, based on this, four sites were chosen for erosion threshold assessment. The threshold was determined as the critical velocity for the bank material, which in this case is coarse clay. The critical velocity for coarse clay was given as 0.225 m/s, which led to critical discharges for the four sections ranging from 0.02 to 0.05 m³/s.

Richmond Village Development: Existing Erosion Remediation Costs, (JTBES, 2012b)

The purpose of this memo was to summarize the causes of erosion along the Van Gaal Drain and to estimate costs to remediate the erosion. It was concluded that, under existing conditions, Reach 3 had the most severe erosion and that, although not all sites required remediation, repairs at selected locations could simply shift the problem to a downstream site. It was deemed preferable to remediate all sites at once. It was also noted that even if the additional stormwater flows were limited to the threshold rate, erosion of the Drain would continue to occur. Consequently, a redesign for the section south of Perth Street was recommended. The cost for all 51 sites identified previously was estimated to be \$1.41 million.

Van Gaal Drain Restoration Memo, (JTBES, 2013)

The purpose of this memo was to detail remediation costs for the erosion problems on the Van Gaal Drain downstream of Perth St. The work expands on the information provided in the earlier memo (JTBES, 2012b) and identifies 32 sites for remediation (4 in Reach 1, 7 in Reach 2 and 21 in Reach 3). Descriptions of works at the sites are presented. No reassessment of the erosion threshold is attempted; however, it is noted that after the proposed remediation works were completed, the threshold discharges for the site could be increased an undefined amount.

2.2 Review

The report and memos cited in the previous section provide valuable information about the previous work performed on the Van Gaal Drain. Of paramount importance here are the four last documents, which address erosion threshold analyses and provide a basis for the design of the stormwater management system and the required treatment of the existing drain.

A problem with the approaches taken by both Parish and JTBES is that even when using reasonable critical shear stress values, calculations performed in narrow channels will predict erosive conditions for almost all flows. However, erosion is a natural process and the erosion threshold in the channel should be exceeded to maintain a healthy system. It is not the aim of the development works to eliminate erosion, but to ensure that post-development conditions do result in a substantial increase in erosion. Clearly, a more sophisticated approach that integrates the impact of all events is required. The present work will examine not just the frequency with which the erosion threshold is exceeded but also the total amount of erosion that occurs both pre- and post-project.

In common with both the Parish and JTBES approaches, the present work will require an erosion threshold for the Van Gaal Drain. The first erosion threshold analysis (Parish and Kilgour, 2010) utilized a permissible tractive force technique to establish a critical discharge. Although the resulting discharge may appear to be low, this is a valid geomorphic approach and an approach based on similar principles will be employed in the present work. Loose, clayey soils are competent below unit tractive forces, or shear stresses, ranging between 0.5 Pa and 2 Pa (Chow, 1959). This range of critical shear stresses will be used for the modelling work presented herein.

3 Field Investigation

A site visit to Van Gaal Drain was conducted on 26 August 2013 to review and characterize the site. The day was sunny with some cloudy periods with daytime high of 24°C. The last recorded precipitation was 22 August 2013. Photos and notes regarding the channel geometry were taken at numerous locations at this time. A rapid geomorphic assessment and a rapid stream assessment were also taken during the site visit.

The field investigation found several sites with significant erosion on the Van Gaal Drain. This agrees with previous studies. For most of the reach between Perth St. and Jock River, the channel is too narrow for the current hydrologic conditions. The existing drain will continue to erode and widen until it reaches equilibrium - even without the proposed storm management plan. Figure 1 through Figure 4 show examples of erosion in the Van Gaal Drain. Figure 5 shows the location of each photo.



Figure 1 Typical undercutting banks between Perth St. and Fortune St.



Figure 2 Eroding bank downstream of Fortune St.



Figure 3 Bank widening upstream of Fowler St.



Figure 4 Eroding banks downstream of Fowler St.



Figure 5 Locations of photographs

4 Erosion Model

Flow conditions in the Van Gaal drain were evaluated under existing conditions (pre-project) as well as under fully developed conditions (post-project) which includes the proposed storm water management pond. As noted in previous studies (JTB 2012, DSEL 2009), the erosion thresholds for this reach are very low and hence are exceeded frequently. In such situations, it is often beneficial to examine not just the frequency with which the erosion threshold is exceeded but also the total amount of erosion that occurs both pre- and post-project. By computing the amount by which the erosion threshold is exceeded, its duration, and the area of stream-bed affected, the erosional effort of 'effective work' can be computed (MOE, 2003).

This measure, in comparison to frequency of exceedance analysis, provides a more complete picture of the erosional consequences of a project.

4.1 Methodology

An erosion hazard model was developed to estimate the erosion potential for pre- and postdevelopment on the Van Gaal Drain. A cumulative effective work approach was developed In addition to analysis of the frequency of exceedance of erosion thresholds. This model computes an erosion index (EI) based on the cumulative effective work, W_i The cumulative effective work is calculated as :

$$W_i = \sum (\tau - \tau_c) V \Delta t \tag{Eq. 1}$$

where τ is the shear stress generated by the flow, τ_c is critical shear stress for either the bed or the bank, V is the mean channel velocity and Δt is the time step. For the present analysis, EI is multiplied by the wetted perimeter, P, to express the results as the total erosional energy across the channel width (Joules/m):

$$EI = \sum (\tau - \tau_c) V P \Delta t$$
 (Eq. 2)

Calculating EI requires a continuous time series of discharge and a table relating discharge to shear stress, velocity and wetted perimeter. The continuous time series of discharge for preand post-development was provided by JFSA from their hydrologic model (JFSA, 2009). The dataset spans 36 years (April to October) between 1967 and 2003 with a time step of 15minutes.

4.2 Critical Shear Stress

It is difficult to accurately determine the *in situ* critical shear stress for small streams. Typically, there is no single specific value that captures the range of erosion and transport processes that occur. Critical shear stress is dependent on a range of variables, include sediment size and type, weathering, vegetation, biological activity, etc. It can vary spatially for even small streams and can also be dependent upon weather conditions, freeze-thaw activities and exposure. The present modelling exercise was performed using several critical shear stress values that spanned the range of expected values. Based on the characteristics of the stream bed and banks, critical shear thresholds are estimated to be between 0.5 and 2.0 Pa.

Sensitivity tests were performed which showed that, while the magnitudes of the predicted erosion varied, the relative performance of the two scenarios tested (pre- and post-development) were unaffected by the value of critical shear stress selected.

4.3 HEC-RAS Model Refinement

The original HEC-RAS model (JFSA, 2009) covers a very large domain and was found not to have sufficient resolution in the reach downstream of Fortune St. New cross-sectional survey data was provided by DSEL and were incorporated into the HEC-RAS model by Coldwater.

 Multure
 Contraction

 52
 Contraction

 52
 Contraction

 52
 Contraction

 52
 Contraction

 52
 Contraction

 53
 Contraction

 54
 Contraction

 55
 Contraction

 55
 Contraction

 55
 Contraction

 55
 Contraction

 55
 Contraction

 55
 Contraction

 55
 Contraction

 55
 Contraction

 55
 Contraction

 55
 Contraction

 55
 Contraction

 55
 Contraction

 55
 Contraction

 55
 Contraction

 55
 Contraction

 55
 Contraction

 55
 Contraction

 55
 Contraction

 55
 Contraction

 55
 Contraction

 55
 Contraction

 55
 Contraction

 55
 Contraction

 55
 Contraction

 55
 Contraction

 55
 Contraction

 55
 Contraction

 55
 Contraction

 55

Figure 6 shows the original model (with only one cross-section below Fowler St.) and Figure 7 shows the refined model (with 7 cross-sections below Fowler St.).

Figure 6 Original HEC-RAS model provided by JFSA with limited number of cross-sections d/s of Fortune St.



Figure 7 HEC-RAS model provided by JFSA with supplemental cross-sections added.

4.4 Threshold Flow Rates

Station 592, (located 592 m upstream of the Jock River) was identified as a critical erosion section. Using the refined HEC-RAS model, critical shear stresses of 0.5, 1 and 2 Pa were found to be associated with flow rates of 60, 158 and 385 L/s, respectively. These 'threshold flow rates' were transmitted to JFSA for their 'Continuous Erosion Analysis'.

4.5 Model Operation

The erosion model requires two types of input; the predicted discharge for the scenario being studied and station-specific values for shear stress, velocity and wetted perimeter as a function of discharge. These station-specific values were calculated using the refined HEC-RAS model. At each station, 22 discharges scenarios ranging between 0 m^3 /s and 16.42 m^3 /s were modelled to obtain these relationships (16.42 m^3 /s being the 1:100 year flow level). In total 726 (= 22 scenarios x 33 stations) sets of discharge, shear stress, velocity and wetted perimeter data were created to model the Van Gaal Drain between Perth St. and Jock River.

The erosion model was applied sequentially to each station. For each year, the erosion model stepped through the 15-minute time series of discharges from the JFSA hydrologic model. At each time step, the model interpolated the shear stress, velocity and wetted perimeter from the input discharge. These values were used to compute EI. The cumulative value of EI was also stored, as was the total time where the shear stress at the station was above critical.

Simulations were performed for both pre-development and post-development hydrographs. At noted in Section 4.2 above, the erosion model was run for a range of critical shear stresses. The results presented below are from the simulations with $\tau_c = 0.5$ Pa.

5 Results

5.1 Single Event Simulation

This section shows comparisons of erosion potential for pre- and post-development on the Van Gaal Drain for a selected rainfall event, 9 April 1980 to 12 April 1980, at Station 592, using a critical shear threshold of 0.5 Pa.

Figure 8 shows the hydrograph for the event. The peak discharge decreases by 0.5 m³/s from pre- to post-development. Pre-development discharge remains higher than post-development condition until it hits the 19.25 hour mark. The shear stress, shown in Figure 9, mimics the pattern. The shear stress is lower up until after the peak of the event. Shear stress is above critical until 31.75 hr for pre-development condition and until 40.5 hr for post-development case. Figure 10 shows the erosion index (EI) results; post-development EI remains lower than pre-development conditions until 19.25 hr. In total, there's 30.75 hours of erosion for the pre-development condition. The cumulative erosion index for the event, a measure the impact of the event on the stream, is

shown in Figure 11. Although the total duration of erosion for the event is longer in the postdevelopment case, the cumulative EI is less; the cumulative EI for the pre-development case is 66.1 MJ and 50.8 MJ for the post-development case. This pattern was found to be repeated for the majority of the events at stations downstream of the retention pond (Stations 746 and lower). Stations upstream of this point showed lesser variation in the results of the two scenarios.



Figure 8 Continuous time series of discharge for pre- and post-development cases for the April 1980 event



Figure 9 Continuous time series of shear stress for pre- and post-development cases for the April 1980 event



Figure 10 Continuous time series of erosion index for pre- and post-development cases for the April 1980 event



Figure 11 Cumulative erosion index for pre- and post-development cases for the April 1980 event

5.2 Long-term Simulations

The results in this section are for the model application at all stations for a 36-year simulation. Continuous time series of discharge for pre- and post-development (from SWMHYMO simulations) were provided by JFSA in September 2013 and an updated version in October 2013. The results from the extended HEC-RAS model were used to compute a 36-year analysis of flow and erosion conditions within the van Gaal drain (as per the methodology described in Section 4.4).

Figure 12 and Figure 13 show the average annual time above critical shear and the change in this measure computed as post-development minus pre-development. Upstream of Station 746 there is little change. Downstream of this point, the post-development case tends to spend more time in an erosional state. However, as was illustrated by the example in Section 5.1, this is not truly representative of the impact of the changes to the system on potential

erosion of the stream. Figure 14 and Figure 15 show the annual average erosion index and change in this measure. These plots illustrate that the impact on the stream of the changes to the system lead to a reduction in erosion potential along the entire reach. This is illustrated in plan view in Figure 16.



Figure 12 Average annual time above critical shear for a 36-year simulation



Figure 13 Change in annual time above critical shear for a 36-year simulation (post - pre)



Figure 14 Annual average erosion index for a 36-year simulation



Figure 15 Change in erosion index for a 36-year simulation (post - pre)



Figure 16 Annual average pre-development erosion index and change in erosion index over the 36-year simulation

The following table (Table 1) shows the annual average erosion index for existing and postdevelopment conditions, alongside the annual hours above critical shear from the hydrologic analysis. It is important to note here that while patterns in total erosion threshold hours are the same between JFSA's 'continuous erosion analysis' and Coldwater's calculations, differences in the absolute numbers do exist. It is our understanding that the JFSA analysis was undertaken using a 1 hour timestep, while the Coldwater analysis was undertaken using a 15 minute timestep. JFSA's approach considers just one critical flow threshold, whereas the Coldwater approach looks at when a critical shear stress of 0.5 Pa occurs which varies spatially throughout the reach.

Looking at erosion simply in terms of hours above threshold gives the impression that erosion will be 12% worse under post-development conditions. This calculation reflects the fact that

post-development will see a slight increase in the duration of low-flow conditions – but this calculation does not take into consideration the overall reduction in flow peaks.

The Erosion Index (indicating the erosional energy of the stream) is consistently reduced throughout the drain due to attenuation of flood peaks by implementation of the stormwater management plan. Looking at the entire study reach, Erosion Index is reduced by 21% relative to pre-project (existing) conditions.

Station	Hours abov	/e 0.5 Pa		Erosion		
(Chainage u/s	threshold			(IVIJ/m)		
from Jock River)	Pre	Post	Δ	Pre	Post	Δ
77	108	101	-7%	34.2	18.9	-45%
123	278	312	12%	74.5	62.8	-16%
168	162	165	2%	9.4	6.0	-37%
185	220	239	9%	11.6	8.4	-27%
200	191	203	6%	6.9	4.9	-28%
201	218	238	9%	16.9	11.5	-32%
226	268	299	11%	19.8	13.8	-30%
235	255	282	11%	14.3	10.3	-28%
257	228	249	9%	9.1	6.6	-28%
317	476	628	32%	11.8	10.5	-10%
417	521	714	37%	8.4	7.0	-17%
471	714	1319	85%	14.5	12.6	-13%
521	19	12	-37%	0.2	0.1	-55%
592	393	489	24%	9.0	7.1	-21%
705	421	533	27%	16.1	13.0	-19%
746	415	524	26%	11.8	9.3	-21%
840	616	606	-2%	6.2	5.3	-15%
910	507	495	-2%	7.4	6.1	-17%
961	434	421	-3%	6.5	5.1	-22%
1002	1106	1105	0%	16.3	13.8	-15%
1091	486	473	-3%	8.7	7.0	-20%
1169	1118	1117	0%	11.7	10.0	-14%
1212	771	765	-1%	24.5	21.5	-13%
1268	1017	1014	0%	13.6	11.7	-14%
1302	965	961	0%	18.1	14.9	-18%
1312	69	58	-15%	0.6	0.4	-31%
Length-weighted annual averages:			+12.3%			-21.4%

 Table 1 Average annual erosion index and average annual hours above critical shear

6 Restoration and Protection Works

As described in JTB (2012), opportunities exist to implement restoration works in critical reaches in order to reduce erosion and to restore natural channel processes. Most notably these are required in the waters immediately upstream and downstream of the Fortune St. crossing as well as downstream of Fowler St.

As shown in Figure 17, conceptual restoration works have been developed for five specific sites. Bank restoration works are proposed both upstream of Fortune St. and downstream of Fowler St. This involves re-grading of the slopes, riprap bank protection and live stake plantings to re-establish vegetative cover.

The existing meander immediately downstream of Fortune St. is creating an erosional hotspot. Here, a channel re-alignment is recommended (Item C in the Figure 17) that will shift the channel away from the eroding bank. Cross-vanes will be used to develop riffle-pool structures that will stabilize the channel in its new location while also providing natural in-stream features.

The upstream wingwall for the Fowler St. crossing is presently being undercut, as identified in Item B in Figure 17, wingwall restoration works are proposed to remedy this situation.

Downstream of Fowler St., bank re-grading and revetment is required to protect the adjacent property on the west side of the stream. A small timber weir exists beneath the pedestrian bridge just upstream of this site and the remnants of a somewhat larger timber weir exist further downstream. It is quite possible that the loss of this downstream weir has significantly increased erosion upstream. We are proposing several cross-vane weir structures composed of quarrystone to replace and improve the function of these weirs. These structures will reduce channel slope in the area and help to stabilize the banks.

All of the proposed works will be undertaken within a framework of natural channel design. Even though riprap and slope re-grading will be required in several areas, measures will be incorporated in such a way that diversity and quality of aquatic habitat is enhanced through a combination of appropriate plantings and boulder features.

Preliminary cost estimates for these works are presented in Figure 18.



Figure 17 Restoration Conceptual Designs

Preliminary Cost Estimate - (Class D - Indicative estimate) Project: Van Gaal Drain			ε			
		Prepar	red	by:	J. Co	ousineau
10 Sept 2013		Checke	ed b	y:	M. E	Davies
Bank Restoration	Quantity	Unite		Unit Price		Price
<u>nems</u> U/S of Fortune St	Quantity	<u>Unus</u>		Unu Frice		<u>rrice</u>
Mobilization/Demobilization	1	LS	\$	5,000.00	\$	5,000
Riprap	110	m^2	\$	125.00	\$	13.750
Non-Woven Geotextile	110	m^2	\$	5.00	\$	550
Backfill	18	m^{3}	\$	45.00	\$	797
Final grading of the proposed bank	110	m^2	\$	10.00	\$	1,100
Plantings	110	m^2	\$	25.00	\$	2.750
Silt Fence	54	m	\$	25.00	\$	1,350
Sediment trap	1	LS	\$	1,000.00	\$	1,000
		Cost at	For	tune St. :	\$	26,297
<u>D/S of Fowler St.</u>						
Mobilization/Demobilization	1	LS	\$	5,000.00	\$	5,000
Riprap	116	<i>m</i> ²	\$	125.00	\$	14,500
Non-Woven Geotextile	116	<i>m</i> ²	\$	5.00	\$	580
Backfill	19	<i>m</i> [°]	\$	45.00	\$	837
Final grading of the proposed bank	116	<i>m</i> ²	\$	10.00	\$	1,160
Plantings	116	m^2	\$	25.00	\$	2,900
Silt Fence	136	m	\$ ¢	25.00	\$ ¢	3,400
Seatment trap	1	LS Cost a	ф t Fa	1,000.00	ф \$	20.377
		cosi u		<i>mier 51.</i> .	φ	29,377
	Bai	nk Reste	orat	ion Cost:	\$	55,674
Channel Realignment d/s of Fortune St.						
Items	Ouantity	<u>Units</u>		<u>Unit Price</u>		Price
Mobilization/Demobilization	1	LS	\$	5,000.00	\$	5,000
Stockpile salvage riprap material	48	m^3	\$	25.00	\$	1,200
Excavation of the proposed channel	180	m^3	\$	10.00	\$	1,800
Final grading of the proposed channel	200	m^2	\$	10.00	\$	2,000
Cross-vane	2	EA	\$	3,500.00	\$	7,000
Place salvage riprap material	48	<i>m</i> [°]	\$	25.00	\$	1,200
Hydric soil	350	m ²	\$	5.00	\$	1,750
Filling excavated material in the existing channel	212	<i>m</i> [°]	\$	10.00	\$	2,120
Final grading of the old channel	150	m	\$	10.00	\$	1,500
Pumping of construction area	1	LS	\$ ¢	750.00	\$	750
Suit Fence Sediment tran	1/0	m	\$ \$	25.00	ф S	4,230
Seatment trup	1	Lo	φ	1,000.00	φ	1,000
	Channe	l Realig	gnm	ent Cost:	\$	29,570
Cross-vane downstream of Fowler St.						
Items	Quantity	<u>Units</u>		Unit Price		<u>Price</u>
Mobilization/Demobilization	1	LS	\$	5,000.00	\$	5,000
Cross-vane	1	EA	\$	3,500.00	\$	3,500
		~		C	¢	0 500
		Cross	s-Ve	ane Cost:	\$	8,500
	To	tal Core	stru	ction Cost.	\$	93 744
	10	.a. 000	u	chon Cost.	Ψ	25,744
Additional Items						
Contingency				15%	\$	14,062
Engineering Design				20%	\$	18,749
Construction Monitoring				15%	\$	14,062
Sub-total					\$	121,868
HST				13%	\$	15,843
Totat					\$	137,711

Figure 18 Planning level cost estimate - PRELIMINARY

7 Summary

The Van Gaal Drain is presently experiencing high levels of erosion. This erosion is expected to continue to erode until it reaches a new equilibrium, even without the proposed storm management plan.

From the erosion hazard model, the proposed storm water management plan is predicted to reduce erosion by an average of 21% - the drain will, however, continue to experience erosion.

Conceptual designs have been developed for protection and restoration measures that will protect critical areas – notably in the immediate vicinity of Fortune St. and downstream of Fowler St. Erosion sites upstream of the proposed SWM outfall could be left to naturally erode or could be improved – in large part, by excavating the drain to form a wider cross-section. Eroding sections in undeveloped reaches such as those between Fortune St. and Fowler St. are best left to re-shape naturally without the introduction of restoration works.

8 **Bibliography**

Chow, V. T. (1959). Open-Channel Hydraulics. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.

- Copeland, R., McComas, D., Thorne, C., Soar, P. J., & Fripp, J. (2001). *Hydraulic Design of Stream Restoration Projects.* Vicksburg, MS: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers.
- JFSA. (2009). Floodplain Mapping Report for the Van Gaal and Arbuckle Municipal Drains in the Village of Richmond. Ottawa, ON: J.F. Sabourin and Associates Inc.
- JFSA. (2009). Floodplain Mapping Report for the van Gaal and Arbuckle Municipal Drains in the Village of Richmond . Ottawa.
- JTBES. (2012a). Van Gaal Drain Erosion Assessment. Cambridge, ON: JTB Environmental Systems Inc.
- JTBES. (2012b). *Richmond Village Development: Existing Erosion Remediation Costs.* Cambridge, ON: JTB Environmental Systems Inc.
- JTBES. (2013). Van Gaal Drain Restoration Memo. Cambridge, ON: JTB Environmental Systems Inc.

MOE. (2003). Stormwater Management Planning and Design Manual.

- Parish and Kilgour. (2010). *Mattamy Richmond Lands Natural Environment and Impact Assessment Study*. Ottawa, ON: Parish Geomorphic Ltd. and Kilgour and Associates Ltd.
- Robinson. (2010). *Engineer's Report, Arbuckle Municipal Drain Modifications and Improvements, Goulbourn Ward*. Ottawa, ON: Robnison Consultants Inc.

Rosgen, D. (1994). A classification of natural rivers. *Catena, 22*, 169-199.

1. AMENDMENT TO THE ENGINEER'S REPORT FOR THE VAN GAAL MUNICIPAL DRAIN

MODIFICATION AU RAPPORT DE L'INGÉNIEUR POUR LE DRAIN MUNICIPAL VAN GAAL

COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION, AS AMENDED

That Council:

- 1. Adopt the Engineer's Report prepared by Robinson Consultants Inc., entitled Amendment to the Engineer's Report for the Van Gaal Municipal Drain dated January 2019, <u>as amended by the following</u>
 - a. <u>All references to the drawing completed by Nak Design Strategies,</u> <u>entitled Planting Plan III, Revision 8 dated January 2015, be replaced</u> <u>with the drawing by Nak Design Strategies, entitled Planting Plan III,</u> <u>revision 9 dated May 30, 2019 (set out in supporting Document 1 below),</u>
 - b. <u>All references to the drawing completed by Coldwater Consulting</u> <u>Ltd. entitled Sections, Village of Richmond Channel Re-Alignment,</u> <u>Revision 5 dated June 5, 2016 be replaced with the drawing by</u> <u>Coldwater Consulting Ltd. entitled Sections, Village of Richmond</u> <u>Channel Re-Alignment, Revision 6 dated May 27, 2019 (set out in</u> <u>supporting Document 2 below),</u>
 - c. <u>All references to the drawing completed by Coldwater Consulting</u> <u>Ltd. entitled Van Gaal Drain, Village of Richmond, Channel Re-</u> <u>Alignment, Revision 5, dated June 5, 2016 be replaced with the</u> <u>drawing by Coldwater Consulting Ltd. entitled Van Gaal Drain,</u> <u>Village of Richmond Re-Alignment, Revision 6 dated May 27, 2019</u> <u>(set out in supporting Document 3 below),</u>
- 2. Give 1st and 2nd reading to the By-law attached as Document 2 to this report in accordance with Sections 42 and 45 of the Drainage Act of Ontario.

RECOMMANDATION DU COMITÉ, TELLES QUE MODIFIÉES

Que le Conseil

- Adopte le rapport d'ingénieur produit par Robinson Consultants Inc., intitulé Amendment to the Engineer's Report for the Van Gaal Municipal Drain (Modification au rapport de l'ingénieur pour le drain municipal Van Gaal), daté du mois de janvier 2019, <u>dans sa version modifiée par ce qui suit :</u>
 - a. toutes les mentions de la version 8 du dessin de Nak Design Strategies intitulé Planting Plan III, Revision 8 (Plan de plantation III) et datée de janvier 2015 soient remplacés par des renvois à la version 9 du dessin, datée du 30 mai 2019 (comme l'indique le document 1 à l'appui ci-dessous);
 - b. toutes les mentions de la version 5 du dessin de Coldwater Consulting Ltd. intitulé Sections, Village of Richmond Channel Re-Alignment, Revision 5 (Vue en coupe, modification du tracé des canaux de drainage du village de Richmond) et datée du 5 juin 2016 soient remplacés par des renvois à la version 6 du dessin, datée du 27 mai 2019 (comme l'indique le document 2 à l'appui ci-dessous);
 - c. toutes les mentions de la version 5 du dessin de Coldwater Consulting Ltd. intitulé Van Gaal Drain, Village of Richmond, Channel Re-Alignment, Revision 5 (Installation de drainage Van Gaal, modification du tracé des canaux de drainage du village de Richmond) et datée du 5 juin 2016 soient remplacées par des renvois à la version 6 du dessin, datée du 27 mai 2019 (comme l'indique le document 3 à l'appui ci-dessous).
- 2. Présente en première et deuxième lectures le règlement joint au présent rapport en tant que document 2, conformément aux articles 42 et 45 de la Loi sur le drainage de l'Ontario.

DOCUMENTATION/DOCUMENTATION

1. Document 1 - Planting Plan III, revision 9 dated May 30, 2019

Document 1 - Plan de plantation III, version 8 datée du 30 mai 2019

 Document 2 - Sections, Village of Richmond Channel Re-Alignment, Revision 6 dated May 27, 2019

Document 2 - Vue en coupe, modification du tracé des canaux de drainage du village de Richmond, version 6, datée du 27 mai 2019;

 Document 3 - Van Gaal Drain, Village of Richmond Re-Alignment, Revision 6 dated May 27, 2019

Document 3 - Installation de drainage Van Gaal, modification du tracé des canaux de drainage du village de Richmond, version 6 datée du 5 juin 2016

4. Director's report, Parks, Forestry and Stormwater Services, dated February 4, 2019 (ACS2019-PWE-GEN-0004)

Rapport de la Directrice, Services des parcs, de la foresterie et des eaux pluviales, daté le 4 février 2019 (ACS2019-PWE-GEN-0004)

5. Extract of draft Minutes, Agriculture and Rural Affairs Committee, June 6, 2019

Extrait de l'ébauche du procès-verbal, Comité de l'agriculture et des affaires rurales, le 6 juin 2019

Agriculture and Rural Affairs	4	Comité de l'agriculture et des
Committee		affaires rurales
Report 4		Rapport 4
June 12, 2019		le 12 juin 2019

Document 1 - Planting Plan III, revision 9 dated May 30, 2019



Agriculture and Rural Affairs	5	Comité de l'agriculture et des
Committee		affaires rurales
Report 4		Rapport 4
June 12, 2019		le 12 juin 2019

Document 2 - Sections, Village of Richmond Channel Re-Alignment, Revision 6 dated May 27, 2019



Agriculture and Rural Affairs	6	Comité de l'agriculture et des
Committee		affaires rurales
Report 4		Rapport 4
June 12, 2019		le 12 juin 2019

Document 3 - Van Gaal Drain, Village of Richmond Re-Alignment, Revision 6 dated May 27, 2019



Report to Rapport au:

Agriculture and Rural Affairs Committee Comité de l'agriculture et des affaires rurales 6 June 2019 / 6 juin 2019

and Council et au Conseil 12 June 2019 / 12 juin 2019

Submitted on February 4, 2019 Soumis le 4 février 2019

Submitted by Soumis par: Laila Gibbons, Director, Parks, Forestry & Stormwater Services / Directrice, Services des parcs, de la foresterie et des eaux pluviales

> Contact Person Personne ressource: Dave Ryan, Drainage Superintendent 613-580-2424, x25106 David.Ryan@ottawa.ca

Ward: RIDEAU-GOULBOURN (21) File Number: ACS2019-PWE-GEN-0004

- SUBJECT: Amendment to the Engineer's Report for the Van Gaal Municipal Drain
- **OBJET:** Modification au rapport de l'ingénieur pour le drain municipal Van Gaal

Comité de l'agriculture et des affaires rurales Rapport 4 le 12 juin 2019

REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS

That the Agriculture and Rural Affairs Committee recommend that Council adopt the Engineer's Report prepared by Robinson Consultants Inc., entitled Amendment to the Engineer's Report for the Van Gaal Municipal Drain dated January 2019 and give 1st and 2nd reading to the By-law attached as Document 2 to this report in accordance with Sections 42 and 45 of the Drainage Act of Ontario.

RECOMMANDATIONS DU RAPPORT

Que le Comité de l'agriculture et des affaires rurales recommande au Conseil d'adopter le rapport d'ingénieur produit par Robinson Consultants Inc., intitulé Amendment to the Engineer's Report for the Van Gaal Municipal Drain (Modification au rapport de l'ingénieur pour le drain municipal Van Gaal), daté du mois de janvier 2019, et présente en première et deuxième lectures le règlement joint au présent rapport en tant que document 2, conformément aux articles 42 et 45 de la Loi sur le drainage de l'Ontario.

BACKGROUND

On September 13, 2013 the Council of the City of Ottawa appointed Andy Robinson, P.Eng. of Robinson Consultants Inc., as the Engineer of record to prepare a report under Section 78 of the *Drainage Act* to address changes within the watershed of the Van Gaal Municipal Drain.

The purpose of this report is to accommodate the change in land use from rural/agricultural to urban development for the lands identified as Block N (N1 through N5) on Dwg. No. 13056-A4 Rideau-Goulbourn Ward, former Township of Goulbourn. The amendments in the report include modifications to portions of the main drain. This report will also include the abandonment of the West Main Drain between station 1+754 and Station 1+935. The West Main Drain will now connect to the Van Gaal Municipal Drain at Station 0+281.30.

To address the land use changes and partial abandonment of the West Main Drain, amendments are required to the existing Engineers Report, entitled Engineer's Report Van Gaal Municipal Drain, dated July 2003 and prepared by Robinson Consultants Inc.

Comité de l'agriculture et des affaires rurales Rapport 4 le 12 juin 2019

The required amendments are detailed in the Engineer's Report entitled Amendment to the Engineer's Report for the Van Gaal Municipal Drain dated January 2019 prepared by Robinson Consultants Inc. (the said report shall hereinafter be referred to as the "Engineer's Report dated January 2019").

Pursuant to Section 9 of the Drainage Act, the on-site meeting was held on December 4, 2013. All affected landowners were notified of the meeting.

DISCUSSION

The Van Gaal Municipal Drain was first constructed in 1972 under By-law No. 12-72 in the former Township of Goulbourn. The Engineers Report was updated in 2003 under by-law 2003-397, City of Ottawa to accommodate development within Lot 22, concession 4 Ridau-Goulbourn Ward, former Township of Goulbourn. A new Engineer's report is required to address land use changes and partial abandonment of the West Main Drain.

The Engineer's Report dated January 2019 accommodates the change in land use from rural/agricultural to urban development for the lands identified as Block N (N1 through N5) on Dwg. No. 13056-A4 Rideau-Goulbourn Ward, former Township of Goulbourn. The amendments in the report include modifications to portions of the main drain including relocating the drain, lowering the profile and increasing the cross-section of the drain to accommodate the proposed drainage and stormwater management systems for the development area. This report also includes the partial abandonment of the West Main Drain between station 1+754 and Station 1+935. The West Main Drain will now connect to the Van Gaal Municipal Drain at Station 0+281.30.

Initial costs for the amended Engineers Report have been paid for by the City of Ottawa Parks, Forestry and Stormwater Services Branch of the Public Works and Environmental Services Department from capital internal order 907486. All costs associated with this report will be recovered through assessments to the property owners of the lands in Block N (N1 and N3). Future maintenance costs for the Van Gaal Municipal Drain will be assessed as per assessment schedule "A" - summary for future maintenance of section(s) of the Van Gaal Municipal Drain in the Engineer's Report dated January 2019.

Comité de l'agriculture et des affaires rurales Rapport 4 le 12 juin 2019

The *Drainage Act* prescribes the process and timelines that must be followed for any modification or construction of a municipal drain.

This report places the request for amendment to an existing drainage works before the Agriculture and Rural Affairs Committee and Council as required under Section 78 of the *Drainage Act*.

Should the Agricultural and Rural Affairs Committee and Council adopt the Engineer's Report dated November 2018 and give 1_{st} and 2_{nd} reading to the provisional By-law, the process will continue as set out by the Drainage Act R.S.O. 1990.

RURAL IMPLICATIONS

The Van Gaal Municipal Drain will continue to provide legal and sufficient outlet for some urban and rural lands and roads.

CONSULTATION

As part of the development planning process consultation between the developer, their representatives, City approvals and drainage staff, the Council-appointed Drainage Engineer and regulatory agencies is ongoing. The required on-site meeting with the affected landowners was held on December 4, 2013.

COMMENTS BY THE WARD COUNCILLOR(S)

The Councillor for Rideau-Goulbourn is aware of this report and the proposed drainage works.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no legal impediments to adopting the recommendation outlined in this report.

RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS

There are no risk implications associated with this report.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no financial implications associated with this report. Initial costs for the amended Engineers Report have been paid for by the City of Ottawa Parks, Forestry

Comité de l'agriculture et des affaires rurales Rapport 4 le 12 juin 2019

and Stormwater Services Branch of the Public Works and Environmental Services Department from capital internal order 907486. All costs associated with this report will be recovered through assessments to the property owners of the lands in Block N (N1 and N3). Future maintenance costs for the Van Gaal Municipal Drain will be assessed as per assessment schedule "A" - summary for future maintenance of section(s) of the Van Gaal Municipal Drain in the Engineer's Report dated January 2019.

ACCESSIBILITY IMPACTS

There are no accessibility impacts associated with this report.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

The modifications to the Van Gaal Municipal Drain are associated with a development application for the area for which discussion with the various City departments and regulatory agencies are ongoing. The proposed storm water management system, including any drainage works modifications, will provide outlet for the proposed development and improve storm water management in the area while continuing to provide legal and sufficient outlet for the area lands and roads, including some agricultural lands. There are no provincially significant wetlands affected by this undertaking and the drainage works will protect and enhance existing fish habitat. The proposed works will require compliance with City, Provincial and Federal policy standards, regulations and legislation.

TERM OF COUNCIL PRIORITIES

The recommendations of this report align with the current Strategic Priority as part of the sustainable environmental services strategic priority by supporting an environmentally sustainable Ottawa.

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION

DOCUMENT 1 – Location Plan

DOCUMENT 2 - Provisional By-law (Previously distributed)

Comité de l'agriculture et des affaires rurales Rapport 4 le 12 juin 2019

DISPOSITION

Upon approval by Council, the Office of the Drainage Superintendent will notify all affected landowners of the date of the 1st sitting of the Court of Revision as required under Section 46 of the Drainage Act R.S.O. 1990.

Comité de l'agriculture et des affaires rurales Rapport 4 le 12 juin 2019

Document 1





NATURAL CHANNEL DESIGN: VAN GAAL DRAIN, RICHMOND VILLAGE DEVELOPMENT, RICHMOND, ON

Submitted to:	David Schaeffer Engineering Limited
Prepared by:	M.H. Davies, Ph.D., P.Eng. Coldwater Consulting Ltd. 5510 Canotek Road, Suite 203 Ottawa, ON, K1J 9J4 (613) 747-2544
Version:	1.21
Date:	23 February 2017

Version History

Version	Date	Status	Comments	Reviewed	Approved
				by	by
1	24 September 2014	For discussion		NJM	MHD
1.1	18 January 2016	For review	Revised meander and pool layout	NJM	MHD
1.2	15 February 2017	For review	Revised cross-section and layout	NJM	MHD

For further information please contact:

Michael Davies (mdavies@coldwater-consulting.com) 613 747-2544

Provisos

This report was prepared by Coldwater Consulting Ltd. The recommendations and opinions contained in this report are based upon a limited dataset and a limited scope of work. The material contained herein reflects the judgement of Coldwater Consulting Ltd. in light of the information available to them at the time of preparation. The present report applies only to the project described in this document. Use of this report for purposes other than those described herein, or by person(s) other than the Richmond Village Development Corporation or their agent(s) is not authorized without review by Coldwater for the applicability of our recommendations to the altered use of the report.

Submitted 15 February 2017,

H. Jorenel.

M.H. Davies, Ph.D., P.Eng. Coldwater Consulting Ltd.



Table of Contents

1	h	Introduction3				
	1.1	9	Scop	e of Work3		
	1.2	E	Back	ground Information4		
2	S	Site D	Descr	iption4		
3	۵	Desig	n	5		
	3.1	[Desi	gn Parameters		
	3.2	ł	Hydr	ology6		
	3	8.2.1		HEC-RAS		
	3	8.2.2		SWMHYMO		
	3	8.2.3		Low Flow Conditions		
	3.3	ł	Hydr	aulics7		
	3.4	(Conv	veyance Channel Assessment		
	3	8.4.1		Bank Erosion Assessment9		
	3.5	L	Low-	Flow Channel Design		
	3	8.5.1		Design Methodology10		
	3	8.5.2		Flow Conditions and Bed Stability11		
	3	8.5.3		Meandering Channel Design		
	3	8.5.4		Cross-Vane Design13		
	3.6	9	Spec	ifications13		
	3	8.6.1		River Gravel		
	3	8.6.2		Boulders14		
	3	8.6.3		Geotextile15		
3.6.4			Straw Fibre Erosion Control Blankets15			
	3	8.6.5		Shrubs and Seed Mix15		
4	S	Sumn	nary			
5	B	Biblio	grap	bhy16		
AI	PEN	NDIX	A - I	Natural Channel Design17		
	Des	sign F	Philo	sophy19		
	Des	sign F	Flow			
Meander Design			er De	esign		
	Ott	awa	Area	a Design Features		
1 Introduction

This design brief describes the methodology, rationale and design parameters for creation of a natural stream channel of Van Gaal Drain upstream of Perth Street. It is understood that approximately 900 m of the existing Van Gaal Drain upstream of Perth Street will be realigned to follow the boundary of the Richmond Village Development Corporation site in the Village of Richmond. While for the purposes of this project, this reach is referred to as part of Van Gaal Drain, it is commonly also referred to as the Arbuckle Drain.

A natural stream channel is one that provides a diversity of stream characteristics (pools, meanders, fast water, etc.), a diversity of bed materials (sands, gravels, rocks), and supports a variety of flora and fauna. For the present case, the emphasis on the design is to create as natural a channel as possible, which will provide a diversity of aquatic and terrestrial habitats as well as be aesthetically pleasing. The inclusion of natural channel features into a Municipal Drain creates unique challenges for maintenance and access.

1.1 Scope of Work

The present scope of work involves the design of a low-flow channel using natural channel design principles. This channel sits within a larger conveyance channel designed to pass the 100-year flood. The design of the overall geometry of the conveyance channel and associated culverts was not within the original scope of this work. This most recent work undertaken by Coldwater (Version 1.2) has included modifications to the conveyance channel to ease maintenance and detailing of the confluence with the drainage tributary at the northern corner of the project.

Coldwater Consulting Ltd., (Coldwater) has been engaged to provide the following design and analysis services to David Schaeffer Engineering Ltd. (DSEL):

- Channel design, including 'natural channel design' for the low-flow inner channel;
- Bank erosion assessment of the proposed channel & recommendations, and;
- Planting recommendations for erosion control.

1.2 Background Information

The following documents were referenced when preparing this design brief:

- JTB Environmental Systems Inc. " Van Gaal Drain Erosion Assessment, Richmond, Ontario", provided by DSEL dated October 2012;
- HEC-RAS model developed and provided by JFSA, September 2013;
- continuous time series of discharge for pre- and post-development at 4 junctions (provided by JFSA, 2014-10-Jan);
- JFSA report on continuous erosion analysis and updated pre-and post development hydrology (JFSA file 922-11, dated 2013-Oct-18);
- Updated JFSA report with model results reflecting new channel design (JFSA file 922-11, dated 2017-Jan-04).
- Stormwater Management Planning and Design Manual, (Ontario MoE, March 2003);
- cross-sectional data (Arbuckle drain cross sections.dwg) surveyed by J.D. Barnes and provided by DSEL, and;
- ACAD files: 468_channelbase.dwg, 468_Channel_Prof_rev_Section.dwg to provide base layout information for the site and proposed development (provided by DSEL, July 2014).

2 Site Description

Van Gaal Drain is located in Richmond, Ontario. Approximately 900 m of the existing Van Gaal Drain upstream of Perth Street will be realigned to follow the boundary of the Richmond Village Corporation site (see Figure 1).

The City of Ottawa and the Rideau Valley Conservative Authority (RVCA) have accepted that an engineered conveyance channel be constructed just upstream of Perth Street. As a condition of these changes to Van Gaal Drain, natural channel design features are to be incorporated into the conveyance channel.



Figure 1 Site Location

3 Design

Natural channel design is being applied throughout Ontario for the restoration of degraded rivers and streams. The goal of natural channel design is to restore the hydraulic and ecological functioning of a channel through the re-creation of natural features such as banks, runs, riffles, meanders, and pools. Planting of appropriate natural vegetation is integral to the design for both its ecological value, and to aid in soil retention and erosion protection. All approaches to natural channel design typically use the geomorphic and hydraulic characteristics of stable, natural river/stream reaches from the subject watershed or from other watersheds that demonstrate similar geomorphic and hydraulic characteristics as reference conditions to guide the design. A more detailed discussion of Coldwater's approach to natural channel design is provided in *APPENDIX A - Natural Channel Design*, p. 17.

At this site, a conveyance channel with a trapezoidal form will be constructed to carry flows up to the 100-year return period flow. The task at hand is to naturalize this channel to the extent possible while maintaining flood conveyance capacity. This is mainly obtained by designing a natural channel to carry low flow conditions that fits within this larger flood channel. As described in *APPENDIX A - Natural Channel Design*, the design for low flows should aim to

meet biological needs. Summer low flows are often a critical period for fish and other species and, thus, the low-flow channel is designed to provide increased depths at that time (Copeland, McComas, Thorne, Soar, & Fripp, 2001).

3.1 Design Parameters

The original conveyance channel was designed by DSEL to have a 10.0 m wide base and 2.5H:1V side slopes. The slope of the conveyance channel varies between 0.120% and 0.196% over its length. The elevation of the base of the conveyance channel was taken from the AutoCAD file (468_channelbase.dwg) provided by DSEL. The low flow channel was design to fit within the base of the conveyance channel. The most recent modifications to this channel (as shown in Figure 2, below) include widening the base of the conveyance channel to approximately 19 m to include a grassed step on the left-hand side of the channel (when viewed looking downstream). This grassed step will provide aquatic habitat during high water conditions and will also provide access for heavy equipment during maintenance of the Municipal Drain.



Figure 2 Typical channel cross-section

3.2 Hydrology

3.2.1 HEC-RAS

Discharges and water levels for the conveyance channel were produced by J.F. Sabourin and Associates Inc. (JFSA) and provided to Coldwater through the HEC-RAS model by DSEL. Postdevelopment peak flows expected in the conveyance channel upstream of Perth Street are given in Table 1. Peak discharge was taken from JFSA's HEC-RAS model for Station 1340 which is located at Perth Street.

Event	Post-development Peak Flow (m ³ /s)
2-Year	3.76
5-Year	5.64
100-Year	11.43

Table 1 Post-development flows at Station 1340 (from JFSA's HEC-RAS model, Jan 2017)

3.2.2 SWMHYMO

The hydrologic analysis by JFSA was performed using SWMHYMO (Van Gaal Proposed Conditions Continuous Hydrographs 20140110.xlsx), a complex hydrologic model used for the simulation and management of stormwater runoff in rural and urban areas. SWMHYMO processes rainfall records to simulate the transformation of rainfall into surface runoff. The surface runoff at Perth Street was simulated between 1967 and 2003 during the summer months (April 1^{rst} to October 31st). A total of 1,380 rainfall events, approximately 40 per year and 5 per month were calculated using JFSA's output file. A rainfall event is defined when the surface runoff starts and ends with a discharge of 0 m³/s.

3.2.3 Low Flow Conditions

The JFSA analysis provides flow conditions corresponding to return periods of 2 years and longer, but little information on high frequency events (i.e., low flows). The low-flow channel was designed using the average monthly peak flow for the summer season. This discharge was selected in place of the 7-day annual low-flow discharge (see APPENDIX A - Natural Channel Design, Design Flow, p. 20) for two reasons:

- first, not enough is known about the base-flow to establish the 7-day annual low-flow with any accuracy, and;
- second, this discharge corresponds to a low-flow channel with dimensions similar to those of the existing channel immediately downstream of Perth St.

The surface peak runoff was calculated for each rainfall event and the 80th percentile of all the surface peak runoff (an event that only occurs once a month) was used to determine the monthly peak flow. <u>A discharge of 0.43 m³/s (corresponding to the expected monthly peak flow) has been selected as the design discharge for the low flow channel.</u>

3.3 Hydraulics

Table 2 shows the characteristics of the conveyance channel. Table 3 shows flow depths, velocities and shear stresses in the conveyance channel under a variety of flow conditions ranging from the 100-year return period flow down to a 2-year return period event. These numbers are based on conditions from the HEC-RAS model at Reach 2, RS 1555¹ which is

¹ JFSA HEC-RAS simulation results (P922 2017-Jan-06) RS 1555.

slightly upstream of the Perth St. crossing and was chosen as a representative cross-section. A Manning's roughness coefficient of 0.08 was specified for the conveyance channel bed and banks to account for heavy vegetation. This is the same value of Manning's roughness coefficient used in the JFSA HEC-RAS model. Velocities in the conveyance channel will range from a high of 0.76 m/s for the 100-year event down to low of 0.55 m/s for the 2-yr event.

Table 2 Characteristic of the conveyance channel

Characteristic	Value
Max. stream slope	0.00196
Base (m)	10.0
Side slope 1	2.5H:1V
Side slope 2	2.5H:1V
Manning, n	0.08
River Gravel Type 'A' D50	38.1 mm

Table 3 shows the predicted mobility for the river gravel 'Type A'. Mobility (M) is the ratio of the shear stress exerted by the flow to the critical shear stress at which sediment transport is initiated; a value of M > 1 indicates sediment mobility. Calculations show that the river gravel 'Type A' with a D₅₀ of 38.1 mm would be expected to be stable at all conditions.

Table 3 Flow conditions in mid-section of conveyance channel

Return Period	100-yr	5-yr	2-yr
Discharge, Q (m ³ /s) (at Perth St.)	11.43	5.64	3.76
Discharge, Q at RS 1555 (m³/s)	9.54	4.41	2.80
Depth, y (m)	1.81	1.66	1.57
Velocity (m/s)	0.76	0.64	0.55
Froude No.	0.18	0.16	0.14
River Gravel Type 'A'			
Shear stress (Pa)	5.82	4.20	3.19
Mobility	0.17	0.12	0.09
Mobile?	No	No	No

The river stone 'Type A' as specified in Section 3.6.1 is a well-graded sandy-gravel. The stone diameter varies between 0.5 and 150 mm. Regarding the fines in this sediment mix: Sediment mobility analysis using the hiding and exposure function (Egiazaroff, 1965) indicates that all sediments greater 1 mm are stable under the 2-yr flood event and all sediments greater than 3 mm are stable during the 100-yr flood event.

3.4 Conveyance Channel Assessment

The cross-section of the conveyance channel is sufficient to pass the design flood while also providing some storage. This section examines requirements for erosion control in the

conveyance channel. The natural channel design documented herein specifies that the channel be lined with straw fibre erosion control blanket over the placed topsoil at the time of construction. The channel is to be planted with native plants and a seed mix that includes a nurse species (a quick-germinating plant such as annual rye or oats that will provide cover and erosion protection as the native plants germinate and take root). Specifications for seed mix and plants are provided in the landscape drawings.

3.4.1 Bank Erosion Assessment

The resistance of the conveyance channel to erosion was investigated using the USDOT design methodology for channels with vegetative linings (US Dept. of Transportation, Federal Highways Administration). The USDOT approach requires estimation of the properties of both the soil and the vegetation. For the present application, the soil was assumed to a clayey-sand and the vegetation was assumed to be a 'fair coverage' of mixed grass with an average stem height of 7.5 cm. The input values used in the calculation and the results for the 100-year return period event are presented in Table 4. This analysis shows that the vegetative lining for the main conveyance channel will withstand the 1:100 yr flood event (the critical shear stress for the vegetation is 88.4 Pa, which far exceeds the expected shear stresses due to flow events).

For bare soil conditions (before the vegetative cover has been established), the shear stresses imposed by the 1:100 month flood event down to the 3 month return period event would cause erosion of the bare soil. Thus, straw fibre erosion control blankets are required until the vegetation matures.

Property			
Soil			
Туре	clayey-sand		
Plasticity index, Pl	16		
Voids ratio, e	0.5		
Manning (soil), ns	0.016		
$\tau_{cr\ (soil)}$	3.3 Pa		
Discharge	11.43 m³/s		
Velocity	1.745 m/s		
$ au_{bed}$	11.0 Pa		
Mobility	3.34		
Mobile?	Yes		
Threshold flow rate	1.95 m ³ /s (3-month return period)		
Vegetation			
Growth	Mixed		
Coverage	Fair		
Stem height	7.5 cm		
Vegetation Roughness Coefficient, Cn	0.142		
Vegetation Cover Factor, C _f	0.7		
$ au_{cr(vegetation)}$	88.4 Pa		
Discharge	11.43 m³/s		
Velocity	0.76 m/s		
$ au_{bed}$	5.8 Pa		
Mobility	0.07		
Mobile?	No		

Table 4 Vegetation stability during the 100-yr return period events

3.5 Low-Flow Channel Design

The geometry for the meandering channel is based on techniques developed by C. Thorne as presented in several US government reports (USDA, 2007), (US Army Corps of Engineers, 2001). Cross-vane weirs have been incorporated into the design following the work of Rosgen (2006).

3.5.1 Design Methodology

A natural stream channel is one that provides a diversity of stream characteristics (pools, meanders, fast water, etc.), a diversity of bed materials (sands, gravels, rocks), and supports a variety of flora and fauna. For the present case, the emphasis on the design is to create as natural a channel as possible, which will provide a diversity of aquatic and terrestrial habitats as well as be aesthetically pleasing.

Meanders can be seen as a natural response of the streambed to the flows that it carries. The 'equilibrium theory' for meanders states that meanders act to decrease the stream gradient

(channel slope) until the transport capacity of the stream balances the erodibility of the streambed. Meanders are generated by the 'channel-forming flow', which for most natural channels is the flow with a 1- to 2-year return period. The present low-flow channel is designed to meet environmental needs and, thus, the meanders will be designed using the bank-full conditions for that channel, which is the summer season monthly return period flow. In order to ensure channel stability, the meandering low-flow channel will be built as a partially-controlled channel since it will be frequently exposed to flows greater than the bankfull condition. Coldwater's stream design philosophy is further discussed in *APPENDIX A* - *Natural Channel* Design, p. 17.

In order to add diversity to the design, several cross-vane weirs, constructed with small boulders and stones, are included in the design. These features will add to the diversity of aquatic habitat and will create local flow accelerations that will increase oxygenation of the water while also creating back-eddies where finer sediments can accumulate. Pools are also included in the design to further increase the diversity of aquatic habitat and to provide some holding areas that will tend to preserve cooler, deeper pockets of standing water during dry weather.

Just upstream of Perth St., an inline sediment detention pond has been incorporated into the design. The purpose of this pond is two-fold. It provides a sedimentation trap that can be readily maintained by access via the west side of the channel at Perth Street. It also provides a deep-water pool which will be used as a refuge by fish and will generally add to the diversity of aquatic habitat in the stream.

3.5.2 Flow Conditions and Bed Stability

A channel base width of 1.0 m with 2H:1V side slope was selected as a starting point for the channel design (Table 5). This channel has a bankfull flow capacity of 0.45 m³/s which exceeds the calculated monthly flow of 0.43 m³/s. Table 6 shows conditions in the low flow meandering channel under the monthly flow.

Characteristic	Value
Max. stream slope	0.00195
Base width (m)	1.0
Side slope 1	2H:1V
Side slope 2	2H:1V
Manning's n	0.035
River Gravel Type 'A' D50	38.1 mm
Critical shear stress (Pa)	34.1

Table 5 Characteristic of the low flow channel

Condition	Monthly Flow
Discharge, Q (m ³ /s)	0.430
Depth, y (m)	0.371
Channel width at surface (m)	2.982
Wetted area (m2)	0.830
Wetted perimeter (m)	3.157
Hydraulic radius (m)	0.263
Velocity (m/s)	0.518
Froude No.	0.272
Gravel Type 'A'	
Shear stress (Pa)	7.09
Mobility	0.2
Mobile?	No

Table 6 Flow conditions in the low flow meandering channel

Table 6 shows that 38.1 mm gravel would be well below the threshold for mobility for these conditions.

3.5.3 Meandering Channel Design

In natural channel systems, the width of the channel and its depth control the shape and size of the turbulent eddies that create meanders. Consequently, the meander length is directly related to bankfull channel width. For the range of channel slopes under consideration (less than 0.196%), selection of a narrower channel would generate a shorter meander length. In order to create meanders that fit within the 10.0 m wide base of the conveyance channel, the low-flow channel slope is varied between 0.112% and 0.195%. Channel width was selected to provide the longest practical meanders, thereby limiting the complexity and cost of the construction works.

Coldwater's in-house channel design software was used to develop a three-dimensional model of the channel including a channel cross-section that varies between trapezoidal in channel runs and triangular in meander bends (deep channel on the outside of the bend). The resulting channel has the following characteristics:

- Sinuosity, *P* = 1.005 to 1.054
- Meander wavelength, $L_m = 33.78$ m
- Radius of curvature of meanders $R_c = 6.75 7.47$ m
- Minimum bankfull channel width, *W*_{am}= 2.9 m
- Maximum bankfull channel width in meanders, W_{mm} = 3.2m
- Meander pool depth, $y_m = 0.75$ m

3.5.4 Cross-Vane Design

The conveyance channel is designed with a relatively mild slope. Although the vertical drop provided by this slope is not particularly well-suited to a riffle-pool system, cross-vane structures have been added to anchor the pools; this also adds diversity to the channel (see Figure 3). A cross-vane is a boulder structure that trains the flow toward the centre of the channel. The cross-vane design adopted herein is based on techniques developed by Rosgen (2006). The structure also improves stream habitat by creating different near-bank water levels, local flow accelerations and flow aeration.



Figure 3 Cross section, profile and plan view of a cross-vane (from Rosgen 2006)

3.6 Specifications

This section describes the key features of the channel design. Note that design specifications and notes have also been added to the CAD drawings.

3.6.1 River Gravel

The river stone 'Type A' specified in the CAD drawings will be a well-graded sandy-gravel. Clean, rounded river stone is to be used for the point bars with the following characteristics:

- 75 mm < D₉₀ < 100 mm
- 32 mm < D₅₀ < 44 mm
- 0.75 mm < D₁₀ < 4.75 mm

A gradation such as this can be obtained by mixing 25-100 mm river stone (e.g. Greely Sand and Gravel's river stone), a 9.5 to 16 mm stone (e.g. Greely 3/8 to 5/8" river stone) and a coarse washed sand such as concrete sand or MTO winter sand. This mix will allow for good particle interlocking, controlled permeability, and a broad natural gradation. The actual mix will have to be designed based on actual quarry gradations; a typical mix would consist of 50% (by mass) of the 1" to 4" stone, 25% of the 3/8" to 5/8" stone and 25% washed coarse sand. Mixing is best accomplished by layering the materials in a stockpile using layer thickness to control mix proportions (e.g. 50 cm, 25 cm and 25 cm layers). The resulting 'gravel lasagna' is mixed simply by the process of loading and unloading it into a truck for placement.

3.6.2 Boulders

Two types of boulders are required (see CAD drawings):

- 1. Type 'A' boulders:
 - a. to be embedded in the stream bed as boulder clusters upstream of the crossvanes
 - b. maximum dimensions ranging from 0.6 to 0.9 m
 - c. placed in a triangular pattern with spaces between the boulders ranging from 1 m to 2 m
- 2. Type 'B' boulders:
 - a. to be used in the construction of the cross-vanes
 - b. maximum dimensions ranging from 0.3 to 0.6 m

Boulders can be composed of granite or limestone provided that the rock is durable, clean and free of splits, joints, loose laminations or inclusions. Limestone is preferable since it tends to provide more regular slab shapes that are easier to place in the tight-fitting patterns required for the cross-vane weirs and the vegetated boulder edge treatment.

3.6.3 Straw Fibre Erosion Control Blankets

Straw fibre erosion control blankets are to be used in the main channel. These are excellent for controlling soil erosion by holding the soil in place and dissipating the force of heavy rains and run-off water, while allowing natural vegetation to become established. The erosion control blankets and their installation should have the following characteristics:

- 1. Soil preparation and seeding shall be completed before the installation of the erosion control blankets.
- 2. Erosion control blankets is to be installed as per manufacturers recommended installation.
- 3. Erosion control blankets shall conform to Terrafix S200 specifications or equivalent.

3.6.4 Shrubs and Seed Mix

Shrubs and seed mix are to be used to stabilize the meandering stream banks and to facilitate natural succession of vegetation soil. Shrubs are to be applied on the outside banks of the meandering stream as part of the vegetated stone bank treatment and around pools, and seeding should be applied throughout the conveyance channel. The 7 m wide access shelf along the left-hand side of the channel will (occasionally) be used to provide access for channel maintenance. No trees or shrubbery should be planted in that area. Seed mix and shrubs shall conform to the specifications specified in the landscape drawings.

4 Summary

This report describes the design of a natural channel for a portion of Van Gaal Drain in Richmond, ON. The goal of design is to ensure both the hydraulic and ecological functioning of the channel through the re-creation of various natural features. The proposed design involves a low-flow channel within a larger, conveyance channel.

The conveyance channel and the low-flow channel contained within it are to be excavated in soils that are expected to consist predominantly of Champlain Sea marine clays. The sensitive nature of these clays can result in an extremely wet and soft soil once the upper crust has been excavated and, particularly, if the freshly exposed clays are re-worked during excavation.

The design of the conveyance channel is based on available borehole data, and assumes that the soils used to construct the low-flow channel will be undisturbed and have a firm to stiff consistency. Should softer soil conditions be encountered, we request that we be notified immediately in order to permit reassessment of our recommendations.

Coldwater developed the natural channel design for the site with due consideration of the geomorphic and hydraulic characteristics of the system to ensure that stable, natural stream reaches would result. The channel is designed with a varying sinuosity along its length to ensure that setback requirements are met. The design includes cross-vane structures which, combined with the meanders, create a diversity of stream features. The design includes planting of appropriate natural vegetation to aid in soil retention and erosion protection. A

detailed CAD plan of the design and its features accompanies this report (under separate cover).

5 Bibliography

Copeland, R., McComas, D., Thorne, C., Soar, P. J., & Fripp, J. (2001). *Hydraulic Design of Stream Restoration Projects*. Vicksburg, MS: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers.

Egiazaroff, I. (1965). Calculation of non-uniform sediment concentration. *Journal of the Hydraulics Division ASCE*, 44:225-247.

Rosgen, D. (1994). A classification of natural rivers. Catena, 22, 169-199.

Rosgen, D. L. (2006). River restoration using a geomorphic approach for natural channel design. *Proceeding of the 8th Federal Interagency Sedimentation Conference.*

US Army Corps of Engineers. (2001). Channel Restoration Design for Meandering Rivers. USACE.

US Dept. of Transportation, Federal Highways Administration. (n.d.). *Design of Roadside Channels with Flexible Linings; Hydraulic Engineering Circular Number 15, Third Edition; Chapter 4: Vegetative Lining and Bare Soil Design*. Retrieved from

http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/engineering/hydraulics/pubs/05114/hec1504.cfm#_Toc115780014

USDA. (2007). NRCS Stream Restoration Design National Engineering Handbook. USDA.

APPENDIX A - Natural Channel Design

Design Philosophy

Natural channel design is being applied throughout Ontario for the restoration of degraded rivers and streams. The Rideau Valley Conservation Authority's primary interest is described by the follow statement (RVCA 2006):

"...the preservation of natural channels which perform natural functions and restoration of such natural functions where degradation has occurred. Altering, straightening, changing, diverting or interfering with the channel of any natural watercourse in the Authority's area of jurisdiction must meet the following requirements:

- 1. Riverfront Erosion Protection
- 2. Channel Realignment, Road Crossings, Diversions, Dams
 - a. Hydrotechnical analyses
 - b. Incorporate natural channel design principles
- 3. Erosion and Sediment Control
- 4. Timing of Works"

The goal of natural channel design is to restore the hydraulic and ecological functioning of a channel through the re-creation of natural features such as banks, runs, riffles, meanders, and pools. Planting of appropriate natural vegetation is integral to the design for both its ecological value, and to aid in soil retention and erosion protection. All approaches to natural channel design typically use the geomorphic and hydraulic characteristics of stable, natural river/stream reaches as reference conditions to guide the design. These reference reaches may be taken from the subject watershed or from other watersheds that demonstrate similar geomorphic and hydraulic characteristics.

There are two general approaches to natural channel design/restoration in the literature. The first is the 'classification-based procedure' as advocated by Rosgen (1994). In this method a geomorphically stable natural river reach is selected as a reference case and used as an analogue to guide the design of restoration works. Classification of stream reaches is essential within this process to ensure the similarity and suitability of the reference reach. The design of the restoration works then relies upon the scaling of the reference reach features based on the relative bankfull riffle width, W of the reference and subject reaches. In essence this method uses the reference reach as a scale model for the restoration project.

The second approach is a process-based method (sometimes referred to as a 'regime' or 'rational' design). In this approach, predictive relationships for sediment mobility, cross-sectional and planform geometry are used to support river observations and to develop a restoration design. The relationships used are based on a combination of analysis of natural rivers and streams, and theoretical and experimental research in the fields of fluid mechanics, sediment transport and fluvial geomorphology. This approach is best applied in conjunction

with an appropriate reference reach. In which case, the design relationships can be used to scale the reference reach features for use in the study reach to allow for differences in 'boundary conditions' between the two reaches. These boundary conditions include differences in hydraulics, sediment characteristics and the sediment transport processes. In situations where no appropriate reference reach is readily available, the rational design approach can still be used to define appropriate planform and cross-sectional channel geometry.

In natural river/stream systems there can be multiple, nested flow channels depending upon flow conditions. Base flow can be carried in a low flow meandering central channel, bankfull flow carried within the main banks of the channel, and overland flow carried through the broader floodplain which might be treed or otherwise heavily vegetated.

Design Flow

Typically in natural channel design, the bankfull flow condition corresponds to the 1-year to 3year return period flow. This has broadly been shown in the literature (Rosgen D. , 1994) to be the flow condition that typically shapes and controls a stream's morphology. For many applications, however, a low-flow channel is designed to meet biological needs; the low-flow channel is designed to provide increased depths during periods of low-flow so as to ensure that a sufficient depth of flow for aquatic species and for general biodiversity is maintained. Thus, the 7-day annual low-flow is often used for low-flow channel design (Copeland, McComas, Thorne, Soar, & Fripp, 2001). Geomorphic characteristics of the low-flow channel are derived from calculations using the bankfull conditions of the low-flow channel.

Meander Design

Meanders can be seen as a natural response of the streambed to the flows that it carries. The 'equilibrium theory' for meanders states that meanders act to decrease the stream gradient (channel slope) until the transport capacity of the stream balances the erodibility of the streambed. There are three approaches to designing a meander system:

- FREE-FORM: Determine the appropriate stream gradient to balance sediment characteristics and ensure that sufficient sediment supply is available. Re-grade the channel as required to a slope and form close to the expected equilibrium conditions. This is approach is typically used in restoration of natural channel systems (USACE, Thorne, etc.). In this instance, native bed materials are used and the natural channel is free to reshape itself in response to hydrodynamic forcing.
- 2) PARTIALLY-CONTROLLED: Layout a sinuous meandering channel in the native bed materials and then use imported gravel/cobble to build control structures such as weirs, riffles, point bars and armoured cut banks in the outer edges of meanders. This approach can be prone to failure when high flow events scour the bed and banks in an effort to adjust to a natural meander pattern. The hydrology of the Van Gaal Drain realignment is such that high flows are carried by the relatively wide and deep conveyance channel which results is relatively

low bed shears during extreme events; thus making the site well-suited to a partial-control design strategy.

3) FULLY-CONTROLLED: Develop a naturally armoured channel that will maintain the desired stream gradient (slope). This creates a natural-looking channel and uses sufficiently large sand/gravel/cobble bed materials to ensure that the channel form is stable under a wide range of flows. This is similar to the "Geomorphic Reference River Engineering" approach described in the Carp River (2004) restoration plan.

Ottawa Area Design Features

While natural channels built with meanders, riffles and pools have been commonly seen as the 'ideal' for natural channel design, they may not fit the hydraulics and geomorphology of all projects. The prevalence of riffle-pool meander designs in the literature might be related to the facts that some of the key natural channel designers come from Colorado (Rosgen) and B.C. (Newbury) and that trout and salmon habitat restoration is often the motivation behind stream restoration. As is often the case in low-lying streams, meander systems often exist without any riffles and their associated super-critical flow. Therefore, many projects in the Ottawa area may be more suited to designs with stable gravel bed meandering low-gradient channels.

For the van Gaal Drain realignment, a partially-controlled channel design has been adopted. This approach serves two purposes: Firstly, it ensures that the bed of the low-flow channel is predominantly clayey till overlain by loose sands and gravels – as is typical for this area. Secondly, it facilitates any future maintenance that may be required to maintain channel conditions suitable to the channel's function as a Municipal Drain. This is also part of the rationale behind the 7m wide low-elevation grassed shelf along the left-hand side of the channel.

APPENDIX E

Existing Hydrology / Hydraulics

Adam Fobert

From:	Bryan Willcott <bwillcott@jfsa.com></bwillcott@jfsa.com>
Sent:	March-26-10 9:58 AM
То:	spichette@dsel.ca; Adam Fobert; Conway, Darlene
Cc:	jfsabourin@jfsa.com
Subject:	P709(02) Richmond 2,5, 10, 25 Year WSEL Results
Attachments:	Spring Storm WSEL Table.pdf; Summer Storm WSEL Table.pdf; Village of Richmond (2,
	5, 10, 25, 100 Yr WSEL).pdf

Good day,

Please find the attached plan showing water surface elevations for the 2, 5, 10, 25 and 100 year Spring and Summer events. WSEL tables are also attached.

The calculated flows shown on the attached tables were prepared based upon the same methodology used for the 2009 Richmond Floodplain Mapping study, taking into consideration the timing of peak flows of the Van Gaal drain and Jock River. The calculated WSELs were determined using the 2009 Richmond Floodplain HEC-RAS spring and summer models, which do not include features including the berm that has been constructed upstream of Perth Street or any modification to Fortune Street culvert.

Best Regards,

Bryan P. Willcott, B.Eng. Water Resources EIT



J.F. Sabourin and Associates Inc. 52 Springbrook Drive, Ottawa, ON K2S 1B9 tel.: 613.836.3884 ext. 223, fax: 613.836.0332, <u>www.jfsa.com</u>

Maximum Spring Scenario Results					
Return	D .		River	Q Total	W.S. Elev
Period	River	Reach	Station	(m ³ /s)	(m)
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3165	2.59	96.65
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3165	3.31	96.70
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3165	3.79	96.72
25 vear	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3165	4.37	96.74
100 vear	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3165	5.24	96.75
,					
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3149	2.59	96.60
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3149	3.31	96.64
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3149	3.79	96.66
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3149	4.37	96.68
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3149	5.24	96.72
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3086	2.59	96.50
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3086	3.31	96.55
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3086	3.79	96.58
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3086	4.37	96.60
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3086	5.24	96.64
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3016	2.59	96.46
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3016	3.31	96.52
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3016	3.79	96.54
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3016	4.37	96.56
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3016	5.24	96.61
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2980	2.59	96.42
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2980	3.31	96.49
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2980	3.79	96.51
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2980	4.37	96.54
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2980	5.24	96.57
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2851	2.59	96.21
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2851	3.31	96.30
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2851	3.79	96.34
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2851	4.37	96.38
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2851	5.24	96.42
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2808	2.59	96.18
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2808	3.31	96.27
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2808	3.79	96.31
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2808	4.37	96.35
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2808	5.24	96.39
		-			
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2658	2.59	96.11
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2658	3.31	96.19
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2658	3.79	96.22
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2658	4.37	96.25
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2658	5.24	96.29

Maximum Spring Scenario Results					
Return	.		River	Q Total	W.S. Elev
Period	River	Reach	Station	(m^{3}/s)	<i>(m</i>)
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2554	4.13	96.10
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2554	5.24	96.18
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2554	6.01	96.21
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2554	6.94	96.24
100 vear	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2554	8.32	96.28
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2478	4.13	96.03
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2478	5.24	96.09
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2478	6.01	96.11
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2478	6.94	96.13
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2478	8.32	96.16
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2157	4.13	95.19
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2157	5.24	95.32
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2157	6.01	95.38
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2157	6.94	95.43
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2157	8.32	95.48
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2076	5.00	95.03
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2076	6.32	95.13
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2076	7.24	95.17
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2076	8.38	95.21
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2076	10.81	95.27
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1974	5.00	94.89
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1974	6.32	94.97
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1974	7.24	95.02
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1974	8.38	95.06
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1974	10.81	95.11
					-
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1922	5.00	94.82
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1922	6.32	94.89
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1922	7.24	94.92
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1922	8.38	94.95
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1922	10.81	94.99
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1833	5.00	94.71
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1833	6.32	94.76
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1833	7.24	94.78
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1833	8.38	94.80
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1833	10.81	94.85
			· · · ·	_	
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1796	5.00	94.68
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1796	6.32	94.73
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1796	7.24	94.75
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1796	8.38	94.77
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1796	10.81	94.81

Maximum Spring Scenario Results					
Return	D .	- /	River	Q Total	W.S. Elev
Period	River	Reach	Station	(m^{3}/s)	<i>(m</i>)
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1735	5.00	94.64
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1735	6.32	94.68
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1735	7.24	94.69
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1735	8.38	94.70
100 vear	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1735	10.81	94.72
					• =
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1728	5.00	94.64
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1728	6.32	94.67
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1728	7.24	94.68
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1728	8.38	94.68
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1728	10.81	94.69
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,					
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1717	5.00	94.42
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1717	6.32	94.55
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1717	7.24	94.59
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1717	8.38	94.63
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1717	10.81	94.69
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1615	5.00	94.29
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1615	6.32	94.40
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1615	7.24	94.46
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1615	8.38	94.52
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1615	10.81	94.61
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1555	5.00	94.22
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1555	6.32	94.33
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1555	7.24	94.39
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1555	8.38	94.45
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1555	10.81	94.55
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1488	5.00	94.16
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1488	6.32	94.26
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1488	7.24	94.31
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1488	8.38	94.36
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1488	10.81	94.45
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1416	5.00	94.02
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1416	6.32	94.10
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1416	7.24	94.17
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1416	8.38	94.25
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1416	10.81	94.41
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1400	5.00	94.02
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1400	6.32	94.11
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1400	7.24	94.16
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1400	8.38	94.23
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1400	10.81	94.36

Maximum Spring Scenario Results					
Return	D .		River	Q Total	W.S. Elev
Period	River	Reach	Station	(m^{3}/s)	<i>(m</i>)
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1364	5.00	93.99
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1364	6.32	94.06
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1364	7.24	94.11
25 vear	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1364	8.38	94.18
100 vear	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1364	10.81	94.31
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1340	5.79	93.96
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1340	7.32	94.01
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1340	8.34	94.05
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1340	9.65	94.10
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1340	11.62	94.21
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1312	6.08	93.94
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1312	7.69	93.98
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1312	8.76	94.01
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1312	10.15	94.04
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1312	3.44	94.13
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1302	6.08	93.91
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1302	7.69	93.97
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1302	8.76	94.00
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1302	10.15	94.04
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1302	12.20	94.15
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1268	6.08	93.87
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1268	7.69	93.93
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1268	8.76	93.96
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1268	10.15	94.00
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1268	12.20	94.14
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1212	6.08	93.78
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1212	7.69	93.85
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1212	8.76	93.89
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1212	10.15	93.94
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1212	3.44	94.12
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1169	6.08	93.70
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1169	7.69	93.76
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1169	8.76	93.80
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1169	10.15	93.87
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1169	3.44	94.12
		- · ·			a = ==
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1091	6.08	93.57
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1091	7.69	93.64
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1091	8.76	93.69
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1091	10.15	93.78
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1091	3.44	94.12

Maximum Spring Scenario Results					
Return	D .		River	Q Total	W.S. Elev
Period	River	Reach	Station	(m ³ /s)	(m)
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1002	6.08	93.38
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1002	7.69	93.49
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1002	8.76	93.59
25 vear	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1002	10.15	93.71
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1002	3.44	94.12
y					
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	961	6.08	93.28
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	961	7.69	93.41
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	961	8.76	93.52
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	961	10.15	93.69
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	961	3.44	94.11
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	910	6.08	93.22
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	910	7.69	93.38
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	910	8.76	93.49
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	910	10.15	93.68
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	910	3.44	94.11
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	840	6.08	93.18
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	840	7.69	93.35
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	840	8.76	93.48
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	840	10.15	93.67
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	840	3.44	94.11
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	746	7.86	93.17
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	746	9.97	93.35
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	746	11.34	93.48
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	746	13.11	93.67
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	746	4.06	94.12
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	705	7.86	93.14
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	705	9.97	93.34
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	705	11.34	93.47
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	705	13.11	93.66
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	705	4.06	94.11
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	668	7.86	93.05
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	668	9.97	93.28
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	668	11.34	93.42
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	668	13.11	93.63
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	668	4.06	94.11
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	666	7.86	92.64
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	666	9.97	92.83
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	666	11.34	93.01
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	666	3.31	93.43
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	666	4.06	94.10

	Maximum Spring Scenario Results				
Return	D .		River	Q Total	W.S. Elev
Period	River	Reach	Station	(m^{3}/s)	(m)
2 Year	Moore Drain	Reach 1	298	1.07	93.79
5 Year	Moore Drain	Reach 1	298	1.36	93.81
10 Year	Moore Drain	Reach 1	298	1.55	93.82
25 year	Moore Drain	Reach 1	298	1.78	93.83
100 year	Moore Drain	Reach 1	298	0.32	94.11
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,					
2 Year	Moore Drain	Reach 1	130	1.07	93.18
5 Year	Moore Drain	Reach 1	130	1.36	93.36
10 Year	Moore Drain	Reach 1	130	1.55	93.48
25 year	Moore Drain	Reach 1	130	1.78	93.67
100 year	Moore Drain	Reach 1	130	0.32	94.11
2 Year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	705	1.57	97.24
5 Year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	705	2.00	97.39
10 Year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	705	2.29	97.49
25 year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	705	2.64	97.60
100 year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	705	3.17	97.79
2 Year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	664	1.57	97.26
5 Year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	664	2.00	97.40
10 Year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	664	2.29	97.49
25 year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	664	2.64	97.61
100 year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	664	3.17	97.79
2 Year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	635	1.57	97.19
5 Year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	635	2.00	97.31
10 Year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	635	2.29	97.40
25 year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	635	2.64	97.50
100 year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	635	3.17	97.67
2 Year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	622	1.57	97.08
5 Year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	622	2.00	97.14
10 Year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	622	2.29	97.18
25 year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	622	2.64	97.21
100 year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	622	3.17	97.26
2 Year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	602	1.57	97.07
5 Year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	602	2.00	97.14
10 Year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	602	2.29	97.17
25 year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	602	2.64	97.22
100 year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	602	3.17	97.27
2 Year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	322	1.57	96.54
5 Year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	322	2.00	96.58
10 Year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	322	2.29	96.61
25 year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	322	2.64	96.65
100 year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	322	3.17	96.71

	Maximum Spring Scenario Results					
Return Period	River	Reach	River Station	Q Total (m ³ /s)	W.S. Elev (m)	
2 Year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	275	1.57	96.31	
5 Year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	275	2.00	96.39	
10 Year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	275	2.29	96.44	
25 year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	275	2.64	96.49	
100 year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	275	3.17	96.56	
2 Year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	30	1.57	96.12	
5 Year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	30	2.00	96.19	
10 Year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	30	2.29	96.22	
25 year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	30	2.64	96.26	
100 year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	30	3.17	96.29	

	Maximum Summer Scenario Results				
Return	Díssa	Deset	River	Q Total	W.S. Elev
Period	River	Reach	Station	(m^{3}/s)	(m)
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3165	1.33	96.50
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3165	2.15	96.61
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3165	2.74	96.67
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3165	3.51	96.72
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3165	4.81	96.75
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3149	1.33	96.46
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3149	2.15	96.57
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3149	2.74	96.62
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3149	3.51	96.66
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3149	4.81	96.72
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3086	1.33	96.35
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3086	2.15	96.47
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3086	2.74	96.53
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3086	3.51	96.58
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3086	4.81	96.65
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3016	1.33	96.26
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3016	2.15	96.41
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3016	2.74	96.48
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3016	3.51	96.54
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3016	4.81	96.61
0.14			0000	4.00	00.04
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2980	1.33	96.21
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2980	2.15	96.36
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2980	2.74	96.44
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2980	3.51	96.51
100 year	van Gaai Drain	Reach 3	2980	4.81	96.57
2 Veer	Van Caal Drain	Deech 2	2054	1 00	05.00
Z fear	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2001	1.33	95.90
10 Voor	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2001	2.10	90.10
	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2001	2.74	90.21
20 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2001	3.01 / 81	90.31
Too year	Vali Gaai Dialii	Reach 5	2001	4.01	30.41
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2808	1 33	95.86
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2808	2 15	96.00
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2808	2.10	96.18
25 vear	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2808	3.51	96.28
100 vear	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2808	4.81	96.38
			_000		55.00
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2658	1.33	95.78
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2658	2.15	95.99
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2658	2.74	96.10
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2658	3.51	96.19
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2658	4.81	96.28

Maximum Summer Scenario Results					
Return	Diver	Deeek	River	Q Total	W.S. Elev
Period	River	Reach	Station	(m ³ /s)	(m)
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2554	1.95	95.77
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2554	3.20	95.98
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2554	4.11	96.09
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2554	5.28	96.18
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2554	7.27	96.27
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2478	1.95	95.72
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2478	3.20	95.92
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2478	4.11	96.02
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2478	5.28	96.09
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2478	7.27	96.16
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2157	1.95	94.93
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2157	3.20	95.12
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2157	4.11	95.25
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2157	5.28	95.37
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2157	7.27	65.47
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2076	2.80	94.74
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2076	4.41	94.97
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2076	5.53	95.08
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2076	6.96	95.17
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2076	9.54	95.26
0.1/0.00			4074	0.00	04.04
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1974	2.80	94.61
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1974	4.41	94.84
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1974	5.53	94.93
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1974	0.90	95.01
100 year	Van Gaar Drain	Reach 2	1974	9.04	95.10
2 Voor	Van Gaal Drain	Poach 2	1022	2.80	04 55
5 Voor	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1922	2.00	94.55
10 Vear	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1922	5.53	94.79
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1922	6.96	94.00
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1922	9.54	94.92
100 year	Van Gaar Diam	Reach Z	1022	0.04	54.55
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1833	2 80	94 47
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1833	4.41	94 69
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1833	5.53	94.74
25 vear	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1833	6.96	94.78
100 vear	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1833	9.54	94.85
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1796	2.80	94.44
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1796	4.41	94.66
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1796	5.53	94.71
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1796	6.96	94.74
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1796	9.54	94.80

Maximum Summer Scenario Results					
Return	n River Reach River Q Total W.S. E				W.S. Elev
Period	River	Reach	Station	(m ³ /s)	(<i>m</i>)
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1735	2.80	94.41
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1735	4.41	94.63
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1735	5.53	94.67
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1735	6.96	94.68
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1735	9.54	94.71
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1728	2.80	94.41
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1728	4.41	94.62
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1728	5.53	94.66
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1728	6.96	94.67
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1728	9.54	94.69
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1717	2.80	94.15
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1717	4.41	94.37
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1717	5.53	94.49
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1717	6.96	94.59
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1717	9.54	94.69
			-		
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1615	2.80	94.04
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1615	4.41	94.24
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1615	5.53	94.36
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1615	6.96	94.46
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1615	9.54	94.60
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1555	2.80	93.99
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1555	4.41	94.19
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1555	5.53	94.29
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1555	6.96	94.40
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1555	9.54	94.53
0.1/10.07		Deesk 0	4 4 0 0	0.00	00.00
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1488	2.80	93.96
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1488	4.41	94.13
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1488	5.53	94.23
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1400	0.96	94.33
TOU year	van Gaar Drain	Reach 2	1400	9.04	94.40
2 Voor	Van Gaal Drain	Popph 2	1/16	2.80	02.80
5 Voor	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1410	2.80	93.09
10 Vear	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1/16	5.52	94.03 0/ 10
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1/16	6.06	94.10 0/ 20
20 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1/16	0.90	94.20 0/ 20
TOU year	van Gaar Dialli	INCOULT Z	1410	9.04	34.03
2 Voor	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1400	2 80	03 80
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1400	<u>2.00</u>	94.03
10 Vear	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1400	5 52	9 <u>4</u> 11
25 vear	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1400	6.96	94 20
100 vear	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1400	9.54	94.36
	. all ead brain			0.01	0.100

	Maximum Summer Scenario Results				
Return	Divor	Papah	River	Q Total	W.S. Elev
Period	nivei	Reduit	Station	(m ³ /s)	<i>(m</i>)
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1364	2.80	93.87
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1364	4.41	94.00
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1364	5.53	94.07
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1364	6.96	94.16
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1364	9.54	94.31
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1340	3.64	93.85
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1340	5.57	93.97
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1340	6.92	94.03
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1340	8.58	94.09
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1340	11.43	94.21
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1312	3.87	93.84
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1312	5.93	93.95
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1312	7.38	94.00
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1312	9.17	94.05
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1312	12.20	94.14
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1302	3.87	93.81
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1302	5.93	93.92
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1302	7.38	93.98
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1302	9.17	94.04
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1302	12.20	94.15
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1268	3.87	93.75
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1268	5.93	93.88
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1268	7.38	93.94
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1268	9.17	94.01
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1268	12.20	94.14
			1010		00.01
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1212	3.87	93.61
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1212	5.93	93.78
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1212	7.38	93.85
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1212	9.17	93.93
100 year	van Gaai Drain	Reach 2	1212	12.20	94.10
	Van Caal Drain	Deeeb 2	1160	2.07	02.52
Z Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1169	3.87	93.53
10 Voor	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1109	0.93 7.20	33.70 02.77
	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1169	0.17	30.11 02.05
	Van Gaal Dialli	Reach 2	1160	9.17	93.03
TOU year	van Gaar Dialfi	Reach Z	1109	12.20	34.04
2 Voor	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1001	2 27	03 10
5 Voor	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1091	5.07	93.40 02 57
10 Voor	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1091	J.93 7 39	93.07 03.65
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1091	0.17	93.00
20 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1001	12.17	93.75
i oo year	van Gaai Diaili	INCOULT 2	1091	12.20	93.91

	Maximum Summer Scenario Results				
Return	Divor	Deceb	River	Q Total	W.S. Elev
Period	River	Reach	Station	(m ³ /s)	(m)
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1002	3.87	93.21
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1002	5.93	93.39
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1002	7.38	93.50
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1002	9.17	93.65
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1002	12.20	93.92
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	961	3.87	93.14
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	961	5.93	93.31
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	961	7.38	93.44
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	961	9.17	93.61
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	961	12.20	93.92
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	910	3.87	93.07
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	910	5.93	93.25
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	910	7.38	93.40
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	910	9.17	93.59
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	910	12.20	93.91
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	840	3.87	93.00
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	840	5.93	93.22
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	840	7.38	93.38
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	840	9.17	93.58
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	840	12.20	93.91
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	746	5.36	92.96
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	746	8.09	93.20
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	746	10.02	93.37
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	746	12.40	93.57
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	746	16.38	93.90
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	705	5.36	92.88
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	705	8.09	93.16
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	705	10.02	93.34
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	705	12.40	93.55
100 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	705	16.38	93.89
<u> </u>					00.70
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	668	5.36	92.72
5 Year	van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	668	8.09	93.04
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	668	10.02	93.25
25 year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	668	12.40	93.48
100 year	van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	668	16.38	93.84
0.1/		Death	000	E 00	00.40
2 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	666	5.36	92.48
5 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	666	8.09	92.66
10 Year	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	666	10.02	92.80
25 year	van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	666	12.40	93.03
100 year	van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	666	16.38	93.32

Maximum Summer Scenario Results					
Return	Discret River Q Total W.S.			W.S. Elev	
Period	River	Reach	Station	(m ³ /s)	<i>(m</i>)
2 Year N	loore Drain	Reach 1	298	0.67	93.68
5 Year M	loore Drain	Reach 1	298	1.06	93.78
10 Year M	loore Drain	Reach 1	298	1.32	93.81
25 year N	loore Drain	Reach 1	298	1.64	93.83
100 year M	loore Drain	Reach 1	298	2.17	93.90
2 Year M	loore Drain	Reach 1	130	0.67	93.00
5 Year M	loore Drain	Reach 1	130	1.06	93.22
10 Year M	loore Drain	Reach 1	130	1.32	93.38
25 year N	loore Drain	Reach 1	130	1.64	93.58
100 year N	loore Drain	Reach 1	130	2.17	93.91
2 Year Jo	ys Road Trib	Reach 1	705	0.66	97.07
5 Year Jo	ys Road Trib	Reach 1	705	1.11	97.14
10 Year Jo	ys Road Trib	Reach 1	705	1.44	97.19
25 year Jo	ys Road Trib	Reach 1	705	1.87	97.35
100 year Jo	ys Road Trib	Reach 1	705	2.62	97.59
				-	
2 Year Jo	ys Road Trib	Reach 1	664	0.66	96.97
5 Year Jo	ys Road Trib	Reach 1	664	1.11	97.12
10 Year Jo	ys Road Trib	Reach 1	664	1.44	97.22
25 year Jo	ys Road Trib	Reach 1	664	1.87	97.36
100 year Jo	ys Road Trib	Reach 1	664	2.62	97.60
					<u> </u>
2 Year Jo	ys Road Trib	Reach 1	635	0.66	96.94
5 Year Jo	ys Road Trib	Reach 1	635	1.11	97.07
10 Year Jo	ys Road Trib	Reach 1	635	1.44	97.16
25 year Jo	ys Road Trib	Reach 1	635	1.87	97.28
100 year Jo	ys Road Trib	Reach 1	635	2.62	97.50
		Deceb 1	<u></u>	0.00	00.01
Z Year Jo	ys Road Trib	Reach 1	622	0.66	96.91
5 Year Jo	ys Road Trib	Reach 1	622	1.11	97.00
10 real Jo	ys Road Trib	Reach 1	622	1.44	97.00
25 year Jo	ys Road Trib	Reach 1	622	1.07	97.13
TOU year JU	ys Ruau Tho	Reach	022	2.02	97.21
2 Vear lo	ve Road Trib	Reach 1	602	0.66	06.90
5 Year Io	vs Road Trib	Reach 1	602	1 11	90.90
10 Year Io	vs Road Trib	Reach 1	602	1 44	97.05
25 year	vs Road Trib	Reach 1	602	1.77	97 12
100 year	vs Road Trib	Reach 1	602	2.62	97.12
			002	2.02	01.21
2 Year .lo	vs Road Trib	Reach 1	322	0.66	96.41
5 Year	vs Road Trib	Reach 1	322	1.11	96.49
10 Year .lo	vs Road Trib	Reach 1	322	1.44	96.53
25 year Jo					00.00
	ys Road Trib	Reach 1	322	1.87	96.57

Maximum Summer Scenario Results					
Return Period	River	Reach	River Station	Q Total (m ³ /s)	W.S. Elev (m)
2 Year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	275	0.66	96.18
5 Year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	275	1.11	96.23
10 Year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	275	1.44	96.28
25 year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	275	1.87	96.37
100 year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	275	2.62	96.50
2 Year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	30	0.66	95.78
5 Year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	30	1.11	96.00
10 Year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	30	1.44	96.11
25 year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	30	1.87	96.20
100 year	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	30	2.62	96.29



LEGEND	° °					
10	0 Yr Floodlines					
Cro	oss Section Locations					
Cedarstone Subdivision						
Wa	ater Surface Elevation	Tables				
XS ID	XX WSEI					
Return	(Summer)	(Spring)				
Period	(m)	(m)				
2 year	XXX	XXX				
5 year	XXX	XXX				
10 year		XXX				
100 vear						
roo your						
SCALE : 1:5	5000					
			-			
0 100	200 300) 400 5	00 m			
	٨					
	$\langle \mathbf{I} \rangle$					
J.F. 3	Sabourin & A	ssociates Ir	ηс.			
WATI	ER RESOURCES AND ENVIRG	DNMENTAL CONSULTANT 836-3884	S			
0	GATINEAU (819)	243-6858				
CLIENT :						
			N			
	IAI,I <i>F</i>	AIVI Y)			
	hoi	nes	8			
PROJECT ·						
	al and Aub	okla Drain				
5 10 25 and 100 Vr MCE						
Э, IU,	20, and 10		L			
CB 03/2 D. BY D/	ATE DESCRIPTIO	KEVIEW	B Y CB			
	for the 2 E	10 25 -	nd			
	Vear Desig	, 1∪, ∠⊃, a in <u>Storme</u>	ПÜ			
100						
		DESIGNED: DRAWN: CB				
		VERIFIED: BW				
RAWING REF.		APPROVED: JFS	PROJECT No			

Mar/10 709(02)
APPENDIX F

Hydrogeology



TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM

DATE August 11, 2011

PROJECT No. 08-1122-0078 (9600)

TO Ms. Susan Murphy Mattamy Homes

FROM Dale Holtze Brian Byerley

GROUNDWATER MONITORING PROGRAM PROPOSED MATTAMY HOMES DEVELOPMENT RICHMOND (OTTAWA), ONTARIO EMAIL Dale_Holtze@Golder.com Brian_Byerley@Golder.com

This memo presents the results of a one year groundwater monitoring program conducted by Golder Associates Ltd. (Golder) at the site of the proposed Mattamy Homes (Mattamy) development in the Village of Richmond (in the City of Ottawa), Ontario (see Key Plan: Figure 1). The results of previous hydrogeological investigation conducted at the site by Golder are discussed in the Technical Memorandum entitled: Hydrogeological Investigation Proposed Mattamy Homes Development Richmond (Ottawa), Ontario, dated July 16, 2010, which includes a summary of the drilling of eight boreholes equipped with monitoring and/or multi-level monitoring wells, description of subsurface conditions and hydraulic conductivity testing performed in all groundwater monitors.

Monitoring Program

The groundwater monitoring program included monthly groundwater level measurements from April 2010 to April 2011 at monitoring wells MW10-1, MW10-2, MW10-3, MW10-4, MW10-5, MW10-6, MW10-7 and MW10-8, located as shown on Figure 2. Groundwater monitor MW10-5 was observed to be damaged in June 2010 (MW10-5A) and July 2010 (MW10-5B); therefore groundwater levels are not available for the remainder of the monitoring program at this location.

Groundwater levels at monitor MW10-6A (bedrock) was measured continuously (two hour interval) using a transducer from March 19 to April 21, 2011 in order to assess the hydrogeological response of the shallow overburden and bedrock aquifers related to the spring melt and precipitation recharge events. Average daily climatic data was obtained from Environment Canada database at the Ottawa-Macdonald Cartier International Airport. Local rain gauge data for the period between August 1 to October 3, 2010, was also provided by the City of Ottawa. Monitor MW10-6B (overburden) was frozen during that time period and thus could not provide useful data.

Results

Monthly groundwater levels and description of the subsurface conditions at each monitoring well are presented in Table 1. Groundwater levels are subject to seasonal fluctuations ranging from 0.5 metres (MW10-4A) to 1.8 metres (MW10-6B) in overburden monitoring wells (see Figures 2 and 3) and 0.8 metres (MW10-3A) to



1.3 metres (MW10-8) in bedrock monitoring wells (see Figure 4). The groundwater levels generally vary from less than 0.1 to 2 metres below ground surface, with the exception of bedrock monitor MW10-3A where water levels were up to 0.2 metres above ground surface, indicating artesian conditions in the upper bedrock. Continuous groundwater level measurements at monitors MW10-6A (bedrock) and MW10-6B (overburden) in Spring 2011 are presented in Figure 5.

Discussion

Groundwater levels are subject to seasonal variability: minimum groundwater levels are encountered in the summer and winter months and maximum levels occur in spring and fall.

The greatest fluctuations in groundwater levels occurred at MW10-7 and MW10-6B (overburden monitors) and at MW10-6A and MW10-8 (bedrock monitors). Shallow groundwater levels are influenced significantly by infiltration, which vary according to precipitation, snowmelt and evapotranspiration.

The horizontal groundwater flow direction within the overburden is interpreted to be controlled by local surface water drainage features (i.e. Jock River, drains and ditches).

Multi-level monitors installed within the overburden and bedrock were used to assess vertical hydraulic gradients. In general, the hydraulic gradients indicated groundwater was observed to consistent upward flow from the bedrock to the overburden at MW10-3 and downward at MW10-6.

If you have any questions regarding the content of this memo, please contact the undersigned.

Yours truly,

GOLDER ASSOCIATES LTD.

alle Halfe

Dale Holtze, B.Sc., GIT. Environmental Consultant

Brian Byerley, M.Sc., P.Eng.
 Senior Hydrogeologist/Associate

DH/BTB/sg

n:\active\2008\1122 - environmental\08-1122-0078 mattamy richmond\phase 9600\mem 11aug11 groundwater levels.docx

Attachments:

Table 1 – Groundwater Monitoring Data

Figure 1: Key Plan

Figure 2: Spring 2011 Groundwater Levels

Figure 3: Groundwater Levels in Overburden Monitoring Wells April 2010 to April 2011

Figure 4: Groundwater Levels in Bedrock Monitoring Wells April 2010 to April 2011

Figure 5: Continuous Measurements of Groundwater Levels at MW10-6 March and April 2011



Ms. Susan Murphy Mattamy Homes

	Ground	Screen				Ground	water Leve	l (mbgs)		
Well ID	Surface Elevation (geodetic)	depth (middle of screen) (mbgs)	Soil/rock at depth of well screen	Apr.29 & 30, 2010	May 14, 2010	Jun.16, 2010	Jul. 15, 2010	Aug. 20, 2011	Sept. 16, 2010	Oct. 1, 2010
MW10-1A	94.55	1.11	Grey silty Clay	0.73	0.78	0.80	0.81	0.78	0.81	0.61
MW10-1B	94.55	1.21	Grey brown silty Clay (weathered crust)	0.74	0.77	0.80	0.79	0.79	0.81	0.62
MW10-2	94.90	2.12	Grey brown silty find Sand	0.73	0.67	0.86	0.66	0.96	0.94	0.17
MW10-3A	94.0	4.55	Fresh grey Dolomite	0.22	0.26	0.58	0.28	0.23	0.25	-0.09 ¹
MW10-3B	94.0	2.12	Grey brown silty Clay (weathered crust)/grey brown fine sandy Silt	0.82	0.81	0.87	0.79	0.87	0.85	0.44
MW10-4A	94.34	3.03	Grey brown fine sandy Silt	0.48	0.47	0.56	0.49	0.64	0.62	0.11
MW10-4B	94.34	1.21	Grey brown silty Clay (weathered crust)	0.47	0.49	0.56	0.49	0.64	0.62	0.08
MW10-5A	95.65	3.03	Glacial Till	0.82	0.79	²	²	²	²	²
MW10-5B	95.65	1.21	Grey brown silty find Sand	0.89	0.88	1.33	²	 2	2	2
MW10-6A	95.67	4.24	Fresh grey Dolomite	1.38	1.38	1.98	1.34	1.31	1.52	0.66
MW10-6B	95.67	1.52	Grey brown silty Sand trace Clay	1.29	1.28	1.84	1.59	1.12	1.55	0.31
MW10-7	95.36	2.42	Grey brown silty fine Sand	0.51	0.49	1.09	0.98	0.38	0.47	0.03
MW10-8	93.32	2.42	Weathered to fresh grey Dolomite	1.02	1.15	1.52	1.39	1.24	1.29	0.23

D-4 . - -....



*	Ground	Screen				Ground	water Leve	el (mbgs)		
Well ID	Surface Elevation (geodetic)	depth (middle of screen) (mbgs)	Soil/rock at depth of well screen	Oct 18, 2010	Nov. 19, 2010	Dec. 15, 2010	Jan. 18, 2011	Feb. 14, 2011	Mar. 15, 2011	Apr. 15, 2011
MW10-1A	94.55	1.11	Grey silty Clay	0.77	0.72	0.78	1.00	1.21	0.89	0.64
MW10-1B	94.55	1.21	Grey brown silty Clay (weathered crust)	0.75	0.72	0.78	0.97	1.17	0.90	0.66
MW10-2	94.90	2.12	Grey brown silty find Sand	0.59	0.34	0.55	0.78	0.89	0.56	0.13
MW10-3A	94.0	4.55	Fresh grey Dolomite	0.08	-0.06 ¹	-3	-3	3	-3	-0.21 ¹
MW10-3B	94.0	2.12	Grey brown silty Clay (weathered crust)/grey brown fine sandy Silt	0.72	0.56	0.73	0.90	0.77	0.69	0.29
MW10-4A	94.34	3.03	Grey brown fine sandy Silt	0.47	0.27	0.44	0.53	0.64	0.41	0.21
MW10-4B	94.34	1.21	Grey brown silty Clay (weathered crust)	0.46	0.25	0.44	0.56	0.65	- ³	0.26
MW10-5A	95.65	3.03	Glacial Till	²	²	2	2	²	- ²	- ²
MW10-5B	95.65	1.21	Grey brown silty find Sand	²	_ ²	_ ²	_2	_2	- ²	_ ²
MW10-6A	95.67	4.24	Fresh grey Dolomite	0.84	0.67	0.68	1.22	1.44	0.56	0.46
MW10-6B	95.67	1.52	Grey brown silty Sand trace Clay	0.62	0.26	0.50	1.16	1.42	_3	0.05
MW10-7	95.36	2.42	Grey brown silty fine Sand	0.06	0.04	0.03	3	3	3	0.02
MW10-8	93.32	2.42	Weathered to fresh grey Dolomite	0.31	0.26	0.27	0.80	0.81	3	0.19

Notes: ¹ Artesian conditions exist. Groundwater level above ground surface. ² Monitoring well MW 10-5 A and B vandalized and groundwater levels not available after May 14, 2010. ³ Groundwater in monitoring well frozen. Depth to groundwater level could not be measured.







LEGEND

MONITORING WELL (CURRENT INVESTIGATION) **+** (0.64 mbgs) - SPRING 2011 GROUNDWATER LEVEL, metres below ground surface

- MAJOR ROAD
- LOCAL ROAD
- RAILWAY
- RICHMOND VILLAGE BOUNDARY
- WATERCOURSE

SURFACE WATER

- 95.34 SPRING 2011 GROUNDWATER ELEVATION IN OVERBURDEN
- 95.34 SPRING 2011 GROUNDWATER ELEVATION IN BEDROCK

NOTE

THIS FIGURE IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE ACCOMPANYING GOLDER ASSOCIATES LTD. TECHNICAL MEMO NO. 08-1122-0078 PHASE 9600

REFERENCE

DIGITAL DATA PROVIDED BY ONTARIO MINISTRY OF NATURAL RESOURCES, USED UNDER LICENSE © QUEEN'S PRINTER OF ONTARIO, 2008. WATER WELLS PROVIDED BY ONTARIO MINISTRY OF ENVIRONMENT, 2006. PROJECTION: TRANSVERSE MERCATOR DATUM: NAD 83 COORDINATE SYSTEM: UTM ZONE 18



PROJECT

MATTAMY HOMES VILLAGE OF RICHMOND

TITLE

SPRING 2011 GROUNDWATER LEVELS



PROJECT No. 08-1122-0078 SCALE AS SHOWN REV. 0
 DESIGN
 DH
 10 Aug. 2011

 GIS
 BR
 10 Aug. 2011

 CHECK
 DH
 10 Aug. 2011

 REVIEW
 JPAO
 11 Aug. 2011

FIGURE 2









TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM

DATE July 9, 2019

Project No. 1522173

EMAIL ccooke@golder.com

TO Andrew Finnson Caivan Communities

CC Jocelyn Chandler, J.F. Sabourin and Associates Inc.; Kevin Murphy, DSEL

FROM Caitlin Cooke

GROUNDWATER MONITORING RESULTS RICHMOND VILLAGE PHASE I DEVELOPMENT (FOX RUN) RICHMOND (OTTAWA), ONTARIO

This memo provides the most recent results of the groundwater monitoring program for Caivan Communities Richmond Phase I development (Fox Run) in Ottawa, Ottawa. The groundwater monitoring program was developed to comply with Condition 11 of the Draft Conditions of Approval for Richmond Village Phase I. Condition 11 includes the following description of the required groundwater monitoring program:

Following the issuance of building permits, for the first phase of the first subdivision, the owner shall install monitoring wells at locations satisfactory to the City in order to verify that the sustained ground water level is at or lower than the location of the underside of footings. Reports on the levels in the monitoring wells shall be to the satisfaction of the General Manager, Planning and Growth Management.

If required, based upon the monitored results, the Owner's professional engineers shall provide recommendations to the Owner and the City for any revisions to the approved Master Drainage Plan and any required reports.

The intent of the groundwater monitoring is to collect post-development groundwater elevations across the site and to compare to the residence under-side of footing (USF) elevations, to determine if the design of the sub-surface drainage is functioning as intended.

Site Servicing Timeline

The installation of watermains and sewers along Noriker Court, Meynell Road, Pelham Crescent and Cantle Crescent occurred between April and July 2018. The installation of watermains and sewers along Equitation Circle occurred in September and October 2018. Excavation of the stormwater management pond commenced at the end of May 2018.

Groundwater Monitoring Program

The groundwater monitoring program is being conducted at 6 groundwater monitoring locations indicated on Figure 1. The borehole logs and well installation details for each of the monitors are attached. The monitoring well screen for 16-22 was installed into the silt underlying the silty clay deposit (weathered crust). The screens for monitoring wells 18-01, 18-02, 18-03, 18-04 and 18-05 were installed across the bottom of the silty clay deposit and into the underlying clayey silt and sandy silt/silty sand deposits; monitoring well 18-01 also encountered the glacial till deposit.

The results of hydraulic conductivity testing of the groundwater monitoring wells found that the range in hydraulic conductivity of the screened deposits is approximately $3x10^{-8}$ to $2x10^{-6}$ m/s, with a geometric mean of approximately $2x10^{-7}$ m/s.

A pressure transducer was installed in monitoring well 16-22 on April 24, 2018. Pressure transducers were installed in monitoring wells 18-01, 18-02, 18-03, 18-04 and 18-05 on November 23, 2018. The pressure transducers were programed to measure and record water pressure at one hour intervals. A barometric transducer is also located on-site, and records barometric pressure at one hour intervals.

Manual groundwater level measurements were obtained at all six monitoring wells on a monthly basis between October 2018 and May 2019. Transducer data was also downloaded on the dates of the manual measurements. Note that a manual groundwater level measurement was not obtained at 16-22 on February 27, 2019 since the lock of the protective casing had seized.

The attached Figures 2 to 7 provide the currently available groundwater elevation monitoring data. On each plot the USF elevation for the closest residential lot to each monitoring well, and the elevation of the springline of the storm sewer installed in the adjacent roadway are indicated. Daily precipitation, as recorded by Environment Canada at the Ottawa International Airport, is included on Figures 2 to 7.

Results

Figure 2 for monitoring well 16-22 shows that the highest groundwater elevations were recorded during the spring freshet in April 2018. Groundwater elevations had a declining trend through the summer of 2018 and were influenced by precipitation events. An increasing trend was noted from September to December 2018. In early 2019, groundwater elevations dropped to about 92.2 metres and remained stable, showing little influence from precipitation events while the ground was frozen. At the beginning of the melt period in mid-March 2019, groundwater elevations again rose through the spring freshet until the latter part of April 2019 but did not reach the highest recorded value from April 2018. A decline in groundwater elevations was again noted following the spring freshet. The maximum groundwater elevation recorded during the 2019 spring freshet was 93.37 metres, only 0.01 metres above the USF of the nearest lot (93.36 metres), for a period of 11 hours. This monitoring well was located within the basement footprint of a house, and was abandoned, in accordance with Ontario Regulation 903, on May 28, 2019 prior to construction of the house foundation starting.

Similar trends in groundwater elevations were noted at monitoring wells 18-02, 18-03 and 18-05 (Figures 4, 5 and 7, respectively). The groundwater elevations at all three of these monitors were above the USF of their nearest residential lots by 0.22, 0.06 and 0.03 metres, respectively, for periods ranging from a few hours up to 3 days during the peak of the 2019 spring freshet. The groundwater elevation at 18-04 (Figure 6) has had similar trends to the other monitoring wells at the site but remained below the USF for the duration of the monitoring period.

The trends in groundwater elevations at 18-01 (Figure 3) differ from the other monitoring wells on site. Groundwater elevations have largely remained above the USF elevation of the nearest residential lot, only dropping below the USF during the winter. This monitoring well is located at the property boundary and is located farther from the closest storm sewer trench than the other monitoring wells. There are no storm sewers installed along the westernmost segment of Equitation Circle, along the property boundary, so any site-wide drainage effects along the storm sewer bedding could be limited in this area. Additionally, there is a nearby ditch running along the south side of Perth Street, and a ditch running along the boundary of the agricultural property to the west. The elevation of the invert of the Perth Street ditch is about 94.5 metres near 18-01. The groundwater elevation could potentially be affected by the proximity of the well to the drainage ditches.

Inspection of the data presented on Figures 2 to 7 reveals that precipitation events influence the shallow groundwater levels at the site.

Conclusions and Recommendations

The results of groundwater elevation monitoring at monitoring wells 16-22, 18-02, 18-03, 18-04 and 18-05 indicate that groundwater elevations in Phase 1 of the Fox Run development have largely been below the USF during the 2019 spring freshet, excepting for periods ranging from a few hours up to 3 days during the peak of the freshet. It is anticipated that groundwater elevation drawdown along the storm pipe bedding will continue to develop with time, and that the construction of the remainder of the stormwater pond and improvements to surface drainage that will occur as the site is developed will continue to reduce groundwater elevations across the site.

The trend in groundwater elevations at monitoring well 18-01 does not reflect the trend across the rest of Phase 1 of the development. This well is located farther from the storm sewer trenches than are monitoring wells 16-22, 18-02, 18-03, 18-04 and 18-05, and may be influenced by off-site drainage ditches. While monitoring well 18-01 may not be responding as desired, it is not located on or adjacent to a residential lot, and it is possible that groundwater elevations within the nearby residential lots may be influenced by sub-surface drainage, such that they are below the USFs.

Due to the uncertainty regarding lowering of groundwater elevations at residential lots in the area of monitoring well 18-01, it is recommended that a new monitoring well be constructed on the closest residential lot (Lot 36), so that the trend in groundwater elevations at the residential lots can be measured. The new well should be equipped with a pressure transducer and groundwater elevation at the new well should be recorded for a period of one month to determine if the groundwater elevation in the residential lots behaves similarly to the majority of the other monitors at the site. Following the one month period, a revised memorandum should be issued containing a discussion of the results of this additional monitoring and recommendations for further groundwater monitoring, if necessary.

Limitations

This memorandum was prepared for the exclusive use of Caivan Communities. The memorandum, which specifically includes all tables, figures and attachments, is based on data and information provided to Golder Associates Ltd. and is based solely on the conditions of the properties at the time of the work, supplemented by historical information and data obtained by Golder Associates Ltd. as described in this memorandum.

Golder Associates Ltd. has relied in good faith on all information provided and does not accept responsibility for any deficiency, misstatements, or inaccuracies contained in the memorandum as a result of omissions, misinterpretation, or fraudulent acts of the persons contacted or errors or omissions in the reviewed documentation.

The services performed, as described in this memorandum, were conducted in a manner consistent with that level of care and skill normally exercised by other members of the engineering and science professions currently practicing under similar conditions, subject to the time limits and financial and physical constraints applicable to the services.

Any use which a third party makes of this memorandum, or any reliance on, or decisions to be made based on it, are the responsibilities of such third parties. Golder Associates Ltd. accepts no responsibility for damages, if any, suffered by any third party as a result of decisions made or actions based on this memorandum.

The findings and conclusions of this memorandum are valid only as of the date of this memorandum. If new information is discovered in future work, including excavations, borings, or other studies, Golder Associates Ltd. should be requested to re-evaluate the conclusions of this memorandum, and to provide amendments as required.

Closure

We trust that this memo provides sufficient information for your present requirements. If you have any questions concerning this memo, please don't hesitate to contact the undersigned.

Yours truly,

Golder Associates Ltd.

	NAL GEO
	STO DE SCI
1	
$\langle \rangle$	CATTENNA, MARTIN COOKE
Caitlin Cooke, N	A.Sc., P.Geo. Ve PRACTISING MEMBER BER BERING MEMBER AND A BURNERS, P.Eng.
Hydrogeologist	1481 Senior Hydrogeologist/Principal
	ON THE 10
CAMC/BTB/sg	TAN U
n:\active\2015\3 proj\1522173	vavian western development lands richmond/14_reports and memos/groundwater monitoring/gw mon results/1522173-003-tm-rev 0 - groundwater monitoring 2019-07-09.docx
Attachments:	Important Information and Limitations of this Report
	Figure 4: Site Dian

ttachments: Important Information and Limitations of this Report Figure 1: Site Plan Figures 2-7: Groundwater Elevation and Precipitation Record of Borehole Logs Slug Test Analyses



IMPORTANT INFORMATION AND LIMITATIONS OF THIS REPORT

Standard of Care: Golder Associates Ltd. (Golder) has prepared this report in a manner consistent with that level of care and skill ordinarily exercised by members of the engineering and science professions currently practising under similar conditions in the jurisdiction in which the services are provided, subject to the time limits and physical constraints applicable to this report. No other warranty, expressed or implied is made.

Basis and Use of the Report: This report has been prepared for the specific site, design objective, development and purpose described to Golder by the Client, <u>Caivan Communities</u>. The factual data, interpretations and recommendations pertain to a specific project as described in this report and are not applicable to any other project or site location. Any change of site conditions, purpose, development plans or if the project is not initiated within eighteen months of the date of the report may alter the validity of the report. Golder can not be responsible for use of this report, or portions thereof, unless Golder is requested to review and, if necessary, revise the report.

The information, recommendations and opinions expressed in this report are for the sole benefit of the Client. No other party may use or rely on this report or any portion thereof without Golder's express written consent. If the report was prepared to be included for a specific permit application process, then the client may authorize the use of this report for such purpose by the regulatory agency as an Approved User for the specific and identified purpose of the applicable permit review process, provided this report is not noted to be a draft or preliminary report, and is specifically relevant to the project for which the application is being made. Any other use of this report by others is prohibited and is without responsibility to Golder. The report, all plans, data, drawings and other documents as well as all electronic media prepared by Golder are considered its professional work product and shall remain the copyright property of Golder, who authorizes only the Client and Approved Users to make copies of the report, but only in such quantities as are reasonably necessary for the use of the report or any portion thereof to any other party without the express written permission of Golder. The Client acknowledges that electronic media is susceptible to unauthorized modification, deterioration and incompatibility and therefore the Client can not rely upon the electronic media versions of Golder's report or other work products.

The report is of a summary nature and is not intended to stand alone without reference to the instructions given to Golder by the Client, communications between Golder and the Client, and to any other reports prepared by Golder for the Client relative to the specific site described in the report. In order to properly understand the suggestions, recommendations and opinions expressed in this report, reference must be made to the whole of the report. Golder can not be responsible for use of portions of the report without reference to the entire report.

Unless otherwise stated, the suggestions, recommendations and opinions given in this report are intended only for the guidance of the Client in the design of the specific project. The extent and detail of investigations, including the number of test holes, necessary to determine all of the relevant conditions which may affect construction costs would normally be greater than has been carried out for design purposes. Contractors bidding on, or undertaking the work, should rely on their own investigations, as well as their own interpretations of the factual data presented in the report, as to how subsurface conditions may affect their work, including but not limited to proposed construction techniques, schedule, safety and equipment capabilities.

Soil, Rock and Groundwater Conditions: Classification and identification of soils, rocks, and geologic units have been based on commonly accepted methods employed in the practice of geotechnical engineering and related disciplines. Classification and identification of the type and condition of these materials or units involves judgment, and boundaries between different soil, rock or geologic types or units may be transitional rather than abrupt. Accordingly, Golder does not warrant or guarantee the exactness of the descriptions.

IMPORTANT INFORMATION AND LIMITATIONS OF THIS REPORT (cont'd)

Special risks occur whenever engineering or related disciplines are applied to identify subsurface conditions and even a comprehensive investigation, sampling and testing program may fail to detect all or certain subsurface conditions. The environmental, geologic, geotechnical, geochemical and hydrogeologic conditions that Golder interprets to exist between and beyond sampling points may differ from those that actually exist. In addition to soil variability, fill of variable physical and chemical composition can be present over portions of the site or on adjacent properties. **The professional services retained for this project include only the geotechnical aspects of the subsurface conditions at the site, unless otherwise specifically stated and identified in the report.** The presence or implication(s) of possible surface and/or subsurface contamination resulting from previous activities or uses of the site and/or resulting from the introduction onto the site of materials from off-site sources are outside the terms of reference for this project and have not been investigated or addressed.

Soil and groundwater conditions shown in the factual data and described in the report are the observed conditions at the time of their determination or measurement. Unless otherwise noted, those conditions form the basis of the recommendations in the report. Groundwater conditions may vary between and beyond reported locations and can be affected by annual, seasonal and meteorological conditions. The condition of the soil, rock and groundwater may be significantly altered by construction activities (traffic, excavation, groundwater level lowering, pile driving, blasting, etc.) on the site or on adjacent sites. Excavation may expose the soils to changes due to wetting, drying or frost. Unless otherwise indicated the soil must be protected from these changes during construction.

Sample Disposal: Golder will dispose of all uncontaminated soil and/or rock samples 90 days following issue of this report or, upon written request of the Client, will store uncontaminated samples and materials at the Client's expense. In the event that actual contaminated soils, fills or groundwater are encountered or are inferred to be present, all contaminated samples shall remain the property and responsibility of the Client for proper disposal.

Follow-Up and Construction Services: All details of the design were not known at the time of submission of Golder's report. Golder should be retained to review the final design, project plans and documents prior to construction, to confirm that they are consistent with the intent of Golder's report.

During construction, Golder should be retained to perform sufficient and timely observations of encountered conditions to confirm and document that the subsurface conditions do not materially differ from those interpreted conditions considered in the preparation of Golder's report and to confirm and document that construction activities do not adversely affect the suggestions, recommendations and opinions contained in Golder's report. Adequate field review, observation and testing during construction are necessary for Golder to be able to provide letters of assurance, in accordance with the requirements of many regulatory authorities. In cases where this recommendation is not followed, Golder's responsibility is limited to interpreting accurately the information encountered at the borehole locations, at the time of their initial determination or measurement during the preparation of the Report.

Changed Conditions and Drainage: Where conditions encountered at the site differ significantly from those anticipated in this report, either due to natural variability of subsurface conditions or construction activities, it is a condition of this report that Golder be notified of any changes and be provided with an opportunity to review or revise the recommendations within this report. Recognition of changed soil and rock conditions requires experience and it is recommended that Golder be employed to visit the site with sufficient frequency to detect if conditions have changed significantly.

Drainage of subsurface water is commonly required either for temporary or permanent installations for the project. Improper design or construction of drainage or dewatering can have serious consequences. Golder takes no responsibility for the effects of drainage unless specifically involved in the detailed design and construction monitoring of the system.



25, mm IF THIS MEASUREMENT DOES NOT MATCH WHAT IS SHOWN, THE SHEET SIZE HAS BEEN MODIFIED FROM:













Record of Borehole Logs

Organic or Inorganic	Soil Group	Туре	of Soil	Gradation or Plasticity	Cu	$Cu = \frac{D_{60}}{D_{10}}$		$Cc = \frac{(D)}{D_{10}}$	$(xD_{60})^2$	Organic Content	USCS Group Symbol	Group Name
	<u> </u>	s of n is mm)	Gravels with ≤12%	Poorly Graded		<4		≤1 or ≥	:3		GP	GRAVEL
(ss)	5 mm	VELS / mas raction	fines (by mass)	Well Graded		≥4		1 to 3	3		GW	GRAVEL
, by ma	SOILS an 0.07	GRA 50% by oarse fr	Gravels with	Below A Line	Below A n/a			GM	SILTY GRAVEL			
GANIC it ≤30%	AINED arger th	(> cc larc	fines (by mass)	Above A Line			n/a			≤30%	GC	CLAYEY GRAVEL
INOR	SE-GR ss is la	of is	Sands with	Poorly Graded		<6		≤1 or ≩	≥3		SP	SAND
rganic (COARS by ma	VDS / mass raction n 4.75	fines (by mass)	Well Graded		≥6		1 to 3			SW	SAND
0)	(>50%	SAI 50% by oarse f	Sands with	Below A Line		n/a					SM	SILTY SAND
		(≥ sma	fines (by mass)	Above A Line		n/a					SC	CLAYEY SAND
Organic	Soil	Turno	of Soil	Laboratory		F	ield Indic	ators	Toughness	Organic	USCS Group	Primary
Inorganic	Group	туре	01 301	Tests	Dilatancy	Dry Strength	Shine Test	Thread Diameter	(of 3 mm thread)	Content	Symbol	Name
				Liquid Limit	Rapid	None	None	>6 mm	roll 3 mm thread)	<5%	ML	SILT
(ss)	75 mm	S	icity low)	<50	Slow	None to Low	Dull	3mm to 6 mm	None to low	<5%	ML	CLAYEY SILT
by me	OILS an 0.0	SILTS tic or P	n Plast n Plast nart be		Slow to very slow	Low to medium	Dull to slight	3mm to 6 mm	Low	5% to 30%	OL	ORGANIC SILT
GANIC t ≤30%	NED S	-Plac		Liquid Limit	Slow to very slow	Low to medium	Slight	3mm to 6 mm	Low to medium	<5%	МН	CLAYEY SILT
INOR	E-GRAI	SN)		≥50	None	Medium to high	Dull to slight	1 mm to 3 mm	Medium to high	5% to 30%	ОН	ORGANIC SILT
rganic	FINE by mas		hart	Liquid Limit <30	None	Low to medium	Slight to shiny	~ 3 mm	Low to medium	0% to	CL	SILTY CLAY
0	≥50%	CLAYS	e A-Lir ticity C below)	Liquid Limit 30 to 50	None	Medium to high	Slight to shiny	1 mm to 3 mm	Medium	30%	CI	SILTY CLAY
			Plas	Liquid Limit ≥50	None	High	Shiny	<1 mm	High	(see Note 2)	СН	CLAY
×S	nic .30% ss)	Peat and mix	mineral soil tures							30% to 75%		SILTY PEAT, SANDY PEAT
HIGHL DRGAN SOIL	(Organ ntent > by mas	Predomir may con	nantly peat, Itain some							75%	PT	
40	ပိ	mineral so amorph	il, fibrous or nous peat							100%		PEAT
-	Low	Plasticity		Medium Plasticity	≺ Hig	h Plasticity		a hyphen,	bol — A dua for example,	GP-GM, S	two symbols : SW-SC and Cl	separated by ML.
					CLAY	Bud Tallit		For non-co	hesive soils,	the dual s	ymbols must b	e used when
30 -					СН			the soil h	as between I material b	5% and [•] etween "c	12% fines (i.e lean" and "di	e. to identify rtv" sand or
								gravel.				lity cana ci
idex (PI				CI	CLAYEY SI ORGANIC S	BILT OH		For cohes	ive soils, the	dual symb	ol must be us	ed when the
- 02 In				ime				of the plas	and plasticity	/ Index val ee Plastici	ues plot in the itv Chart at left	CL-IVIL area
Plas		SILTY O		*							,	,
10		CL						Borderlin	e Symbol —	A borderl	ine symbol is	two symbols
7	CLAYEY SILT ML ORGANIC SILT OL				A borderline symbol should be used to indicate that the soil							
4	SILTY CLAY-CLAY	'EY SILT , CL-ML						has been identified as having properties that are on the				
0	SILT ML (See Note 1)						transition b	between simil	ar materia	ls. In addition	a borderline
o	10	20	25.5 30 Li	40 5 quid Limit (LL)	0 60	70	80	symbol ma within a st	ay be used to ratum	indicate a	a range of simi	iar soil types
Note 1 – Fi slight plas	ne grained ticity. Fine-	materials wi grained mat	th PI and LL terials which	that plot in this a are non-plastic (area are nameo i.e. a PL canno	I (ML) SILT work the measure	rith ed) are	within a St				

The Golder Associates Ltd. Soil Classification System is based on the Unified Soil Classification System (USCS)

named SILT. Note 2 – For soils with <5% organic content, include the descriptor "trace organics" for soils with between 5% and 30% organic content include the prefix "organic" before the Primary name.

ABBREVIATIONS AND TERMS USED ON RECORDS OF BOREHOLES AND TEST PITS

PARTICI E SIZES OF CONSTITUENTS

Soil Constituent	Particle Size Description	Millimetres	Inches (US Std. Sieve Size)		
BOULDERS	Not Applicable	>300	>12		
COBBLES	Not Applicable	75 to 300	3 to 12		
GRAVEL	Coarse Fine	19 to 75 4.75 to 19	0.75 to 3 (4) to 0.75		
SAND	Coarse Medium Fine	2.00 to 4.75 0.425 to 2.00 0.075 to 0.425	(10) to (4) (40) to (10) (200) to (40)		
SILT/CLAY Classified by plasticity		<0.075	< (200)		

MODIFIERS FOR SECONDARY AND MINOR CONSTITUENTS

Percentage by Mass	Modifier		
>35	Use 'and' to combine major constituents (<i>i.e.</i> , SAND and GRAVEL)		
> 12 to 35 Primary soil name prefixed with "gravelly, sandy, SIL CLAYEY" as applicable			
> 5 to 12	some		
≤ 5	trace		

PENETRATION RESISTANCE

Standard Penetration Resistance (SPT), N:

The number of blows by a 63.5 kg (140 lb) hammer dropped 760 mm (30 in.) required to drive a 50 mm (2 in.) split-spoon sampler for a distance of 300 mm (12 in.). Values reported are as recorded in the field and are uncorrected.

Cone Penetration Test (CPT)

An electronic cone penetrometer with a 60° conical tip and a project end area of 10 cm² pushed through ground at a penetration rate of 2 cm/s. Measurements of tip resistance (q), porewater pressure (u) and sleeve frictions are recorded electronically at 25 mm penetration intervals.

Dynamic Cone Penetration Resistance (DCPT); Nd: The number of blows by a 63.5 kg (140 lb) hammer dropped 760 mm (30 in.) to drive uncased a 50 mm (2 in.) diameter, 60° cone attached to "A" size drill rods for a distance of 300 mm (12 in.).

- PH: Sampler advanced by hydraulic pressure
- PM: Sampler advanced by manual pressure
- WH: Sampler advanced by static weight of hammer
- WR: Sampler advanced by weight of sampler and rod

Compactness ²				
Term	SPT 'N' (blows/0.3m) ¹			
Very Loose	0 to 4			
Loose	4 to 10			
Compact	10 to 30			
Dense	30 to 50			
Very Dense	>50			

NON-COHESIVE (COHESIONLESS) SOILS

- 1. SPT 'N' in accordance with ASTM D1586, uncorrected for the effects of overburden pressure.
- Definition of compactness terms are based on SPT 'N' ranges as provided in Terzaghi, Peck and Mesri (1996). Many factors affect the recorded SPT 'N' 2. value, including hammer efficiency (which may be greater than 60% in automatic trip hammers), overburden pressure, groundwater conditions, and grainsize. As such, the recorded SPT 'N' value(s) should be considered only an approximate guide to the soil compactness. These factors need to be considered when evaluating the results, and the stated compactness terms should not be relied upon for design or construction.

Field Moisture Condition

Term	Description
Dry	Soil flows freely through fingers.
Moist	Soils are darker than in the dry condition and may feel cool.
Wet	As moist, but with free water forming on hands when handled.

SAMPLES	
AS	Auger sample
BS	Block sample
CS	Chunk sample
DD	Diamond Drilling
DO or DP	Seamless open ended, driven or pushed tube sampler – note size
DS	Denison type sample
GS	Grab Sample
MC	Modified California Samples
MS	Modified Shelby (for frozen soil)
RC	Rock core
SC	Soil core
SS	Split spoon sampler – note size
ST	Slotted tube
ТО	Thin-walled, open - note size (Shelby tube)
TP	Thin-walled, piston - note size (Shelby tube)
WS	Wash sample

SOIL TESTS

w	water content
PL, w _p	plastic limit
LL, wL	liquid limit
С	consolidation (oedometer) test
CHEM	chemical analysis (refer to text)
CID	consolidated isotropically drained triaxial test1
CIU	consolidated isotropically undrained triaxial test with porewater pressure measurement ¹
D _R	relative density (specific gravity, Gs)
DS	direct shear test
GS	specific gravity
М	sieve analysis for particle size
MH	combined sieve and hydrometer (H) analysis
MPC	Modified Proctor compaction test
SPC	Standard Proctor compaction test
OC	organic content test
SO ₄	concentration of water-soluble sulphates
UC	unconfined compression test
UU	unconsolidated undrained triaxial test
V (FV)	field vane (LV-laboratory vane test)
γ	unit weight

Tests anisotropically consolidated prior to shear are shown as CAD, CAU. 1.

	COHESIVE SOILS				
	Consistency				
Term	Undrained Shear Strength (kPa)	SPT 'N' ^{1,2} (blows/0.3m)			
Very Soft	<12	0 to 2			
Soft	12 to 25	2 to 4			
Firm	25 to 50	4 to 8			
Stiff	50 to 100	8 to 15			
Very Stiff	100 to 200	15 to 30			
Hard	>200	>30			

1. SPT 'N' in accordance with ASTM D1586, uncorrected for overburden pressure effects; approximate only.

SPT 'N' values should be considered ONLY an approximate guide to consistency; for sensitive clays (e.g., Champlain Sea clays), the N-value approximation for consistency terms does NOT apply. Rely on direct 2 measurement of undrained shear strength or other manual observations.

	Water Content				
Term	Description				
w < PL	Material is estimated to be drier than the Plastic Limit.				
w ~ PL	Material is estimated to be close to the Plastic Limit.				
w > PL	Material is estimated to be wetter than the Plastic Limit.				

Unless otherwise stated, the symbols employed in the report are as follows:

I.	GENERAL	(a) w	Index Properties (continued)
π	3.1416	w _l or LL	liquid limit
ln x	natural logarithm of x	w _p or PL	plastic limit
log ₁₀	x or log x, logarithm of x to base 10	Ip OF PI	plasticity index = $(W_l - W_p)$
y t	time		shrinkage limit
		IL	liquidity index = $(w - w_p) / I_p$
		lc	consistency index = $(w_l - w) / I_p$
		emax	void ratio in loosest state
		emin	void ratio in densest state
II.	STRESS AND STRAIN	ID	(formerly relative density) $(e_{max} - e_{min})$
	aboar atrain	(b)	Hydroulia Proportion
Ŷ	shear sharin	(D) b	hydraulic head or potential
Δ S	linear strain	a a	rate of flow
e Ev	volumetric strain	ч V	velocity of flow
n	coefficient of viscosity	i	hydraulic gradient
υ	Poisson's ratio	k	hydraulic conductivity
σ	total stress		(coefficient of permeability)
σ'	effective stress ($\sigma' = \sigma - u$)	j	seepage force per unit volume
σ'_{vo}	initial effective overburden stress		
σ1, σ2, σ3	principal stress (major, intermediate,	(c)	Consolidation (one-dimensional)
	1111101)	(C) Co	compression index
Ooct	mean stress or octahedral stress	Ct	(normally consolidated range)
0001	$= (\sigma_1 + \sigma_2 + \sigma_3)/3$	Cr	recompression index
τ	shear stress		(over-consolidated range)
u	porewater pressure	Cs	swelling index
E	modulus of deformation	Cα	secondary compression index
G	shear modulus of deformation	mv	coefficient of volume change
ĸ	bulk modulus of compressibility	Cv	direction)
		Ch	direction)
		Tv	time factor (vertical direction)
III.	SOIL PROPERTIES	U	degree of consolidation
(2)	Index Properties	σ΄ρ	pre-consolidation stress
(a)	hulk density (bulk unit weight)*	UCK	over-consolidation ratio = σ_p / σ_{vo}
$D_{4}(\lambda_{4})$	dry density (dry unit weight)	(d)	Shear Strength
$\rho_{u}(\gamma_{w})$	density (unit weight) of water	τρ. τr	peak and residual shear strength
ρ(γs)	density (unit weight) of solid particles	φ'	effective angle of internal friction
γ'	unit weight of submerged soil	δ	angle of interface friction
	$(\gamma' = \gamma - \gamma_w)$	μ	coefficient of friction = tan δ
D _R	relative density (specific gravity) of solid	C'	effective cohesion
-	particles ($D_R = \rho_s / \rho_w$) (formerly G_s)	Cu, Su	undrained shear strength ($\phi = 0$ analysis)
e		p n/	mean total stress $(\sigma_1 + \sigma_3)/2$
S	degree of saturation	p D	$(\sigma_1 - \sigma_2)/2$ or $(\sigma_1 - \sigma_2)/2$
0		Ч Qu	compressive strength ($\sigma_1 - \sigma_3$)
		St	sensitivity
* Donoi	ty symbol is a Unit weight symbol is	Notes: 1	$r = c' + c' \tan \phi'$
where	$\gamma = \rho q$ (i.e. mass density multiplied by	2	shear strength = (compressive strength)/2
accele	eration due to gravity)		(

PROJECT: 1522173-3000

RECORD OF BOREHOLE: 16-22A

LOCATION: See Site Plan

SAMPLER HAMMER, 64kg; DROP, 760mm

BORING DATE: March 17, 2016

SHEET 1 OF 1

DATUM: Geodetic

	SOIL PROFILE		SA	MPLES		TION	HYDRAULIC CONDUCTIVITY,	(1)	
METH		PLOT	K	.30m	20 40	60 80		TIONAL	PIEZOMETER OR
RING	DESCRIPTION	H ATAS DEP		TYPE WS/0	SHEAR STRENGTH Cu, kPa	nat V. + Q - ● rem V. ⊕ U - C		ADDIT AB. TE	INSTALLATIO
BO		ц Ц С Ц С (m	1) 2	BLO	20 40	60 80	20 40 60 80	<u> </u>	
0	GROUND SURFACE	94 Se to 5351 0	1.09 0.00						k
1	some sand, trace gravel, dark bro black, contains organic matter and rootlets; cohesive, w>PL (CI/CH) SILTY CLAY to CLAY, tra sand; brown to grey brown, highly fissured (WEATHERED CRUST); cohesive, w>PL, very stiff	win to ce	1	SS 4			ю	МН	∑ Native Backfill
5 ower Auger Diam. (Hollow Stem)	biam. (Hollow Stern)		2	SS 2				МН	Bentonite Seal
3 200 mm C	(ML) SILT some sand brown to o	91 17eV: 3	1.04			>96 +			Silica Sand
	non-cohesive, wet, compact to loo	ise	3	SS 13					32 mm Diam. PVC #10 Slot Screen
4	End of Borehole	89 4	4).72 1.37	SS 6					
5									WL in Screen at Elev. 93.27 m on April 21, 2016
7									
9									
10									
DEPTH	H SCALE	1		<u> </u>	Gold	er			DGGED: RI

LOCATION: N 5005331.5 ;E 355759.5

SAMPLER HAMMER, 64kg; DROP, 760mm

RECORD OF BOREHOLE: 18-01

SHEET 1 OF 1

BORING DATE: October 18, 2018

DATUM: Geodetic PENETRATION TEST HAMMER, 64kg; DROP, 760mm

CALE ∃S		ETHOD	SOIL PROFILE	DT		SA	MPL	ES	DYNAMIC PENETRATION RESISTANCE, BLOWS/0.3m	HYDRAULIC CONDUCTIVITY, k, cm/s 10^6 10^5 10^4 10^3	NAL TING	PIEZOMETER
DEPTH SO METRE		BORING ME	DESCRIPTION	STRATA PLO	ELEV. DEPTH (m)	NUMBER	түре	BLOWS/0.30	20 40 60 80 SHEAR STRENGTH nat V. + Q - ● Cu, kPa rem V. ⊕ U - O 20 40 60 80	IO IO IO IO WATER CONTENT PERCENT Wp	ADDITIO LAB. TES	STANDPIPE INSTALLATION
-	+		GROUND SURFACE		05 50							
- 0 - - -			FILL - (SW/GW) SAND and GRAVEL, some silt; brown; non-cohesive, moist, loose		95.50 0.00 95.12							Bentonite Seal
- - - - - - - - -		n)	TOPSOIL - (SM-ML) SILTY SAND to sandy SILT; dark brown, contains organic matter (CL/CI) SILTY CLAY; grey brown, fissured, contains clayey silt and silty fine sand seams (WEATHERED CRUST); cohesive, w-PL, very stiff		0.38 94.89 0.61	1	SS	8				Native Backfill
- - - - 2	wer Auger	am. (Hollow Ste				2	SS	6				Bentonite Seal
	Po	200 mm Di			92.91	3	SS	2				Silica Sand
- - - 3 -			(ML) sandy SILT; brown; wet, compact		92.53 92.53 92.22							38 mm Diam. PVC #10 Slot Screen
			(ML) sandy SILT, some gravel; brown (GLACIAL TILL); wet, compact		3.28 91.69	4	SS	23				
- 4 - 4 					3.61							
5	;											
- - - 6 -	;											-
7 												-
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -												
3/11/18 SG												
- MIS.GDT 1												
3.GPJ GAL												
001 152217												_
SH8-SIW	EP1 : 50	ΉS	CALE						GOLDER		L(CF	OGGED: PAH IECKED: CAMC

RECORD OF BOREHOLE: 18-02

BORING DATE: October 18, 2018

SHEET 1 OF 1

DATUM: Geodetic

LOCATION: N 5005423.9 ;E 356058.1 SAMPLER HAMMER, 64kg; DROP, 760mm

SSELLAR DESCRIPTION	Bentonite Seal Bentonite Seal Bentonite Seal
O GROUND SURFACE 94.70 Z0 40 60 80 20 40 60 80 0 FILL - (ML-CL) SILTY CLAY and CLAYEY SILT, trace gravel, angular; brown; cohesive, moist, loose 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1 (Cl/CH) SILTY CLAY; grey brown, fissured (WEATHERED CRUST); cohesive, w->PL, very stiff 0.01 1 8S 6 2 SS 11 2 SS 11 1 (GROWND SURFACE) 91.26 4 SS 5 1 (ML-CL,ML) CLAYEY SILT to sandy SILT; grey brown; wet, loose 0.01 3.44 4 End of Borehole 3.96	Bentonite Seal Native Backfill Bentonite Seal
0 FILL-(UL-CL) SILTY CLAY and CLAYEY SILT, trace gravel, angular; brown; cohesive, moist, loose 0.00 1 (CI/CH) SILTY CLAY; grey brown, fissured (WEATHERED CRUST); cohesive, w~>PL, very stiff 93.79 2 (CI/CH) SILTY CLAY; grey brown, fissured (WEATHERED CRUST); cohesive, w~>PL, very stiff 93.79 3 3 5 4 (CI/CH) SILTY CLAY; grey brown, fissured (WEATHERED CRUST); cohesive, w~>PL, very stiff 91.26 4 (ML-CL, ML) CLAYEY SILT to sandy SILT; grey brown; wet, loose 91.26 4 End of Borehole 3.36	Bentonite Seal Native Backfill Bentonite Seal
1 Image: CU/CH) SILTY CLAY: grey brown; fissured (WEATHERED CRUST); cohesive, w~>PL, very stiff 0.91 1 SS 6 2 Image: Weather weathe	Native Backfill Bentonite Seal Silica Sand
2 <u>biny tended</u> 3 <u>biny tended</u> 3 <u>biny tended</u> 4 <u>SS</u> 11 <u>CL_NLU CLAYEY SILT to sandy</u> 4 <u>End of Borehole</u> <u>91.26</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u> <u>90.74</u>	Bentonite Seal
3 3 SS 5 3 (ML-CL,ML) CLAYEY SILT to sandy SILT; grey brown; wet, loose 91.26 4 SS 3 4 End of Borehole 3.96 90.74 1 1	Silica Sand
3 91.26 4 SS 3 4 End of Borehole 3.96	
4 End of Borehole 3.96	38 mm Diam. PVC #10 Slot Screen
	WL in screen at Elev. 92.30 m on Oct. 31, 2018
5	
6	
7	
8	
9	
10	

RECORD OF BOREHOLE: 18-03

BORING DATE: October 18, 2018

SHEET 1 OF 1

DATUM: Geodetic

LOCATION: N 5005228.4 ;E 356158.4 SAMPLER HAMMER, 64kg; DROP, 760mm

	DESCRIPTION	A PLOT	ELEV	Ř		30m	20	40	60	80	1 1	ר ⁻⁶ 1	0-5 1	0-4 1	Ìž	₹Ē	OP
		EAT.	DEPTH	IUMBE	TYPE	WS/0.3	SHEAR STR Cu, kPa	ENGTH	nat V. + rem V. €	- Q - • • U - O	W	ATER C		r PERCE		AB. TES	STANDPIPE
	GROUND SURFACE	STF	(m)	2		BLC	20	40	60	80	2	0 4	40	60 8	30		
	FILL - (ML-CL) CLAYEY SILT, trace to some gravel; brown		0.00														Bentonite Seal
(m)	(CL/CI) SILTY CLAY; grey brown, fissured, contains silty fine sand seams (WEATHERED CRUST); cohesive, w-PL very stiff		94.25 1.01	1	SS	11											Native Backfill
am. (Hollow Ste				2	SS	6											Bentonite Seal
200 mm Di	(ML-CL) CLAYEY SILT; grey brown; wet; loose (ML) sandy SILT, some clayey silt/silty		93.13 2.13 92.75 2.51	3	SS	12											Silica Sand
	clay layers; brown; non-cohesive, wet, compact		92.06			12											38 mm Diam. PVC #10 Slot Screen
	(SM) SILTY SAND, fine; brown; non-cohesive, wet, compact		3.20 91.45	4	SS	16											• • • •
	End of Borehole		3.81														WL in screen at Elev. 92.47 m on
																	Oct. 31, 2018
	200 mm Diam, (Hollow Stem)	(CL/CI) SILTY CLAY; grey brown, fissured, contains silty fine sand seams (WEATHERED CRUST); cohesive, w-PL, very stiff (ML-CL) CLAYEY SILT; grey brown; wet; loose (ML) sandy SILT, some clayey silt/silty clay layers; brown; non-cohesive, wet, compact (SM) SILTY SAND, fine; brown; non-cohesive, wet, compact End of Borehole	(CL/CI) SILTY CLAY; grey brown, fissured, contains silty fine sand seams (WEATHERED CRUST); cohesive, w-PL, very stiff (ML-CL) CLAYEY SILT; grey brown; wet; loose (ML-CL) CLAYEY SILT, some clayey silt/silty clay layers; brown; non-cohesive, wet, compact (ML) sandy SILT, some clayey silt/silty clay layers; brown; non-cohesive, wet, compact (SM) SILTY SAND, fine; brown; non-cohesive, wet, compact (ML) End of Borehole (ML)	(LJCI) SILTY CLAY; grey brown, fissured, contains silty fine sand seams (WEATHERED CRUST); cohesive, w-PL, very stiff (ML-CL) CLAYEY SILT; grey brown; wet; loose (ML) sandy SILT, some clayey silt/silty clay layers; brown; non-cohesive, wet, compact (SM) SILTY SAND, fine; brown; non-cohesive, wet, compact End of Borehole (SM) SILTY SAND, fine; brown; non-cohesive, wet, compact (SM) SILTY SAND, fine; brown; status (SM) SILTY SAND, fine; brown; status (SM) SILTY SAND, fine; brown; status (SM) SILTY SAND, fine; brown; status (SM) SILTY SAND, fine; brown; status (SM) SILTY SAND, fine; brown; status (SM) SILTY SAND, fine; brown; status (SM) SILTY SAND, fine; brown; status (SM) SILTY SAND, fine; brown; status (SM) SILTY SAND, fine;	Image: CL/Cl) SILTY CLAY; grey brown, fissured, contains sitly fine sand seams (WeATHERED CRUST); cohesive, wet, compact 94.25 Image: WeATHERED CRUST); cohesive, wet, compact 93.13 Image: WeATHERED CRUST); cohesive, wet, compact 93.13 Image: WeATHERED CRUST); cohesive, wet, compact 92.75 Image: WeATHERED CRUST); cohesive, wet, compact 92.75 Image: WeATHERED CRUST); cohesive, wet, compact 92.06 Image: WeATHERED CRUST); cohesive, wet, compact 92.06 Image: WeATHERED CRUST); cohesive, wet, compact 92.06 Image: WeATHERED CRUST); cohesive, wet, compact 91.45 Image: WeATHERED CRUST); cohesive, wet, compact 91.45 Image: WeATHERED CRUST); cohesive, wet, compact 91.45 Image: WeATHERED CRUST); cohesive, wet, compact 91.45 Image: WeATHERED CRUST); cohesive, wet, compact 91.45 Image: WeATHERED CRUST); cohesive, wet, compact 91.45 Image: WeATHERED CRUST); cohesive, wet, compact 91.45 Image: WeATHERED CRUST); cohesive, wet, compact 91.45 Image: WeATHERED CRUST); cohesive, wet, compact 91.45 Image: WeATHERED CRUST); cohesive, wet, compact 91.45 Image: WeATHERED CRUST); cohesive, wet, compact 91.45 Image: WeATHERED CRUST); cohesive, wet, compact 91.45 Image: WeATHERED CRUST); cohesive, wet, cohesive, wet, c	Image: contains silty fine sand seams (WEATHERED CRUST); cohesive, wet; loose 93.13 1 2 SS Image: contains silty fine sand seams (WEATHERED CRUST); cohesive, wet; loose 93.13 21.3 1 2 SS Image: contains silty fine sand seams (WEATHERED CRUST); cohesive, wet; loose 93.13 93.13 1 1 3 SS Image: contains silty fine sand seams (WEATHERED CRUST); cohesive, wet; loose 92.06 1 1 4 SS Image: contains silty fine sand seams (WEATHERED CRUST); cohesive, wet; loose 92.06 1 1 4 SS Image: contains silty fine; brown; non-cohesive, wet; compact 92.06 1 1 4 SS Image: contains silty fine; brown; non-cohesive, wet; compact 92.06 1 4 SS Image: contains silty fine; brown; non-cohesive, wet; compact 92.06 1 4 SS Image: contains silty fine; brown; lon-cohesive, wet; compact 92.06 1 4 SS Image: contains silty fine; brown; lon-cohesive, wet; contains silty fine; brown; lon-cohesive, wet; contains silty fine; lon-cohesive, wet; contains silty fine; lon-cohesive, wet; contains silty fine; lon-cohesive, wet; contains silty fine; lon-cohesity fine; lon-cohesive, wet; contains silty fine; lon-	Image: CL/Cl) SILTY CLAY; grey brown, first same disears: (WEATHERED CRUST); cohesive, wet, comparisity silty inclusion services in the same service of the	Image: Second and seams 94.25 (CL/CI) SILTY CLAY; grey brown; 1 1 SS 11 (WEATHERED CRUST); cohesive, 93.13 1 93.13 1 (ML-CL) CLAYEY SILT; grey brown; wet; 93.13 1 2 SS 12 (ML-CL) CLAYEY SILT; grey brown; wet; 92.05 1 2.00 1 SS 12 (ML) sandy SILT, some clayey silt/Silty clay layers; brown; non-cohesive, wet; 92.05 2.00 4 SS 16 (SM) SILTY SAND, fine; brown; non-cohesive, wet; 91.45 91.45 1 55 16 End of Borehole 3.81 1 1 55 16	Image: Current of the series of the serie	Image: Containe sity fine sand seams 1.01 1 55 11 Image: Containe sity fine sand seams 1.01 1 55 11 Image: Containe sity fine sand seams 1.01 1 1 55 11 Image: Containe sity fine sand seams 1.01 1 1 55 11 Image: Containe sity fine sand seams 1.01 1 1 55 11 Image: Containe sity fine sand seams 1.01 1 1 55 11 Image: Containe sity fine sand seams 1.01 1 1 1 1 Image: Containe sity fine sand seams 1.01 1 1 1 1 Image: Containe sity fine sand seams 1.01 1 1 1 1 Image: Containe sity fine sand seams 1.01 1 1 1 1 Image: Containe sity fine sand seams 1.01 1 1 1 1 Image: Containe sity fine sand seams 1.01 1 1 1 1 Image: Containe sity fine sand seams 1.01 1 1 1 1 Image: Containe sand seams 1.01 1.01 1 1 1 Image: Containe sand seams 1.01	Image: Current of the same sign fine same same sign fine same same sign fine same same sign fine same same sign fine same same sign fine same same sign fine same same same sign fine same same same same same same same sam	(CLUC) SILTY CLAY: grey brown. 10 1 SS 11 (SS) VEXTY CLAY: grey brown. 10 1 SS 11 (SS) VEXTY CLAY: grey brown. 2 SS 6 (MLC2) CLAYEY SILT; grey brown. wet: 2 SS 6 (MLC2) CLAYEY SILT; grey brown. 2 SS 6 (MLS) sondy SILT, some clayey silt/silty 2 SS 12 (SM) SILTY SAND, fne: brown; non-cohesive, wet, compact 1 3.81 4 SS 10 (SM) SILTY SAND, fne: brown; non-cohesive, wet, compact 1 1.46 3.81 10 End of Borehole 3.81 14 14 14 14	Image: Current of the same series (model and series simplify the same series (model and series simplify the same series (model and se	(CL/C0) SILTY CLAY, prey brown, fissured, cortains silty fine sand seams (WCA1+CERC OCUST), collesive, with vith vith vith sand seams (WCA1+CERC OCUST), collesive, (WCA1+CERC OCUST), collesive, with vith vith vith vith vith vith vith v	CLC01 SILTY CLAY, grey brown, fissured, cordents sity fine and seams (WEATHERD CUST), consider, 2 SS 1 0 2 SS 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 SS 0 0 0 0 1 2 SS 0 0 0 0 1 2 SS 0 0 0 0 1 2 SS 1 0 0 0 1 2 SS 1 0 0 0 1 1 2 SS 12 0 1 1 2 SS 15 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 <td< td=""><td>GLCICI) SILTY CLAY: grey brown. 9.55 1 88 11 Were Very stift 2 88 0 Were Very stift 2 88 0 (ML-CL) CLAYEY SILT; grey brown; wet 2 38 0 (MJ) SILTY SAND, fine: brown; mon-cohesive, wet, compact 2 38 12 (ML-CL) CLAYEY SILT; grey brown; wet, compact 2 3 88 12 (MJ) SILTY SAND, fine: brown; mon-cohesive, wet, compact 2 3 88 12 (SM) SILTY SAND, fine: brown; mon-cohesive, wet, compact 3 1 38 14 (SM) SILTY SAND, fine: brown; mon-cohesive, wet, compact 3 1 4 38 16 End of Borehole 3 3 4 38 14 14 14 15 14 16</td><td>CLCIC) SILTY CLAY, grey toroon, Insured, contains ally fire and seams w-PL, way suff 939 1 98 11 2 58 6 2 1 2 58 6 0000 0.10 2 1 3 12 1 10 0010 2 1 1 2 1 1 1 0010 2 1 2 1 1 1 1 0010 2 1 2 1 1 1 1 0010 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 0010 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 0010 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 0010 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 0010 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1<</td></td<>	GLCICI) SILTY CLAY: grey brown. 9.55 1 88 11 Were Very stift 2 88 0 Were Very stift 2 88 0 (ML-CL) CLAYEY SILT; grey brown; wet 2 38 0 (MJ) SILTY SAND, fine: brown; mon-cohesive, wet, compact 2 38 12 (ML-CL) CLAYEY SILT; grey brown; wet, compact 2 3 88 12 (MJ) SILTY SAND, fine: brown; mon-cohesive, wet, compact 2 3 88 12 (SM) SILTY SAND, fine: brown; mon-cohesive, wet, compact 3 1 38 14 (SM) SILTY SAND, fine: brown; mon-cohesive, wet, compact 3 1 4 38 16 End of Borehole 3 3 4 38 14 14 14 15 14 16	CLCIC) SILTY CLAY, grey toroon, Insured, contains ally fire and seams w-PL, way suff 939 1 98 11 2 58 6 2 1 2 58 6 0000 0.10 2 1 3 12 1 10 0010 2 1 1 2 1 1 1 0010 2 1 2 1 1 1 1 0010 2 1 2 1 1 1 1 0010 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 0010 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 0010 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 0010 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 0010 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1<

LOCATION: N 5005272.2 ;E 356366.2

SAMPLER HAMMER, 64kg; DROP, 760mm

RECORD OF BOREHOLE: 18-04

BORING DATE: October 19, 2018

SHEET 1 OF 1

DATUM: Geodetic

									1					1						
ų	G		SOIL PROFILE			SA	AMPL	ES	DYNAMIC RESISTA	PENETR NCE, BLC	RATIC DWS/	N 0.3m)	HYDR	AULIC C k, cm/s		CTIVITY,		10	
ξ S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S				ОТ				ь	20	40	6	0 8	30	1	0-6	10-5	10-4	10 ⁻³	NAL	OR
TR	N (≥ ז		PL	ELEV.	ER	щ	0.3(<u> </u>	at V 🔟	<u> </u>							STANDPIPE
Ē			DESCRIPTION	¢T7	DEPTH	N	ĮΣ	MS	Cu, kPa		re	em V. 🕀	Ũ - Ũ	w	n 🛏		/		ABD.	INSTALLATION
	C	2		STR	(m)		1	BLC	20	40	6	D 8	30		20	40	60	80	نـ`	
			GROUND SURFACE	1	94.46	1			T											
0			FILL - (ML-CL) CLAYEY SILT		0.00														1	
					8															Bentonite Seal
					8	1	GRAE	- 1												
					93.73	-	-													
			(CL/CI) SILTY CLAY; grey brown,	Î	0.73	1														Native Backfill
1			fissured, contains silty fine sand and clavev silt seams (WEATHERED			2	22	11												
			CRUST); cohesive, w~PL to w>PL, very			1														
		Ê	Sun				-													
		w Ste																		Bentonite Seal
	uger) PIO																		
2	/er A	É.					33													5 B
2	Ро	n Dia					-													Silica Sand
		n D D				-														
		30			91.87															
			(CL-ML, ML) CLAYEY SILT and sandy	HH	2.59	4	SS	1												
			SIL I; grey brown, laminated; non-cohesive, wet, loose																	38 mm Diam. PVC
5							-													#10 Slot Screen
					91.11															
			(SM) SILTY SAND, fine brown;		3.35	5	SS	13												
			non-cohesive, wet, compact																	
			End of Borehole	- Notiv	• 90.65 3.81															
4					0.01															
																				WL in screen at Elev. 91.87 m on
																				Oct. 31, 2018
5																				
5																				
7																				
в																				
_																				
9																				
					1		1													
					1		1													
					1		1													
0							1													
 >					1	I							-	1	1	1				
∪⊏ 1 •	۳ I 50	пS	UALE						G	OL	- [Ε	R							
1.5	JU								-											LONLD. CANIC

RECORD OF BOREHOLE: 18-05

BORING DATE: October 19, 2018

SHEET 1 OF 1

DATUM: Geodetic

LOCATION: N 5005065.5 ;E 356310.2 SAMPLER HAMMER, 64kg; DROP, 760mm

ШŢ		n of	SOIL PROFILE	1.		SA	MPLI	ES	DYNAMIC PENETRATI RESISTANCE, BLOWS	ON \ ;/0.3m \	HYDRAULIC C k, cm/s	CONDUCTIVITY, s	Śŕ	PIEZOMETER
H SCA TRES		MEL		PLOT	ELEV	BER	щ	0.30m		60 80 `		10 ⁻⁵ 10 ⁻⁴ 10 ⁻³	TESTIN	OR
DEPTI			DESCRIPTION	RATA	DEPTH	NUME	μ	OWS/	Cu, kPa	nat V. + Q - ● rem V. ⊕ U - O			ADDI LAB. 7	INSTALLATION
		ň		ST	(11)			ВГ	20 40	60 <u>80</u>	20	40 60 80	_	
— o -	-		FILL - (ML-CL) CLAYEY SILT, some	***	95.28									
Ē			gravel; brown											Bentonite Seal
-						1 (GRAB	-						
-			TOPSOIL - (ML-CL) CLAYEY SILT; dark		94.52									Native Backfill
- 1			(CL/CI, ML_CL) SILTY CLAY and		0.00	2	SS	13						
F		em)	contains silty fine sand seams											
-	ler	llow St	w~>PL, very stiff											Bentonite Seal
-	er Aug	ш. (Н				3	SS	5						
	Pow	nm Dia			92.99									Silica Sand
		200 n	(ML-CL, ML) CLAYEY SILT and sandy SILT; grey brown, layered, contains low		2.29									
-			plasticity fines; non-cohesive, wet, compact			4	SS	17						
- 3			(SM) SILTY SAND, fine; brown;		92.38									38 mm Diam. PVG #10 Slot Screen
-			non-cohesive, wet, compact	1										
-						5	SS	19						
-					91.47									Cave
- 4			End of Borenole		3.81									
-														WL in screen at Elev. 92.33 m on
E														Oct. 31, 2018
-														
— 5 -														-
-														
-														
-														
- 0														-
-														
-														
- 7														-
-														
-														
-														
- 8														-
-														
-														
E				1										
— 9 _				1										-
F				1										
				1										
- - 10				1										
DE	EPT	нs	CALE										L	OGGED: PAH
1:	50						<	V					CH	ECKED: CAMC

Slug Test Analyses

HVORSLEV SLUG TEST ANALYSIS FALLING HEAD TEST 16-22



$$\mathbf{K} = \frac{\mathbf{r_c}^2}{\mathbf{2L_e}} \mathbf{In} \left[\frac{\mathbf{L_e}}{\mathbf{2R_e}} + \sqrt{\mathbf{1} + \left(\frac{\mathbf{L_e}}{\mathbf{2R_e}}\right)^2} \right] \left[\frac{\mathbf{In} \left(\frac{\mathbf{h_1}}{\mathbf{h_2}}\right)}{(\mathbf{t_2} - \mathbf{t_1})} \right] \text{ where } \mathbf{K} = (\text{m/sec})$$

where: r_c = casing radius (metres)

 R_e = filter pack radius (metres)

 L_e = length of screened interval (metres)

t = time (seconds)

 h_t = head at time t (metres)





Project Name: Caivan Richmond Project No.: 1522173 Test Date: 4/21/2016 Analysis By: CAMC Checked By: BTB Analysis Date: 4/22/2016

Golder Associates Ltd.

HVORSLEV SLUG TEST ANALYSIS RISING HEAD TEST 18-01



$$K = \frac{r_c^2}{2L_e} \ln \left[\frac{L_e}{2R_e} + \sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{L_e}{2R_e}\right)^2} \right] \left[\frac{\ln \left(\frac{h_1}{h_2}\right)}{(t_2 - t_1)} \right] \text{ where } K = (m/\text{sec})$$

where:

 r_c = casing radius (metres) R_e = filter pack radius (metres)

 L_e = length of screened interval (metres)

 L_e – length of screened interval (meth

t = time (seconds)

 h_t = head at time t (metres)





Project Name: Caivan/Western Development Lands RichmonAnalysis By: SPSProject No.: 1522173Checked By: BTBTest Date: 2018-10-31Analysis Date: 2018-11-01

Golder Associates Ltd.


where:

- r_c = casing radius (metres);
- R_e = effective radius (metres);
- L_e = length of screened interval (metres);

 r_w = radial distance to undisturbed aquifer (metres)

- y_0 = initial drawdown (metres)
- y_t = drawdown (metres) at time t (seconds)





Project Name: Caivan/Western Development Lands Richmon Project No.: 1522173 Test Date: 11-01-18 Analysis By: SPS Checked By: BTB Analysis Date: 2018-11-01



where:

- r_c = casing radius (metres);
- R_e = effective radius (metres);
- L_e = length of screened interval (metres);

 r_w = radial distance to undisturbed aquifer (metres)

- y_0 = initial drawdown (metres)
- y_t = drawdown (metres) at time t (seconds)





Project Name: Caivan/Western Development Lands RichmondAnalysis By: SPSProject No.: 1522173Checked By: BTBTest Date: 10-31-18Analysis Date: 2018-11-01



where:

- r_c = casing radius (metres);
- R_e = effective radius (metres);
- L_e = length of screened interval (metres);

 r_w = radial distance to undisturbed aquifer (metres)

- y_0 = initial drawdown (metres)
- y_t = drawdown (metres) at time t (seconds)







Golder Associates Ltd.



where:

- r_c = casing radius (metres);
- R_e = effective radius (metres);
- L_e = length of screened interval (metres);

 r_w = radial distance to undisturbed aquifer (metres)

- y_0 = initial drawdown (metres)
- y_t = drawdown (metres) at time t (seconds)





Project Name: Caivan/Western Development Lands RichmonAnalysis By: SPSProject No.: 1522173Checked By: BTBTest Date: 10-31-18Analysis Date: 2018-11-01

Golder Associates Ltd.



DATE November 4, 2013

PROJECT No. 12-1127-0062 (8000)

- TO Frank Cairo Richmond Village (South) Limited
- CC Mike Green Mattamy (Jock River) Limited

FROM Brian Byerley, M.Sc., P.Eng.

EMAIL bbyerley@golder.com

BASEMENT DEPTHS, PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT RICHMOND VILLAGE WESTERN DEVELOPMENT LANDS OTTAWA, ONTARIO

1.0 INTRODUCTION

This memo provides an assessment regarding proposed basement depths for the Richmond Village (South) and Mattamy (Jock River) developments in the Richmond Village Western Development Lands, in the southwest part of the City of Ottawa.

This issue has been the subject of extensive study and several memos/reports over the past several years. The intent of this current memo is to:

- Compile the applicable information from these previous reports; and,
- Provide a comprehensive recommendation regarding basement depths and, in particular, to document why the proposed founding levels, and the use of sump pumps, are feasible from an engineering/technical perspective.

2.0 BACKGROUND

The proposed development site is approximately 132 hectares (325 acres) in size and is located along the western edge of the Village of Richmond (see Figure 1). The site is legally described as Lot 22, Concessions II, III and IV, Geographic Township of Goulbourn (Village of Richmond). The site boundary is shown on Figure 2.

For the purposes of this memo, and for simplicity of description, the site is described as extending along a north-south axis, with the south limit being adjacent to the Jock River.

The northern part of the site (about two thirds of the area) is actively farmed (corn, wheat and beans) while the southern portion currently consists of fallow fields.

The site is presently zoned for future residential development.

The surrounding lands to the north and west of the site are beyond the Village boundary and are primarily used for agricultural purposes. The lands to the east of the site are within the Village boundary and consist of existing low density residential developments. The Jock River forms the south boundary of the site.



The site is crossed by two existing roadways (Perth Street and Ottawa Street) which approximately divide the site into one-third parcels (north, central, and south).

The ground surface topography across the site is gently sloping, with ground elevations varying from approximately 98 to 94 metres above sea level (masl). The lowest portion of the site is located in the area of Perth Street (between the north and central parcels). To the north of Perth Street, the site is very nearly flat (i.e., just a slight increase in elevation to the north). To the south, the site rises up to Ottawa Street and then to the height-of-land which exists between Ottawa Street and the Jock River.

Berms currently exist along the eastern site boundary, in the vicinity of the Van Gaal Drain, which prevent proper surface water drainage in wet times of the year.

Based on published geological mapping, the subsurface conditions at the site, in a simplified form, can be summarized as follows:

- Overburden soils (see also Figure 3):
 - North half of site (i.e., north parcel and north half of central parcel): marine clay (i.e., Champlain Sea clay);
 - South half of central parcel: fine grained sandy soil (likely existing as a 'cap' over the clay underlying layer); and,
 - South parcel: shallow bedrock.
- Bedrock:
 - Dolomite bedrock of the Oxford Formation; and,
 - Bedrock surface outcropping in the south part of the site, near the Jock River, but sloping down to the north and reaching depths of up to 15 metres beneath the north parcel.

Jacques Whitford Limited conducted a preliminary geotechnical investigation on this site, the results of which were produced in a report dated June 22, 2007. Due to the presence of compressible clay soils beneath portions of the site, the geotechnical report recommended grade raise restrictions which generally vary between 1.0 and 2.0 metres (except for the south part of the site, where clay is absent, and a maximum permissible grade raise of 4.0 metres was specified). For the clay areas, the maximum permissible grade raise relates to the capacity of the clay soil to support the weight of grade raise fill without undergoing significant consolidation/compression, which would lead to the settlement of structures, services, and roadways built on the site.

3.0 PURPOSE OF CURRENT ASSESSMENT

From a site development perspective, it is understood that there are several interrelated and opposing challenges associated with the grading design for this site:

- In accordance with the aforementioned geotechnical report, the site grade raise needs to be limited. This type of geotechnical restriction is a common challenge for site development in the Ottawa area, due to the extensive presence of the sensitive and compressible Champlain Sea clay (i.e., Leda clay) deposit. Where the geotechnical permissible grade raises cannot be accommodated, very costly measures can be required, such as the use of expanded polystyrene (EPS) Geofoam lightweight fill blocks for filling around the houses.
- Conversely, if the grading is kept too low, then the footings would be deeper (for conventional houses with basements), below the groundwater level and on soft wet clay (typically grey in colour), which has very little



capacity to support the footings. House footings are ideally constructed in the shallower clay, which is above the 'normal' water level and is therefore generally drier and stiff, since it has been 'weathered' by drying and exposure to air, to form a brown 'crust' (which is about 2 to 3 metres thick on this site). A minimum level of filling, of generally at least 0.5 to 1.0 metres, is therefore commonly needed if the footings will be constructed in the drier upper portions of the brown clay crust (since a standard-depth basement is about 2.4 metres deep relative to the finished grade around the house).

From the perspective of the economics of developing the site, it is important to approximately achieve a 'cut-fill' balance. That is, the volume of soil excavated to make the excavations down to footing level should ideally equal the soil volume needed on each lot, around the house, to fill to the design finished grade level. If the footing levels are established too shallow, then fill material needs to be imported to the site at significant expense. It is understood that, given the development density, size, and location of this site, any grade raise in excess of 1.3 metres (which corresponds to a footing depth of about 1 metre below existing grade) will result in incremental imported fill costs that can greatly impact the feasibility of the development.

Given the above competing constraints, it is understood that the 'ideal' footing depth (i.e., feasible maximum basement depth) for this site is about 1.0 to 1.3 metres below existing grade elevations.

There is, however, an additional challenge related to the site grading, which is the focus of this memo. Because of the stormwater drainage outlet for this site (to the proposed stormwater management ponds which will ultimately discharge to the Jock River via creeks and existing drainage ditches), it is not feasible to construct house basements at 1.0 to 1.3 metres depth and also provide gravity drainage of the foundation drains (i.e., weeping tile) to the storm sewer system during storm events. Due to the elevations of the storm sewer outlets, the storm sewers will need to be installed at a relatively shallow level, with the obverts and hydraulic grade line (HGL) being above the footing level (although the *invert* levels of the storm sewers will still be below the footing levels).

It is therefore proposed to provide these houses with sump pumps. The sump pumps and weeping tile system will collect groundwater inflows during those times of the year when the groundwater level rises above the footing level and will pump to the storm sewer system. A sketch of the proposed arrangement is provided in Appendix A.

This proposed design, with the use of sump pumps, is similar to what is used for rural housing/developments and what is also understood to currently be used by all/most of the existing houses in Richmond Village. In particular, this system is consistent with what is used in the adjacent existing Richmond Oaks development, which directly abuts the east side of the site. It is understood that the use of similar sump pump systems is also common for urban developments in other municipalities of Ontario.

The City of Ottawa does not currently have clear guidelines on the use of sump pumps for *urban* house construction. In the absence of such guidelines, the acceptability of the proposed footing levels has been evaluated based on geotechnical and hydrogeological assessments, as discussed further in following sections of this memo.

It is understood that, for this site, the City of Ottawa is looking for justification to support the desire to establish footing levels at the 1.0 to 1.3 metre depths which have been proposed (and which are needed to make this development feasible). As discussed above, a *shallower* footing arrangement is not feasible for this site due to the geotechnical restrictions on the permissible grade raise and the large cost/quantity of fill material that would need to be imported to the site (since the site would not have a cut-fill 'balance'). Therefore, it is necessary to document why the proposed founding levels (with the use of sump pumps) are indeed feasible from an engineering/technical perspective.



In the absence of detailed City of Ottawa guidelines, the acceptable founding depths for the use of sump pumps have been evaluated by means of four separate assessments:

- 1) By the undertaking of technical studies (i.e., groundwater modelling) focused on the expected operating conditions that will apply to the sump pumps;
- By comparison of the design to the City of Ottawa's practices that are currently applied to individual rural residences, including examination of test pits excavated across the site to directly observe the soil and groundwater conditions;
- 3) By comparison of the proposed design to other developments with consistent conditions; and,
- 4) By comparison to the City of Ottawa Sewer Design Guidelines (October 2012).

In the absence of any specified performance objectives by the City of Ottawa, the design team has proposed the following design criteria:

- The footing/basement depths should be selected such that the sump pumps would not operate continuously, but rather, would only need to operate during limited time periods, such as during wet seasons (e.g., spring and fall) or during significant rain events; and,
- When the sump pump is required to operate, the groundwater inflow rate to the foundation drains and the corresponding necessary pumping rate should be well within the capacity of a typical sump pump.

The ultimate objective of these design criteria is to avoid basement flooding, either during power failures or due to overwhelming of the pumping system. It is considered that, provided the above criteria are met, the risk of basement flooding is reasonably small, such as would be accepted by homeowners, insurers, etc., and would be consistent with normal sump pump usage in Ontario.

An added consideration in this assessment is the effect that developing the site will have on the long-term groundwater levels. Much of eastern Ontario is underlain by Champlain Sea clay, which is a soil with a low hydraulic conductivity. As a result, and due to the relatively flat topography prevalent in the area, the natural groundwater levels in Eastern Ontario tend to be relatively shallow. This is also the case for this site, where the shallow groundwater levels reflect the current agricultural land uses and poorly drained conditions which have been created (due to the aforementioned berms which currently prevent the free-drainage of surface water).

However, urban and suburban development is well known to create conditions which lead to long term groundwater level *lowering*. The installation of sewer pipes within a 'surround' of granular material (as needed to support and install the pipes) creates an inherent subsurface drainage system. In addition, natural infiltration is reduced by development, since much of the post-development surface area is relatively impermeable (e.g., roofs, asphalt roadways, etc.) and rainwater is conveyed rapidly to the storm sewer system. This resulting combined effect of subsurface drainage and reduced infiltration causing groundwater level lowering is well known to local geotechnical engineers and, in fact, measures are sometimes implemented to prevent the groundwater level lowering from being excessive (because, in some cases, the lowering can lead to ground settlement). In the case of this site, the use of a sump pump drainage system is made even more feasible when viewed in the context that the post-development groundwater levels will end up lower than the pre-development levels. Considering the rather shallow footing levels that are proposed (at only about 1.0 to 1.3 metres depth), there is little likelihood of groundwater levels persisting above that level after full build-out of the development.

The following sections provide further detail on each of the four assessments, as described above, of the conditions on this site, in terms of using sump pumps.



It should be noted that the assessments discussed in this memo are focused on the north and central portions of the site, which are those parts underlain by clay and the surficial sandy deposit. For the south portion of the site, which is adjacent to the Jock River and where bedrock is near surface, it is proposed to set the footing levels such that the footings and foundation drains should not be below the 100-year flood level in the Jock River.

4.0 TECHNICAL STUDY

Golder Associates Ltd. (Golder Associates) has undertaken a multi-staged numerical modelling program to simulate the hydrogeologic conditions at this site, with the objective of quantitatively evaluating the future groundwater levels and potential inflows to a sump pump system, based on the proposed conceptual design.

4.1 Hydrogeologic Subsurface Investigation

For this assessment to be meaningful, it was necessary to first carry out a supplementary subsurface investigation and monitoring plan to:

- Better evaluate the subsurface stratigraphy on the site;
- Evaluate the hydraulic conductivity of the various strata (e.g., of the clay, sand, and bedrock); and,
- Evaluate the groundwater levels and, if possible, the range of groundwater level variations.

The subsurface investigation was carried out by Golder Associates in April 2010 and included the drilling of eight boreholes across the site, as shown on Figure 3. The boreholes were advanced to depths varying from about 4 to 6 metres below present ground surface. Some of the boreholes were also advanced/cored into the shallower bedrock that exists on the south part of the site. Monitoring wells were installed in the boreholes, including wells at multiple depths in some of the boreholes.

'Rising head' testing was carried out in the monitoring wells to evaluate the hydraulic conductivity of the soil and bedrock strata. This testing involved rapidly pumping down the water level in the well (or conversely *raising* the water level in the well) and then monitoring the rate at which the water level recovered.

The investigation program also included monitoring the groundwater levels in the monitoring wells over a 13 month time period, between April 2010 and April 2011, plus two follow-up monitoring sessions in May 2012 and July 2013 (see Table 1).

In summary, the results of the subsurface investigation, hydrogeologic testing, and groundwater level monitoring indicated/confirmed the following:

- The hydraulic conductivities of the key strata are as follows:
 - Surficial weathered brown silty clay crust: 4x10⁻⁶ to 1x10⁻⁵ m/s;
 - Underlying unweathered grey silty clay: 5x10⁻⁶ m/s;
 - Surficial sand and silt (central portion of site): 1x10⁻⁶ to 7x10⁻⁶ m/s;
 - Glacial till: 5×10^{-6} m/s; and,
 - Dolomite bedrock: $5x10^{-6}$ to $1x10^{-4}$ m/s.



- The groundwater levels varied as follows:
 - From near ground surface to 1.3 metres below ground surface in the spring and fall (average 0.5 metres below ground surface); and,
 - From 0.3 to 1.8 metres below ground surface in the summer and winter (average 0.9 metres below ground surface).

4.2 Numerical Model Construction

Two separate numerical groundwater flow models were developed (using the MODFLOW commercial software). The two models were as follows:

- The first model is referred to as the "Long Term Drainage Model". It was made to be representative of a large portion of the proposed development area and was used to predict the <u>long term</u> (i.e., steady state) groundwater levels that will ultimately be created at the site, for the post-development condition; and,
- The second model is referred to as the "100-year Storm Event Model". It was made to be representative of a single lot and was used to evaluate the short-term sump pump response to the 100-year storm and the spring freshet (i.e., during periods of high rain water infiltration and groundwater levels).

The details and findings of these two models are discussed separately below.

4.3 Long Term Drainage Model

The details regarding the construction of the Long Term Drainage Model are summarized as follows:

- This model was used to predict the <u>long term</u> groundwater levels that that will exist over a representative large section of the proposed development, for the post-development condition, and the model therefore covers an area of approximately 700 by 900 metres in size.
- The model topography and size was selected to be representative of the conditions within the central portion of the proposed development, and to represent the conditions for the construction of the first houses (approximately 150 houses in total).
- The hydraulic conductivity values (for horizontal flow) were selected based on the aforementioned testing results, as follows:
 - Overburden: 5 x10⁻⁶ m/s (for all soil types);
 - Upper weathered bedrock (2 metre thick layer): 5x10⁻⁵ m/s; and,
 - Deeper bedrock: 5x10⁻⁷ m/s.

These values are representative of the average measured values from the subsurface investigation.

- The natural (pre-development) groundwater flow was modelled to be to the north-east, towards an existing drainage ditch (un-named tributary).
- The model boundary conditions and parameters were calibrated such that the initial groundwater levels corresponded to the highest recorded groundwater levels from the aforementioned monitoring (which were the water levels recorded in the spring of 2011).



- The effects of developing the site were simulated as follows:
 - The model simulated the installation of higher hydraulic conductivity (i.e., 'free draining') granular material as the granular 'surround' of the storm sewers, based on the alignments and invert depths of the storm sewer system as designed by DSEL, which range from about 2.0 to 2.5 metres below the future roadway surface. [Note: It is understood that the extent of any higher conductivity pipe surround material would be subject to City approval.]
 - The proposed 'Pond 1' storm water management pond (SWMP) was included in the model, since it will form a groundwater discharge point. The pond water level in the model was set to the 'normal operating level' of the pond (92.35 masl).
 - Infiltration to the water table from surface (recharge) was set to be consistent with current conditions (i.e., with the existing soil and vegetation cover). This represents a 'conservative' condition, since, as discussed previously, infiltration will actually be reduced due to the impermeable surfaces present in the developed condition (e.g., roofs, pavement, etc.).

The results of the modelling are summarized as follows:

- The long term (i.e., steady-state) water table within the proposed development would be at greater than approximately 1.9 metres depth (relative to the roadway level), which is below the proposed footing and foundation drain level.
- These conditions would be achieved after complete build-out of the storm sewer network. However, the effect of dewatering during construction (i.e., pumping from the trenches while the sewers are installed) and the reduced infiltration that will exist after development would decrease the time required to achieve steady-state conditions.

These results are considered to be applicable to all those portions of the site underlain by silt and clay, which includes essentially the north half of the site.

4.4 100-Year Storm Event Model

The details regarding the construction of the 100-year Storm Event Model are summarized as follows:

- This model focused on making a prediction of the sump pump response of a single house to transient/high groundwater levels, such as would occur during the 100-year storm and during the spring freshet (i.e., thaw). The model was therefore constructed to focus on 'smaller scale' conditions analogous to the development of a single lot/house, and covers an area measuring 10 metres by 14 metres (which allowed more detailed refinement of the model structure around the foundation drains).
- The model ground level and boundaries were selected to correspond to an area that is close to, and therefore hydraulically connected to, the Pond 1 SWMP, such that the groundwater levels could be evaluated during filling of the pond up to the 100-year storm event level.
- The hydraulic conductivities of the strata were consistent with the Long Term Drainage Model, as discussed previously.
- The foundation drain elevation was set at 2.4 metres depth below the finished grade around the house (which is about 2.1 metres below the roadway surface), consistent with conventional basement construction and slightly deeper than currently proposed.



The conditions during a 100-year storm event were simulated by raising the groundwater level in the storm sewer trench backfill, up to the design storm level in the pond. To further simulate the additional impact of the 100-year storm occurring concurrently with the spring freshet, the recharge was set at 2000 millimetres per year during the same 24 hour period. Two additional simulations were completed in which the recharge was increased to 4000 millimetres per year and 8000 millimetres per year to further evaluate the sensitivity of the model to this parameter. The latter two values are well in excess of the possible actual level of infiltration, even during the spring thaw.

The results of the modelling are summarized as follows:

- The calculated groundwater inflow to the foundation drain is shown on Figure 4.
- The peak anticipated inflow to the foundation drain during the 100-year storm event ranged from 1.4 to 2.0 m³/day for the range of recharge values simulated (2000 to 8000 millimetres per year). These flows represent the maximum expected sump pump pumping rate due to groundwater inflow.
- Following the storm event, flow to the foundation drains ended within 12 hours (as also shown on Figure 4).

Included in Appendix B is a data sheet for a typical sump pump, such as would be installed in these houses. The capacity of the sump pump, as noted in the Performance Data plot on the second sheet in the attachment, is about 100 Litres per minute for the total 'head' that this pump will need to overcome. This pumping rate is equivalent to more than 140 m³/day, and therefore is well above the anticipated maximum required pumping rate determined from the modelling.

In the event of power outages, the proposed back-up power for the sump pump configuration will provide an additional level of protection. An assessment of the back-up pump endurance is provided in the DSEL memo provided in Appendix C.

4.5 Modelling Conclusions

The results of this modelling exercise, even if considered to provide a conceptual/qualitative rather than precise quantitative findings, provide the following three key conclusions:

- Consistent with local experience and common knowledge of geotechnical engineers and hydrogeologists, developing this site with an urban residential subdivision will result in a lowering of the groundwater level, and the resulting water table will be below the planned depth of the footings and foundation drains. As a result, sump pumps for this development would not be expected to operate continuously.
- The time required for the groundwater levels to be lowered will not be long, on the order of one year after build-out of the storm sewer network. The time would in fact likely be less, since the modelling did not consider the dewatering that would be carried out during installation of the sewer systems (i.e., the pumping from the trenches during installation of the site services).
- Even during periods of high infiltration, high groundwater levels, and high water levels in the on-site SWMPs, the rate of inflow to the foundation drains would be modest and well below the pumping capacity of a normal sump pump.



5.0 COMPARISON TO CURRENT CITY RURAL PRACTICE USING TEST PIT OBSERVATIONS

Although the City of Ottawa does not have detailed guidelines regarding the use of sump pumps for urban developments (and the corresponding founding levels and site grading design), there is understood to be an 'unwritten' protocol for establishing the suitable grading for individual rural houses. It is our understanding that the protocol for rural houses is as follows:

- The homeowner's septic system contractor has a test pit excavated at the site.
- A representative of the Ottawa Septic Office (which is managed by the local Conservation Authority) inspects the test pit and establishes where the groundwater level is located. This level is established either by observed seepage or by the colour change in the soil, with the soil being browner above the water table and greyer below. The absorption trenches of the septic system then need to be constructed 0.9 metres above that level.
- The City of Ottawa's building inspector uses that groundwater level to set the deepest allowable footing level for the house.

This protocol appears to operate from the practical perspective that the basement should be located above the groundwater level that is established based on observations made in an actual excavation at the site just prior to issuance of the building permit.

A series of test pits was thus excavated across this site in late July 2013 under observation by Golder Associates. In total, 19 test pits were excavated across the site, and were extended to depths ranging from 1.4 to 2.2 metres. City of Ottawa staff were present for excavation of several of the test pits.

The test pits were spread across the site, including the clay (north), sandy (south-central), and shallow bedrock (south) parts of the site.

The conditions observed in the test pits are summarized as follows:

- In general, groundwater seepage was observed to be at about 1.0 to 1.3 metres depth.
- A locally deeper groundwater level was observed in one test pit excavated in the sandy portion of the site, at 1.8 metres depth.
- In both the clay and sandy portions of the site, the rate of groundwater inflow to the test pits was similar and very modest. From a practical perspective, there was no noticeable difference in the rate of inflow between the clay and the sand. The sandy deposit was observed to be very fine grained (i.e., to be very 'silty') while the clay has very fine fissures. The result is that the conditions in the two deposits are similar (similar hydraulic conductivity), resulting in minor groundwater inflow.
- From a geotechnical/constructability perspective, it was also observed that the clay deposit at 1 metre depth was sufficiently dry and stiff to form a suitable subgrade for footing construction; i.e., the clay soil at this depth was dry to touch (did not wet the hand) and dry enough to stand on without the clay being slippery.

Based on these conditions, it is considered that a founding level at about 1 metre depth would be entirely acceptable from both a geotechnical and hydrogeological perspective. It would not be expected that, with basements constructed to this depth, the sump pumps would be required to operate other than during the spring/fall or during rain events. In addition to providing a very direct and practical assessment of the appropriate founding depth (i.e., for which sump pumps would have to work only intermittently), this exercise



also emulated what is understood to be the City of Ottawa's practice for establishing the lowest founding depth for rural houses.

In regards to this assessment, the following two additional points should be noted:

- These test pits were excavated during a period of raining weather; and,
- The surface water drainage on the lower-lying portions of the site, near Perth Street, has been intentionally blocked by the construction of berms. That condition, which impedes the free runoff of rainwater to the ditches and adjacent municipal drains, has likely created a condition of increased recharge and of groundwater levels that are elevated and unrepresentative of the levels that would otherwise exist.

Figures 5a through 5g present plots of groundwater elevations at the monitoring wells, the proposed USF and storm sewer invert elevations in the vicinity of the monitoring wells, and schematics showing a foundation wall and footing drain. Only at MW10-4 and MW10-7 are the groundwater levels consistently above the proposed USF elevations. However, at these locations the storm sewer invert will be below the proposed USF elevations (as shown on Figures 5a through 5g). Therefore, because the granular material surrounding the storm sewers will control the groundwater levels (i.e. will lower the water table), the normal water table elevation will be below the USFs and will rise above the USFs only during spring/fall and rain events. [*Note: it is our understanding that groundwater level monitoring will be undertaken during site development, to monitor the effects of site grading and the installation of sewer infrastructure. DSEL will review and possibly increase USF elevations in the vicinity of MW10-4 and MW10-7 at the detailed grading design stage, based on the groundwater level monitoring results.]*

In summary, it is concluded that, based on the conditions directly observed in actual test pits at the site, a founding depth of up to 1 metre is entirely feasible and appropriate from the perspective of the operation of sump pumps (i.e., having only intermittent/seasonal flow that is well within the pump's capacity). This assessment is based on:

- The depths at which water seepage was observed in the test pits, which was at or below that level;
- The observed modest rates of groundwater inflow, even for the test pits excavated in the sandy soil; and,
- What the acceptable founding levels would be if this work had been carried out for setting the founding level of a rural house, based on our understanding of the City of Ottawa's current protocol.

6.0 COMPARISON TO OTHER DEVELOPMENTS

The proposed founding depth of 1 metre is very common and consistent with other developments in the Ottawa area, both for those equipped with sump pumps as well as those with gravity controlled foundation drainage systems. In fact, for the latter case, houses are frequently founded at greater depth in the clay, because a deeper founding level is required when the permissible grade raise is low, as established by the geotechnical conditions (i.e., based on the capacity of the clay to support the weight of the grading fill). To our knowledge, we are unaware of any difficulties in the City of Ottawa with basements that are installed to their full 2.4 metre depth in these clay deposits, even when located below the groundwater level. Although drainage systems may initially convey a continuous flow of groundwater, the flow is not sustained because the groundwater level is ultimately lowered to at/below footing level, such that the foundation drains only operate during wet seasons. These conditions are considered representative of the performance expected at this site. That is, there should be little to no actual day-to-day sustained flow into the foundation drains. The sump pumps will only be required to operate intermittently, during storms and wet seasons.



There is an existing development which is located immediately adjacent to the east side of this site which is useful for comparison purposes. The following details are understood about that development, which is known as Richmond Oaks:

- The ground conditions are understood to be similar (largely consisting of clay and a shallow water table);
- Based upon plans available, the founding depths of the houses appear to range from 0.8 to 1.1 metres below original ground surface, and the site grade raise is approximately 1.2 metres, which is consistent with what is proposed for this site. The houses are serviced with sump pumps which discharge to storm sewers; and,
- The footing level is below the storm sewer HGL.

We are not aware of any issues regarding basement flooding or the performance of the foundation drainage system and sump pumps in this development. Considering the similarity between the two developments, it would not be unreasonable to permit the use of sump pumps on the currently proposed site.

More generally, it is understood that essentially all of the houses in the entire Village of Richmond use foundation drainage systems with sump pumps. It is understood that DSEL contacted the insurance industry to obtain data on the history of claims related to basement flooding and that inquiry revealed no history of such claims. By extension, there would therefore appear to be no technical reason, from a hydrogeologic perspective, to not similarly permit the use of sump pumps for this site.

Thus, there appears to be no history of basement flooding problems in Richmond that would indicate issues with sump pump operations.

7.0 CITY OF OTTAWA SEWER DESIGN GUIDELINES

The October 2012 City of Ottawa Sewer Design Guidelines make reference to sump pumps in Section 5.7.1 (Connections General), which states, "Three types of systems are available...(2) Sump pit and pump discharging to a ditch." Although the proposal is to discharge to a storm sewer, as the development will not be serviced with ditches, the guideline allows for the use of sump pumps. Section 6.4.3 (Water Table Considerations) states, "All development shall ensure that each foundation footing is above the average water table elevation." As discussed in Sections 4.0, 5.0 and 6.0 of this memorandum, developing this site with an urban residential subdivision will result in a lowering of the groundwater level, as is common for developments on clay in the City of Ottawa, such that foundation footings will be above the average water table elevation.

8.0 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

This memo has summarized the results of four separate assessments regarding the basement/founding levels and the use of sump pumps in this development. It is our opinion, based on these three assessments, that the conditions on this site are suitable to have the footings and foundation drains constructed at up to 1 metre depth. More specifically, it has been shown that the following design/performance criteria would be met:

- The sump pumps would not operate continuously; and,
- When required to operate, the pumping rate would be well within the capacity of the pumps.

These conclusions have been based upon the following:

 Hydrogeologic analyses have shown that, within about a year of the site being developed (and probably sooner), the steady-state groundwater level would be lowered to below the footing level;



- Hydrogeologic analyses have also shown that, during periods of high precipitation/infiltration, when 200 groundwater levels and surface water levels would be high (such that the sump pumps would be required to operate), the rates of inflow to the foundation drains would be well below the capacity of a normal sump pump;
- Test pits excavated across the site have shown that groundwater inflow was only observed below about 1.0 to 1.3 metres depth, the clay above that level is rather dry, and the actual rates of groundwater inflow to the test pits were modest. Furthermore, this assessment methodology was consistent with the practice which has been successfully used for setting the basement levels of individual rural houses;
- The adjacent development has similarly been constructed with sump pumps, with the basements at similar depths, and there are no known troubles or history of basement flooding;
- The entire Village of Richmond is understood to be serviced with sump pumps, and insurance records show 82 no history of basement flooding; and,
- The proposed use of sump pits and pumps is consistent with the current City of Ottawa Sewer Use R.E. Guidelines.

At a very simple and conceptual level, it must be recognized that the proposed 1 metre founding depth is very shallow. It is also well known to local geotechnical engineers and hydrogeologists that development of sites with clay or low permeability soils results in groundwater level lowering in the long term. Therefore, given the low hydraulic conductivity of the soils and the shallow founding depths proposed on this site, there is no reason to believe that basement flooding due to groundwater inflow should be of concern.

9.0 CLOSURE

We trust that this memo is adequate for your current needs. Please contact the undersigned if you have any questions.

Yours truly,

GOLDER ASSOCIATES LTD.

Mike Cunningham, P.Eng. Associate, Geotechnical Engineer

Brian Byerley, M.Sc., P.Eng.



Principal, Senior Hydrogeologist

MIC/BTB/sg n:\active\2012\1127 - geosciences\12-1127-0062 richmond village drainage and sump design\reporting\phase 8000\12-1127-0062 tech memo on basement depths 4nov2013.docx

Attachments:

Important Information and Limitations of this Memorandum Table 1 – Groundwater Monitoring Data Figure 1 – Key Plan Figure 2 - Site Plan Figure 3 – Surficial Geology Figure 4 - Simulated Flows to Foundation Drain (100-Year Storm Model) Figures 5a through 5g – Groundwater vs Proposed USF Appendix A – Sump Pump Detail Appendix B – Sump Pump Data Sheet Appendix C – DSEL memorandum dated October 30, 2013



IMPORTANT INFORMATION AND LIMITATIONS OF THIS REPORT

Standard of Care: Golder Associates Ltd. (Golder) has prepared this report in a manner consistent with that level of care and skill ordinarily exercised by members of the engineering and science professions currently practising under similar conditions in the jurisdiction in which the services are provided, subject to the time limits and physical constraints applicable to this report. No other warranty, expressed or implied is made.

Basis and Use of the Report: This report has been prepared for the specific site, design objective, development and purpose described to Golder by the Client, <u>Richmond Village (South) Limited and Mattamy (Jock River)</u> <u>Limited</u>. The factual data, interpretations and recommendations pertain to a specific project as described in this report and are not applicable to any other project or site location. Any change of site conditions, purpose, development plans or if the project is not initiated within eighteen months of the date of the report may alter the validity of the report. Golder cannot be responsible for use of this report, or portions thereof, unless Golder is requested to review and, if necessary, revise the report.

The information, recommendations and opinions expressed in this report are for the sole benefit of the Client. No other party may use or rely on this report or any portion thereof without Golder's express written consent. If the report was prepared to be included for a specific permit application process, then the client may authorize the use of this report for such purpose by the regulatory agency as an Approved User for the specific and identified purpose of the applicable permit review process, provided this report is not noted to be a draft or preliminary report, and is specifically relevant to the project for which the application is being made. Any other use of this report by others is prohibited and is without responsibility to Golder. The report, all plans, data, drawings and other documents as well as all electronic media prepared by Golder are considered its professional work product and shall remain the copyright property of Golder, who authorizes only the Client and Approved Users to make copies of the report, but only in such quantities as are reasonably necessary for the use of the report or any portion thereof to any other party without the express written permission of Golder. The Client acknowledges that electronic media is susceptible to unauthorized modification, deterioration and incompatibility and therefore the Client cannot rely upon the electronic media versions of Golder's report or other work products.

The report is of a summary nature and is not intended to stand alone without reference to the instructions given to Golder by the Client, communications between Golder and the Client, and to any other reports prepared by Golder for the Client relative to the specific site described in the report. In order to properly understand the suggestions, recommendations and opinions expressed in this report, reference must be made to the whole of the report. Golder cannot be responsible for use of portions of the report without reference to the entire report.

Unless otherwise stated, the suggestions, recommendations and opinions given in this report are intended only for the guidance of the Client in the design of the specific project. The extent and detail of investigations, including the number of test holes, necessary to determine all of the relevant conditions which may affect construction costs would normally be greater than has been carried out for design purposes. Contractors bidding on, or undertaking the work, should rely on their own investigations, as well as their own interpretations of the factual data presented in the report, as to how subsurface conditions may affect their work, including but not limited to proposed construction techniques, schedule, safety and equipment capabilities.

Soil, Rock and Groundwater Conditions: Classification and identification of soils, rocks, and geologic units have been based on commonly accepted methods employed in the practice of geotechnical engineering and related disciplines. Classification and identification of the type and condition of these materials or units involves judgment, and boundaries between different soil, rock or geologic types or units may be transitional rather than abrupt. Accordingly, Golder does not warrant or guarantee the exactness of the descriptions.

IMPORTANT INFORMATION AND LIMITATIONS OF THIS REPORT (cont'd)

Special risks occur whenever engineering or related disciplines are applied to identify subsurface conditions and even a comprehensive investigation, sampling and testing program may fail to detect all or certain subsurface conditions. The environmental, geologic, geotechnical, geochemical and hydrogeologic conditions that Golder interprets to exist between and beyond sampling points may differ from those that actually exist. In addition to soil variability, fill of variable physical and chemical composition can be present over portions of the site or on adjacent properties. **The professional services retained for this project include only the geotechnical aspects of the subsurface conditions at the site, unless otherwise specifically stated and identified in the report.** The presence or implication(s) of possible surface and/or subsurface contamination resulting from previous activities or uses of the site and/or resulting from the introduction onto the site of materials from off-site sources are outside the terms of reference for this project and have not been investigated or addressed.

Soil and groundwater conditions shown in the factual data and described in the report are the observed conditions at the time of their determination or measurement. Unless otherwise noted, those conditions form the basis of the recommendations in the report. Groundwater conditions may vary between and beyond reported locations and can be affected by annual, seasonal and meteorological conditions. The condition of the soil, rock and groundwater may be significantly altered by construction activities (traffic, excavation, groundwater level lowering, pile driving, blasting, etc.) on the site or on adjacent sites. Excavation may expose the soils to changes due to wetting, drying or frost. Unless otherwise indicated the soil must be protected from these changes during construction.

Follow-Up and Construction Services: All details of the design were not known at the time of submission of Golder's report. Golder should be retained to review the final design, project plans and documents prior to construction, to confirm that they are consistent with the intent of Golder's report.

During construction, Golder should be retained to perform sufficient and timely observations of encountered conditions to confirm and document that the subsurface conditions do not materially differ from those interpreted conditions considered in the preparation of Golder's report and to confirm and document that construction activities do not adversely affect the suggestions, recommendations and opinions contained in Golder's report. Adequate field review, observation and testing during construction are necessary for Golder to be able to provide letters of assurance, in accordance with the requirements of many regulatory authorities. In cases where this recommendation is not followed, Golder's responsibility is limited to interpreting accurately the information encountered at the borehole locations, at the time of their initial determination or measurement during the preparation of the Report.

Changed Conditions and Drainage: Where conditions encountered at the site differ significantly from those anticipated in this report, either due to natural variability of subsurface conditions or construction activities, it is a condition of this report that Golder be notified of any changes and be provided with an opportunity to review or revise the recommendations within this report. Recognition of changed soil and rock conditions requires experience and it is recommended that Golder be employed to visit the site with sufficient frequency to detect if conditions have changed significantly.

Drainage of subsurface water is commonly required either for temporary or permanent installations for the project. Improper design or construction of drainage or dewatering can have serious consequences. Golder takes no responsibility for the effects of drainage unless specifically involved in the detailed design and construction monitoring of the system.

	Cround	Screen					Table			Gro	undwater De	epths (mbgs	5)						
Well ID	Surface Elevation (geodetic) ¹	depth (middle of screen) (mbgs)	Soil/rock at depth of well screen	Apr.29 & 30, 2010	May 14, 2010	Jun.16, 2010	Jul. 15, 2010	Aug. 20, 2010	Sept. 16, 2010	Oct. 1, 2010	Oct 18, 2010	Nov. 19, 2010	Dec. 15, 2010	Jan. 18, 2011	Feb. 14, 2011	Mar. 15, 2011	Apr. 21, 2011	May 1, 2012	July 31, 2013
MW10-1A	94.55	3.15	Grey silty Clay	0.67	0.72	0.74	0.75	0.72	0.75	0.55	0.71	0.66	0.73	0.94	1.15	0.83	0.58	0.77	0.92
MW10-1B	94.55	1.21	Grey brown silty Clay (weathered crust)	0.66	0.69	0.72	0.72	0.71	0.73	0.55	0.67	0.65	0.70	0.89	1.09	0.83	0.58	0.75	1.23
MW10-2	94.90	2.12	Grey brown silty fine Sand	0.70	0.64	0.83	0.63	0.93	0.91	0.14	0.56	0.31	0.53	0.75	0.86	0.53	0.10	<u></u> 5	0.82
MW10-3A	93.99	4.55	Fresh grey Dolomite	0.18	0.22	0.54	0.24	0.19	0.21	-0.13 ²	0.04	-0.09 ²	4	4	4	4	-0.25 ²	-0.09	0.08
MW10-3B	93.99	2.12	Grey brown silty Clay (weathered crust) / grey brown fine sandy Silt	0.81	0.80	0.86	0.78	0.86	0.84	0.42	0.71	0.55	0.72	0.89	0.75	0.67	0.27	0.61	0.68
MW10-4A	94.34	3.03	Grey brown fine sandy Silt	0.41	0.40	0.49	0.42	0.57	0.55	0.04	0.40	0.19	0.37	0.46	0.56	0.34	0.14	⁵	0.46
MW10-4B	94.34	1.21	Grey brown silty Clay (weathered crust)	0.40	0.42	0.49	0.42	0.57	0.55	0.01	0.39	0.18	0.37	0.48	0.58	4	0.18	0.46	0.61
MW10-5A	94.82	3.03	Glacial Till	0.81	0.78	3	³	³	³	³	³	3	3	³	³	3	3	3	3
MW10-5B	94.82	1.21	Grey brown silty fine Sand	0.85	0.84	1.29	³	³	3	3	3	³	³	³	³	³	³	³	³
MW10-6A	95.67	4.24	Fresh grey Dolomite	1.36	1.36	1.96	1.32	1.29	1.50	0.64	0.82	0.65	0.66	1.20	1.42	0.53	0.43	0.94	1.16
MW10-6B	95.67	1.52	Grey brown silty Sand trace Clay	1.27	1.26	1.82	1.57	1.10	1.53	0.29	0.60	0.23	0.47	1.14	1.40	4	0.03	0.85	1.15
MW10-7	95.36	2.42	Grey brown silty fine Sand	0.46	0.44	1.04	0.93	0.33	0.42	-0.02 ²	0.01	-0.01 ²	-0.02 ²	4	4	4	-0.03 ²	⁵	0.44
MW10-8	96.32	2.42	Weathered to fresh grey Dolomite	0.98	1.11	1.48	1.35	1.20	1.25	0.19	0.27	0.22	0.23	0.76	0.77	4	0.15	0.40	0.77

Table 1: Groundwater Monitoring Data

Notes:

Groundwater depth measurements revised in September 2013 to reflect surveyed top of casing and ground surface elevations (From May 14, 2010). Previously presented data reflected manually measured height of casing at time of well construction. Ground surface elevations at MW10-8 and MW10-5 revised in September 2013 as per surveyed elevations 1: Survey completed on May 14, 2010 by J.D. Barnes Limited (Ottawa). 2: Artesian conditions exist. Groundwater level above ground surface.

3: Monitoring well MW 10-5 A and B vandalized and groundwater levels not available.
4: Groundwater in monitoring well frozen. Depth to groundwater level could not be measured.
5: Only select wells were monitored in May 2012 as a component of a hydraulic response testing program.





Geosciences/12-1127-0062 Richmond Village Drainage and Sump Design/Spatial_IM/CAD/Phase 8000/1211270062-8000-01.dwg T : October 16, 2013 N:\Active\2012\1127 PLOT DATE: FILENAME: N





LEGEND

MONITORING WELL LOCATION
WATERCOURSE
RAILWAY
ROADWAY
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT LANDS
RICHMOND VILLAGE BOUNDARY
SURFICIAL GEOLOGY
7 Organic Deposits: Muck & Peat
6a Alluvial Deposits: Silty Sand, Silt, Sand & Clay
5a Nearshore Sediments: Gravel, Sand & Boulders
5b Nearshore Sediments: Fine To Medium Grained Sand
3 Offshore Marine Deposits: Clay, Silty Clay & Silt
1a Till, Plain With Local Relief <5m
3a Offshore Marine Deposits: Clay, Silt Underlying Erosional Terraces
1c Till, Hummocky To Rolling With Local Relief 5 To 10m
r2 Bedrock: Limestone, Dolomite, Sandstone & Local Shale
zz Water

NOTE

THIS FIGURE IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE ACCOMPANYING GOLDER ASSOCIATES TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM. 12-1127-0062-8000

REFERENCE

BASE DATA - CANVEC PROVIDED BY HER MAJESTY THE QUEEN IN RIGHT OF CANADA, DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES PROJECTION: TRANSVERSE MERCATOR DATUM: NAD 83 COORDINATE SYSTEM: UTM ZONE 18

475	237.5	C)			475
		Met 1:12,	ers 000			
PROJECT	RIC	HMON OF SL	ND \ JBS	/ILLAGE URFAC	e E Drainage	Ξ
TITLE	SURF	ICIAI	G	EOLO	GY	
A		PROJECT	No. 12	-1127-0062	SCALE AS SHOWN	REV. 0.0
	Golder	DESIGN	NB	2012-05		
	Associates	CHECK	MIC	2012-07	FIGURE	Ξ3
	Ottawa, Ontario	REVIEW	BTB	2013-10-16		-

2.5 2.0 Inflow (m³/day) 1.5 1.0 0.5 0.0 . \ 0.00 0.25 0.50 0.75 1.001.25 1.50 1.75 2.00 Elapsed Time from Start of 100-Year Storm (Day) ----- Recharge = 2000 mm/year ------ Recharge = 4000 mm/year ------- Recharge = 8000 mm/year



THIS FIGURE IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE ACCOMPANYING GOLDER ASSOCIATES LTD. TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM No. 12-1127-0062-8000



RICHMOND VILLAGE ASSESSMENT OF SUBSURFACE DRAINAGE SIMULATED FLOWS TO FOUNDATION DRAIN (100-YEAR STORM MODEL)

FIGURE 4

CAD JM









DATE 2013-10-16



PROJECT No. 12-1127-0062



LEGEND

------ MW10-6

POND 2 PERMANENT POOL

NOTE

1. CONCEPTUAL USF ELEVATIONS PROVIDED BY DSEL

2. THIS FIGURE IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE ACCOMPANYING GOLDER ASSOCIATES LTD. REPORT No. 12-1127-0062-8000



ASSESSMENT OF SUBSURFACE DRAINAGE GROUNDWATER VS. PROPOSED USF IN THE VICINITY OF MONITROING WELL MW10-6

FIGURE 5E

RICHMOND VILLAGE

2013-10-16 CAD JM





PROJECT No. 12-1127-0062 DATE 2013-10-16

CAD JM







PROJECT No.: 13-654
DATE: MARCH 2013
DRAWN BY: KM / ADF
SCALE: N.T.S.
FIGURE: 6





HYDROMATIC®

FG-100A BATTERY BACK-UP SUMP PUMP

Protects Home If AC-powered pump fails

Backs Up Residential Sump Pump

Automatically during power outage or pump failure (primary pump and piping not included)

Reliable Operation Self-Charging System Continuous

Solid-State Controller Monitors battery charge and pump operation

Audible Alarm Sounds when standby pump activates

Controller Includes connectors for pump, charger, float switch and battery*

Area Light Illuminates dark, powerless work area

Works with Flooded and Sealed AGM Deep Cycle Lead-Acid Battery Can use two batteries for extended protection

Resettable Circuit Breaker Eliminates the need for a fuse

2A 5-Stage Charger Maintains 90% charge

* Deep cycle marine-type battery (Group 24) recommended – not included with FG-100 system



Catalog Number	Volts	Hz	Cord Length	Aprox. Wt. Lbs.
FG-100A	12	60	8'	14.75

System includes: Pump, dual check valves, 1-1/4 x 1-1/2 inch adapter tee, battery box and control panel (battery not included).





Features

The Hydromatic® FG-100A battery operated back-up sump pump is designed to back up primary residential sump pumps in case of pump or power failure. A must for those installations where an inoperative sump pump cannot be tolerated. Separate float switch and built-in alarm automatically start back-up system and activates warning buzzer to protect against high water damage and warn of primary pump failure.

Details

Specifications

- Housing Thermoplastic
- Intermittent Liquid Temperature Up to 77°F (25°C)
- Pump Down Range Variable with float setting
- Pump Discharge 1.25" NPT (31.75 mm)
- Motor 12V, DC, 9A at 10 ft. (3M) lift
- Impeller - Thermoplastic
- Power Cord 8 ft. SJT, 16/2 GA 0
- Capacities Up to 30 GPM (114 LPM) ۲
- Heads To 16 ft. (4.88 m)
- Battery Charger Input 120V, 60 Hz; Output 12V, 2A; Plug-in . type wall-mounted transformer
- Check Valve Dual check valves
- Battery Requirement* 12V, deep cycle, marine type (Group 24), minimum 75-120 AH

Performance Data



www.hydromatic.com

USA 740 East 9th Street, Ashland, Ohio 44805 Tel: 1-888-957-8677 Fax: 419-281-4087

Typical Installation



* Deep cycle marine-type battery (Group 24) recommended - not included with FG-100 system

Your Authorized Local Distributor

CANADA

269 Trillium Drive, Kitchener, Ontario, Canada N2G 4W5 Tel: 519-896-2163 Fax: 519-896-6337

© 2008 Hydromatic® Ashland, Ohio. All Rights Reserved.

Item #: W-02-7740 7/08

APPENDIX C

DSEL Memorandum Dated October 30, 2013




120 Iber Road Unit 203 Stittsville, Ontario K2S 1E9 Tel (613) 836-0856 Fax (613) 836-7183 www.DSEL.ca

October 30, 2013 DSEL File: 10-468

Attention: Note to File

Re: Richmond Village – Western Development Lands – Sump Pump Back-Up Evaluation

Through review of development options in the Western Development Lands, in the Village of Richmond, it has been concluded that the provision of sump pumps will be required. The sump pumps and weeping tile system will collect groundwater inflows during those times of the year when the groundwater level rises above the footing level and pump to the storm sewer system. Additional rationale is provided in Golder Associates' *Technical Memorandum 12-1127-0062(8000)*. The proposed use of sump pumps is similar to the majority of the existing homes in Richmond.

In addition to the typical sump pump configuration, a back-up sump pump option (with standby power) is also proposed. In the event of power outages, the back-up configuration will provide an additional level of protection. After review of various guidelines it is appears that this is not a mandatory requirement of the City of Ottawa.

With the chosen back-up pump model (Hydromatic FG-100A or equivalent), the manufacturer recommends a marine-type battery with a minimum of 75 "amp-hours (AH)" of service. The AH rating is based upon testing over a standard 20 hour period to establish how long it takes the battery to drain. A 75AH battery indicates that a 3.75A load was applied over 20 hours to drain the battery (i.e. $3.75A \times 20hr = 75AH$). Note: Higher amp loading than the 3.75A tested will equate to less amperage hours available¹. Assumed to be 10% efficiency loss in this case (i.e. lowers to 90% of original rating).

For a battery with 75AH of service, the pump (9 amp for this model) would have the ability to provide pumping for 7.5 hours (75AH/9A \times 0.90 = 7.5 hours). At the pump rating of 100 L/min this would be equivalent to 100 L/min \times 7.5hr \times 60min = 45,000 L (45 m³) of outflow. If predicted inflows to the weeping tile system (per the Golder technical memo) are in the order of 2.0m³/day this equates to approximately 22 days of backup pumping. The back-up power would provide sufficient pumping even in extended periods of power outages.

David Schaeffer Engineering Ltd.

Per: Kevin L. Murphy, P.Eng.

¹Peukert's law expresses the **capacity** of a **lead-acid battery** in terms of the rate at which it is discharged. As the rate increases, the battery's available capacity decreases.



DATE October 23, 2013

PROJECT No. 12-1127-0062

- TO Frank Cairo Richmond Village (South) Limited
- CC Mike Green Mattamy (Jock River) Limited

FROM Brian Byerley, P. Eng.

EMAIL Brian_Byerley@golder.com

STORM WATER MANAGEMENT POND 2 DESIGN RECOMMENDATIONS, WESTERN DEVELOPMENT LANDS, VILLAGE OF RICHMOND DEVELOPMENT, OTTAWA, ONTARIO

Richmond Village (South) Limited (RVSL) has requested Golder Associates Ltd. (Golder) to provide preliminary design recommendations concerning the proposed depth of Storm Water Management (SWM) Pond 2 in the Western Development Lands (the site). The current preliminary design of SWM Pond 2 (a shallow wetland pond) has been developed by David Schaeffer Engineering Ltd. (DSEL), based on the required function of the pond and the proposed lay-out of the site infrastructure.

Subsurface conditions in the vicinity of SWM Pond 2 were previously investigated by Golder in 2010 by completion of borehole BH10-06. The subsurface conditions at BH10-6 consist of 0.25 metres of topsoil, over approximately 1.58 metres of sandy silt to silty sand, over approximately 1.24 of glacial till. Dolostone bedrock was encountered directly beneath the glacial till, at approximately 3.07 metres below ground surface (mbgs). Two monitoring wells were installed in BH10-6: MW10-6A (in bedrock) and MW10-6B (in overburden). See the attached borehole record for details regarding subsurface conditions and monitoring well construction.

Groundwater level monitoring between 2010 and 2013 has indicated that the groundwater levels at MW10-6A (in bedrock) ranged from 0.43 mbgs (in spring) to 1.96 mbgs (in summer). Slug testing at MW10-6A determined that the horizontal hydraulic conductivity of the shallow bedrock to be approximately 5x10-6 m/s.

Based on the available information, Golder recommends that SWM Pond 2 be designed to be as shallow as possible, with no or minimal excavation into rock for the following reasons:

- The hydraulic head in the bedrock would prevent the construction of a pond liner, if required;
- Although the bedrock horizontal hydraulic conductivity measured at MW10-6A is similar to the hydraulic conductivity of the overlying silty sand and silty clay deposits, higher hydraulic conductivity has been measured in the bedrock elsewhere on-site. Therefore, the design of the pond should consider the possibility that vertical fractures in the shallow bedrock might permit increased groundwater flow through the bottom of the pond, which could be problematic in terms of the constructability of the pond. The outlet sewer would also need to accommodate additional flow;



0

B. T. BYERLEY

23/10/

NOR

CEA

Brian Byerley, M.Sc., P.Eng.

Senior Hydrogeologist/Principal

- If SWM Pond 2 was excavated into bedrock, possible high rates of groundwater flow into the pond could prevent draining of the pond for regular maintenance; and,
- Lots adjacent to the development lands are serviced by individual water supply wells (typically 30 metres 16 deep), which obtain water from the bedrock. Minimising the amount of rock excavation will also minimise the possibility of impacts to those wells.

We trust that this memorandum is sufficient for your current needs. Please contact the undersigned if you have any questions. ROFESSIONAL

Yours Truly

GOLDER ASSOCIATES LTD.

Mike Cunningham, P.Eng. Senior Geotechnical Engineer/Associate

MIC/BTB/

Attachments:

Important Information and Limitations of this Report Borehole Record for BH10-6

n:\active\2012\1127 - geosciences\12-1127-0062 richmond village drainage and sump design\reporting\1211270062 - tech memo - swmp 2 - 22oct2013.docx



IMPORTANT INFORMATION AND LIMITATIONS OF THIS REPORT

Standard of Care: Golder Associates Ltd. (Golder) has prepared this report in a manner consistent with that level of care and skill ordinarily exercised by members of the engineering and science professions currently practising under similar conditions in the jurisdiction in which the services are provided, subject to the time limits and physical constraints applicable to this report. No other warranty, expressed or implied is made.

Basis and Use of the Report: This report has been prepared for the specific site, design objective, development and purpose described to Golder by the Client, <u>Richmond Village (South) Limited and Mattamy (Jock River)</u> <u>Limited</u>. The factual data, interpretations and recommendations pertain to a specific project as described in this report and are not applicable to any other project or site location. Any change of site conditions, purpose, development plans or if the project is not initiated within eighteen months of the date of the report may alter the validity of the report. Golder cannot be responsible for use of this report, or portions thereof, unless Golder is requested to review and, if necessary, revise the report.

The information, recommendations and opinions expressed in this report are for the sole benefit of the Client. No other party may use or rely on this report or any portion thereof without Golder's express written consent. If the report was prepared to be included for a specific permit application process, then the client may authorize the use of this report for such purpose by the regulatory agency as an Approved User for the specific and identified purpose of the applicable permit review process, provided this report is not noted to be a draft or preliminary report, and is specifically relevant to the project for which the application is being made. Any other use of this report by others is prohibited and is without responsibility to Golder. The report, all plans, data, drawings and other documents as well as all electronic media prepared by Golder are considered its professional work product and shall remain the copyright property of Golder, who authorizes only the Client and Approved Users to make copies of the report, but only in such quantities as are reasonably necessary for the use of the report or any portion thereof to any other party without the express written permission of Golder. The Client acknowledges that electronic media is susceptible to unauthorized modification, deterioration and incompatibility and therefore the Client cannot rely upon the electronic media versions of Golder's report or other work products.

The report is of a summary nature and is not intended to stand alone without reference to the instructions given to Golder by the Client, communications between Golder and the Client, and to any other reports prepared by Golder for the Client relative to the specific site described in the report. In order to properly understand the suggestions, recommendations and opinions expressed in this report, reference must be made to the whole of the report. Golder cannot be responsible for use of portions of the report without reference to the entire report.

Unless otherwise stated, the suggestions, recommendations and opinions given in this report are intended only for the guidance of the Client in the design of the specific project. The extent and detail of investigations, including the number of test holes, necessary to determine all of the relevant conditions which may affect construction costs would normally be greater than has been carried out for design purposes. Contractors bidding on, or undertaking the work, should rely on their own investigations, as well as their own interpretations of the factual data presented in the report, as to how subsurface conditions may affect their work, including but not limited to proposed construction techniques, schedule, safety and equipment capabilities.

Soil, Rock and Groundwater Conditions: Classification and identification of soils, rocks, and geologic units have been based on commonly accepted methods employed in the practice of geotechnical engineering and related disciplines. Classification and identification of the type and condition of these materials or units involves judgment, and boundaries between different soil, rock or geologic types or units may be transitional rather than abrupt. Accordingly, Golder does not warrant or guarantee the exactness of the descriptions.

IMPORTANT INFORMATION AND LIMITATIONS OF THIS REPORT (cont'd)

Special risks occur whenever engineering or related disciplines are applied to identify subsurface conditions and even a comprehensive investigation, sampling and testing program may fail to detect all or certain subsurface conditions. The environmental, geologic, geotechnical, geochemical and hydrogeologic conditions that Golder interprets to exist between and beyond sampling points may differ from those that actually exist. In addition to soil variability, fill of variable physical and chemical composition can be present over portions of the site or on adjacent properties. **The professional services retained for this project include only the geotechnical aspects of the subsurface conditions at the site, unless otherwise specifically stated and identified in the report.** The presence or implication(s) of possible surface and/or subsurface contamination resulting from previous activities or uses of the site and/or resulting from the introduction onto the site of materials from off-site sources are outside the terms of reference for this project and have not been investigated or addressed.

Soil and groundwater conditions shown in the factual data and described in the report are the observed conditions at the time of their determination or measurement. Unless otherwise noted, those conditions form the basis of the recommendations in the report. Groundwater conditions may vary between and beyond reported locations and can be affected by annual, seasonal and meteorological conditions. The condition of the soil, rock and groundwater may be significantly altered by construction activities (traffic, excavation, groundwater level lowering, pile driving, blasting, etc.) on the site or on adjacent sites. Excavation may expose the soils to changes due to wetting, drying or frost. Unless otherwise indicated the soil must be protected from these changes during construction.

Follow-Up and Construction Services: All details of the design were not known at the time of submission of Golder's report. Golder should be retained to review the final design, project plans and documents prior to construction, to confirm that they are consistent with the intent of Golder's report.

During construction, Golder should be retained to perform sufficient and timely observations of encountered conditions to confirm and document that the subsurface conditions do not materially differ from those interpreted conditions considered in the preparation of Golder's report and to confirm and document that construction activities do not adversely affect the suggestions, recommendations and opinions contained in Golder's report. Adequate field review, observation and testing during construction are necessary for Golder to be able to provide letters of assurance, in accordance with the requirements of many regulatory authorities. In cases where this recommendation is not followed, Golder's responsibility is limited to interpreting accurately the information encountered at the borehole locations, at the time of their initial determination or measurement during the preparation of the Report.

Changed Conditions and Drainage: Where conditions encountered at the site differ significantly from those anticipated in this report, either due to natural variability of subsurface conditions or construction activities, it is a condition of this report that Golder be notified of any changes and be provided with an opportunity to review or revise the recommendations within this report. Recognition of changed soil and rock conditions requires experience and it is recommended that Golder be employed to visit the site with sufficient frequency to detect if conditions have changed significantly.

Drainage of subsurface water is commonly required either for temporary or permanent installations for the project. Improper design or construction of drainage or dewatering can have serious consequences. Golder takes no responsibility for the effects of drainage unless specifically involved in the detailed design and construction monitoring of the system.

PROJECT: 08-1122-0078 LOCATION: See Site Plan

RECORD OF BOREHOLE: 10-6

BORING DATE: Apr. 30, 2010

SHEET 1 OF 2

DATUM: Geodetic

SAN	NPI	LEF	RHAMMER, 64kg; DROP, 760mm							PENETRATION TEST HAM	1ER, 64kg; DROP, 760mr
Τ	CO		SOIL PROFILE			SA	MPL	ES	DYNAMIC PENETRATION RESISTANCE. BLOWS/0.3m	HYDRAULIC CONDUCTIVITY, k, cm/s	
IRES	METH			PLOT		R.		33	20 40 60 80	10 ⁻⁶ 10 ⁻⁵ 10 ⁻⁴ 10 ⁻³	
Wei	SING		DESCRIPTION	ATAF	DEPTH	UMBE	TYPE	NSWC	SHEAR STRENGTH nat V. + Q - ● Cu, kPa rem V. ⊕ U - O	WATER CONTENT PERCENT	INSTALLATION
	BO			STR,	(m)	Z		BLC	20 40 60 80	20 40 60 80	<u> </u>
0	-	1	GROUND SURFACE	-	95 67						
			TOPSOIL	Int	0.00 95.42						
			Loose to compact grey brown SANDY SILT to SILTY SAND, trace clay		0.25						Bentonite Seal
							1				Silica Sand
1		Stern)				1	50 DO	6			
	nger	tollow									32mm Diam. PVC
	ower A	iam (F			1						#10 Slot Screen 'B'
1	ă	D mm	Dense to very dense grey brown SANDY		93 64 1.83	2	50 DO	27			
2		200	SILT, some gravel, cobbles and boulders (GLACIAL TILL)								Silica Sand
						3	50 DO	68			
											Bentonite Seal
3	+	-	Thinly to medium bedded light grey	120	82.00	+	50 DO	>100			
			Intebedded SANDSTONE and DOLOSTONE BEDROCK	::							
											Silica Sand
						C1	NQ RC	DD			
4	IN DAI	Core									
	Rola	DZ			-						32mm Diam PVC
				11	-	-	1.				#10 Slot Screen 'A'
				• •	2	C2	NQ	DD			
5					00.49		RC				
F			End of Borehole		5.18						
											W.L in screen 'A'
											at Elev 94 29m on Apr 30, 2010
6											
											W L in screen 'B'
											at Elev 93 38m on Apr. 30, 2010
7											
8											
						1					
9											
10											
_				1		1	1	1			
DEF	TH	I S	CALE						Golder		LOGGED: J.D.
: 5	U						1002-		Associates		CHECKED://

s c b britting Retary Dall DRILLING RECORD	DESCRIPTION BEDROCK SURFACE Thinly to medium bedded light grey intebedded SANDSTONE and DOLOSTONE BEDROCK End of Borehole		1 H	FR/FX-FRACTURE F-FAULT SM-SMOOTH FL-FLEXURED BC-BF CL-CLEAVAGE J-JOINT R-ROUGH UE-UNEVEN MB-MI SH-SHEAR P-POLISHED ST-STEPPED WWAVY B-BED VN-VEIN S-SUCKENSIDED PL-PLANAR C-CURVED TOTAL CORE % CORE % PER 0.3 DISCONTINUITY DATA H CORE % CORE % CORE % PER 0.3 CORE % PER 0.3 PER 0.3	IOKEN CORE CORE COLLENCANDING TOPOLO VORAULIC NOTES VORAULIC NOTES VORAULIC NOTES VORAULIC NOTES VORAULIC NOTES VORAULIC NOTES VORAULIC NOTES VORAULIC NOTES VORAULIC NOTES VORAULIC NOTES VORAULIC NOTES VIC NOTES VIC Silica Sand 32mm Diam. PVC 10 VID Slot Screen 'A' 11 VIL In screen 'A' 12 VIL IN screen 'A' 12
s s Rotary Drill NG Core	BEDROCK SURFACE Thinly to medium bedded light grey intebedded SANDSTONE and DOLOSTONE BEDROCK End of Borehole	90 d	50 27 1		Bentonite Seal Silica Sand 32mm Diam. PVC #10 Stol Screen 'A' W L in screen 'A' at Elev, 94 20m on Abr. 20. 2010
6	End of Borehole	90 4	19		W L in screen 'A' at Elev, 94 20m on Apr. 30, 2010
					W L in screen 'B' at Elev 93 36m on Apr 30, 2010
8					
9					
11					
12					

HYDROMATIC®

FG-100A BATTERY BACK-UP SUMP PUMP

Protects Home If AC-powered pump fails

Backs Up Residential Sump Pump

Automatically during power outage or pump failure (primary pump and piping not included)

Reliable Operation Self-Charging System

Continuous

Solid-State Controller Monitors battery charge and pump operation

Audible Alarm Sounds when standby pump activates

Controller

Includes connectors for pump, charger, float switch and battery $\!\!\!^*$

Area Light Illuminates dark, powerless work area

Works with Flooded and Sealed AGM Deep Cycle Lead-Acid Battery Can use two batteries for extended protection

Resettable Circuit Breaker Eliminates the need for a fuse

2A 5-Stage Charger Maintains 90% charge

* Deep cycle marine-type battery (Group 24) recommended – not included with FG-100 system



Catalog Number	Volts	Hz	Cord Length	Aprox. Wt. Lbs.
FG-100A	12	60	8'	14.75

System includes: Pump, dual check valves, 1-1/4 x 1-1/2 inch adapter tee, battery box and control panel (battery not included).

Pentair Water™



Features

The Hydromatic[®] FG-100A battery operated back-up sump pump is designed to back up primary residential sump pumps in case of pump or power failure. A must for those installations where an inoperative sump pump cannot be tolerated. Separate float switch and built-in alarm automatically start back-up system and activates warning buzzer to protect against high water damage and warn of primary pump failure.

Details

Specifications

- Housing Thermoplastic
- Intermittent Liquid Temperature Up to 77°F (25°C)
- Pump Down Range Variable with float setting
- Pump Discharge 1.25" NPT (31.75 mm)
- Motor 12V, DC, 9A at 10 ft. (3M) lift
- Impeller Thermoplastic
- Power Cord 8 ft. SJT, 16/2 GA
- Capacities Up to 30 GPM (114 LPM)
- Heads To 16 ft. (4.88 m)
- Battery Charger Input 120V, 60 Hz; Output 12V, 2A; Plug-in type wall-mounted transformer
- Check Valve Dual check valves
- Battery Requirement* 12V, deep cycle, marine type (Group 24), minimum 75–120 AH

Performance Data





www.hydromatic.com

USA

740 East 9th Street, Ashland, Ohio 44805 Tel: 1-888-957-8677 Fax: 419-281-4087

Typical Installation



* Deep cycle marine-type battery (Group 24) recommended – not included with FG-100 system

- Your Authorized Local Distributor -

CANADA

269 Trillium Drive, Kitchener, Ontario, Canada N2G 4W5 Tel: 519-896-2163 Fax: 519-896-6337

© 2008 Hydromatic® Ashland, Ohio. All Rights Reserved.

Item #: W-02-7740 7/08

HYDROMATIC® CSS-3D AND CSS-3V SUMP BASIN PACKAGE

Preplumbed Sump Basin Package

- Basement sumps, dewatering, new or existing installations
- Fully Assembled Check valve included.
- Injection-Molded Structural Foam Provides the highest quality construction for uniform wall thickness and strength.
- Proprietary "Flush Mount" Design for easy shipping and storage. Allows for pallet stacking.

The Hydromatic Preplumbed Sump Basin Package is a rugged, high quality product consisting of our D-A1 or V-A1 .3 HP Cast Iron sump pump, ideal for drain water removal. The 18" x 22" basin is constructed of the highest quality structural foam and has a 20 gallon capacity. The package comes with a single-piece structural foam lid, proprietary "Flush Mount" design for easy shipment and storage. The unit comes field-ready with 1-1/2" NPT threaded discharge flange and a 2" NPT vent flange (adaptable to 3") and includes a 1-1/2" sump check valve.





HYDROMATIC® CSS-3D AND CSS-3V SUMP BASIN PACKAGE

Specifications

Pump (D-A1 or V-A1)

- Housing Cast iron.
- Motor .3 HP, 115 volt, single phase, shaded pole motor, built-in overload protection.
- Maximum Limits Liquid temperature: 120°F (49°C).

Basin, Lid, and Accessories

- Radon Proof Radon approved basin and cover for radon prevention.
- Basin Injection-molded structural foam (polyethylene). 20-gallon capacity. Standard 18" x 22" basin.
- Lid Injection-molded structural foam (polyethylene). Gas-tight single-piece design with seal.
- Hub Adapter 4" Snap-in type with stainless steel clamp. Fits 4" DWV SCH. 40 plastic pipe.
- Flanges 1-1/2" NPT threaded discharge and 2" NPT vent flange (easily converts to 3"). Comes with gas-tight cord grommet.
- Check Valve Sump pump check valve fits 1-1/2" black, galvanized, and DWV SCH. 40 pipe.

Ordering Information

Performance Curve



Sectional View

Outline Dimensions



Catalog Number	HP	Package Type	Full Load Amps	Cord Length	Mechanical Switch Type	Basin Size
CSS-3D	.3	Preassembled	12	10'	Diaphragm	18" x 22"
CSS-3V	.3	Preassembled	12	10'	Vertical	18" x 22"

USA

293 WRIGHT STREET, DELAVAN, WI 53115 WWW.HYDROMATIC.COM PH: 888-957-8677 ORDERS FAX: 800-426-9446 CANADA 269 TRILLIUM DRIVE, KITCHENER, ONTARIO, CANADA N2G 4W5 PH: 519-896-2163 ORDERS FAX: 519-896-6337

Because we are continuously improving our products and services, Pentair reserves the right to change specifications without prior notice.

APPENDIX G

Evaluation of Alternatives













· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · /	
<u>96.16</u>	
20408	
5 - K	
96.25	
20080	
<u>90.38</u> /21178	
98 84 <u>96.80</u> 21537	
98.84 <u>96.80</u> 98.77	
98.84 <u>96.80</u> 98.77	
98.84 <u>96.80</u> 98.77	
98.84 <u>96.80</u> 98.77 98.77	
98.84 <u>96.80</u> 98.77 98.77 <u>97.24</u> 21728	
98.84 <u>96.80</u> 98.77 98.77 <u>97.24</u> 21728	
98.84 <u>96.80</u> 98.77 98.77 <u>97.24</u> 21728	
98.84 <u>96.80</u> 21537 98.77 <u>97.24</u> 21728	
98.84 <u>96.80</u> 98.77 98.77 <u>97.24</u> 21728	
98.84 <u>96.80</u> 98.77 98.77 <u>97.24</u> 21728	
98.84 <u>96.80</u> 98.77 98.77 <u>97.24</u> 21728	
98.84 <u>96.80</u> 21537 98.77 <u>97.24</u> 21728	
98.84 <u>96.80</u> 98.77 98.77 <u>97.24</u> 21728	
98.84 98.77 98.77 97.24 21728	
98.84 98.77 98.77 97.24 21728	
98.84 98.77 97.24 21537	
98.84 98.77 97.24 21728 97.24 21728 97.24 21728	
98.84 96.80 98.77 97.24 21728 97 21729 210	PROJECT No.: 11-468
98.84 98.77 97.24 21537 97.24 21728 96.80 FLOOD LINE ELEVATION FLOOD LINE ELEVATION FLOOD LINE ELEVATION	PROJECT No.: 11-468
98.84 98.77 97.24 21537 97.24 21728 97.24 21728 97.24 21728 96.80 97.24 21728 96.80 FLOOD LINE ELEVATION FLOOD LINE SECTION 21537 FLOOD LINE SECTION EXISTING DICH	PROJECT No.: 11-468 DATE: NOVEMBER 2012
98.84 98.77 97.24 21537 97.24 21728 96.80 FLOOD LINE ELEVATION FLOOD LINE ELEVATION FLOOD LINE SECTION EXISTING DITCH 96.84 PROPOSED ELEVATION	PROJECT No.: 11-468 DATE: NOVEMBER 2012
98.84 98.77 97.24 21537 97.24 21728 96.80 FLOOD LINE ELEVATION FLOOD LINE ELEVATION FLOOD LINE SECTION EXISTING DITCH 96.84 PROPOSED ELEVATION EXISTING ELEVATION EXISTING ELEVATION EXISTING ELEVATION EXISTING ELEVATION	PROJECT No.: 11-468 DATE: NOVEMBER 2012 DRAWN BY: KM / ADF
98.84 98.77 97.24 21537 97.24 21728 97.24 21728 96.80 97.24 21728 96.80 FLOOD LINE ELEVATION FLOOD FLOOD LINE ELEVATION FLOOD FLOOD FLOOD FLOOD FLOOD FLOOD FLOOD	PROJECT No.: 11-468 DATE: NOVEMBER 2012 DRAWN BY: KM / ADF SCALE: 1:10,000
98.84 98.77 97.24 21537 97.24 21728 96.80 FLOOD LINE ELEVATION FLOOD LINE SECTION EXISTING DITCH 96.84 PROPOSED ELEVATION 96.84 PROPOSED ELEVATION 97.67 EXISTING ELEVATION 97.67 EXISTING ELEVATION 97.67 EXISTING ELEVATION 97.67 EXISTING ELEVATION 97.67 EXISTING ELEVATION 97.67 EXISTING ELEVATION 97.67 EXISTING ELEVATION 97.67 EXISTING ELEVATION 97.67 EXISTING ELEVATION 97.67 EXISTING ELEVATION 97.67 EXISTING ELEVATION 97.67 EXISTING ELEVATION 97.67 EXISTING ELEVATION 97.67 EXISTING ELEVATION 97.67 EXISTING ELEVATION 97.67 EXISTING ELEVATION 97.67 EXISTING ELEVATION 97.67 EXISTING ELEVATION 97.67 EXISTING ELEVATION 1000	PROJECT No.: 11-468 DATE: NOVEMBER 2012 DRAWN BY: KM / ADF SCALE: 1:10,000









120 Iber Road, Unit 203 Stittsville, Ontario, K2S 1E9 Tel. (613) 836-0856 Fax. (613) 836-7183



LEGEND	PROJECT No.: 11-468
	DATE: NOVEMBER 2013
CUT/FILL CONTOUR	DRAWN BY: KM / ADF
	SCALE: 1:7,500





VILLAGE OF RICHMOND CUT & FILL OPTION 2 FOUNDATION SERVICE TO FOUNDATION COLLECTOR CITY OF OTTAWA

120 Iber Road, Unit 203 Stittsville, Ontario, K2S 1E9 Tel. (613) 836-0856 Fax. (613) 836-7183 www.DSEL.ca





LEGEND PROJECT No.: 11-468 DATE: NOVEMBER 2013 DRAWN BY: KM / ADF SCALE: 1:7,500

FIGURE:

14





VILLAGE OF RICHMOND CUT & FILL OPTION 3 SLAB ON GRADE UNITS CITY OF OTTAWA

120 Iber Road, Unit 203 Stittsville, Ontario, K2S 1E9 Tel. (613) 836-0856 Fax. (613) 836-7183 www.DSEL.ca





<u>LEGEND</u>

PROJECT No.: 11-468

DATE: NOVEMBER 2013

DRAWN BY: KM / ADF

1:7,500

SCALE:

16

2.25 2.00 CUT/FILL CONTOUR









CUT & FILL OPTION 4 FOUNDATION DRAINAGE - SUMP PUMPS **CITY OF OTTAWA**

Stittsville, Ontario, K2S 1E9 Tel. (613) 836-0856 Fax. (613) 836-7183 www.DSEL.ca



2.25 2.00 CUT/FILL CONTOUR

PROJECT No.: 11-468

DATE: NOVEMBER 2013

DRAWN BY: KM / ADF

1:7,500

SCALE: FIGURE:

19

Stage 1 Estimate Cost Summary



			Unit	Approx. Qty.		Unit Rate	Es	stimated Value
Α	Site	Preparation						
	A.1	Strip and Stockpile Top Soil	m ³	381,830	\$	6.00	\$	2,291,000.00
	A.2	Site Grading - Cut to Fill	m ³	156,660	\$	6.00	\$	940,000.00
	A.3	Import Fill	m ³	1,390,491	\$	18.00	\$	25,029,000.00
	A.4	Re-use top soil as fill	m ³	229,098	\$	6.00	\$	1,375,000.00
	A.5	Engineered fill required	m ³	286,910	\$	25.00	\$	7,173,000.00
	A.6	Estimated Total Surcharge Fill	m ³	720,000	\$	18.00	\$	12,960,000.00
	A.7	Move surcharge fill	m ³	1,080,000	\$	6.00	\$	6,480,000.00
	A.8	Export Surcharge Material	m ³	540,000	\$	12.00	\$	6,480,000.00
					<u> </u>	T () O () O		
					Sub	- I otal Subsection A	\$	62,728,000.00
в	Storr	nwater Conveyance						
_	B.1	Local Storm Sewer	m	8,890.0	\$	445.00	\$	3,956,000.00
	B.2	Trunk Storm Sewers	m	9,225.0	\$	900.00	\$	8,303,000.00
					Sub	-Total Subsection B	\$	12,259,000.00
					Estir	nated Capital Cost	\$	74,987,000.00
						•		
С	Estin	nated Annual Maintenance Cost						
	C.1	Local Storm Sewer - Flushing	m	8,890.0	\$	5.00	\$	44,000.00
	C.2	Trunk Storm Sewer - Flushing	m	9,225.0	\$	6.00	\$	55,000.00
				F -	timet	ad Life Cycle Cost	¢	00.000.00
				ES	umat	eu Life Cycle Cost	Þ	99,000.00

Notes:

1) Import Fill required is net fill required less re-use top soil as fill.

2) Re-use top soil as fill assumes 60% of stripped and stock piled top soil is available for fill material.

Stage 1 Estimate Cost Summary



Estimated Life Cycle Cost \$

288,000.00

			Unit	Approx. Qty.		Unit Rate	E	stimated Value
Α	Site I	Preparation						
	A.1	Strip and Stockpile Top Soil	m ³	381,830	\$	6.00	\$	2,291,000.00
	A.2	Site Grading - Cut to Fill	m ³	206,305	\$	3.00	\$	619,000.00
	A.3	Import Fill	m ³	184,455	\$	18.00	\$	3,320,000.00
	A.4	Re-use top soil as fill	m ³	229,098	\$	6.00	\$	1,375,000.00
	A.5	Engineered fill required	m ³		\$	25.00	\$	-
	A.6	Estimated Total Surcharge Fill	m ³		\$	24.00	\$	-
	A.7	Export Surcharge Material	m ³		\$	12.00	\$	-
					Sub	-Total Subsection A	\$	7,605,000.00
в	Storr	nwater Conveyance						
	B.1	Local Storm Sewer	m	8,890.0	\$	445.00	\$	3,956,000.00
	B.2	Trunk Storm Sewers	m	9,225.0	\$	900.00	\$	8,303,000.00
	B.3	Foundation Collector	m	17,850.0	\$	300.00	\$	5,355,000.00
	B.4	Lift Station	ea	1.0	\$	5,000,000.00	\$	5,000,000.00
					Sub	o-Total Subsection B	\$	22,614,000.00
					Esti	mated Capital Cost	\$	30,219,000.00
с	Estin	nated Annual Maintenance Cost						
-	C.1	Local Storm Sewer - Flushing	m	8,890.0	\$	5.00	\$	44,000.00
	C.2	Trunk Storm Sewer - Flushing	m	9,225.0	\$	6.00	\$	55,000.00
	C.3	Foundation Collector - Flushing	m	17,850.0	\$	5.00	\$	89,000.00
	C.4	Lift Station Operation and Maintenance	m	1.0	\$	100,000.00	\$	100,000.00

Notes:

Import Fill required is net fill required less re-use top soil as fill. 1)

Re-use top soil as fill assumes 60% of stripped and stock piled top soil is available for fill material. 2)

.. ..

Stage 1 Estimate Cost Summary



- --

.

			Unit	Approx. Qty.		Unit Rate	E	stimated value
Α	Site	Preparation						
	A.1	Strip and Stockpile Top Soil	m ³	381,830	\$	6.00	\$	2,291,000.00
	A.2	Site Grading - Cut to Fill	m ³	175,550	\$	3.00	\$	527,000.00
	A.3	Import Fill	m ³	145,395	\$	18.00	\$	2,617,000.00
	A.4	Re-use top soil as fill	m ³	229,098	\$	6.00	\$	1,375,000.00
	A.5	Engineered fill required	m ³	418,398	\$	25.00	\$	10,460,000.00
	A.6	Estimated Total Surcharge Fill	m ³	-	\$	24.00	\$	-
	A.7	Export Surcharge Material	m ³	-	\$	12.00	\$	-
					Sub-T	Total Subsection A	\$	17,270,000.00
в	Storr	nwater Conveyance						
	B.1	Local Storm Sewer	m	8,890.0	\$	445.00	\$	3,956,000.00
	B.2	Trunk Storm Sewers	m	9,225.0	\$	900.00	\$	8,303,000.00
					Sub-T	Total Subsection B	\$	12,259,000.00
					Estima	ated Capital Cost	\$	29,529,000.00
с	Estin	nated Annual Maintenance Cost						
	C.1	Local Storm Sewer - Flushing	m	8,890.0	\$	5.00	\$	44,000.00
	C.2	Trunk Storm Sewer - Flushing	m	9,225.0	\$	6.00	\$	55,000.00
				Es	stimate	d Life Cycle Cost	\$	99,000.00

Notes:

- 1) Import Fill required is net fill required less re-use top soil as fill.
- 2) Re-use top soil as fill assumes 60% of stripped and stock piled top soil is available for fill material.
- 3) Slab on grade units require engineered fill (Granular materials) when FFE is above existing grade. IE where pregrade is 1.0m
- 4) Approximately 186m3 of fill required for units with USF's above existing grade

Stage 1 Estimate Cost Summary



			Unit	Approx. Qty.		Unit Rate	Es	stimated Value
Α	Site I	Preparation						
	A.1	Strip and Stockpile Top Soil	m ³	381,830	\$	6.00	\$	2,291,000.00
	A.2	Site Grading - Cut to Fill	m ³	198,374	\$	3.00	\$	595,000.00
	A.3	Import Fill	m ³	442,159	\$	18.00	\$	7,959,000.00
	A.4	Re-use top soil as fill	m ³	229,098	\$	6.00	\$	1,375,000.00
	A.5	Engineered fill required	m ³		\$	25.00	\$	-
	A.6	Estimated Total Surcharge Fill	m ³		\$	24.00	\$	-
	A.7	Export Surcharge Material	m ³		\$	12.00	\$	-
					Sub	-Total Subsection A	\$	12,220,000.00
в	Storr	nwater Conveyance						
	B.1	Local Storm Sewer	m	8,890.0	\$	445.00	\$	3,956,000.00
	B.2	Trunk Storm Sewers	m	9,225.0	\$	900.00	\$	8,303,000.00
	B.3	Sump pump assembly	ea	2,300.0	\$	916.00	\$	2,107,000.00
					Sub	-Total Subsection B	\$	14,366,000.00
					Estin	nated Capital Cost	\$	26,586,000.00
с	Estin	nated Annual Maintenance Cost						
	C.1	Local Storm Sewer - Flushing	m	8,890.0	\$	5.00	\$	44,000.00
	C.2	Trunk Storm Sewer - Flushing	m	9,225.0	\$	6.00	\$	55,000.00
				Es	stimat	ed Life Cycle Cost	\$	99,000.00

Notes:

1) Import Fill required is net fill required less re-use top soil as fill.

2) Re-use top soil as fill assumes 60% of stripped and stock piled top soil is available for fill material.

3) Sump pump assembly per list price for the following:

\$436 - Hydromatic CSS-3D Sump basin package

\$360 - Hydromatic G-100A Battery backup sump pump

\$120 - Deep cycle marine-type battery (Group 24)

APPENDIX H

Rational Method Calculation Sheet

STORM SEWER CALCULATION SHEET (RATIONAL METHOD) Local Roads Return Frequency = 2 years Collector Roads Return Frequency = 5 years Arterial Roads Return Frequency = 10 years





wanning	0.013	Artenai Koaos Keturn Frequency = 10 years																······	011		T					OFWER F.	7.4						
	100	ATION								ARE	A (Ha)								L	·····	FL	.uw							SEWER DA	IA			
		ATION		2 YI	EAR			5 YI	EAR			10 Y	EAR			100	YEAR		Time of	Intensity	Intensity	Intensity	Intensity	Peak Flow	DIA, (mm)	DIA. (mm)	TYPE	SLOPE	LENGTH	CAPACITY	VELOCITY	TIME OF	RATIO
	T		AREA		Indiv.	Accum.	AREA	_	Indiv.	Accum.	AREA		Indiv.	Accum.	AREA		Indiv.	Accum.	Conc.	2 Year	5 Year	10 Year	100 Year										
Location	From Node	To Node	(Ha)	R	2.78 AC	2.78 AC	(Ha)	R	2.78 AC	2.78 AC	(Ha)	R	2.78 AC	2.78 AC	(Ha)	ĸ	2.78 AC	2.78 AC	(min)	(mm/h)	(mm/h)	(mm/h)	(mm/h)	Q (l/s)	(actual)	(nominal)		(%)	(m)	(l/s)	(m/s)	LOW (min	Q/Q full
			ananianian			1					<u> </u>						1			1	1												
TRUNK	2																					11											
	204	205	1.04	0.70	2.02	2 02	<u> </u>		0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00		<u> </u>	0.00	0.00	10.00	76.81	104 10	122 14	178 56	155	600	600	CONC	0.14	1110	229,7421	0.8125	2.2768	0.677
 	204	200	0.44	0.70	0.02	2.02		<u> </u>	0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00		<u> </u>	0.00	0.00	12.28	69.04	93.53	109.50	160.12	199	675	675	CONC	0.12	65.0	291,1883	0.8137	1.3313	0.683
<u> </u>	200	20/	0.00	0.70	0.00	2.00		 	0.00	0.00	<u> </u>		0.00	0.00	 		0.00	0.00	13.61	65.04	89.24	102.49	151 15	220	750	750	CONIC	0.11	41.5	369 2322	0.8358	0.8276	0.619
	207	209	0.32	0.70	0.62	3.50			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	13.01	05.20	00.04	100.40	101.10	223	100	100	00110	<u></u>		000.2022	0.0000	0.0270	
			0.21	0.70	0.41	3.91			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	<u> </u>		0.00	0.00		CO 40	05.40	400.05	146.40	207	005	0.05	CONC	0.10	79.0	452 0246	0.9402	1 5300	0.655
	209	211	0.41	0.70	0.80	4./1			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00		ļ	0.00	0.00	14.44	03.13	65.43	100.05	140.12	297	025	020	CONC	0.10	70.0	403.9240	0.0492	1,0005	0.000
				ļ	0.00	4.71	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	ļ	ļ	0.00	0.00	15.95								0.0110				0.0070	4 4000	0.070
	211	219	2.63	0.70	5.12	9.83	<u> </u>		0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	ļ	L	0.00	0.00	15.97	59.58	80.56	94.33	137.72	585	1050	1050	CONC	0.10	70.0	863.5311	0.9973	1.1699	0,678
				1	0.00	9.83	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	16.45	1													
	219	222	3.36	0.70	6.54	16.37			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	17.14	57.15	77.23	90.42	131.99	935	1200	1200	CONC	0.10	66.0	1232.8868	1.0901	1.0091	0.759
					0.00	16.37	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	12.72														
			0.54	0.70	1.05	17.42			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00															
	222	224	1.52	0.70	2.96	20.37	1		0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00		Ι	0.00	0.00	18.15	55.22	74.60	87.32	127.45	1125	1200	1200	CONC	0.15	78.0	1509.9717	1.3351	0.9737	0.745
	224	225		1	0.00	20.37	1		0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	19.12	53.49	72.25	84.55	123.39	1090	1200	1200	CONC	0.14	37.5	1458.7713	1.2898	0.4846	0.747
	225	HW			0.00	20.37	1		0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00		1	0.00	0.00	19.60	52.68	71.13	83.25	121.47	1073	1200	1200	CONC	0.14	17.5	1458.7713	1.2898	0.2261	0.736
				+			1												1		1												
TRUNK	3			1			1	1	1			j			1	1	1		1		1												
l	T			1	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0,00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	1	T	1	T		900									
	<u> </u>			t	0.00	0.00	0.00	1 0 00	0.00	0.00	1		0.00	0.00	1	1	0.00	0.00	1	1	1	1		1253						[1
,	301	302		+	0.00	0.00	0.41	0.70	0.80	0.80	<u> </u>		0.00	0.00		1	0.00	0.00	10.00	76.81	104.19	122.14	178.56	2236	1500	1500	CONC	0.18	119.0	2999.0668	1,6971	1.1686	0.746
	302	303		+	0.00	0.00	0.49	0.70	0.95	1 75	<u> </u>		0.00	0.00	1	1	0.00	0.00	11117	72.59	98.40	115.32	168.54	2325	1500	1500	CONC	0.20	96.5	3161,2940	1,7889	0.8990	0.736
	302	304		+	0.00	0.00	0.51	0.70	0.00	274			0.00	0.00	1	1	0.00	0.00	12 07	69.68	94 41	110.62	161 64	2412	1500	1500	CONC	0.21	96.5	3239.3624	1.8331	0.8774	0.745
 	303	307		1	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.70	0.00	3.62	1		0.00	0.00	1	+	0.00	0.00	12.95	67.09	90.84	106.42	155 48	2482	1500	1500	CONC	0.22	96.5	3315.5931	1.8762	0.8572	0.749
 	504	507		+	0.00	0.00	0.40	0.70	0.00	3.02		<u> </u>	0.00	0.00	<u> </u>	+	1 0.00	0.00	13.01	+	1	,							1				1
<u> </u>	207	309		+	0.00	0.00	1 1 2	0.00	2 20	502	+		0.00	0.00	+		0.00	0.00	13.80	64.75	87.64	102.65	149 94	2663	1650	1650	CONC	0.16	70.0	3645 7793	1,7050	0.6842	0,730
	300	211	0.20	0.70	0.00	0.00	1.13	+ 0.70	0.00	5.02	+		0.00	0.00	+	+	1 0.00	0.00	14 40	63.01	85 25	99.85	145.82	2697	1800	1800	CONC	0.10	74.5	3634 9621	1,4284	0.8692	0.742
	300	310	0.39	0.70	0.70	1 54	+	<u> </u>	0.00	5.02			0.00	0.00	+	+	0.00	0.00	15 36	60.01	82 43	96.52	140.02	2726	1800	1800	CONC	0.10	70.0	3634 9621	1,4284	0.8167	0,750
	240	312	0.40	0.70	0.70	1.04		+	0.00	5.02			0.00	0.00	+		0.00	0.00	16 17	50.12	70.05	03.61	136.67	2725	1800	1800	CONC	0.10	38.5	3634 9621	1 4284	0 4492	0,750
	312	314	0.14	0.70	0.27	1.01	 	<u> </u>	0.00	5.02		<u> </u>	0.00	0.00	+	+	0.00	0.00	16.60	59.10	79.60	93.01	134 44	2756	1800	1800	CONC	0.10	32.5	3812 3804	1 4982	0.3616	0.723
	514		0.35	0.70	0.00	2.49	<u> </u>	+	0.00	0.02		 	0.00	0.00	+	<u> </u>	0.00	0.00	10.02	30,19	10.00	52.03	104,44	2,00			00110	<u>v. 11</u>	+	0012.0004		1	
TRUNK	<u> </u>		l	+			.	1	+	 			<u> </u>			+	+		<u> </u>	+	+								<u> </u>	1	<u> </u>		
IRUNK	J4	400		1 0 70	1 4 00	+ 100		+	1 0.00	0.00	+	 	0.00	0.00	+		0.00	0.00	10.00	70 04	104 10	122.14	179 50	104	600	600	CONC	0.14	90.5	229 7424	0.8125	1 8563	0.540
ļ	401	402	0.83	0.70	1.62	1.62			0.00	0.00	+	<u> </u>	0.00	0.00	+	+	0.00	0.00	14.00	70.01	06.24	114 60	162.00	124	675	675	CONC	0.14	89.5	201 1992	0.0123	1 8127	0.653
ļ	402	403	0.56	0.70	1.09	2.70	<u> </u>	+	1 0.00	0.00		 	0.00	0.00	+	+	0.00	0.00	10.07	10.34	80.31	102.00	103.20	190	675	676	CONC	0.12	70 5	325 5594	0.0107	1 / 201	0.000
 	403	404	0.49	0.70	0.95	3.66	 	+	0.00	0.00	+	 	0.00	0.00	+		0.00	0.00	13.0/	00.10	00.12	07.45	100.77	230	760	750	CONC	0.10	10.5	360 2222	0.8080	0.8874	0.132
ļ	404	405	0.13	0.70	0.25	1.3.91	+	<u> </u>	0.00	0.00	_		0.00	0.00	+	+	0.00	0.00	10.11	01.52	03.21	97.45	142.30	241	100	100	CONC	0.11	51 0	453 0246	0.0000	1 0010	0.002
ļ	405	406	0.32	0.70	0.62	4.53	 	 	0.00	0.00	_	ļ	0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	15.99	59.52	80.48	94.23	137.58	270	825	825	CONC	0.10	01.0	400.9240	0.0492	1.0010	0.594
	406	407	0.89	0.70	1.73	6.27	_	_	0.00	0.00		ļ	0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	17.00	57.43	11.62	90.87	132.65	360	900	900	LONC	0.10	127.5	5/2.4/0/	0.0999	2.3015	0.029
ļ	407	411	0.53	0.70	1.03	7.30	<u> </u>		0.00	0.00		ļ	0.00	0.00		+	0.00	0.00	19.36	53.09	/1.69	83.91	122.44	387	9/5	9/5	CONC	0.10	83,5	108.6833	0.9492	1.4002	0.04/
L			ļ		0.00	7.30	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00		Į	0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	16.11		-			<u> </u>			0000			000 50 11	0.0070	1 0000	0 700
	411	414	2.70	0.70	5.25	12.55			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	_		0.00	0.00	20.82	50,74	68.49	80.15	116.93	637	1050	1050	CONC	0.10	72.0	863.5311	0.9973	1.2033	0.738
			1	1	0.00	12.55	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1	ļ	0.00	0.00	.l	1	0.00	0.00	13.11	<u> </u>							-			1000		1	+
L	414	417	1.48	0.70	2.88	15.43		1	0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	22.03	48.98	66.10	77.33	112.79	756	1200	1200	CONC	0.10	68.0	1232.8868	1.0901	1.0396	0.613
L					0.00	15.43	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1		0.00	0.00	1		0.00	0.00	13.22				L	<u> </u>	ļ		ļ	l	<u></u>			l	
	417	420	1.34	0.70	2.61	18.04			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	23.07	47.57	64.17	75.07	109.48	858	1200	1200	CONC	0.10	72.0	1232.8868	1.0901	1.1008	0.696
			1		0.00	18.04	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	13.30					1	ļ		ļ	ļ	<u> </u>		_		-
	420	431	1.43	0.70	2.78	20.82	1		0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	24.17	46.17	62.26	72.82	106.19	961	1350	1350	CONC	0.10	73.0	1687.8347	1.1792	1.0318	0.570
			1		0.00	20.82	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	19.10			1				1	ļ	L	<u></u>			_	_
	T		L	1	0.00	20.82	0.41	0.40	0.46	0.46	1		0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00						L	1		L	ļ	ļ			ļ	
	431	432	3.80	0.70	7.39	28.22	T	1	0.00	0,46	1	1	0.00	0.00	1		0.00	0.00	25.20	44.94	60.58	70.85	103.30	1296	1350	1350	CONC	0.11	79.0	1770.2160	1.2367	1.0647	0.732
	432	444	0.74	0.70	1.44	29.66	1	1	0.00	0.46	T	1	0.00	0.00		1	0.00	0.00	26.26	43.74	58.95	68.94	100.50	1324	1350	1350	CONC	0.11	87.5	1770.2160	1.2367	1.1792	0.748
l	1		1	1	0.00	29.66	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.46	1	1	0.00	0.00		1	0.00	0.00	16.36								1				1	1	
 	444	445	3.74	0.70	7.28	36.94	1	·	0.00	0.46	1		0.00	0.00	0.96	0.70	1.87	1.87	27.44	42.49	57.26	66.95	97.59	1778	1500	1500	CONC	0.10	64.5	2235.3724	1.2650	0.8498	0.795
	445	446	1	1	0.00	36.94	1	1	0.00	0.46	1	1	0.00	0.00	1	1	0.00	1.87	28.29	41.64	56.10	65.60	95.60	1742	1500	1500	CONC	0.10	23.5	2235.3724	1.2650	0.3096	0.779
	446	447	1	1	0.00	36.94	0.96	0.70	1.87	2 32	1	1	0.00	0.00	s and the second		0.00	1.87	28.60	41.34	55.69	65.12	94.90	1834	1500	1500	CONC	0.11	38.0	2344.4784	1.3267	0.4774	0.782
	447	448	1	+	0.00	36.94	1	1	0.00	2 32		1	0.00	0.00	EFSCI	1.	0.00	1.87	29.08	40.89	55.08	64.39	93.84	1814	1500	1500	CONC	0.11	44.5	2344.4784	1.3267	0.5590	0.774
 	448	449	1	+	0.00	36.94	+	+	0.00	2.32	1	1	0 000	OBA	Hora Charles	YALA.	0.00	1.87	29.64	40.37	54.37	63.57	92.63	1790	1500	1500	CONC	0.11	18.0	2344.4784	1.3267	0.2261	0.764
<u> </u>	449	HW (Popd2)	1	+	0.00	36.94	+	1	0.00	2 32	+	1	0.00	K)000	T	54	0.00	1.87	29.86	40.17	54.09	63.24	92.15	1781	1500	1500	CONC	0.11	15.5	2344.4784	1.3267	0.1947	0.760
 		, ATT (CONUZ	4		1 0.00	1 00.04	1	+	+	1-2.02	1	+	110	1 A	127	1	28		1-20.00	1	1		1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	
Definition		L	J.,	·			-l		-4		.1		1	1	1	1	1.3				~		·	Designed			PROJECT	Г:		WESTERN D	EVELOPM	ENT LAND	S
0 = 2.70	ATR where									Notes:			1 10	Nationanian and	-	(manual)	21								AK								
D = 2.78	Flow in Lite	e not coond (ľ/s)							1) Ottown	RainfalLInt	ensity Curv		England	TAL TH	hard a state of the state of th	m I							Checked			LOCATIC	DN:					
A A	riow in Liff	s per second (L/SJ							2) Min M	a camalitifit	Griany Curve 0 m/e	12	*	VV. LIL	J	m I							Checked.	\\\/I			••		City of	Ottawa		
A = Areas	s in nectares	(na) mm/h)								∠) win. Ve	510City = 0.81	0 11/5	1	10	101670	20	ສຸ							Dwg Rof	erence.		File Ref.			Date		Sheet Nr	
$\mu = Rainta$	ui intensity (i	nm/n)												e U.	STOLO S	NL								Dwg. Ker	Dura 2		I ne Kel	17-977		Oct 1	019	SHEP	ET 1 OF 4
K = Runo	п Coefficien	I												4-	1	A STATISTICS	<u> </u>								Dwg 3		.I	11-011		1 0012			
													10	. Ver	Trin	7.41	~ /																
													13	$\gamma_{n} \ll$	1 17)	THE REAL PROPERTY AND	S/															977	_STM.xlsx
													15.33	See.	- MORTHER OF		1																
													<i>"</i>	`′₩C	FOR	1011/	9																

STORM SEWER CALCULATION SHEET (RATIONAL METHOD) Local Roads Return Frequency = 2 years Collector Roads Return Frequency = 5 years Manning 0.013 Arterial Roads Return Frequency = 10 years



	LOC	ATION	AREA (Ha) 2 YEAR 5 YEAR 10 YEAR 100 YEAR														FLOW								SEWER DATA								
				2 YE	EAR	1		5 YI	EAR			10 YE	AR		L	10	YEAR		Time of	Intensity	Intensity	Intensity	Intensity	Peak Flow	DIA. (mm)	DIA. (mm)	TYPE	SLOPE	LENGTH	CAPACITY	VELOCITY	TIME OF	RATIO
Location	From Mod	ToNada	AREA	R	Indiv.	Accum.		R	Indiv.	Accum.	AREA	R	Indiv.	Accum.	AREA	R	Indiv.	Accum.	Conc.	2 Year	5 Year	10 Year	100 Year					(0.0			- /]	0111 / 1	0/0.0
Location	riom Node	TO NODE	(ria)		2.78 AC	2.78 AC	(ria)	 	2.78 AC	2.78 AC	(r1a)		2.78 AC	2.78 AC	(ria)	ESSH	Z AB AC	2.78 AC	(min)	(mm/h)	(mm/h)	(mm/h)	(mm/h)	Q (l/s)	(actual)	(nominal)		(%)	(m)	(l/s)	(m/s)	LOW (min	Q/Q full
POND 2 C						l	<u> </u>				<u> </u>			-	10RU	Freedom	Than >	¥															
	1000	1001				1					<u> </u>			10	P.		$\mathcal{D}^{i}\mathcal{A}$	1	1					2004	1500	1500	CONC	0.10	53.5	2235 3724	1 2650	0 7040	0.037
	1001	1002				<u> </u>								19	1	1	1 14	58-	*****		<u> </u>			2094	1500	1500	CONC	0.10	119.0	2644 9283	1 4967	1 3251	0.557
	1002	1003				1	1				11			1 15	angelmenters	-		51	1					2094	1500	1500	CONC	0.10	118.0	2235.3724	1.2650	1.5547	0.937
	1003	1004												1 C	C,	40 0 00		m						2094	1500	1500	CONC	0.10	113.5	2235.3724	1.2650	1.4954	0.937
	1004	HW					ļ									<u>W. LIU</u>								2094	1500	1500	CONC	0.10	30.5	2235.3724	1.2650	0.4019	0.937
						ļ	ļ								10	11679	32 5																
TRUNK 0	1		0.11	0.70	0.07			<u></u>	0.00						ATO ATO ATO ATO ATO ATO ATO ATO ATO ATO																		
	101	102	0.14	0.70	0.27	1 49	<u> </u>		0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00		Tiz	1 000	0,00	10.00	70.04	101.10	100.44	170.50				00110			000 7 101	0.0405	1.0500	0.405
	101	102	0.00	0.75	0.37	1.40		<u> </u>	0.00	0.00			0.00	8000	18c	10		0.00	10.00	70.81	104.19	122.14	178.55	114	600	600	CONC	0.14	95.5	229.7421	0.8125	1.9589	0.495
	102	103	0.48	0.75	1.00	2.85			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.08	Pu.	Charles March	1000	0.00	11.96	70.02	94 87	111 17	162.44	200	675	675	CONC	0.12	83.5	201 1883	0.8137	1 7102	0.686
	103	106	0.28	0.75	0.58	3.44	1		0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	L'AVC	OF	115 0.00	0.00	13.67	65.10	88.12	103.22	150.77	224	750	750	CONC	0.11	40.0	369,2322	0.8358	0.7977	0.606
					0.00	3.44	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	Contraction of the local division of the loc	Un	0.00	0.00	13.29														
	106	109	0.91	0.75	1.90	5.33			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	14.47	63.06	85.32	99.93	145.94	336	825	825	CONC	0.10	45.0	453.9246	0.8492	0.8832	0.741
					0.00	5.33	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	ļ		0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	12.62	· ·													
	109	111	0.57	0.75	1.19	6.52		0.00	0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	ļ		0.00	0.00	15.35	60.95	82.44	96.54	140.97	398	900	900	CONC	0.10	78.0	572.4707	0.8999	1.4447	0.694
	111	112			0.00	6.52	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	11.37	57.02	70.47	04.50	400.04	540	4050	4050	00110	0.40	00.5	000 5044	0.0070	4.0.400	0.005
		112			0.00	6.52	0.61	0.70	2.00	3.27			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	10.79	57.83	78.17	91.52	133.01	540	1050	1050	CONC	0.10	98.5	863.5311	0.9973	1.6462	0.625
	112	113			0.00	6.52	3.59	0.40	3.99	7.26			0.00	0.00		+	0.00	0.00	18 44	54.68	73.87	86.46	126 19	893	1200	1200	CONC	0.10	129.0	1232 8868	1 0901	1 9723	0.724
	113	114			0.00	6.52	0.31	0.70	0.60	7.86	t		0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	20.41	51.38	69.36	81.16	118.41	881	1200	1200	CONC	0.10	78.5	1232 8868	1.0901	1,2002	0.714
					0.00	6.52	0.33	0.70	0.64	8.51	1		0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	1														
	114	122			0.00	6.52	2.63	0.75	5.48	13.99			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	21.61	49.57	66.90	78.27	114.18	1259	1350	1350	CONC	0.10	80.0	1687.8347	1.1792	1.1307	0.746
					0.00	6.52	0.00	0.00	0.00	13.99	ļ		0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	21.78														
	400	400			0.00	6.52	0.24	0.70	0.47	14.46	ļ		0.00	0.00	ļ		0.00	0.00	+	L													
	122	126			0.00	6.52	3.91	0.70	7.61	22.07			0.00	0.00	<u> </u>		0.00	0.00	22.74	48.00	64.75	75.75	110.48	1742	1350	1350	CONC	0.17	122.0	2200.6672	1.5374	1.3225	0.792
	126	127	2.09	0.70	4.07	10.52	0.00	0.00	0.00	22.07	·		0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	24.07	46.20	67.43	72.02	106.49	1969	1500	1500	CONIC	0.11	01.5	2244 4794	1 2067	1 1 4 0 5	0.707
	127	130	0.65	0.70	1.26	11.85			0.00	22.07			0.00	0.00	<u> </u>		0.00	0.00	25.22	40.25	60.55	70.82	103.26	1869	1500	1500	CONC	0.11	91.5	2344.4784	1.3267	1 1/195	0.797
					0.00	11.85	0.00	0.00	0.00	22.07			0.00	0.00	1	1	0.00	0.00	13.65			10.02	100.20	1000	1000	1000	00110	0.11	91.0	2044.47.04	1.02.07	1.1400	0.101
	130	138	1.46	0.70	2.84	14.70			0.00	22.07			0.00	0.00		1	0.00	0.00	26.37	43.63	58.80	68.76	100.24	1939	1650	1650	CONC	0.10	64.5	2882,2416	1.3479	0.7975	0.673
					0.00	14.70	0.00	0.00	0.00	22.07			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	19.32														
	138	139	2.77	0.70	5.39	20.09	_	ļ	0.00	22.07			0.00	0.00	ļ		0.00	0.00	27.16	42.78	57.65	67.41	98.26	2131	1650	1650	CONC	0.10	50.0	2882.2416	1.3479	0.6182	0.739
	139	Plug			0.00	20.09	<u> </u>	ļ	0.00	22.07	ļ		0.00	0.00	· · · ·		0.00	0.00	27.78	42.15	56.79	66.40	96.79	2100	1650	1650	CONC	0.10	14.0	2882.2416	1.3479	0.1731	0.728
	140	140			0.00	20.09			0.00	22.07			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	27.95	41.98	56.55	66.13	96.38	2091	1650	1650	CONC	0.11	43.5	3022.9205	1.4137	0.5128	0.692
	140	HW (Pond1)			0.00	20.09	+		0.00	22.07			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	28.47	41.47	55.23	64.58	95.20	2066	1650	1650	CONC	0.11	41.5	3022.9205	1.4137	0.4892	0.683
	141	nivi (i onalij			0.00	20.00	+		0.00	22.01			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	20.90	41.00	55.25	04.56	94.11	2042	1000	1050	CONC	0.19	30.0	3912.0959	1.0000	0.3409	0.514
TRUNK 1	01	***************	İ		1	1	1								1																		
			0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1	1	0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	1	1	0.00	0.00	11.15	1													
	307	308	0.59	0.65	1.07	1.07			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	11.15	72.67	98.51	115.45	168.73	77	450	450	CONC	0.20	13.0	127.5033	0.8017	0.2703	0.608
	308	311	0.43	0.65	0.78	1.84	_	ļ	0.00	0.00	ļ		0.00	0.00	1	4	0.00	0.00	11.42	71.77	97.27	113.98	166.58	132	600	600	CONC	0.15	65.0	237.8056	0.8411	1.2880	0.556
		240	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.84	.l	·	0.00	0.00	ļ		0.00	0.00	 		0.00	0.00	11.60			105 5											
	517	312	08.0	0.65	1.45	3.29	+	<u> </u>	0.00	0.00	<u> </u>		0.00	0.00		+	0.00	0.00	12.70	67.78	91.79	107.54	157.12	223	675	675	CONC	0.15	71.0	325.5584	0.9098	1.3007	0.685
	312	315	0.50	0.05	0.03	4 86	+	+	0.00	0.00		-	0.00	0.00	+	+	0.00	0.00	14.00	64.22	86.02	101.91	149 70	312	675	675	CONC	0.25	102.0	420.0044	1 1745	1 4474	0743
	315	318	1,31	0.65	2.37	7.23	+	1	0.00	0.00	t		0.00	0.00		+	0.00	0.00	15 45	60.72	82 13	96 17	140.70	439	750	750	CONC	0.25	81.0	556 6385	1.1/40	1.44/4	0.743
			0.00	0.00	0.00	7.23		1	0.00	0.00	1		0.00	0.00	1		0.00	0.00	13.55	1	1						00110		01.0	000.0000		1.0710	0.700
	318	270	1.25	0.65	2.26	9.49			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	16.52	58.39	78.94	92.42	134.92	554	825	825	CONC	0.25	58.5	717.7178	1.3426	0.7262	0.772
	270	271	0.50	0.65	0.90	10.39			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	1		0.00	0.00	17.25	56.92	76.93	90.06	131.46	591	900	900	CONC	0.20	81.5	809.5958	1.2726	1.0674	0.731
ļ	271	273	0.25	0.65	0.45	10.84		 	0.00	0.00		T	0.00	0.00	ļ		0.00	0.00	18.32	54.91	74.18	86.82	126.71	595	900	900	CONC	0.30	75.5	991.5483	1.5586	0.8073	0.600
	070	075	0.00	0.00	0.00	10.84	·	_	0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	 	+	0.00	0.00	11.11		+												
	2/3	2/5	0.58	0.65	1.05	11.89	+	+	0.00	0.00		-	0.00	0.00	·{		0.00	0.00	19.12	53.48	72.23	84.54	123.37	636	900	900	CONC	0.20	33.0	809.5958	1.2726	0.4322	0.785
	276	277	<u> </u>		0.00	11.09		+	0.00	0.00	+	-	0.00	0.00	+	+	0.00	0.00	19.56	52.76	70.29	82.3/	121.65	627	900	900	CONC	0.20	29.5	809.5958	1.2726	0.3863	0.775
	277	278	1	<u> </u>	0.00	11 89	+	+	0.00	0.00	0.87	0.65	1.57	1.57	+	+	0.00	0.00	20.15	51.80	69.93	81 84	119.17	745	900	900	CONC	0.20	10.0	1002.2928	1 3424	1 3069	0.700
	278	279	1	<u> </u>	0.00	11.89	1	1	0.00	0.00	1	0.00	0.00	1.57	1	1	0.00	0.00	21.54	49.68	67.04	78.44	114.42	714	975	975	CONC	0.20	3.5	1002 2295	1.3424	0.0435	0.712
	279	HW (Pond 1)		0.00	11.89	1	1	0.00	0.00			0.00	1.57	1	1	0.00	0.00	21.59	49.61	66.95	78.33	114.27	713	975	975	CONC	0.20	32.5	1002.2295	1.3424	0.4035	0.711
						Ι																								1			1
Definitions																								Designed:			PROJECT	:		WESTERN DI	VELOPME	NT LANDS	5
Q = 2.78 A	IR, where									Notes:														L	AK								
Q = Peak I	now in Litre	s per second (L/S)							1) Ottawa	Rainfall-Inte	nsity Curve												Checked:			LOCATIO	N:					
I = Rainfal	Intensity (*	na) m/h)								∠) win. Ve	socity = 0.80	11/5												Durg Bat	WL		File D-C			City of C	ttawa	Chart M	
R = Runof	f Coefficient																							Dwg. Refe	rence:		rue Ref:	17,077		Date:	110	Sheet No.	TOFA
																								L	01193		L	11-211		10012		JILE	1 2 01" 4

STORM SEWER CALCULATION SHEET (RATIONAL METHOD) Local Roads Return Frequency = 2 years Collector Roads Return Frequency = 5 years Manning 0.013 Arterial Roads Return Frequency = 10 years



Ivianning	0.013		AnenarKu	aus Ketutn	riequency	= 10 years																																	
	1.0	TATION					AREA (Ha)												FLOW																				
	201	AHON		2 Y	EAR			5 YI	EAR			10 Y	EAR			100 ነ	'EAR		Time of	Intensity	Intensity	Intensity	Intensity	Peak Flow	DIA. (mm)	DIA. (mm)	TYPE	SLOPE	LENGTH	CAPACITY	/ELOCITY	TIME OF	RATIO						
			AREA		Indiv.	Accum.	AREA		Indiv.	Accum.	AREA	_	Indiv.	Accum.	AREA	_	Indiv.	Accum.	Conc.	2 Year	5 Year	10 Year	100 Year						1										
Location	From Node	To Node	(Ha)	R	2 78 AC	2 78 AC	(Ha)	R	2 78 AC	2 78 AC	(Ha)	R	2 78 AC	278 AC	(Ha)	R	2 78 AC	278 AC	(min)	(mm/h)	(mm/h)	(mm/h)	(mm/h)	O(1/s)	(actual)	(nominal)		(%)	(m)	(1/s)	(m/s)	LOW (min	O/O full						
Dorution	i tom i tout	1011040						<u>+</u>											<u></u>				(((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((<u> </u>	((<u> </u>	()		<u> </u>						
TRUNK																									ł														
TRONK	04							l						0.00			0.00				101.10	100.11	170.00		075	075		0.45		005 5504	0.0000	1 7000	0.450						
	261	262	1.06	0.65	1.92	1.92			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	10.00	/6,81	104.19	122.14	1/8.56	14/	6/5	6/5	CONC	0.15	97.5	325.5584	0.9098	1.7862	0.452						
	262	263	0.99	0.65	1.79	3.70			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	11.79	70.57	95.62	112.04	163.73	261	825	825	CONC	0.10	119.0	453.9246	0.8492	2.3357	0.576						
	263	264	0.68	0.65	1.23	4.93			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	14.12	63.92	86.51	101.32	147.98	315	900	900	CONC	0.10	107.0	572.4707	0.8999	1.9818	0.551						
	264	265	0.60	0.65	1.08	6.02			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	16.10	59.28	80.15	93.85	137.02	357	900	900	CONC	0.10	40.5	572.4707	0.8999	0.7501	0.623						
	265	266	1.81	0.65	3.27	9.29			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	16.85	57.71	78.01	91.33	133.32	536	1050	1050	CONC	0.10	30.0	863.5311	0.9973	0.5014	0.621						
	266	267	2.68	0.65	4,84	14.13	1	1	0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	17.36	56.72	76.65	89.73	130.97	801	1200	1200	CONC	0.10	99.0	1232.8868	1.0901	1.5136	0.650						
	267	268	2.62	0.65	473	18.87		1	0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	1		0.00	0.00	18.87	53.93	72.84	85.25	124.40	1017	1800x1200	1800x1200	CONC	0.10	45.5	2658,9616	1.2310	0.6160	0.383						
	268	263			0.00	18.87	1	1	0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	19.48	52.88	71.40	83.56	121.93	997	1800x120	1800x1200	CONC	0.10	40.5	2658 9616	1 2310	0.5483	0.375						
TO TRUN	K 102 Din	263,264				18.87			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	20.03	02.00		00.00	121.00		100001120	0000000	00110			2000.0010	1.2010	0.0.00							
	1 102, 110	6 200 - 204	+			10.07		+		0.00				0.00				0.00	20.00					<u> </u>															
TOUNK			+			+	 							 							<u> </u>			 															
TRUNK	09					1-0.00		l		0.00					<u> </u>				10.51																				
			0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	ļ		0.00	0.00	12.54																				
	301	321	1.91	0.65	3.45	3.45			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	12.54	68.26	92.45	108.32	158.25	236	675	675	CONC	0.15	88.0	325.5584	0.9098	1.6121	0.724						
			0.00	0.00	0.00	3.45			0.00	0.00			0,00	0.00	<u> </u>		0.00	0.00	11.11																				
	321	322	0.85	0.65	1.54	4.99		1	0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	14.15	63.84	86.40	101.20	147.80	318	825	825	CONC	0.10	68,0	453.9246	0.8492	1.3347	0.701						
To TRUN	K 102, Pip	e 322 - 323				4.99				0.00				0.00				0.00	15.49																				
					1																1		1																
TRUNK 1	10	[T	1		T	1																		1				·										
	251	252	0.86	0.65	1.55	1.55	1	1	0.00	0.00			0,00	0.00	1	1	0,00	0.00	10.00	76.81	104.19	122.14	178.56	119	675	675	CONC	0,15	70.5	325,5584	0.9098	1.2915	0.367						
	252	253	0.42	0.65	0.76	2.31	1	1	0.00	0.00	<u> </u>		0.00	0.00	1.	1	0.00	0.00	11 29	72 18	97 83	114 65	167 56	167	750	750	CONC	0.15	70.5	431 1703	0.9760	1,2039	0.387						
	252	320	2 80	0.65	5.06	7 27		1	0.00	0.00	<u> </u>		0.00	0.00		<u> </u>	0.00	0.00	12 50	68 30	92.63	108 53	158 57	504	1050	1050	CONC	0.10	76.5	863 5311	0.9973	1 2785	0.584						
To TOUN	K 102 Dia	020	2.00	0.00	1 3.00	7 27	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	1 0.00	0.00	<u> </u>		0.00	0.00	+	<u> </u>	0.00	0.00	13 77	00.39	52.00	1 100.00	100.07		1000	1000		0,10	10.0	000.0011	0.0010	1.2100	0.004						
TO TRUN	K 102, Pip T	e 320 - 322	+		·	1.31				0.00				0.00				0.00	13.77																				
TOUR			+	<u>}</u>	+		 	+			l			<u> </u>	ł	 		<u> </u>		+	<u> </u>		h	<u> </u>	+							<u> </u>							
TRUNK 1	02				+		ļ								ļ	ļ				L	ļ								 										
		l	1	<u> </u>	0.00	0.00	1.14	0.65	2.06	2.06			0.00	0,00	Ļ	L	0.00	0.00	10.00		L				L														
Contribut	on From T	RUNK 110, I	Pipe 253 - 3	320		7.37	1	1		0.00				0.00				0.00	13.77		1											L							
	320	322			0.00	7.37	0.42	0.65	0.76	2.82			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	13,77	64.82	87.74	102.77	150.11	725	1050	1050	CONC	0.25	102.5	1365.3626	1.5768	1.0834	0.531						
Contribut	on From T	RUNK 109, F	Pipe 321 - 3	322		4.99				0.00				0.00				0.00	15.49			1																	
	322	323	T	T	0.00	12.36	0.85	0.65	1.54	4.35			0.00	0.00	1	1	0.00	0.00	15,49	60.64	82.02	96.04	140.24	1107	1050	1050	CONC	0.30	32.0	1495.6798	1.7273	0.3088	0.740						
	323	324	1		0.00	12.36	0.03	0.65	0.05	4.41			0.00	0.00	1	1	0.00	0.00	15.80	59.95	81.07	94.93	138.61	1098	1050	1050	CONC	0.30	10.5	1495.6798	1.7273	0.1013	0.734						
	324	325	1		0.00	12.36	0.30	0.65	0.54	4.95			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	15.90	59 73	80.77	94.57	138.08	1138	1200	1200	CONC	0.15	37.5	1509 9717	1 3351	0.4681	0 754						
	325	326		<u> </u>	0.00	12.36	0.61	0.65	1 10	6.05			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	16.37	58 72	70 30	02.05	135 71	1206	1200	1200	CONC	0.20	115	1743 5652	1 5417	0 1243	0.692						
	000	320			0.00	12.30	0.01	+ 0.05	1.10	0.05			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	10.07	50.72	70.00	02.55	100.71	1200	1200	1200	CONC	0.20	72.0	1607 0047	1.0417	1 0.1243	0.032						
	320	328			0.00	12.30			0.00	0.05			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	10.49	50.40	79.03	92.55	135.09	1201	1350	1350	CONC	0.10	12.0	1007.0347	1.1792	1.0177	0.712						
	L			<u> </u>	0.00	12.36	0.00	0.00	0.00	6.05	ļ		0.00	0.00		ļ	0.00	0.00	11.38		<u> </u>					<u> </u>													
	328	263	1		0.00	12.36	0.45	0.65	0.81	6.87	<u> </u>		0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	17.51	56.42	76.24	89.25	130.28	1221	1350	1350	CONC	0.10	65.5	1687.8347	1.1792	0.9258	0.723						
Contribut	ion From T	RUNK 104, I	² ipe 2680 ·	26300		18.87				0.00	1			0.00				0.00	20.03																				
					0.00	31.22	0.00	0.00	0.00	6.87			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	13.52																				
					0.00	31.22	0.28	0.65	0.51	7.37			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00				1	1		1				I			1							
	263	264	0.46	0.65	0.83	32.06			0.00	7.37			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	20.03	51.98	70.18	82.13	119.83	2184	1500	1500	CONC	0.15	75.0	2737.7609	1.5493	0.8068	0.798						
	264	265		1	0.00	32.06	0.87	0.65	1.57	8.94	1		0.00	0.00		1	0.00	0.00	20.84	50.72	68.46	80.11	116.87	2238	1500	1500	CONC	0.15	75.0	2737,7609	1.5493	0.8068	0,818						
			1	1	0.00	32.06	0.00	0.00	0.00	8 94	1		0.00	0.00		1	0.00	0.00		1									1										
			+		0.00	32.06	0.23	0.65	0.42	936			0.00	0.00		+	0.00	0.00	t		+	+				t													
	265	266	2.05	0.65	5 22	37.30	0.20	0.00	0.42	0.36			0.00	0.00	+		0.00	0.00	21.65	40.52	66.93	78 10	114.06	2477	1500	1500	CONC	0.20	73.0	3161 2040	1 7880	0.6801	0.784						
	200	200	2.55	0.00	0.00	07.00			0.00	0.00	0.22	0.65	0.00	0.00	+		0.00	0.00	21.00	45.52	CE E2	70.13	114.00	2411	1500	1500	CONC	0.20	60.5	2161 2040	1.7000	0.0001	0.704						
	200	20/IEE			0.00	37.39			0.00	9.50	0.22	0.05	0.40	0.40	+		0.00	0.00	22.33	40.07	05.55	70.00	111.01	2400	1500	1500		0.20	09.5	3101.2940	1.7009	0.0475	0.770						
	120/1EE	HVV (Pond1	4	 	0.00	37.39	_	+	0.00	9.36	_		0.00	U.40	+	<u> </u>	0.00	0.00	22.9/	47.69	64.33	/ 5.26	109.76	2415	1 1500	100	LCONC	0.20	39.5	3161.2940	1.7889	0.3680	0.764						
	1	 				- 	+				. <u> </u>		ļ		+	<u> </u>	 	 	ļ	 	_		 	·		 	.	 	·										
TRUNK	103		-	 			+		<u> </u>	1			<u> </u>		_		<u> </u>	<u> </u>	ļ	 	ļ		ļ			ļ	Į	 	<u> </u>	l									
ļ			4	ļ				<u> </u>	ļ	l		L	I	4	4	l			_				ļ	3186		L													
	2800	280		L	0.00	0.00		1	0.00	0.00	0.88	0.65	1.59	1.59			0.00	0.00	10.00	76.81	104.19	122.14	178.56	3380	1650	1650	CONC	0.15	112.0	3530.0106	1.6509	1.1307	0.903						
	280	281TEE			0.00	0.00		1	0.00	0.00		1	0.00	1.59			0.00	0.00	11.13	72.72	98.58	115.53	168.84	3370	1650	1650	CONC	0.15	112.0	3530.0106	1.6509	1.1307	0.955						
	281TEE	HW (Pond1)	1	0.00	0.00	1	1	0.00	0.00			0.00	1.59	I		0.00	0.00	12.26	69.09	93.59	109.66	160.23	3360	1650	1650	CONC	0.15	38.0	3530.0106	1.6509	0.3836	0.952						
	1	1	Т	1	1	1	T	T	1	T	1	Г	T	T		T	Γ			T	T	T	1	Τ	T		T	1	T	T									
TRUNK	105	T	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1		1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1		1							
	6	7	1.65	0.65	2 98	2 98	1	1	0.00	0.00	1	†	0.00	0.00	1	1	0.00	0.00	10.00	76.81	104 19	122 14	178 56	229	675	675	CONC	0.15	107.5	325 5584	0 9098	1 9694	0 703						
h	+	<u>,</u>	1 0 72	0.05	1 2.00	1 1 28	+	+	1 0.00	0.00	+	t	1 0.00	0.00	115 THE P. L.	- AND STREET	0.00	0.00	11 07	60.00	94.82	111 11	162.36	300	750	750	CONC	0.10	66.0	369 2222	0.8358	1 3162	0.812						
 	+'	°	0.72	0.00	1.50	6.00	+	+	0.00	0.00	+	<u> </u>	0.00	0.00		no.	0.00	0.00	11.5/	03.33	04,00	+	102.00	1-300	1 100	1 100		1-0.11		000.2022	0.0000	1.0102	0.012						
	+		0.90	0.00	1.73	0.02	+	+	0.00	0.00	+	+	0.00	0.00	+OFE	₽ <i>>Ю</i> л,	0.00	0.00	10.00	60.40	00.54	10100	150.00	1 200	+	1 000	0010	0.11	70.5	600 4400	0.0400	1 0000	0.000						
	1 8	11		+	0.00	6.02	+	+	1 0.00	0.00	+		0.00	100	10	V.	U.W.	0.00	13.29	00.13	09.54	1 104.89	153.22	398	900	900		1 U.11	/3.5	000.4123	0.9438	1.2980	0.003						
	11	12		4	0.00	6.02	1.39	0.65	2.51	2.51	·	ļ	0.00	V 0,00)	and a state of the		1. 800g	0.00	14.58	62.77	84.93	99.46	145.26	591	975	975	CONC	0.11	64.0	/43.2733	0.9955	1.0/15	0.795						
	12	15	0.48	0.65	0.87	6.88			0.00	2.51			0.00	0100	1	1	0.00	0.00	15.65	60.26	81.50	95.43	139.34	620	975	975	CONC	0.11	80.0	743.2733	0.9955	1.3393	0.834						
To TRUN	IK 106, Pip	e 15 - 104		1		6.88			1	2.51	1		/	₹0.00	1	K (XC	0.00	16.99	1	1		1	1				1		1	L	1							
									1				1	31 9	State Barker	a management	12	1											1										
	1				1		1	1	1	Τ			1	A Co	1 11/	111	<u> </u>		1	1	1			1	1				1										
Definition	s:													easul	¥¥.	610	11 100	;						Designed	l:		PROJECT			WESTERN DE	VELOPM	ENT LANDS							
0 = 2.78	AIR, where									Notes			4		1001	67022	ah								AK														
D= Dash	Flow in T :	es ner second	(1 /c)							1) Ottown	Rainfall.(nt	ansity Curv	, j			JUL	_							Checked			LOCATIC	N ⁷				******							
	in hoster	(ha)	(1							2) Min 1/-	Josity = 0.0	m/c	· 1	N. (0.1	1	T) (1						Checked	А.И		Locan			Citra of C	Haura								
A - Areas	in nectares	(114)								2) WIIII. VE	addity = 0.8	1182	a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a		2-CT	1011	V 1	/						Day D (VVL		El D.C				lidwa	Chart N							
1 = Kainta	u intensity (mm/n)												N 32 V	1 0	1 1 1	 Ø 	1						Dwg. Ref	erence:		rue Kef:			Date:		Sneet No.							
R = Runo	tt Coefficier	nt												N'OI	Thing were	Constant State State	<u></u>				Constant and the other			1	Dwg 3		L	17-977	R = Runoff Coefficient 20, 0 SHEFET, 0 Ct 2019 SHEFET,										

NCE OF ONTA

ST

STOR	M SEV		CULAT Local Roa Collector Arterial R	TION SI ads Return 1 Roads Retur Roads Return	HEET (Frequency = 1rm Frequen n Frequency	RATION = 2 years icy = 5 years y = 10 years	NAL MI	ETHOD))										999-100 (100 - 10 1 - 101 - 1						*****					C) Dtt	aw	'n
	LC	CATION								ARE	EA (Ha)										FI	LOW			T				SEWER D	ATA			-
		T	105	2	YEAR			5	YEAR	T		10	YEAR			100	YEAR		Time of	Intensity	Intensity	Intensity	Intensity	Peak Flow	DIA. (mm)	DIA. (mm)	TYPE	SLOPE	LENGTH	CAPACITY	VELOCITY	TIME OF	F RATIO
Location	From Nod	e To Node	(Ha)	R	2 78 AC	2 78 AC	(Ha)	R	2 78 AC	2 78 AC	(Ha)	R	2 78 AC	2 78 AC	AREA (Ha)	R	2 78 AC	Accum.	Conc.	2 Year	5 Year	10 Year	100 Year	0.0/m	(astual)	(naminal)	 	(9/)		(1-)	(LOW (mi	- 0/0 F-1
			+	+	+		+		2.707.0	2.107.0	(, -/	1	2.70710	1 2.107.0	1 (+	2.70 40	2.10 40	Quany	(00000)	1 (1111101)	(11111)			(actual)	(nonina)		(70)	(11)	(05)	(m/s)	LOW (mi	n Q/Q Iui
TRUNK	106													1	1	1			-	1	1				<u> </u>	1							-
	203	204	0.30	0.65	0.54	0.54			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00		1	0.00	0.00	10.00	76.81	104.19	122.14	178.56	42	450	450	CONC	0.20	92.5	127.5033	0.8017	1.9230	0.327
	204	13	1.11	0.65	2.01	2.55	·		0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	11.92	70.13	95.03	111.35	162.70	179	600	600	CONC	0.22	100.5	287.9969	1.0186	1.6444	0.620
	13	14	1.06	0.65	1.92	4.46			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	13.57	65.37	88.49	103.66	151.41	292	825	825	CONC	0.11	102.5	476.0801	0.8906	1.9182	0.613
Contribut	ion From	TRUNK 105 I	1 Pine 12 - 1	5	0.00	6.88		-	0.00	2.51	+	+	0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	15,49	60.64	82.02	96.04	140.24	2/1	825	825	CONC	0.11	15.5	476.0801	0.8906	0.2901	0.569
	15	104	1	T	0.00	11.35			0.00	2.51			0.00	0.00	+		0.00	0.00	16.99	57.43	77.62	90.87	132 66	847	1200	1200	CONC	0.11	13.5	1293 0625	1 1433	0 1968	0.655
	104	HW (Pond1)		0.00	11.35			0.00	2.51			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	17.19	57.04	77.09	90.24	131.73	841	1200	1200	CONC	0,11	55.5	1293,0625	1.1433	0.8090	0.650
-																																	
TRUNK	107	210	0.49	0.65	0.97	0.07			0.00	0.00			- 0.00								+	1										 	_
	200	210	0.40	0.00	0.07	0.87			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	10.00	76.81	104.19	122.14	1/8.56	6/	450	450	CONC	0.20	75.0	127.5033	0.8017	1.5592	0.522
	211	209	0.40	0.65	0.72	1.59			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	11.50	70.53	95.57	111 08	163.64	112	400	450	CONC	0.20	11.5	127.5033	0.8017	1 2475	0.485
			0.00	0.00	0.00	1.59		-	0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00		1	0.00	0.00	10.97	1 / 0.00	1 00.07	1 11.00	100.04	112	020			0.20	00.5	192.3291	0.0000	1.2475	0.000
	209	212	0.55	0.65	0.99	2.58			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	13.05	66.80	90.45	105.96	154.80	173	600	600	CONC	0.15	56.5	237.8056	0.8411	1.1196	0.726
	212	20	0.59	0.65	1.07	3.65			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	14.17	63.81	86.35	101.14	147.72	233	675	675	CONC	0.15	69.5	325.5584	0.9098	1.2732	0.715
	20	21	0.00	0.65	1 70	3.65			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	15.44	60.75	82.17	96.22	140.49	222	675	675	CONC	0.15	77.0	325.5584	0.9098	1.4106	0.681
	22	23	0.99	0.05	0.00	5.44			0.00	0.00	-	<u> </u>	0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	16.85	57.72	74.02	91.34	133.35	314	825	825	CONC	0.11	64.5	476.0801	0.8906	1.2071	0.659
	23	105	1.96	0.65	3,54	8.98	+		0.00	0.00		+	0.00	0.00		+	0.00	0.00	18.42	54 72	73.92	86.52	126.27	491	900	900	CONC	0.11	19.5	600 4123	0.8906	0.3649	0.633
	105	106			0.00	8.98			0.00	0.00		1	0.00	0.00		1	0.00	0.00	18.89	53.89	72.79	85.19	124.32	484	900	900	CONC	0.11	62.5	600.4123	0.9438	1,1037	0.806
	106	108			0.00	8.98			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	19.99	52.04	70.27	82.23	119.98	467	900	900	CONC	0.11	69.5	600.4123	0.9438	1.2273	0.778
To TRUN	<u>IK 108, Pij</u>	pe 108 - 109				8.98				0.00				0.00				0.00	21.22														
TRUNK	108											╂────		·								<u></u>		ļ							ļ'		
	217	218	0.45	0.65	0.81	0.81			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	+		0.00	0.00	10.00	76.81	104 10	122.14	178 56	62	450	450	CONC	0.20	115.5	107 5022	0.9017	2 4012	0.400
	218	219			0.00	0.81			0.00	0.00	1	+	0.00	0.00	+		0.00	0.00	12.40	68.67	93.02	108.98	159.23	56	450	450	CONC	0.20	115.5	127.5033	0.8017	0.2391	0.490
	219	220	0.54	0.65	0.98	1.79			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	12.40	68.67	93.02	108.98	159.23	123	525	525	CONC	0.20	66.5	192,3297	0.8885	1.2475	0.639
			0.00	0.00	0.00	1.79		· · · · · ·	0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	13.96														
		004	0.13	0.65	0.23	2.02			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00				4											
 	220	221	1.25	0.65	2.26	4.28			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	13.96	64.32	87,06	101.97	148.94	275	675	675	CONC	0.20	66.0	375.9224	1.0505	1.0471	0.733
	221	222	0.97	0.65	1.75	6.04	+		0.00	0.00		+	0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	15.01	61.74	83.52	97.81	142.83	373	750	750	CONC	0.20	110.0	407 9726	1 1270	1 7500	0.749
	222	223			0.00	6.04	1		0.00	0.00		1	0.00	0.00		+	0.00	0.00	16.77	57.88	78.24	91.60	133.72	349	825	825	CONC	0.20	13.5	555 9418	1.1270	0.2163	0.740
	223	25	0.76	0.65	1.37	7.41	-		0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	16.99	57.44	77.64	90.89	132.68	426	900	900	CONC	0.19	68.5	789,0963	1.2404	0.9204	0.539
ļ			0.65	0.65	1.17	8.58	+		0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00															
	25	26	0.94	0.65	0.00	8.58	1.07	0.65	1.93	1.93		+	0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	17.91	55.66	75.20	88.03	128.48	623	1050	1050	PVC	0.11	75.0	905.6791	1.0459	1.1951	0.688
	26	27	0.01	0.65	1 72	11.05			0.00	1.93	+	+	0.00	0.00	+		0.00	0.00	10.10	52 50	70.00	04.00	100 45	700	1000	1000	- DV (0	0.11	010	4000.0005	1 4 400	+ 1000	+
	27	107	0.27	0.65	0.49	12.25			0.00	1.93	+	+	0.00	0.00	+		0.00	0.00	20.28	51.52	69.63	81 48	123.40	767	1200	1200	PVC PVC	0.11	75.0	1293.0625	1.1433	1,1808	0.595
	107	1070			0.00	12.25		1	0.00	1.93	1	1	0.00	0.00	1	·· [0.00	0.00	21.38	49.92	67.36	78.82	114.98	742	1200	1200	PVC	0.11	7.0	1293.0625	1.1433	0.1020	0.574
	1070	108	1.30	0.65	2.35	14.60			0.00	1.93			0.00	0.00			0.00	0.00	21.48	49.77	67.16	78.58	114.63	856	1200	1200	PVC	0.11	44.5	1293.0625	1.1433	0.6487	0.662
Contribu	tion From	TRUNK 107,	Pipe 106 -	108		8.98				0.00				0.00		_		0.00	21.22											1			
	108	109			0.00	23.58			0.00	1.93		·	0.00	0.00		+	0.00	0.00	22.13	48.84	65.90	77.10	112.46	1279	1350	1350	PVC	0.11	10.5	1770.2160	1.2367	0.1415	0.723
	109	HVV (Pond)	4		0.00	23.58	+		0.00	1.93		+	0.00	0.00		C. Storester	0.00	0.00	22.27	48.64	65.63	76.79	112.00	1274	1350	1350	CONC	0.11	6,0	1770.2160	1.2367	0.0809	0.720
Definition	s:					L				I		.L	- I	.L		ACEC	CIA V					1	L	Decioned	L		PROJECT	Į	1	MESTERNIN			<u></u>
Q = 2.78	AIR, where									Notes:					OP OR	Ores	NON	State of the second second						Designed	AK		I KOJLC I	•		WESTERND	IVELOFINE	AVI LAND	<i>.</i>
Q = Peak Flow in Litres per second (L/s) 1) Ottawa Rainfall-Intensity Curve									e	A P A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A										Checked:			LOCATIC	DN:									
A = Areas in hectares (ha) 2) Min. Velocity = 0.80 m/s										SL	and the second second	7/X	12			WL								City of Ottawa									
I = Rainfa R = Rainfa	II Intensity	(mm/h) nt												15	1544/181									Dwg. Refe	erence:		File Ref:			Date:		Sheet No	э.
r - Kuno	n coemcie													14	(107 7	18 4 (1	- 61						L	Dwg 3	VIII CONTRACTOR OF CONTRACTOR	1	17-977		Oct 2	J19	SHEE	ET 4 OF 4
														1	1	vv. L 00167	iu ~) '932	- B															

100

BOUNCE OF ONTARD

10,20

APPENDIX I

JFSA Hydrologic / Hydraulic Modeling



J.F. Sabourin and Associates Inc. WATER RESOURCES AND ENVIRONMENTAL

CONSULTANTS

52 Springbrook Drive Ottawa (Stittsville), ON K2S 1B9 TEL: (613) 836-3884 FAX: (613) 836-0332 WEB: www.jfsa.com

January 10, 2014

David Schaeffer Engineering Ltd. 120 Iber Road, Unit 203 Ottawa, Ontario K2S 1E9

Attention: Kevin Murphy, P.Eng.

Subject: Richmond Village (South) Limited Subdivision / Preliminary Stormwater Management Plan

our file: 922-11

As requested by your office, we have evaluated, based on the provided information as described below; (i) the adequacy of the proposed minor system to convey the 5- and 100-year storm flows from within the development to the stormwater management (SWM) facilities; (ii) the capacity of the proposed major system to safely convey the excess 100-year flows to the SWM facilities; (iii) the operation of the proposed SWM facilities based on quality, erosion and quantity control requirements; and (iv) the hydraulic impact of the proposed subdivision and SWM facilities on the Van Gaal Drain.

The proposed Richmond Village (South) development consists of a 126.81 ha drainage area to be treated by two Stormwater Management (SWM) facilities; SWM Facility 1 (91.82 ha at 51% imperviousness) discharging to Van Gaal Drain, and SWM Facility 2 (34.99 ha at 51% imperviousness) discharging to the Jock River. It should be noted that excess major system flows from 36.63 ha, 30.79 ha, 21.75 ha and 2.65 ha of the Pond 1 subdivision area will discharge to Pond 1, to the Van Gaal Drain, to the Moore Drain Tributary, and to the Moore Drain, respectively. Additionally, of the undeveloped lands south of the proposed subdivision, 97.50 ha will drain through SWM Facility 1, 71.8 ha will drain through SWM Facility 2, and 94.2 ha will be conveyed through the subdivision by a tributary of the Moore Drain. Refer to Figures 1A and 1B of Attachment 1 for the existing and proposed subject site drainage areas, respectively.

SWM Facility 1 is a wet pond discharging to the Van Gaal Drain and requires quality, erosion and quantity control, and SWM Facility 2 is a wetland discharging to the Jock River and requires quality control only. Quality control will be provided for SWM Facilities 1 and 2 by permanent pools and 40 m³/ha of active storage volume (released over 24 hours) in accordance with Ministry of the Environment enhanced protection requirements. Erosion control for SWM Facility 1 will be provided by controlling the 2-year release rate to 330 L/s or less, where 330 L/s is the erosion threshold for the Van Gaal Drain identifed by Parish Geomorphic in the *Natural Environment & Impact Assessment Study for the Mattamy Richmond Lands* (March 2009). Furthermore, the October 26, 2012 *Van Gaal Drain Erosion Assessment* memo by JTB Environmental Systems Inc. indicates that the 2-year outflows from SWM Facility 1 should discharge to the Van Gaal Drain at a velocity of 0.225 m/s or less. This may be achieved by a plunge pool or other velocity reduction measures at the SWM Facility 1 extended detention outlet pipe to the Van Gaal Drain. Quantity control will be provided for SWM Facility 1 to limit the 2- to 100-year release rates to predevelopment levels.

The SWMHYMO program was used to simulate the major system flows and minor system inflows for the drainage area to the SWM facilities, to estimate the quantity control target release rates for SWM Facility 1 based on existing conditions, and to simulate proposed conditions flows on the Van Gaal Drain and Jock River. The XPSWMM program was used to model the conveyance of the minor system flows and the operation of the SWM facilities. The HEC-RAS program was used to simulate water levels on the Van Gaal Drain and Jock River. Refer to Attachment 2 for a schematic of the XPSWMM model; digital SWMHYMO, XPSWMM and HEC-RAS models are attached.

PROPOSED MINOR AND MAJOR SYSTEM DRAINAGE

The proposed minor and major system drainage routes are shown in plan view in Figure 1B of Attachment 1. The catchments shown in Figure 1B were divided into front yard / non-residential areas and rear yard areas for the SWMHYMO model, where rear yard areas are equal to approximately 37.5% of residential catchments based on a typical subdivision layout.

In accordance with City of Ottawa standards, the minor system has been designed to accommodate the 5-year postdevelopment flows from within the site. For modelling purposes, minor system captures rates on front yard / nonresidential areas were limited to 112% of the 5-year flows simulated in SWMHYMO, in order to account for additional flows captured by standard inlet control devices and catchbasins during the 100-year storm. In accordance with the potential design approach suggested in the October 2012 *City of Ottawa Sewer Design Guidelines*, 100% of the 100-year flows simulated in the rear yard areas are to be captured to the minor system. Additionally, 100% of the 100-year flows on Ottawa Street and Perth Street are to be captured to the minor system to prevent flows from crossing these roads.

The street segments within the proposed development are to be designed using a 'saw tooth' or 'sagged' road profile. The runoff from within front yard / non-residential areas will be conveyed to catchbasins located at low points on the street. Flows in excess of the minor system capture rate are temporarily stored within approximately 30 m³/ha of surface storage and released slowly to the storm sewers and then, when that storage is surpassed, conveyed overland to the next downstream catchment. A 0.5% longitudinal slope, 3% road cross-slope and 3.5% shoulder cross-slope were assumed for the purposes of modelling the routing of major system flows along the main streets in the development. Road widths are as provided by DSEL. Refer to Table 1A of Attachment 2 for a summary of the subdivision drainage areas as modelled in SWMHYMO.

The proposed storm sewers will convey 100% of the 100-year flows generated on 97.5 ha of undeveloped lands south of the subject site to SWM Facility 1, and on 71.8 ha of undeveloped lands south of the subject site to SWM Facility 2. Total drainage areas through the subject site under existing and proposed conditions, including undeveloped lands and the proposed subdivision drainage areas, are summarized in Tables 1B and 1C of Attachment 2.

We understand that homes in the proposed subdivision are to be serviced by sump pumps. It is estimated that sump pumps will contribute approximately 0.23 L/s/ha of flow to the proposed storm sewer based on a average development density of approximately 27.8 lots/ha, where 50% of sump pumps are on at any given time, and a flow contribution of 1.44 m³/day/lot per the October 3, 2012 *Updated Assessment of Subsurface Drainage and Analysis of 100 Year Flood Event - Proposed Village of Richmond Development* memo by Golder Associates Limited. Sump pump flows have been accounted for in evaluating the operations of the proposed minor system.

In addition to the standard City of Ottawa 3-hour Chicago and 24-hour SCS Type II design storms, the performances of the SWM facilities were also assessed for the 100-year 10-day spring snowmelt plus rainfall event based on AES Ottawa CDA snowmelt plus rainfall IDF curves. This is in keeping with the previous floodplain mapping studies for the Van Gaal Drain and the Jock River, where the spring snowmelt plus rainfall events resulted in the highest flows and water levels on the watercourses, both at and downstream of the SWM facility outfalls.

Several modifications were made to the drainage area characteristics in the spring SWMHYMO models in order to best represent spring conditions. An SCS curve number (CN) of 95 was selected for undeveloped lands to model the limited infiltration capacity of the frozen soils. Similarly, the Horton's minimum and maximum infiltration parameters for the sudivision drainage areas were set to 2.4 mm/hour; the lowest infiltration rate in the *SWMHYMO User's Manual* (May 2000, JFSA). Furthermore, it was assumed, according to generally accepted practice, that half of the volume in the snowmelt plus rainfall event may be attributed to snowmelt, and half to rainfall. As it is expected that most of the snow on impervious areas like roads, driveways and roofs would have melted prior to such an event, half of the impervious area was removed from each developed drainage area such that only the runoff

resulting from rainfall, not snowmelt, is simulated for impervious areas.

The SWMHYMO and XPSWMM analyses, discussed in the next sections, demonstrate that it is possible for the proposed drainage systems for the development to control the excess flow during a 100-year storm and safely capture and convey the minor system flows to the SWM facility.

ASSUMPTIONS AND SOURCES OF DATA USED

The following parameters and assumptions used in the analysis are based on City of Ottawa standards and generally accepted stormwater management design guidelines.

- Stormwater Management Model:	<i>SWMHYMO</i> (version 5.02), <i>XPSWMM</i> (version 10), <i>HEC-RAS</i> (version 4.1.0)
- Minor System Design:	1:5 vear
- Major System Design:	1:100 vear
- Max. Allowable Flow Depth:	30 cm above gutter.
- Extent of Major System:	Must be contained within the municipal right-of-way.
- SWMHYMO Model Parameters:	$F_0 = 76.2 \text{ mm/hr}, F_c = 13.2 \text{ mm/hr}, DCAY = 4.14/hr, D.Stor.Imp. = 1.57 \text{ mm},$
	D.Stor.Per. = 4.67 mm (as per 2012 City of Ottawa Guidelines).
- Undeveloped Area Characteristics:	As per "Floodplain Mapping Report for the Van Gaal and Arbuckle
I.	Municipal Drains in the Village of Richmond" (November 2009, JFSA).
- Imperviousness:	SWM Facilities: based on SWM block layout.
•	<i>Front Yard / Non-Residential: based on runoff coefficient (C) where Percent</i>
	Imperviousness = $(C - 0.2) / 0.7 \times 100\%$.
	Rear Yard: equal to half of the front yard percent imperviousness. Half of that
	rear yard impervious area is assumed to be indirectly connected.
- Design Storms:	Chicago 3-hour and SCS Type II 24-hour design storms based on 2012 City
	of Ottawa Sewer Design Guidelines; maximum intensity averaged over 10
	minutes.
	SCS Type II 24-hour design storms based on AES Ottawa CDA IDF curves;
	maximum intensity averaged over 10 minutes (for Jock River simulation only).
	10-day snowmelt plus rainfall events based on AES Ottawa CDA snowmelt
	plus rainfall IDF curves; maximum intensity averaged over 1 hour.
- Historical Events:	July 1st, 1979 event per 2012 City of Ottawa Sewer Design Guidelines.
- Climate Change Street Test:	20% increase in the 100-year, 3-hour Chicago and 100-year, 24-hour SCS
	storms, as per 2012 City of Ottawa Sewer Design Guidelines.
- Manning's Roughness Coeff.:	0.013 for concrete pipes (free flow).
- Minor System Losses:	Refer to Attachment 2 for manhole loss coefficients.
- Sump Pump Flows:	0.23 L/s/ha based on 27.8 lot/ha, 1.44 m^3 /day/lot (per October 3, 2012)
	"Updated Assessment of Subsurface Drainage and Analysis of 100 Year Flood
	Event - Proposed Village of Richmond Development" memo by Golder
	Associates Limited), and 50% of sump pumps on.
- Downstream HGL:	Jock River water levels at SWM Facility 2 outlet as per "Jock River Flood
	Risk Mapping (within the City of Ottawa) Hydraulics Report" (November
	2004, PSR Group Ltd. and JFSA).
	Van Gaal Drain water levels at SWM Facility 1 outlet as per HEC-RAS
	models from "Floodplain Mapping Report for the Van Gaal and Arbuckle
	Municipal Drains in the Village of Richmond" (November 2009, JFSA) with
	proposed Fortune Street culvert improvements in place.
MAJOR SYSTEM CONVEYANCE

As per City standards, the total 100-year depth of water (static and dynamic) on the street must be retained within the right-of-way and should not exceed 30 cm. Although static ponding depths are unknown at this stage of the design, the dynamic flow depths at a typical low point were estimated in SWMHYMO based on the excess major system flows in a front yard/non-residential catchment and an assumed longitudinal street slope of 0.15% from high point to high point. The results of this analysis are presented in Table 2A of Attachment 3 for the 100-year 3-hour Chicago storm. As may be seen in Attachment 3, the dynamic flow depths on all catchments are below 30 cm, allowing for some static ponding depth to be incorporated into the detailed design without exceeding City standards for total depth of water. In general, it may be concluded that it is possible to provide a total 100-year depth of water that is less than 30 cm and retained within the right-of-way, in accordance with City standards.

Table 2B of Attachment 3 presents the simulated dynamic flow depths for the development based on a 20% increase in the 100-year 3-hour Chicago storm, in accordance with the climate change stress test prescribed in the October 2012 *City of Ottawa Sewer Design Guidelines*. As shown in Table 2B, the maximum dynamic flow depth at a typical low point was estimated as approximately 28.6 cm under these conditions.

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT FACILITIES

As previously noted, 99.82 ha of the subdivision at 51% imperviousness are serviced by SWM Facility 1; and 34.99 ha at 51% imperviousness are serviced by SWM Facility 2. As previously noted, excess major system flows from 36.63 ha, 30.79 ha, 21.75 ha and 2.65 ha of the Pond 1 subdivision area will discharge to Pond 1, to the Van Gaal Drain, to the Moore Drain Tributary, and to the Moore Drain, respectively. Additionally, 97.5 ha of undeveloped lands to the south of the proposed subdivision will drain to SWM Facility 2. Refer to Tables 3A and 3B of Attachment 4 for a summary of the proposed operating conditions for SWM Facilities 1 and 2, respectively. Major system outflows from the proposed subdivision to the Van Gaal Drain, Moore Drain Tributary and Moore Drain are also presented in Table 3A of Attachment 4.

The permanent pool volumes of SWM Facilities 1 and 2 are sufficient to provide an enhanced protection level (80% long-term suspended solids removal) according to Ministry of the Environment standards for wet ponds and wetlands, respectively. Active storage volumes of 40 m^3 /ha minimum were also provided for quality control in SWM Facilities 1 and 2 and detained for approximately 24 hours. Drawdown time calculations for SWM Facilities 1 and 2 are presented in Tables 4A and 4B of Attachment 4.

Erosion control for SWM Facility 1 will be provided by controlling the 2-year release rate to 330 L/s or less, where 330 L/s is the erosion threshold for the Van Gaal Drain identifed by Parish Geomorphic in the *Natural Environment & Impact Assessment Study for the Mattamy Richmond Lands* (March 2009). Furthermore, the October 26, 2012 *Van Gaal Drain Erosion Assessment* memo by JTB Environmental Systems Inc. indicates that the 2-year outflows from SWM Facility 1 should discharge to the Van Gaal Drain at a velocity of 0.225 m/s or less. This may be achieved by a plunge pool or other velocity reduction measures at the SWM Facility 1 extended detention outlet pipe to the Van Gaal Drain. We understand that erosion control is not required for SWM Facility 2, which discharges to the Jock River.

Quantity control for SWM Facility 1 is to be provided by controlling post-development outflows to pre-development levels for the 2- to 100-year 24-hour SCS design storms, taking into account the uncontrolled major system flows to the Van Gaal Drain Moore Drain Tributary, and Moore Drain. Pre-development flows from the site were estimated in SWMHYMO based on the undeveloped drainage area characteristics presented in Figure 1A of Attachment 1 and Table 1B of Attachment 2. We understand that quantity control is not required for SWM Facility 2, which discharges to the Jock River; however, the 100-year release rate from SWM Facility 2 has been limited to a maximum of 2.235 m³/s based on the capacity of the 1500 mm diameter (at 0.1% slope) outlet pipe to the Jock

River. Refer to Tables 5A and 5B of Attachment 4 for the outlet control design and stage-storage-discharge relationships for SWM Facilities 1 and 2, respectively.

The performances of the SWM facilities were analyzed in XPSWMM based on both free outfall and restrictive downstream conditions. Restrictive downstream conditions for the outlet of SWM Facility 2 to the Jock River are based on the *Jock River Flood Risk Mapping (within the City of Ottawa) Hydraulics Report* (November 2004, PSR Group Ltd. and JFSA). During the 100-year 10-day spring snowmelt plus rainfall event, the water level on the Jock River at the outlet of SWM Facility 2 (Jock River Lower Reach 2 cross-section 19353) is 94.18 m. During the 100-year 24-hour SCS design storm, the water level on the Jock River at this location is below the permanent pool elevation of SWM Facility 2 and therefore does not affect the operation of the SWM facility.

Restrictive downstream conditions for the outlet of SWM Facility 1 to the Van Gaal Drain are based on the existing conditions HEC-RAS models from *Floodplain Mapping Report for the Van Gaal and Arbuckle Municipal Drains in the Village of Richmond* (November 2009, JFSA) with proposed Fortune Street culvert improvements in place. It is proposed that the width of the Fortune Street culvert on the Van Gaal Drain be increased from 4.2 m to 6.3 m. Under these conditions, the water level on the Van Gaal Drain at the outlet of SWM Facility 1 (Van Gaal Drain Reach 2 cross-section 961) is 93.68 m for the 100-year 24-hour SCS design storm and 94.11 m for the 100-year 10-day spring snowmelt plus rainfall event.

HYDRAULIC GRADELINE ANALYSIS

The minor system and hydraulic gradeline analysis was completed for the proposed systems discharging to SWM Facility 1 and 2 using the XPSWMM program based on the 100-year 3-hour Chicago and 100-year 24-hour SCS design storms, the 100-year 10-day spring snowmelt plus rainfall event and for the July 1st 1979 historical event. Attachment 5 summarizes the hydraulic simulation results for the proposed systems under restrictive downstream conditions. Note that the flowing full pipe velocities are not less than 0.8 m/s and no greater than 6.0 m/s for all proposed pipes. Also note that all manholes where the 100-year hydraulic gradeline is less than 0.5 m below the ground elevation are located within the pond block, and do not have storm sewer connections to buildings; therefore a high 100-year hydraulic gradeline at these locations will not have any negative impacts.

Attachment 5 also presents the hydraulic simulation results for the climate change stress test based on a 20% increase in the 100-year 3-hour Chicago and 100-year 24-hour SCS design storms, as per the October 2012 *City of Ottawa Sewer Design Guidelines*.

DOWNSTREAM HYDRAULIC IMPACTS

The impact of the proposed subdivision and SWM facility designs on the flows and flood levels on the downstream Van Gaal Drain was evaluated using the existing conditions SWMHYMO and HEC-RAS models from *Floodplain Mapping Report for the Van Gaal and Arbuckle Municipal Drains in the Village of Richmond* (November 2009, JFSA). Note that summer flows on the Van Gaal Drain were generated using 24-hour SCS Type II design storms based on IDF curves provided in the October 2012 *City of Ottawa Sewer Design Guidelines*, while summer flows on the Jock River were generated using 24-hour SCS Type II design storms based on AES Ottawa CDA IDF curves, in accordance with the November 2009 *Floodplain Mapping Report*. Spring flows on both the Van Gaal Drain and the Jock River were generated using 10-day spring snowmelt plus rainfall events based on AES Ottawa CDA snowmelt plus rainfall IDF curves.

The SWMHYMO models from the November 2009 *Floodplain Mapping Report* were modified to include the proposed subdivision and SWM facility storage-discharge curves, as well as route reservoir commands to split major and minor system flows for those areas where major system flows drain directly to the adjacent watercourses, based on the minor system capture and major system storage data presented in Table 1A of Attachment 2. The resultant

proposed conditions flows entered into the HEC-RAS models. The HEC-RAS models were also modified to include the proposed Fortune Street culvert improvements; as noted above, it is proposed that the width of the Fortune Street culvert on the Van Gaal Drain be increased from 4.2 m to 6.3 m.

As previously noted, 94.2 ha of undeveloped lands to the southwest of the proposed subdivision will be conveyed through the subject site by a tributary of the Moore Drain. The Moore Drain tributary is to be reconstructed in accordance with the channel profile and proposed culverts provided by DSEL. Furthermore, the Van Gaal Drain north of Perth Street, currently crossing through the proposed development lands, is to be realigned to follow the boundary of the subject site in accordance with the November 5, 2012 *Richmond Village Development / Proposed Realignment of Van Gaal Drain* memo by JFSA. The November 2009 SWMHYMO and HEC-RAS models have been modified to reflect these proposed conditions.

Attachment 6 presents a comparison of the existing and proposed conditions 100-year flows and water levels on the Van Gaal Drain. Three different scenarios are considered, as per the November 2009 report; (1) When the Van Gaal Drain 100-year 24-hour SCS peak flow reaches the Jock River; (2) When the Van Gaal Drain 100-year spring snowmelt plus rainfall peak flow reaches the Jock River; and (4) When the Jock River 100-year spring snowmelt plus rainfall peak flow reaches the Oran Gaal Drain. Attachment 6 also includes descriptions of the flow change node locations in relation to the HEC-RAS models, SWMHYMO models, and nearby road crossings.

Existing and proposed conditions flows and water levels on the Van Gaal Drain during the 2-, 5-, 10- and 25-year events are summarized in Attachment 7.

Note that 100-year flows and water levels on the Van Gaal Drain generally decrease between existing and proposed conditions. This result is expected, as the provided release rates from SWM Facility 1 to the Van Gaal Drain are well below pre-development levels owing to the real-world limitations of the outlet controls. That is, the 45 m long quantity control weir for SWM Facility 1 is set 1.33 m above the permanent pool elevation at an invert of 93.68 m to match the 100-year 24-hour SCS water level on the Van Gaal Drain (per existing conditions with the Fortune Street culvert improvements in place). This results in minimal head over the quantity control weir and consequently lower release rates. Additionally, approximately 54.71 ha of land that currently drains to the Van Gaal Drain under existing conditions (area VG-7 and part of area VG-8, as shown in Figure 1A of Attachment 1 and described in Table 1B of Attachment 2) will be redirected to the Jock River through Pond 2 under proposed conditions, further reducing flows in the Van Gaal Drain.

As may be seen from Attachment 6, proposed conditions 100-year peak flows on the Van Gaal Drain, Moore Drain and Joy's Road Tributary are equal to or less than existing peak flows, and proposed conditions 100-year water levels are equal to or less than existing levels, except for minor 1 cm increases in water level at Van Gaal Drain cross-sections 3185 and 647, and a 10 cm increase at Van Gaal Drain cross-section 0 (owing to a difference in peak timing in relation to the Jock River for Scenario (1), and not to a true increase in flow). All of these increases take place during less critical events; that is, the increased proposed conditions water level is below the maximum existing conditions flood level of the three scenarios considered, which defines the Regulatory flood level. Note that proposed conditions 100-year water levels on the Moore Drain tributary though the subject site are higher than existing levels; this is not a concern since only the subject site is affected by this increase in water levels.

Yours truly, J.F. Sabourin and Associates Inc.

Laura Pipkins, P.Eng.

cc: J.F. Sabourin, M.Eng, P.Eng. Director of Water Resources Projects



- Attachment 1: Drainage Area to SWM Facilities
- Attachment 2: Summary of Drainage Area to SWM Facilities; XPSWMM Model Schematic; and Minor System Loss Coefficients
- Attachment 3: Major System Results
- Attachment 4: SWM Facility Operating Conditions
- Attachment 5: Pipe Data and Hydraulic Simulation Results
- Attachment 6: 100-Year Flows and Water Levels on the Van Gaal Drain Under Existing and Proposed Conditions
- Attachment 7: 2 to 25-Year Flows and Water Levels on the Van Gaal Drain Under Existing and Proposed Conditions



ATTACHMENT

DRAINAGE AREA TO SWM FACILITIES



Water Resources and Environmental Consultants



5







ATTACHMENT

SUMMARY OF DRAINAGE AREA TO SWM FACILITIES

XPSWMM MODEL SCHEMATIC

MINOR SYSTEM LOSS COEFFICIENTS



Water Resources and Environmental Consultants



5

Richmond Village (South) Limited Subdivision Preliminary Stormwater Management Plan

MH	SWMHYMO	Total Area	Front Yard /	Rear Yard	Runoff	Front Yard / Non-Residential Area Parameters						Sump Pump	
	ID		Non-Resid.	(1)	Coefficient	Imperviousness	Storage	5-Year Flow	Minor Capture	Road Width	Length	Downstream	Flow ⁽²⁾
		(ha)	(ha)	(ha)		(%)	(m ³)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)	(m)	(m)	Segment	(m ³ /s)
101	101a	1.43	0.894	0.536	0.62	60	26.82	0.155	0.174	8.5	219	VGaal	0.00033
103	103a	0.56	0.455	0.105	0.62	60	13.65	0.081	0.091	8.5	87	105a	0.00013
103	103b	0.97	0.606	0.364	0.62	60	18.18	0.107	0.120	8.5	85	VGaal	0.00022
105	105a	0.78	0.487	0.293	0.62	60	14.61	0.086	0.096	8.5	101	106b	0.00018
106	106a	0.29	0.181	0.109	0.62	60	5.43	0.032	0.036	8.5	71	106b	0.00007
106	106b	0.30	0.244	0.056	0.62	60	7.32	0.043	0.048	8.5	77	107b	0.00007
107	107a	0.31	0.252	0.058	0.62	60	7.56	0.045	0.050	8.5	75	1500a	0.00007
107	107b	1.02	0.637	0.383	0.62	60	19.11	0.112	0.125	8.5	128	VGaal	0.00023
108	108a	0.67	0.544	0.126	0.62	60	16.32	0.096	0.108	8.5	186	1500a	0.00015
202	202a	1.06	0.662	0.398	0.62	60	19.86	0.116	0.130	8.5	136	203a	0.00024
203	203a	1.10	0.687	0.413	0.62	60	20.61	0.120	0.134	8.5	77	204a	0.00025
204	204a	0.54	0.337	0.203	0.62	60	10.11	0.060	0.067	8.5	72	205a	0.00012
205	205a	0.52	0.325	0.195	0.62	60	9.75	0.058	0.065	8.5	72	206a	0.00012
206	206a	0.07	0.070	0.000	0.62	60	2.10	0.013	0.015	8.5	34	207a	0.00002
206	206b	0.75	0.469	0.281	0.62	60	14.07	0.083	0.093	8.5	53	207a	0.00017
207	207a	0.37	0.301	0.069	0.62	60	9.03	0.054	0.060	8.5	95	209a	0.00009
209	209a	0.38	0.309	0.071	0.62	60	9.27	0.055	0.062	8.5	77	210a	0.00009
209	209b	1.15	0.719	0.431	0.62	60	21.57	0.126	0.141	8.5	104	209a	0.00026
210	210a	0.37	0.301	0.069	0.62	60	9.03	0.054	0.060	8.5	77	106a	0.00009
210	210b	0.74	0.462	0.278	0.62	60	13.86	0.082	0.092	8.5	106	210a	0.00017
211	211a	0.60	0.375	0.225	0.62	60	11.25	0.067	0.075	8.5	82	106a	0.00014
212	212a	0.60	0.375	0.225	0.62	60	11.25	0.067	0.075	8.5	78	1500a	0.00014
251	251a	0.86	0.537	0.323	0.62	60	16.11	0.095	0.106	8.5	137	252a	0.00020
252	252a	0.42	0.262	0.158	0.62	60	7.86	0.047	0.053	8.5	70	253a	0.00010
253	253a	0.11	0.089	0.021	0.62	60	2.67	0.016	0.018	8.5	64	206a	0.00003
253	253b	0.95	0.594	0.356	0.62	60	17.82	0.105	0.118	8.5	70	253a	0.00022
253	253c	1.74	1.087	0.653	0.62	60	32.61	0.187	0.209	8.5	194	253a	0.00040
254	254a	0.64	0.400	0.240	0.62	60	12.00	0.071	0.080	8.5	56	206a	0.00015
254	254b	3.17	1.981	1.189	0.62	60	59.43	0.333	0.373	8.5	375	206a	0.00073
261	261a	1.06	0.662	0.398	0.62	60	19.86	0.116	0.130	8.5	94	262a	0.00024
262	262a	0.99	0.619	0.371	0.62	60	18.57	0.109	0.122	8.5	119	263a	0.00023
263	263a	0.68	0.425	0.255	0.62	60	12.75	0.075	0.084	8.5	106	264a	0.00016
264	264a	0.05	0.050	0.000	0.62	60	1.50	0.009	0.010	8.5	41	265a	0.00001
264	264b	0.55	0.447	0.103	0.62	60	13.41	0.079	0.088	8.5	151	264a	0.00013
265	265a	0.05	0.050	0.000	0.62	60	1.50	0.009	0.010	8.5	31	266a	0.00001
265	265b	1.76	1.100	0.660	0.62	60	33.00	0.189	0.212	8.5	191	265a	0.00040
266	266a	0.57	0.356	0.214	0.62	60	10.68	0.063	0.071	8.5	85	267a	0.00013
266	266b	0.99	0.619	0.371	0.62	60	18.57	0.109	0.122	8.5	182	266a	0.00023
266	266c	1.11	0.694	0.416	0.62	60	20.82	0.122	0.137	8.5	73	267a	0.00026
267	267a	0.12	0.120	0.000	0.62	60	3.60	0.021	0.024	8.5	45	106a	0.00003

MH	SWMHYMO	Total Area	Front Yard /	Rear Yard	Runoff	Front Yard / Non-Residential Area Parameters						Sump Pump	
	ID		Non-Resid.	(1)	Coefficient	Imperviousness	Storage	5-Year Flow	Minor Capture	Road Width	Length	Downstream	Flow ⁽²⁾
		(ha)	(ha)	(ha)		(%)	(m ³)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)	(m)	(m)	Segment	(m ³ /s)
267	267b	0.77	0.481	0.289	0.62	60	14.43	0.085	0.095	8.5	50	1500a	0.00018
267	267c	1.97	1.231	0.739	0.62	60	36.93	0.211	0.236	8.5	158	267a	0.00045
301	301a	0.67	0.419	0.251	0.62	60	12.57	0.074	0.083	8.5	146	304a	0.00015
304	304a	0.51	0.319	0.191	0.62	60	9.57	0.057	0.064	8.5	74	305a	0.00012
305	305a	0.32	0.260	0.060	0.62	60	7.80	0.046	0.052	8.5	76	306a	0.00007
305	305b	1.00	0.812	0.188	0.62	60	24.36	0.141	0.158	8.5	213	305a	0.00023
306	306a	0.32	0.260	0.060	0.62	60	7.80	0.046	0.052	8.5	80	307a	0.00007
306	306b	1.16	0.725	0.435	0.62	60	21.75	0.127	0.142	8.5	148	306a	0.00027
307	307a	0.48	0.390	0.090	0.62	60	11.70	0.069	0.077	8.5	124	Pond1a	0.00011
307	307b	1.51	0.944	0.566	0.62	60	28.32	0.163	0.183	8.5	160	307a	0.00035
401	401a	1.17	0.731	0.439	0.62	60	21.93	0.128	0.143	8.5	121	404a	0.00027
404	404a	0.91	0.569	0.341	0.62	60	17.07	0.100	0.112	8.5	106	405a	0.00021
405	405a	1.42	0.887	0.533	0.62	60	26.61	0.154	0.172	8.5	146	Pond1a	0.00033
500	500a	1.18	0.737	0.443	0.62	60	22.11	0.129	0.144	8.5	153	502a	0.00027
502	502a	0.55	0.447	0.103	0.62	60	13.41	0.079	0.088	8.5	118	506a	0.00013
506	506a	0.09	0.090	0.000	0.62	60	2.70	0.016	0.018	8.5	76	507b	0.00002
506	506b	0.87	0.544	0.326	0.62	60	16.32	0.096	0.108	8.5	117	506a	0.00020
507	507a	0.83	0.519	0.311	0.62	60	15.57	0.092	0.103	8.5	109	507b	0.00019
507	507b	0.89	0.723	0.167	0.62	60	21.69	0.127	0.142	8.5	69	509a	0.00020
508	508a	0.12	0.120	0.000	0.62	60	3.60	0.021	0.024	8.5	61	509a	0.00003
509	509a	0.54	0.337	0.203	0.62	60	10.11	0.060	0.067	8.5	73	510a	0.00012
509	509b	0.66	0.412	0.248	0.62	60	12.36	0.073	0.082	8.5	86	509a	0.00015
510	510a	0.70	0.437	0.263	0.62	60	13.11	0.077	0.086	8.5	84	Pond1a	0.00016
511	511a	0.88	0.550	0.330	0.62	60	16.50	0.097	0.109	8.5	223	Pond1a	0.00020
601	601a	0.84	0.525	0.315	0.62	60	15.75	0.093	0.104	8.5	79	603a	0.00019
603	603a	0.43	0.430	0.000	0.62	60	12.90	0.076	0.085	8.5	69	604a	0.00010
604	604a	1.01	0.631	0.379	0.62	60	18.93	0.111	0.124	8.5	76	605a	0.00023
605	605a	0.98	0.612	0.368	0.62	60	18.36	0.108	0.121	8.5	79	606a	0.00023
606	606a	1.14	0.712	0.428	0.62	60	21.36	0.125	0.140	8.5	78	607a	0.00026
607	607a	0.47	0.382	0.088	0.62	60	11.46	0.068	0.076	8.5	68	609a	0.00011
609	609a	0.71	0.444	0.266	0.62	60	13.32	0.079	0.088	8.5	42	Pond1a	0.00016
610	610a	1.13	0.706	0.424	0.62	60	21.18	0.124	0.139	8.5	179	Pond1a	0.00026
700	700a	0.10	0.100	0.000	0.62	60	3.00	0.018	0.020	8.5	74	702a	0.00002
700	700b	0.43	0.269	0.161	0.62	60	8.07	0.048	0.054	8.5	61	700a	0.00010
701	701a	0.66	0.412	0.248	0.62	60	12.36	0.073	0.082	8.5	108	702a	0.00015
702	702a	0.16	0.160	0.000	0.62	60	4.80	0.029	0.032	8.5	71	703a	0.00004
702	702b	4.01	2.506	1.504	0.62	60	75.18	0.410	0.459	8.5	377	702a	0.00092
703	703a	0.22	0.220	0.000	0.62	60	6.60	0.039	0.044	8.5	105	704a	0.00005
703	703b	0.97	0.788	0.182	0.62	60	23.64	0.137	0.153	8.5	215	703a	0.00022
703	703c	1.33	1.330	0.000	0.62	60	39.90	0.228	0.255	8.5	125	703a	0.00031

MH	SWMHYMO	Total Area	Front Yard /	Rear Yard	Runoff	Front Yard / Non-Residential Area Parameters						Sump Pump	
	ID		Non-Resid.	(1)	Coefficient	Imperviousness	Storage	5-Year Flow	Minor Capture	Road Width	Length	Downstream	Flow ⁽²⁾
		(ha)	(ha)	(ha)		(%)	(m ³)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)	(m)	(m)	Segment	(m ³ /s)
704	704a	0.16	0.160	0.000	0.62	60	4.80	0.029	0.032	8.5	72	705a	0.00004
704	704b	1.65	1.031	0.619	0.62	60	30.93	0.178	0.199	8.5	260	704a	0.00038
704	704c	2.40	2.400	0.000	0.62	60	72.00	0.394	0.441	8.5	163	704a	0.00055
705	705a	0.15	0.150	0.000	0.62	60	4.50	0.027	0.030	8.5	67	MTrib	0.00003
705	705b	2.60	1.625	0.975	0.62	60	48.75	0.275	0.308	8.5	332	705a	0.00060
706	706a	0.53	0.331	0.199	0.62	60	9.93	0.059	0.066	8.5	85	606a	0.00012
707	707a	0.25	0.203	0.047	0.62	60	6.09	0.036	0.040	8.5	69	606a	0.00006
707	707b	2.46	1.537	0.923	0.62	60	46.11	0.261	0.292	8.5	237	604a	0.00057
708	708a	0.34	0.276	0.064	0.62	60	8.28	0.049	0.055	8.5	54	708b	0.00008
708	708b	0.59	0.369	0.221	0.62	60	11.07	0.065	0.073	8.5	135	Moore	0.00014
751	751a	0.70	0.569	0.131	0.62	60	17.07	0.100	0.112	8.5	156	752a	0.00016
752	752a	0.48	0.300	0.180	0.62	60	9.00	0.053	0.059	8.5	83	753a	0.00011
753	753a	0.27	0.219	0.051	0.62	60	6.57	0.039	0.044	8.5	63	MTrib	0.00006
753	753b	0.60	0.375	0.225	0.62	60	11.25	0.067	0.075	8.5	88	753a	0.00014
753	753c	1.51	0.944	0.566	0.62	60	28.32	0.163	0.183	8.5	231	MTrib	0.00035
754	754a	0.76	0.475	0.285	0.62	60	14.25	0.084	0.094	8.5	115	753b	0.00017
806	806a	0.25	0.203	0.047	0.62	60	6.09	0.036	0.040	8.5	59	807a	0.00006
807	807a	0.21	0.171	0.039	0.62	60	5.13	0.031	0.035	8.5	23	808a	0.00005
807	807b	0.92	0.575	0.345	0.62	60	17.25	0.101	0.113	8.5	150	807a	0.00021
808	808a	0.59	0.369	0.221	0.62	60	11.07	0.065	0.073	8.5	32	Moore	0.00014
901	901a	0.60	0.375	0.225	0.62	60	11.25	0.067	0.075	8.5	96	902a	0.00014
902	902a	0.44	0.275	0.165	0.62	60	8.25	0.049	0.055	8.5	70	Pond2a	0.00010
903	903a	0.34	0.212	0.128	0.62	60	6.36	0.038	0.043	8.5	71	Pond2a	0.00008
904	904a	0.50	0.312	0.188	0.62	60	9.36	0.055	0.062	8.5	99	903a	0.00012
904	904b	0.84	0.525	0.315	0.62	60	15.75	0.093	0.104	8.5	127	Pond2a	0.00019
1001	1001a	0.53	0.331	0.199	0.62	60	9.93	0.059	0.066	8.5	83	1002a	0.00012
1002	1002a	0.31	0.252	0.058	0.62	60	7.56	0.045	0.050	8.5	77	1003a	0.00007
1003	1003a	0.84	0.525	0.315	0.62	60	15.75	0.093	0.104	8.5	71	1004a	0.00019
1004	1004a	0.83	0.519	0.311	0.62	60	15.57	0.092	0.103	8.5	74	1005a	0.00019
1005	1005a	0.57	0.463	0.107	0.62	60	13.89	0.082	0.092	8.5	71	Pond2a	0.00013
1006	1006a	3.15	1.969	1.181	0.62	60	59.07	0.331	0.371	8.5	375	Pond2a	0.00072
1007	1007a	0.17	0.138	0.032	0.62	60	4.14	0.025	0.028	8.5	26	Pond2a	0.00004
1101	1101a	1.21	0.756	0.454	0.62	60	22.68	0.132	0.148	8.5	169	1103a	0.00028
1103	1103a	0.89	0.556	0.334	0.62	60	16.68	0.098	0.110	8.5	133	1106b	0.00020
1104	1104a	0.43	0.349	0.081	0.62	60	10.47	0.062	0.069	8.5	99	1106a	0.00010
1106	1106a	0.77	0.481	0.289	0.62	60	14.43	0.085	0.095	8.5	112	1600a	0.00018
1106	1106b	1.26	0.787	0.473	0.62	60	23.61	0.137	0.153	8.5	209	1219a	0.00029
1108	1108a	1.39	0.869	0.521	0.62	60	26.07	0.151	0.169	8.5	179	1600a	0.00032
1201	1201a	1.71	1.069	0.641	0.62	60	32.07	0.184	0.206	8.5	112	1203a	0.00039
1203	1203a	0.85	0.531	0.319	0.62	60	15.93	0.094	0.105	8.5	135	1205a	0.00020

MH	SWMHYMO	Total Area	Front Yard /	Rear Yard	Runoff	Runoff Front Yard / Non-Residential Area Parameters						Sump Pump	
	ID		Non-Resid.	(1)	Coefficient	Imperviousness	Storage	5-Year Flow	Minor Capture	Road Width	Length	Downstream	Flow ⁽²⁾
		(ha)	(ha)	(ha)		(%)	(m ³)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)	(m)	(m)	Segment	(m ³ /s)
1205	1205a	0.58	0.362	0.218	0.62	60	10.86	0.064	0.072	8.5	117	1209a	0.00013
1209	1209a	0.64	0.400	0.240	0.62	60	12.00	0.071	0.080	8.5	108	1213a	0.00015
1213	1213a	0.32	0.260	0.060	0.62	60	7.80	0.046	0.052	8.5	71	1214a	0.00007
1213	1213b	1.39	0.869	0.521	0.62	60	26.07	0.151	0.169	8.5	202	1213a	0.00032
1214	1214a	0.29	0.236	0.054	0.62	60	7.08	0.042	0.047	8.5	71	1215a	0.00007
1214	1214b	0.65	0.406	0.244	0.62	60	12.18	0.072	0.081	8.5	93	1214a	0.00015
1215	1215a	0.45	0.366	0.084	0.62	60	10.98	0.065	0.073	8.5	71	1216a	0.00010
1215	1215b	1.68	1.050	0.630	0.62	60	31.50	0.181	0.203	8.5	169	1215a	0.00039
1216	1216a	0.61	0.496	0.114	0.62	60	14.88	0.088	0.099	8.5	85	1217a	0.00014
1216	1216b	2.44	1.525	0.915	0.62	60	45.75	0.259	0.290	8.5	227	1216a	0.00056
1217	1217a	1.33	1.081	0.249	0.62	60	32.43	0.186	0.208	8.5	82	1218a	0.00031
1218	1218a	0.39	0.317	0.073	0.62	60	9.51	0.056	0.063	8.5	47	1219a	0.00009
1219	1219a	0.53	0.431	0.099	0.62	60	12.93	0.076	0.085	8.5	74	1600a	0.00012
1219	1219b	1.96	1.225	0.735	0.62	60	36.75	0.210	0.235	8.5	350	1219a	0.00045
1500 ⁽³⁾	1500a	1.36	1.360	0.000	0.62	60	40.80	0.232	100% Capt.	8.5	287	N/A	0.00031
1600 ⁽³⁾	1600a	1.35	1.350	0.000	0.62	60	40.50	0.231	100% Capt.	8.5	489	N/A	0.00031
7000	7000a	2.59	2.104	0.486	0.62	60	63.12	0.352	0.394	8.5	213	700a	0.00060
Pond1	Pond1a	5.94	5.940	0.000	0.62	60	N/A	0.906	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	0.00000
Pond2	Pond2a	2.75	2.750	0.000	0.62	60	N/A	0.447	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	0.00000
		126.810	89.059	37.751									

⁽¹⁾ Rear yard imperviousness is equal to half of the front yard imperviousness, and half of that rear yard impervious area is assumed to be indirectly connected.

100% of the 100-year flows generated on the rear yards are captured to the minor system.

(2) 0.23 L/s/ha based on approximately 1.44 m³/day/lot (per October 3, 2012 "Updated Assessment of Subsurface Drainage and Analysis of 100 Year Flood Event - Proposed Village of Richmond Development " by Golder Associates Limited), 27.8 lots/ha, and 50% of sump pumps on at any given time.

⁽³⁾ 100% capture of the 100-year flows on Ottawa Street and Perth Street to prevent flow across roads.

Area ID	VG-2	VG-3 ⁽¹⁾	VG-5	VG-7	VG-8 ⁽¹⁾	VG-8 ⁽¹⁾	JR-1	JR-2 ⁽¹⁾	JR-3 ⁽¹⁾
In future drains to:	Pond 1	Pond 1	Pond 1	Pond 2	Pond 1	Pond 2	Pond 2	Pond 2	Pond 2
A (ha)	63.1	33.327	34.4	39.2	58.393	15.510	32.6	15.747	3.833
CN (-)	81	88	76	80	88	88	82	88	88
la	2.8	2.5	3.0	3.5	2.6	2.6	3.5	2.5	2.5
L (m)	1220	630	1540	1520	1160	420	790	330	150
S (%)	0.4	0.2	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.6
Tc (min)	147.6	96.5	207.1	256.9	157.3	69.8	142.8	81.3	17.7
Tp (hrs)	1.6	1.1	2.3	2.9	1.7	0.8	1.6	0.9	0.2

Table 1B: Summary of Study Area under Existing Conditions (Drains to SWM Facilities 1 and 2 in Future)

⁽¹⁾ Proposed subdivision drainage area.

⁽²⁾ Characteristics of undeveloped lands as per Floodplain Mapping Report for the Van Gaal and Arbuckle Municipal Drains in the Village of Richmond dated November 2009 by JFSA.

Area ID	VG-2	VG-5	VG-7	JR-1	Pond 1 ⁽¹⁾	Pond 2 ⁽¹⁾
Drains to:	Pond 1	Pond 1	Pond 2	Pond 2	Pond 1	Pond 2
A (ha)	63.1	34.4	39.2	32.6	91.82	34.99
CN (-)	81	76	80	82	N/A	N/A
la	2.8	3.0	3.5	3.5	N/A	N/A
L (m)	1220	1540	1520	790	N/A	N/A
S (%)	0.4	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.5	0.5
Tc (min)	147.6	207.1	256.9	142.8	N/A	N/A
Tp (hrs)	1.6	2.3	2.9	1.6	N/A	N/A
TIMP	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	51.1	50.9
XIMP	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	46.7	46.4

Table 1C: Summary of Study Area under Proposed Conditions (Drains to SWM Facilities 1 and 2)

⁽¹⁾ Proposed subdivision drainage area; major system flows from 36.63 ha, 30.79 ha, 21.75 ha and 2.65 ha of the Pond 1 subdivision area will discharge to Pond 1, to the Van Gaal Drain,

to the Moore Drain Tributary, and to the Moore Drain, respectively.

⁽²⁾ Characteristics of undeveloped lands as per Floodplain Mapping Report for the Van Gaal and Arbuckle Municipal Drains in the Village of Richmond dated November 2009 by JFSA.







XPSWMM MODEL SCHEMATIC - SWMF 2









Angle	MH
(°)	Loss Coef
0	0.02
5	0.035
10	0.055
15	0.08
20	0.11
25	0.16
30	0.21
35	0.26
40	0.32
45	0.39
50	0.47
55	0.54
60	0.635
65	0.73
70	0.84
75	0.95
80	1.07
85	1.19
90	1.33

Manhole Loss Coefficient as per Nomograph



ATTACHMENT





Water Resources and Environmental Consultants



J.F. Sabourin and Associates Inc. Water Resources and Environmental Consultants Richmond Village (South) Limited Subdivision Preliminary Stormwater Management Plan

MH	SWMHYMO	Flow	Flow Depth	Velocity	V*D
		(m^{3}/c)	(m)	(m/c)	(m^2/c)
101	1010	0.209	0.122	0.500	0.067
101	101a 102a	0.290	0.133	0.500	0.067
103	1038	0.155	0.105	0.410	0.044
103	1030	0.203	0.115	0.443	0.051
105	105a	0.164	0.107	0.422	0.045
106	106a	0.645	0.174	0.666	0.116
106	106b	0.638	0.173	0.663	0.115
107	107a	0.087	0.084	0.356	0.030
107	107b	0.689	0.178	0.682	0.121
108	108a	0.183	0.111	0.432	0.048
202	202a	0.222	0.119	0.454	0.054
203	203a	0.319	0.136	0.510	0.069
204	204a	0.237	0.122	0.463	0.056
205	205a	0.209	0.116	0.446	0.052
206	206a	0.643	0.173	0.665	0.115
206	206b	0.158	0.106	0.419	0.044
207	207a	0.677	0.177	0.677	0.120
209	209a	0.562	0.165	0.636	0.105
209	209b	0.241	0.123	0.465	0.057
210	210a	0.506	0.159	0.618	0.098
210	210b	0.155	0.105	0.418	0.044
211	211a	0.128	0.097	0.391	0.038
212	212a	0.128	0.097	0.391	0.038
251	251a	0.180	0.110	0.431	0.047
252	252a	0.162	0.107	0.421	0.045
253	253a	0.328	0.137	0.515	0.071
253	253b	0.199	0.114	0.441	0.050
253	253c	0.361	0.141	0.532	0.075
254	254a	0.137	0.100	0.400	0.040
254	254b	0.637	0.173	0.663	0.115
261	261a	0.222	0.119	0.454	0.054
262	262a	0.296	0.133	0.499	0.066
263	263a	0.243	0.123	0.467	0.057
264	264a	0.160	0.106	0.420	0.045
264	264b	0.150	0.104	0.413	0.043
265	265a	0.283	0.131	0.493	0.065
265	265b	0.366	0.142	0.535	0.076
266	266a	0.433	0.150	0.574	0.086
266	266b	0.207	0.116	0.446	0.052
266	266c	0.232	0.121	0.460	0.056
267	267a	0.443	0.152	0.580	0.088
267	267b	0.162	0.107	0.421	0.045
267	267c	0.408	0.147	0.559	0.082
301	301a	0.143	0.102	0.406	0.041
304	304a	0.168	0.108	0.424	0.046
305	305a	0.269	0.128	0.483	0.062
305	305b	0.271	0.129	0.485	0.063
306	306a	0.295	0.133	0.499	0.066
306	306b	0.243	0.123	0.466	0.057
307	307a	0.388	0.145	0.547	0.079
307	307b	0.315	0.135	0.508	0.069
401	401a	0.245	0.123	0.467	0.057
404	404a	0.289	0.132	0.496	0.065
405	405a	0.391	0.145	0.549	0.080

Table 2A: Major System Results for the 100-Year, 3-Hour Chicago Storm

MH	SWMHYMO	Flow	Flow Depth	Velocity	V*D
	ID	(m^{3}/s)	(m)	(m/s)	(m^{2}/s)
500	500a	0.247	0 124	0.469	0.058
502	502a	0.250	0.124	0.400 0.471	0.058
506	506a	0.181	0.111	0.431	0.048
506	506b	0.183	0 111	0 432	0.048
507	507a	0.100	0.109	0.402	0.047
507	507h	0.403	0.146	0.556	0.081
508	508a	0.041	0.062	0.288	0.018
509	509a	0.369	0.142	0.536	0.076
509	509b	0.000	0.101	0 404	0.041
510	510a	0.347	0.139	0.525	0.073
511	511a	0.185	0.111	0.433	0.048
601	601a	0.176	0.110	0.429	0.047
603	603a	0.217	0.118	0.451	0.053
604	604a	0.505	0.159	0.618	0.098
605	605a	0.423	0.149	0.567	0.084
606	606a	0.451	0.153	0.585	0.090
607	607a	0.361	0.141	0.532	0.075
609	609a	0.329	0.137	0.515	0.071
610	610a	0.236	0.122	0.462	0.056
700	700a	0.342	0.139	0.522	0.073
700	700b	0.092	0.085	0.360	0.031
701	701a	0.141	0.101	0.404	0.041
702	702a	0.582	0.167	0.643	0.107
702	702b	0.800	0.189	0.717	0.136
703	703a	0.654	0.174	0.669	0.116
703	703b	0.263	0.127	0.479	0.061
703	703c	0.440	0.151	0.578	0.087
704	704a	0.778	0.187	0.712	0.133
704	704b	0.343	0.139	0.523	0.073
704	704c	0.767	0.186	0.710	0.132
705	705a	0.841	0.192	0.725	0.139
705	705b	0.526	0.161	0.624	0.100
706	706a	0.113	0.092	0.378	0.035
707	707a	0.070	0.078	0.340	0.027
707	707b	0.498	0.158	0.615	0.097
708	708a	0.095	0.086	0.362	0.031
708	708b	0.165	0.107	0.423	0.045
751	751a	0.191	0.113	0.436	0.049
752	752a	0.179	0.110	0.430	0.047
753	753a	0.228	0.120	0.458	0.055
753	753b	0.192	0.113	0.437	0.049
753	753c	0.315	0.135	0.508	0.069
754	754a	0.160	0.106	0.420	0.045
806	806a	0.070	0.078	0.340	0.027
807	807a	0.165	0.107	0.423	0.045
807	807b	0.193	0.113	0.437	0.049
808	808a	0.250	0.124	0.471	0.058
901	901a	0.128	0.097	0.391	0.038
902	902a	0.146	0.103	0.409	0.042
903	903a	0.116	0.093	0.381	0.035
904	904a	0.107	0.090	0.372	0.033
904	904b	0.176	0.110	0.429	0.047
1001	1001a	0.113	0.092	0.378	0.035

Table 2A: Major System Results for the 100-Year, 3-Hour Chicago Storm

MH	SWMHYMO	Flow	Flow Depth	Velocity	V*D
	ID	(m³/s)	(m)	(m/s)	(m²/s)
1002	1002a	0.132	0.098	0.395	0.039
1003	1003a	0.231	0.121	0.459	0.056
1004	1004a	0.269	0.128	0.483	0.062
1005	1005a	0.269	0.128	0.483	0.062
1006	1006a	0.634	0.172	0.661	0.114
1007	1007a	0.048	0.065	0.298	0.019
1101	1101a	0.253	0.125	0.473	0.059
1103	1103a	0.288	0.132	0.496	0.065
1104	1104a	0.120	0.094	0.383	0.036
1106	1106a	0.211	0.117	0.447	0.052
1106	1106b	0.353	0.140	0.528	0.074
1108	1108a	0.290	0.132	0.496	0.065
1201	1201a	0.356	0.140	0.529	0.074
1203	1203a	0.323	0.136	0.512	0.070
1205	1205a	0.231	0.121	0.459	0.056
1209	1209a	0.215	0.117	0.450	0.053
1213	1213a	0.282	0.131	0.492	0.064
1213	1213b	0.290	0.132	0.496	0.065
1214	1214a	0.267	0.128	0.482	0.062
1214	1214b	0.139	0.100	0.402	0.040
1215	1215a	0.388	0.145	0.547	0.079
1215	1215b	0.349	0.140	0.526	0.074
1216	1216a	0.569	0.166	0.639	0.106
1216	1216b	0.494	0.158	0.614	0.097
1217	1217a	0.600	0.169	0.649	0.110
1218	1218a	0.373	0.143	0.539	0.077
1219	1219a	0.605	0.169	0.651	0.110
1219	1219b	0.406	0.147	0.558	0.082
7000	7000a	0.676	0.177	0.677	0.120

Table 2A: Major System Results for the 100-Year, 3-Hour Chicago Storm

	wajur System r		the loo-rear,		Icayo Stori
MH	SWMHYMO	Flow	Flow Depth	Velocity	V^D
	ID	(m³/s)	(m)	(m/s)	(m²/s)
101	101a	0.373	0.143	0.539	0.077
103	103a	0.196	0.114	0.439	0.050
103	103b	0.260	0.126	0.477	0.060
105	105a	0.209	0 116	0 447	0.052
106	1062	2 113	0.281	0.447	0.002
100	100a	2.115	0.201	0.900	0.255
100	1000	2.100	0.203	0.904	0.250
107	107a	0.109	0.091	0.374	0.034
107	107b	2.209	0.286	0.908	0.260
108	108a	0.234	0.121	0.461	0.056
202	202a	0.284	0.131	0.493	0.065
203	203a	0.443	0.152	0.580	0.088
204	204a	0.416	0.148	0.563	0.083
205	205a	0.414	0.148	0.562	0.083
206	206a	1.321	0.231	0.816	0.188
206	206b	0 202	0 115	0 442	0.051
207	207a	1 437	0.239	0.833	0 199
200	2002	1 1 1 1 0	0.200	0.835	0.100
209	209a 200h	0.209	0.240	0.000	0.200
209	2090	0.300	0.134	0.505	0.000
210	210a	1.410	0.237	0.830	0.197
210	2106	0.199	0.114	0.441	0.050
211	211a	0.162	0.107	0.421	0.045
212	212a	0.162	0.107	0.421	0.045
251	251a	0.231	0.121	0.459	0.056
252	252a	0.234	0.121	0.461	0.056
253	253a	0.562	0.165	0.636	0.105
253	253b	0.255	0.125	0.474	0.059
253	253c	0.452	0.153	0.586	0.090
254	254a	0.172	0.109	0.426	0.046
254	254b	0.810	0.190	0.719	0.137
261	261a	0.284	0.131	0.493	0.065
262	262a	0.414	0.148	0.562	0.083
263	263a	0 4 1 5	0 148	0.562	0.083
264	264a	0.373	0 143	0.538	0.077
264	264b	0.070	0.113	0.000	0.049
265	265a	0.102	0.166	0.407	0.040
205	2000 265h	0.071	0.100	0.000	0.100
205	2000	0.450	0.133	0.303	0.090
200	200a 266b	0.002	0.109	0.717	0.130
200	2000	0.205	0.120	0.401	0.062
200	2000	0.297	0.133	0.500	0.067
267	267a	1.030	0.209	0.770	0.161
267	267b	0.207	0.116	0.445	0.052
267	267c	0.511	0.160	0.620	0.099
301	301a	0.180	0.110	0.431	0.047
304	304a	0.232	0.121	0.460	0.056
305	305a	0.438	0.151	0.577	0.087
305	305b	0.347	0.139	0.525	0.073
306	306a	0.591	0.168	0.646	0.109
306	306b	0.310	0.135	0.506	0.068
307	307a	0.813	0.190	0.719	0.137
307	307b	0.394	0.145	0.550	0.080
401	401a	0.313	0.135	0.507	0.068
404	404a	0.409	0.147	0.559	0.082
405	405a	0.609	0.170	0.652	0.111

Table 2B: Major System Results for the 100-Year, 3-Hour Chicago Storm +20%

Table 2D.	wajor System r	tesuits ior	the loo-real,	3-HOULCH	icayo Stori
MH	SWMHYMO	Flow	Flow Depth	Velocity	V*D
	ID	(m ³ /s)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ² /s)
500	500a	0.315	0 135	0.509	0.069
502	5022	0.358	0.100	0.531	0.000
502	502a	0.338	0.141	0.551	0.075
506	506a	0.368	0.142	0.536	0.076
506	506b	0.234	0.121	0.461	0.056
507	507a	0.223	0.119	0.454	0.054
507	507b	0.701	0.179	0.687	0.123
508	508a	0.052	0.068	0 306	0.021
500	5002	0.704	0.180	0.688	0.124
503	505a 500h	0.704	0.100	0.000	0.124
509	5090	0.177	0.110	0.429	0.047
510	510a	0.716	0.181	0.693	0.125
511	511a	0.236	0.122	0.462	0.056
601	601a	0.225	0.119	0.456	0.054
603	603a	0.303	0.134	0.503	0.067
604	604a	0.793	0.188	0.715	0.134
605	605a	0.855	0 194	0 729	0 141
606	6062	0.068	0.104	0.720	0.141
607	000a	0.900	0.203	0.755	0.100
607	607a	0.830	0.192	0.724	0.139
609	609a	0.829	0.191	0.723	0.138
610	610a	0.302	0.134	0.502	0.067
700	700a	0.553	0.164	0.633	0.104
700	700b	0.116	0.093	0.380	0.035
701	701a	0.177	0.110	0.429	0.047
702	702a	1 138	0.217	0 788	0 171
702	7024 702h	1.100	0.217	0.760	0.171
702	7020	1.000	0.200	0.702	0.137
703	703a	1.470	0.241	0.837	0.202
703	703b	0.337	0.138	0.519	0.072
703	703c	0.551	0.164	0.633	0.104
704	704a	1.940	0.271	0.886	0.240
704	704b	0.429	0.150	0.571	0.086
704	704c	0.976	0.204	0.757	0.154
705	705a	2 058	0 278	0.895	0 249
705	705h	0.671	0.276	0.675	0.240
705	7050	0.071	0.170	0.075	0.119
706	706a	0.143	0.102	0.405	0.041
707	707a	0.088	0.084	0.357	0.030
707	707b	0.635	0.173	0.662	0.115
708	708a	0.119	0.094	0.383	0.036
708	708b	0.221	0.119	0.453	0.054
751	751a	0.244	0.123	0.467	0.057
752	752a	0 258	0 126	0 476	0.060
753	7539	0.417	0.1/8	0.564	0.083
750	7526	0.417	0.140	0.004	0.000
755	7550	0.200	0.120	0.403	0.002
753	/53C	0.394	0.145	0.550	0.080
754	754a	0.204	0.115	0.444	0.051
806	806a	0.088	0.084	0.357	0.030
807	807a	0.250	0.124	0.471	0.058
807	807b	0.247	0.124	0.469	0.058
808	808a	0.363	0 141	0 533	0.075
001	0010	0.000	0.141	0.000	
000	002-	0.102	0.107	0.421	0.045
902	9028	0.203	0.115	0.443	0.051
903	903a	0.162	0.107	0.421	0.045
904	904a	0.135	0.099	0.397	0.039
904	904b	0.225	0.119	0.456	0.054
1001	<u>1001</u> a	0.143	0.102	0.405	0.041

Table 2B: Major System Results for the 100-Year, 3-Hour Chicago Storm +20%

			,		
MH	SWMHYMO	Flow	Flow Depth	Velocity	V*D
	ID	(m ³ /s)	(m)	(m/s)	(m²/s)
1002	1002a	0.183	0.111	0.432	0.048
1003	1003a	0.341	0.139	0.521	0.072
1004	1004a	0.424	0.149	0.568	0.085
1005	1005a	0.464	0.154	0.593	0.091
1006	1006a	0.805	0.189	0.718	0.136
1007	1007a	0.060	0.072	0.320	0.023
1101	1101a	0.323	0.136	0.513	0.070
1103	1103a	0.408	0.147	0.559	0.082
1104	1104a	0.150	0.104	0.413	0.043
1106	1106a	0.286	0.132	0.495	0.065
1106	1106b	0.561	0.165	0.636	0.105
1108	1108a	0.363	0.141	0.533	0.075
1201	1201a	0.445	0.152	0.581	0.088
1203	1203a	0.460	0.154	0.591	0.091
1205	1205a	0.411	0.147	0.560	0.082
1209	1209a	0.391	0.145	0.549	0.080
1213	1213a	0.478	0.156	0.603	0.094
1213	1213b	0.363	0.141	0.533	0.075
1214	1214a	0.529	0.162	0.625	0.101
1214	1214b	0.175	0.109	0.428	0.047
1215	1215a	0.762	0.186	0.708	0.132
1215	1215b	0.437	0.151	0.576	0.087
1216	1216a	1.087	0.213	0.780	0.166
1216	1216b	0.631	0.172	0.660	0.114
1217	1217a	1.243	0.225	0.804	0.181
1218	1218a	1.023	0.208	0.768	0.160
1219	1219a	1.364	0.234	0.823	0.193
1219	1219b	0.509	0.159	0.619	0.098
7000	7000a	0.859	0.194	0.729	0.141

 Table 2B: Major System Results for the 100-Year, 3-Hour Chicago Storm +20%



ATTACHMENT

SWM FACILITY OPERATING CONDITIONS



Water Resources and Environmental Consultants



5

Table 3A: Summary of SWM Facility 1 Operating Characteristics (1)

Pond	Pre-Development	Major Syst	tem Outflow ⁽²⁾	(m ³ /s)	Pond	Pond	Volume
Component	Outflow	Van Gaal	Moore Drain	Moore	Level	Outflow	Used ⁽³⁾
	(m ³ /s)	Drain	Tributary	Drain	(m)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³)
Permanent Pool	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	92.35	N/A	27226
Quality Control	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	92.50	0.038	4443
2-Year, 24-Hour SCS	2.767	0.000	0.000	0.000	93.15	0.295	26917
5-Year, 24-Hour SCS	4.290	0.000	0.000	0.000	93.52	0.377	41388
10-Year, 24-Hour SCS	5.348	0.000	0.000	0.000	93.71	0.753	49336
25-Year, 24-Hour SCS	6.694	0.000	0.000	0.109	93.76	2.017	51535
50-Year, 24-Hour SCS	7.749	1.514	0.356	0.214	93.78	2.832	52536
100-Year, 24-Hour SCS	8.894	2.420	1.619	0.296	93.80	3.577	53449
100-Year, 24-Hour SCS ⁽⁴⁾	8.894	2.420	2.420	2.420	93.81	3.665	53946
100-Year, 10-Year Spring ⁽⁴⁾	N/A	0.000	0.000	0.000	94.22	2.908	72715

⁽¹⁾ Based on 24 hour detention of 40 m³/ha quality control volume, erosion control of 2-year release rate to 330 L/s (as per Parish

Geomorphic threshold) and quantity control of 5- to 100-year release rates to pre-development levels as modelled in SWMHYMO Rtar_F.*.

⁽²⁾ Major system flows from 36.63 ha, 30.79 ha, 21.75 ha and 2.65 ha of the Pond 1 subdivision area will discharge to Pond 1,

to the Van Gaal Drain, to the Moore Drain Tributary, and to the Moore Drain, respectively, as modelled in SWMHYMO Rtar_F.*.

⁽³⁾ Volumes used are active storage only for all pond components except the permanent pool.

⁽⁴⁾ Restrictive downstream conditions; Summer = 93.68 m, Spring = 94.11 m. All other results based on free outfall conditions.

Table 3B: Summary of SWM Facility 2 Operating Characteristics⁽¹⁾

Pond	Pre-Development	Pond	Pond	Volume
Component	Outflow	Level	Outflow	Used ⁽²⁾
	(m ³ /s)	(m)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³)
Permanent Pool	N/A	93.20	N/A	2990
Quality Control	N/A	93.35	0.038	1837
2-Year, 24-Hour SCS	0.705	93.68	0.594	6643
5-Year, 24-Hour SCS	1.094	93.82	0.955	9040
10-Year, 24-Hour SCS	1.364	93.91	1.206	10594
25-Year, 24-Hour SCS	1.708	94.03	1.527	12506
50-Year, 24-Hour SCS	1.976	94.11	1.782	13986
100-Year, 24-Hour SCS	2.267	94.20	2.059	15570
100-Year, 10-Year Spring ⁽³⁾	N/A	94.84	1.460	27487

⁽¹⁾ Based on 24 hour detention of 40 m³/ha quality control volume and quantity control of 100-year release rate to capacity of 1500 mm outlet pipe at 0.1% slope (2.235 m³/s). No erosion control is provided. Pre-development flows as modelled in SWMHYMO Rtar F.*.

⁽²⁾ Volumes used are active storage only for all pond components except the permanent pool.

⁽³⁾ Restrictive downstream conditions; Spring = 94.18 m. All other results based on free outfall conditions.

Table 4A: Extended Detention Parameters for SWM Facility 1

Permanent Pool F	Parameters	Quality Orifice Parameters
Area (C3)	27226.15 m ²	Diameter 0.300 m
Volume	39222.65 m ³	
PP Elev	92.35 m	Area 0.07069 m ²
QC Elev	92.50 m	Invert 92.35 m
h (m)	0.15 m	C _o 0.620

Notes:

C3 is the intercept from the area-depth linear regression

PP Elev indicates the elevation of the permanent pool

QC Elev indicates the elevation of the storage volume required by MOE for quality control

h is the maximum water elevation above the orifice (m)

Table 4B: Extended Detention Drawdown Time for SWM Facility 1

Elev.	A	Active Storage	е	C2	Drawdown Time	Drawdown Time	Flow	Demarkation
(m)	V (m ³)	A (m ²)	depth (m)	(m²/m)	(h)	(days)	(m ³ /s)	Point
92.35	0.00	27226.15	0.00				0.000	PP Elev
92.40	1436.02	28902.23	0.05	33522	17.75	0.74	0.013	
92.45	2929.23	29951.41	0.10	27253	25.42	1.06	0.025	
92.50	4443.44	30505.36	0.15	21861	31.33	1.31	0.038	QC Elev
92.55	5991.84	31236.19	0.20	20050	36.49	1.52	0.050	

Notes:

C2 is the slope coefficient from the area-depth linear regression

QC Elev indicates the elevation of the quality control volume required by MOE

Table 4C: Extended Detention Parameters for SWM Facility 2

Permanent Pool F	Parameters	Quality Orifice Parameters
Area (C3)	11075.10 m ²	Diameter 0.300 m
Volume	2990.03 m ³	
PP Elev	93.20 m	Area 0.07069 m ²
QC Elev	93.35 m	Invert 93.20 m
h (m)	0.15 m	C _o 0.620

Notes:

C3 is the intercept from the area-depth linear regression

PP Elev indicates the elevation of the permanent pool

QC Elev indicates the elevation of the storage volume required by MOE for quality control

h is the maximum water elevation above the orifice (m)

Table 4D: Extended Detention Drawdown Time for SWM Facility 2

Elev.	A	Active Storage	Э	C2	Drawdown Time	Drawdown Time	Flow	Demarkation
(m)	V (m ³)	A (m ²)	depth (m)	(m²/m)	(h)	(days)	(m ³ /s)	Point
93.20	0.00	11075.10	0.00				0.000	PP Elev
93.25	573.33	11836.91	0.90	846	30.71	1.28	0.013	
93.30	1196.62	12676.33	0.95	1685	32.32	1.35	0.025	
93.35	1836.54	12867.85	1.00	1793	33.34	1.39	0.038	QC Elev
93.40	2504.49	13398.14	1.05	2212	34.68	1.44	0.050	

Notes:

C2 is the slope coefficient from the area-depth linear regression

QC Elev indicates the elevation of the quality control volume required by MOE

Table 5A: Stage-Storage-Outflow Curve for SWM Facility 1

			Quality C	ontrol 1	Erosion C	ontrol 1	Quantity (Control 1					
			Vertical	Orifice	Vertical (Orifice	Rectangu	ılar Weir					
			Dia (m)	0.300	Dia (m)	0.300	L (m)	45.000					
			Area (m ²)	0.071	Area (m²)	0.071							
			Invert (m)	92.35	Invert (m)	92.50	C	1,700					
			C_	0.62	C.	0.62	Invert (m)	93.68					
			റ്റ്റ	0.075	0 @ D	0.075	n contr.	2					
Flevation	Active Sto.	Demerkation	Head	Outflow	Head	Outflow	Head	Outflow	Outflow	Storage			
(m)	(m ³)	Demarkation	(m)	(m^{3}/s)	(m)	(m^{3}/s)	(m)	(m^{3}/s)	(m^{3}/s)	(ho.m)			
(11)	()	PR Flow	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000		0.000	0.000				
02.00	1/36		0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000			
02.40	2020		0.000	0.015	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.013	0.144			
92.40	2929		0.100	0.020	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.020	0.235			
92.50	4443	QC Elev	0.150	0.050	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.050	0.500			
92.55	599Z		0.200	0.050	0.050	0.013	0.000	0.000	0.003	0.599			
92.60	7560		0.250	0.063	0.100	0.025	0.000	0.000	0.088	0.756			
92.65	9168		0.300	0.075	0.150	0.038	0.000	0.000	0.113	0.917			
92.70	10802		0.350	0.087	0.200	0.050	0.000	0.000	0.137	1.080			
92.75	12459		0.400	0.097	0.250	0.063	0.000	0.000	0.160	1.246			
92.80	14148		0.450	0.106	0.300	0.075	0.000	0.000	0.182	1.415			
92.85	15867		0.500	0.115	0.350	0.087	0.000	0.000	0.202	1.587			
92.90	17620		0.550	0.123	0.400	0.097	0.000	0.000	0.220	1.762			
92.95	19390		0.600	0.130	0.450	0.106	0.000	0.000	0.237	1.939			
93.00	21197		0.650	0.137	0.500	0.115	0.000	0.000	0.252	2.120			
93.05	23028		0.700	0.144	0.550	0.123	0.000	0.000	0.267	2.303			
93.10	24894		0.750	0.150	0.600	0.130	0.000	0.000	0.281	2.489			
93.15	26779		0.800	0.157	0.650	0.137	0.000	0.000	0.294	2.678			
93.20	28700		0.850	0.162	0.700	0.144	0.000	0.000	0.306	2.870			
93.25	30634		0.900	0.168	0.750	0.150	0.000	0.000	0.318	3.063			
93.30	32587		0.950	0.174	0.800	0.157	0.000	0.000	0.330	3.259			
93.35	34548		1.000	0.179	0.850	0.162	0.000	0.000	0.341	3.455			
93.40	36547		1.050	0.184	0.900	0.168	0.000	0.000	0.352	3.655			
93.45	38559		1.100	0.189	0.950	0.174	0.000	0.000	0.363	3.856			
93.50	40641		1.150	0.194	1.000	0.179	0.000	0.000	0.373	4.064			
93 55	42717		1 200	0 199	1 050	0 184	0,000	0.000	0.383	4 272			
93.60	44822		1 250	0 204	1 100	0 189	0.000	0.000	0.393	4 482			
93.65	46961		1 300	0.208	1 150	0.100	0.000	0.000	0.000	4 696			
93.68	48248	Ext Dot	1 3 3 0	0.200	1 180	0.104	0.000	n n n	0.402	4.825			
03.70	40106	Ext. Det.	1.350	0.213	1 200	0.100	0.020	0.216	0.628	1 011			
02.75	51212		1.000	0.213	1.200	0.199	0.020	1 / 16	1 827	5 121			
93.73	52490		1.400	0.217	1.200	0.204	0.070	2 170	2 600	5.131			
02.00	55010		1.400	0.221	1.300	0.200	0.120	5.110	5.000	5.549			
93.65	50040		1.500	0.220	1.350	0.213	0.170	5.300	0.000	5.565			
93.90	10/00		1.000	0.230	1.400	0.21/	0.220	1.000	0.333	0.0//			
93.95	60124		1.600	0.234	1.450	0.221	0.270	10.720	11.175	6.012			
94.00	62403	Top of Berm	1.650	0.238	1.500	0.226	0.320	13.828	14.292	6.240			
94.05	64689		1.700	0.242	1.550	0.230	0.370	17.189	17.660	6.469			
94.10	67024		1.750	0.246	1.600	0.234	0.420	20.784	21.263	6.702			
94.11	67493	100-Yr Spr	1.760	0.246	1.610	0.235	0.430	21.529	22.010	6.749			
94.15	69372		1.800	0.249	1.650	0.238	0.470	24.598	25.085	6.937			
94.20	71747		1.850	0.253	1.700	0.242	0.520	28.619	29.114	7.175			
94.25	74132		1.900	0.257	1.750	0.246	0.570	32.838	33.340	7.413			
94.30	76504		1.950	0.260	1.800	0.249	0.620	37.244	37.753	7.650			
94.35	78940		2.000	0.264	1.850	0.253	0.670	41.829	42.346	7.894			
94.40	81361		2.050	0.268	1.900	0.257	0.720	46.587	47.112	8.136			
94.45	83758		2.100	0.271	1.950	0.260	0.770	51.512	52.044	8.376			
94.50	86225		2.150	0.275	2.000	0.264	0.820	56.597	57.136	8.622			

Notes :

- QC Elev indicates the elevation of the storage volume provided for quality control according to MOE requirements.

- Ext. Det. indicates the elevation of extended detention provided, and of the Van Gaal Drain floodplain during the 100-year summer (SCS) event.

- 100-Yr Spr indicates the elevation of the Van Gaal Drain floodplain during the 100-year spring (snow+rain) event.

- Top of Berm indicates the elevation at the top of the berm.

⁻ PP Elev indicates the elevation of the permanent pool.

Table 5B: Stage-Storage-Outflow Curve for SWM Facility 2

				Quality C	ontrol 1	Quantity C	Control 1						
				Vertical	Orifice	Rectangu	lar Weir						
				Dia (m)	0.300	L (m)	1.500						
						()							
				A									
				Area (m)	0.071	_							
				Invert (m)	93.20	C _w	1.800						
				C _o	0.62	Invert (m)	93.35						
				Q @ D	0.075	n contr.	2						
I	Elevation	Active Sto.	Demarkation	Head	Outflow	Head	Outflow	Outflow	Storage				
	(m)	(m^{3})	Demarkation	(m)	(m^{3}/s)	(m)	(m^{3}/s)	(m^{3}/s)	(ha m)				
	(11)	(11)						(11 /3)	(na·m)				
	93.20	0	PP Liev	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000				
	93.25	573		0.050	0.013	0.000	0.000	0.013	0.057				
	93.30	1197		0.100	0.025	0.000	0.000	0.025	0.120				
	93.35	1837	QC Elev	0.150	0.038	0.000	0.000	0.038	0.184				
	93.40	2504		0.200	0.050	0.050	0.030	0.080	0.250				
	93.45	3183		0.250	0.063	0.100	0.084	0.147	0.318				
	93.50	3889		0.300	0.075	0.150	0.154	0.229	0.389				
	93.55	4649		0.350	0.087	0.200	0.235	0.322	0.465				
	93.60	5428		0.400	0.097	0.250	0.326	0.423	0.543				
	93.65	6210		0.450	0.106	0.300	0.426	0.532	0.621				
ļ	93.70	7016		0.500	0.115	0.350	0.533	0.648	0.702				
	93 75	7835		0.550	0.123	0.400	0.647	0.769	0.783				
ļ	03 RU	8666		0.600	0 130	0.450	0.766	0.806	0.867				
	03.85	0502		0.000	0.130	0.400	0.700	1 0 2 8	0.007				
	93.03	9302		0.030	0.137	0.500	1 001	1.020	1.005				
	93.90	10346		0.700	0.144	0.550	1.021	1.105	1.035				
	93.95	11191		0.750	0.150	0.600	1.154	1.305	1.119				
	94.00	12047		0.800	0.157	0.650	1.292	1.449	1.205				
	94.05	12914		0.850	0.162	0.700	1.434	1.596	1.291				
	94.10	13785		0.900	0.168	0.750	1.578	1.746	1.378				
	94.15	14663		0.950	0.174	0.800	1.726	1.900	1.466				
	94.18	15193	100-Yr Spr	0.980	0.177	0.830	1.816	1.993	1.519				
	94.20	15547		1.000	0.179	0.850	1.876	2.055	1.555				
	94.25	16438		1.050	0.184	0.900	2.029	2.213	1.644				
	94.30	17336		1.100	0.189	0.950	2.183	2.373	1.734				
	94.35	18242		1.150	0.194	1.000	2.340	2.534	1.824				
	94.40	19153		1,200	0.199	1.050	2 4 9 8	2.697	1,915				
	94.45	20072		1 250	0.204	1 100	2 658	2 862	2 007				
	94 50	20072		1 300	0.201	1.100	2,000	3.027	2 100				
	04.55	21030		1.350	0.200	1.100	2.013	3 10/	2.100				
	94.55	21930		1.330	0.213	1.200	2.901	0.194	2.195				
ļ	94.00 04.65	22010		1.400	0.217	1.200	J. 144	0.00Z	2.201				
	94.65	23817		1.450	0.221	1.300	3.308	3.530	2.382				
ļ	94.70	24/70		1.500	0.226	1.350	3.4/3	3.698	2.4//				
	94.75	25732		1.550	0.230	1.400	3.638	3.867	2.573				
ļ	94.81	26699		1.609	0.234	1.459	3.833	4.067	2.670				
ļ	94.85	27675		1.650	0.238	1.500	3.968	4.206	2.767				
	94.90	28654		1.700	0.242	1.550	4.133	4.375	2.865				
ļ	94.95	29644		1.750	0.246	1.600	4.299	4.544	2.964				
ļ	95.00	30645		1.800	0.249	1.650	4.464	4.713	3.064				
ļ	95.05	31649		1.850	0.253	1.700	4.628	4.881	3.165				
	95.10	32661		1.900	0.257	1.750	4.792	5.049	3.266				
ļ	95.15	33688		1.950	0.260	1.800	4.955	5.216	3.369				
ļ	95,20	34713		2,000	0.264	1.850	5.118	5.382	3.471				
ļ	95.25	35748		2 050	0.268	1 900	5,280	5.547	3 575				
ļ	95 30	36756		2 100	0 271	1 950	5 4 4 1	5 712	3 676				
ļ	95.30	37820		2.100	0.275	2 000	5 600	5 975	3 720				
ļ	90.00 05 40	200020		2.100	0.210	2.000	5.000	6.027	2 000				
ļ	95.40	30000 20000		2.200	0.278	2.050	5.759	0.03/	3.000				
ļ	95.45	39936		2.250	0.281	2.100	5.916	0.197	3.994				
ļ	95.50	40980		2.300	0.285	2.150	6.072	6.356	4.098				
ļ	95.55	42077		2.350	0.288	2.200	6.226	6.514	4.208				
ļ	95.60	43165		2.400	0.291	2.250	6.379	6.670	4.317				
	95.65	44262		2.450	0.294	2.300	6.530	6.824	4.426				

Table 5B: Stage-Storage-Outflow Curve for SWM Facility 2

			Quality C	ontrol 1	Quantity C	Control 1		
			Vertical	Orifice	Rectangu	lar Weir		
			Dia (m)	0.300	L (m)	1.500		
			Area (m²)	0.071				
			Invert (m)	93.20	C _w	1.800		
			Co	0.62	Invert (m)	93.35		
			Q @ D	0.075	n contr.	2		
Elevation	Active Sto.	Demarkation	Head	Outflow	Head	Outflow	Outflow	Storage
	(3)					2	0	
(m)	(m°)	Points	(m)	(m³/s)	(m)	(m³/s)	(m³/s)	(ha·m)
(m) 95.70	(m°) 45394	Points	(m) 2.500	(m³/s) 0.298	(m) 2.350	(m³/s) 6.679	(m³/s) 6.977	(ha·m) 4.539
(m) 95.70 95.75	(m°) 45394 46502	Points	(m) 2.500 2.550	(m³/s) 0.298 0.301	(m) 2.350 2.400	(m³/s) 6.679 6.826	(m³/s) 6.977 7.127	(ha·m) 4.539 4.650
(m) 95.70 95.75 95.80	(m°) 45394 46502 47623	Points	(m) 2.500 2.550 2.600	(m ³ /s) 0.298 0.301 0.304	(m) 2.350 2.400 2.450	(m ³ /s) 6.679 6.826 6.972	(m ³ /s) 6.977 7.127 7.276	(ha·m) 4.539 4.650 4.762
(m) 95.70 95.75 95.80 95.85	(m°) 45394 46502 47623 48764	Points	(m) 2.500 2.550 2.600 2.650	(m ³ /s) 0.298 0.301 0.304 0.307	(m) 2.350 2.400 2.450 2.500	(m ³ /s) 6.679 6.826 6.972 7.115	(m ³ /s) 6.977 7.127 7.276 7.422	(ha·m) 4.539 4.650 4.762 4.876
(m) 95.70 95.75 95.80 95.85 95.90	(m°) 45394 46502 47623 48764 51022	Points	(m) 2.500 2.550 2.600 2.650 2.700	(m ³ /s) 0.298 0.301 0.304 0.307 0.310	(m) 2.350 2.400 2.450 2.500 2.550	(m ³ /s) 6.679 6.826 6.972 7.115 7.256	(m ³ /s) 6.977 7.127 7.276 7.422 7.566	(ha·m) 4.539 4.650 4.762 4.876 5.102
(m) 95.70 95.75 95.80 95.85 95.90 95.95	(m°) 45394 46502 47623 48764 51022 50837	Points	(m) 2.500 2.550 2.600 2.650 2.700 2.750	(m ³ /s) 0.298 0.301 0.304 0.307 0.310 0.313	(m) 2.350 2.400 2.450 2.500 2.550 2.600	(m ³ /s) 6.679 6.826 6.972 7.115 7.256 7.395	(m ³ /s) 6.977 7.127 7.276 7.422 7.566 7.708	(ha·m) 4.539 4.650 4.762 4.876 5.102 5.084
(m) 95.70 95.75 95.80 95.85 95.90 95.95 96.00	(m [°]) 45394 46502 47623 48764 51022 50837 51987	Points Top of Berm	(m) 2.500 2.550 2.600 2.650 2.700 2.750 2.800	(m ³ /s) 0.298 0.301 0.304 0.307 0.310 0.313 0.316	(m) 2.350 2.400 2.450 2.500 2.550 2.600 2.650	(m ³ /s) 6.679 6.826 6.972 7.115 7.256 7.395 7.532	(m ³ /s) 6.977 7.127 7.276 7.422 7.566 7.708 7.848	(ha·m) 4.539 4.650 4.762 4.876 5.102 5.084 5.199

- PP Elev indicates the elevation of the permanent pool.

- QC Elev indicates the elevation of the storage volume provided for quality control according to MOE requirements.

- 100-Yr Spr indicates the elevation of the Jock River floodplain during the 100-year spring (snow+rain) event.

- Top of Berm indicates the elevation at the top of the berm.



ATTACHMENT

PIPE DATA AND HYDRAULIC SIMULATION RESULTS



Water Resources and Environmental Consultants



5

Table 6: Pipe Data and Hydraulic Simulation Results ⁽¹⁾

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe	Pipe	Pipe	Pipe		U/S MH	D/S MH Design Design 100-year, 3-hour Chicago Storm 100-year				100-year, 12-hour SCS Type II Storm						100-year, 10-day Spring Snowmelt + Rainfall Event													
MH	МН	Invert	Invert	Diameter	Width	Length	Slope	n	Cover	Cover	Velocity	Flow	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	e Max.	Max.	Freeboard	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
				/ Height					Elev.	Elev.			Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	U/S HGL and	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	U/S HGL and	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	U/S HGL and
													Flow	Flow	(2)	Peak	HGL	HGL	MH Cover	Flow	Flow	(2)	Peak	HGL	HGL	MH Cover	Flow	Flow	(2)	Peak	HGL	HGL	MH Cover
		(m)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
101	102	93.228	93.161	0.825	N/A	67.0	0.1	0.013	95.598	95.587	0.85	0.45	0.29	0.64	-0.28	1.1	93.78	93.78	1.82	0.29	0.64	-0.24	12.0	93.82	93.81	1.78	0.02	0.04	0.17	109.0	94.22	94.22	1.38
102	103	93.141	93.061	0.825	N/A	80.0	0.1	0.013	95.587	95.470	0.85	0.45	0.29	0.64	-0.19	1.1	93.78	93.78	1.81	0.28	0.62	-0.15	12.1	93.81	93.81	1.77	0.02	0.04	0.26	108.9	94.22	94.22	1.37
103	104	92.911	92.850	0.975	N/A	60.5	0.1	0.013	95.470	95.373	0.95	0.71	0.60	0.85	-0.11	1.1	93.78	93.77	1.69	0.58	0.82	-0.07	12.1	93.81	93.81	1.66	0.04	0.06	0.34	109.0	94.22	94.22	1.25
104	105	92.820	92.796	0.975	N/A	23.5	0.1	0.013	95.373	95.331	0.95	0.71	0.60	0.85	-0.02	1.1	93.77	93.77	1.60	0.58	0.82	0.02	12.1	93.81	93.81	1.56	0.04	0.06	0.43	109.0	94.22	94.22	1.15
105	106	92.721	92.619	1.050	N/A	101.5	0.1	0.013	95.331	95.180	1.00	0.86	0.76	0.88	0.00	1.1	93.77	93.77	1.56	0.72	0.83	0.04	12.1	93.81	93.81	1.52	0.05	0.06	0.45	109.0	94.22	94.22	1.11
106	107	92.559	92.483	1.050	N/A	76.5	0.1	0.013	95.180	95.070	1.00	0.86	0.87	1.01	0.16	1.1	93.77	93.77	1.41	0.82	0.95	0.20	12.1	93.81	93.81	1.37	0.05	0.06	0.61	109.0	94.22	94.22	0.96
107	108	92.333	92.258	1.200	N/A	74.5	0.1	0.013	95.070	95.057	1.09	1.23	1.14	0.92	0.24	1.1	93.77	93.77	1.30	1.06	0.86	0.28	12.1	93.81	93.81	1.26	0.07	0.06	0.69	109.0	94.22	94.22	0.85
108	109	92.238	92.211	1.200	N/A	26.5	0.1	0.013	95.057	95.487	1.09	1.23	1.27	1.03	0.33	1.1	93.77	93.77	1.29	1.17	0.95	0.37	12.1	93.81	93.81	1.25	0.08	0.06	0.78	109.0	94.22	94.22	0.84
109	Pond1	92.181	92.150	1.200	N/A	31.0	0.1	0.013	95.487	94.500	1.09	1.23	1.26	1.02	0.39	1.1	93.77	93.77	1.72	1.16	0.94	0.43	12.1	93.81	93.81	1.68	0.08	0.1	0.84	109.0	94.22	94.22	1.27
202	203	93.826	93.706	0.675	N/A	120.0	0.1	0.013	96.212	96.030	0.74	0.27	0.21	0.79	-0.16	1.1	94.34	94.24	1.87	0.21	0.79	0.02	12.0	94.52	94.46	1.69	0.01	0.04	-0.28	109.1	94.23	94.23	1.99
203	204	93.556	93.479	0.825	N/A	77.0	0.1	0.013	96.030	95.920	0.85	0.45	0.43	0.95	-0.14	1.1	94.24	94.19	1.79	0.42	0.93	0.08	12.0	94.46	94.40	1.57	0.03	0.07	-0.16	109.1	94.23	94.23	1.81
204	205	93.404	93.332	0.900	N/A	72.0	0.1	0.013	95.920	95.812	0.90	0.57	0.53	0.93	-0.12	1.1	94.19	94.14	1.74	0.52	0.91	0.10	12.2	94.40	94.35	1.52	0.03	0.05	-0.08	109.1	94.23	94.22	1.70
205	206	93.257	93.184	0.975	N/A	73.0	0.1	0.013	95.812	95.700	0.95	0.71	0.62	0.87	-0.10	1.1	94.14	94.05	1.68	0.61	0.86	0.11	12.2	94.35	94.26	1.47	0.04	0.06	-0.01	109.1	94.22	94.22	1.59
206	207	92.959	92.925	1.200	1.800	34.0	0.1	0.013	95.700	95.898	1.23	2.66	2.27	0.85	-0.11	1.1	94.05	94.02	1.65	2.20	0.83	0.10	12.2	94.26	94.23	1.44	0.15	0.06	0.06	109.1	94.22	94.22	1.48
207	208	92.875	92.819	1.200	1.800	55.5	0.1	0.013	95.898	95.684	1.23	2.66	2.31	0.87	-0.06	1.1	94.02	93.96	1.88	2.27	0.85	0.15	12.2	94.23	94.18	1.67	0.15	0.06	0.15	109.0	94.22	94.22	1.67
208	209	92.769	92.729	1.200	1.800	39.5	0.1	0.013	95.684	95.520	1.23	2.66	2.32	0.87	-0.01	1.3	93.96	93.93	1.72	2.27	0.85	0.21	12.2	94.18	94.15	1.51	0.15	0.06	0.25	109.0	94.22	94.22	1.46
209	210	92.679	92.603	1.200	1.800	76.5	0.1	0.013	95.520	95.410	1.23	2.66	2.59	0.97	0.05	1.3	93.93	93.86	1.59	2.49	0.94	0.27	12.2	94.15	94.08	1.37	0.17	0.06	0.34	109.1	94.22	94.22	1.30
210	211	92.583	92.507	1.200	1.800	76.5	0.1	0.013	95.410	95.290	1.23	2.66	2.79	1.05	0.08	1.2	93.86	93.78	1.55	2.68	1.01	0.30	12.2	94.08	94.00	1.33	0.18	0.07	0.44	109.0	94.22	94.22	1.19
211	212	92.487	92.389	1.200	2.400	82.0	0.1	0.013	95.290	95,165	1.45	4.17	4.92	1.18	0.09	1.2	93.78	93.77	1.51	4.71	1.13	0.32	12.2	94.00	93.88	1.29	0.32	0.08	0.54	109.0	94.22	94.22	1.07
212	213	92.369	92.290	1.200	2.400	65.5	0.1	0.013	95.165	95.108	1.45	4.17	5.03	1.21	0.20	1.2	93.77	93.77	1.39	4.83	1.16	0.31	12.2	93.88	93.81	1.29	0.33	0.08	0.65	109.0	94.22	94.22	0.94
213	214	92.210	92,172	1.200	2.400	31.5	0.1	0.013	95.108	95.454	1.45	4.17	5.02	1.20	0.36	1.2	93.77	93.77	1.34	4.82	1.16	0.40	12.2	93.81	93.81	1.30	0.33	0.08	0.81	109.0	94.22	94.22	0.89
214	215	92.122	92.081	1.200	2.400	34.5	0.1	0.013	95.454	95.479	1.45	4.17	5.00	1.20	0.45	1.2	93.77	93.77	1.68	4.82	1.16	0.49	12.2	93.81	93.81	1.64	0.33	0.08	0.90	109.0	94.22	94.22	1.23
215	Pond1	92 001	91 950	1 200	2 400	42.5	0.1	0.013	95 479	94 500	1 45	4 17	4 96	1 19	0.57	12	93 77	93 77	1 71	4 82	1 16	0.61	12.2	93 81	93.81	1 67	0.33	0.08	1 02	109.0	94 22	94 22	1 26
251	252	93 818	93 748	0.675	N/A	70.5	0.1	0.013	96 160	96 054	0.74	0.27	0.18	0.68	-0.22	11	94 28	94 24	1.88	0.17	0.64	-0.03	12.0	94 47	94 44	1 69	0.01	0.04	-0.27	109.1	94 23	94 23	1.94
252	253	93 673	93 603	0.750	N/A	70.5	0.1	0.013	96.054	95 949	0.80	0.35	0.26	0.74	-0.18	1 1	94 24	94 20	1.80	0.25	0.71	0.02	12.0	94 44	94 40	1.60	0.02	0.06	-0.20	109.1	94 23	94 23	1.81
253	254	93 303	93 227	1 050	N/A	76.5	0.1	0.013	95 949	95 834	1 00	0.86	0.82	0.95	-0.15	1 1	94 20	94.07	1 75	0.79	0.91	0.05	12.0	94 40	94 29	1.55	0.05	0.06	-0.13	109.0	94 23	94 22	1 72
254	206	93 077	92 989	1 200	1 800	88.0	0.1	0.013	95 834	95 700	1.00	2.66	1.53	0.58	-0.21	1 1	94.07	94.05	1.76	1 47	0.55	0.01	12.0	94 29	94 26	1.55	0.00	0.04	-0.05	109.0	94 22	94 22	1.61
261	262	93 851	93 753	0.675	N/A	97.5	0.1	0.013	96 161	96.015	0.74	0.27	0.21	0.79	-0.13	1 1	94.39	94.34	1.70	0.21	0.79	0.05	12.0	94.58	94 53	1.58	0.01	0.04	-0.30	109.1	94 23	94 23	1.01
262	263	93 603	93 484	0.825	N/A	119.0	0.1	0.013	96.015	95 837	0.85	0.45	0.40	0.88	-0.09	1 1	94.34	94 27	1.68	0.38	0.84	0.00	12.0	94 53	94 45	1.60	0.03	0.07	-0.20	109.1	94 23	94 23	1 79
263	264	93 409	93 302	0.020	N/A	107.0	0.1	0.013	95 837	95 676	0.00	0.40	0.56	0.00	-0.04	1.1	94 27	94.27	1.00	0.54	0.04	0.10	12.0	94.00	94.33	1.39	0.03	0.05	-0.08	100.1	94 23	94.20	1.73
264	265	93 222	93 182	0.000	N/A	40.5	0.1	0.013	95.676	95.616	0.00	0.57	0.67	1 17	0.04	1.0	94 14	94.14	1.57	0.64	1 12	0.14	12.2	94.33	94 29	1.35	0.00	0.07	0.00	100.1	94.20	94.22	1.01
265	266	93 032	93.002	1.050	Ν/Δ	30.0	0.1	0.013	95.616	95 571	1 00	0.86	1 01	1 17	0.02	13	04.14 04.00	94.00 94.05	1.00	0.04	1.12	0.21	12.2	04.20	04.20 04.26	1.00	0.06	0.07	0.10	100.1	04.22 04.22	04.22 04.22	1 30
200	267	92 852	02 753	1 200	N/A		0.1	0.013	95 571	95 421	1.00	1 23	1.01	1.17	0.01	1.0	94.05	03.80	1.52	1 44	1.10	0.21	12.2	94.26	04.12	1.30	0.00	0.07	0.14	100.1	94.22	94.22	1.00
267	268	92 703	92.657	1 200	1 800	45.5	0.1	0.013	95 421	95 342	1.00	2.66	2.07	0.78	-0.01	1 1	93.89	93.85	1.52	1.96	0.74	0.20	12.2	94 12	94.08	1.30	0.10	0.05	0.32	100.0	94.22	94.22	1.00
268	211	92 607	92 567	1 200	1.800	40.5	0.1	0.013	95 342	95 290	1.20	2.66	2.07	0.77	0.05	1 1	93.85	93 78	1.00	1.00	0.74	0.21	12.1	94.08	94.00	1.00	0.10	0.05	0.02	100.0	94.22	94.22	1.20
301	302	93 248	93 194	0.600	N/A	54.0	0.1	0.013	95 797	95 829	0.69	0.19	0.14	0.72	-0.08	1 1	93 77	93 77	2.02	0.14	0.72	-0.03	12.1	93.81	93.81	1.20	0.10	0.05	0.37	108.9	94 22	94 22	1.58
302	303	93 164	93 153	0.600	N/A	11.0	0.1	0.013	95 829	95 808	0.69	0.19	0.14	0.72	0.00	1 1	93 77	93 77	2.02	0.13	0.67	0.05	12.0	93.81	93.81	2.02	0.01	0.05	0.46	109.0	94 22	94 22	1.60
303	304	93 123	93.055	0.600	N/A	67.5	0.1	0.013	95 808	95 729	0.69	0.19	0.14	0.72	0.05	1 1	93 77	93 77	2.00	0.13	0.67	0.00	12.0	93.81	93.81	2.02	0.01	0.05	0.50	108.9	94 22	94 22	1.59
304	305	92 980	92 906	0.675	N/A	73.5	0.1	0.013	95 729	95 4 10	0.74	0.10	0.24	0.90	0.00	1 1	93 77	93 77	1.96	0.23	0.87	0.00	12.1	93.81	93.81	1.92	0.01	0.04	0.57	108.9	94 22	94 22	1.50
305	306	92 681	92 605	0.900	N/A	76.5	0.1	0.013	95 4 10	95 300	0.90	0.57	0.50	0.87	0.12	1 1	93 77	93 77	1.66	0.48	0.84	0.23	12.1	93.81	93.81	1.60	0.03	0.05	0.64	108.9	94 22	94 22	1 19
306	307	92 545	92 465	0.900	1 800	79.5	0.1	0.013	95,300	94 860	1.09	1 77	0.79	0.45	0.33	1 1	93 77	93 77	1.53	0.73	0.41	0.36	12.0	93.81	93.81	1 49	0.05	0.03	0.78	109.0	94 22	94 22	1.08
307	308	92 445	92,368	0.900	1 800	77.0	0.1	0.013	94 860	94 823	1.00	1 77	1 18	0.67	0.43	1 1	93 77	93 77	1.00	1 09	0.62	0.00	12.0	93.81	93.81	1.05	0.07	0.04	0.88	109.0	94 22	94 22	0.64
308	407	92 338	92 244	0.000	1 800	94.5	0.1	0.013	94 823	95 199	1.00	1 77	1 14	0.65	0.53	1 1	93 77	93 77	1.00	1.00	0.61	0.57	12.2	93.81	93.81	1.00	0.07	0.04	0.00	109.0	94 22	94 22	0.60
401	402	92 920	92 891	0.675	N/A	26.5	0.1	0.013	95 844	95 746	0.78	0.28	0.24	0.86	0.00	1 1	93.78	93 78	2.07	0.23	0.82	0.22	12.0	93.81	93.81	2.03	0.01	0.04	0.63	109.0	94 22	94 22	1.62
402	403	92.816	92.805	0.750	N/A	11.0	0.1	0.013	95 746	95 689	0.70	0.35	0.24	0.68	0.10	1 1	93.78	93 78	1 97	0.20	0.65	0.22	12.0	93.81	93.81	1 93	0.01	0.03	0.66	108.8	94.22	94.22	1.52
403	404	92.010	92,695	0.750	N/A	80.0	0.1	0.013	95 689	95 577	0.80	0.35	0.24	0.68	0.21	1 1	93.78	93 78	1.07	0.20	0.62	0.20	12.0	93.81	93.81	1.88	0.01	0.03	0.00	100.0	94.22	94.22	1.02
400	405	92 620	92 513	0.825	N/A	106 5	0.1	0.013	95 577	95 150	0.85	0.45	0.42	0.00	0.33		93.78	93 77	1.80	0.30	0.86	0.20	12.1	93.81	93.81	1 77	0.03	0.07	0.78	100.0	94 22	94 22	1 36
405	406	92 438	92 350	0 900	N/A	68.0	0.1	0.013	95 150	95.005	1 03	0.45	0.70	1 07	0.00	1 1	93 77	93 77	1.38	0.65	1 00	0.37	12.1	93.81	93.81	1.34	0.04	0.06	0.88	100.0	94 22	94 22	0.93
406	407	92 330	92 244	0 900	N/A	66.5	0.1	0.013	95.005	95 100	1.03	0.65	0.60	1.07	0.54	1 1	93 77	93 77	1 23	0.64	0.00	0.58	12.1	93.81	93.81	1 10	0.04	0.06	0.00	100.0	94 22	94 22	0.00
400	408	92 214	92 106	0.000	1 800	17.5	0.1	0.013	95 100	94 558	1 00	1 77	1 78	1.00	0.66	1 1	93 77	93 77	1 43	1 71	0.30	0.30	12.1	93.81	93.81	1.30	0.12	0.07	1 11	100.0	94 22	94 22	0.70
402	Pond1	92.214	92 150	0.900	1 800	16.5	0.1	0.013	94 558	94 500	1.09	1 77	1.76	1.01	0.00		93.77	93 77	0.70	1.71	0.07	0.70	12.2	03.81	03.01	0.75	0.12	0.07	1 16	109.0	94.22	94.22	0.30
500	501	02.100	92.130	0.300	N/A	81.0	0.1	0.013	96 026	95 002	0.80	0.25	0.24	0.00	_0.7 T	1 1	94.02	03.00	200	0.22	0.57	-0.14 -0.12	12.2	0/ 15	0/ 10	1 88		0.07	_0.05	100.0	0/ 22	04.22 Q1 22	1.80
500	507	93.020	93.444 Q2 252	0.750	N/A	71 5	0.1	0.013	90.020	95.903	0.00	0.35	0.24	0.00	-0.23	1.1	03.02	93.90	1 02	0.23	0.00	-0.13	12.0	0/ 10	04.12 0/ 00	1.00 1.79		0.03	-0.05	109.0	0/ 22	94.22 Q1 99	1.00
500	502	02 777	02.002	0.750	N//A	11.0	0.1	0.013	90.900	99.112 05 652	0.00	0.35	0.23	0.00	-0.19	1.2	03.04	90.94 02.02	1.92	0.21	0.00	-0.00	12.0	04.12	04.09	1.70		0.03	0.00	109.0	0/ 02	04.22	1.00
502	503	92.211	93.200 Q2 175	0.020	N/A	61.0	0.1	0.013	95.112	95.000	0.00	0.45	0.33	0.75	-0.10	1.2	93.94	93.92 03.92	1 72	0.32	0.70	-0.01	12.2	04.09	04.00 01.05	1.00		0.04	0.12	109.1	0/ 22	94.22 Q1 99	1.55
503	504	93.230	93.173 Q2 124	0.020	N/A	11.0	0.1	0.013	95.000	95.507	0.00	0.45	0.34	0.75	-0.14	1.0	03.92	93.00 Q2 27	1.73	0.00	0.75	0.02	12.2	04.00 01.05	04.00 04.04	1.57		0.04	0.10	109.0	0/ 22	94.22 Q1 99	1 2/
L 304	1 303	JJ. 14J	00.104	0.020	11/7	1 11.0	1 0.1	0.010	55.507	JJ.JZJ	1 0.00	0.40	0.00	1 0.77	-0.03	1.0	00.00	55.07	1.03	II 0.04	0.75	0.00	1 12.2	J-4.0J	04.04	1.02	0.02	0.04	0.20	103.0	J-7.22	J7.22	1 1.04

Table 6: Pipe Data and Hydraulic Simulation Results (1)

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe	Pipe	Pipe	Pipe		U/S MH	MH D/S MH Design Design 100-year, 3-hour Chicago Storm 100-year,				100-year, 12-hour SCS Type II Storm						100-year, 10-day Spring Snowmelt + Rainfall			· Rainfall E	Event									
MH	мн	Invert	Invert	Diameter	Width	Length	Slope	n	Cover	Cover	Velocity	Flow	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
				/ Height					Elev.	Elev.			Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	U/S HGL and	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	U/S HGL and	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	U/S HGL and
													Flow	Flow	(2)	Peak	HGL	HGL	MH Cover	Flow	Flow	(2)	Peak	HGL	HGL	MH Cover	Flow	Flow	(2)	Peak	HGL	HGL	MH Cover
		(m)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m³/s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
505	506	93.104	93.068	0.825	N/A	36.0	0.1	0.013	95.525	95.404	0.85	0.45	0.36	0.79	-0.06	1.3	93.87	93.82	1.66	0.35	0.77	0.11	12.2	94.04	94.00	1.49	0.02	0.04	0.29	109.1	94.22	94.22	1.30
506	507	92.993	92.917	0.900	N/A	76.0	0.1	0.013	95.404	95.290	0.90	0.57	0.52	0.91	-0.07	1.2	93.82	93.77	1.58	0.49	0.86	0.11	12.2	94.00	93.95	1.41	0.03	0.05	0.33	109.0	94.22	94.22	1.18
507	508	92.767	92.687	1.050	N/A	79.5	0.1	0.013	95.290	95.170	1.00	0.86	0.86	1.00	-0.04	1.2	93.77	93.77	1.52	0.80	0.93	0.13	12.2	93.95	93.83	1.34	0.05	0.06	0.41	109.0	94.22	94.22	1.07
508	509	92.627	92.597	1.050	N/A	30.0	0.1	0.013	95.170	95.121	1.00	0.86	0.88	1.02	0.10	1.2	93.77	93.77	1.40	0.82	0.95	0.15	12.2	93.83	93.81	1.34	0.06	0.07	0.55	109.0	94.22	94.22	0.95
509	510	92.447	92.374	1.200	N/A	72.5	0.1	0.013	95.121	95.016	1.09	1.23	1.12	0.91	0.13	1.2	93.77	93.77	1.35	1.04	0.84	0.16	12.1	93.81	93.81	1.31	0.07	0.06	0.57	109.0	94.22	94.22	0.90
510	511	92.354	92.267	1.200	N/A	86.5	0.1	0.013	95.016	94.413	1.09	1.23	1.25	1.01	0.22	1.2	93.77	93.77	1.24	1.16	0.94	0.26	12.1	93.81	93.81	1.21	0.08	0.06	0.67	109.0	94.22	94.22	0.79
511	611	92.207	92.100	1.200	N/A	106.5	0.1	0.013	94.413	94.667	1.09	1.23	1.41	1.14	0.37	1.2	93.77	93.77	0.64	1.31	1.06	0.40	12.1	93.81	93.81	0.60	0.09	0.07	0.81	109.0	94.22	94.22	0.19
601	602	93.362	93.294	0.600	N/A	68.5	0.1	0.013	96.029	95.603	0.69	0.19	0.17	0.88	-0.18	1.1	93.78	93.78	2.25	0.17	0.88	-0.13	12.0	93.83	93.81	2.20	0.01	0.05	0.26	109.0	94.22	94.22	1.81
602	603	93.264	93.253	0.600	N/A	11.0	0.1	0.013	95.603	95.530	0.69	0.19	0.17	0.88	-0.09	1.1	93.78	93.78	1.83	0.16	0.82	-0.05	12.0	93.81	93.81	1.79	0.01	0.05	0.36	108.7	94.22	94.22	1.38
603	604	93.103	93.035	0.750	N/A	68.5	0.1	0.013	95.530	95.400	0.80	0.35	0.26	0.74	-0.08	1.1	93.78	93.78	1.75	0.24	0.68	-0.04	12.1	93.81	93.81	1.72	0.02	0.06	0.37	109.1	94.22	94.22	1.31
604	605	92.885	92.809	0.900	N/A	76.5	0.1	0.013	95.400	95.290	0.90	0.57	0.46	0.80	-0.01	1.1	93.78	93.78	1.63	0.43	0.75	0.03	12.1	93.81	93.81	1.59	0.03	0.05	0.44	108.9	94.22	94.22	1.18
605	606	92.734	92.654	0.975	N/A	79.5	0.1	0.013	95.290	95.170	0.95	0.71	0.65	0.92	0.07	1.1	93.78	93.77	1.52	0.61	0.86	0.10	12.1	93.81	93.81	1.48	0.04	0.06	0.51	109.0	94.22	94.22	1.07
606	607	92.579	92.499	1.050	N/A	79.5	0.1	0.013	95.170	95.050	1.00	0.86	0.88	1.02	0.15	1.1	93.77	93.77	1.40	0.82	0.95	0.18	12.1	93.81	93.81	1.36	0.05	0.06	0.59	109.0	94.22	94.22	0.95
607	608	92.479	92.410	1.050	N/A	69.0	0.1	0.013	95.050	94.944	1.00	0.86	0.97	1.12	0.24	1.1	93.77	93.77	1.28	0.90	1.04	0.28	12.1	93.81	93.81	1.24	0.06	0.07	0.69	109.0	94.22	94.22	0.83
608	609	92.380	92.369	1.050	N/A	11.0	0.1	0.013	94.944	94.835	1.00	0.86	0.96	1.11	0.34	1.1	93.77	93.77	1.17	0.89	1.03	0.38	12.1	93.81	93.81	1.13	0.06	0.07	0.79	109.0	94.22	94.22	0.72
609	610	92.219	92.185	1.200	N/A	34.5	0.1	0.013	94.835	94.875	1.09	1.23	1.10	0.89	0.35	1.1	93.77	93.77	1.06	1.03	0.84	0.39	12.1	93.81	93.81	1.02	0.07	0.06	0.80	109.0	94.22	94.22	0.61
610	611	92.125	92.100	1.200	N/A	25.0	0.1	0.013	94.875	94.667	1.09	1.23	1.32	1.07	0.45	1.1	93.77	93.77	1.10	1.24	1.01	0.48	12.1	93.81	93.81	1.07	0.08	0.06	0.90	109.0	94.22	94.22	0.65
611	612	92.070	92.048	1.200	1.800	22.0	0.1	0.013	94.667	94.113	1.23	2.66	2.70	1.02	0.50	1.1	93.77	93.77	0.90	2.53	0.95	0.54	12.1	93.81	93.81	0.86	0.17	0.06	0.95	109.0	94.22	94.22	0.45
612	Pond1	92.018	92.000	1.200	1.800	18.0	0.1	0.013	94.113	94.500	1.23	2.66	2.68	1.01	0.55	1.1	93.77	93.77	0.34	2.52	0.95	0.59	12.1	93.81	93.81	0.30	0.17	0.06	1.00	109.0	94.22	94.22	-0.11
700	701	93.517	93.443	0.975	N/A	74.0	0.1	0.013	96.786	96.740	0.95	0.71	0.64	0.90	0.63	1.1	95.12	94.96	1.66	0.65	0.92	0.73	12.1	95.22	95.11	1.57	0.06	0.08	-0.27	0.0	94.23	94.23	2.56
701	702	93.368	93.328	1.050	N/A	40.0	0.1	0.013	96.740	96.530	1.00	0.86	0.80	0.93	0.55	1.1	94.96	94.91	1.78	0.81	0.94	0.69	12.1	95.11	95.08	1.63	0.07	80.0	-0.19	0.0	94.23	94.23	2.51
702	703	93.178	93.106	1.200	1.800	11.5	0.1	0.013	96.530	96.420	1.23	2.00	1.62	0.01	0.53		94.91	94.80	1.62	1.64	0.62	0.70	12.1	95.08	95.05	1.45	0.10	0.04	-0.15	109.1	94.23	94.23	2.30
703	704	93.086	92.980	1.200	1.800	105.5	0.1	0.013	96.420	96.260	1.23	2.00	2.13	0.80	0.57		94.80	94.75	1.50	2.17	0.82	0.77	12.1	95.05	94.98	1.37	0.13	0.05	-0.06	109.1	94.23	94.23	2.19
704	705	92.900	92.000	1.200	1.000	67.0	0.1	0.013	90.200	90.150	1.20	2.00	2.90	1.11	0.59	1.1	94.75	94.04	1.51	2.90	1.12	0.02	12.1	94.90	94.00	1.20	0.10	0.07	0.00	109.1	94.23	94.23	2.04
705	700	92.000	92.001	1.200	2.400	93.5	0.1	0.013	90.100	95.902	1.32	3.00	4.55	1.14	0.57	1.1	94.04	94.94	1.31	4.20	1.12	0.01	12.1	94.00	94.70	1.27	0.20	0.07	0.10	109.0	94.23	94.23	1.93
700	707	92.701	92.097	1.200	2.400	70.0	0.1	0.013	95.902	95.430	1.32	3.80	5.02	1.10	0.30	1.1	94.94 0/ 27	94.27	1.30	4.30	1.13	0.00	12.1	94.70	94.51	0.02	0.27	0.07	0.24	109.0	94.23	94.23	1.00
708	700	92 547	92.007	1 200	2.400	66.0	0.1	0.013	95.320	95 221	1.32	3.80	5.02	1.32	0.40	1 1	94.12	93.97	1.10	5.09	1.20	0.61	12.1	94.36	94.00	0.92	0.30	0.00	0.33	100.0	94.20	94.22	1.21
709	710	92.047	92.301	1 200	2.400	70.5	0.1	0.013	95 221	95 112	1.32	3.80	5.22	1.37	0.31		93.97	93 77	1.20	5.00	1.34	0.01	12.1	94.00	93.82	1.02	0.31	0.00	0.40	109.1	94.22	94 22	1.10
710	710	92 331	92.001	1 200	2.400	131.0	0.1	0.013	95 112	94 385	1.32	3.80	5.57	1.07	0.01	1 1	93 77	93 77	1.25	5.00	1.04	0.04	12.1	93.82	93.81	1.02	0.34	0.00	0.00	109.0	94.22	94.22	0.89
711	712	92 140	92 118	1 200	2 400	21.5	0.1	0.013	94 385	94 000	1.32	3 80	5 50	1.16	0.43	11	93 77	93 78	0.61	5 44	1 43	0.20	12.1	93.81	93.81	0.57	0.34	0.09	0.88	109.0	94 22	94 22	0.16
712	Pond1	92.058	92.050	1.200	2.400	8.5	0.1	0.013	94.000	94,500	1.32	3.80	5.50	1.45	0.52	1.1	93.78	93.77	0.22	5.42	1.43	0.55	12.1	93.81	93.81	0.19	0.33	0.09	0.96	109.1	94.22	94.22	-0.22
751	752	93.846	93.752	0.600	N/A	94.0	0.1	0.013	96.720	96.579	0.69	0.19	0.17	0.88	0.78	1.1	95.23	95.02	1.49	0.15	0.77	0.57	12.1	95.02	94.95	1.70	0.02	0.10	-0.22	0.1	94.23	94.23	2.49
752	753	93.602	93.520	0.750	N/A	82.0	0.1	0.013	96.579	96.452	0.80	0.35	0.28	0.80	0.67	1.1	95.02	94.93	1.56	0.27	0.77	0.60	12.1	94.95	94.97	1.63	-0.03	-0.09	-0.13	0.2	94.23	94.23	2.35
753	754	93.295	93.209	0.975	N/A	86.0	0.1	0.013	96.452	96.324	0.95	0.71	0.77	1.09	0.66	1.1	94.93	94.82	1.53	0.75	1.06	0.70	12.1	94.97	94.96	1.49	0.04	0.06	-0.04	109.0	94.23	94.23	2.23
754	705	93.134	93.018	1.050	N/A	116.0	0.1	0.013	96.324	96.150	1.00	0.86	0.93	1.08	0.64	1.1	94.82	94.64	1.51	0.92	1.07	0.78	12.1	94.96	94.88	1.36	0.05	0.06	0.04	109.0	94.23	94.23	2.10
806	807	93.069	93.047	0.600	N/A	21.5	0.1	0.013	95.186	95.180	0.69	0.19	0.06	0.31	0.10	1.1	93.77	93.77	1.41	0.05	0.26	0.22	12.1	93.89	93.89	1.29	0.00	0.00	0.55	108.6	94.22	94.22	0.96
807	808	92.897	92.861	0.750	N/A	35.5	0.1	0.013	95.180	95.133	0.80	0.35	0.30	0.85	0.13	1.1	93.77	93.77	1.41	0.27	0.77	0.24	12.1	93.89	93.87	1.29	0.02	0.06	0.58	108.9	94.22	94.22	0.96
808	809	92.786	92.775	0.825	N/A	11.0	0.1	0.013	95.133	95.095	0.85	0.45	0.43	0.95	0.16	1.1	93.77	93.77	1.36	0.39	0.86	0.26	12.1	93.87	93.86	1.26	0.02	0.04	0.61	109.0	94.22	94.22	0.91
809	710	92.725	92.706	0.825	N/A	18.5	0.1	0.013	95.095	95.112	0.85	0.45	0.44	0.97	0.22	1.1	93.77	93.77	1.32	0.39	0.86	0.31	12.1	93.86	93.82	1.24	0.02	0.04	0.67	109.0	94.22	94.22	0.87
901	902	94.501	94.436	0.600	N/A	65.0	0.1	0.013	96.268	96.259	0.69	0.19	0.12	0.62	-0.16	1.1	94.94	94.91	1.33	0.12	0.62	-0.17	12.0	94.93	94.90	1.34	0.01	0.05	-0.26	107.9	94.84	94.84	1.42
902	903	94.416	94.346	0.675	N/A	70.0	0.1	0.013	96.259	96.151	0.74	0.27	0.21	0.79	-0.18	1.1	94.91	94.85	1.35	0.21	0.79	-0.19	12.1	94.90	94.84	1.36	0.01	0.04	-0.25	107.6	94.84	94.84	1.42
903	904	94.271	94.201	0.750	N/A	69.5	0.1	0.013	96.151	96.259	0.80	0.35	0.29	0.82	-0.17	1.1	94.85	94.75	1.30	0.28	0.80	-0.18	12.1	94.84	94.74	1.31	0.01	0.03	-0.18	109.0	94.84	94.84	1.31
904	905	94.121	94.005	0.900	N/A	116.0	0.1	0.013	96.259	96.162	0.90	0.57	0.56	0.98	-0.27	1.1	94.75	94.52	1.51	0.55	0.96	-0.28	12.1	94.74	94.51	1.52	0.03	0.05	-0.18	109.1	94.84	94.84	1.42
905	1007	93.955	93.939	0.900	N/A	16.0	0.1	0.013	96.162	96.196	0.90	0.57	0.56	0.98	-0.34	1.1	94.52	94.31	1.65	0.55	0.96	-0.35	12.1	94.51	94.30	1.65	0.03	0.05	-0.01	111.2	94.84	94.85	1.32
1001	1002	94.618	94.545	0.525	N/A	72.5	0.1	0.013	96.638	96.632	0.63	0.14	0.11	0.81	-0.14	1.1	95.00	94.90	1.64	0.11	0.81	-0.15	12.0	94.99	94.89	1.65	0.01	0.07	-0.30	108.5	94.84	94.84	1.79
1002	1003	94.465	94.388	0.600	N/A	77.0	0.1	0.013	96.632	96.593	0.69	0.19	0.17	0.88	-0.16	1.1	94.90	94.82	1.73	0.17	0.88	-0.17	12.1	94.89	94.81	1.74	0.01	0.05	-0.22	108.0	94.84	94.84	1.79
1003	1004	94.238	94.166	0.750	N/A	71.5	0.1	0.013	96.593	96.490	0.80	0.35	0.34	0.97	-0.17	1.1	94.82	94.74	1.77	0.34	0.97	-0.18	12.1	94.81	94.73	1.79	0.02	0.06	-0.14	108.1	94.84	94.84	1.75
1004	1005	94.016	93.942	0.900	N/A	74.0	0.1	0.013	96.490	96.380	0.90	0.57	0.51	0.89	-0.18		94.74	94.61	1.75	0.50	0.87	-0.19	12.1	94.73	94.59	1.76	0.03	0.05	-0.07	109.1	94.84	94.84	1.65
1005	1006	93.862	93.791	0.975	N/A	71.0	0.1	0.013	96.380	96.270	0.95	0.71	0.63	0.89	-0.23	1.2	94.61	94.44	1.77	0.61	0.86	-0.24	12.1	94.59	94.43	1.79	0.03	0.04	0.01	109.1	94.84	94.84	1.54
1006	1007	93.566	93.482	1.200	N/A	83.5	0.1	0.013	96.270	96.196	1.09	1.23	1.24	1.01	-0.33		94.44	94.31	1.83	1.22	0.99	-0.34	12.1	94.43	94.30	1.84	0.07	0.06	0.08	109.1	94.84	94.85	1.43
1007	1008	93.361	93.303	1.200	N/A	29.0	0.2	0.013	96.196	96.057	1.54	1./4	1.84	1.06	-0.25		94.31	94.04	1.88	1.80	1.03	-0.26	12.1	94.30	94.21	1.89	0.10	U.U6	0.28	109.1	94.85	94.85	1.35
1008	Pond2	93.223	93.200	1.200	2.400	23.0	0.1	0.013	96.057	96.000	1.32	3.80	2.61	0.69	-0.38	1.1	94.04	94.04	2.01	2.55	0.67	-0.22	12.1	94.21	94.20	1.85	1.41	0.37	0.42	111.1	94.85	94.84	1.21
1101	1102	95.258	95.139	0.750	IN/A	0.0	0.1	0.013	97.798	97.953	0.80	0.35	0.25	0.71	-0.29	1.1	95.72 05.57	95.5/ 05.5/	2.08	0.24	0.68	-0.29	12.0	95./1	95.56	2.08	0.01	0.03	-0.64	109.0	90.37	95.20	2.43
1102	1103	90.109	95.101	0.750	IN/A	0.U	0.1	0.013	97.953	97.004	0.00	0.30	0.20	0.71	-0.29		95.57	95.54	2.30	0.24	0.08	-0.30	12.1	95.50	90.00	∠.39 2.33	0.01	0.03	-0.00	109.0	90.20 05.09	90.08	2.10 2.70
L 103	1 104	57.551	J-1.00J	0.000	1 11/71	00.0	0.1	0.013	01.004	1 00.100	0.30	0.07	0.40	0.75	-0.01	1.1	55.54	JJ.+0	2.52	U.42	0.75	-0.52	14.1	00.00	JJ.+1	2.00	0.00	0.00	-0.11	103.0	55.00	J-1.30	2.10

Table 6: Pipe Data and Hydraulic Simulation Results ⁽¹⁾

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe	Pipe	Pipe	Pipe		U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design			100-year, 3	3-hour (Chicago S	Storm		100-year, 12-hour SCS Type II Storm								100-ye	ar, 10-day Sp	wmelt + Rainfall Event			
МН	МН	Invert	Invert	Diameter	Width	Length	Slope	n	Cover	Cover	Velocity	Flow	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
				/ Height					Elev.	Elev.			Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	U/S HGL and	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	U/S HGL and	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	U/S HGL and
													Flow	Flow	(2)	Peak	HGL	HGL	MH Cover	Flow	Flow	(2)	Peak	HGL	HGL	MH Cover	Flow	Flow	(2)	Peak	HGL	HGL	MH Cover
		(m)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
1104	1105	94.825	94.753	0.900	N/A	71.5	0.1	0.013	98.100	98.730	0.90	0.57	0.52	0.91	-0.25	1.1	95.48	95.27	2.62	0.51	0.89	-0.25	12.1	95.47	95.26	2.63	0.03	0.05	-0.75	109.0	94.98	94.85	3.13
1105	1106	94.673	94.619	0.900	N/A	54.5	0.1	0.013	98.730	98.710	0.90	0.57	0.52	0.91	-0.31	1.2	95.27	95.14	3.46	0.51	0.89	-0.31	12.1	95.26	95.13	3.47	0.03	0.05	-0.73	109.1	94.85	94.84	3.88
1106	1107	94.469	94.462	1.050	N/A	7.0	0.1	0.013	98.710	98.708	1.00	0.86	0.93	1.08	-0.38	1.1	95.14	95.03	3.57	0.91	1.05	-0.39	12.1	95.13	95.02	3.58	0.06	0.07	-0.68	109.0	94.84	94.84	3.87
1107	1108	94.432	93.978	1.050	N/A	113.5	0.4	0.013	98.708	96.666	1.99	1.73	0.92	0.53	-0.45	1.1	95.03	94.78	3.68	0.90	0.52	-0.46	12.1	95.02	94.77	3.69	0.05	0.03	-0.64	109.0	94.84	94.84	3.87
1108	1109	93.528	93.381	1.500	N/A	73.5	0.2	0.013	96.666	96.511	1.79	3.16	4.22	1.33	-0.24	1.2	94.78	94.24	1.88	4.15	1.31	-0.26	12.1	94.77	94.26	1.90	0.24	0.08	-0.19	109.1	94.84	94.84	1.83
1109	1110	93.351	93.283	1.500	2.400	67.5	0.1	0.013	96.511	95.479	1.45	5.23	4.22	0.81	-0.62	1.2	94.24	94.04	2.28	4.14	0.79	-0.59	12.1	94.26	94.20	2.25	0.24	0.05	-0.01	109.1	94.84	94.84	1.67
1110	Pond2	93.223	93.200	1.500	2.400	22.5	0.1	0.013	95.479	96.000	1.45	5.23	4.21	0.80	-0.69	1.2	94.04	94.04	1.44	4.11	0.79	-0.52	12.1	94.20	94.20	1.28	0.24	0.05	0.12	109.1	94.84	94.84	0.64
1201	1202	95.554	95.502	0.825	N/A	51.5	0.1	0.013	98.081	98.047	0.85	0.45	0.34	0.75	-0.28	1.1	96.10	96.04	1.98	0.34	0.75	-0.30	12.0	96.08	96.02	2.00	0.02	0.04	-0.70	109.0	95.68	95.58	2.41
1202	1203	95.472	95.461	0.825	N/A	11.0	0.1	0.013	98.047	98.014	0.85	0.45	0.34	0.75	-0.25	1.1	96.04	96.02	2.00	0.33	0.73	-0.28	12.0	96.02	95.99	2.03	0.02	0.04	-0.72	109.0	95.58	95.45	2.47
1203	1204	95.311	95.243	0.975	N/A	67.5	0.1	0.013	98.014	97.847	0.95	0.71	0.51	0.72	-0.27	1.1	96.02	95.98	1.99	0.50	0.71	-0.30	12.0	95.99	95.95	2.02	0.03	0.04	-0.84	109.0	95.45	95.36	2.56
1204	1205	95.223	95.149	0.975	N/A	67.5	0.1	0.013	97.847	97.741	1.00	0.74	0.49	0.66	-0.21	1.1	95.98	95.94	1.86	0.49	0.66	-0.25	12.2	95.95	95.90	1.90	0.03	0.04	-0.84	109.1	95.36	95.26	2.49
1205	1206	95.119	95.108	0.975	N/A	11.0	0.1	0.013	97.741	97.718	0.95	0.71	0.60	0.85	-0.15	1.1	95.94	95.92	1.80	0.59	0.83	-0.19	12.1	95.90	95.87	1.84	0.04	0.06	-0.83	109.0	95.26	95.23	2.48
1206	1207	95.078	95.022	0.975	N/A	56.0	0.1	0.013	97.718	97.549	0.95	0.71	0.61	0.86	-0.14	1.3	95.92	95.87	1.80	0.59	0.83	-0.18	12.2	95.87	95.82	1.85	0.04	0.06	-0.82	109.0	95.23	95.13	2.49
1207	1208	94.992	94.981	0.975	N/A	11.0	0.1	0.013	97.549	97.613	0.95	0.71	0.62	0.87	-0.10	1.3	95.87	95.85	1.68	0.61	0.86	-0.15	12.2	95.82	95.79	1.73	0.04	0.06	-0.83	109.1	95.13	95.10	2.42
1208	1209	94.951	94.915	0.975	N/A	36.0	0.1	0.013	97.613	97.564	0.95	0.71	0.63	0.89	-0.08	1.3	95.85	95.81	1.77	0.62	0.87	-0.13	12.2	95.79	95.76	1.82	0.04	0.06	-0.82	109.1	95.10	94.99	2.51
1209	1210	94.840	94.832	1.050	N/A	7.5	0.1	0.013	97.564	97.551	1.00	0.86	0.75	0.87	-0.08	1.3	95.81	95.79	1.75	0.72	0.83	-0.13	12.2	95.76	95.74	1.81	0.05	0.06	-0.90	109.0	94.99	94.96	2.57
1210	1211	94.802	94.773	1.050	N/A	29.0	0.1	0.013	97.551	90.809	1.00	0.80	0.76	0.88	-0.06	1.3	95.79	95.76	1.70	0.73	0.85	-0.12	12.2	95.74	95.70	1.82	0.05	0.06	-0.89	109.0	94.96	94.89	2.59
1211	1212	94.743	94.735	1.050	IN/A	64.0	0.1	0.013	90.009	90.001	1.00	0.00	0.77	0.09	-0.03	1.3	95.70	95.74	1.11	0.74	0.00	-0.09	12.2	95.70	95.00	1.17	0.05	0.06	-0.90	109.0	94.09	94.07	1.97
1212		94.705	94.041	1.050	IN/A	71.5	0.1	0.013	90.001	97.400	1.00	0.00	1.00	0.93	-0.01	1.3	95.74 05.70	95.70	1.12	1.05	0.00	-0.07	12.2	95.00	95.05	1.10	0.05	0.06	-0.09	109.1	94.07	94.04	1.99
1213	1214	0/ 300	94.419	1.200	N/A	71.5	0.1	0.013	97.400	97.290	1.09	1.23	1.09	1.01	0.01	1.0	95.70	95.05	1.70	1.05	0.00	-0.05	12.2	95.05	95.00	1.70	0.07	0.00	-0.05	109.0	94.04	94.04 0/ 8/	2.30
1214	1215	94.399	94.027	1.200	N/A	71.5	0.1	0.013	97.290	97.190	1.03	1.20	1.24	0.97	-0.03	1.2	95.00 95.50	95.30	1.04	1.21	0.90	-0.08	12.2	95.00	95.40	1.09	0.00	0.00	-0.70	109.0	94.84	94.04	2.45
1216	1210	93 955	93 871	1.000	N/A	84.5	0.1	0.013	97.080	96 955	1.10	2.24	2.22	0.07	-0.02	12	95.44	95.35	1.65	2.19	0.00	-0.06	12.2	95.39	95.32	1.69	0.10	0.06	-0.61	100.0	94.84	94.84	2.00
1217	1218	93 851	93 768	1 500	N/A	83.0	0.1	0.013	96 955	96 830	1.26	2 24	2 47	1 10	0.00	12	95.35	95 25	1.60	2 45	1 10	-0.03	12.2	95.32	95.22	1.60	0.15	0.00	-0.51	109.1	94 84	94 84	2 11
1218	1219	93.748	93.702	1.500	N/A	46.5	0.1	0.013	96.830	96.760	1.26	2.24	2.55	1.14	0.00	1.2	95.25	95.19	1.58	2.53	1.13	-0.02	12.2	95.22	95.17	1.61	0.15	0.07	-0.41	109.1	94.84	94.84	1.99
1219	1108	93.682	93.608	1.500	N/A	74.0	0.1	0.013	96.760	96.666	1.26	2.24	3.03	1.36	0.00	1.2	95.19	94.78	1.57	2.99	1.34	-0.02	12.2	95.17	94.77	1.59	0.18	0.08	-0.34	109.1	94.84	94.84	1.92
1600	1601	94.197	94.025	1.200	N/A	107.5	0.2	0.013	97.015	96.875	1.38	1.56	1.60	1.03	-0.14	3.4	95.26	95.09	1.76	2.02	1.30	0.59	14.0	95.99	95.70	1.03	1.31	0.84	0.14	111.3	95.54	95.43	1.47
1601	1602	94.025	93.873	1.200	N/A	95.0	0.2	0.013	96.875	96.627	1.38	1.56	1.60	1.03	-0.13	3.4	95.09	94.95	1.78	2.02	1.30	0.47	14.0	95.70	95.44	1.18	1.31	0.84	0.20	111.2	95.43	95.33	1.44
1602	1603	93.873	93.721	1.200	N/A	95.0	0.2	0.013	96.627	96.665	1.38	1.56	1.60	1.03	-0.12	3.4	94.95	94.81	1.68	2.02	1.30	0.37	14.0	95.44	95.18	1.19	1.33	0.85	0.26	111.2	95.33	95.26	1.30
1603	1604	93.721	93.569	1.200	N/A	95.0	0.2	0.013	96.665	96.891	1.38	1.56	1.60	1.03	-0.11	3.4	94.81	94.67	1.86	2.02	1.30	0.26	14.0	95.18	94.95	1.48	1.34	0.86	0.33	111.2	95.26	95.14	1.41
1604	1605	93.569	93.431	1.200	N/A	86.5	0.2	0.013	96.891	96.700	1.38	1.56	1.60	1.03	-0.10	3.4	94.67	94.32	2.22	2.02	1.30	0.18	14.1	94.95	94.50	1.95	1.33	0.85	0.37	111.2	95.14	94.98	1.75
1605	1008	93.431	93.316	1.200	N/A	72.0	0.2	0.013	96.700	96.057	1.38	1.56	1.60	1.03	-0.31	3.4	94.32	94.04	2.38	2.02	1.30	-0.14	14.1	94.50	94.21	2.21	1.34	0.86	0.35	111.2	94.98	94.85	1.72
7000	700	93.664	93.592	0.900	N/A	71.5	0.1	0.013	96.997	96.786	0.90	0.57	0.52	0.91	0.67	1.1	95.23	95.12	1.77	0.52	0.91	0.71	12.1	95.27	95.22	1.72	0.07	0.12	-0.34	0.0	94.23	94.23	2.77
Pond	1 Out1	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	2.17	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	3.66	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	2.91	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Pond	2 Out2	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	1.56	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	2.06	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	1.46	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
1500	1501	92.698	92.577	1.200	1.800	120.0	0.1	0.013	95.914	95.720	1.23	2.66	2.56	0.96	0.16	3.0	94.06	93.95	1.86	3.20	1.20	0.41	13.8	94.31	94.13	1.61	1.87	0.70	0.49	110.6	94.39	94.33	1.53
1501	21400	92.577	92.450	1.200	1.800	127.0	0.1	0.013	95.720	95.562	1.23	2.66	2.56	0.96	0.17	3.0	93.95	93.82	1.77	3.20	1.20	0.35	13.8	94.13	93.91	1.59	1.87	0.70	0.55	110.6	94.33	94.26	1.39
2140	0 Pond1	92.420	92.350	1.200	1.800	70.0	0.1	0.013	95.562	94.500	1.23	2.66	2.56	0.96	0.20	3.0	93.82	93.77	1.74	3.20	1.20	0.29	13.8	93.91	93.81	1.65	1.87	0.70	0.63	110.6	94.26	94.22	1.31

Note: (1) Based on restrictive downstream conditions; Summer = 93.68 m / Spring = 94.11 m for SWM Facility 1, and Spring = 94.18 m for Pond 2. All other results based on free outfall conditions.

⁽²⁾ A negative surcharge implies that the pipe is not flowing full
 0.22 Freeboard less than 0.5 m.

Table 6: Pipe Data and Hydraulic Simulation Results (1)

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe	Pipe	Pipe	Pipe		U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	n 100-year, 3-hour Chicag					icago Storm + 20%			100-	-year, 12-hou	ır SCS	Type II S	torm + 20	%	July 1st, 1979 Historical Event						
MH	MH	Invert	Invert	Diameter	Width	Length	Slope	n	Cover	Cover	Velocity	Flow	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
				/ Height					Elev.	Elev.			Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	U/S HGL and	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	U/S HGL and	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	U/S HGL and
													Flow	Flow	(2)	Peak	HGL	HGL	MH Cover	Flow	Flow	(2)	Peak	HGL	HGL	MH Cover	Flow	Flow	(2)	Peak	HGL	HGL	MH Cover
		(m)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m³/s)	(m³/s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(m³/s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(m³/s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
101	102	93.228	93.161	0.825	N/A	67.0	0.1	0.013	95.598	95.587	0.85	0.45	0.33	0.73	-0.23	1.1	93.83	93.82	1.77	0.31	0.68	-0.08	12.0	93.97	93.95	1.63	0.27	0.59	-0.24	1.7	93.81	93.81	1.79
102	103	93.141	93.061	0.825	N/A	80.0	0.1	0.013	95.587	95.470	0.85	0.45	0.33	0.73	-0.14	1.1	93.82	93.82	1.76	0.30	0.66	-0.02	12.2	93.95	93.93	1.64	0.28	0.62	-0.15	1.7	93.81	93.81	1.77
103	104	92.911	92.850	0.975	N/A	60.5	0.1	0.013	95.470	95.373	0.95	0.71	0.67	0.95	-0.06	1.1	93.82	93.82	1.65	0.61	0.86	0.04	12.1	93.93	93.88	1.55	0.56	0.79	-0.07	1.7	93.81	93.81	1.66
104	105	92.820	92.796	0.975	N/A	23.5	0.1	0.013	95.373	95.331	0.95	0.71	0.67	0.95	0.03	1.1	93.82	93.82	1.55	0.60	0.85	0.09	12.1	93.88	93.86	1.49	0.55	0.78	0.02	1.7	93.81	93.81	1.56
105	106	92.721	92.619	1.050	N/A	101.5	0.1	0.013	95.331	95.180	1.00	0.86	0.85	0.98	0.05	1.1	93.82	93.82	1.51	0.76	0.88	0.09	12.1	93.86	93.85	1.47	0.69	0.80	0.04	1.6	93.81	93.81	1.52
106	107	92.559	92.483	1.050	N/A	76.5	0.1	0.013	95.180	95.070	1.00	0.86	0.98	1.13	0.21	1.1	93.82	93.81	1.36	0.86	1.00	0.24	12.1	93.85	93.85	1.33	0.78	0.90	0.20	1.6	93.81	93.81	1.37
107	108	92.333	92.258	1.200	N/A	74.5	0.1	0.013	95.070	95.057	1.09	1.23	1.27	1.03	0.28	1.1	93.81	93.81	1.26	1.12	0.91	0.32	12.0	93.85	93.85	1.22	1.01	0.82	0.28	1.6	93.81	93.81	1.26
108	109	92.238	92.211	1.200	N/A	26.5	0.1	0.013	95.057	95.487	1.09	1.23	1.40	1.14	0.38	1.1	93.81	93.81	1.24	1.24	1.01	0.41	12.1	93.85	93.85	1.21	1.13	0.92	0.37	1.6	93.81	93.81	1.25
109	Pond1	92.181	92.150	1.200	N/A	31.0	0.1	0.013	95.487	94.500	1.09	1.23	1.39	1.13	0.43	1.1	93.81	93.81	1.68	1.24	1.01	0.47	12.0	93.85	93.85	1.64	1.11	0.90	0.43	1.6	93.81	93.81	1.68
202	203	93.826	93.706	0.675	N/A	120.0	0.1	0.013	96.212	96.030	0.74	0.27	0.27	1.02	0.84	1.1	95.34	95.07	0.87	0.24	0.90	1.25	12.0	95.75	95.69	0.46	0.20	0.75	-0.15	1.6	94.35	94.28	1.86
203	204	93.556	93.479	0.825	N/A	77.0	0.1	0.013	96.030	95.920	0.85	0.45	0.52	1.15	0.69	1.1	95.07	94.99	0.96	0.50	1.10	1.31	12.0	95.69	95.57	0.34	0.40	0.88	-0.11	1.6	94.28	94.23	1.76
204	205	93.404	93.332	0.900	N/A	72.0	0.1	0.013	95.920	95.812	0.90	0.57	0.65	1.14	0.69	1.1	94.99	94.90	0.93	0.65	1.14	1.27	12.0	95.57	95.40	0.35	0.49	0.86	-0.08	1.6	94.23	94.19	1.69
205	206	93.257	93.184	0.975	N/A	73.0	0.1	0.013	95.812	95.700	0.95	0.71	0.77	1.09	0.67	1.1	94.90	94.71	0.91	0.79	1.11	1.17	12.0	95.40	95.15	0.41	0.57	0.80	-0.05	1.6	94.19	94.12	1.63
206	207	92.959	92.925	1.200	1.800	34.0	0.1	0.013	95.700	95.898	1.23	2.66	2.79	1.05	0.55	1.1	94.71	94.65	0.99	2.74	1.03	0.99	12.0	95.15	95.08	0.55	2.10	0.79	-0.04	1.5	94.12	94.09	1.58
207	208	92.875	92.819	1.200	1.800	55.5	0.1	0.013	95.898	95.684	1.23	2.66	2.89	1.09	0.57	1.1	94.65	94.55	1.25	2.82	1.06	1.00	12.0	95.08	94.96	0.82	2.15	0.81	0.01	1.7	94.09	94.04	1.81
208	209	92.769	92.729	1.200	1.800	39.5	0.1	0.013	95.684	95.520	1.23	2.66	2.90	1.09	0.58		94.55	94.49	1.14	2.81	1.06	0.99	12.0	94.96	94.88	0.72	2.15	0.81	0.07	1.7	94.04	94.02	1.64
209	210	92.679	92.603	1.200	1.800	76.5	0.1	0.013	95.520	95.410	1.23	2.66	3.26	1.23	0.61		94.49	94.35	1.03	3.15	1.18	1.00	12.0	94.88	94.71	0.64	2.37	0.89	0.14	1.7	94.02	93.95	1.51
210	211	92.583	92.507	1.200	1.800	76.5	0.1	0.013	95.410	95.290	1.23	2.66	3.52	1.32	0.56		94.35	94.18	1.07	3.39	1.27	0.92	12.0	94.71	94.51	0.70	2.54	0.96	0.17	1.7	93.95	93.88	1.46
211	212	92.487	92.389	1.200	2.400	82.0	0.1	0.013	95.290	95.165	1.45	4.17	6.05	1.45	0.49		94.18	93.95	1.11	5.93	1.42	0.82	12.1	94.51	94.26	0.78	4.57	1.10	0.19	1.7	93.88	93.81	1.41
212	213	92.369	92.290	1.200	2.400	65.5	0.1	0.013	95.165	95.108	1.45	4.17	6.19	1.49	0.38		93.95	93.81	1.22	6.07	1.46	0.69	12.1	94.26	94.02	0.90	4.68	1.12	0.24	1.7	93.81	93.81	1.36
213	214	92.210	92.172	1.200	2.400	31.5	0.1	0.013	95.108	95.454	1.45	4.17	6.19	1.49	0.40		93.81	93.81	1.30	0.07	1.40	0.61	12.1	94.02	93.91	1.09	4.68	1.12	0.40	1.7	93.81	93.81	1.30
214	215	92.122	92.081	1.200	2.400	34.5	0.1	0.013	95.454	95.479	1.45	4.17	0.20	1.49	0.49		93.81	93.81	1.04	0.07	1.40	0.58	12.1	93.91	93.85	1.55	4.68	1.12	0.49	1.7	93.81	93.81	1.05
210	250	92.001	91.950	1.200	2.400 N/A	42.5	0.1	0.013	95.479	94.500	1.40	4.17	0.20	1.50	0.01		93.01	93.01	1.07	0.07	1.40	0.00	12.1	93.00	93.00	1.03	4.07	1.12	0.01	1.7	93.01	93.01	1.07
251	252	93.010	93.740	0.075	IN/A	70.5	0.1	0.013	90.100	90.054	0.74	0.27	0.22	0.03	0.00		95.10	95.06	1.00	0.21	0.79	0.02	12.0	95.32	95.20	0.64	0.10	0.00	-0.21	1.0	94.29	94.20	1.00
252	255	93.073	93.003	1.050	IN/A	70.5	0.1	0.013	90.034	95.949	0.00	0.35	0.32	0.91	0.00		95.06	94.95	0.90	0.30	0.05	0.00	12.0	95.20	95.50	0.77	0.24	0.00	-0.17	1.0	94.20	94.23	1.00
254	206	93.303	93.227	1.000	1.800	88.0	0.1	0.013	95.949	95.054	1.00	2.66	1.83	0.60	0.39		94.95 04 76	94.70 04 71	1.00	1.76	0.66	0.95	12.1	95.50	95.10	0.05	1.12	0.67	-0.12	1.0	94.23	0/ 12	1.72
261	262	93 851	93 753	0.675	N/A	97.5	0.1	0.013	96 161	96.015	0.74	0.27	0.26	0.00	0.40		95.18	95.08	0.98	0.25	0.00	0.83	12.1	95.36	95 27	0.80	0.20	0.55	-0.14	1.0	94.43	94.38	1.70
262	263	93 603	93 484	0.825	N/A	119.0	0.1	0.013	96.015	95.837	0.85	0.27	0.20	1.08	0.65		95.08	94 92	0.00	0.20	1.08	0.84	12.1	95 27	95 14	0.75	0.20	0.70	-0.05	1.0	94.38	94.31	1.63
263	264	93 409	93 302	0.900	N/A	107.0	0.1	0.013	95 837	95 676	0.90	0.40	0.45	1.00	0.61		94 92	94.02	0.92	0.40	1.00	0.83	12.1	95 14	94 94	0.70	0.50	0.87	0.00	1.0	94.00	94 20	1.53
264	265	93.222	93.182	0.900	N/A	40.5	0.1	0.013	95.676	95.616	0.90	0.57	0.78	1.36	0.59	1.1	94.71	94.64	0.97	0.78	1.36	0.82	12.1	94.94	94.89	0.74	0.60	1.05	0.08	1.8	94.20	94.16	1.48
265	266	93.032	93.002	1.050	N/A	30.0	0.1	0.013	95.616	95.571	1.00	0.86	1.19	1.38	0.56	1.1	94.64	94.58	0.98	1.18	1.37	0.81	12.1	94.89	94.85	0.72	0.93	1.08	0.08	1.7	94.16	94.12	1.46
266	267	92.852	92.753	1.200	N/A	99.0	0.1	0.013	95.571	95.421	1.09	1.23	1.81	1.47	0.53	1.1	94.58	94.35	0.99	1.77	1.44	0.80	12.1	94.85	94.66	0.72	1.41	1.14	0.07	1.6	94.12	93.99	1.45
267	268	92.703	92.657	1.200	1.800	45.5	0.1	0.013	95.421	95.342	1.23	2.66	2.47	0.93	0.45	1.1	94.35	94.30	1.07	2.40	0.90	0.75	12.1	94.66	94.62	0.76	1.93	0.73	0.08	1.7	93.99	93.95	1.44
268	211	92.607	92.567	1.200	1.800	40.5	0.1	0.013	95.342	95.290	1.23	2.66	2.48	0.93	0.49	1.1	94.30	94.18	1.05	2.41	0.91	0.81	12.1	94.62	94.51	0.73	1.93	0.73	0.14	1.7	93.95	93.88	1.39
301	302	93.248	93.194	0.600	N/A	54.0	0.1	0.013	95.797	95.829	0.69	0.19	0.16	0.82	-0.03	1.1	93.82	93.82	1.98	0.15	0.77	0.12	12.1	93.97	93.94	1.83	0.13	0.67	-0.03	1.7	93.82	93.81	1.98
302	303	93.164	93.153	0.600	N/A	11.0	0.1	0.013	95.829	95.808	0.69	0.19	0.16	0.82	0.06	1.1	93.82	93.82	2.01	0.14	0.72	0.18	12.1	93.94	93.93	1.89	0.13	0.67	0.05	1.6	93.81	93.81	2.02
303	304	93.123	93.055	0.600	N/A	67.5	0.1	0.013	95.808	95.729	0.69	0.19	0.16	0.82	0.10	1.1	93.82	93.82	1.99	0.14	0.72	0.21	12.2	93.93	93.91	1.88	0.13	0.67	0.09	1.6	93.81	93.81	2.00
304	305	92.980	92.906	0.675	N/A	73.5	0.1	0.013	95.729	95.410	0.74	0.27	0.27	1.02	0.16	1.1	93.82	93.82	1.91	0.24	0.90	0.25	12.1	93.91	93.86	1.82	0.22	0.83	0.16	1.6	93.81	93.81	1.92
305	306	92.681	92.605	0.900	N/A	76.5	0.1	0.013	95.410	95.300	0.90	0.57	0.55	0.96	0.23	1.1	93.82	93.81	1.59	0.51	0.89	0.27	12.1	93.86	93.85	1.55	0.47	0.82	0.23	1.6	93.81	93.81	1.60
306	307	92.545	92.465	0.900	1.800	79.5	0.1	0.013	95.300	94.860	1.09	1.77	0.88	0.50	0.37	1.1	93.81	93.81	1.49	0.82	0.46	0.41	12.1	93.85	93.85	1.45	0.71	0.40	0.37	1.6	93.81	93.81	1.49
307	308	92.445	92.368	0.900	1.800	77.0	0.1	0.013	94.860	94.823	1.09	1.77	1.30	0.74	0.47	1.1	93.81	93.81	1.05	1.25	0.71	0.51	12.0	93.85	93.85	1.01	1.04	0.59	0.47	1.5	93.81	93.81	1.05
308	407	92.338	92.244	0.900	1.800	94.5	0.1	0.013	94.823	95.199	1.09	1.77	1.25	0.71	0.58	1.1	93.81	93.81	1.01	1.25	0.71	0.61	12.0	93.85	93.85	0.97	1.00	0.57	0.57	1.7	93.81	93.81	1.01
401	402	92.920	92.891	0.675	N/A	26.5	0.1	0.013	95.844	95.746	0.78	0.28	0.27	0.97	0.22	1.0	93.81	93.81	2.03	0.27	0.97	0.44	12.0	94.03	94.01	1.81	0.22	0.79	0.22	1.7	93.81	93.81	2.03
402	403	92.816	92.805	0.750	N/A	11.0	0.1	0.013	95.746	95.689	0.80	0.35	0.27	0.77	0.25	1.1	93.81	93.81	1.93	0.27	0.77	0.44	12.0	94.01	94.00	1.74	0.22	0.62	0.24	1.7	93.81	93.81	1.94
403	404	92.775	92.695	0.750	N/A	80.0	0.1	0.013	95.689	95.577	0.80	0.35	0.27	0.77	0.29	1.1	93.81	93.81	1.88	0.27	0.77	0.48	12.0	94.00	93.96	1.68	0.21	0.60	0.28	1.7	93.81	93.81	1.88
404	405	92.620	92.513	0.825	N/A	106.5	0.1	0.013	95.577	95.150	0.85	0.45	0.47	1.04	0.37	1.1	93.81	93.81	1.77	0.48	1.06	0.51	12.0	93.96	93.87	1.62	0.37	0.82	0.36	1.7	93.81	93.81	1.77
405	406	92.438	92.350	0.900	N/A	68.0	0.1	0.013	95.150	95.005	1.03	0.65	0.79	1.21	0.47	1.1	93.81	93.81	1.34	0.79	1.21	0.53	12.0	93.87	93.85	1.28	0.63	0.97	0.47	1.7	93.81	93.81	1.34
406	407	92.330	92.244	0.900	N/A	66.5	0.1	0.013	95.005	95.199	1.03	0.65	0.78	1.20	0.58	1.1	93.81	93.81	1.19	0.79	1.21	0.62	12.0	93.85	93.85	1.16	0.62	0.95	0.58	1.7	93.81	93.81	1.20
407	408	92.214	92.196	0.900	1.800	17.5	0.1	0.013	95.199	94.558	1.09	1.77	1.98	1.12	0.70	1.1	93.81	93.81	1.39	2.04	1.16	0.73	12.0	93.85	93.85	1.35	1.62	0.92	0.69	1.7	93.81	93.81	1.39
408	Pond1	92.166	92.150	0.900	1.800	16.5	0.1	0.013	94.558	94.500	1.09	1.77	1.96	1.11	0.75	1.1	93.81	93.81	0.75	2.04	1.16	0.78	12.0	93.85	93.85	0.71	1.62	0.92	0.74	1.7	93.81	93.81	0.75
500	501	93.525	93.444	0.750	N/A	81.0	0.1	0.013	96.026	95.903	0.80	0.35	0.27	0.77	-0.07	1.0	94.21	94.18	1.82	0.27	0.77	0.43	12.1	94.71	94.67	1.32	0.22	0.62	-0.21	1.6	94.06	94.03	1.96
501	502	93.424	93.352	0.750	N/A	71.5	0.1	0.013	95.903	95.772	0.80	0.35	0.25	0.71	0.00	1.2	94.18	94.13	1.73	0.26	0.74	0.49	12.1	94.67	94.62	1.24	0.22	0.62	-0.14	1.7	94.03	94.00	1.87
502	503	93.277	93.266	0.825	N/A	11.0	0.1	0.013	95.772	95.653	0.85	0.45	0.36	0.79	0.03		94.13	94.12	1.64	0.38	0.84	0.51	12.1	94.62	94.60	1.16	0.31	0.68	-0.11	1.6	94.00	93.99	1.78
503	504	93.236	93.175	0.825	N/A	61.0	0.1	0.013	95.653	95.567	0.85	0.45	0.36	0.79	0.06		94.12	94.07	1.54	0.38	0.84	0.53	12.1	94.60	94.54	1.06	0.32	0.70	-0.08	1./	93.99	93.95	1.67
504	505	93.145	93.134	0.825	IN/A	11.0	0.1	0.013	95.567	95.525	0.85	0.45	0.36	0.79	0.10	1.2	94.07	94.06	1.49	0.38	U.84	0.57	12.1	94.54	94.52	1.03	0.33	0.73	-0.02	1.7	93.95	93.94	1.61

Table 6: Pipe Data and Hydraulic Simulation Results ⁽¹⁾

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe	Pipe	Pipe	Pipe		U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design		100-year, 3-hour Chicago Sto							100	-year, 12-hou	ır SCS	Type II St	torm + 20	%	July 1st, 1979 Historical Event						
МН	мн	Invert	Invert	Diameter	Width	Length	Slope	n	Cover	Cover	Velocity	Flow	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
				/ Height					Elev.	Elev.			Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	U/S HGL and	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	U/S HGL and	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	U/S HGL and
													Flow	Flow	(2)	Peak	HGL	HGL	MH Cover	Flow	Flow	(2)	Peak	HGL	HGL	MH Cover	Flow	Flow	(2)	Peak	HGL	HGL	MH Cover
		(m)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
505	506	93.104	93.068	0.825	N/A	36.0	0.1	0.013	95.525	95.404	0.85	0.45	0.37	0.82	0.13	1.3	94.06	94.01	1.47	0.38	0.84	0.59	12.1	94.52	94.46	1.00	0.33	0.73	0.01	1.7	93.94	93.91	1.58
506	507	92.993	92.917	0.900	N/A	76.0	0.1	0.013	95.404	95.290	0.90	0.57	0.56	0.98	0.12	1.2	94.01	93.94	1.39	0.59	1.03	0.56	12.1	94.46	94.38	0.95	0.48	0.84	0.01	1.7	93.91	93.86	1.50
507	508	92.767	92.687	1.050	N/A	79.5	0.1	0.013	95.290	95.170	1.00	0.86	0.93	1.08	0.13	1.2	93.94	93.81	1.35	0.96	1.11	0.57	12.1	94.38	94.22	0.91	0.79	0.91	0.04	1.6	93.86	93.81	1.43
508	509	92.627	92.597	1.050	N/A	30.0	0.1	0.013	95.170	95.121	1.00	0.86	0.95	1.10	0.14	1.2	93.81	93.81	1.36	0.98	1.13	0.55	12.1	94.22	94.11	0.95	0.80	0.93	0.13	1.6	93.81	93.81	1.36
509	510	92.447	92.374	1.200	N/A	72.5	0.1	0.013	95.121	95.016	1.09	1.23	1.21	0.98	0.17	1.1	93.81	93.81	1.31	1.25	1.01	0.46	12.1	94.11	94.05	1.01	1.02	0.83	0.16	1.6	93.81	93.81	1.31
510	511	92.354	92.267	1.200	N/A	86.5	0.1	0.013	95.016	94.413	1.09	1.23	1.35	1.09	0.26	1.1	93.81	93.81	1.20	1.40	1.14	0.50	12.1	94.05	93.89	0.97	1.14	0.92	0.25	1.6	93.81	93.81	1.21
511	611	92.207	92.100	1.200	N/A	106.5	0.1	0.013	94.413	94.667	1.09	1.23	1.54	1.25	0.40	1.1	93.81	93.81	0.60	1.60	1.30	0.48	12.1	93.89	93.85	0.52	1.28	1.04	0.40	1.7	93.81	93.81	0.60
601	602	93.362	93.294	0.600	N/A	68.5	0.1	0.013	96.029	95.603	0.69	0.19	0.20	1.03	-0.14	1.1	93.82	93.82	2.21	0.18	0.93	0.25	12.1	94.21	94.15	1.82	0.16	0.82	-0.15	1.6	93.81	93.81	2.22
602	603	93.264	93.253	0.600	N/A	11.0	0.1	0.013	95.603	95.530	0.69	0.19	0.19	0.98	-0.04	1.1	93.82	93.82	1.78	0.18	0.93	0.28	12.1	94.15	94.13	1.46	0.16	0.82	-0.05	1.6	93.81	93.81	1.79
603	604	93.103	93.035	0.750	N/A	68.5	0.1	0.013	95.530	95.400	0.80	0.35	0.28	0.80	-0.03	1.1	93.82	93.82	1.71	0.27	0.77	0.28	12.1	94.13	94.09	1.40	0.24	0.68	-0.04	1.6	93.81	93.81	1.72
604	605	92.885	92.809	0.900	N/A	76.5	0.1	0.013	95.400	95.290	0.90	0.57	0.50	0.87	0.03	1.1	93.82	93.82	1.58	0.49	0.86	0.30	12.1	94.09	94.04	1.31	0.42	0.73	0.03	1.6	93.81	93.81	1.59
605	606	92.734	92.654	0.975	N/A	79.5	0.1	0.013	95.290	95.170	0.95	0.71	0.72	1.02	0.11	1.1	93.82	93.82	1.47	0.71	1.00	0.33	12.1	94.04	93.98	1.25	0.60	0.85	0.10	1.6	93.81	93.81	1.48
606	607	92.579	92.499	1.050	N/A	79.5	0.1	0.013	95.170	95.050	1.00	0.86	0.98	1.13	0.19	1.1	93.82	93.82	1.35	0.95	1.10	0.35	12.1	93.98	93.91	1.19	0.80	0.93	0.18	1.6	93.81	93.81	1.36
607	608	92.479	92.410	1.050	N/A	69.0	0.1	0.013	95.050	94.944	1.00	0.86	1.07	1.24	0.29	1.1	93.82	93.81	1.24	1.05	1.22	0.38	12.1	93.91	93.86	1.14	0.87	1.01	0.28	1.6	93.81	93.81	1.24
608	609	92.380	92.369	1.050	N/A	11.0	0.1	0.013	94.944	94.835	1.00	0.86	1.06	1.23	0.38	1.1	93.81	93.81	1.13	1.05	1.22	0.43	12.1	93.86	93.86	1.09	0.86	1.00	0.38	1.6	93.81	93.81	1.14
609	610	92.219	92.185	1.200	N/A	34.5	0.1	0.013	94.835	94.875	1.09	1.23	1.22	0.99	0.39	1.1	93.81	93.81	1.02	1.20	0.97	0.44	12.1	93.86	93.85	0.98	0.99	0.80	0.39	1.6	93.81	93.81	1.03
610	611	92.125	92.100	1.200	N/A	25.0	0.1	0.013	94.875	94.667	1.09	1.23	1.47	1.19	0.49	1.1	93.81	93.81	1.06	1.44	1.17	0.52	12.1	93.85	93.85	1.03	1.20	0.97	0.48	1.7	93.81	93.81	1.07
611	612	92.070	92.048	1.200	1.800	22.0	0.1	0.013	94.667	94.113	1.23	2.66	2.98	1.12	0.54	1.1	93.81	93.81	0.86	2.99	1.12	0.58	12.1	93.85	93.85	0.82	2.47	0.93	0.54	1.7	93.81	93.81	0.86
612	Pond1	92.018	92.000	1.200	1.800	18.0	0.1	0.013	94.113	94.500	1.23	2.66	2.96	1.11	0.59	1.1	93.81	93.81	0.30	2.99	1.12	0.63	12.1	93.85	93.85	0.27	2.46	0.93	0.59	1.7	93.81	93.81	0.30
700	701	93.517	93.443	0.975	N/A	74.0	0.1	0.013	96.786	96.740	0.95	0.71	0.80	1.13	1.61	1.0	96.10	95.68	0.68	0.66	0.93	0.88	12.0	95.38	95.26	1.41	0.62	0.87	0.56	1.8	95.05	94.91	1.74
701	702	93.368	93.328	1.050	N/A	40.0	0.1	0.013	96.740	96.530	1.00	0.86	1.02	1.18	1.27	1.0	95.68	95.59	1.06	0.81	0.94	0.84	12.0	95.26	95.22	1.48	0.76	0.88	0.49	1.6	94.91	94.85	1.83
702	703	93.178	93.106	1.200	1.800	71.5	0.1	0.013	96.530	96.420	1.23	2.66	1.96	0.74	1.21	1.0	95.59	95.45	0.94	1.70	0.64	0.85	12.0	95.22	95.19	1.31	1.53	0.58	0.47	1.6	94.85	94.80	1.68
703	704	93.086	92.980	1.200	1.800	105.5	0.1	0.013	96.420	96.260	1.23	2.66	2.53	0.95	1.16	1.0	95.45	95.27	0.97	2.20	0.83	0.91	12.0	95.19	95.11	1.23	2.03	0.76	0.52	1.6	94.80	94.71	1.62
704	705	92.960	92.888	1.200	1.800	71.5	0.1	0.013	96.260	96.150	1.23	2.66	3.38	1.27	1.11	1.1	95.27	95.19	0.99	3.04	1.14	0.95	12.0	95.11	95.02	1.15	2.81	1.06	0.55	1.6	94.71	94.63	1.55
705	706	92.868	92.801	1.200	2.400	67.0	0.1	0.013	96.150	95.902	1.32	3.80	4.83	1.27	1.12	1.1	95.19	95.05	0.96	4.61	1.21	0.96	12.0	95.02	94.93	1.13	4.13	1.09	0.56	1.6	94.63	94.55	1.52
706	707	92.781	92.697	1.200	2.400	83.5	0.1	0.013	95.902	95.430	1.32	3.80	4.97	1.31	1.07	1.1	95.05	94.67	0.85	4.73	1.24	0.95	12.0	94.93	94.67	0.97	4.23	1.11	0.56	1.6	94.55	94.30	1.36
707	708	92.637	92.567	1.200	2.400	70.0	0.1	0.013	95.430	95.320	1.32	3.80	5.61	1.48	0.83	1.1	94.67	94.48	0.76	5.32	1.40	0.83	12.0	94.67	94.55	0.76	4.75	1.25	0.47	1.6	94.30	94.18	1.13
708	709	92.547	92.481	1.200	2.400	66.0	0.1	0.013	95.320	95.221	1.32	3.80	5.88	1.55	0.73	1.1	94.48	94.31	0.84	5.52	1.45	0.80	12.0	94.55	94.42	0.77	4.94	1.30	0.43	1.6	94.18	94.05	1.14
709	710	92.461	92.391	1.200	2.400	70.5	0.1	0.013	95.221	95.112	1.32	3.80	5.92	1.56	0.64	1.1	94.31	93.87	0.92	5.52	1.45	0.76	12.0	94.42	94.09	0.80	4.94	1.30	0.39	1.6	94.05	93.81	1.17
710	711	92.331	92.200	1.200	2.400	131.0	0.1	0.013	95.112	94.385	1.32	3.80	6.20	1.63	0.34	1.1	93.87	93.84	1.24	6.03	1.59	0.56	12.0	94.09	93.85	1.02	5.34	1.40	0.28	1.6	93.81	93.81	1.30
711	712	92.140	92.118	1.200	2.400	21.5	0.1	0.013	94.385	94.000	1.32	3.80	6.12	1.61	0.49	1.1	93.84	93.82	0.55	6.03	1.59	0.51	12.0	93.85	93.85	0.53	5.36	1.41	0.47	1.6	93.81	93.81	0.58
712	Pond1	92.058	92.050	1.200	2.400	8.5	0.1	0.013	94.000	94.500	1.32	3.80	6.12	1.61	0.56	1.1	93.82	93.81	0.18	6.01	1.58	0.59	12.0	93.85	93.85	0.15	5.35	1.41	0.55	1.6	93.81	93.81	0.19
751	752	93.846	93.752	0.600	N/A	94.0	0.1	0.013	96.720	96.579	0.69	0.19	0.23	1.18	1.54	1.1	95.99	95.64	0.73	0.15	0.77	1.62	12.0	96.07	95.67	0.65	0.16	0.82	0.71	1.6	95.15	95.02	1.57
752	753	93.602	93.520	0.750	N/A	82.0	0.1	0.013	96.579	96.452	0.80	0.35	0.35	0.99	1.28	1.1	95.64	95.52	0.94	0.26	0.74	1.32	12.0	95.67	95.45	0.91	0.26	0.74	0.66	1.6	95.02	94.89	1.56
753	754	93.295	93.209	0.975	N/A	86.0	0.1	0.013	96.452	96.324	0.95	0.71	0.91	1.28	1.25	1.1	95.52	95.36	0.93	0.79	1.11	1.18	12.0	95.45	95.25	1.00	0.73	1.03	0.62	1.6	94.89	94.79	1.56
754	705	93.134	93.018	1.050	N/A	116.0	0.1	0.013	96.324	96.150	1.00	0.86	1.09	1.26	1.18	1.1	95.36	95.19	0.96	0.97	1.12	1.07	12.0	95.25	95.02	1.07	0.88	1.02	0.61	1.6	94.79	94.63	1.53
806	807	93.069	93.047	0.600	N/A	21.5	0.1	0.013	95.186	95.180	0.69	0.19	0.12	0.62	0.63	1.1	94.30	94.16	0.89	0.10	0.52	0.59	12.0	94.26	94.18	0.92	0.06	0.31	0.25	1.6	93.92	93.87	1.27
807	808	92.897	92.861	0.750	N/A	35.5	0.1	0.013	95.180	95.133	0.80	0.35	0.41	1.16	0.51	1.1	94.16	94.01	1.03	0.37	1.05	0.53	12.0	94.18	94.15	1.00	0.29	0.82	0.23	1.6	93.87	93.81	1.31
808	809	92.786	92.775	0.825	N/A	11.0	0.1	0.013	95.133	95.095	0.85	0.45	0.56	1.23	0.40	1.1	94.01	94.00	1.13	0.50	1.10	0.54	12.0	94.15	94.14	0.98	0.42	0.93	0.20	1.6	93.81	93.81	1.32
809	710	92.725	92.706	0.825	N/A	18.5	0.1	0.013	95.095	95.112	0.85	0.45	0.57	1.26	0.45	1.1	94.00	93.87	1.10	0.51	1.12	0.59	12.0	94.14	94.09	0.96	0.42	0.93	0.26	1.6	93.81	93.81	1.29
901	902	94.501	94.436	0.600	N/A	65.0	0.1	0.013	96.268	96.259	0.69	0.19	0.14	0.72	-0.10	1.1	95.00	94.97	1.27	0.14	0.72	-0.13	12.0	94.98	94.95	1.29	0.12	0.62	-0.19	1.7	94.92	94.88	1.35
902	903	94.416	94.346	0.675	N/A	70.0	0.1	0.013	96.259	96.151	0.74	0.27	0.24	0.90	-0.12	1.1	94.97	94.91	1.29	0.23	0.87	-0.15	12.0	94.95	94.89	1.31	0.20	0.75	-0.21	1.7	94.88	94.83	1.38
903	904	94.271	94.201	0.750	N/A	69.5	0.1	0.013	96.151	96.259	0.80	0.35	0.32	0.91	-0.11	1.1	94.91	94.80	1.24	0.31	0.88	-0.13	12.1	94.89	94.78	1.26	0.27	0.77	-0.20	1.7	94.83	94.73	1.33
904	905	94.121	94.005	0.900	N/A	116.0	0.1	0.013	96.259	96.162	0.90	0.57	0.64	1.12	-0.22	1.1	94.80	94.56	1.46	0.61	1.07	-0.24	12.1	94.78	94.54	1.48	0.53	0.93	-0.29	1.7	94.73	94.50	1.53
905	1007	93.955	93.939	0.900	N/A	16.0	0.1	0.013	96.162	96.196	0.90	0.57	0.64	1.12	-0.30	1.1	94.56	94.38	1.61	0.61	1.07	-0.31	12.1	94.54	94.39	1.62	0.53	0.93	-0.36	1.7	94.50	94.28	1.67
1001	1002	94.618	94.545	0.525	N/A	72.5	0.1	0.013	96.638	96.632	0.63	0.14	0.12	0.88	-0.09		95.06	94.97	1.58	0.12	0.88	-0.11	12.0	95.03	94.94	1.61	0.10	0.74	-0.16	1.7	94.98	94.88	1.66
1002	1003	94.465	94.388	0.600	N/A	77.0	0.1	0.013	96.632	96.593	0.69	0.19	0.19	0.98	-0.10		94.97	94.90	1.66	0.18	0.93	-0.13	12.1	94.94	94.87	1.69	0.16	0.82	-0.19	1.7	94.88	94.79	1.76
1003	1004	94.238	94.166	0.750	N/A	71.5	0.1	0.013	96.593	96.490	0.80	0.35	0.38	1.08	-0.09		94.90	94.82	1.70	0.37	1.05	-0.12	12.1	94.87	94.79	1.73	0.33	0.94	-0.20	1.7	94.79	94.71	1.80
1004	1005	94.016	93.942	0.900	N/A	74.0	0.1	0.013	96.490	96.380	0.90	0.57	0.57	1.00	-0.10		94.82	94.68	1.67	0.55	0.96	-0.13	12.1	94.79	94.65	1.70	0.49	0.86	-0.20	1.7	94.71	94.58	1.78
1005	1006	93.862	93.791	0.975	N/A	71.0	0.1	0.013	96.380	96.270	0.95	0.71	0.70	0.99	-0.16		94.68	94.51	1.70	0.67	0.95	-0.18	12.1	94.65	94.49	1.73	0.60	0.85	-0.26	1.7	94.58	94.41	1.80
1006	1007	93.566	93.482	1.200	N/A	83.5	0.1	0.013	96.270	96.196	1.09	1.23	1.40	1.14	-0.25		94.51	94.38	1.76	1.34	1.09	-0.28	12.1	94.49	94.39	1.78	1.18	0.96	-0.36	1.7	94.41	94.28	1.86
1007	1008	93.361	93.303	1.200	N/A	29.0	0.2	0.013	96.196	96.057	1.54	1.74	2.07	1.19	-0.18		94.38	94.21	1.81	1.99	1.14	-0.17	12.1	94.39	94.39	1.80	1.74	1.00	-0.28	1.7	94.28	94.23	1.91
1008	Pond2	93.223	93.200	1.200	2.400	23.0	0.1	0.013	96.057	96.000	1.32	3.80	3.73	0.98	-0.21		94.21	94.20	1.85	3.51	0.92	-0.03	12.1	94.39	94.38	1.67	2.24	0.59	-0.20	1.7	94.23	94.22	1.83
	1102	95.258	95.139	0.750	N/A	119.0	0.1	0.013	97.798	97.953	0.80	0.35	0.28	0.80	-0.24		95.77	95.63	2.03	0.27	0.77	-0.26	12.0	95.75	95.61	2.05	0.23	0.65	-0.31	1.7	95.70	95.55	2.10
1102	1103	95.109	95.101	0.750	N/A	8.0	0.1	0.013	97.953	97.864	0.80	0.35	0.28	0.80	-0.23		95.63	95.60	2.33	0.27	0.77	-0.25	12.1	95.61	95.58	2.35	0.24	0.68	-0.31	1.7	95.55	95.52	2.41
1103	1104	94.951	94.885	0.900	N/A	65.5	0.1	0.013	97.864	98.100	0.90	0.57	0.49	0.86	-0.25	1.1	95.60	95.54	2.27	0.47	0.82	-0.27	12.1	95.58	95.52	2.28	0.40	0.70	-0.33	1.7	95.52	95.46	2.35
Table 6: Pipe Data and Hydraulic Simulation Results ⁽¹⁾

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe	Pipe	Pipe	Pipe		U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design		1	00-year, 3-h	our Chi	cago Stor	m + 20%			100	-year, 12-hoι	ur SCS	Type II S	torm + 20	%			July 1st, 1	1979 Hi	istorical E	vent	
MH	МН	Invert	Invert	Diameter	Width	Length	Slope	n	Cover	Cover	Velocity	Flow	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
				/ Height					Elev.	Elev.			Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	U/S HGL and	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	U/S HGL and	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	U/S HGL and
													Flow	Flow	(2)	Peak	HGL	HGL	MH Cover	Flow	Flow	(2)	Peak	HGL	HGL	MH Cover	Flow	Flow	(2)	Peak	HGL	HGL	MH Cover
		(m)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
1104	1105	94.825	94.753	0.900	N/A	71.5	0.1	0.013	98.100	98.730	0.90	0.57	0.58	1.01	-0.19	1.1	95.54	95.33	2.56	0.56	0.98	-0.21	12.1	95.52	95.31	2.58	0.49	0.86	-0.27	1.7	95.46	95.25	2.65
1105	1106	94.673	94.619	0.900	N/A	54.5	0.1	0.013	98.730	98.710	0.90	0.57	0.58	1.01	-0.25	1.1	95.33	95.20	3.41	0.56	0.98	-0.27	12.1	95.31	95.18	3.43	0.49	0.86	-0.33	1.7	95.25	95.11	3.49
1106	1107	94.469	94.462	1.050	N/A	7.0	0.1	0.013	98.710	98.708	1.00	0.86	1.04	1.20	-0.32	1.1	95.20	95.10	3.51	1.00	1.16	-0.34	12.1	95.18	95.07	3.53	0.87	1.01	-0.41	1.7	95.11	95.01	3.60
1107	1108	94.432	93.978	1.050	N/A	113.5	0.4	0.013	98.708	96.666	1.99	1.73	1.04	0.60	-0.38	1.1	95.10	94.89	3.61	1.00	0.58	-0.41	12.1	95.07	94.85	3.63	0.87	0.50	-0.48	1.7	95.01	94.76	3.70
1108	1109	93.528	93.381	1.500	N/A	73.5	0.2	0.013	96.666	96.511	1.79	3.16	4.75	1.50	-0.14	1.2	94.89	94.31	1.78	4.56	1.44	-0.18	12.1	94.85	94.38	1.82	4.09	1.29	-0.27	1.7	94.76	94.25	1.91
1109	1110	93.351	93.283	1.500	2.400	67.5	0.1	0.013	96.511	95.479	1.45	5.23	4.75	0.91	-0.55	1.2	94.31	94.20	2.21	4.54	0.87	-0.47	12.1	94.38	94.38	2.13	4.08	0.78	-0.61	1.7	94.25	94.22	2.27
1110	Pond2	93.223	93.200	1.500	2.400	22.5	0.1	0.013	95.479	96.000	1.45	5.23	4.74	0.91	-0.52	1.2	94.20	94.20	1.28	4.50	0.86	-0.34	12.1	94.38	94.38	1.10	4.05	0.77	-0.50	1.7	94.22	94.22	1.26
1201	1202	95.554	95.502	0.825	N/A	51.5	0.1	0.013	98.081	98.047	0.85	0.45	0.39	0.86	0.03	1.0	96.41	96.37	1.67	0.37	0.82	-0.11	12.0	96.27	96.23	1.81	0.32	0.70	-0.31	1.7	96.07	96.00	2.01
1202	1203	95.472	95.461	0.825	N/A	11.0	0.1	0.013	98.047	98.014	0.85	0.45	0.39	0.86	0.07	1.0	96.37	96.35	1.68	0.36	0.79	-0.07	12.0	96.23	96.22	1.82	0.33	0.73	-0.30	1.7	96.00	95.97	2.05
1203	1204	95.311	95.243	0.975	N/A	67.5	0.1	0.013	98.014	97.847	0.95	0.71	0.57	0.80	0.07	1.0	96.35	96.32	1.66	0.54	0.76	-0.07	12.0	96.22	96.18	1.80	0.48	0.68	-0.32	1.7	95.97	95.92	2.05
1204	1205	95.223	95.149	0.975	N/A	67.5	0.1	0.013	97.847	97.741	1.00	0.74	0.56	0.75	0.12	1.2	96.32	96.27	1.53	0.53	0.71	-0.01	12.2	96.18	96.14	1.66	0.48	0.65	-0.28	1.7	95.92	95.86	1.93
1205	1206	95.119	95.108	0.975	N/A	11.0	0.1	0.013	97.741	97.718	0.95	0.71	0.69	0.97	0.17	1.2	96.27	96.24	1.47	0.65	0.92	0.04	12.2	96.14	96.11	1.61	0.58	0.82	-0.23	1.7	95.86	95.84	1.88
1206	1207	95.078	95.022	0.975	N/A	56.0	0.1	0.013	97.718	97.549	0.95	0.71	0.69	0.97	0.19	1.2	96.24	96.18	1.48	0.66	0.93	0.06	12.2	96.11	96.05	1.61	0.58	0.82	-0.22	1.7	95.84	95.78	1.88
1207	1208	94.992	94.981	0.975	N/A	11.0	0.1	0.013	97.549	97.613	0.95	0.71	0.70	0.99	0.21	1.2	96.18	96.15	1.37	0.67	0.95	0.09	12.3	96.05	96.03	1.50	0.58	0.82	-0.19	1.7	95.78	95.75	1.77
1208	1209	94.951	94.915	0.975	N/A	36.0	0.1	0.013	97.613	97.564	0.95	0.71	0.70	0.99	0.23	1.2	96.15	96.11	1.46	0.69	0.97	0.10	12.3	96.03	95.99	1.58	0.59	0.83	-0.18	1.7	95.75	95.71	1.86
1209	1210	94.840	94.832	1.050	N/A	7.5	0.1	0.013	97.564	97.551	1.00	0.86	0.84	0.97	0.22	1.2	96.11	96.08	1.46	0.81	0.94	0.10	12.3	95.99	95.97	1.58	0.69	0.80	-0.18	1.7	95.71	95.69	1.86
1210	1211	94.802	94.773	1.050	N/A	29.0	0.1	0.013	97.551	96.869	1.00	0.86	0.84	0.97	0.23	1.2	96.08	96.04	1.47	0.83	0.96	0.11	12.3	95.97	95.93	1.59	0.69	0.80	-0.17	1.7	95.69	95.65	1.87
1211	1212	94.743	94.735	1.050	N/A	7.5	0.1	0.013	96.869	96.861	1.00	0.86	0.84	0.97	0.25	1.2	96.04	96.02	0.83	0.84	0.97	0.14	12.3	95.93	95.91	0.94	0.70	0.81	-0.14	1.8	95.65	95.63	1.22
1212	1213	94.705	94.641	1.050	N/A	64.0	0.1	0.013	96.861	97.400	1.00	0.86	0.85	0.98	0.26	1.4	96.02	95.96	0.84	0.86	1.00	0.15	12.3	95.91	95.86	0.95	0.72	0.83	-0.13	1.8	95.63	95.59	1.23
1213	1214	94.491	94.419	1.200	N/A	71.5	0.1	0.013	97.400	97.290	1.09	1.23	1.20	0.97	0.27	1.2	95.96	95.89	1.44	1.14	0.92	0.17	12.2	95.86	95.80	1.54	1.02	0.83	-0.10	1.7	95.59	95.55	1.81
1214	1215	94.399	94.327	1.200	N/A	71.5	0.1	0.013	97.290	97.190	1.09	1.23	1.40	1.14	0.29	1.2	95.89	95.71	1.40	1.34	1.09	0.20	12.2	95.80	95.64	1.49	1.19	0.97	-0.05	1.7	95.55	95.41	1.74
1215	1216	94.177	94.105	1.350	N/A	71.5	0.1	0.013	97.190	97.080	1.18	1.69	1.85	1.10	0.19	1.2	95.71	95.63	1.48	1.78	1.05	0.11	12.1	95.64	95.56	1.55	1.59	0.94	-0.12	1.7	95.41	95.35	1.78
1216	1217	93.955	93.871	1.500	N/A	84.5	0.1	0.013	97.080	96.955	1.26	2.24	2.51	1.12	0.18	1.2	95.63	95.53	1.45	2.41	1.08	0.11	12.1	95.56	95.47	1.52	2.15	0.96	-0.10	1.7	95.35	95.29	1.73
1217	1218	93.851	93.768	1.500	N/A	83.0	0.1	0.013	96.955	96.830	1.26	2.24	2.79	1.25	0.18	1.2	95.53	95.41	1.42	2.68	1.20	0.12	12.1	95.47	95.35	1.49	2.41	1.08	-0.07	1.7	95.29	95.20	1.67
1218	1219	93.748	93.702	1.500	N/A	46.5	0.1	0.013	96.830	96.760	1.26	2.24	2.87	1.28	0.16	1.2	95.41	95.34	1.42	2.76	1.23	0.10	12.1	95.35	95.28	1.48	2.48	1.11	-0.05	1.7	95.20	95.15	1.63
1219	1108	93.682	93.608	1.500	N/A	74.0	0.1	0.013	96.760	96.666	1.26	2.24	3.41	1.53	0.16	1.2	95.34	94.89	1.42	3.28	1.47	0.10	12.1	95.28	94.85	1.48	2.95	1.32	-0.04	1.7	95.15	94.76	1.61
1600	1601	94.197	94.025	1.200	N/A	107.5	0.2	0.013	97.015	96.875	1.38	1.56	2.11	1.35	0.75	3.3	96.14	95.83	0.87	2.51	1.61	1.67	14.6	97.06	96.62	-0.05	2.12	1.36	0.78	3.5	96.18	95.86	0.84
1601	1602	94.025	93.873	1.200	N/A	95.0	0.2	0.013	96.875	96.627	1.38	1.56	2.11	1.35	0.60	3.3	95.83	95.55	1.05	2.51	1.61	1.40	14.6	96.62	96.23	0.25	2.12	1.36	0.63	3.5	95.86	95.58	1.02
1602	1603	93.873	93.721	1.200	N/A	95.0	0.2	0.013	96.627	96.665	1.38	1.56	2.11	1.35	0.48	3.3	95.55	95.27	1.08	2.51	1.61	1.15	14.6	96.23	95.83	0.40	2.12	1.36	0.50	3.5	95.58	95.29	1.05
1603	1604	93.721	93.569	1.200	N/A	95.0	0.2	0.013	96.665	96.891	1.38	1.56	2.11	1.35	0.35	3.3	95.27	95.00	1.40	2.51	1.61	0.91	14.6	95.83	95.44	0.83	2.12	1.36	0.37	3.5	95.29	95.01	1.37
1604	1605	93.569	93.431	1.200	N/A	86.5	0.2	0.013	96.891	96.700	1.38	1.56	2.11	1.35	0.23	3.3	95.00	94.52	1.89	2.51	1.61	0.67	14.6	95.44	94.77	1.46	2.12	1.36	0.24	3.5	95.01	94.53	1.88
1605	1008	93.431	93.316	1.200	N/A	72.0	0.2	0.013	96.700	96.057	1.38	1.56	2.10	1.35	-0.11	3.3	94.52	94.21	2.18	2.51	1.61	0.13	14.6	94.77	94.39	1.94	2.12	1.36	-0.10	3.5	94.53	94.23	2.17
7000	700	93.664	93.592	0.900	N/A	/1.5	0.1	0.013	96.997	96.786	0.90	0.57	0.62	1.08	1./4		96.31	96.10	0.69	0.53	0.93	0.87	12.0	95.44	95.38	1.56	0.50	0.87	0.57	1.8	95.13	95.05	1.86
Pond1	Out1	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	3.75	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	5.32	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	3.60	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Pond2	Out2	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A			N/A	N/A	2.06		N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	2.64	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	2.12	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
1500	1501	92.698	92.577	1.200	1.800	120.0	0.1	0.013	95.914	95.720	1.23	2.66	3.38	1.27	0.47	3.0	94.37	94.17	1.55		1.56	0.77	13.8	94.67	94.37	1.25	3.43	1.29	0.48	3.3	94.38	94.18	1.54
1501	21400	92.5//	92.450	1.200	1.800	127.0	0.1	0.013	95.720	95.562	1.23	2.66	3.38	1.2/	0.39	3.0	94.17	93.93	1.55	4.14	1.56	0.60	13.8	94.37	94.01	1.35	3.43	1.29	0.40	3.3	94.18	93.93	1.54
21400	Pond1	92.420	92.350	1.200	1.800	/0.0	0.1	0.013	95.562	94.500	1.23	2.66	3.38	1.27	0.31	3.0	93.93	93.81	1.64	∥ 4.14	1.56	0.39	13.8	94.01	93.85	1.55	3.43	1.29	0.31	3.3	93.93	93.81	1.64

Note: (1) Based on restrictive downstream conditions; Summer = 93.68 m / Spring = 94.11 m for SWM Facility 1, and Spring = 94.18 m for Pond 2. All other results based on free outfall conditions.

⁽²⁾ A negative surcharge implies that the pipe is not flowing full
 0.22 Freeboard less than 0.5 m.





100-YEAR FLOWS AND WATER LEVELS ON THE VAN GAAL DRAIN UNDER EXISTING AND PROPOSED CONDITIONS



Water Resources and Environmental Consultants



J.F. Sabourin and Associates Inc. Water Resources and Environmental Consultants



Table 7A: Existing an	nd Proposed Conditions	Flows on the Van Gaal Drain.	, Arbuckle Drain and Jock River ⁽¹⁾
-----------------------	------------------------	------------------------------	--

HEC-R	AS Location	า	Flow (m ³ /s)			(m ³ /s)			Differe	ence in Flo	ow (%)	SWMHYMO	Location Description
River	Reach	River	Exis	sting Condit	ions	Prop	osed Condi	tions				Node ID	
		Station	1	2	4	1	2	4	1	2	4		
Jock River	Reach 1	22026	5.540	167.682	156.00	5.568	162.984	156.00	0.5	-2.8	0.0	N7	Upstream Extent of Modelling of Jock River
Jock River	Reach 2	21359	5.773	74.628	161.76	5.811	72.528	161.76	0.7	-2.8	0.0	RES_RF	At Outlet of Richmond Fen
Jock River	Reach 3	18677	17.624	88.341	166.76	20.131	86.554	166.76	14.2	-2.0	0.0	S_N6	At Confluence with Van Gaal Drain
Jock River	Reach 4	16872	15.385	85.979	181.76	18.387	84.530	181.76	19.5	-1.7	0.0	N5	At Confluence with Flowing Creek
Jock River	Reach 5	16112	16.168	143.467	180.00	19.376	142.546	180.00	19.8	-0.6	0.0	S_N5A	At Confluence with Tributary D
Jock River	Reach 6	11769	10.864	153.565	185.00	14.225	152.969	185.00 30.9 -0.4 0.0 S_		S_N4	At Confluence with Leamy Creek		
Jock River	Reach 7	10144	8.741	152.939	196.00	11.960	152.260	196.00	36.8	-0.4	0.0	N2	At Confluence with Monaghan Drain
Jock River	Reach 7	6550	9.652	189.823	201.00	12.871	189.905	201.00	33.3	0.0	0.0	S_N2	At Moodie Drive
Jock River	Reach 7	3699	5.067	211.402	205.00	6.297	210.531	205.00	24.3	-0.4	0.0	N1	At Confluence with Ottawa River
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	705	2.619	3.166	0.883	2.523	3.160	0.883	-3.7	-0.2	0.0	VG1-3	Upstream End of Joy's Road Tributary
Moore Drain	Reach 2	555	0.9	0.683	0.033	0.083	0.102	0.001	-90.8	-85.1	-97.0	VG-8MB	At Confluence with Moore Drain Tributary
Moore Drain	Reach 1	298	2.172	2.132	0.322	1.937	1.699	0.143	-10.8	-20.3	-55.6	Moore	Upstream Extent of Modelling on Moore Drain
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	311 / 599	1.866	1.594	0.259	1.836	1.586	0.122	-1.6	-0.5	-52.8	MTrib	Upstream End of Moore Drain Tributary
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3494	3.701	4.228	1.636	3.330	4.073	1.636	-10.0	-3.7	0.0	VG-1A	Upstream Extent of Modelling on Van Gaal Drain
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3322	4.021	4.588	1.651	3.778	4.488	1.651	-6.0	-2.2	0.0	VG1-1	Upstream of Driveway Culvert on Garvin Road
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3175	4.813	5.235	1.653	4.809	5.225	1.653	-0.1	-0.2	0.0	VG1-2	Upstream of Garvin Road
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2554	7.272	8.316	2.857	6.937	8.182	2.857	-4.6	-1.6	0.0	VG1-4	At Confluence with Joy's Road Tributary
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2076	9.543	10.808	3.286	9.357	9.973	3.286	-1.9	-7.7	0.0	VG1	Upstream of Proposed Bend Around Property Line
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1340	11.434	11.619	3.426	9.318	10.024	3.424	-18.5	-13.7	-0.1	PERTHST	Upstream of Perth Street
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1312	12.2	12.204	3.439	9.318	10.024	3.424	-23.6	-17.9	-0.5	PERTHST	Downstream of Perth Street
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	746	16.377	15.739	4.056	13.208	13.801	4.229	-19.4	-12.3	4.3	FORTUNE	Upstream of Fortune Street
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	666	16.377	15.739	4.056	13.208	13.801	4.229	-19.4	-12.3	4.3	FORTUNE	Downstream of Fortune Street
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	226	16.419	15.777	4.371	13.221	13.866	4.499	-19.5	-12.1	2.9	VG	Confluence with Jock River

1. The Van Gaal Drain 100-year 24-hour SCS peak flow reaches the Jock River.

2. The Van Gaal Drain 100-year spring snowmelt plus rainfall peak flow reaches the Jock River.

River	Reach	River	iver Maxim			mum Water	r Surface El	evation (m)	(m)		
		Station	Exis	sting Condit	ions	Prop	osed Cond	itions		Difference	•
			1	2	4	1	2	4	1	2	4
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3494	97.56	97.60	97.16	97.53	97.59	97.16	-0.03	-0.01	0.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3322	97.43	97.47	97.06	97.41	97.47	97.06	-0.02	0.00	0.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3312	97.42	97.45	97.05	97.40	97.45	97.05	-0.02	0.00	0.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3311	Culvert								
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3302	97.33	97.35	97.01	97.31	97.35	97.01	-0.02	0.00	0.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3297	97.27	97.32	96.98	97.26	97.32	96.98	-0.01	0.00	0.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3185	97.17	97.26	96.56	97.18	97.26	96.56	0.01	0.00	0.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3175	97.16	97.23	96.59	97.15	97.23	96.59	-0.01	0.00	0.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3174	Culvert								
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3165	96.75	96.74	96.55	96.75	96.74	96.55	0.00	0.00	0.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3149	96.72	96.72	96.51	96.72	96.72	96.51	0.00	0.00	0.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3086	96.65	96.63	96.40	96.65	96.63	96.40	0.00	0.00	0.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3016	96.61	96.59	96.33	96.61	96.59	96.32	0.00	0.00	-0.01
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2980	96.57	96.56	96.28	96.57	96.56	96.27	0.00	0.00	-0.01
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2851	96.41	96.42	96.03	96.40	96.41	95.99	-0.01	-0.01	-0.04
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2808	96.38	96.39	96.01	96.37	96.39	95.95	-0.01	0.00	-0.06
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2658	96.28	96.29	95.95	96.25	96.28	95.88	-0.03	-0.01	-0.07
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2554	96.27	96.29	95.94	96.24	96.28	95.86	-0.03	-0.01	-0.08
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2478	96.16	96.15	95.88	96.11	96.14	95.77	-0.05	-0.01	-0.11
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2427.58*	N/A	N/A	N/A	96.03	96.04	95.71	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2377.17*	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.94	95.95	95.63	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2326.76*	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.86	95.87	95.53	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2276.35*	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.50	95.65	95.14	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2252	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.57	95.40	94.95	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2237	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.55	95.38	94.93	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2217	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.52	95.35	94.90	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2197	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.50	95.32	94.87	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2177	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.47	95.29	94.83	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2157	95.47	95.48	95.03	95.45	95.26	94.80	-0.02	-0.22	-0.23
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2154	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.43	95.23	94.77	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2153	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.38	95.18	94.73	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2152	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.34	95.14	94.69	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2132	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.30	95.10	94.64	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2112	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.26	95.06	94.60	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2092	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.22	95.02	94.57	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2072	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.18	94.98	94.53	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2052	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.14	94.94	94.49	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2032	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.10	94.90	94.45	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2002	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.04	94.85	94.40	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1982	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.00	94.81	94.37	N/A	N/A	N/A

 Table 7B: Existing and Proposed Conditions Water Levels on the Van Gaal and Arbuckle Drains ⁽¹⁾

River	Reach	River			Max	imum Water	^r Surface El	evation (m)			
		Station	Exis	sting Condit	ions	Prop	osed Condi	tions		Difference	;
			1	2	4	1	2	4	1	2	4
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1962	N/A	N/A	N/A	94.96	94.77	94.34	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1942	N/A	N/A	N/A	94.92	94.73	94.32	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1922	N/A	N/A	N/A	94.88	94.70	94.29	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1902	N/A	N/A	N/A	94.84	94.66	94.27	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1882	N/A	N/A	N/A	94.81	94.63	94.25	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1862	N/A	N/A	N/A	94.77	94.60	94.23	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1842	N/A	N/A	N/A	94.73	94.56	94.22	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1822	N/A	N/A	N/A	94.70	94.53	94.21	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1802	N/A	N/A	N/A	94.66	94.50	94.20	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1782	N/A	N/A	N/A	94.63	94.48	94.19	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1762	N/A	N/A	N/A	94.60	94.45	94.18	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1742	N/A	N/A	N/A	94.57	94.42	94.17	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1722	N/A	N/A	N/A	94.54	94.40	94.17	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1702	N/A	N/A	N/A	94.51	94.38	94.16	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1682	N/A	N/A	N/A	94.48	94.36	94.16	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1662	N/A	N/A	N/A	94.45	94.34	94.15	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1642	N/A	N/A	N/A	94.42	94.32	94.15	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1622	N/A	N/A	N/A	94.40	94.30	94.15	N/A	N/A	N/A
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1615	94.60	94.61	94.24	94.39	94.30	94.15	-0.21	-0.31	-0.09
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1555	94.53	94.55	94.21	94.32	94.26	94.14	-0.21	-0.29	-0.07
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1488	94.45	94.45	94.18	94.26	94.22	94.14	-0.19	-0.23	-0.04
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1416	94.39	94.41	94.14	94.21	94.19	94.13	-0.18	-0.22	-0.01
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1400	94.36	94.36	94.14	94.19	94.18	94.13	-0.17	-0.18	-0.01
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1364	94.31	94.29	94.13	94.17	94.17	94.13	-0.14	-0.12	0.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1340	94.21	94.19	94.13	94.06	94.06	94.12	-0.15	-0.13	-0.01
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1339	Culvert								
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1312	94.14	94.12	94.12	94.05	94.04	94.12	-0.09	-0.08	0.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1302	94.15	94.14	94.12	94.04	94.04	94.12	-0.11	-0.10	0.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1268	94.14	94.14	94.12	94.01	94.01	94.12	-0.13	-0.13	0.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1212	94.10	94.11	94.12	93.93	93.96	94.11	-0.17	-0.15	-0.01
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1169	94.04	94.08	94.12	93.85	93.89	94.11	-0.19	-0.19	-0.01
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1091	93.97	94.04	94.12	93.73	93.83	94.11	-0.24	-0.21	-0.01
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1002	93.93	94.02	94.12	93.60	93.78	94.11	-0.33	-0.24	-0.01
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	961	93.92	94.02	94.12	93.52	93.77	94.11	-0.40	-0.25	-0.01
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	910	93.91	94.02	94.12	93.46	93.77	94.11	-0.45	-0.25	-0.01
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	840	93.91	94.02	94.12	93.44	93.76	94.11	-0.47	-0.26	-0.01
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	746	93.90	94.01	94.12	93.42	93.76	94.11	-0.48	-0.25	-0.01
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	705	93.89	94.01	94.11	93.39	93.75	94.11	-0.50	-0.26	0.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	668	93.84	93.99	94.11	93.21	93.73	94.11	-0.63	-0.26	0.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	666	93.32	93.68	94.10	92.96	93.59	94.10	-0.36	-0.09	0.00

 Table 7B: Existing and Proposed Conditions Water Levels on the Van Gaal and Arbuckle Drains ⁽¹⁾

River	Reach	River			Max	imum Water	Surface El	evation (m)	(m)			
		Station	Exis	sting Condit	ions	Prop	osed Cond	itions		Difference	9	
			1	2	4	1	2	4	1	2	4	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	656	Culvert									
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	647	93.07	93.58	94.10	93.04	93.59	94.10	-0.03	0.01	0.00	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	645	93.23	93.67	94.10	93.05	93.61	94.10	-0.18	-0.06	0.00	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	592	93.28	93.70	94.10	93.07	93.63	94.10	-0.21	-0.07	0.00	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	521	93.26	93.70	94.10	93.05	93.63	94.10	-0.21	-0.07	0.00	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	277	92.96	93.66	94.10	92.79	93.60	94.10	-0.17	-0.06	0.00	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	275	92.87	93.51	94.09	92.72	93.48	94.09	-0.15	-0.03	0.00	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	269	Culvert									
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	263	92.58	93.39	94.09	92.55	93.39	94.09	-0.03	0.00	0.00	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	226	92.40	93.44	94.09	92.24	93.43	94.09	-0.16	-0.01	0.00	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	0	91.28	93.45	94.09	91.38	93.43	94.09	0.10	-0.02	0.00	
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	600	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.89	95.80	95.15	N/A	N/A	N/A	
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	553	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.87	95.78	95.11	N/A	N/A	N/A	
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	503	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.85	95.76	95.07	N/A	N/A	N/A	
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	492	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.78	95.70	95.06	N/A	N/A	N/A	
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	477	Culvert								-	
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	462	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.65	95.58	94.99	N/A	N/A	N/A	
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	453	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.67	95.60	94.98	N/A	N/A	N/A	
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	403	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.65	95.57	94.94	N/A	N/A	N/A	
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	353	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.53	95.46	94.88	N/A	N/A	N/A	
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	338.5	Culvert									
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	324	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.28	95.24	94.80	N/A	N/A	N/A	
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	311	94.60	94.58	94.48	95.30	95.25	94.77	0.70	0.67	0.29	
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	290	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.27	95.21	94.73	N/A	N/A	N/A	
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	240	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.20	95.14	94.63	N/A	N/A	N/A	
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	190	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.15	95.08	94.53	N/A	N/A	N/A	
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	140	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.10	95.03	94.43	N/A	N/A	N/A	
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	90	94.20	94.18	94.11	95.08	95.00	94.37	0.88	0.82	0.26	
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	83	N/A	N/A	N/A	94.99	94.93	94.35	N/A	N/A	N/A	
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	68	Culvert								-	
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	53	N/A	N/A	N/A	94.71	94.68	94.20	N/A	N/A	N/A	
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	14	N/A	N/A	N/A	94.27	94.24	94.11	N/A	N/A	N/A	
Moore Drain	Reach 2	555	94.67	94.63	94.33	94.39	94.41	94.21	-0.28	-0.22	-0.12	
Moore Drain	Reach 2	500	94.44	94.41	94.23	94.26	94.28	94.17	-0.18	-0.13	-0.06	
Moore Drain	Reach 1	298	93.90	94.02	94.12	93.85	93.82	94.11	-0.05	-0.20	-0.01	
Moore Drain	Reach 1	130	93.91	94.02	94.12	93.44	93.76	94.11	-0.47	-0.26	-0.01	
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	705	97.59	97.79	97.11	97.56	97.78	97.11	-0.03	-0.01	0.00	
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	664	97.60	97.79	97.04	97.57	97.79	97.04	-0.03	0.00	0.00	
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	635	97.50	97.68	97.00	97.47	97.67	97.00	-0.03	-0.01	0.00	
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	634	Culvert									

 Table 7B: Existing and Proposed Conditions Water Levels on the Van Gaal and Arbuckle Drains ⁽¹⁾

 Table 7B: Existing and Proposed Conditions Water Levels on the Van Gaal and Arbuckle Drains ⁽¹⁾

River	Reach	River	Maximum Water Surface Elevation (
		Station	Exis	sting Condit	ions	Prop	osed Cond	itions		Difference	\$
			1	2	4	1	2	4	1	2	4
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	622	97.21	97.26	96.96	97.20	97.26	96.96	-0.01	0.00	0.00
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	602	97.21	97.27	96.95	97.20	97.27	96.95	-0.01	0.00	0.00
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	322	96.65	96.71	96.45	96.64	96.71	96.45	-0.01	0.00	0.00
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	275	96.50	96.56	96.20	96.48	96.56	96.20	-0.02	0.00	0.00
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	30	96.29	96.30	95.95	96.26	96.29	95.88	-0.03	-0.01	-0.07

1. The Van Gaal Drain 100-year 24-hour SCS peak flow reaches the Jock River.

2. The Van Gaal Drain 100-year spring snowmelt plus rainfall peak flow reaches the Jock River.





2 TO 25-YEAR FLOWS AND WATER LEVELS ON THE VAN GAAL DRAIN UNDER EXISTING AND PROPOSED CONDITIONS



Water Resources and Environmental Consultants



J.F. Sabourin and Associates Inc. Water Resources and Environmental Consultants



Table OA. Eviation	Conditions Flours and	Watan Lavala an tha	Van Caal and	Arbuskis Droins (1)
Table 6A: Existing	Conditions Flows and	a water Levels on the	van Gaar and A	Arbuckie Drains

River	Reach	River	Profile	F	-low (m ³ /s	()	Maximu	m Water I	_evel (m)
		Station		1	2	4	1	2	4
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3494	2-Year	0.96	2.09	2.06	97.01	97.27	97.26
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3494	5-Year	1.60	2.68	1.13	97.18	97.37	97.04
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3494	10-Year	2.06	3.06	0.91	97.28	97.43	96.98
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3494	25-Year	2.67	3.53	1.27	97.39	97.50	97.08
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3322	2-Year	1 05	2 27	2 2 1	96 92	97 16	97 16
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3322	5-Year	1.73	2.90	1.15	97.07	97.26	96.95
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3322	10-Year	2.24	3.32	0.92	97.17	97.31	96.90
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3322	25-Year	2.90	3.83	1.29	97.28	97.38	96.98
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3312	2-Year	1.05	2.27	2.21	96.92	97.16	97.15
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3312	5-Year	1.73	2.90	1.15	97.07	97.24	96.95
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3312	10-Year	2.24	3.32	0.92	97.17	97.29	96.90
van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3312	∠5-Year	2.90	3.83	1.29	97.27	97.30	96.98
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3311	Culvert						
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3302	2-Year	1.05	2 27	2 2 1	96 91	97 08	97.08
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3302	5-Year	1.00	2.27	1 15	97.03	97.00	96.93
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3302	10-Year	2.24	3.32	0.92	97.00	97.14	96.89
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3302	25-Year	2.90	3.83	1.29	97.17	97.24	96.96
	i touoir o	0002	20 104	2.00	0.00	1.20		01.21	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3297	2-Year	1.05	2.27	2.21	96.87	97.04	97.05
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3297	5-Year	1.73	2.90	1.15	96.98	97.09	96.91
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3297	10-Year	2.24	3.32	0.92	97.04	97.13	96.87
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3297	25-Year	2.90	3.83	1.29	97.11	97.20	96.93
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3185	2-Vear	1.05	2 27	2 21	96 52	96 72	89.90
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3185	5-Year	1.00	2.27	1 15	96.65	96.87	96.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3185	10-Year	2.24	3.32	0.92	96 76	96.97	96.39
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3185	25-Year	2.90	3.83	1.29	96.93	97.09	96.49
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3175	2-Year	1.33	2.59	2.40	96.53	96.74	96.70
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3175	5-Year	2.15	3.31	1.17	96.67	96.87	96.49
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3175	10-Year	2.74	3.79	0.92	96.77	96.96	96.43
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3175	25-Year	3.51	4.37	1.30	96.93	97.07	96.53
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3174	Culvert						
	Deceb 2	2465		1.00	2.50	2.40	00 50	00.05	06.64
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3100	2-Year 5 Voor	1.00	2.09	2.40 1.17	90.00	90.00	90.04
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3165	10 Vear	2.10	3.31	1.17	90.01	90.70	90.47
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3165	25-Vear	3.51	4 37	1 30	90.07	90.72	90.42
	r caon o	0100	20-1001	0.01	4.07	1.00	50.72	50.74	00.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3149	2-Year	1.33	2.59	2.40	96.46	96.60	96.58
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3149	5-Year	2.15	3.31	1.17	96.57	96.64	96.43
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3149	10-Year	2.74	3.79	0.92	96.62	96.66	96.37
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3149	25-Year	3.51	4.37	1.30	96.66	96.68	96.46
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3086	2-Year	1.33	2 59	2 40	96 35	96 50	96 49
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3086	5-Year	2.15	3.31	1.17	96.47	96.55	96.31
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3086	10-Year	2.74	3.79	0.92	96.53	96.58	96.25
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3086	25-Year	3.51	4.37	1.30	96.58	96.60	96.34
	-	-				-			
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3016	2-Year	1.33	2.59	2.40	96.26	96.46	96.44

Table 8A: Existing	Conditions Flows and	I Water Levels on the	Van Gaal and A	rbuckle Drains ⁽¹⁾

Tuble of a Existing	geomation	e i lene ui			Tan Ouu		dollio Bit		
River	Reach	River	Profile	F	-low (m³/s	;)	Maximu	m Water I	_evel (m)
		Station		1	2	4	1	2	4
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3016	5-Year	2.15	3 31	1 17	96.41	96.52	96.23
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3016	10 Voor	2.10	3 70	0.02	06.49	06.54	06 17
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2010	10-Tear	2.14	1.19	1.20	90.40	90.54	90.17
van Gaai Drain	Reach 3	3016	25-Year	3.51	4.37	1.30	96.54	96.50	96.20
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2980	2-Year	1.33	2.59	2.40	96.21	96.42	96.40
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2980	5-Year	2.15	3.31	1.17	96.36	96.49	96.18
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2980	10-Year	2.74	3.79	0.92	96.44	96.51	96.12
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2980	25-Year	3.51	4.37	1.30	96.51	96.54	96.21
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2851	2-Year	1 33	2 59	2 40	95 90	96 21	96 19
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2851	5-Year	2 15	3 31	1 17	96 10	96.29	95.89
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2001	10 Voor	2.10	3 70	0.02	06.21	06.24	05.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2001	10-Tear	2.14	J.19 4 27	1.32	90.21	90.04	95.00
van Gaar Drain	Reachs	2001	25-rear	3.51	4.37	1.30	90.31	90.30	95.95
			0) (4.00	0.50	0.40	0 - 00		
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2808	2-Year	1.33	2.59	2.40	95.86	96.18	96.16
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2808	5-Year	2.15	3.31	1.17	96.07	96.26	95.86
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2808	10-Year	2.74	3.79	0.92	96.18	96.31	95.76
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2808	25-Year	3.51	4.37	1.30	96.28	96.35	95.90
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2658	2-Year	1 33	2 59	2 40	95 78	96 11	96 10
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2658	5-Vear	2 15	3 31	1 17	05.00	06.18	05.80
Van Caal Drain	Reach 2	2000	10 Voor	2.15	2 70	0.02	06 10	06.10	05 70
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2000	10-Tear	2.14	1.19	1.20	90.10	90.22	95.70
van Gaai Drain	Reach 3	2008	25-Year	3.51	4.37	1.30	90.19	90.25	95.85
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2554	2-Year	1.95	4.13	3.97	95.77	96.10	96.09
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2554	5-Year	3.20	5.24	2.02	95.98	96.17	95.79
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2554	10-Year	4.11	6.00	1.57	96.09	96.21	95.69
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2554	25-Year	5.28	6.94	2.25	96.18	96.24	95.84
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2478	2-Year	1 95	4 13	3 97	95 72	96.03	96.02
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2478	5-Year	3 20	5 24	2.02	95.92	96.08	95 74
Van Caal Drain	Reach 2	2470	10 Voor	1 1 1	6.00	1.57	06.02	06 11	05.64
	Reach 2	2470	10-Tear	4.11	0.00	1.07	90.02	90.11	95.04
van Gaai Drain	Reach Z	2478	25-Year	5.28	0.94	2.25	96.09	90.13	95.78
		0.457	0) (4.05	4.40	o o -		0 - 10	0- 1-
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2157	2-Year	1.95	4.13	3.97	94.93	95.19	95.17
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2157	5-Year	3.20	5.24	2.02	95.12	95.34	94.94
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2157	10-Year	4.11	6.00	1.57	95.25	95.38	94.88
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2157	25-Year	5.28	6.94	2.25	95.37	95.43	94.97
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2076	2-Year	2.80	5.00	4.78	94.74	95.03	95.01
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2076	5-Year	4.41	6.32	2.33	94.97	95.13	94.65
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2076	10-Year	5 53	7 24	1 78	95.08	95 17	94 53
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2076	25 Vear	6.06	8 38	2.60	05.00	05.21	0/ 70
Vali Gaai Dialii	INCACIT 2	2070	2 5- 1 cai	0.90	0.50	2.00	95.17	9J.Z I	34.70
Van Caal Drain	Deeeb 0	1074		2 00	F 00	4 70	04.64	04.00	04.07
Van Gaar Drain	Reach 2	1974	Z-Year	2.80	5.00	4.78	94.01	94.89	94.87
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1974	5-Year	4.41	6.32	2.33	94.84	94.97	94.50
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1974	10-Year	5.53	7.24	1.78	94.93	95.02	94.37
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1974	25-Year	6.96	8.38	2.60	95.01	95.06	94.56
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1922	2-Year	2.80	5.00	4.78	94.55	94.82	94.81
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1922	5-Year	4.41	6.32	2.33	94.79	94.89	94.44
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1922	10-Year	5 53	7 24	1 78	94 85	94 92	94 30
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1022	25_Vear	6 06	8 28	2 60	9/ 02	9/ 05	91 50
	Reach Z	1922	20-1601	0.00	0.00	2.00	07.02	54.55	04.00
Van Osel Dusta	Dessta	1000	0.1/	0.00	E 00	4 70	04.47	04 74	04 74
i van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1833	∠-rear	∠.8U	5.00	4./8	94.47	94.71	94.71

Table 8A: Existing	Conditions Flows and W	ater Levels on the Va	n Gaal and Arbuckle Drains ⁽¹⁾	

River	Reach	River	Profile	F	-low (m ³ /s	;)	Maximu	m Water I	_evel (m)
		Station		1	2	4	1	2	4
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1833	5-Year	4.41	6.32	2.33	94.69	94.76	94.35
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1833	10-Year	5.53	7.24	1.78	94.74	94.78	94.20
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1833	25-Year	6.96	8.38	2.60	94.78	94.80	94.42
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1796	2-Year	2.80	5.00	4.78	94.44	94.68	94.68
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1796	5-Year	4.41	6.32	2.33	94.66	94.73	94.32
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1796	10-Year	5.53	7.24	1.78	94.70	94.74	94.16
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1796	25-Year	6.96	8.38	2.60	94.74	94.77	94.39
	-					. = .			
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1735	2-Year	2.80	5.00	4.78	94.41	94.64	94.64
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1735	5-Year	4.41	6.32	2.33	94.63	94.67	94.28
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1735	10-Year	5.53	7.24	1.78	94.65	94.68	94.12
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1735	25-Year	6.96	8.38	2.60	94.68	94.69	94.36
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1728	2-Vear	2.80	5.00	1 78	0/ /1	94 64	94.63
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1728	5-Year	2.00 4.41	6.32	2 33	94.62	94.67	94.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1728	10₋Vear	5 53	7.24	1 78	94.65	94.67	94.11
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1720	25-Vear	6.06	8 38	2.60	0/ 67	04.68	0/ 35
Van Gaar Drain	I Cacil Z	1720	20-1641	0.30	0.00	2.00	34.07	34.00	34.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1727	Culvert						
Van Gaal Drain	Poach 2	1717	2 Voor	2.80	5.00	179	0/ 15	04 42	04.40
Van Gaal Dialii Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1717	5 Voor	2.00	5.00 6.32	4.70	04.15	94.4Z	94.40
Van Gaal Dialii Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1717	10 Voor	4.41	0.32	2.33	94.37	94.55	94.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1717	10-Year	5.55	7.24 0.20	1.70	94.49	94.59	93.92
van Gaal Drain	Reach Z	1717	25-Year	0.90	0.30	2.60	94.59	94.03	94.10
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1615	2-Year	2.80	5.00	4.78	94.04	94.29	94.26
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1615	5-Year	4.41	6.32	2.33	94.24	94.40	93.92
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1615	10-Year	5.53	7.24	1.78	94.36	94.46	93.78
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1615	25-Year	6.96	8.38	2.60	94.46	94.52	93.98
	D h. O	4555	0.1/1	0.00	5.00	4 70		04.00	04.40
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1555	∠-Year	2.80	5.00	4.78	93.99	94.22	94.19
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1555	5-Year	4.41	0.32	2.33	94.19	94.33	93.87
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1555	10-Year	5.53	7.24	1.78	94.29	94.39	93.72
van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1555	25-Year	6.96	8.38	2.60	94.40	94.45	93.93
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1488	2-Year	2.80	5.00	4.78	93.96	94.16	94.13
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1488	5-Year	4.41	6.32	2.33	94.13	94.26	93.82
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1488	10-Year	5.53	7.24	1.78	94.23	94.31	93.66
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1488	25-Year	6.96	8.38	2.60	94.33	94.36	93.88
	-					4 = 6			
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1416	2-Year	2.80	5.00	4.78	93.89	94.02	93.99
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1416	5-Year	4.41	6.32	2.33	94.03	94.10	93.74
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1416	10-Year	5.53	7.24	1.78	94.10	94.17	93.58
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1416	25-Year	6.96	8.38	2.60	94.20	94.25	93.81
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1400	2-Year	2.80	5.00	4.78	93.89	94.02	93.99
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1400	5-Year	4.41	6.32	2.33	94.03	94.11	93.74
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1400	10-Year	5.53	7.24	1.78	94.11	94.16	93.58
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1400	25-Year	6.96	8.38	2.60	94.20	94.23	93.80
Van Caal Drain	Booch 2	1264	2 Vaar	2 00	5.00	1 70	02.07	02.00	02.06
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1304	Z-Tear 5 Voor	2.00	0.00	4.10 0.00	93.01	93.99	33.90
Van Gaal Dialii		1304		4.41	0.32	∠.33 1 70	94.00	94.00	33.12
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1304	25 Voor	0.00	1.24 0.20	1.70	94.07	94.11 01 10	93.30
van Gaar Diaill	Reach Z	1304	20-real	0.90	0.30	∠.00	94.10	34.10	30.19

				(1)	
Table 8A: Existing	a Conditions Flow	s and Water Level	ls on the Van Gaa	I and Arbuckle Drains ⁽¹⁾	

River	Reach	River	Profile	F	-low (m³/s)	Maximu	Maximum Water Lev		
		Station		1	2	4	1	2	4	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1340	2-Year	3.64	5.79	5.26	93.85	93.96	93.93	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1340	5-Year	5.57	7.32	2.44	93.97	94.01	93.71	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1340	10-Year	6.92	8.33	1.86	94.03	94.05	93.55	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1340	25-Year	8.58	9.65	2.71	94.09	94.10	93.78	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1339	Culvert							
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1312	2-Year	3.87	6.08	5.46	93.84	93.94	93.91	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1312	5-Year	5.93	7.69	2.47	93.95	93.98	93.71	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1312	10-Year	7.38	8.76	1.87	94.00	94.01	93.55	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1312	25-Year	9.17	10.15	2.73	94.05	94.04	93.77	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1302	2-Year	3.87	6.08	5.46	93.81	93.91	93.89	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1302	5-Year	5.93	7.69	2.47	93.92	93.97	93.68	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1302	10-Year	7.38	8.76	1.87	93.98	94.00	93.51	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1302	25-Year	9.17	10.15	2.73	94.04	94.04	93.75	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1268	2-Year	3.87	6.08	5.46	93.75	93.87	93.84	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1268	5-Year	5.93	7.69	2.47	93.88	93.93	93.59	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1268	10-Year	7.38	8.76	1.87	93.94	93.96	93.44	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1268	25-Year	9.17	10.15	2.73	94.01	94.00	93.69	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1212	2-Year	3.87	6.08	5.46	93.61	93.78	93.74	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1212	5-Year	5.93	7.69	2.47	93.78	93.85	93.41	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1212	10-Year	7.38	8.76	1.87	93.85	93.89	93.32	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1212	25-Year	9.17	10.15	2.73	93.93	93.94	93.58	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1169	2-Year	3.87	6.08	546	93 53	93 70	93 67	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1169	5-Year	5.93	7.69	2.47	93.70	93.76	93.32	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1169	10-Year	7.38	8.76	1.87	93.77	93.80	93.26	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1169	25-Year	9.17	10.15	2.73	93.85	93.87	93.54	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1091	2-Year	3.87	6.08	546	93 40	93 57	93 54	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1091	5-Year	5.93	7 69	2 47	93 57	93.64	93 19	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1091	10-Year	7.38	8.76	1.87	93.65	93.69	93.17	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1091	25-Year	9.17	10.15	2.73	93.75	93.78	93.50	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1002	2-Year	3.87	6.08	546	93 21	93.38	93 33	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1002	5-Year	5.93	7 69	2 47	93 39	93 49	93.01	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1002	10-Year	7 38	8 76	1.87	93 50	93 59	93.09	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1002	25-Year	9.17	10.15	2.73	93.65	93.71	93.47	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	961	2-Vear	3.87	6.08	546	93.14	03.28	03.23	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	961	5-Vear	5.07	7.60	2.40	03 31	03/1	02 07	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	961	10-Vear	7 38	8 76	1.87	03 11	03 52	03.06	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	961	25-Vear	0.17	10.15	2.73	03.61	03.60	03.00	
		501	20- i Gai	0.17	10.10	2.10	00.01	00.03		
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	910	2-Year	3.87	6.08	5.46	93.07	93.22	93.17	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	910	5-Year	5.93	7.69	2.47	93.25	93.38	92.91	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	910	10-Year	7.38	8.76	1.87	93.40	93.49	93.05	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	910	25-Year	9.17	10.15	2.73	93.59	93.68	93.46	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	840	2-Year	3.87	6.08	5.46	93.00	93.18	93.11	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	840	5-Year	5.93	7.69	2.47	93.22	93.35	92.83	

Table 8A: Existing	Conditions Flows and W	ater Levels on the Va	n Gaal and Arbuckle Drains ⁽¹⁾	

River	Reach	River	Profile	F	-low (m ³ /s)	Maximu	m Water I	_evel (m)
		Station		1	2	4	1	2	4
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	840	10-Year	7.38	8.76	1.87	93.38	93.48	93.03
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	840	25-Year	9.17	10.15	2.73	93.58	93.67	93.45
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	746	2-Year	5.36	7.86	7.06	92.96	93.17	93.10
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	746	5-Year	8.09	9.97	2.99	93.20	93.35	92.82
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	746	10-Year	10.02	11.34	2.11	93.37	93.48	93.03
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	746	25-Year	12.40	13.11	3.31	93.57	93.67	93.45
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	705	2-Year	5.36	7.86	7.06	92.88	93.14	93.06
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	705	5-Year	8.09	9.97	2.99	93.16	93.34	92.78
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	705	10-Year	10.02	11.34	2.11	93.34	93.47	93.03
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	705	25-Year	12.40	13.11	3.31	93.55	93.66	93.45
		000	<u></u>	5.00	7.00	7.00	00 70	00.05	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	668	2-Year	5.36	7.86	7.06	92.72	93.05	92.94
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	668	5-Year	8.09	9.97	2.99	93.04	93.28	92.74
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	668	10-Year	10.02	11.34	2.11	93.25	93.42	93.02
van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	668	25-Year	12.40	13.11	3.31	93.48	93.63	93.45
Van Caal Drain	Deech 1	666	2 Voor	5.26	7.96	7.06	02.40	02.64	02 50
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	000	Z-Year	5.30	7.80	7.00	92.48	92.04	92.59
	Reach 1	000	5-rear	0.09	9.97	2.99	92.00	92.03	92.72
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	666	10-Year	10.02	11.34	2.11	92.80	93.01	93.01
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	666	25-Year	12.40	13.11	3.31	93.03	93.26	93.43
Van Caal Drain	Deech 1	656	Culvert						
van Gaal Drain	Reach I	000	Cuivert						
Van Caal Drain	Deach 1	647	2 Voor	5.26	7 96	7.06	02.51	02 50	02 50
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	647	Z-Year	0.00	7.00	7.00	92.51	92.59	92.00
Van Gaal Drain		647	10 Voor	0.09	9.97	2.99	92.00	92.70	92.72
Van Gaal Drain		647	10-Tear	10.02	12.14	2.11	92.11	92.92	02.01
Vall Gaal Dialli	Reactin	047	20-real	12.40	13.11	3.31	92.90	93.17	93.43
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	645	2-Vear	5 36	7 86	7.06	92 53	92.66	92.63
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	645	5 Vear	8.00	0.07	2 00	02.00	02.00	02.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	645	10-Vear	10.03	11 3/	2.33	02.72	92.07	03.01
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	645	25-Vear	12.40	13 11	2.11	92.00	93.02	03/3
Van Gaar Drain	Reach	040	20-1641	12.40	10.11	0.01	33.00	35.20	33.43
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	592	2-Year	5.36	7 86	7.06	92 42	92 66	92.62
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	592	5-Year	8.00	9.97	2 99	92.42	92.80	92.02
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	592	10-Year	10.02	11.34	2.00	92.80	93.05	93.01
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	592	25-Vear	12.40	13 11	3 31	93.02	93.20	03.44
Van Oda Brain	1 todoli 1	002	20 1001	12.10	10.11	0.01	00.02	00.20	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	521	2-Year	5.36	7.86	7.06	92.41	92.65	92.61
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	521	5-Year	8.09	9.97	2.99	92.67	92.88	92.72
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	521	10-Year	10.02	11 34	2 11	92 83	93.04	93.01
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	521	25-Year	12.40	13.11	3.31	93.00	93.29	93.43
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	277	2-Year	5.36	7.86	7.06	92.24	92.49	92.48
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	277	5-Year	8.09	9.97	2.99	92.46	92.74	92.71
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	277	10-Year	10.02	11.34	2.11	92.61	92.89	93.01
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	277	25-Year	12.40	13.11	3.31	92.76	93.19	93.43
				-			-	-	-
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	275	2-Year	5.36	7.86	7.06	92.24	92.46	92.46
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	275	5-Year	8.09	9.97	2.99	92.45	92.68	92.70
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	275	10-Year	10.02	11.34	2.11	92.57	92.83	93.01
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	275	25-Year	12.40	13.11	3.31	92.69	93.09	93.43

Table 84 · Existing	Conditions Flows	and Water Levels	s on the Van Gaa	I and Arbuckle Drains ⁽¹⁾

Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 269 Culvert 7 2 4 7 2 4 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 263 2-Year 5.36 7.86 7.06 92.20 92.38 92.60 92.70 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 263 10-Year 10.02 11.34 2.11 92.47 92.75 93.01 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 226 2-Year 5.37 7.88 7.23 92.14 92.25 92.27 93.01 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 226 2-Year 5.37 7.88 7.23 92.14 92.56 92.70 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 226 2-Year 5.37 7.88 7.23 91.09 92.41 92.46 92.79 93.01 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 0 2-Year 5.37 7.88 7.23 91.09 92.41 92.42 92.43 93.01 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 01 12-Year 6.32	River	Reach	River	Profile	F	-low (m ³ /s	;)	Maximu	m Water L	evel (m)
Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 269 Culvert r<			Station		1	2	4	1	2	4
Van Gaal Drain Van Gaal Drain Na Gaal Drain Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 Reach 1 263 263 5-Year 5-Year 5.36 8.09 7.86 9.97 7.96 2.99 92.38 92.38 92.64 92.05 92.70 93.01 Van Gaal Drain Van Gaal Drain Van Gaal Drain Na Gaal Drain Reach 1 226 2-Year 25-Year 5.37 7.88 7.23 92.14 92.35 92.37 Van Gaal Drain Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 226 2-Year 25-Year 5.37 7.88 7.23 92.14 92.35 92.37 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 226 2-Year 25-Year 10.01 3.13 3.54 92.41 92.76 93.01 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 0 2-Year 5.37 7.88 7.23 91.09 92.41 92.70 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 0 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.55 94.55 94.55 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 311 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.55 94.57 94.42 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	269	Culvert						
Yan Gaal Drain Reach 1 263 2-Year 5.36 7.86 7.05 92.20 92.20 92.20 92.20 92.20 92.27 92.37 93.42 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 226 2-Year 5.37 7.88 7.23 92.14 92.35 92.76 93.01 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 226 10-Year 10.03 11.37 2.30 92.41 92.42 92.41 92.41 92.41 92.41 92.41 92.41 92.43 92.41 92.41 92.41 92.41 92.41 92.41 92.41 92.41 92.43 92.43 92.43 92.43 92.41 92.45 94.24 94.24 94.24 92.43 92.41 92.41 92.41 92.41 92.41<				0) (
Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 263 5-Year 8.09 9.97 2.99 92.38 92.247 92.75 93.01 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 263 10-Year 10.20 11.34 2.11 92.14 92.35 92.37 92.38 92.44 92.35 92.37 92.38 92.44 92.35 92.37 92.44 92.35 92.37 92.44 92.35 92.37 92.44 92.76 93.01 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 226 2-Year 8.11 10.01 3.23 92.41 92.63 92.76 93.01 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 0 2-Year 5.37 7.88 7.23 91.09 92.41 92.63 92.79 93.01 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 0 2-Year 5.37 7.88 72.3 91.09 92.41 92.42 92.63 92.76 93.01 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 0.1 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.57 <td< td=""><td>Van Gaal Drain</td><td>Reach 1</td><td>263</td><td>2-Year</td><td>5.36</td><td>7.86</td><td>7.06</td><td>92.20</td><td>92.39</td><td>92.41</td></td<>	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	263	2-Year	5.36	7.86	7.06	92.20	92.39	92.41
Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 263 25-Year 12.40 13.11 3.31 92.54 93.00 93.42 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 226 25-Year 5.37 7.88 7.23 92.14 92.55 92.37 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 226 5-Year 8.11 10.01 3.23 92.41 92.59 92.70 93.01 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 226 5-Year 8.11 10.01 3.23 92.41 92.42 93.42 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 0 2-Year 5.37 7.88 7.23 91.09 92.41 92.42 93.01 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 0 5-Year 8.11 10.01 3.23 91.13 92.76 93.01 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 0 2-Year 5.2 0.79 0.62 94.55 94.56 94.55 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 311 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.01	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	263	5-Year	8.09	9.97	2.99	92.38	92.60	92.70
Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 263 25-Year 12.40 13.11 3.31 92.54 93.00 93.42 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 226 2-Year 5.37 7.88 7.23 92.14 92.55 92.37 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 226 5-Year 10.03 11.37 2.30 92.41 92.76 93.01 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 226 2-Year 12.43 13.14 3.54 92.41 92.42 92.41 92.76 93.01 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 0 2-Year 7.88 7.23 91.09 92.41 92.42 92.70 93.01 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 0 10-Year 10.03 11.37 2.30 91.11 92.69 93.42 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 311 2-Year 12.43 13.14 3.54 91.17 93.06 93.42 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 311 2-Year 10.61 10.17 9	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	263	10-Year	10.02	11.34	2.11	92.47	92.75	93.01
Van Gaal Drain Van Gaal Carl Van Van Van Van Van Van Van Van Van Van	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	263	25-Year	12.40	13.11	3.31	92.54	93.00	93.42
Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 220 2-rear 3.7 7.00 32.1 32.35	Van Gaal Drain	Poach 1	226	2 Voor	5 27	7 99	7.22	02.14	02.25	02.27
Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 225 3-10 0.11 10.01 3.21 32.31 32.33 32.16 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 226 25-Year 10.33 1.31 3.54 92.41 92.41 92.42 93.44 93.42 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 0 5-Year 5.37 7.88 7.23 91.09 92.41 92.42 92.47 93.04 93.42 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 0 5-Year 8.11 10.01 3.23 91.11 92.63 92.70 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 0 10-Year 10.33 0.10 94.55 94.66 94.55 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 311 10-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.55 94.56 94.56 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 311 10-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.01 94.07 94.44 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 2-Year 0.52 0.79	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	220	5-Vear	8 11	10.00	3.23	02.14	92.55	92.37
Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 226 25-Year 12.43 13.14 35.4 92.47 93.04 93.42 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 0 2-Year 5.37 7.88 7.23 91.09 92.41 92.42 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 0 5-Year 8.11 10.01 3.23 91.11 92.63 92.70 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 0 10-Year 10.03 11.37 2.30 91.17 93.06 93.42 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 311 5-Year 12.43 13.14 3.54 91.17 93.06 94.42 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 311 10-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.55 94.56 94.42 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.01 94.07 94.04 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 10-Year 1.07 1.33 0.10 94.16 94.17 93.85<	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	220	10-Vear	10.03	11 37	2 30	92.51	92.39	02.70 03.01
Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 0 2-Year 5.37 7.88 7.23 91.09 92.41 92.42 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 0 2-Year 5.37 7.88 7.23 91.13 92.39 93.01 Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 0 10-Year 10.03 11.37 2.30 91.13 92.79 93.01 Woore Drain Trib Reach 1 0 10-Year 10.03 11.37 2.30 91.17 93.06 93.42 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 311 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.55 94.56 94.45 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 311 10-Year 1.07 1.33 0.10 94.57 94.42 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.01 94.07 94.04 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 10-Year 1.07 1.33 0.10 94.16 94.17 93.85	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	226	25-Year	12.00	13.14	3.54	92.47	92.70	93.42
Van Gaal Drain Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 Reach 1 0 2-Year 5-Year 5.37 7.88 7.23 91.09 92.41 92.42 Van Gaal Drain Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 0 5-Year 10.14 10.11 10.14 32.3 91.13 92.79 93.01 Moore Drain Trib Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 311 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.55 94.56 94.56 94.56 Moore Drain Trib Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 311 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.01 94.57 94.56 94.54 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.01 94.07 94.04 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.01 94.07 94.04 Moore Drain Trib Reach 2 555 2-Year 0.84 1.01 0.17 94.08 94.17 93.88 Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 2 555 2-Year 0.26 0.34 0.24 <td>Van Gaar Drain</td> <td>I COUT I</td> <td>220</td> <td>20-1001</td> <td>12.40</td> <td>10.14</td> <td>0.04</td> <td>52.47</td> <td>00.04</td> <td>00.42</td>	Van Gaar Drain	I COUT I	220	20-1001	12.40	10.14	0.04	52.47	00.04	00.42
Van Gaal Drain Van Gaal Drain Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 Reach 1 0 5-Year 10-Year 8.11 10.03 10.03 11.37 2.30 2.30 91.11 91.13 92.79 93.01 93.02 Moore Drain Trib Moore Drain Trib Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 8tach 1 311 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.55 94.56 94.55 Moore Drain Trib Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 311 5-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.55 94.56 94.42 Moore Drain Trib Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 311 10-Year 1.07 1.33 0.10 94.57 94.57 94.42 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.01 94.17 93.89 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 10-Year 1.07 1.33 0.10 94.16 94.17 93.89 Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 2 555 2-Year 0.26 0.34 0.24 94.50 94.53 94.49 Moore Drain Reach 2 550 10-Year 0.52 0.49 0.0	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	0	2-Year	5.37	7.88	7.23	91.09	92.41	92.42
Van Gaal Drain Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 0 10-Year 25-Year 10.03 12.43 11.37 13.14 2.30 911.37 92.79 93.06 93.01 Moore Drain Trib Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 311 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.55 94.56 94.55 Moore Drain Trib Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 311 10-Year 1.07 1.33 0.10 94.57 94.42 Moore Drain Trib Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.01 94.07 94.42 Moore Drain Trib Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.01 94.07 94.42 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.01 94.07 93.85 Moore Drain Trib Reach 2 555 2-Year 0.26 0.34 0.24 94.50 94.53 94.49 Moore Drain Reach 2 555 10-Year 0.52 0.49 0.02 94.58 94.59 94.58 94.59	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	0	5-Year	8.11	10.01	3.23	91.11	92.63	92.70
Van Gaal Drain Reach 1 0 25-Year 12.43 13.14 3.54 91.17 93.06 93.42 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 311 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.55 94.56 94.55 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 311 5-Year 0.84 1.01 0.17 94.57 94.56 94.42 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 311 10-Year 1.07 1.33 0.15 94.58 94.57 94.42 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.01 94.07 94.42 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 10-Year 1.07 1.33 0.10 94.16 94.17 93.88 Moore Drain Reach 2 555 2-Year 0.26 0.34 0.24 94.50 94.53 94.49 Moore Drain Reach 2 555 2-Year 0.26 0.34 0.24 94.33 94.35 94.32	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	0	10-Year	10.03	11.37	2.30	91.13	92.79	93.01
Moore Drain Trib Moore Drain Trib Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 Reach 1 311 311 2-Year 5-Year 0.52 0.84 0.79 1.01 0.62 0.17 94.55 94.56 94.56 94.48 Moore Drain Trib Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 311 25-Year 1.36 1.33 0.10 94.57 94.56 94.48 Moore Drain Trib Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.01 94.07 94.47 Moore Drain Trib Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.01 94.07 94.47 Moore Drain Trib Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 10-Year 1.03 1.01 0.15 94.16 94.15 93.89 Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 2 555 2-Year 0.26 0.34 0.24 94.50 94.55 94.49 Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 2 555 2-Year 0.26 0.34 0.24 94.53 94.49 94.35 Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 2	Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	0	25-Year	12.43	13.14	3.54	91.17	93.06	93.42
Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 311 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.55 94.56 94.56 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 311 15-Year 0.84 1.01 0.17 94.57 94.56 94.48 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 311 10-Year 1.03 0.10 94.57 94.42 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.01 94.07 94.42 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.01 94.07 94.44 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.01 94.07 94.85 93.85 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.51 93.85 Moore Drain Reach 2 555 2-Year 0.26 0.34 0.24 94.50 94.53 94.49 Moore Drain										
Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 311 5-Year 0.84 1.01 0.17 94.57 94.56 94.48 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 311 10-Year 1.07 1.33 0.10 94.57 94.57 94.42 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 2-Year 1.36 1.33 0.10 94.57 94.57 94.42 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.01 94.07 94.44 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.01 94.17 93.85 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 25-Year 1.36 1.33 0.15 94.18 94.17 93.85 Moore Drain Reach 2 555 2-Year 0.26 0.34 0.24 94.50 94.55 94.53 94.49 Moore Drain Reach 2 500 2-Year 0.26 0.34 0.24 94.33 94.35 94.33 </td <td>Moore Drain Trib</td> <td>Reach 1</td> <td>311</td> <td>2-Year</td> <td>0.52</td> <td>0.79</td> <td>0.62</td> <td>94.55</td> <td>94.56</td> <td>94.55</td>	Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	311	2-Year	0.52	0.79	0.62	94.55	94.56	94.55
Moore Drain Inb Reach 1 311 10-Year 1.07 1.33 0.10 94.57 94.42 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 311 25-Year 1.36 1.33 0.15 94.57 94.47 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.01 94.07 94.04 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 5-Year 0.84 1.01 0.17 94.08 94.15 93.89 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 25-Year 1.36 1.33 0.10 94.16 94.17 93.85 Moore Drain Reach 2 555 2-Year 0.26 0.34 0.24 94.50 94.53 94.49 Moore Drain Reach 2 555 10-Year 0.52 0.49 0.02 94.59 94.58 94.32 Moore Drain Reach 2 500 2-Year 0.26 0.34 0.24 94.33 94.35 94.35 Moore Drain Reach 2 500 2-Year	Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	311	5-Year	0.84	1.01	0.17	94.57	94.56	94.48
Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 311 25-Year 1.36 1.33 0.15 94.58 94.57 94.47 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 2-Year 0.52 0.79 0.62 94.01 94.07 94.04 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 5-Year 0.84 1.01 0.17 94.08 94.15 93.89 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 25-Year 1.36 1.33 0.10 94.16 94.17 93.88 Moore Drain Reach 2 555 2-Year 0.26 0.34 0.24 94.50 94.53 94.49 Moore Drain Reach 2 555 5-Year 0.41 0.43 1755.00 94.56 94.56 94.56 94.56 94.56 94.56 94.56 94.56 94.56 94.56 94.56 94.56 94.57 94.33 94.35 94.33 94.35 94.33 94.35 94.33 94.35 94.33 94.32 94.33 94.32	Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	311	10-Year	1.07	1.33	0.10	94.57	94.57	94.42
Moore Drain Trib Moore Drain Trib Moore Drain Trib Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 Reach 1 90 90 2-Year 5-Year 0.52 0.84 0.79 1.01 0.62 0.17 94.01 94.08 94.17 93.89 93.89 Moore Drain Trib Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 2 555 2-Year 555 0.26 0.24 0.34 0.24 0.24 94.50 94.53 94.58 94.49 94.55 Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 2 500 555 2-Year 2555 0.26 0.52 0.34 0.24 0.24 94.59 94.58 94.58 94.33 94.35 Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 2 700 2-Year 0.66 0.57 0.05 94.63 94.33 94.35 94.33 94.35 Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 1 298 2-Year 0.66 0.57 0.05 94.41 94.40 94.24 Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 1 298 2-Year 0.66 1.07 1.01 93.68 93.79 93.78 Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 1 298 2-Year 1.05 1.64	Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	311	25-Year	1.36	1.33	0.15	94.58	94.57	94.47
Noore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 5-Year 0.84 1.01 0.12 94.08 94.15 93.89 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 25-Year 1.07 1.33 0.10 94.16 94.17 93.89 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 25-Year 1.36 1.33 0.15 94.18 94.17 93.89 Moore Drain Reach 2 555 2-Year 0.26 0.34 0.24 94.50 94.58 94.49 Moore Drain Reach 2 555 5-Year 0.41 0.43 1755.00 94.56 94.56 94.56 94.56 94.35 Moore Drain Reach 2 500 2-Year 0.26 0.34 0.24 94.33 94.35 94.33 Moore Drain Reach 2 500 2-Year 0.66 0.57 0.05 94.31 94.35 94.33 Moore Drain Reach 1 298 2-Year 0.67 1.07 1.01 93.68 9	Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	90	2-Year	0.52	0 79	0.62	94 01	94 07	94 04
Noore Drain Reach 1 90 10-Year 1.07 1.33 0.11 94.16 94.17 93.85 Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 25-Year 1.36 1.33 0.15 94.16 94.17 93.85 Moore Drain Reach 2 555 2-Year 1.36 1.33 0.15 94.16 94.17 93.85 Moore Drain Reach 2 555 5-Year 0.41 0.43 1755.00 94.56 94.59 94.58 94.32 Moore Drain Reach 2 555 25-Year 0.66 0.57 0.05 94.63 94.69 94.35 Moore Drain Reach 2 500 2-Year 0.26 0.34 0.24 94.33 94.35 94.33 Moore Drain Reach 2 500 2-Year 0.26 0.34 0.24 94.33 94.35 Moore Drain Reach 1 298 2-Year 0.67 1.07 1.01 93.68 93.79 93.78	Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	90	5-Year	0.84	1 01	0.02	94.08	94 15	93.89
Moore Drain Trib Reach 1 90 25-Year 1.36 1.33 0.15 94.18 94.17 93.88 Moore Drain Reach 2 555 2-Year 0.26 0.34 0.24 94.50 94.53 94.49 Moore Drain Reach 2 555 5-Year 0.41 0.43 1755.00 94.56 94.56 94.56 94.58 94.33 Moore Drain Reach 2 555 10-Year 0.26 0.34 0.24 94.33 94.35 94.38 Moore Drain Reach 2 500 2-Year 0.26 0.34 0.24 94.33 94.35 94.33 Moore Drain Reach 2 500 2-Year 0.26 0.34 0.24 94.33 94.35 94.33 Moore Drain Reach 2 500 2-Year 0.66 0.57 0.05 94.41 94.40 94.24 Moore Drain Reach 1 298 2-Year 0.67 1.07 1.01 93.68 93.79 <td>Moore Drain Trib</td> <td>Reach 1</td> <td>90</td> <td>10-Year</td> <td>1.07</td> <td>1.33</td> <td>0.10</td> <td>94 16</td> <td>94 17</td> <td>93.85</td>	Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	90	10-Year	1.07	1.33	0.10	94 16	94 17	93.85
Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 2 Reach 2 555 55 2-Year 555 0.26 0.34 0.24 94.50 94.53 94.49 Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 2 555 5-Year 555 0.41 0.43 1755.00 94.56 94.56 96.67 Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 2 555 25-Year 0.66 0.57 0.05 94.63 94.60 94.35 Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 2 500 2-Year 500 0.26 0.34 0.24 94.33 94.35 94.33 Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 2 500 2-Year 500 0.41 0.43 1755.00 94.37 95.87 Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 1 298 2-Year 25.7Year 0.66 0.57 0.05 94.41 94.40 94.24 Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 1 298 2-Year 2.Year 1.05 1.36 0.37 93.78 93.81 93.60 Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 1 298 2-Year 1.67 1.07 1.01 93.08 93.83	Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	90	25-Year	1.36	1.00	0.10	94 18	94 17	93.88
Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore DrainReach 2 Reach 2555 5552-Year 5-Year0.26 0.410.34 0.431755.00 1755.0094.56 94.5694.56 94.6694.66 94.5694.56 94.5894.32 94.33Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 2Reach 2 555555 5552-Year 25-Year0.66 0.660.57 0.0570.05 0.0594.63 94.6394.60 94.3594.35Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 2Reach 2 500500 5-Year0.26 0.410.34 0.410.24 0.4394.33 94.3394.35 94.3794.36 94.37Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 2S00 5002-Year 5000.41 5-Year0.41 0.410.43 0.22 0.660.570.05 0.0594.41 94.4194.40 94.24Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 1298 25-Year2-Year 0.660.67 1.071.01 1.0193.68 93.7993.78 93.78 93.81 93.81 93.81 93.81 93.83Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 1298 28-Year 2982-Year 1.050.67 1.071.01 1.01 93.00 93.8393.83 93.8393.60Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 1130 298 25-Year2-Year 1.050.67 1.071.01 1.0193.00 93.8393.18 93.81 93.83Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 1130 2-Year2-Year 1.050.67 1.0671.07 1.071.01 93.00 93.88 93.8393.60 93.61		i todon i	00	20 104		1.00	0.10	00	0	00.00
Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 2 Reach 2 555 555 5-Year 10-Year 0.41 0.52 0.43 0.02 1755.00 94.59 94.56 94.58 94.58 94.32 Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 2 555 25-Year 0.66 0.57 0.05 94.63 94.60 94.35 Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 2 500 2-Year 0.26 0.34 0.24 94.33 94.35 94.33 Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 2 500 2-Year 0.26 0.34 0.24 94.33 94.35 94.33 Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 2 500 2-Year 0.66 0.57 0.05 94.41 94.40 94.24 Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 1 298 2-Year 0.67 1.07 1.01 93.68 93.79 93.78 Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 1 298 2-Year 1.67 1.07 1.01 93.68 93.81 93.60 Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 1 130 2-Year 1.67 1.07 1	Moore Drain	Reach 2	555	2-Year	0.26	0.34	0.24	94.50	94.53	94.49
Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 2 Reach 2 555 10-Year 555 0.52 0.49 0.02 94.59 94.58 94.32 Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 2 555 25-Year 0.66 0.57 0.05 94.63 94.60 94.35 Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 2 500 2-Year 0.26 0.34 0.24 94.33 94.35 94.33 Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 2 500 10-Year 0.52 0.49 0.02 94.39 94.38 94.22 Moore Drain Reach 2 500 10-Year 0.52 0.49 0.02 94.39 94.38 94.22 Moore Drain Reach 1 298 2-Year 0.66 0.57 0.05 94.41 94.40 94.24 Moore Drain Reach 1 298 2-Year 0.67 1.07 1.01 93.68 93.79 93.78 Moore Drain Reach 1 298 25-Year 1.64 1.78 0.36 93.83 <td< td=""><td>Moore Drain</td><td>Reach 2</td><td>555</td><td>5-Year</td><td>0.41</td><td>0.43</td><td>1755.00</td><td>94.56</td><td>94.56</td><td>96.67</td></td<>	Moore Drain	Reach 2	555	5-Year	0.41	0.43	1755.00	94.56	94.56	96.67
Moore DrainReach 255525-Year0.660.570.0594.6394.6094.35Moore DrainReach 25002-Year0.260.340.2494.3394.3594.33Moore DrainReach 25005-Year0.410.431755.0094.3794.3795.87Moore DrainReach 250025-Year0.660.570.0594.4194.4094.24Moore DrainReach 250025-Year0.660.570.0594.4194.4094.24Moore DrainReach 12982-Year0.671.071.0193.6893.7993.78Moore DrainReach 12982-Year1.051.360.3793.7893.8193.60Moore DrainReach 129810-Year1.321.550.1593.8193.8293.52Moore DrainReach 12982-Year1.641.780.3693.8393.8393.60Moore DrainReach 11302-Year1.641.780.3693.8393.8393.60Moore DrainReach 11302-Year1.671.071.0193.0093.1893.11Moore DrainReach 11302-Year1.641.780.3693.5893.6793.45Joys Road TribReach 17052-Year1.641.780.3693.5893.6793.45Joys Road TribReach 1<	Moore Drain	Reach 2	555	10-Year	0.52	0.49	0.02	94.59	94.58	94.32
Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore DrainReach 2 Reach 2500 5002-Year 5000.26 5-Year0.34 0.410.24 0.4394.33 94.3794.35 94.3794.37 95.87Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 2Reach 2 500500 25.902-Year 25-Year0.660.570.0594.31 94.3794.37 94.3795.87 95.87Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 1 298298 2982-Year 25-Year0.660.570.0594.4194.4094.24Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 1 298298 2982-Year 25-Year1.067 1.061.07 1.0193.68 93.81 93.8193.60 93.8393.81 93.81 93.8293.52 93.52Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 1 298298 25-Year2-Year 1.641.780.36 0.3793.83 93.81 93.81 93.8393.60Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 1 Moore Drain Reach 1 Reach 1 1302-Year 2-Year0.67 1.071.07 1.01 1.01 93.0093.18 93.8393.11 93.60Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 1 Moore Drain Reach 1 Reach 1 Reach 1130 10-Year 2-Year1.67 1.051.07 1.071.01 93.00 93.8893.48 93.03Joys Road Trib Joys Road Trib Reach 1 Reach 1705 7052-Year 2-Year0.66 1.571.46 1.4697.07 97.2497.20 97.26Joys Road Trib Joys Road Trib Reach 1664 6642-Year<	Moore Drain	Reach 2	555	25-Year	0.66	0.57	0.05	94.63	94.60	94.35
Moore Drain Reach 2 500 5-Year 0.41 0.43 1755.00 94.37 94.37 95.87 Moore Drain Reach 2 500 10-Year 0.52 0.49 0.02 94.37 94.37 95.87 Moore Drain Reach 2 500 25-Year 0.66 0.57 0.05 94.41 94.40 94.24 Moore Drain Reach 1 298 2-Year 0.66 0.57 0.05 94.41 94.40 94.24 Moore Drain Reach 1 298 2-Year 0.67 1.07 1.01 93.68 93.79 93.78 Moore Drain Reach 1 298 2-Year 1.05 1.36 0.37 93.81 93.60 Moore Drain Reach 1 298 25-Year 1.64 1.78 0.36 93.83 93.83 93.60 Moore Drain Reach 1 130 2-Year 0.67 1.07 1.01 93.00 93.18 93.11 Moore Drain	Moore Drain	Reach 2	500	2-Year	0.26	0.34	0.24	94 33	94 35	94 33
Moore Drain Reach 2 500 0 rotat 0.40 10.40 0.40 0.439 94.39 94.38 94.22 Moore Drain Reach 2 500 25-Year 0.66 0.57 0.05 94.41 94.40 94.24 Moore Drain Reach 1 298 2-Year 0.67 1.07 1.01 93.68 93.79 93.78 Moore Drain Reach 1 298 5-Year 1.05 1.36 0.37 93.78 93.81 93.60 Moore Drain Reach 1 298 5-Year 1.05 1.36 0.37 93.78 93.81 93.60 Moore Drain Reach 1 298 25-Year 1.64 1.78 0.36 93.83 93.83 93.60 Moore Drain Reach 1 130 2-Year 0.67 1.07 1.01 93.00 93.18 93.11 Moore Drain Reach 1 130 2-Year 0.67 1.07 1.01 93.00 93.18 93.03	Moore Drain	Reach 2	500	5-Year	0.20	0.04	1755.00	94.37	94.37	95.87
Moore Drain Reach 2 500 25-Year 0.66 0.57 0.05 94.41 94.40 94.24 Moore Drain Reach 1 298 2-Year 0.66 0.57 0.05 94.41 94.40 94.24 Moore Drain Reach 1 298 2-Year 0.67 1.07 1.01 93.68 93.79 93.78 Moore Drain Reach 1 298 5-Year 1.05 1.36 0.37 93.78 93.81 93.60 Moore Drain Reach 1 298 25-Year 1.64 1.78 0.36 93.83 93.81 93.60 Moore Drain Reach 1 130 2-Year 0.67 1.07 1.01 93.00 93.18 93.11 Moore Drain Reach 1 130 5-Year 1.05 1.36 0.37 93.22 93.36 92.84 Moore Drain Reach 1 130 25-Year 1.05 1.36 0.37 93.22 93.36 93.48 93.03	Moore Drain	Reach 2	500	10-Year	0.52	0.40	0.02	94.39	94.38	94 22
Moore Drain Reach 1 298 2-Year 0.67 1.07 1.01 93.68 93.79 93.78 Moore Drain Reach 1 298 5-Year 1.05 1.36 0.37 93.78 93.81 93.60 Moore Drain Reach 1 298 5-Year 1.05 1.36 0.37 93.78 93.81 93.60 Moore Drain Reach 1 298 25-Year 1.64 1.78 0.36 93.83 93.82 93.52 Moore Drain Reach 1 130 2-Year 0.67 1.07 1.01 93.00 93.18 93.11 Moore Drain Reach 1 130 2-Year 0.67 1.07 1.01 93.00 93.18 93.11 Moore Drain Reach 1 130 5-Year 1.05 1.36 0.37 93.22 93.36 92.84 Moore Drain Reach 1 130 25-Year 1.64 1.78 0.36 93.58 93.67 93.45 <	Moore Drain	Reach 2	500	25-Year	0.66	0.57	0.05	94 41	94 40	94 24
Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 1 298 298 2-Year 5-Year 0.67 1.05 1.07 1.36 1.01 0.37 93.68 93.79 93.78 93.81 93.60 Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 1 298 5-Year 1.05 1.36 0.37 93.78 93.81 93.60 Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 1 298 25-Year 1.64 1.78 0.36 93.83 93.83 93.60 Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 1 130 2-Year 0.67 1.07 1.01 93.00 93.18 93.11 Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 1 130 5-Year 1.05 1.36 0.37 93.22 93.36 92.84 Moore Drain Reach 1 130 10-Year 1.32 1.55 0.15 93.38 93.67 93.45 Joys Road Trib Joys Road Trib Reach 1 705 2-Year 0.66 1.57 1.46 97.07 97.24 97.00 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 705 2-Year 0.66 1.57	Moore Brain	1 todoli 2	000	20 1001	0.00	0.07	0.00	0	01.10	01.21
Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 1 298 5-Year 1.05 1.36 0.37 93.78 93.81 93.60 Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 1 298 10-Year 1.32 1.55 0.15 93.81 93.82 93.52 Moore Drain Reach 1 298 25-Year 1.64 1.78 0.36 93.83 93.83 93.60 Moore Drain Reach 1 130 2-Year 0.67 1.07 1.01 93.00 93.18 93.11 Moore Drain Reach 1 130 5-Year 1.05 1.36 0.37 93.22 93.36 92.84 Moore Drain Reach 1 130 10-Year 1.32 1.55 0.15 93.38 93.48 93.03 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 705 2-Year 0.66 1.57 1.46 97.07 97.24 97.20 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 705 5-Year 1.11 2.00 0.69 97.14 97.39 97.08 <td>Moore Drain</td> <td>Reach 1</td> <td>298</td> <td>2-Year</td> <td>0.67</td> <td>1.07</td> <td>1.01</td> <td>93.68</td> <td>93.79</td> <td>93.78</td>	Moore Drain	Reach 1	298	2-Year	0.67	1.07	1.01	93.68	93.79	93.78
Moore Drain Moore Drain Reach 1 Reach 1 298 298 10-Year 25-Year 1.32 1.64 1.55 1.78 0.15 0.36 93.81 93.83 93.82 93.83 93.82 93.83 93.82 93.83 93.82 93.83 93.82 93.83 93.82 93.83 93.82 93.83 93.82 93.83 93.82 93.83 93.83 93.83 93.83 93.83 93.83 93.83 93.83 93.83 93.83 93.83 93.83 93.83 93.83 93.83 93.83 93.83 93.83 93.84 93.00 93.11 Moore Drain Reach 1 130 5-Year 1.05 1.36 0.37 93.22 93.36 92.84 Moore Drain Reach 1 130 10-Year 1.32 1.55 0.15 93.38 93.48 93.03 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 705 2-Year 0.66 1.57 1.46 97.07 97.24 97.20 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 705 2-Year 1.44 2.29 0.51 97.14 97.39 97.08 Joys Road Trib	Moore Drain	Reach 1	298	5-Year	1.05	1.36	0.37	93.78	93.81	93.60
Moore DrainReach 129825-Year1.641.780.3693.8393.8393.60Moore DrainReach 11302-Year0.671.071.0193.0093.1893.11Moore DrainReach 11305-Year1.051.360.3793.2293.3692.84Moore DrainReach 113010-Year1.321.550.1593.3893.4893.03Moore DrainReach 113025-Year1.641.780.3693.5893.6793.45Joys Road TribReach 17052-Year0.661.571.4697.0797.2497.20Joys Road TribReach 17055-Year1.112.000.6997.1497.3997.08Joys Road TribReach 170525-Year1.442.290.5197.1997.4997.04Joys Road TribReach 170525-Year1.872.640.7597.3597.6097.08Joys Road TribReach 16642-Year0.661.571.4696.9797.2697.23Joys Road TribReach 16645-Year1.112.000.6997.1297.4096.98Joys Road TribReach 16645-Year1.112.000.6997.1297.4096.98Joys Road TribReach 16645-Year1.442.290.5197.2297.4096.98Joys Road Tr	Moore Drain	Reach 1	298	10-Year	1.32	1.55	0.15	93.81	93.82	93.52
Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore Drain Moore DrainReach 1 Reach 1 Reach 1130 1302-Year 5-Year 10-Year 25-Year0.67 1.051.07 1.36 1.36 1.36 1.361.01 0.37 93.2293.18 93.36 93.2293.14 92.84 93.38Joys Road Trib Joys Road Trib Joys Road Trib Joys Road Trib Joys Road Trib Reach 1Reach 1 705705 2-Year2-Year 1.640.67 1.321.07 1.36 1.36 1.361.01 0.37 0.37 93.2293.18 93.61 93.3893.11 92.84 93.03 93.03Joys Road Trib Joys Road Trib Joys Road Trib Joys Road Trib Reach 1Reach 1 705705 5-Year 10-Year 25-Year0.66 1.571.46 1.6497.07 97.1497.24 97.29 97.0897.08 97.08Joys Road Trib Joys Road Trib Reach 1Reach 1 664664 5-Year0.66 1.571.46 1.6496.97 97.3597.60 97.2697.23 97.08Joys Road Trib Joys Road Trib Reach 1664 6642-Year 5-Year0.66 1.571.46 1.6496.97 97.2597.26 97.26Joys Road Trib Joys Road Trib Reach 1664 6642-Year 5-Year0.66 1.571.46 1.4696.97 97.2697.23 97.40Joys Road Trib Joys Road Trib Reach 1664 6642-Year 5-Year1.44 1.20096.97 0.6997.12 97.1297.40 96.98 96.92	Moore Drain	Reach 1	298	25-Year	1.64	1.78	0.36	93.83	93.83	93.60
Moore Drain Reach 1 130 5-Year 1.05 1.36 0.37 93.22 93.36 92.84 Moore Drain Reach 1 130 5-Year 1.05 1.36 0.37 93.22 93.36 92.84 Moore Drain Reach 1 130 10-Year 1.32 1.55 0.15 93.38 93.48 93.03 Moore Drain Reach 1 130 25-Year 1.64 1.78 0.36 93.58 93.67 93.45 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 705 2-Year 0.66 1.57 1.46 97.07 97.24 97.20 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 705 5-Year 1.11 2.00 0.69 97.14 97.39 97.08 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 705 10-Year 1.44 2.29 0.51 97.19 97.49 97.04 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 705 25-Year 1.87 2.64 0.75 97.35 97.60 97.23 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 664 2-Year 0.66 1.57 1	Moore Drain	Reach 1	130	2-Vear	0.67	1 07	1 01	93.00	03 18	03 11
Moore Drain Reach 1 130 10-Year 1.32 1.55 0.15 93.38 93.48 93.03 Moore Drain Reach 1 130 25-Year 1.64 1.78 0.36 93.58 93.67 93.45 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 705 2-Year 0.66 1.57 1.46 97.07 97.24 97.20 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 705 5-Year 1.11 2.00 0.69 97.14 97.39 97.08 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 705 10-Year 1.44 2.29 0.51 97.19 97.49 97.04 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 705 25-Year 1.87 2.64 0.75 97.35 97.60 97.08 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 664 2-Year 0.66 1.57 1.46 96.97 97.26 97.23 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 664 2-Year 0.66 1.57 1.46 96.97 97.26 97.23 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 664 5-Year 1.11 2.00	Moore Drain	Reach 1	130	5-Vear	1.05	1.07	0.37	03.00	93.10	92.84
Moore Drain Reach 1 100 100 rotat 1.002 1.002 1.003 0.100 00.100	Moore Drain	Reach 1	130	10-Year	1.00	1.55	0.07	93.38	93.48	93.03
Joys Road Trib Reach 1 705 2-Year 0.66 1.57 1.46 97.07 97.24 97.20 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 705 5-Year 1.11 2.00 0.69 97.14 97.39 97.08 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 705 10-Year 1.44 2.29 0.51 97.19 97.49 97.04 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 705 25-Year 1.87 2.64 0.75 97.35 97.60 97.08 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 664 2-Year 0.66 1.57 1.46 96.97 97.24 97.04 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 664 2-Year 1.87 2.64 0.75 97.35 97.60 97.08 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 664 5-Year 1.11 2.00 0.69 97.12 97.40 96.98 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 664 10-Year 1.44 2.29 0.51 97.22 97.40 96.98	Moore Drain	Reach 1	130	25-Year	1.62	1.00	0.36	93.58	93.67	93.45
Joys Road Trib Reach 1 705 2-Year 0.66 1.57 1.46 97.07 97.24 97.20 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 705 5-Year 1.11 2.00 0.69 97.14 97.39 97.08 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 705 10-Year 1.44 2.29 0.51 97.19 97.49 97.04 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 705 25-Year 1.87 2.64 0.75 97.35 97.60 97.08 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 664 2-Year 0.66 1.57 1.46 96.97 97.26 97.23 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 664 5-Year 1.11 2.00 0.69 97.12 97.40 96.98 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 664 5-Year 1.11 2.00 0.69 97.12 97.40 96.98 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 664 10-Year 1.44 2.29 0.51 97.22 97.40 96.98	Moore Brain	rtodon i	100	20 100	1.04	1.70	0.00	00.00	00.07	00.40
Joys Road Trib Reach 1 705 5-Year 1.11 2.00 0.69 97.14 97.39 97.08 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 705 10-Year 1.44 2.29 0.51 97.19 97.49 97.04 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 705 25-Year 1.87 2.64 0.75 97.35 97.60 97.08 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 664 2-Year 0.66 1.57 1.46 96.97 97.26 97.23 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 664 5-Year 1.11 2.00 0.69 97.12 97.40 96.98 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 664 10-Year 1.44 2.29 0.51 97.22 97.40 96.98	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	705	2-Year	0.66	1.57	1.46	97.07	97.24	97.20
Joys Road Trib Reach 1 705 10-Year 1.44 2.29 0.51 97.19 97.49 97.04 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 705 25-Year 1.87 2.64 0.75 97.35 97.60 97.08 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 664 2-Year 0.66 1.57 1.46 96.97 97.26 97.23 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 664 5-Year 1.11 2.00 0.69 97.12 97.40 96.98 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 664 10-Year 1.44 2.29 0.51 97.22 97.40 96.98	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	705	5-Year	1.11	2.00	0.69	97.14	97.39	97.08
Joys Road TribReach 170525-Year1.872.640.7597.3597.6097.08Joys Road TribReach 16642-Year0.661.571.4696.9797.2697.23Joys Road TribReach 16645-Year1.112.000.6997.1297.4096.98Joys Road TribReach 166410-Year1.442.290.5197.2297.4096.92	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	705	10-Year	1.44	2.29	0.51	97.19	97.49	97.04
Joys Road Trib Reach 1 664 2-Year 0.66 1.57 1.46 96.97 97.26 97.23 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 664 5-Year 1.11 2.00 0.69 97.12 97.40 96.98 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 664 10-Year 1.44 2.29 0.51 97.22 97.40 96.92	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	705	25-Year	1.87	2.64	0.75	97.35	97.60	97.08
Joys Road Trib Reach 1 664 2-Year 0.66 1.57 1.46 96.97 97.26 97.23 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 664 5-Year 1.11 2.00 0.69 97.12 97.40 96.98 Joys Road Trib Reach 1 664 10-Year 1.44 2.29 0.51 97.22 97.40 96.92			<u> </u>	0.14	0.00	4		00.07	07.00	07.00
Joys Road Trib Reach 1 664 10-Year 1.44 2.20 0.51 97.12 97.40 90.98	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	004 664	∠-Year 5 Voor		1.57	1.40	90.97	97.26	97.23
	Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	664	10 Veor	1.11	2.00	0.09	07 22	97.40 07.40	90.90 06.02

	g contaition	3 I IOW3 all	u water Leve		Vall Gaa			1113	
River	Reach	River	Profile	F	-low (m³/s	5)	Maximu	m Water L	evel (m)
		Station		1	2	4	1	2	4
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	664	25-Year	1.87	2.64	0.75	97.36	97.61	97.00
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	635	2-Year	0.66	1.57	1.46	96.94	97.19	97.16
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	635	5-Year	1.11	2.00	0.69	97.07	97.31	96.95
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	635	10-Year	1.44	2.29	0.51	97.16	97.40	96.89
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	635	25-Year	1.87	2.64	0.75	97.28	97.50	96.96
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	634	Culvert						
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	622	2-Year	0.66	1.57	1.46	96.91	97.08	97.06
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	622	5-Year	1.11	2.00	0.69	97.00	97.14	96.92
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	622	10-Year	1.44	2.29	0.51	97.06	97.18	96.87
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	622	25-Year	1.87	2.64	0.75	97.13	97.21	96.93
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	602	2-Year	0.66	1.57	1.46	96.90	97.07	97.05
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	602	5-Year	1.11	2.00	0.69	96.99	97.14	96.91
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	602	10-Year	1.44	2.29	0.51	97.05	97.17	96.86
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	602	25-Year	1.87	2.64	0.75	97.12	97.22	96.92
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	322	2-Year	0.66	1.57	1.46	96.41	96.54	96.53
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	322	5-Year	1.11	2.00	0.69	96.49	96.58	96.41
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	322	10-Year	1.44	2.29	0.51	96.53	96.61	96.38
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	322	25-Year	1.87	2.64	0.75	96.57	96.65	96.42
Jovs Road Trib	Reach 1	275	2-Year	0.66	1.57	1.46	96.18	96.31	96.28
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	275	5-Year	1.11	2.00	0.69	96.23	96.39	96.19
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	275	10-Year	1.44	2.29	0.51	96.28	96.44	96.16
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	275	25-Year	1.87	2.64	0.75	96.37	96.49	96.19
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	30	2-Year	0.66	1.57	1.46	95.78	96.12	96.10
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	30	5-Year	1.11	2.00	0.69	96.00	96.19	95.80
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	30	10-Year	1.44	2.29	0.51	96.11	96.22	95.70
Jovs Road Trib	Reach 1	30	25-Year	1.87	2.64	0.75	96.20	96.26	95.85

Table 8A: Existing Conditions Flows and Water Levels on the Van Gaal and Arbuckle Drains ⁽¹⁾

1. The Van Gaal Drain 100-year 24-hour SCS peak flow reaches the Jock River.

2. The Van Gaal Drain 100-year spring snowmelt plus rainfall peak flow reaches the Jock River.

Table OD, Dra	need Condition	Elouvo and Water	I avala on the M	on Cool and Arbu	akla Draina (1)
Table ob. Pro	posed Condition	S Flows and water	r Levels on the va	an Gaal and Arbu	

River	Reach	River	Profile	F	-low (m ³ /s	;)	Maximu	m Water I	_evel (m)
		Station		1	2	4	1	2	4
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3494	2-Year	0.91	2.08	0.87	97.00	97.27	96.98
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3494	5-Year	1.55	2.68	0.79	97.17	97.37	96.95
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3494	10-Year	1.92	2.97	0.91	97.26	97.42	96.98
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3494	25-Year	2.43	3.40	1.06	97.37	97.49	97.02
Van Caal Drain	Deech 2	2222		1.00	0.07	0.00	00.01	07.46	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3322	2-Year 5 Voor	1.02	2.27	0.90	96.91	97.10	96.89
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3322	5-Year		2.90	0.80	97.07	97.20	90.87
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3322	10-Year	2.10	3.21 2.75	0.92	97.15	97.30	90.90
Vall Gaal Dialli	Reaching	3322	25- real	2.75	3.75	1.07	97.20	97.37	90.93
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3312	2-Year	1.02	2.27	0.90	96.91	97.16	96.89
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3312	5-Year	1.71	2.90	0.80	97.07	97.24	96.88
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3312	10-Year	2.16	3.27	0.92	97.15	97.29	96.90
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3312	25-Year	2.75	3.75	1.07	97.25	97.35	96.93
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3311	Culvert						
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3302	2-Year	1.02	2.27	0.90	96.90	97.08	96.88
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3302	5-Year	1.71	2.90	0.80	97.02	97.14	96.87
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3302	10-Year	2.16	3.27	0.92	97.08	97.17	96.89
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3302	25-Year	2.75	3.75	1.07	97.15	97.24	96.92
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3297	2-Year	1.02	2.27	0.90	96.87	97.04	96.86
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3297	5-Year	1.71	2.90	0.80	96.98	97.09	96.85
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3297	10-Year	2.16	3.27	0.92	97.03	97.13	96.87
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3297	25-Year	2.75	3.75	1.07	97.10	97.20	96.90
Van Gaal Drain	Peach 3	3185	2 Voor	1.02	2.27	0 00	06 51	06 72	06 30
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3185	5-Vear	1.02	2.27	0.00	96.61	06.86	06 35
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3185	10-Year	2.16	3.27	0.00	96 76	96.00	96.39
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3185	25-Year	2.10	3.75	1.07	96.70	97.09	96.43
	r touon o	0100	20 1001	2.70	0.70	1.07	00.00	07.00	00.40
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3175	2-Year	1.30	2.58	0.90	96.53	96.73	96.43
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3175	5-Year	2.09	3.25	0.80	96.66	96.86	96.40
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3175	10-Year	2.71	3.78	0.92	96.77	96.96	96.43
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3175	25-Year	3.50	4.36	1.07	96.92	97.07	96.47
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	317/	Culvert						
	r caon o	0174	Guiven						
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3165	2-Year	1.30	2.58	0.90	96.50	96.65	96.41
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3165	5-Year	2.09	3.25	0.80	96.61	96.70	96.38
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3165	10-Year	2.71	3.78	0.92	96.67	96.72	96.42
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3165	25-Year	3.50	4.36	1.07	96.72	96.74	96.45
Van Gaal Drain	Peach 3	31/0	2 Vear	1 30	2.58	0 00	06.46	06 60	06 37
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3149	5-Vear	2.00	2.00	0.90	90.40	90.00	90.37
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3140	10-Vear	2.03	3.78	0.00	96.62	96 66	96 37
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3140	25_Veer	3.50	1 36	1.52	96.62	90.00	96.37 96.41
		0140	20- i Gai	0.00	7.00	1.07	00.00	00.00	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3086	2-Year	1.30	2.58	0.90	96.34	96.50	96.25
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3086	5-Year	2.09	3.25	0.80	96.46	96.55	96.22
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3086	10-Year	2.71	3.78	0.92	96.52	96.58	96.25
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3086	25-Year	3.50	4.36	1.07	96.58	96.60	96.29
	_								
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3016	2-Year	1.30	2.58	0.90	96.26	96.45	96.17

					(1)
Table 8B: Pro	posed Conditions	Flows and Water	Levels on the V	an Gaal and	Arbuckle Drains ⁽¹⁾

Tuble entropeed					2				
River	Reach	River	Profile	F	-low (m³/s	5)	Maximu	m Water I	_evel (m)
		Station		1	2	4	1	2	4
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3016	5-Year	2 0 9	3 25	0.80	96 40	96 51	96 14
Van Gaal Drain	Poach 3	3016	10 Voor	2.00	2 79	0.00	06.17	06.54	06.17
Van Gaal Diain		3010		2.71	3.70	0.92	90.47	90.54	30.17
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	3016	25-Year	3.50	4.36	1.07	96.54	96.56	96.21
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2980	2-Year	1.30	2.58	0.90	96.21	96.41	96.12
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2980	5-Year	2.09	3 25	0.80	96.35	96.48	96.09
Van Caal Drain	Reach 2	2000		2.00	0.20	0.00	00.00	00.40	00.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2980	10-Year	2.71	3.78	0.92	96.43	90.51	90.12
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2980	25-Year	3.50	4.36	1.07	96.51	96.54	96.16
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2851	2-Year	1.30	2.58	0.90	95.87	96.17	95.77
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2851	5-Year	2.09	3 25	0.80	96.06	96 27	95 73
Van Gaal Drain	Poach 3	2851	10 Voor	2.00	2 79	0.00	06.17	06.32	05 77
Van Gaal Diain		2001		2.71	3.70	0.92	90.17	90.52	95.77
van Gaai Drain	Reach 3	2851	25-Year	3.50	4.30	1.07	96.28	96.37	95.82
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2808	2-Year	1.30	2.58	0.90	95.82	96.13	95.72
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2808	5-Year	2.09	3.25	0.80	96.02	96.24	95.69
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2808	10-Year	271	3 78	0.92	96 13	96.29	95 73
Van Caal Drain	Reach 2	2000		2.71	4.20	1.07	06.10	00.20	05.70
van Gaai Drain	Reach 3	2808	25-Year	3.50	4.30	1.07	96.24	96.34	95.78
			a 14					~~~-	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2658	2-Year	1.30	2.58	0.90	95.71	96.05	95.63
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2658	5-Year	2.09	3.25	0.80	95.92	96.14	95.59
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2658	10-Year	2.71	3.78	0.92	96.03	96.19	95.64
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 3	2658	25-Year	3 50	4 36	1 07	96 14	96 24	95 70
	Redon o	2000	20 1001	0.00	4.00	1.07	00.14	00.24	00.70
Van Caal Drain	Booch 2	2554	2 Voor	1.04	1 1 2	1 5 5	05 71	06.02	05.62
	Reach 2	2004	Z-real	1.94	4.13	1.55	95.71	90.03	95.05
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2554	5-Year	3.20	5.22	1.36	95.91	96.13	95.58
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2554	10-Year	4.03	5.93	1.57	96.02	96.18	95.63
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2554	25-Year	5.10	6.83	1.84	96.12	96.23	95.69
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2478	2-Year	1 94	4 13	1 55	95 62	95 93	95 55
Van Gaal Drain	Poach 2	2479	5 Voor	3 20	5.22	1.00	05.02	06.00	05.50
Van Gaal Dialii		2470		3.20	5.22	1.50	95.02	30.01	95.51
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2478	10-Year	4.03	5.93	1.57	95.92	96.06	95.55
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2478	25-Year	5.10	6.83	1.84	96.01	96.09	95.61
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2427.58*	2-Year	1.94	4.13	1.55	95.56	95.85	95.49
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2427.58*	5-Year	3.20	5.22	1.36	95.76	95.94	95.45
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2/27 58*	10-Vear	1 03	5.03	1 57	05.85	05.07	95 / 9
Van Caal Drain	Reach 2	2427.50	05 Veer	F 10	0.00	1.07	05.00	00.01	05.43
van Gaai Drain	Reach 2	2427.58	25-Year	5.10	0.83	1.64	95.94	96.00	95.55
		0077 (7*	0) (0 - 10	~	0 - 10
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2377.17*	2-Year	1.94	4.13	1.55	95.49	95.77	95.42
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2377.17*	5-Year	3.20	5.22	1.36	95.68	95.85	95.38
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2377.17*	10-Year	4.03	5.93	1.57	95.77	95.88	95.43
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2377 17*	25-Year	5 10	6.83	1 84	95.85	95 92	95 48
	r touon 2	20/////	20 1001	0.10	0.00	1.01	00.00	00.02	
Van Gaal Drain	Poach 2	2226 76*	2 Voor	1 0/	1 12	1 55	05.41	05.67	05.34
		2320.70		1.94	4.13	1.55	95.41	95.07	95.54
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2326.76^	5-Year	3.20	5.22	1.36	95.58	95.76	95.30
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2326.76*	10-Year	4.03	5.93	1.57	95.66	95.80	95.34
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2326.76*	25-Year	5.10	6.83	1.84	95.75	95.85	95.39
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2276.35*	2-Year	1.94	4.13	1.55	95.05	95.25	95.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2276 35*	5-Year	3 20	5 22	1.36	95 18	95 33	94 97
Van Caal Drain	Dooch 0	2270.00		4.02	5.02	1.00	05.10	05.00	05.00
		22/0.35		4.03	0.93	1.57	90.20	90.30	95.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2276.35*	25-Year	5.10	6.83	1.84	95.32	95.45	95.04
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2252	2-Year	1.94	4.13	1.55	94.97	95.08	94.80

					(1)
Table 8B: Pro	posed Conditions	Flows and Water	Levels on the V	an Gaal and	Arbuckle Drains ⁽¹⁾

		D :			- (3)	、 、			
River	Reach	River	Profile	ŀ	-low (m°/s	5)	Maximui	m Water I	_evel (m)
		Station		1	2	4	1	2	4
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2252	5-Year	3.20	5.22	1.36	95.15	95.17	94.77
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2252	10-Year	4 03	5 93	1 57	95.26	95 23	94.80
Van Caal Drain	Reach 2	2252	DE Voor	F 10	6.00	1.07	05.20	05.20	04.00
Van Gaar Drain	Reach Z	2232	25-rear	5.10	0.03	1.04	95.30	95.27	94.03
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2237	2-Year	1.94	4.13	1.55	94.95	95.06	94.78
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2237	5-Year	3.20	5.22	1.36	95.13	95.15	94.75
Van Gaal Drain	Poach 2	2227	10 Voor	4.03	5.02	1.57	05.24	05.21	04 79
Van Gaal Dialii		2237		4.03	5.95	1.57	95.24	95.21	94.70
Van Gaai Drain	Reach 2	2237	25-Year	5.10	0.83	1.84	95.30	95.24	94.81
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2217	2-Year	1.94	4.13	1.55	94.93	95.03	94.75
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2217	5-Year	3.20	5.22	1.36	95.11	95.12	94.72
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2217	10-Vear	1 03	5.03	1 57	05.22	05.18	9/ 75
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2217		7.00	0.00	1.07	05.22	05.10	04.70
van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2217	25-Year	5.10	0.83	1.84	95.33	95.21	94.78
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2197	2-Year	1.94	4.13	1.55	94.90	95.00	94.71
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2197	5-Year	3.20	5.22	1.36	95.08	95.09	94.69
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2197	10-Year	4 03	5 93	1.57	95 19	95 15	94 72
Van Caal Drain	Reach 2	2107	DE Voor	F 10	6.00	1.07	05.10	05.10	04.74
Van Gaar Drain	Reach Z	2197	25-rear	5.10	0.03	1.04	95.51	95.17	94.74
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2177	2-Year	1.94	4.13	1.55	94.87	94.97	94.68
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2177	5-Year	3.20	5.22	1.36	95.06	95.06	94.65
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2177	10-Year	4.03	5.93	1.57	95.16	95.12	94.68
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2177	25 Vear	5 10	6.83	1.8/	05.28	05 13	04 70
Van Gaar Drain	I COUT Z	2111	20-164	0.10	0.00	1.04	35.20	35.15	34.70
		0457	0.)(4.04	1.10	4 55	04.05	04.04	04.04
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2157	2-year	1.94	4.13	1.55	94.85	94.94	94.64
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2157	5-Year	3.20	5.22	1.36	95.03	95.03	94.61
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2157	10-Year	4.03	5.93	1.57	95.14	95.09	94.65
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2157	25-Year	5.10	6.83	1.84	95.26	95.09	94.66
		2.07	20 1001	0.10	0.00	1.01	00.20	00.00	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2154	2 Vear	1 0/	1 13	1 55	0/ 83	0/ 01	0/ 61
Van Gaal Dialii		2154		1.94	4.10	1.55	94.03	94.91	94.01
Van Gaai Drain	Reach 2	2154	5-Year	3.20	5.22	1.30	95.01	95.00	94.58
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2154	10-Year	4.03	5.93	1.57	95.12	95.06	94.61
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2154	25-Year	5.10	6.83	1.84	95.24	95.05	94.61
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2153	2-Year	2.78	4.99	1.78	94.79	94.86	94.57
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2153	5 Vear	1 38	6.30	1 50	0/ 07	0/ 06	01 51
Van Gaal Drain		2155		4.50	0.30	1.30	94.97	94.90	94.54
Van Gaai Drain	Reach 2	2153	10-Year	5.52	7.15	1.78	95.07	95.01	94.57
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2153	25-Year	6.89	7.11	1.78	95.19	95.01	94.57
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2152	2-Year	2.78	4.99	1.78	94.75	94.82	94.53
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2152	5-Year	4.38	6.30	1.50	94.92	94.92	94.49
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2152	10-Year	5 52	7 15	1 78	95.03	94 97	94 53
Van Caal Drain	Reach 2	2102	DE Voor	6.02	7.10	1.70	05.00	04.07	04.50
Van Gaar Drain	Reach Z	2152	25-rear	0.09	1.11	1.70	95.15	94.97	94.55
		0.400	0) (0 70	4.00	4 70	a	o 4 - o	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2132	2-Year	2.78	4.99	1.78	94.71	94.78	94.49
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2132	5-Year	4.38	6.30	1.50	94.88	94.87	94.45
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2132	10-Year	5.52	7.15	1.78	94.99	94.93	94.49
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2132	25-Year	6.89	7.11	1.78	95.11	94.93	94.49
				0.00				000	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2112	2. Veor	270	1 00	170	94 66	91 71	01 11
				2.10	4.55	1.70	04.00	34.74	34.44
van Gaai Drain	Reach 2	2112	5-Year	4.38	0.30	1.50	94.84	94.83	94.41
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2112	10-Year	5.52	7.15	1.78	94.95	94.89	94.44
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2112	25-Year	6.89	7.11	1.78	95.07	94.89	94.44
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2092	2-Year	2.78	4.99	1.78	94.62	94.70	94.40

Table 8B. Prop	osed Conditions F	-lows and Water	Levels on the Va	an Gaal and A	rbuckle Drains ⁽¹⁾

River	Reach	River	Profile	Flow (m ³ /s)		Maximum Water Lev		_evel (m)	
		Station		1	2	4	1	2	4
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2092	5-Year	4.38	6.30	1.50	94.80	94.79	94.37
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2092	10-Year	5.52	7.15	1.78	94.91	94.85	94.40
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2092	25-Year	6.89	7.11	1.78	95.03	94.85	94.40
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2072	2-Year	2.78	4.99	1.78	94.58	94.66	94.36
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2072	5-Year	4.38	6.30	1.50	94.76	94.75	94.33
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2072	10-Year	5.52	7.15	1.78	94.87	94.81	94.36
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2072	25-Year	6.89	7.11	1.78	94.99	94.81	94.36
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2052	2-Year	2.78	4.99	1.78	94.54	94.62	94.32
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2052	5-Year	4.38	6.30	1.50	94.72	94.71	94.28
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2052	10-Year	5.52	7.15	1.78	94.83	94.77	94.32
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2052	25-Year	6.89	7.11	1.78	94.95	94.77	94.32
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2032	2-Year	2.78	4.99	1.78	94.50	94.57	94.28
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2032	5-Year	4.38	6.30	1.50	94.68	94.67	94.24
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2032	10-Year	5.52	7.15	1.78	94.79	94.73	94.28
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2032	25-Year	6.89	7.11	1.78	94.91	94.73	94.28
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2002	2-Year	2.78	4.99	1.78	94.44	94.51	94.21
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2002	5-Year	4.38	6.30	1.50	94.62	94.61	94.18
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2002	10-Year	5.52	7.15	1.78	94.73	94.67	94.21
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	2002	25-Year	6.89	7.11	1.78	94.85	94.67	94.21
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1982	2-Year	2.78	4.99	1.78	94.40	94.48	94.17
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1982	5-Year	4.38	6.30	1.50	94.58	94.57	94.14
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1982	10-Year	5.52	7.15	1.78	94.69	94.63	94.17
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1982	25-Year	6.89	7.11	1.78	94.81	94.63	94.17
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1962	2-Year	2.78	4.99	1.78	94.36	94.44	94.13
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1962	5-Year	4.38	6.30	1.50	94.54	94.53	94.09
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1962	10-Year	5.52	7.15	1.78	94.65	94.59	94.13
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1962	25-Year	6.89	7.11	1.78	94.77	94.60	94.13
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1942	2-Year	2.78	4.99	1.78	94.32	94.40	94.09
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1942	5-Year	4.38	6.30	1.50	94.50	94.50	94.05
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1942	10-Year	5.52	7.15	1.78	94.61	94.56	94.09
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1942	25-Year	6.89	7.11	1.78	94.73	94.56	94.09
	D 1 0	1000	0 .) (0.70	4.00	4 70			
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1922	2-Year	2.78	4.99	1.78	94.28	94.36	94.05
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1922	5-Year	4.38	6.30	1.50	94.46	94.46	94.01
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1922	10-Year	5.52	7.15	1.78	94.57	94.52	94.05
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1922	25-Year	6.89	7.11	1.78	94.69	94.53	94.05
	Durito	4000	0.)(0.70	4.00	4 70	04.04	04.00	04.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1902	2-Year	2.78	4.99	1.78	94.24	94.33	94.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1902	5-Year	4.38	6.30	1.50	94.42	94.43	93.97
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1902	10-Year	5.52	7.15	1.78	94.54	94.48	94.00
van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1902	25-Year	6.89	/.11	1.78	94.66	94.49	94.01
	Deerb 0	1000	2 //	0.70	1.00	4 70	04.00	04.00	02.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1882	∠-year	2.78	4.99	1.78	94.20	94.29	93.96
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1882	5-Year	4.38	0.30	1.50	94.39	94.39	93.93
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1002	10-Year	5.52	1.15	1.78	94.50	94.45	93.96
van Gaai Drain	Reach 2	1882	∠o-rear	0.89	1.11	ι./Ծ	94.62	94.40	93.98
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1862	2-Vear	2 78	4 99	1 78	94 16	94 26	93.92
	TOUGHE	1002	∠-i ∪ai	_ <u>~</u> ., U	1.00	1.70	07.10	07.20	00.02

					(4)
Table 8B: Pro	posed Conditions	Flows and Water	Levels on the Va	in Gaal and Arbu	ckle Drains ⁽¹⁾

River	Reach	River	Profile	l F	-low (m³/s	.)	Maximu	m Water L	_evel (m)
		Station		1	2	, 	1	2	
Van Cael Drain	Booch 2	1962	5 Voor	1 20	6.20	1 50	04.25	04.26	02.90
	Reach 2	1002	5-real	4.30	0.30	1.50	94.35	94.30	93.09
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1862	10-Year	5.52	7.15	1.78	94.46	94.42	93.92
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1862	25-Year	6.89	7.11	1.78	94.58	94.43	93.94
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1842	2-Year	2 78	4 99	1 78	94 13	94 23	93.88
Van Caal Drain	Reach 2	1042	E Voor	4.20	6.20	1.70	04.20	04.20	02.00
	Reach 2	1042	5-real	4.30	0.30	1.50	94.32	94.33	93.05
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1842	10-Year	5.52	7.15	1.78	94.43	94.39	93.88
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1842	25-Year	6.89	7.11	1.78	94.55	94.40	93.91
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1822	2-Year	2.78	4.99	1.78	94.10	94.20	93.84
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1822	5-Year	4 38	6 30	1 50	94 28	94 30	93.80
Van Caal Drain	Reach 2	1022	10 Voor	- F F O	7.15	1.00	04.40	04.26	02.00
Van Gaar Drain	Reach 2	1022	10-rear	5.52	7.15	1.70	94.40	94.30	93.05
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1822	25-Year	6.89	7.11	1.78	94.51	94.37	93.88
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1802	2-Year	2.78	4.99	1.78	94.06	94.17	93.81
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1802	5-Year	4.38	6.30	1.50	94.25	94.27	93.77
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1802	10-Vear	5 52	7 15	1 78	94 36	94 33	93.81
Van Caal Drain	Reach 2	1002	05 Veer	0.02	7.10	1.70	04.00	04.00	00.01
Van Gaar Drain	Reach Z	1002	20-real	0.09	1.11	1.70	94.40	94.34	93.00
		4700	0.14	0.70	4.00	4 70		~ ~ ~ ~	00 77
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1782	2-Year	2.78	4.99	1.78	94.04	94.14	93.77
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1782	5-Year	4.38	6.30	1.50	94.22	94.24	93.73
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1782	10-Year	5.52	7.15	1.78	94.33	94.30	93.77
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1782	25-Year	6.89	7.11	1.78	94,45	94.32	93.83
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1762	2-Vear	2 78	1 99	1 78	94 01	94 12	93 74
Van Caal Drain	Reach 2	1762	E Veer	2.70	4.00	1.70	04.01	04.02	02.00
Van Gaar Drain	Reach 2	1702	o-rear	4.30	0.30	1.50	94.19	94.22	93.09
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1762	10-Year	5.52	7.15	1.78	94.30	94.27	93.74
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1762	25-Year	6.89	7.11	1.78	94.42	94.30	93.82
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1742	2-Year	2.78	4.99	1.78	93.98	94.10	93.70
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1742	5-Year	4.38	6.30	1.50	94.16	94.19	93.66
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1742	10-Vear	5 52	7 15	1 78	94 27	94 25	93 71
Van Caal Drain	Reach 2	1742	25 Voor	6 00	7.10	1.70	04.20	04.20	02.00
Vali Gaai Dialii	Reach 2	1742	2 3- 1eai	0.09	1.11	1.70	94.59	94.20	93.00
	Deesk 0	4700	0.) (0.70	4.00	4 70	00.00	04.00	00.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1722	2-Year	2.78	4.99	1.78	93.96	94.08	93.68
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1722	5-Year	4.38	6.30	1.50	94.14	94.17	93.63
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1722	10-Year	5.52	7.15	1.78	94.25	94.23	93.69
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1722	25-Year	6.89	7.11	1.78	94.36	94.26	93.79
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1702	2-Year	2.78	4.99	1.78	93.94	94.06	93.65
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1702	5-Year	4.38	6.30	1 50	94 11	94 15	93.60
Van Gaal Drain	Poach 2	1702	10 Voor	5.52	7 15	1.00	04.22	04.21	03.66
Van Gaal Dialin		1702		0.02	7.15	1.70	94.22	94.21	93.00
van Gaai Drain	Reach 2	1702	∠5-Year	6.89	7.11	1.78	94.33	94.24	93.78
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1682	2-Year	2.78	4.99	1.78	93.92	94.05	93.63
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1682	5-Year	4.38	6.30	1.50	94.09	94.14	93.58
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1682	10-Year	5.52	7.15	1.78	94.20	94.19	93.64
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1682	25-Year	6.89	7.11	1.78	94.31	94.22	93.77
			20 100	0.00					
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1662	2 Vear	270	1 00	170	03.00	01 02	03.61
		1002		2.10	4.99	1.70	93.90	94.00	00.00
van Gaai Drain	Reach 2	1002	5-rear	4.38	0.30	1.50	94.07	94.12	93.50
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1662	10-Year	5.52	7.15	1.78	94.17	94.17	93.63
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1662	25-Year	6.89	7.11	1.78	94.28	94.21	93.76
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1642	2-Year	2.78	4.99	1.78	93.89	94.02	93.60

			(4)	
Table 8B: Prop	osed Conditions Flows a	nd Water Levels on the	e Van Gaal and Arbuckle Drains ⁽¹⁾	

River	Reach	River	Profile	F	-low (m ³ /s	;)	Maximum Water Lev		_evel (m)
		Station		1	2	4	1	2	4
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1642	5-Year	4.38	6.30	1.50	94.05	94.11	93.54
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1642	10-Year	5.52	7.15	1.78	94.15	94.16	93.62
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1642	25-Year	6.89	7.11	1.78	94.26	94.19	93.76
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1622	2-Year	2.78	4.99	1.78	93.87	94.01	93.59
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1622	5-Year	4.38	6.30	1.50	94.04	94.09	93.53
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1622	10-Year	5.52	7.15	1.78	94.13	94.14	93.61
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1622	25-Year	6.89	7.11	1.78	94.24	94.18	93.75
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1615	2-Year	2.78	4.99	1.78	93.87	94.01	93.59
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1615	5-Year	4.38	6.30	1.50	94.03	94.09	93.53
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1615	10-Year	5.52	7.15	1.78	94.13	94.14	93.60
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1615	25-Year	6.89	7.11	1.78	94.23	94.18	93.75
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1555	2-Year	2.78	4.99	1.78	93.84	93.98	93.56
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1555	5-Year	4.38	6.30	1.50	93.99	94.06	93.50
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1555	10-Year	5.52	7.15	1.78	94.08	94.11	93.58
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1555	25-Year	6.89	7.11	1.78	94.18	94.15	93.74
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1488	2-Year	2.78	4.99	1.78	93.82	93.96	93.55
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1488	5-Year	4.38	6.30	1.50	93.96	94.03	93.49
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1488	10-Year	5.52	7.15	1.78	94.04	94.08	93.57
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1488	25-Year	6.89	7.11	1.78	94.12	94.12	93.74
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1416	2-Year	2.78	4.99	1.78	93.80	93.95	93.54
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1416	5-Year	4.38	6.30	1.50	93.93	94.02	93.48
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1416	10-Year	5.52	7.15	1.78	94.01	94.06	93.56
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1416	25-Year	6.89	7.11	1.78	94.09	94.11	93.74
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1400	2-Year	2.78	4.99	1.78	93.80	93.94	93.54
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1400	5-Year	4.38	6.30	1.50	93.92	94.01	93.48
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1400	10-Year	5.52	7.15	1.78	94.00	94.05	93.56
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1400	25-Year	6.89	7.11	1.78	94.07	94.10	93.73
-			-			_			
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1364	2-Year	2.78	4.99	1.78	93.79	93.94	93.54
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1364	5-Year	4.38	6.30	1.50	93.91	94.00	93.48
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1364	10-Year	5.52	7.15	1.78	93.98	94.04	93.56
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1364	25-Year	6.89	7.11	1.78	94.06	94.09	93.73
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1340	2-Year	2.83	5.05	1.84	93.78	93.90	93.53
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1340	5-Year	4.44	6.34	1.58	93.88	93.95	93.47
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1340	10-Year	5.57	7.21	1.86	93.94	93.98	93.55
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1340	25-Year	6.93	8.32	2.19	93.99	94.01	93.72
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1339	Culvert						
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1312	2-Year	2.83	5.05	1.84	93.77	93.90	93.52
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1312	5-Year	4.44	6.34	1.58	93.88	93.94	93.47
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1312	10-Year	5.57	7.21	1.86	93.93	93.97	93.55
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1312	25-Year	6.93	8.32	2.19	93.98	94.00	93.72
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1302	2-Year	2.83	5.05	1.84	93.75	93.87	93.48
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1302	5-Year	4.44	6.34	1.58	93.84	93.92	93.42
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1302	10-Year	5.57	7.21	1.86	93.90	93.95	93.51
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1302	25-Year	6.93	8.32	2.19	93.96	93.99	93.70

Table 8B: Proposed	Conditions Flows and Wate	r Levels on the Van G	aal and Arbuckle Drains ⁽¹⁾

River	Reach	River	Profile	F	-low (m³/s)	Maximu	m Water L	_evel (m)
		Station		1	2	4	1	2	4
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1268	2-Year	2.83	5.05	1.84	93.67	93.82	93.40
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1268	5-Year	4.44	6.34	1.58	93.79	93.88	93.34
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1268	10-Year	5.57	7.21	1.86	93.86	93.91	93.43
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1268	25-Year	6.93	8.32	2.19	93.92	93.95	93.63
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1212	2-Year	2.83	5.05	1.84	93.47	93.72	93.26
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1212	5-Year	4.44	6.34	1.58	93.67	93.79	93.20
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1212	10-Year	5.57	7.21	1.86	93.75	93.83	93.32
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1212	25-Year	6.93	8.32	2.19	93.83	93.87	93.53
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1169	2-Year	2.83	5.05	1.84	93.38	93.64	93.17
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1169	5-Year	4.44	6.34	1.58	93,59	93.71	93.13
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1169	10-Year	5 57	7 21	1.86	93.68	93 75	93.26
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1169	25-Year	6.07	8 32	2 19	93 75	93.70	93 50
Van Gaar Diam	Reach 2	1100	20-1001	0.00	0.02	2.10	00.70	55.75	00.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1091	2-Year	2 83	5 05	1 84	93 24	93 51	93 04
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1001	5-Year	4 4 4	6 34	1.58	93.46	93 58	93.01
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1001	10-Vear	5 57	7.21	1.00	03.55	03.63	03.17
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1091	25 Voor	6.02	0.21	2.10	02.00	02.67	02.16
Vall Gaal Dialli	Reactiz	1091	20- i eai	0.93	0.32	2.19	93.03	93.07	93.40
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1002	2 Vear	2.83	5.05	1.8/	03.04	03.20	02.86
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1002	5 Voor	2.00	6.34	1.04	03.04	02.29	02.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1002	J-Tear	4.44	7.04	1.00	93.20	93.30	92.07
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1002	10-Year	5.57	1.21	1.00	93.35	93.43	93.09
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	1002	25-Year	6.93	8.32	2.19	93.44	93.53	93.44
Van Gaal Drain	Poach 2	061	2 Voor	2 9 2	5.05	1.9/	02.00	02 10	02.80
Van Gaal Dialii	Reach 2	901	Z-Tear	2.03	5.05	1.04	92.99	02.19	92.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	901	5-rear		0.34	1.00	93.17	93.27	92.04
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	961	10-Year	5.57	1.21	1.80	93.20	93.33	93.07
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	961	25-Year	6.93	8.32	2.19	93.36	93.46	93.43
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	010	2-Vear	2.83	5.05	1.8/	02 02	03 11	02 74
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	010	5 Voor	2.00	6.34	1.04	02.92	02.10	02.74
Van Gaal Drain		910	J-real	4.44	0.04	1.00	93.09	93.19	92.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	910	10-Year	5.57	1.21	1.80	93.19	93.27	93.05
van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	910	25-Year	6.93	8.32	2.19	93.29	93.43	93.43
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	840	2-Year	2.83	5.05	1 84	92.81	93.01	92.63
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	840	5-Year	2.00 1 11	6 34	1.54	93.00	93.11	92.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	840	10 Vear	5 57	7.04	1.00	03.14	03.22	02.70
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 2	840 840	25 Voor	6.02	0.21	1.00	02.14	93.22	02 42
Vali Gaal Dialii	Neach Z	040	2 3- 1 eai	0.95	0.52	2.19	95.20	95.41	95.45
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	746	2-Year	3 68	6 19	2 36	92 78	92 99	92 62
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	746	5-Year	5.67	8 10	2 11	92.96	93 10	92 74
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	746	10-Vear	7.81	0.10	2.11	02.00	03.70	
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	740	25 Voor	0.01	11 /0	2.71	03.24	02/1	02 / 2
Vall Gaal Dialli	Reactin	740	20- i eai	9.91	11.49	2.19	95.24	93.41	93.43
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	705	2-Year	3 68	6 19	2 36	92 67	92.90	92 53
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	705	5-Year	5.67	8 10	2 11	92.86	93.05	92 72
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	705	10-Vear	7.81	9.10	2.11	93.04	93.18	93.03
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	705	25 Voor	0.01	11 /0	2.⊤1 2.70	02 10	02.00	02.00
van Gaar Dialij		705	20- i eai	9.91	11.49	2.19	33.10	33.33	33.43
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	668	2-Year	3 68	6 19	2 36	92 43	92 52	92 39
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	668	5-Year	5.67	8.10	2.11	92 49	92 71	92 69
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	668	10-Year	7.81	9.87	2 4 1	92.60	93.01	93.02
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	668	25-Year	9.91	11 49	2 79	92 76	93.32	93.43
Juan Drain						0		00.02	

						(1	١
Table 8B: Pro	posed Conditions	Flows and Water	Levels on the V	/an Gaal and	Arbuckle	Drains ''	'

River	Reach	River	Profile	F	-low (m³/s)	Maximu	m Water L	evel (m)
		Station		1	2	4	1	2	4
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	666	2-Year	3.68	6.19	2.36	92.33	92.50	92.38
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	666	5-Year	5.67	8.10	2.11	92.47	92.71	92.69
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	666	10-Year	7.81	9.87	2.41	92.59	92.90	93.02
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	666	25-Year	9.91	11.49	2.79	92.69	93.18	93.42
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	656	Culvert						
		o (=	0 .) (A 4 A				
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	647	2-Year	3.68	6.19	2.36	92.46	92.61	92.41
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	647	5-Year	5.67	8.10	2.11	92.59	92.79	92.69
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	647	10-Year	7.81	9.87	2.41	92.71	92.95	93.02
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	647	25-Year	9.91	11.49	2.79	92.83	93.19	93.42
	Deesk 4	045	0.) (2.00	0.40	0.00	00.40	00 50	00.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	045	Z-Year	3.00	0.19	2.30	92.42	92.30	92.39
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	045	5-rear	5.07	0.10	2.11	92.55	92.79	92.09
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	045	10-Year	1.81	9.87	2.41	92.08	92.90	93.02
van Gaal Drain	Reach	645	25-Year	9.91	11.49	2.79	92.83	93.20	93.42
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	592	2-Vear	3.68	6 19	2 36	92 21	92 57	02 38
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	592	5-Year	5.00	8 10	2.00	92.21	92.81	92.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	502	10 Vear	7.81	0.10	2.11	02.40	02.01	02.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	502	25 Voor	0.01	9.07	2.41	92.02	92.90	93.02
Vall Gaal Dialit	Reduit I	J92	2 5- 1 eai	9.91	11.49	2.19	92.01	93.23	95.42
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	521	2-Year	3.68	6.19	2.36	92.22	92.56	92.38
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	521	5-Year	5.67	8.10	2.11	92.44	92.80	92.69
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	521	10-Year	7.81	9.87	2 4 1	92.61	92.97	93.02
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	521	25-Year	9.91	11 49	2 7 9	92 79	93.22	93 42
	1 touon 1	021	20 1001	0.01	11.10	2.70	02.10	00.22	00.12
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	277	2-Year	3.68	6.19	2.36	92.07	92.44	92.35
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	277	5-Year	5.67	8.10	2.11	92.27	92.69	92.68
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	277	10-Year	7.81	9.87	2.41	92.38	92.85	93.02
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	277	25-Year	9.91	11.49	2.79	92.56	93.14	93.42
						•			
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	275	2-Year	3.68	6.19	2.36	92.07	92.43	92.35
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	275	5-Year	5.67	8.10	2.11	92.27	92.66	92.68
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	275	10-Year	7.81	9.87	2.41	92.38	92.81	93.01
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	275	25-Year	9.91	11.49	2.79	92.53	93.07	93.42
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	269	Culvert						
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	263	2-Year	3.68	6.19	2.36	92.05	92.39	92.34
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	263	5-Year	5.67	8.10	2.11	92.23	92.61	92.68
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	263	10-Year	7.81	9.87	2.41	92.30	92.74	93.01
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	263	25-Year	9.91	11.49	2.79	92.42	93.00	93.41
	Dec. 4	000	0.14	0.70	0.00	0.40	00.00	00.07	00.04
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	226	2-Year	3.70	6.22	2.49	92.00	92.37	92.34
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	226	5-Year	5.69	8.11	2.26	92.16	92.61	92.68
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	226	10-Year	7.82	9.90	2.57	92.18	92.75	93.01
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	226	25-Year	9.93	11.53	2.97	92.03	93.03	93.41
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	0	2-Voor	3 70	6.22	210	Q1 07	92 10	92 25
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1		5_Voor	5.60	0.22 8 11	2.49 2.26	01.07	02.40	02.00
Van Gaal Drain	Reach 1	0		0.08 7.00		2.20	01 16	92.03 02.70	92.00 02.01
Van Gaal Dialil	Reach 1	0	25 Voor	0.02	9.90 11 50	2.07	01.10	32.10	02 /1
van Gaar Dialil	INCOULT	0	20- i eai	9.90	11.55	2.31	31.25	33.04	33.41
	l	l					1		

Table 8B: Proposed Conditions Flows and Water Levels on the Van Gaal and Arbuckle Drains ⁽¹⁾	

River	Reach	River	Profile	F	-low (m ³ /s	5)	Maximum Water Level (_evel (m)
		Station		1	2	4	1	2	4
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	600	2-Year	0.49	0.74	0.13	95.38	95.50	95.16
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	600	5-Year	0.76	0.90	0.08	95.51	95.56	95.11
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	600	10-Year	1.02	1.14	0.09	95.61	95.65	95.12
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	600	25-Year	1.33	1.33	0.10	95.72	95.72	95.13
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	553	2-Year	0.49	0.74	0.13	95.35	95.47	95.11
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	553	5-Year	0.76	0.90	0.08	95.48	95.53	95.06
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	553	10-Year	1.02	1.14	0.09	95.58	95.63	95.07
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	553	25-Year	1.33	1.33	0.10	95.70	95.69	95.09
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	503	2-Year	0.49	0.74	0.13	95.32	95.44	95.08
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	503	5-Year	0.76	0.90	0.08	95.45	95.51	95.02
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	503	10-Year	1.02	1.14	0.09	95.56	95.60	95.04
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	503	25-Year	1.33	1.33	0.10	95.68	95.67	95.05
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	492	2-Year	0.49	0.74	0.13	95.29	95.41	95.06
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	492	5-Year	0.76	0.90	0.08	95.41	95.47	95.01
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	492	10-Year	1.02	1.14	0.09	95.51	95.56	95.02
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	492	25-Year	1.33	1.33	0.10	95.62	95.62	95.04
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	477	Culvert						
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	462	2-Year	0.49	0.74	0.13	95.21	95.31	95.00
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	462	5-Year	0.76	0.90	0.08	95.32	95.37	94.95
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	462	10-Year	1.02	1.14	0.09	95.41	95.45	94.96
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	462	25-Year	1.33	1.33	0.10	95.51	95.51	94.97
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	453	2-Year	0.49	0.74	0.13	95.20	95.32	94.99
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	453	5-Year	0.76	0.90	0.08	95.32	95.38	94.94
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	453	10-Year	1.02	1.14	0.09	95.42	95.46	94.95
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	453	25-Year	1.33	1.33	0.10	95.52	95.52	94.96
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	403	2-Year	0.49	0.74	0.13	95.17	95.28	94.95
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	403	5-Year	0.76	0.90	0.08	95.29	95.34	94.90
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	403	10-Year	1.02	1.14	0.09	95.39	95.43	94.91
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	403	25-Year	1.33	1.33	0.10	95.49	95.49	94.92
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	353	2-Year	0.49	0.74	0.13	95.09	95.19	94.89
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	353	5-Year	0.76	0.90	0.08	95.20	95.25	94.84
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	353	10-Year	1.02	1.14	0.09	95.29	95.33	94.85
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	353	25-Year	1.33	1.33	0.10	95.39	95.39	94.87
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	338.5	Culvert						
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	324	2-Year	0.49	0.74	0.13	94.96	95.04	94.81
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	324	5-Year	0.76	0.90	0.08	95.04	95.08	94.77
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	324	10-Year	1.02	1.14	0.09	95.11	95.14	94.78
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	324	25-Year	1.33	1.33	0.10	95.19	95.19	94.79
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	311	2-Year	0.49	0.74	0.13	94.94	95.02	94.78
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	311	5-Year	0.76	0.90	0.08	95.03	95.07	94.74
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	311	10-Year	1.02	1.14	0.09	95.11	95.14	94.75
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	311	25-Year	1.33	1.33	0.10	95.19	95.19	94.76
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	290	2-Year	0.49	0.74	0.13	94.90	94.98	94.73

					(4)
Table 8B: Pro	posed Conditions	Flows and Wate	r Levels on the	Van Gaal and	Arbuckle Drains ()

River	Reach	River	Profile	F	-low (m³/s	;)	Maximum Water Le		_evel (m)
		Station		1	2	4	1	2	4
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	290	5-Year	0.76	0.90	0.08	94.99	95.03	94.70
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	290	10-Year	1.02	1.14	0.09	95.07	95.10	94.71
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	290	25-Year	1.33	1.33	0.10	95.15	95.15	94.72
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	240	2-Year	0.49	0.74	0.13	94.80	94.89	94.63
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	240	5-Year	0.76	0.90	0.08	94.90	94.94	94.60
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	240	10-Year	1.02	1.14	0.09	94.98	95.02	94.60
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	240	25-Year	1.33	1.33	0.10	95.07	95.07	94.61
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	190	2-Year	0.49	0.74	0.13	94.71	94.81	94.53
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	190	5-Year	0.76	0.90	0.08	94.82	94.87	94.50
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	190	10-Year	1.02	1.14	0.09	94.91	94.95	94.51
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	190	25-Year	1.33	1.33	0.10	95.01	95.00	94.52
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	140	2-Year	0.49	0.74	0.13	94.64	94.75	94.44
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	140	5-Year	0.76	0.90	0.08	94.76	94.81	94.39
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	140	10-Year	1.02	1.14	0.09	94.85	94.89	94.40
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	140	25-Year	1.33	1.33	0.10	94.96	94.95	94.41
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	90	2-Year	0.49	0.74	0.13	94.60	94.71	94.38
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	90	5-Year	0.76	0.90	0.08	94.71	94.77	94.33
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	90	10-Year	1.02	1.14	0.09	94.81	94.86	94.34
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	90	25-Year	1.33	1.33	0.10	94.92	94.92	94.36
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	83	2-Year	0.49	0.74	0.13	94.57	94.67	94.36
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	83	5-Year	0.76	0.90	0.08	94.67	94.72	94.32
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	83	10-Year	1.02	1.14	0.09	94.76	94.80	94.33
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	83	25-Year	1.33	1.33	0.10	94.86	94.86	94.34
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	68	Culvert						
			0 .) (.			
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	53	2-Year	0.49	0.74	0.13	94.44	94.51	94.29
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	53	5-Year	0.76	0.90	0.08	94.52	94.55	94.25
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	53	10-Year	1.02	1.14	0.09	94.58	94.60	94.25
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	53	25-Year	1.33	1.33	0.10	94.64	94.64	94.26
M D · T ·			<u> </u>	0.40	0.74	0.40	04.00	04.40	
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	14	2-Year	0.49	0.74	0.13	94.08	94.13	94.00
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	14	5-Year	0.76	0.90	0.08	94.13	94.15	93.99
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	14	10-Year	1.02	1.14	0.09	94.17	94.18	93.99
Moore Drain Trib	Reach 1	14	25-Year	1.33	1.33	0.10	94.21	94.21	93.99
Maara Drain	Deech 0	FFF		0.02	0.04	0.00	04.22	04.24	04.04
Moore Drain	Reach 2	555	2-Year	0.03	0.04	0.00	94.32	94.34	94.21
Moore Drain	Reach 2	555	5-Year	0.03	0.03	0.00	94.33	94.33	94.21
Moore Drain	Reach 2	555	10-Year	0.05	0.07	0.00	94.35	94.38	94.21
Moore Drain	Reach 2	555	25-Year	0.06	0.09	0.00	94.37	94.39	94.21
Maana Dusin	Deerb 0	500	0.)/	0.00	0.04	0.00	04.00	04.00	04.47
Magra Drain	Reach 2	500	∠-rear	0.03	0.04	0.00	94.22	94.23	94.17
	Reach 2	500	o-rear		0.03	0.00	94.23	94.23	94.17
Noore Drain	Reach 2	500	iu-rear	0.05	0.07	0.00	94.25	94.20	94.17
Noore Drain	Reach 2	500	25-Year	0.06	0.09	0.00	94.25	94.27	94.17
Maara Drain	Deech 1	200		0.50	0.70	0.45	02 70	02.74	02 54
Moore Drain	Reach 1	298	Z-rear	0.52	0.79	0.15	93.72	93.74	93.54
Magra Drain	Reach 1	298	o-rear		0.95	0.09	93.72	93.//	93.49
Noore Drain	Reach 1	298	TU-Year	80.1	1.22	0.10	93.79	93.79	93.50
Moore Drain	Reach 1	298	25-Year	1.41	1.42	0.11	93.81	93.80	93.51

Table OD: Drai	nacad Canditiana	Elowe and Water	I avala on the V	an Cool and	Arbuckle Drain	(1)
Table ob. FIU	poseu conultions	FIOWS and water	Levels off the va	an Gaal anu .		15

River	Reach	River	Profile	F F	Flow (m^3/s)		Maximu	m Water I	evel (m)
	rtodon	Station	1 Tollio	1	2	, 4	1	2	4
				-	_				
Moore Drain	Reach 1	130	2-Year	0.52	0.79	0.15	92.80	93.01	92.64
Moore Drain	Reach 1	130	5-Year	0.81	0.95	0.09	93.00	93.12	92.76
Moore Drain	Reach 1	130	10-Year	1.08	1 22	0.10	93 14	93 23	93.04
Moore Drain	Reach 1	130	25-Year	1 41	1.22	0.10	93.26	93.41	93.43
Moore Brain	r touon n	100	20 1001		1.12	0.11	00.20	00.11	00.10
Jovs Road Trib	Reach 1	705	2-Year	0.66	1 56	0 54	97.07	97 24	97.05
lovs Road Trib	Reach 1	705	5-Year	1 11	1.00	0.04	97 14	97.24	97.00
lovs Road Trib	Reach 1	705	10-Year	1.11	2 29	0.40	97.14	97.00	97.00
lovs Road Trib	Reach 1	705	25-Vear	1.41	2.20	0.60	97.10	97.40	97.04
	Reach	100	20-1001	1.02	2.04	0.00	07.00	07.00	57.00
Jovs Road Trib	Reach 1	664	2-Year	0.66	1 56	0 54	96 97	97 26	96 93
lovs Road Trib	Reach 1	664	5-Year	1 1 1	1.00	0.04	97 12	97.20	96.80
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	664	10 Vear	1 / 1	2.20	0.40	07.12	07.00	06.00
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	664	25 Voor	1.41	2.29	0.01	07.21	07.49	90.92
JUYS RUAU THD	Reactin	004	2 5 -1eai	1.02	2.04	0.00	97.54	97.01	90.95
love Road Trib	Reach 1	635	2 Vear	0.66	1 56	0.54	06.04	07 10	06.00
Joys Road Trib		625	Z-Tear	0.00	1.00	0.34	90.94	07.19	90.90
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	033	5-rear		1.97	0.45	97.00	97.30	90.07
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	035	10-Year	1.41	2.29	0.51	97.15	97.40	90.89
Joys Road Thb	Reach	035	25-Year	1.82	2.04	0.60	97.20	97.50	90.92
	Durch	004	Orthurst						
Joys Road Trib	Reach	634	Cuivert						
lava Daad Trib	Deesk 4	<u></u>	0. \/	0.00	4.50	0.54	00.04	07.00	00.00
Joys Road Trib	Reach	622	2-Year	0.66	1.50	0.54	96.91	97.08	96.88
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	622	5-Year	1.11	1.97	0.45	97.00	97.14	96.86
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	622	10-Year	1.41	2.29	0.51	97.06	97.18	96.87
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	622	25-Year	1.82	2.64	0.60	97.12	97.21	96.89
			0) (4 5 0	0 = 1			
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	602	2-Year	0.66	1.56	0.54	96.90	97.07	96.87
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	602	5-Year	1.11	1.97	0.45	96.99	97.13	96.84
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	602	10-Year	1.41	2.29	0.51	97.05	97.17	96.86
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	602	25-Year	1.82	2.64	0.60	97.11	97.21	96.88
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	322	2-Year	0.66	1.56	0.54	96.41	96.54	96.38
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	322	5-Year	1.11	1.97	0.45	96.49	96.58	96.36
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	322	10-Year	1.41	2.29	0.51	96.52	96.61	96.37
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	322	25-Year	1.82	2.64	0.60	96.56	96.65	96.39
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	275	2-Year	0.66	1.56	0.54	96.18	96.31	96.17
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	275	5-Year	1.11	1.97	0.45	96.23	96.39	96.16
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	275	10-Year	1.41	2.29	0.51	96.28	96.44	96.17
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	275	25-Year	1.82	2.64	0.60	96.36	96.49	96.18
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	30	2-Year	0.66	1.56	0.54	95.72	96.05	95.63
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	30	5-Year	1.11	1.97	0.45	95.93	96.15	95.59
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	30	10-Year	1.41	2.29	0.51	96.04	96.20	95.64
Joys Road Trib	Reach 1	30	25-Year	1.82	2.64	0.60	96.15	96.25	95.70

1. The Van Gaal Drain 100-year 24-hour SCS peak flow reaches the Jock River.

2. The Van Gaal Drain 100-year spring snowmelt plus rainfall peak flow reaches the Jock River.



J.F. Sabourin and Associates Inc. 52 Springbrook Drive

WATER RESOURCES AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTANTS 52 Springbrook Drive Ottawa (Stittsville), ON K2S 1B9 TEL: (613) 836-3884 FAX: (613) 836-0332 WEB: www.jfsa.com

October 9, 2019

David Schaeffer Engineering Ltd. 120 Iber Road, Unit 203 Ottawa, Ontario K2S 1E9

Attention: Jennifer Ailey, P.Eng.

Subject:Richmond Village (South) Limited Subdivision /
Addendum to Preliminary Stormwater Management Plan

our file: 922-11

As requested by your office, we have evaluated, based on the provided information as described below, the performance of proposed Stormwater Management (SWM) Facility 2 and minor and major drainage systems to Pond 2 based on preliminary drainage areas, storm sewer data and pond stage-storage-area information provided by DSEL. This memo is an addendum to the January 10, 2014 *Richmond Village (South) Limited Subdivision / Preliminary Stormwater Management Plan* memo, which established SWM Requirements and a preliminary design for Pond 2.

The proposed Richmond Village (South) development is to be treated by two Stormwater Management (SWM) facilities. SWM Facility 1 is a wet pond discharging to Van Gaal Drain, and requires quality, erosion and quantity control. SWM Facility 2 is a wet pond discharging to the Jock River, and requires quality control only. The subdivision drainage area to Pond 2 is 38.66 ha at 71% imperviousness based on the updated information provided by DSEL. Additionally, 71.8 ha of undeveloped lands south of the proposed subdivision will drain through SWM Facility 2, for a total drainage area of 110.46 ha at 29% imperviousness.

The Pond 2 design and performance of the minor and major drainage systems were evaluated using the SWMHYMO and XPSWMM programs. The SWMHYMO program was used to model the drainage areas, and the generated minor system inflow hydrographs were then input to the XPSWMM model of the storm sewer system and pond. Digital SWMHYMO and XPSWMM models are attached.

ASSUMPTIONS AND SOURCES OF DATA USED

The following parameters and assumptions used in the analysis are based on City of Ottawa standards and generally accepted stormwater management design guidelines.

- Stormwater Management Model:	SWMHYMO (version 5.5); XPSWMM (version 10)
- SWMHYMO Model Parameters:	Fo = 76.2 mm/hr, Fc = 13.2 mm/hr, DCAY = 4.14/hr, D.Stor.Imp. = 1.57 mm,
	D.Stor.Per. = 4.67 mm (as per 2012 City of Ottawa Guidelines).
- Undeveloped Area Characteristics:	As per "Floodplain Mapping Report for the Van Gaal and Arbuckle
	Municipal Drains in the Village of Richmond" (November 2009, JFSA).
- Imperviousness:	SWM Facilities: based on SWM block layout.
	Subdivision: based on runoff coefficient (C) where Percent Imperviousness =
	$(C - 0.2) / 0.7 \times 100\%$
- Design Storms:	Chicago 3-hour and SCS Type II 24-hour design storms based on 2012 City
	of Ottawa Sewer Design Guidelines; maximum intensity averaged over 10
	minutes.
	10-day snowmelt plus rainfall events based on AES Ottawa CDA snowmelt

- Downstream HGL:

plus rainfall IDF curves; maximum intensity averaged over 1 hour. Jock River water levels at SWM Facility 2 outlet as per "Jock River Flood Risk Mapping (within the City of Ottawa) Hydraulics Report" (November 2004, PSR Group Ltd. and JFSA).

QUALITY CONTROL

Quality control will be provided for SWM Facility 2 in accordance with Ministry of the Environment enhanced protection requirements (80% long-term suspended solids removal) for a wet pond. Note that the permanent pool volume required was conservatively calculated based on the minimum 35% imperviousness documented in the Ministry of the Environment SWMPD Manual, rather than extrapolated to the proposed 29% imperviousness. The required permanent pool volume is calculated as follows:

 $(140.00 \text{ m}^3/\text{ha} - 40 \text{ m}^3/\text{ha}) \times 110.46 \text{ ha} = 11,046 \text{ m}^3$

A permanent pool volume of 16,669 m³ is provided in SWM Facility 2 at an elevation of 93.20 m and a depth of 2.00 m, and is greater than the required volume. An active storage volume requirement of 40 m³/ha is to be released over 24 to 48 hours in accordance with Ministry of the Environment standards. The required active storage volume is calculated as follows:

 $40 \text{ m}^3/\text{ha} \ge 110.46 \text{ ha} = 4,418 \text{ m}^3$

A quality control volume of 6,446 m³ is provided in SWM Facility 2 at an elevation of 93.70 m, and is greater than the required volume. The provided quality control volume has a drawdown time of 29.2 hours, as calculated in Table A-2 of Attachment A.

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT FACILITY 2 PERFORMANCE

We understand that quantity control is not required for SWM Facility 2, which discharges to the Jock River; however, the 100-year release rate from SWM Facility 2 has been limited to a maximum of 2.235 m^3 /s based on the capacity of the 1500 mm diameter (at 0.1% slope) outlet pipe to the Jock River. Refer to Table A-3 of Attachment A for the outlet control design and stage-storage-discharge relationship for SWM Facility 2 under free outfall conditions.

Restrictive downstream conditions for the outlet of SWM Facility 2 to the Jock River are based on the *Jock River Flood Risk Mapping (within the City of Ottawa) Hydraulics Report* (November 2004, PSR Group Ltd. and JFSA). During the 100-year 10-day spring snowmelt plus rainfall event, the water level on the Jock River at the outlet of SWM Facility 2 (Jock River Lower Reach 2 cross-section 19353) is 94.18 m. During the 100-year 24-hour SCS design storm, the water level on the Jock River at this location is below the permanent pool elevation of SWM Facility 2 and therefore does not affect the operation of the SWM facility. The stage-storage-discharge relationship for SWM facility under restrictive conditions during the 100-year 10-year spring snowmelt plus rainfall event is presented in Table A-4 of Attachment A.

Pond operating characteristics for SWM Facility 2, as simulated in SWMHYMO / XPSWMM, are summarized in Table 1.

Table 1: Summary of SWM Facility 2 Operating Characteristics (*)								
Pond	Pre-Development	Pond	Pond	Volume				
Component	Outflow	Level	Outflow	Used ⁽²⁾				
	(m³/s)	(m)	(m³/s)	(m ³)				
Permanent Pool	N/A	93.20	N/A	16669				
Quality Control	N/A	93.70	0.101	6446				
2-Year, 24-Hour SCS	0.705	93.97	0.530	10633				
5-Year, 24-Hour SCS	1.094	94.12	0.906	13336				
10-Year, 24-Hour SCS	1.364	94.22	1.173	15138				
25-Year, 24-Hour SCS	1.708	94.33	1.499	17255				
50-Year, 24-Hour SCS	1.976	94.43	1.795	19152				
100-Year, 24-Hour SCS	2.267	94.52	2.094	21037				
100-Year, 10-Year Spring ⁽³⁾	N/A	94.80	1.418	27145				

Table 1: Summary of SWM Facili	y 2 Operating Characteristics ⁽¹⁾
--------------------------------	--

⁽¹⁾ Based on 24 hour detention of 40 m³/ha quality control volume and quantity control of 100-year release rate to capacity of 1500 mm outlet pipe at 0.1% slope (2.235 m³/s). No erosion control is provided. Pre-development flows as per January 2014 memo.

⁽²⁾ Volumes used are active storage only for all pond components except the permanent pool.

⁽³⁾Restrictive downstream conditions; Spring = 94.18 m. All other results based on free outfall conditions.

As may be seen above, the pond outflows do not exceed the outlet pipe capacity of $2.235 \text{ m}^3/\text{s}$. The maximum 100year pond levels are 94.52 m during the 100-year summer event, and 94.80 m during the 100-year spring event. Both elevations are well below the top of berm elevation of 95.50 m.

POND 2 MINOR SYSTEM ANALYSIS

The minor system and hydraulic gradeline analysis was completed for the proposed storm sewer trunks discharging to SWM Pond 2 using the XPSWMM program based on the 100-year 3-hour Chicago and 100-year 24-hour SCS design storms, and the 100-year 10-day spring snowmelt plus rainfall event. Sump pump flows were included in the XPSWMM model at a rate of 0.23 L/s/ha. Attachment B summarizes the hydraulic simulation results for the proposed systems. Note that the flowing full pipe velocities are not less than 0.8 m/s and no greater than 3.0 m/s for all proposed pipes.

Attachment B also presents the hydraulic simulation results for the climate change stress test based on a 20% increase in the 100-year 3-hour Chicago and 100-year 24-hour SCS design storms, as per the October 2012 City of Ottawa Sewer Design Guidelines.

For the purposes of this hydraulic gradeline analysis, 100% capture of 100-year flows to the minor system has been modelled throughout the subdivision north of Ottawa Street, on Ottawa Street, and for the natural areas external to the subdivision, with surface storage available above the top of manhole elevations to represent future surface storage above catchbasins (to be modelled in detail at detailed design). This is consistent with the approach described in greater detail in the September 2019 Stormwater Management Report for Fox Run Subdivision Phase 2B, and is representative of a system with no inlet control devices installed at catchbasins, and with all basements serviced by sump pumps instead of gravity drain connections. As such, the 100-year hydraulic gradeline exceeds the top of manhole elevations in some areas of the storm sewer, by a maximum of 1.7 cm. At detailed design, where catchbasins and surface storage above catchbasins are integrated into the storm sewer model in detail, the system must meet the City of Ottawa design requirement of a 0 m minimum freeboard between the top of manhole elevation and the 100-year HGL elevation.

The preliminary 100-year surface storage estimated in XPSWMM is approximately 297 m³ of surface storage above catchbasins, or 19 m^3 /ha based on a subdivision area of 15.58 ha (excluding the pond block, external natural areas, and the subdivision areas south of Ottawa Street). This amount of surface storage is possible based on the adjacent Fox Run subdivision design and similar past projects with relatively flat grading. These results should be confirmed at detailed design based on actual surface storage and catchbasin design.

South of Ottawa Street, basements will be serviced by gravity drain connections to the main storm sewer, and catchbasins are to be equipped with inlet control devices to limit minor system capture to the 2-year flow on local streets (including capture of runoff from adjacent residential lots), with no surface storage used during the 2-year storm, and street surface storage of all excess flows during the 100-year storm. The 100-year + 20% stress test storage has been set to 145% of 100-year storage, based on Abbottsville Crossing pilot project. Similarly, 5-year capture is to be provided on the proposed park block south of Ottawa Street, with no surface storage used during the 5-year storm, and on-site storage of all excess flows during the 100-year storm. A minimum freeboard of 0.3 m is provided between the 100-year hydraulic gradeline and future underside of footing elevations south of Ottawa Street (estimated as 1.8 m below ground level), as shown in Attachment B. Similarly, a minimum freeboard of 0 m is provided between the 100-year + 20% stress test hydraulic gradeline and estimated underside of footing elevations south of Ottawa Street, as shown in Attachment B.

POND 1 MINOR SYSTEM ANALYSIS

The modelling of the proposed subdivision serviced by SWM Pond 1 was last updated for the September 2019 *Stormwater Management Report for Fox Run Subdivision Phase 2B* and the September 2019 *Design Brief for Stormwater Management Pond 1 - Western Development Lands - Richmond*. The present analysis includes updated drainage areas and storm trunk sewer design for the future development areas south of Fox Run Subdivision, located to the south of existing Strachan Street and the west of existing Queen Charlotte Street. The updated drainage area to Pond 1 is 185.37 ha at 32% imperviousness based on the updated information, and therefore less critical for the pond design than the 190.45 ha at 31% imperviousness evaluated in the September 2019 *Design Brief*.

The models submitted with the September 2019 SWM Report were updated to reflect the latest information for the future development areas south of the Fox Run Subdivision, and the updated hydraulic simulation results for the 100-year 3-hour Chicago and 100-year 24-hour SCS design storms are presented in Attachment C. Sump pump flows were included in the XPSWMM model at a rate of 0.23 L/s/a. Note that the flowing full pipe velocities are not less than 0.8 m/s and no greater than 3.0 m/s for all proposed pipes. Attachment C also presents the hydraulic simulation results for the climate change stress test based on a 20% increase in the 100-year 3-hour Chicago and 100-year 24-hour SCS design storms.

As above, 100% capture of 100-year flows to the minor system has been modelled throughout the future development south of Fox Run Subdivision, with surface storage available above the top of manhole elevations to represent future surface storage above catchbasins (to be modelled in detail at detailed design). As such, the 100-year hydraulic gradeline exceeds the top of manhole elevations in some areas of the future storm sewer, by a maximum of 7.2 cm. At detailed design, where catchbasins and surface storage above catchbasins are integrated into the storm sewer model in detail, the system must meet the City of Ottawa design requirement of a 0 m minimum freeboard between the top of manhole elevation and the 100-year HGL elevation.

The preliminary 100-year surface storage estimated in XPSWMM for the future development area south of Fox Run Subdivision is approximately 2270 m³ of surface storage above catchbasins, or 100 m³/ha based on a subdivision area of 22.81 ha. This amount of surface storage is possible based on the adjacent Fox Run subdivision design and similar past projects with relatively flat grading. These results should be confirmed at detailed design based on actual surface storage and catchbasin design.

MAJOR SYSTEM ANALYSIS

The proposed major system design is intended to provide sufficient surface storage to contain 100-year flows within road surface ponding areas, released slowly to the minor system without spilling overland to the next downstream road ponding area. As such, 100-year water depths on the road will not exceed the static depths of ponding areas

to be designed at detailed design to a depth no greater than 35 cm. Under the 100-year + 20% stress tests, some excess flows may spill out of the static ponding areas to the next downstream ponding area and ultimately to the pond. Although the exact flow spills cannot be identified at this preliminary design stage, a high level check was conducted to test feasibility. Of the modelled subcatchments, the maximum increase in flow between the 100-year and 100-year + 20% events is 454 L/s, which corresponds to a spill depth of 15.5 cm based on an 8.5 m wide local road of typical dimension. Assuming a 35 cm maximum static ponding depth, this corresponds to a 100-year + 20% total water depth of 50.5 cm. Final results will depend on the detailed design of the subdivision and ponding areas, but this test demonstrates that it is possible for excess 100-year + 20% flows to be conveyed safely along a typical road without reaching building envelopes.

Yours truly, J.F. Sabourin and Associates Inc.

Laura Pipkins, P.Eng.

cc: J.F. Sabourin, M.Eng, P.Eng. Director of Water Resources Projects

Attachment A:	Pond 2 Operating Characteristics
Attachment B:	Pond 2 Hydraulic Gradeline Results
Attachment C:	Pond 1 Hydraulic Gradeline Results

J.F. Sabourin and Associates Inc. / ref: 922-11





Pond 2 Operating Characteristics





Table A-1: Extended Detention Parameters for SWM Facility 2

Permanent Pool F	Parameters	Quality Orifice Parameters				
Area (C3)	11624.20 m ²	Diameter 0.280	m			
Volume	16668.61 m ³					
PP Elev	93.20 m	Area 0.062	m²			
QC Elev	93.60 m	Invert 93.20	m			
h (m)	0.40 m	C _o 0.620				

Notes:

C3 is the intercept from the area-depth linear regression

PP Elev indicates the elevation of the permanent pool

QC Elev indicates the elevation of the storage volume required by MOE for quality control

h is the maximum water elevation above the orifice (m)

Table A-2: Extended Detention Drawdown Time for SWM Facility 2

Elev.	Α	ctive Storage	e	C2	Drawdown Time	Drawdown Time	Flow	Demarkation
(m)	V (m ³)	A (m ²)	depth (m)	(m²/m)	(h)	(days)	(m³/s)	Point
93.20	0.00	11624.20	0.00				0.000	PP Elev
93.25	581.49	11634.18	0.05	200	8.53	0.36	0.011	
93.30	1179.62	11965.06	0.10	3409	12.18	0.51	0.023	
93.35	1781.54	12125.52	0.15	3342	14.98	0.62	0.034	
93.40	2396.76	12339.65	0.20	3577	17.40	0.73	0.045	
93.45	3033.16	12813.51	0.25	4757	19.71	0.82	0.056	
93.50	3682.96	13148.19	0.30	5080	21.79	0.91	0.068	
93.55	4349.20	13482.78	0.35	5310	23.75	0.99	0.077	
93.60	5031.49	13813.67	0.40	5474	25.62	1.07	0.086	
93.65	5730.40	14142.56	0.45	5596	27.41	1.14	0.094	
93.70	6446.23	14471.83	0.50	5695	29.15	1.21	0.101	QC Elev
93.75	7177.92	14800.05	0.55	5774	30.83	1.28	0.108	
93.80	7917.02	15124.00	0.60	5833	32.48	1.35	0.115	
93.85	8733.73	15481.30	0.65	5934	34.11	1.42	0.121	
93.90	9526.51	15794.32	0.70	5957	35.69	1.49	0.127	
93.95	10281.57	16176.98	0.75	6070	37.30	1.55	0.132	
94.00	11088.02	16433.29	0.80	6011	38.77	1.62	0.137	
94.05	11973.99	17832.83	0.85	7304	41.36	1.72	0.142	
94.10	12878.87	18188.42	0.90	7294	42.92	1.79	0.147	
94.15	13797.61	18514.93	0.95	7253	44.44	1.85	0.152	
94.20	14732.60	18825.87	1.00	7202	45.93	1.91	0.155	
94.25	15679.18	19137.56	1.05	7156	47.41	1.98	0.157	

Notes:

C2 is the slope coefficient from the area-depth linear regression

QC Elev indicates the elevation of the quality control volume required by MOE

			Quality Control 1		Quantity Control 1			
			Vertical Orifice		Rectangular Weir			
			Dia (m)	0.280	L (m)	1.600		
			Area (m ²)	0.062				
			Invert (m)	93.20	C	1.800		
			C.	0.62	Invert (m)	93 70		
			റ്റ്റ	0.063	n contr	2		
Elevation	Active Sto		Head		Head		Outflow	Storage
	(m^3)	Demarkation		(m^3/c)		(m^3/c)	(m^3/c)	
(m)	(m)	Points	(m)	(m /s)	(m)	(m /s)	(m /s)	(ha·m)
93.20	0		0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
93.25	581		0.050	0.011	0.000	0.000	0.011	0.058
93.30	1180		0.100	0.023	0.000	0.000	0.023	0.118
93.35	1/82		0.150	0.034	0.000	0.000	0.034	0.178
93.40	2397		0.200	0.045	0.000	0.000	0.045	0.240
93.45	3033		0.250	0.056	0.000	0.000	0.056	0.303
93.50	3683		0.300	0.068	0.000	0.000	0.068	0.368
93.55	4349		0.350	0.077	0.000	0.000	0.077	0.435
93.60	5031		0.400	0.086	0.000	0.000	0.086	0.503
93.65	5730		0.450	0.094	0.000	0.000	0.094	0.573
93.70	6446	QC Elev	0.500	0.101	0.000	0.000	0.101	0.645
93.75	7178		0.550	0.108	0.050	0.032	0.140	0.718
93.80	7917		0.600	0.115	0.100	0.090	0.205	0.792
93.85	8734		0.650	0.121	0.150	0.164	0.285	0.873
93.90	9527		0.700	0.127	0.200	0.251	0.378	0.953
93.95	10282		0.750	0.132	0.250	0.349	0.481	1.028
94.00	11088		0.800	0.137	0.300	0.455	0.593	1.109
94.05	11974		0.850	0.142	0.350	0.570	0.713	1.197
94.10	12879		0.900	0.147	0.400	0.692	0.840	1.288
94.15	13798		0.950	0.152	0.450	0.820	0.973	1.380
94.18	14359	100-Yr Spr	0.980	0.155	0.480	0.900	1.055	1.436
94.20	14733		1.000	0.157	0.500	0.955	1.111	1.473
94.25	15679		1.050	0.161	0.550	1.094	1.255	1.568
94.30	16642		1.100	0.166	0.600	1.238	1.404	1.664
94.35	17634		1.150	0.170	0.650	1.387	1.557	1.763
94.40	18633		1.200	0.174	0.700	1.539	1.713	1.863
94.45	19642		1.250	0.178	0.750	1.695	1.873	1.964
94.50	20674		1.300	0.182	0.800	1.855	2.037	2.067
94.55	21723		1.350	0.186	0.850	2.017	2.203	2.172
94.60	22790		1.400	0.190	0.900	2.182	2.372	2.279
94.65	23860		1.450	0.194	0.950	2.350	2.544	2.386
94.70	25440		1.500	0.197	1.000	2.520	2.717	2.544
94.75	26748		1.550	0.201	1.050	2.692	2.893	2.675
94.80	27178		1.600	0.204	1.100	2.866	3.070	2.718
94.85	28324		1.650	0.208	1.150	3.041	3.249	2.832
94.90	29579		1.700	0.211	1.200	3.218	3.429	2.958
94.95	30840		1.750	0.215	1.250	3.396	3.611	3.084
95.00	32114		1.800	0.218	1.300	3.575	3.793	3.211
95.05	33383		1.850	0.221	1.350	3.755	3.976	3.338
95.10	34662		1.900	0.224	1.400	3.936	4.160	3.466
95.15	35935		1.950	0.228	1.450	4.117	4.345	3.593
95.20	37229		2.000	0.231	1.500	4.299	4.529	3.723
95.25	38503		2.050	0.234	1.550	4.481	4.715	3.850
95.30	39807		2.100	0.237	1.600	4.663	4.900	3.981
95.35	41133		2.150	0.240	1.650	4.845	5.085	4.113
95.40	42458		2.200	0.243	1.700	5.027	5.270	4.246
95.45	43635		2.250	0.246	1.750	5.209	5.454	4.363
95.50	44883	Top of Berm	2.300	0.249	1.800	5.390	5.639	4.488

Notes :

- PP Elev indicates the elevation of the permanent pool.

- QC Elev indicates the elevation of the storage volume provided for quality control according to MOE requirements.

- 100-Yr Spr indicates the elevation of the Jock River floodplain during the 100-year spring (snow+rain) event.

- Top of Berm indicates the elevation at the top of the berm.

Table A-4: Stage-Storage-Outflow Curve for SWM Facility 2 (Restrictive D/S Conditions, Spring)

			Quality Control 1		Quantity Control 1			
			Vertical Orifice		Rectangular Weir			
			Dia (m)	0.280	L (m)	1.600	1	
			$\Lambda rop (m^2)$	0.000				
				0.062		4 0 0 0		
			Invert (m)	94.18	C _w	1.800		
			C _o	0.62	Invert (m)	94.18		
			Q @ D	0.063	n contr.	2		
Elevation	Active Sto.	Demarkation	Head	Outflow	Head	Outflow	Outflow	Storage
(m)	(m ³)	Points	(m)	(m ³ /s)	(m)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)	(ha⋅m)
93.20		PP Elev	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
93 25			0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
93 30			0.000	0,000	0,000	0,000	0,000	0,000
03.35			0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
02.40			0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
93.40			0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
93.45			0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
93.50			0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
93.55			0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
93.60			0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
93.65			0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
93.70		QC Elev	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
93.75			0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
93.80			0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
93.85			0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
93.90			0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
93.95			0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
94.00			0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
94.05			0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
94.10			0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
94 15			0.000	0 000	0.000	0 000	0 000	0 000
94 18	0	100-Yr Spr	0.000	0.000	0,000	0.000	0.000	0.000
94 20	374		0.020	0.024	0.020	0.008	0.032	0.037
04.20 04.25	1321		0.020	0.024	0.020	0.053	0.002	0.007
04.20 04 30	2283		0.070	0.040	0.070	0.000	0.000	0.102
94.30 04.25	2205		0.120	0.039	0.120	0.110	0.177	0.220
94.55	3275		0.170	0.070	0.170	0.190	0.207	0.320
94.40	4275		0.220	0.079	0.220	0.209	0.300	0.427
94.45	5283		0.270	0.088	0.270	0.390	0.478	0.528
94.50	6315		0.320	0.096	0.320	0.500	0.596	0.632
94.55	/ 365		0.370	0.103	0.370		0.721	0.736
94.60	8432		0.420	0.110	0.420	0./43	0.852	0.843
94.65	9501		0.470	0.116	0.470	0.873	0.989	0.950
94.70	11081		0.520	0.122	0.520	1.010	1.132	1.108
94.75	12389		0.570	0.128	0.570	1.151	1.279	1.239
94.80	12820		0.620	0.133	0.620	1.297	1.430	1.282
94.85	13966		0.670	0.138	0.670	1.447	1.586	1.397
94.90	15220		0.720	0.143	0.720	1.601	1.745	1.522
94.95	16481		0.770	0.148	0.770	1.759	1.907	1.648
95.00	17756		0.820	0.153	0.820	1.919	2.072	1.776
95.05	19024		0.870	0.158	0.870	2.083	2.241	1.902
95.10	20304		0.920	0.162	0.920	2.249	2.411	2.030
95.15	21576		0.970	0.167	0.970	2.418	2.584	2.158
95.20	22871		1.020	0.171	1.020	2.589	2.759	2.287
95.25	24145		1.070	0.175	1.070	2.761	2.936	2,414
95.30	25448		1 120	0 179	1 120	2 936	3 115	2 545
95.35	26774		1 170	0 183	1 170	3 1 1 2	3 2 9 5	2 677
92.30	28100		1 220	0.103	1 220	3 280	3 4 76	2.077
05.40	20100		1 270	0.107	1.220	3169	3652	2.010
05 FD	29270	Top of Porm	1.270	0.191	1.270	2647	2044	2.320
92.30	30323	I top of Berm	1.320	0.194	1.32U	J.04/	J.041	3.032

Notes :

- PP Elev indicates the elevation of the permanent pool.

- QC Elev indicates the elevation of the storage volume provided for quality control according to MOE requirements.

- 100-Yr Spr indicates the elevation of the Jock River floodplain during the 100-year spring (snow+rain) event.

- Top of Berm indicates the elevation at the top of the berm.





Pond 2 Hydraulic Gradeline Results



Water Resources and Environmental Consultants



J.F. Sabourin and Associates Inc. Water Resources and Environmental Consultants Richmond Village (South) Limited Subdivision Addendum to Preliminary Stormwater Management Plan
U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe Dia.	Pipe	Pipe	n	U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
МН	мн	Invert	Invert	/ Height	Length	Slope		Cover	Cover	Vel.	Flow	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	(2)
								Elev.	Elev.			Flow	Flow	(1)	Peak	HGL	HGL	
		(m)	(m)	(mm)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
204	205	94.098	93.943	600	111.0	0.1	0.013	96.300	96.130	0.813	0.230	0.49	2.1	1.617	1.25	96.315	96.141	-0.015
205	207	93.868	93.790	675	65.0	0.1	0.013	96.130	96.030	0.814	0.291	0.64	2.2	1.598	1.15	96.141	96.039	-0.011
207	209	93.715	93.669	750	41.5	0.1	0.013	96.030	95.960	0.836	0.369	0.78	2.1	1.574	1.13	96.039	95.974	-0.009
209	211	93.594	93.516	825	78.0	0.1	0.013	95.960	95.840	0.849	0.454	0.97	2.1	1.558	1.10	95.977	95.844	-0.017
211	219	93.291	93.221	1050	70.0	0.1	0.013	95.840	95.730	0.997	0.864	1.53	1.8	1.503	1.10	95.844	95.545	-0.004
219	222	93.071	93.005	1200	66.0	0.1	0.013	95.730	95.630	1.090	1.233	2.54	2.1	1.275	1.05	95.546	95.266	0.184
222	224	92.985	92.868	1200	78.0	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.510	1.335	1.510	3.33	2.2	1.081	1.02	95.266	94.350	0.364
224	225	92.808	92.755	1200	37.5	0.1	0.013	95.510	95.510	1.290	1.459	3.33	2.3	0.342	1.02	94.350	94.373	1.160
225	Pond2	92.725	92.700	1200	17.5	0.1	0.013	95.510	95.500	1.290	1.459	3.33	2.3	0.448	1.02	94.373	94.345	N/A
301	302	94.230	94.016	1500	119.0	0.2	0.013	97.230	97.160	1.697	2.999	1.01	0.3	-0.814	2.98	94.916	94.822	2 <u>.</u> 314
302	303	93.996	93.803	1500	96.5	0.2	0.013	97.160	97.060	1.789	3.161	1.59	0.5	-0.674	3.37	94.822	94.699	2.338
303	304	93.783	93.580	1500	96.5	0.2	0.013	97.060	96.970	1.833	3.239	1.59	0.5	-0.584	3.37	94.699	94.621	2.361
304	307	93.560	93.348	1500	96.5	0.2	0.013	96.970	96.800	1.876	3.316	1.59	0.5	-0.439	3.38	94.621	94.484	2.349
307	308	92.922	92.810	1650	70.0	0.2	0.013	96.800	96.330	1.705	3.646	1.59	0.4	-0.088	3.38	94.484	94.432	2.316
308	311	92.660	92.585	1800	74.5	0.1	0.013	96.330	96.200	1.428	3.635	1.59	0.4	-0.028	3.40	94.432	94.418	1.898
311	312	92.565	92.495	1800	70.0	0.1	0.013	96.200	96.110	1.428	3.635	1.59	0.4	0.053	3.40	94.418	94.381	1.782
312	314	92.435	92.396	1800	38.5	0.1	0.013	96.110	96.060	1.428	3.635	1.59	0.4	0.146	3.40	94.381	94.351	1.729
314	Pond2	92.336	92.300	1800	32.5	0.1	0.013	96.060	95.500	1.498	3.812	1.59	0.4	0.215	3.40	94.351	94.345	1.709
401	402	95.318	95.191	600	90.5	0.1	0.013	98.970	98.860	0.813	0.230	0.13	0.6	-0.081	1.13	95.837	95.786	1.333
402	403	95.116	95.010	675	88.5	0.1	0.013	98.860	98.730	0.814	0.291	0.22	0.7	-0.005	1.38	95.786	95.731	1.274
403	404	94.990	94.872	675	78.5	0.2	0.013	98.730	98.620	0.910	0.326	0.29	0.9	0.066	1.40	95.731	95.602	1.199
404	405	94.797	94.748	750	44.5	0.1	0.013	98.620	98.550	0.836	0.369	0.31	0.8	0.055	1.42	95.602	95.558	1.218
405	406	94.673	94.622	825	51.0	0.1	0.013	98.550	98.480	0.849	0.454	0.36	0.8	0.060	1.42	95.558	95.521	1.192
406	407	94.547	94.419	900	127.5	0.1	0.013	98.480	98.290	0.900	0.572	0.50	0.9	0.074	1.42	95.521	95.432	1.159
407	411	94.344	94.260	975	83.5	0.1	0.013	98.290	98.170	0.949	0.709	0.58	0.8	0.113	1.42	95.432	95.343	1.058
411	414	94.185	94.113	1050	72.0	0.1	0.013	98.170	98.060	0.997	0.864	0.98	1.1	0.108	1.37	95.343	95.256	1.027
414	417	93.963	93.895	1200	68.0	0.1	0.013	98.060	97.960	1.090	1.233	1.21	1.0	0.093	1.35	95.256	95.195	1.004
417	420	93.875	93.803	1200	72.0	0.1	0.013	97.960	97.850	1.090	1.233	1.41	1.1	0.120	1.35	95.195	95.107	0.965
420	431	93.653	93.580	1350	73.0	0.1	0.013	97.850	97.740	1.179	1.688	1.63	1.0	0.104	1.33	95.107	95.044	0.943
431	432	93.560	93.473	1350	79.0	0.1	0.013	97.740	97.620	1.237	1.770	2.22	1.3	0.134	1.33	95.044	94.917	0.896
432	444	93.443	93.347	1350	87.5	0.1	0.013	97.620	97.500	1.237	1.770	2.33	1.3	0.124	1.32	94.917	94.604	0.903
444	445	93.197	93.132	1500	64.5	0.1	0.013	97.500	96.710	1.265	2.235	2.88	1.3	-0.093	1.30	94.604	94.514	1.096
445	446	93.102	93.078	1500	23.5	0.1	0.013	96.710	96.710	1.265	2.235	2.87	1.3	-0.088	1.30	94.514	94.478	0.396
446	447	93.048	93.006	1500	38.0	0.1	0.013	96.710	95.500	1.327	2.344	2.97	1.3	-0.070	1.23	94.478	94.426	0.432
447	448	92.976	92.927	1500	44.5	0.1	0.013	95.500	95.500	1.327	2.344	2.96	1.3	-0.050	1.23	94.426	94.346	N/A
448	449	92.867	92.847	1500	18.0	0.1	0.013	95.500	95.500	1.327	2.344	2.95	1.3	-0.021	1.23	94.346	94.346	N/A
449	Pond2	92.817	92.800	1500	15.5	0.1	0.013	95.500	95.500	1.327	2.344	2.95	1.3	0.028	1.25	94.345	94.345	N/A
Pond2	Out	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.500	95.500	N/A	N/A	1.54	N/A	N/A	3.88	94.345	93.200	N/A

Table B-1A: Pipe Data and Hydraulic Simulation Results for the 100-Year, 3-Hour Chicago Storm

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe Dia.	Pipe	Pipe	n	U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
МН	мн	Invert	Invert	/ Height	Length	Slope		Cover	Cover	Vel.	Flow	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	(2)
								Elev.	Elev.			Flow	Flow	(1)	Peak	HGL	HGL	
		(m)	(m)	(mm)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)

⁽²⁾ Freeboard between upstream hydraulic gradeline elevation and upstream manhole cover elevation for 200 and 300 series trunk sewers. Freeboard between upstream

hydraulic gradeline and estimated underside of footing elevation (1.8 m below upstream manhole cover elevation) for 400 series trunk sewers.

Table B-1B: Pi	pe Data and H	ydraulic Simulation	Results for the 1	00-Year, 24-Hou	r SCS Type II Storm
		3		,	

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe Dia.	Pipe	Pipe	n	U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
мн	мн	Invert	Invert	/ Height	Length	Slope		Cover	Cover	Vel.	Flow	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	(2)
								Elev.	Elev.			Flow	Flow	(1)	Peak	HGL	HGL	
		(m)	(m)	(mm)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
204	205	94.098	93.943	600	111.0	0.1	0.013	96.300	96.130	0.813	0.230	0.46	2.0	1.614	12.13	96.312	96.133	-0.012
205	207	93.868	93.790	675	65.0	0.1	0.013	96.130	96.030	0.814	0.291	0.50	1.7	1.590	12.13	96.133	96.030	-0.003
207	209	93.715	93.669	750	41.5	0.1	0.013	96.030	95.960	0.836	0.369	0.56	1.5	1.565	12.07	96.030	95.958	0.000
209	211	93.594	93.516	825	78.0	0.1	0.013	95.960	95.840	0.849	0.454	0.69	1.5	1.539	12.07	95.958	95.793	0.002
211	219	93.291	93.221	1050	70.0	0.1	0.013	95.840	95.730	0.997	0.864	1.33	1.5	1.452	11.97	95.793	95.486	0.047
219	222	93.071	93.005	1200	66.0	0.1	0.013	95.730	95.630	1.090	1.233	2.25	1.8	1.215	12.02	95.486	95.264	0.244
222	224	92.985	92.868	1200	78.0	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.510	1.335	1.510	2.88	1.9	1.080	12.02	95.265	94.519	0.365
224	225	92.808	92.755	1200	37.5	0.1	0.013	95.510	95.510	1.290	1.459	2.88	2.0	0.511	12.02	94.519	94.518	0.991
225	Pond2	92.725	92.700	1200	17.5	0.1	0.013	95.510	95.500	1.290	1.459	2.88	2.0	0.593	12.02	94.518	94.517	N/A
301	302	94.230	94.016	1500	119 <u>.</u> 0	0.2	0.013	97.230	97.160	1.697	2.999	1.25	0.4	-0.625	13.62	95.105	95.045	2.125
302	303	93.996	93.803	1500	96.5	0.2	0.013	97.160	97.060	1.789	3.161	2.01	0.6	-0.451	14.07	95.045	94.952	2.115
303	304	93.783	93.580	1500	96.5	0.2	0.013	97.060	96.970	1.833	3.239	2.01	0.6	-0.331	14.07	94.952	94.881	2.108
304	307	93.560	93.348	1500	96.5	0.2	0.013	96.970	96.800	1.876	3.316	2.01	0.6	-0.179	14.07	94.881	94.729	2.089
307	308	92.922	92.810	1650	70.0	0.2	0.013	96.800	96.330	1.705	3.646	2.02	0.6	0.157	14.03	94.729	94.649	2.071
308	311	92.660	92.585	1800	74.5	0.1	0.013	96.330	96.200	1.428	3.635	2.02	0.6	0.189	14.03	94.649	94.629	1.681
311	312	92.565	92.495	1800	70.0	0.1	0.013	96.200	96.110	1.428	3.635	2.03	0.6	0.264	14.05	94.629	94.573	1.571
312	314	92.435	92.396	1800	38.5	0.1	0.013	96.110	96.060	1.428	3.635	2.03	0.6	0.338	14.05	94.573	94.527	1.537
314	Pond2	92.336	92.300	1800	32.5	0.1	0.013	96.060	95.500	1.498	3.812	2.03	0.5	0.391	14.05	94.527	94.517	1.533
401	402	95.318	95.191	600	90.5	0.1	0.013	98.970	98.860	0.813	0.230	0.13	0.5	-0.062	12.07	95.856	95.812	1.314
402	403	95.116	95.010	675	88.5	0.1	0.013	98.860	98.730	0.814	0.291	0.21	0.7	0.021	12.05	95.812	95.763	1.248
403	404	94.990	94.872	675	78.5	0.2	0.013	98.730	98.620	0.910	0.326	0.28	0.8	0.098	12.43	95.763	95.651	1.167
404	405	94.797	94.748	750	44.5	0.1	0.013	98.620	98.550	0.836	0.369	0.29	0.8	0.104	12.37	95.651	95.613	1.169
405	406	94.673	94.622	825	51.0	0.1	0.013	98.550	98.480	0.849	0.454	0.34	0.7	0.115	12.38	95.613	95.581	1.137
406	407	94.547	94.419	900	127.5	0.1	0.013	98.480	98.290	0.900	0.572	0.47	0.8	0.134	12.45	95.581	95.502	1.099
407	411	94.344	94.260	975	83.5	0.1	0.013	98.290	98.170	0.949	0.709	0.55	0.8	0.183	12.33	95.502	95.422	0.988
411	414	94.185	94.113	1050	72.0	0.1	0.013	98.170	98.060	0.997	0.864	0.92	1.1	0.187	12.32	95.422	95.346	0.948
414	417	93.963	93.895	1200	68.0	0.1	0.013	98.060	97.960	1.090	1.233	1.14	0.9	0.183	12.28	95.346	95.293	0.914
417	420	93.875	93.803	1200	72 <u>.</u> 0	0.1	0.013	97.960	97.850	1.090	1.233	1.33	1.1	0.218	12.28	95.293	95.216	0.867
420	431	93.653	93.580	1350	73.0	0.1	0.013	97.850	97.740	1.179	1.688	1.54	0.9	0.213	12.28	95.216	95.162	0.834
431	432	93.560	93.473	1350	79.0	0.1	0.013	97.740	97.620	1.237	1.770	2.10	1.2	0.251	12.27	95.161	95.052	0.779
432	444	93.443	93.347	1350	87.5	0.1	0.013	97.620	97.500	1.237	1.770	2.21	1.2	0.259	12.27	95.052	94.779	0.768
444	445	93.197	93.132	1500	64.5	0.1	0.013	97.500	96.710	1.265	2.235	2.73	1.2	0.082	12.25	94.779	94.683	0.921
445	446	93.102	93.078	1500	23.5	0.1	0.013	96.710	96.710	1.265	2.235	2.72	1.2	0.081	12.25	94.683	94.646	0.227
446	447	93.048	93.006	1500	38.0	0.1	0.013	96.710	95.500	1.327	2.344	2.85	1.2	0.098	12.03	94.646	94.590	0.264
447	448	92.976	92.927	1500	44.5	0.1	0.013	95.500	95.500	1.327	2.344	2.83	1.2	0.114	12.03	94.590	94.517	N/A
448	449	92.867	92.847	1500	18.0	0.1	0.013	95.500	95.500	1.327	2.344	2.83	1.2	0.150	12.03	94.517	94.517	N/A
449	Pond2	92.817	92.800	1500	15.5	0.1	0.013	95.500	95.500	1.327	2.344	2.82	1.2	0.200	12.03	94.517	94.517	N/A
Pond2	Out	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.500	95.500	N/A	N/A	0.00	N/A	N/A	0.00	94.517	93.200	N/A

Table B-1B: Pipe Data and Hydraulic Simulation Results for the 100-Year, 24-Hour SCS Type II Storm

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe Dia.	Pipe	Pipe	n	U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
МН	МН	Invert	Invert	/ Height	Length	Slope		Cover	Cover	Vel.	Flow	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	(2)
								Elev.	Elev.			Flow	Flow	(1)	Peak	HGL	HGL	
		(m)	(m)	(mm)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)

⁽²⁾ Freeboard between upstream hydraulic gradeline elevation and upstream manhole cover elevation for 200 and 300 series trunk sewers. Freeboard between upstream

hydraulic gradeline and estimated underside of footing elevation (1.8 m below upstream manhole cover elevation) for 400 series trunk sewers.

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe Dia.	Pipe	Pipe	n	U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
МН	мн	Invert	Invert	/ Height	Length	Slope		Cover	Cover	Vel.	Flow	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	(2)
								Elev.	Elev.			Flow	Flow	(1)	Peak	HGL	HGL	
		(m)	(m)	(mm)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
204	205	94.098	93.943	600	111.0	0.1	0.013	96.300	96.130	0.813	0.230	0.00	0.0	-0.512	0.98	94.186	94.186	2.114
205	207	93.868	93.790	675	65.0	0.1	0.013	96.130	96.030	0.814	0.291	0.00	0.0	-0.357	2.10	94.186	94.186	1.944
207	209	93.715	93.669	750	41.5	0.1	0.013	96.030	95.960	0.836	0.369	0.00	0.0	-0.279	1.62	94.186	94.186	1.844
209	211	93.594	93.516	825	78.0	0.1	0.013	95.960	95.840	0.849	0.454	0.00	0.0	-0.233	0.87	94.186	94.186	1.774
211	219	93.291	93.221	1050	70.0	0.1	0.013	95.840	95.730	0.997	0.864	0.00	0.0	-0.155	0.87	94.186	94.186	1.654
219	222	93.071	93.005	1200	66.0	0.1	0.013	95.730	95.630	1.090	1.233	0.00	0.0	-0.085	1.10	94.186	94.186	1.544
222	224	92.985	92.868	1200	78.0	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.510	1.335	1.510	0.01	0.0	0.001	1.10	94.186	94.186	1.444
224	225	92.808	92.755	1200	37.5	0.1	0.013	95.510	95.510	1.290	1.459	0.01	0.0	0.178	1.10	94.186	94.186	1.324
225	Pond2	92.725	92.700	1200	17.5	0.1	0.013	95.510	95.500	1.290	1.459	0.01	0.0	0.261	0.05	94.186	94.186	N/A
301	302	94.230	94.016	1500	119.0	0.2	0.013	97.230	97.160	1.697	2.999	0.00	0.0	-1.498	28.30	94.232	94.186	2.998
302	303	93.996	93.803	1500	96.5	0.2	0.013	97.160	97.060	1.789	3.161	0.00	0.0	-1.310	235.93	94.186	94.186	2.974
303	304	93.783	93.580	1500	96.5	0.2	0.013	97.060	96.970	1.833	3.239	0.00	0.0	-1.097	119.57	94.186	94.186	2.874
304	307	93.560	93.348	1500	96.5	0.2	0.013	96.970	96.800	1.876	3.316	0.00	0.0	-0.874	235.38	94.186	94.186	2.784
307	308	92.922	92.810	1650	70.0	0.2	0.013	96.800	96.330	1.705	3.646	0.00	0.0	-0.386	202.82	94.186	94.186	2.614
308	311	92.660	92.585	1800	74.5	0.1	0.013	96.330	96.200	1.428	3.635	0.00	0.0	-0.274	171.88	94.186	94.186	2.144
311	312	92.565	92.495	1800	70.0	0.1	0.013	96.200	96.110	1.428	3.635	0.00	0.0	-0.179	26.72	94.186	94.186	2.014
312	314	92.435	92.396	1800	38.5	0.1	0.013	96.110	96.060	1.428	3.635	0.00	0.0	-0.049	35.67	94.186	94.186	1.924
314	Pond2	92.336	92.300	1800	32.5	0.1	0.013	96.060	95.500	1.498	3.812	0.00	0.0	0.050	260.20	94.186	94.186	1.874
401	402	95.318	95.191	600	90.5	0.1	0.013	98.970	98.860	0.813	0.230	0.00	0.0	-0.587	41.17	95.331	95.194	1.839
402	403	95.116	95.010	675	88.5	0.1	0.013	98.860	98.730	0.814	0.291	0.00	0.0	-0.658	41.15	95.133	95.014	1.927
403	404	94.990	94.872	675	78.5	0.2	0.013	98.730	98.620	0.910	0.326	0.00	0.0	-0.655	41.18	95.010	94.878	1.920
404	405	94.797	94.748	750	44.5	0.1	0.013	98.620	98.550	0.836	0.369	0.00	0.0	-0.730	45.90	94.817	94.753	2.003
405	406	94.673	94.622	825	51.0	0.1	0.013	98.550	98.480	0.849	0.454	0.00	0.0	-0.804	41.18	94.694	94.627	2.056
406	407	94.547	94.419	900	127.5	0.1	0.013	98.480	98.290	0.900	0.572	0.00	0.0	-0.874	47.05	94.573	94.425	2.107
407	411	94.344	94.260	975	83.5	0.1	0.013	98.290	98.170	0.949	0.709	0.00	0.0	-0.949	73.97	94.370	94.267	2.120
411	414	94.185	94.113	1050	72.0	0.1	0.013	98.170	98.060	0.997	0.864	0.00	0.0	-1.018	4.43	94.217	94.186	2.153
414	417	93.963	93.895	1200	68.0	0.1	0.013	98.060	97.960	1.090	1.233	0.00	0.0	-0.977	1.98	94.186	94.186	2.074
417	420	93.875	93.803	1200	72.0	0.1	0.013	97.960	97.850	1.090	1.233	0.00	0.0	-0.889	2.82	94.186	94.186	1.974
420	431	93.653	93.580	1350	73.0	0.1	0.013	97.850	97.740	1.179	1.688	0.00	0.0	-0.817	1.48	94.186	94.186	1.864
431	432	93.560	93.473	1350	79.0	0.1	0.013	97.740	97.620	1.237	1.770	0.01	0.0	-0.724	0.95	94.186	94.186	1.754
432	444	93.443	93.347	1350	87.5	0.1	0.013	97.620	97.500	1.237	1.770	0.01	0.0	-0.607	0.95	94.186	94.186	1.634
444	445	93.197	93.132	1500	64.5	0.1	0.013	97.500	96.710	1.265	2.235	0.01	0.0	-0.511	0.68	94.186	94.186	1.514
445	446	93.102	93.078	1500	23.5	0.1	0.013	96.710	96.710	1.265	2.235	0.01	0.0	-0.416	0.68	94.186	94.186	0.724
446	447	93.048	93.006	1500	38.0	0.1	0.013	96.710	95.500	1.327	2.344	0.01	0.0	-0.362	0.68	94.186	94.186	0.724
447	448	92.976	92.927	1500	44.5	0.1	0.013	95.500	95.500	1.327	2.344	0.01	0.0	-0.290	0.68	94.186	94.186	N/A
448	449	92.867	92.847	1500	18.0	0.1	0.013	95.500	95.500	1.327	2.344	0.01	0.0	-0.181	0.68	94.186	94.186	N/A
449	Pond2	92.817	92.800	1500	15.5	0.1	0.013	95.500	95.500	1.327	2.344	0.01	0.0	-0.131	0.68	94.186	94.186	N/A
Pond2	I Out	I N/A	I N/A	I N/A	I N/A	IN/A	I N/A	I 95.500	I 95.500	I N/A	I N/A	0.01	I N/A	I N/A	1 211 77	94.186	I 93.200	I N/A

Table B-1C: Pipe Data and Hydraulic Simulation Results for the 100-Year, 10-Day Spring Snowmelt + Rainfall Event

Table B-1C: Pipe Data and Hydraulic Simulation Results for the 100-Year, 10-Day Spring Snowmelt + Rainfall Event

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe Dia.	Pipe	Pipe	n	U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
MH	мн	Invert	Invert	/ Height	Length	Slope		Cover	Cover	Vel.	Flow	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	(2)
								Elev.	Elev.			Flow	Flow	(1)	Peak	HGL	HGL	
		(m)	(m)	(mm)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m³/s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)

(2) Freeboard between upstream hydraulic gradeline elevation and upstream manhole cover elevation for 200 and 300 series trunk sewers. Freeboard between upstream

hydraulic gradeline and estimated underside of footing elevation (1.8 m below upstream manhole cover elevation) for 400 series trunk sewers.

Table B-1D: Pipe Data and H	vdraulic Simulation Results	for the 100-Year,	3-Hour Chicago	Storm + 20%
	3	,	3	

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe Dia.	Pipe	Pipe	n	U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
МН	мн	Invert	Invert	/ Height	Length	Slope		Cover	Cover	Vel.	Flow	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	(2)
								Elev.	Elev.			Flow	Flow	(1)	Peak	HGL	HGL	
		(m)	(m)	(mm)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
204	205	94.098	93.943	600	111.0	0.1	0.013	96.300	96.130	0.813	0.230	0.50	2.2	1.641	1.45	96.339	96.151	-0.039
205	207	93.868	93.790	675	65.0	0.1	0.013	96.130	96.030	0.814	0.291	0.67	2.3	1.608	1.33	96.151	96.042	-0.021
207	209	93.715	93.669	750	41.5	0.1	0.013	96.030	95.960	0.836	0.369	0.83	2.2	1.577	1.25	96.042	95.977	-0.012
209	211	93.594	93.516	825	78.0	0.1	0.013	95.960	95.840	0.849	0.454	0.96	2.1	1.558	1.20	95.977	95.875	-0.017
211	219	93.291	93.221	1050	70.0	0.1	0.013	95.840	95.730	0.997	0.864	1.71	2.0	1.534	1.17	95.875	95.695	-0.035
219	222	93.071	93.005	1200	66.0	0.1	0.013	95.730	95.630	1.090	1.233	2.54	2.1	1.425	1.05	95.696	95.420	0.034
222	224	92.985	92.868	1200	78.0	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.510	1.335	1.510	3.50	2.3	1.235	1.02	95.420	94.520	0.210
224	225	92.808	92.755	1200	37.5	0.1	0.013	95.510	95.510	1.290	1.459	3.50	2.4	0.512	1.02	94.520	94.520	0.990
225	Pond2	92.725	92.700	1200	17.5	0.1	0.013	95.510	95.500	1.290	1.459	3.50	2.4	0.593	1.02	94.518	94.515	N/A
301	302	94.230	94.016	1500	119.0	0.2	0.013	97.230	97.160	1.697	2.999	1.33	0.4	-0.586	2.95	95.144	95.083	2.086
302	303	93.996	93.803	1500	96.5	0.2	0.013	97.160	97.060	1.789	3.161	2.09	0.7	-0.413	3.30	95.083	94.989	2.077
303	304	93.783	93.580	1500	96.5	0.2	0.013	97.060	96.970	1.833	3.239	2.09	0.6	-0.294	3.35	94.989	94.915	2.071
304	307	93.560	93.348	1500	96.5	0.2	0.013	96.970	96.800	1.876	3.316	2.09	0.6	-0.145	3.33	94.915	94.752	2.055
307	308	92.922	92.810	1650	70.0	0.2	0.013	96.800	96.330	1.705	3.646	2.09	0.6	0.180	3.33	94.752	94.666	2.048
308	311	92.660	92.585	1800	74.5	0.1	0.013	96.330	96.200	1.428	3.635	2.09	0.6	0.206	3.33	94.666	94.643	1.664
311	312	92.565	92.495	1800	70.0	0.1	0.013	96.200	96.110	1.428	3.635	2.09	0.6	0.278	3.33	94.643	94.580	1.557
312	314	92.435	92.396	1800	38.5	0.1	0.013	96.110	96.060	1.428	3.635	2.09	0.6	0.345	3.33	94.580	94.526	1.530
314	Pond2	92.336	92.300	1800	32.5	0.1	0.013	96.060	95.500	1.498	3.812	2.09	0.5	0.390	3.33	94.526	94.515	1.534
401	402	95.318	95.191	600	90.5	0.1	0.013	98.970	98.860	0.813	0.230	0.14	0.6	0.591	1.27	96.509	96.431	0.661
402	403	95.116	95.010	675	88.5	0.1	0.013	98.860	98.730	0.814	0.291	0.24	0.8	0.640	1.27	96.431	96.354	0.629
403	404	94.990	94.872	675	78.5	0.2	0.013	98.730	98.620	0.910	0.326	0.33	1.0	0.689	1.27	96.354	96.176	0.576
404	405	94.797	94.748	750	44.5	0.1	0.013	98.620	98.550	0.836	0.369	0.35	1.0	0.629	1.27	96.176	96.112	0.644
405	406	94.673	94.622	825	51.0	0.1	0.013	98.550	98.480	0.849	0.454	0.41	0.9	0.614	1.27	96.112	96.061	0.638
406	407	94.547	94.419	900	127.5	0.1	0.013	98.480	98.290	0.900	0.572	0.56	1.0	0.614	1.27	96.061	95.942	0.619
407	411	94.344	94.260	975	83.5	0.1	0.013	98.290	98.170	0.949	0.709	0.66	0.9	0.623	1.27	95.942	95.818	0.548
411	414	94.185	94.113	1050	72.0	0.1	0.013	98.170	98.060	0.997	0.864	1.09	1.3	0.583	1.27	95.818	95.698	0.552
414	417	93.963	93.895	1200	68.0	0.1	0.013	98.060	97.960	1.090	1.233	1.34	1.1	0.535	1.23	95.698	95.611	0.562
417	420	93.875	93.803	1200	72.0	0.1	0.013	97.960	97.850	1.090	1.233	1.57	1.3	0.536	1.23	95.611	95.489	0.549
420	431	93.653	93.580	1350	73.0	0.1	0.013	97.850	97.740	1.179	1.688	1.81	1.1	0.486	1.23	95.489	95.402	0.561
431	432	93.560	93.473	1350	79.0	0.1	0.013	97.740	97.620	1.237	1.770	2.45	1.4	0.492	1.27	95.402	95.230	0.538
432	444	93.443	93.347	1350	87.5	0.1	0.013	97.620	97.500	1.237	1.770	2.59	1.5	0.437	1.27	95.230	94.824	0.590
444	445	93.197	93.132	1500	64.5	0.1	0.013	97.500	96.710	1.265	2.235	3.22	1.4	0.127	1.25	94.824	94.712	0.876
445	446	93.102	93.078	1500	23.5	0.1	0.013	96.710	96.710	1.265	2.235	3.26	1.5	0.110	1.25	94.712	94.675	0.198
446	447	93.048	93.006	1500	38.0	0.1	0.013	96.710	95.500	1.327	2.344	3.73	1.6	0.127	1.23	94.675	94.620	0.235
447	448	92.976	92.927	1500	44.5	0.1	0.013	95.500	95.500	1.327	2.344	3.72	1.6	0.144	1.23	94.620	94.515	N/A
448	449	92.867	92.847	1500	18.0	0.1	0.013	95.500	95.500	1.327	2.344	3.70	1.6	0.148	1.23	94.515	94.515	N/A
449	Pond2	92.817	92.800	1500	15.5	0.1	0.013	95.500	95.500	1.327	2.344	3.68	1.6	0.198	1.23	94.515	94.515	N/A
Pond2	Out	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.500	95.500	N/A	N/A	2.09	N/A	N/A	3.42	94.515	93.200	N/A

Table B-1D: Pipe Data and Hydraulic Simulation Results for the 100-Year, 3-Hour Chicago Storm + 20%

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe Dia.	Pipe	Pipe	n	U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
МН	мн	Invert	Invert	/ Height	Length	Slope		Cover	Cover	Vel.	Flow	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	(2)
								Elev.	Elev.			Flow	Flow	(1)	Peak	HGL	HGL	
		(m)	(m)	(mm)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)

⁽²⁾ Freeboard between upstream hydraulic gradeline elevation and upstream manhole cover elevation for 200 and 300 series trunk sewers. Freeboard between upstream

hydraulic gradeline and estimated underside of footing elevation (1.8 m below upstream manhole cover elevation) for 400 series trunk sewers.

Table B-1E: Pipe Data and H	vdraulic Simulation Results for the	100-Year, 24-Hour SCS Ty	pe II Storm + 20%

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe Dia.	Pipe	Pipe	n	U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
мн	мн	Invert	Invert	/ Height	Length	Slope		Cover	Cover	Vel.	Flow	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	(2)
								Elev.	Elev.			Flow	Flow	(1)	Peak	HGL	HGL	
		(m)	(m)	(mm)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
204	205	94.098	93.943	600	111.0	0.1	0.013	96.300	96.130	0.813	0.230	0.47	2.0	1.620	12.27	96.318	96.143	-0.018
205	207	93.868	93.790	675	65.0	0.1	0.013	96.130	96.030	0.814	0.291	0.67	2.3	1.600	12.18	96.143	96.040	-0.013
207	209	93.715	93.669	750	41.5	0.1	0.013	96.030	95.960	0.836	0.369	0.83	2.2	1.575	12.15	96.040	95.971	-0.010
209	211	93.594	93.516	825	78.0	0.1	0.013	95.960	95.840	0.849	0.454	0.92	2.0	1.552	12.13	95.971	95.862	-0.011
211	219	93.291	93.221	1050	70.0	0.1	0.013	95.840	95.730	0.997	0.864	1.60	1.9	1.521	12.12	95.862	95.690	-0.022
219	222	93.071	93.005	1200	66.0	0.1	0.013	95.730	95.630	1.090	1.233	2.28	1.9	1.419	11.92	95.690	95.484	0.040
222	224	92.985	92.868	1200	78.0	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.510	1.335	1.510	2.98	2.0	1.299	11.95	95.484	94.707	0.146
224	225	92.808	92.755	1200	37.5	0.1	0.013	95.510	95.510	1.290	1.459	2.98	2.0	0.699	11.95	94.707	94.707	0.803
225	Pond2	92.725	92.700	1200	17.5	0.1	0.013	95.510	95.500	1.290	1.459	2.97	2.0	0.781	11.95	94.706	94.705	N/A
301	302	94.230	94.016	1500	119.0	0.2	0.013	97.230	97.160	1.697	2.999	1.61	0.5	-0.099	13.63	95.631	95.581	1.599
302	303	93.996	93.803	1500	96.5	0.2	0.013	97.160	97.060	1.789	3.161	2.59	0.8	0.085	14.03	95.581	95.460	1.579
303	304	93.783	93.580	1500	96.5	0.2	0.013	97.060	96.970	1.833	3.239	2.60	0.8	0.177	14.03	95.460	95.339	1.600
304	307	93.560	93.348	1500	96.5	0.2	0.013	96.970	96.800	1.876	3.316	2.60	0.8	0.279	14.05	95.339	95.099	1.631
307	308	92.922	92.810	1650	70.0	0.2	0.013	96.800	96.330	1.705	3.646	2.61	0.7	0.527	14.05	95.099	94.953	1.701
308	311	92.660	92.585	1800	74.5	0.1	0.013	96.330	96.200	1.428	3.635	2.62	0.7	0.493	14.03	94.953	94.915	1.377
311	312	92.565	92.495	1800	70.0	0.1	0.013	96.200	96.110	1.428	3.635	2.62	0.7	0.550	14.03	94.915	94.810	1.285
312	314	92.435	92.396	1800	38.5	0.1	0.013	96.110	96.060	1.428	3.635	2.62	0.7	0.574	14.05	94.809	94.723	1.301
314	Pond2	92.336	92.300	1800	32.5	0.1	0.013	96.060	95.500	1.498	3.812	2.62	0.7	0.588	14.03	94.724	94.705	1.336
401	402	95.318	95.191	600	90.5	0.1	0.013	98.970	98.860	0.813	0.230	0.14	0.6	0.567	12.12	96.485	96.401	0.685
402	403	95.116	95.010	675	88.5	0.1	0.013	98.860	98.730	0.814	0.291	0.23	0.8	0.610	12.12	96.401	96.333	0.659
403	404	94.990	94.872	675	78.5	0.2	0.013	98.730	98.620	0.910	0.326	0.32	1.0	0.668	12.12	96.333	96.184	0.597
404	405	94.797	94.748	750	44.5	0.1	0.013	98.620	98.550	0.836	0.369	0.34	0.9	0.637	12.12	96.184	96.133	0.636
405	406	94.673	94.622	825	51.0	0.1	0.013	98.550	98.480	0.849	0.454	0.40	0.9	0.635	12.12	96.133	96.084	0.617
406	407	94.547	94.419	900	127.5	0.1	0.013	98.480	98.290	0.900	0.572	0.54	0.9	0.637	12.12	96.084	95.957	0.596
407	411	94.344	94.260	975	83.5	0.1	0.013	98.290	98.170	0.949	0.709	0.63	0.9	0.638	12.12	95.957	95.837	0.533
411	414	94.185	94.113	1050	72.0	0.1	0.013	98.170	98.060	0.997	0.864	1.05	1.2	0.602	12.12	95.837	95.722	0.533
414	417	93.963	93.895	1200	68.0	0.1	0.013	98.060	97.960	1.090	1.233	1.29	1.0	0.559	12.12	95.722	95.640	0.538
417	420	93.875	93.803	1200	72 <u>.</u> 0	0.1	0.013	97.960	97.850	1.090	1.233	1.51	1.2	0.565	12.12	95.640	95.523	0.520
420	431	93.653	93.580	1350	73.0	0.1	0.013	97.850	97.740	1.179	1.688	1.74	1.0	0.521	12.12	95.524	95.439	0.526
431	432	93.560	93.473	1350	79.0	0.1	0.013	97.740	97.620	1.237	1.770	2.36	1.3	0.529	12.12	95.439	95.283	0.501
432	444	93.443	93.347	1350	87.5	0.1	0.013	97.620	97.500	1.237	1.770	2.49	1.4	0.490	12.12	95.283	94.979	0.537
444	445	93.197	93.132	1500	64.5	0.1	0.013	97.500	96.710	1.265	2.235	3.05	1.4	0.282	12.13	94.979	94.888	0.721
445	446	93.102	93.078	1500	23.5	0.1	0.013	96.710	96.710	1.265	2.235	3.05	1.4	0.286	12.13	94.888	94.852	0.022
446	447	93.048	93.006	1500	38.0	0.1	0.013	96.710	95.500	1.327	2.344	3.18	1.4	0.304	12.13	94.852	94.800	0.058
447	448	92.976	92.927	1500	44.5	0.1	0.013	95.500	95.500	1.327	2.344	3.18	1.4	0.324	12.13	94.800	94.707	N/A
448	449	92.867	92.847	1500	18.0	0.1	0.013	95.500	95.500	1.327	2.344	3.17	1.4	0.340	12.13	94.707	94.707	N/A
449	Pond2	92.817	92.800	1500	15.5	0.1	0.013	95.500	95.500	1.327	2.344	3.17	1.4	0.390	12.13	94.707	94.705	N/A
Pond2	Out	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.500	95.500	N/A	N/A	2.73	N/A	N/A	14.70	94.705	93.200	N/A

Table B-1E: Pipe Data and Hydraulic Simulation Results for the 100-Year, 24-Hour SCS Type II Storm + 20%

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe Dia.	Pipe	Pipe	n	U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
МН	МН	Invert	Invert	/ Height	Length	Slope		Cover	Cover	Vel.	Flow	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	(2)
								Elev.	Elev.			Flow	Flow	(1)	Peak	HGL	HGL	
		(m)	(m)	(mm)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)

(2) Freeboard between upstream hydraulic gradeline elevation and upstream manhole cover elevation for 200 and 300 series trunk sewers. Freeboard between upstream

hydraulic gradeline and estimated underside of footing elevation (1.8 m below upstream manhole cover elevation) for 400 series trunk sewers.



ATTACHMENT



Pond 1 Hydraulic Gradeline Results





	Table C-1A: Pip	e Data and H [,]	vdraulic Simulation	Results for the	100-Year	, 3-Hour Chicac	o Storm
--	-----------------	---------------------------	---------------------	-----------------	----------	-----------------	---------

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe Dia.	Pipe	Pipe	n	U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
мн	мн	Invert	Invert	/ Height	Length	Slope		Cover	Cover	Vel.	Flow	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	(2)
								Elev.	Elev.			Flow	Flow	(1)	Peak	HGL	HGL	
		(m)	(m)	(mm)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
1	2	93.328	93.172	300	44.5	0.4	0.013	95.566	95.449	0.809	0.057	-0.06	-1.0	0.858	0.99	94.486	94.465	1.080
2	2a	93.134	92.925	375	69.6	0.3	0.013	95.449	95.449	0.869	0.096	-0.07	-0.7	0.956	0.98	94.465	94.413	0.984
2a	3	92.925	92.857	375	22.9	0.3	0.013	95.449	95.220	0.869	0.096	0.12	1.3	1.113	1.01	94.413	94.287	N/A
3	4	92.827	92.787	375	13.5	0.3	0.013	95.220	95.300	0.869	0.096	0.12	1.2	1.085	1.02	94.287	94.211	0.933
4	7	92.757	92.561	375	65.5	0.3	0.013	95.300	95.174	0.869	0.096	0.12	1.2	1.079	1.09	94.211	93.935	1.089
5	5a	92.986	92.957	300	8.3	0.4	0.013	95.298	95.378	0.809	0.057	-0.02	-0.4	1.033	0.98	94.319	94.318	0.979
5a	6	92.957	92.797	300	45.7	0.4	0.013	95.378	95.378	0.809	0.057	0.09	1.5	1.061	0.99	94.318	94.065	N/A
6	6a	92.609	92.499	675	73.5	0.2	0.013	95.378	95.378	0.910	0.326	0.09	0.3	0.781	0.99	94.065	94.056	1.313
6a	7	92.499	92.448	675	34.0	0.2	0.013	95.378	95.174	0.910	0.326	0.39	1.2	0.882	0.98	94.056	93.935	N/A
7	7a	92.373	92.313	750	54.4	0.1	0.013	95.174	95.174	0.836	0.369	0.49	1.3	0.812	1.07	93.935	93.844	1.239
7a	8	92.313	92.300	750	11.6	0.1	0.013	95.174	95.040	0.836	0.369	0.60	1.6	0.781	1.04	93.844	93.776	N/A
8	8a	92.225	92.211	900	13.1	0.1	0.013	95.040	95.199	0.944	0.600	0.72	1.2	0.651	1.03	93.776	93.776	1.264
8a	11	92.211	92.144	900	60.4	0.1	0.013	95.199	95.199	0.944	0.600	0.84	1.4	0.665	1.03	93.776	93.776	N/A
9	10	92.912	92.614	300	59.5	0.5	0.013	95.652	94.963	0.967	0.068	0.03	0.4	0.707	1.04	93.919	93.865	1.733
10	10a	92.501	92.486	525	6.1	0.3	0.013	94.963	95.199	0.993	0.215	0.03	0.1	0.839	1.04	93.865	93.864	1.098
10a		92.486	92.331	525	61.9	0.3	0.013	95.199	95.199	0.993	0.215	0.27	1.3	0.853	1.07	93.864	93.776	N/A
	11a	92.106	92.040	975	59.6	0.1	0.013	95.199	95.199	0.996	0.743	1.11	1.5	0.695	1.03	93.776	93.776	1.423
11a	12	92.040	92.036	975	4.4	0.1	0.013	95.199	94.782	0.996	0.743	1.20	1.6	0.761	1.03	93.776	93.776	N/A
12	12a	92.006	91.963	975	39.2	0.1	0.013	94.782	94.964	0.996	0.743	1.20	1.6	0.795	1.03	93.776	93.775	1.006
12a	15	91.963	91.924	975	35.9	0.1	0.013	94.964	94.964	0.996	0.743	1.25	1.7	0.837	1.03	93.775	93.775	N/A
13	13a	92.160	92.156	825	3.3	0.1	0.013	95.250	95.201	0.891	0.476	0.44	0.9	0.790	1.02	93.775	93.775	1.475
13a	130	92.156	92.069	825	79.1	0.1	0.013	95.201	95.201	0.891	0.476	0.47	1.0	0.794	1.02	93.775	93.775	N/A
130		92.069	92.046	825	21.1	0.1	0.013	95.201	94.902	0.891	0.476	0.66		0.881	1.02	93.775	93.775	N/A
14	15	92.016	91.999	825	15.5	0.1	0.013	94.902	94.964	0.891	0.476	0.66		0.934	1.02	93.775	93.775	1.127
15	1040	91.810	91.793	1200	15.5	0.1	0.013	94.964	94.500	1.143	1.293	1.89	1.5	0.765	1.03	93.775	93.775	1.189
10	170	92.602	92.499	600	68.5	0.2	0.013	94.979	95.298	0.841	0.238	0.29	1.2	1.198	1.00	94.400	94.250	0.579
170	10	92.461	92.373	675	58.7	0.2	0.013	95.298	95.298	0.910	0.326	0.29	0.9	1.114	1.05	94.250	94.181	1.048 N/A
1/4	10	92.373	92.303	675	0.4	0.2	0.013	95.296	95.030	0.910	0.320	0.44	1.3	1.100	1.04	94.101	94.130	N/A
10	19	92.333	92.317	675	10.5	0.2	0.013	95.030	95.094	0.910	0.320	0.44	1.3	1.120	1.04	94.130	94.094	0.894
20	202	92.207	92.205	675	55.0 10.1	0.2	0.013	95.094	90.303	0.910	0.320	0.45	1.3	1.132	1.04	94.094	93.917	1.000
20	20a 20h	92.442	92.427	300	10.1 52.0	0.2	0.013	95.562	95.562	0.910	0.320	0.45		0.006		94.353	94.320	1.209
20	200	93.147	92.935	675	55.0 66.0	0.4	0.013	95.562	90.002	0.000	0.001	0.02	0.3	1.224	1 1 2	94.303	94.300	1.209 N/A
20a 20h	21	92.421	92.321 92.755	300	00.9 45 0	0.2	0.013	90.002	90.120	0.910	0.020	0.47	1.4	1 1 1 2 1		94.320	0/ 115	
200	21a	92.900	92.733	825	40.0	0.4	0.013	95.502	95.245	0.000	0.001	0.00	1.2	1.063	1 13	94.330	0/ 118	0.088
219	27	92.202	92.220	825	<u> </u>	0.1	0.013	95.120	95.190	0.091	0.470	0.47	1.0	1.005	1 1 1 2	94.140 Q/ 110	94.110	0.900 N/A
22	23	92.220	92.101	825	10.5	0.1	0.013	95.190	95.190	0.091	0.476	0.03	1.3	1.000	1 1 1 2	94.110	94.009	1 1 20
23	105b	92.131	92.150	900	26.5	0.1	0.013	95.190	93.505	0.031	0.470	1.04	17	0.925	1 05	03 017	03 776	1.466
24	24a	92,605	92,572	600	22.2	0.2	0.013	95.243	95.320	0.841	0.238	0.07	0.3	0.910	1.03	94,115	94,112	1.128

|--|

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe Dia.	Pipe	Pipe	n	U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
мн	мн	Invert	Invert	/ Height	Length	Slope		Cover	Cover	Vel.	Flow	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	(2)
								Elev.	Elev.			Flow	Flow	(1)	Peak	HGL	HGL	
		(m)	(m)	(mm)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
24a	25	92.572	92.459	600	74.8	0.2	0.013	95.320	95.330	0.841	0.238	0.26	1.1	0.940	0.98	94.112	93.938	N/A
25	25a	92.234	92.230	1050	3.2	0.1	0.013	95.330	95.320	1.046	0.906	1.11	1.2	0.654	1.03	93.938	93.931	1.392
25a	26	92.230	92.152	1050	71.8	0.1	0.013	95.320	95.212	1.046	0.906	1.23	1.4	0.651	1.03	93.931	93.789	N/A
26	26a	92.077	92.032	1200	41.3	0.1	0.013	95.212	95.352	1.143	1.293	1.37	1.1	0.512	1.03	93.789	93.776	1.423
26a	26b	92.032	92.007	1200	22.9	0.1	0.013	95.352	95.352	1.143	1.293	1.39	1.1	0.544	1.03	93.776	93.776	N/A
26b	27	92.007	91.988	1200	16.8	0.1	0.013	95.352	95.352	1.143	1.293	1.56	1.2	0.569	1.04	93.776	93.776	N/A
27	27a	92.856	92.796	300	17.1	0.4	0.013	95.352	95.352	0.809	0.057	-0.10	-1.8	0.620	0.95	93.776	93.776	1.576
27	27b	91.928	91.910	1200	16.8	0.1	0.013	95.352	95.352	1.143	1.293	1.56	1.2	0.648	1.03	93.776	93.776	1.576
27a	29	92.796	92.623	300	49.4	0.4	0.013	95.352	95.352	0.809	0.057	0.08	1.5	0.680	1.08	93.776	93.775	N/A
27b	107b	91.910	91.846	1200	58.2	0.1	0.013	95.352	95.232	1.143	1.293	1.66	1.3	0.666	1.03	93.776	93.776	N/A
29	111b	91.588	91.542	1650	41.5	0.1	0.013	95.352	95.502	1.414	3.023	6.61	2.2	0.537	0.96	93.775	93.774	1.577
30	30a	92.746	92.561	450	74.2	0.3	0.013	95.372	95.372	0.896	0.143	-0.08	-0.6	0.670	1.00	93.866	93.919	1.506
30	31	92.662	92.542	300	12.0	1.0	0.013	95.372	95.212	1.368	0.097	0.08	0.8	0.904	1.02	93.866	93.776	1.506
30a	26	92.561	92.542	450	43.3	0.3	0.013	95.372	95.212	0.896	0.143	0.18	1.2	0.908	0.97	93.919	93.789	N/A
31	31a	92.429	92.327	525	51.0	0.2	0.013	95.212	95.212	0.888	0.192	0.08	0.4	0.822	1.01	93.776	93.776	1.436
31a	32	92.327	92.301	525	13.0	0.2	0.013	95.212	94.974	0.888	0.192	0.30	1.6	0.924	1.01	93.776	93.776	N/A
32	33	92.271	92.246	525	12.5	0.2	0.013	94.974	95.049	0.888	0.192	0.30	1.6	0.980	1.04	93.776	93.776	1.198
33	330	92.216	92.146	525	35.0	0.2	0.013	95.049	95.230	0.888	0.192	0.30	1.6	1.035	1.04	93.776	93.776	1.273
104b	Pond1	91.763	91.700	1200	57.5	0.1	0.013	94.500	95.500	1.143	1.293	1.89	1.5	0.812	1.03	93.775	93.774	0.725
105b	106b	92.029	91.960	900	62.5	0.1	0.013	94.500	94.500	0.944	0.600	1.04	1.7	0.847	1.05	93.776	93.776	0.724
106b	108b	91.930	91.854	900	69.5	0.1	0.013	94.500	94.218	0.944	0.600	1.04	1.7	0.946	1.05	93.776	93.775	0.724
107b	1070b	91.786	91.778	1200	7.0	0.1	0.013	95.232	95.055	1.143	1.293	1.66	1.3	0.790	1.03	93.776	93.775	1.456
108b	109b	91.629	91.617	1350	10.5	0.1	0.013	94.218	94.500	1.237	1.770	2.99	1.7	0.796	1.04	93.775	93.775	0.443
109b	Pond1	91.557	91.550	1350	6.0	0.1	0.013	94.500	95.500	1.237	1.770	2.98	1.7	0.868	1.04	93.775	93.774	0.725
111b	Pond1	91.522	91.450	1650	38.0	0.2	0.013	95.502	95.500	1.858	3.973	6.85	1.7	0.602	0.95	93.774	93.774	1.728
200	201	93.286	93.180	300	12.5	0.9	0.013	95.389	95.314	1.261	0.089	-0.06	-0.7	0.303	1.00	93.889	93.887	1.500
200	202	93.289	93.084	300	58.5	0.4	0.013	95.389	95.259	0.809	0.057	-0.02	-0.3	0.300	1.27	93.889	93.904	1.500
201	201a	93.030	92.900	450	29.6	0.4	0.013	95.314	95.314	1.189	0.189	-0.07	-0.3	0.407	0.99	93.887	93.885	1.427
201a	8	92.900	92.500	450	90.9	0.4	0.013	95.314	95.040	1.189	0.189	0.13	0.7	0.535	1.02	93.885	93.776	N/A
202	202a	93.054	93.050	300	1.2	0.4	0.013	95.259	95.296	0.809	0.057	-0.03	-0.5	0.550	1.00	93.904	93.904	1.355
202a	203	93.050	93.012	300	10.8	0.4	0.013	95.296	95.296	0.809	0.057	0.11	1.8	0.554	1.03	93.904	93.777	N/A
203	204	92.862	92.677	450	92.5	0.2	0.013	95.296	95.110	0.802	0.128	0.11	0.8	0.465	1.03	93.777	93.776	1.519
204	204a	92.511	92.463	600	21.9	0.2	0.013	95.110	95.250	1.019	0.288	0.11	0.4	0.665	1.02	93.776	93.776	1.334
204a	204b	92.463	92.324	600	63.0	0.2	0.013	95.250	95.250	1.019	0.288	0.40	1.4	0.713	1.02	93.776	93.776	N/A
204b	13	92.324	92.290	600	15.6	0.2	0.013	95.250	95.250	1.019	0.288	0.44	1.5	0.852	1.02	93.776	93.775	N/A
205	210	93.210	93.060	450	75.0	0.2	0.013	95.493	95.671	0.802	0.128	0.12	0.9	1.225	0.95	94.885	94.812	0.608
206	206a	93.320	93.316	375	1.5	0.3	0.013	95.468	95.493	0.869	0.096	-0.07	-0.8	1.226	0.97	94.921	94.921	0.547
206a	205	93.316	93.285	375	10.0	0.3	0.013	95.493	95.493	0.869	0.096	0.13	1.4	1.230	0.96	94.921	94.885	N/A
207	206	93.598	93.395	300	58.0	0.4	0.013	95.923	95.468	0.809	0.057	-0.06	-1.0	0.994	0.98	94.892	94.921	1.031

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe Dia.	Pipe	Pipe	n	U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
МН	мн	Invert	Invert	/ Height	Length	Slope		Cover	Cover	Vel.	Flow	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	(2)
								Elev.	Elev.			Flow	Flow	(1)	Peak	HGL	HGL	
		(m)	(m)	(mm)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
208	207	93.700	93.658	300	12.0	0.4	0.013	95.851	95.923	0.809	0.057	-0.04	-0.7	0.884	0.98	94.884	94.892	0.967
208	208a	93.672	93.294	375	44.5	0.9	0.013	95.851	95.851	1.464	0.162	-0.08	-0.5	0.837	0.98	94.884	94.883	0.967
208a	209	93.294	92.949	375	40.5	0.9	0.013	95.851	95.614	1.464	0.162	0.16	1.0	1.214	0.95	94.883	94.671	N/A
209	212	92.724	92.639	600	56.5	0.2	0.013	95.614	95.238	0.841	0.238	0.33	1.4	1.347	1.01	94.671	94.524	0.943
210	211	93.030	93.007	450	11.5	0.2	0.013	95.671	95.601	0.802	0.128	0.10	0.8	1.332	1.01	94.812	94.796	0.859
211	211a	92.932	92.871	525	30.3	0.2	0.013	95.601	95.614	0.888	0.192	0.09	0.5	1.339	1.12	94.796	94.785	0.805
211a	209	92.871	92.799	525	36.2	0.2	0.013	95.614	95.614	0.888	0.192	0.19	1.0	1.389	1.03	94.785	94.671	N/A
212	212a	92.564	92.553	675	7.3	0.2	0.013	95.238	95.550	0.910	0.326	0.33	1.0	1.285	1.13	94.524	94.514	0.714
212a	20	92.553	92.460	675	62.2	0.2	0.013	95.550	95.562	0.910	0.326	0.44	1.4	1.286	1.13	94.514	94.353	N/A
213	214	93.791	93.638	300	30.5	0.5	0.013	96.071	95.908	0.967	0.068	0.08	1.1	1.178	0.93	95.269	95.168	0.802
214	214a	93.338	93.284	600	36.3	0.2	0.013	95.908	95.918	0.841	0.238	0.11	0.5	1.230	1.01	95.168	95.157	0.740
214a	215	93.284	93.232	600	34.2	0.2	0.013	95.918	95.849	0.841	0.238	0.26		1.273	0.97	95.157	95.110	N/A
215	215a	93.212	93.138	600	49.2	0.2	0.013	95.849	95.849	0.841	0.238	0.25	1.0	1.298	0.98	95.110	95.042	0.739
215a	220	93.138	93.120	600	11.8	0.2	0.013	95.849	95.723	0.841	0.238	0.32	1.3	1.304	1.04	95.042	94.936	N/A
216	216a	93.869	93.679	300	54.4	0.4	0.013	95.972	95.972	0.809	0.057	-0.03	-0.5	1.053	0.97	95.222	95.219	0.750
216	217	93.870	93.726	300	12.0	1.2	0.013	95.972	95.900	1.499	0.106	-0.07	-0.6	1.052	0.96	95.222	95.217	0.750
210a	214	93.679	93.638	300	11.6	0.4	0.013	95.972	95.908	0.809	0.057	0.05	0.9	1.240		95.219	95.168	N/A
217	21/d 219	93.576	93.494	450	40.9	0.2	0.013	95.900	95,900	0.802	0.120	-0.08		1.191	0.90	95.217	95.207	0.003 N/A
217a	210	93.494	93.345	450	74.0 11.5	0.2	0.013	95.900	95.677	0.002	0.120	0.14		1.203	0.97	95.207	95.096	N/A
210	2192	03 254	93.292	525	18.4	0.2	0.013	95.077	95.594	0.002	0.120	0.12	0.6	1 280	1 03	95.090	95.000	0.526
219a	220	03 217	93.121	525	10 <u>.</u> 4 /8 1	0.2	0.013	95.594	95.700	0.000	0.192	0.12	12	1 308	0.08	95.000	93.030	0.520 N/Δ
220	220a	93.045	92 918	675	63.4	0.2	0.013	95 723	95 733	1 051	0.376	0.51	14	1 216	1.03	94 936	94 707	0.787
220a	221	92 918	92 913	675	2.6	0.2	0.013	95 733	95 466	1 051	0.376	0.52	14	1 1 1 1 4	1.03	94 707	94 571	N/A
221	221a	92.838	92.772	750	33.1	0.2	0.013	95.466	95.515	1.127	0.498	0.58	1.2	0.983	1.03	94.571	94,489	0.895
221a	222	92.772	92.600	750	85.9	0.2	0.013	95.515	95.515	1.127	0.498	0.73	1.5	0.967	0.98	94.489	94.125	N/A
222	223	92.525	92.505	825	13.5	0.2	0.013	95.515	95,409	1.040	0.556	0.70	1.3	0.774	1.02	94.124	94.063	1.391
223	223a	92,430	92,369	900	32.0	0.2	0.013	95,409	95,409	1,240	0.789	0.71	0.9	0.733	0.99	94.063	94.017	1,346
223a	223b	92.369	92.316	900	27.8	0.2	0.013	95.409	95.409	1.240	0.789	0.88	1.1	0.748	0.99	94.017	93.958	N/A
223b	25	92.316	92.300	900	8.7	0.2	0.013	95.409	95.330	1.240	0.789	0.88	1.1	0.742	0.99	93.958	93.938	N/A
224	221	93.432	93.288	300	41.0	0.4	0.013	95.273	95.466	0.809	0.057	0.07	1.2	0.997	0.97	94.729	94.571	0.544
330	1070b	92.116	92.096	525	10.0	0.2	0.014	95.230	95.055	0.825	0.179	0.30	1.7	1.135	1.04	93.776	93.775	1.454
1070b	108b	91.758	91.709	1200	44.5	0.1	0.014	95.055	94.218	1.062	1.201	1.95	1.6	0.817	1.04	93.775	93.775	1.280
1600	1600a	92.658	92.635	600	15.5	0.2	0.013	95.090	95.090	0.841	0.238	0.20	0.8	1.163	0.92	94.421	94.412	0.669
1600a	16	92.635	92.622	600	8.5	0.2	0.013	95.090	94.979	0.841	0.238	0.23	1.0	1.177	1.00	94.412	94.400	N/A
Pond1	Out	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	95.500	94.500	N/A	N/A	3.24	N/A	N/A	3.05	93.774	92.350	1.726
250	252	93.433	93.270	300	46.5	0.4	0.013	95.380	95.390	0.809	0.057	0.07	1.2	1.456	1.33	95.189	95.107	0.191
251	251a	93.563	93.356	300	46.1	0.5	0.013	95.530	95.530	0.918	0.065	-0.08	-1.2	1.388	1.32	95.251	95.267	0.279
251	251b	93.320	93.079	300	48.2	0.5	0.013	95.530	95.500	0.967	0.068	-0.06	-0.9	1.631	0.93	95.251	95.163	0.279

|--|

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe Dia.	Pipe	Pipe	n	U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
МН	МН	Invert	Invert	/ Height	Length	Slope		Cover	Cover	Vel.	Flow	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	(2)
								Elev.	Elev.			Flow	Flow	(1)	Peak	HGL	HGL	
		(m)	(m)	(mm)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
251	251c	93.625	93.607	375	6.0	0.3	0.013	95.530	95.530	0.869	0.096	0.10	1.0	1.251	1.28	95.251	95.259	0.279
251a	252	93.356	93.270	300	18.9	0.5	0.013	95.530	95.390	0.918	0.065	0.08	1.3	1.611	0.92	95.267	95.107	N/A
251b	255	93.079	92.980	300	19.8	0.5	0.013	95.500	95.330	0.967	0.068	0.10	1.5	1.783	1.24	95.162	94.988	N/A
251c	251d	93.607	93.526	375	26.9	0.3	0.013	95.530	95.530	0.869	0.096	0.11	1.1	1.277	1.28	95.259	95.280	N/A
251e	263	93.450	93.421	375	9.7	0.3	0.013	95.530	95.630	0.869	0.096	-0.21	-2.2	1.469	0.93	95.294	95.327	N/A
252	252a	93.045	92.914	525	52.2	0.3	0.013	95.390	95.390	0.993	0.215	-0.16	-0.7	1.537	0.93	95.107	95.080	0.283
252a	253	92.914	92.872	525	16.8	0.3	0.013	95.390	95.180	0.993	0.215	0.22	1.0	1.641	1.29	95.080	95.053	N/A
253	253a	92.797	92.693	600	69.3	0.2	0.013	95.180	95.180	0.841	0.238	0.22	0.9	1.656	1.31	95.053	95.003	0.127
253a	254	92.693	92.675	600	11.7	0.2	0.013	95.180	95.180	0.841	0.238	0.29	1.2	1.710	1.31	95.003	94.954	N/A
254	254a	92.615	92.568	600	31.4	0.2	0.013	95.180	95.230	0.841	0.238	0.37	1.6	1.739	1.31	94.954	94.923	0.226
254	254c	93.239	93.106	300	29.5	0.5	0.013	95.180	95.180	0.918	0.065	-0.14	-2.2	1.415	0.92	94.954	94.945	0.226
254a	257	92.568	92.562	600	4.1	0.2	0.013	95.230	95.230	0.841	0.238	0.40	1.7	1.755	1.31	94.923	94.917	N/A
259a	257	93.017	92.977	300	7.9	0.5	0.013	95.280	95.230	0.967	0.068	0.08	1.1	1.672	1.27	94.989	94.917	N/A
254c	273	93.106	92.964	300	31.5	0.5	0.013	95.180	95.140	0.918	0.065	-0.11	-1.6	1.539	1.52	94.945	94.761	N/A
255	255a	92.830	92.701	450	64.5	0.2	0.013	95.330	95.330	0.802	0.128	0.11	0.9	1.708	1.23	94.988	94.897	0.342
255a	256	92.701	92.667	450	17.0	0.2	0.013	95.330	95.260	0.802	0.128	0.17	1.3	1.746	1.23	94.897	94.857	N/A
256	256a	92.422	92.402	675	13.0	0.2	0.013	95.260	95.260	0.910	0.326	0.58	1.8	1.760	1.28	94.857	94.825	0.403
256a	261	92.402	92.372	675	20.0	0.2	0.013	95.260	95.250	0.910	0.326	0.59	1.8	1.748	1.28	94.825	94.772	N/A
251d	251e	93.526	93.450	375	25.4	0.3	0.013	95.530	95.530	0.869	0.096	-0.12	-1.3	1.379	0.94	95.280	95.294	N/A
258	258a	93.104	92.887	300	54.2	0.4	0.013	95.450	95.450	0.865	0.061	-0.06	-0.9	1.555	0.92	94.959	94.943	0.491
258a	261	92.887	92.840	300	11.8	0.4	0.013	95.450	95.250	0.865	0.061	0.09	1.4	1.756	1.01	94.943	94.772	N/A
259	259a	93.152	93.017	300	27.1	0.5	0.013	95.280	95.280	0.967	0.068	0.06	0.8	1.577	0.98	95.029	94.989	0.251
257	256	92.542	92.497	600	30.0	0.2	0.013	95.230	95.260	0.841	0.238	0.45	1.9	1.775	1.28	94.917	94.857	0.313
260	260a	92.954	92.866	375	25.1	0.4	0.013	95.320	95.320	0.939	0.104	-0.04	-0.4	1.517	0.91	94.846	94.846	0.474
260a	261	92.866	92.840	300	7.4	0.4	0.013	95.320	95.250	0.809	0.057	0.07	1.2	1.680	1.23	94.846	94.772	N/A
261	265	92.297	92.262	825	35.0	0.1	0.013	95.250	95.550	0.849	0.454	0.71	1.6	1.650	1.23	94.772	94.667	0.478
263	263a	92.209	92.176	1500	22.2	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.630	1.549	2.738	4.53	1.7	1.618	1.00	95.327	95.230	0.303
263a	264	92.176	92.096	1500	52.8	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.530	1.549	2.738	4.58	1.7	1.554	1.00	95.230	95.004	N/A
264	264a	92.076	92.033	1500	28.5	0.2	0.013	95.530	95.530	1.549	2.738	4.58	1.7	1.428	1.00	95.004	94.879	0.526
264a	265	92.033	91.963	1500	46.5	0.2	0.013	95.530	95.550	1.549	2.738	4.72	1.7	1.347	1.00	94.880	94.667	N/A
265	265a	91.924	91.816	1500	53.8	0.2	0.013	95.550	95.550	1.789	3.161	5.24	1.7	1.243	1.00	94.667	94.366	0.883
265a	266	91.816	91.778	1500	19.2	0.2	0.013	95.550	95.540	1.789	3.161	5.31	1.7	1.050	1.00	94.366	93.799	N/A
266	266a	91.568	91.509	1500	29.7	0.2	0.013	95.540	95.550	1.789	3.161	5.31	1.7	0.732	1.00	93.800	93.776	1.740
266a	267	91.509	91.429	1500	39.8	0.2	0.013	95.550	95.630	1.789	3.161	5.34	1.7	0.767	1.01	93.776	93.775	N/A
267	Pond1	91.429	91.350	1500	39.5	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.500	1.789	3.161	5.33	1.7	0.846	1.01	93.775	93.774	1.855
270	270a	92.828	92.710	900	59.1	0.2	0.013	95.500	95.500	1.273	0.810	1.56	1.9	1.868	0.91	95.596	95.298	-0.096
270a	271	92.710	92.665	900	22.4	0.2	0.013	95.500	95.320	1.273	0.810	1.58	2.0	1.688	0.91	95.298	95.179	N/A
271	271a	92.643	92.503	900	46.6	0.3	0.013	95.320	95.320	1.559	0.992	1.57	1.6	1.636	0.91	95.179	94.937	0.141
271a	273	92.503	92.416	900	28.9	0.3	0.013	95.320	95.140	1.559	0.992	1.57	1.6	1.534	0.91	94.937	94.761	N/A

Table 0-1A, Tipe Data and Hydraune Onnulation Results for the Too-Teal, S-Hour Onicago Stor

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe Dia.	Pipe	Pipe	n	U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
МН	МН	Invert	Invert	/ Height	Length	Slope		Cover	Cover	Vel.	Flow	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	(2)
								Elev.	Elev.			Flow	Flow	(1)	Peak	HGL	HGL	
		(m)	(m)	(mm)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
273	273a	92.364	92.313	900	25.5	0.2	0.013	95.140	95.140	1.273	0.810	1.52	1.9	1.497	0.96	94.761	94.600	0.379
273a	275	92.313	92.298	900	7.6	0.2	0.013	95.140	95.200	1.273	0.810	1.58	1.9	1.387	0.96	94.600	94.537	N/A
275	276	92.268	92.209	900	29.5	0.2	0.013	95.200	95.620	1.273	0.810	1.57	1.9	1.369	0.96	94.537	94.252	0.663
276	277	92.179	92.148	900	15.5	0.2	0.013	95.620	95.500	1.273	0.810	1.57	1.9	1.173	0.96	94.252	94.095	1.368
277	277a	92.067	91.964	975	51.7	0.2	0.013	95.500	95.630	1.342	1.002	1.70	1.7	1.053	0.96	94.095	93.926	1.405
277a	277b	91.964	91.869	975	47.5	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.630	1.342	1.002	1.75	1.7	0.987	0.96	93.926	93.776	N/A
277b	278	91.869	91.842	975	13.3	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.630	1.342	1.002	1.79	1.8	0.932	1.00	93.776	93.775	N/A
278	279	91.782	91.775	975	3.5	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.630	1.342	1.002	1.79	1.8	1.018	1.00	93.775	93.775	1.855
279	Pond1	91.715	91.650	975	32.5	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.500	1.342	1.002	1.79	1.8	1.085	1.00	93.775	93.774	1.855
280	280a	91.825	91.714	1650	73.8	0.2	0.013	95.450	95.510	1.651	3.530	2.60	0.7	0.478	3.09	93.953	93.892	1.497
280a	281	91.714	91.657	1650	38.2	0.2	0.013	95.510	95.510	1.651	3.530	2.60	0.7	0.528	3.09	93.892	93.860	N/A
281	Pond1	91.657	91.600	1650	38.0	0.2	0.013	95.510	95.500	1.651	3.530	2.60	0.7	0.553	3.09	93.860	93.774	1.650
328	263	92.425	92.359	1350	65.5	0.1	0.013	95.700	95.630	1.179	1.688	2.94	1.7	1.762	1.00	95.537	95.327	0.163
329	329a	92.534	92.465	1050	27 <u>.</u> 4	0.3	0.013	95.700	95.700	1.577	1.365	2.16	1.6	2.153	1.22	95.737	95.619	-0.037
329a	263	92.465	92.434	1050	12.6	0.3	0.013	95.700	95.630	1.577	1.365	2.19	1.6	2.104	1.22	95.619	95.327	N/A
101	102	94.092	93.958	600	95.5	0.1	0.013	97.120	97.010	0.813	0.230	0.69	3.0	2.477	1.54	97.169	97.032	-0.049
102	103	93.883	93.783	675	83.5	0.1	0.013	97.010	96.880	0.814	0.291	0.93	3.2	2.474	1.53	97.032	96.889	-0.022
103	106	93.708	93.664	750	40.0	0.1	0.013	96.880	96.820	0.836	0.369	1.16	3.1	2.431	1.47	96.889	96.859	-0.009
106	109	93.589	93.544	825	45.0	0.1	0.013	96.820	96.750	0.849	0.454	1.41	3.1	2.445	1.46	96.859	96.792	-0.039
109	111	93.469	93.391	900	78.0	0.1	0.013	96.750	96.640	0.900	0.572	1.65	2.9	2.438	1.42	96.807	96.670	-0.057
111	112	93.241	93.142	1050	98.5	0.1	0.013	96.640	96.500	0.997	0.864	2.13	2.5	2.372	1.39	96.663	96.552	-0.023
112	113	92.992	92.863	1200	129.0	0.1	0.013	96.500	96.310	1.090	1.233	2.63	2.1	2.360	1.37	96.552	96.353	-0.052
113	114	92.833	92.754	1200	78.5	0.1	0.013	96.310	96.190	1.090	1.233	2.85	2.3	2.320	1.33	96.353	96.240	-0.043
114	122	92.604	92.524	1350	80.0	0.1	0.013	96.190	96.070	1.179	1.688	3.36	2.0	2.286	1.25	96.240	96.110	-0.050
122	126	92.494	92.287	1350	122.0	0.2	0.013	96.070	95.770	1.537	2.201	3.80	1.7	2.266	1.27	96.110	95.799	-0.040
126	127	92.212	92.111	1500	91.5	0.1	0.013	95.770	95.630	1.327	2.344	4.62	2.0	2.085	0.94	95.797	95.645	-0.027
127	130	92.081	91.980	1500	91.5	0.1	0.013	95.630	95.490	1.327	2.344	5.01	2.1	2.066	0.94	95.647	94.902	-0.017
130	138	91.905	91.840	1650	64.5	0.1	0.013	95.490	95.140	1.348	2.882	5.52	1.9	1.347	0.96	94.902	94.245	0.588
138	139	91.780	91.730	1650	50.0	0.1	0.013	95.140	95.400	1.348	2.882	6.45	2.2	0.815	0.96	94.245	93.775	0.895
139	140	91.670	91.656	1650	14.0	0.1	0.013	95.400	95.400	1.348	2.882	6.49	2.2	0.455	0.96	93.775	93.775	1.625
140	29	91.651	91.608	1650	43.4	0.1	0.013	95.400	95.352	1.348	2.882	6.56	2.3	0.474	0.96	93.775	93.775	1.625

⁽²⁾ Freeboard between upstream hydraulic gradeline elevation and upstream manhole cover elevation.

Table C-1B: Pi	pe Data and H	vdraulic Simulation	Results for the 1	100-Year, 2	24-Hour SCS	Type II Storm
		3		,		

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe Dia.	Pipe	Pipe	n	U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
МН	МН	Invert	Invert	/ Height	Length	Slope		Cover	Cover	Vel.	Flow	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	(2)
								Elev.	Elev.			Flow	Flow	(1)	Peak	HGL	HGL	
		(m)	(m)	(mm)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
1	2	93.328	93.172	300	44.5	0.4	0.013	95.566	95.449	0.809	0.057	-0.05	-0.8	0.949	11.89	94.577	94.568	0.989
2	2a	93.134	92.925	375	69.6	0.3	0.013	95.449	95.449	0.869	0.096	-0.07	-0.7	1.059	11.88	94.568	94.550	0.881
2a	3	92.925	92.857	375	22.9	0.3	0.013	95.449	95.220	0.869	0.096	0.11	1.2	1.250	11.96	94.550	94.447	N/A
3	4	92.827	92.787	375	13.5	0.3	0.013	95.220	95.300	0.869	0.096	0.11	1.2	1.245	11.96	94.447	94.380	0.773
4	7	92.757	92.561	375	65.5	0.3	0.013	95.300	95.174	0.869	0.096	0.11	1.1	1.248	11.96	94.380	94.169	0.920
5	5a	92.986	92.957	300	8.3	0.4	0.013	95.298	95.378	0.809	0.057	-0.01	-0.2	1.191	11.87	94.477	94.476	0.821
5a	6	92.957	92.797	300	45.7	0.4	0.013	95.378	95.378	0.809	0.057	0.07	1.2	1.219	11.94	94.476	94.273	N/A
6	6a	92.609	92.499	675	73.5	0.2	0.013	95.378	95.378	0.910	0.326	0.07	0.2	0.989	11.97	94.273	94.268	1.105
6a	7	92.499	92.448	675	34.0	0.2	0.013	95.378	95.174	0.910	0.326	0.33	1.0	1.094	11.99	94.268	94.169	N/A
7	7a	92.373	92.313	750	54.4	0.1	0.013	95.174	95.174	0.836	0.369	0.44	1.2	1.046	12.00	94.169	94.094	1.005
7a	8	92.313	92.300	750	11.6	0.1	0.013	95.174	95.040	0.836	0.369	0.54	1.5	1.031	11.98	94.094	93.984	N/A
8	8a	92.225	92.211	900	13.1	0.1	0.013	95.040	95.199	0.944	0.600	0.64	1.1	0.859	11.96	93.984	93.969	1.056
8a	11	92.211	92.144	900	60.4	0.1	0.013	95.199	95.199	0.944	0.600	0.74	1.2	0.858	11.96	93.969	93.882	N/A
9	10	92.912	92.614	300	59.5	0.5	0.013	95.652	94.963	0.967	0.068	0.03	0.4	0.954	12.20	94.166	94.122	1.486
10	10a	92.501	92.486	525	6.1	0.3	0.013	94.963	95.199	0.993	0.215	0.03	0.2	1.096	12.20	94.122	94.122	0.841
10a	11	92.486	92.331	525	61.9	0.3	0.013	95.199	95.199	0.993	0.215	0.24	1.1	1.111	11.99	94.122	93.882	N/A
11	11a	92.106	92.040	975	59.6	0.1	0.013	95.199	95.199	0.996	0.743	0.97	1.3	0.801	11.97	93.882	93.797	1.317
11a	12	92.040	92.036	975	4.4	0.1	0.013	95.199	94.782	0.996	0.743	1.05	1.4	0.782	11.97	93.797	93.796	N/A
12	12a	92.006	91.963	975	39.2	0.1	0.013	94.782	94.964	0.996	0.743	1.05	1.4	0.815	11.97	93.796	93.795	0.986
12a	15	91.963	91.924	975	35.9	0.1	0.013	94.964	94.964	0.996	0.743	1.10	1.5	0.857	11.97	93.795	93.794	N/A
13	13a	92.160	92.156	825	3.3	0.1	0.013	95.250	95.201	0.891	0.476	0.39	0.8	0.811	11.97	93.796	93.796	1.454
13a	13b	92.156	92.069	825	79.1	0.1	0.013	95.201	95.201	0.891	0.476	0.42	0.9	0.815	11.98	93.796	93.795	N/A
13b	14	92.069	92.046	825	21.1	0.1	0.013	95.201	94.902	0.891	0.476	0.58	1.2	0.901	11.98	93.795	93.795	N/A
14	15	92.016	91.999	825	15.5	0.1	0.013	94.902	94.964	0.891	0.476	0.58	1.2	0.954	11.98	93.795	93.794	1.107
15	104b	91.810	91.793	1200	15.5	0.1	0.013	94.964	94.500	1.143	1.293	1.67	1.3	0.784	11.97	93.794	93.794	1.170
16	17	92.602	92.499	600	68.5	0.2	0.013	94.979	95.298	0.841	0.238	0.33	1.4	1.431	11.95	94.633	94.492	0.346
17	17a	92.461	92.373	675	58.7	0.2	0.013	95.298	95.298	0.910	0.326	0.32	1.0	1.356	11.95	94.492	94.430	0.806
17a	18	92.373	92.363	675	6.4	0.2	0.013	95.298	95.030	0.910	0.326	0.42	1.3	1.382	11.97	94.430	94.392	N/A
18	19	92.333	92.317	675	10.5	0.2	0.013	95.030	95.094	0.910	0.326	0.42	1.3	1.384	11.97	94.392	94.355	0.638
19	23	92.287	92.205	675	55.0	0.2	0.013	95.094	95.383	0.910	0.326	0.42	1.3	1.393	11.97	94.355	94.196	0.739
20	20a	92.442	92.427	675	10.1	0.2	0.013	95.562	95.562	0.910	0.326	0.41	1.2	1.438	12.00	94.555	94.533	1.007
20	20b	93.147	92.935	300	53.0	0.4	0.013	95.562	95.562	0.865	0.061	0.02	0.3	1.108	11.92	94.555	94.558	1.007
20a	21	92.427	92.327	675	66.9	0.2	0.013	95.562	95.128	0.910	0.326	0.42	1.3	1.431	12.00	94.533	94.380	N/A
20b	24	92.935	92.755	300	45.0	0.4	0.013	95.562	95.243	0.865	0.061	0.07	1.1	1.323	12.01	94.558	94.348	N/A
21	21a	92.252	92.228	825	22.2	0.1	0.013	95.128	95.198	0.891	0.476	0.42	0.9	1.303	12.00	94.380	94.363	0.748
21a	22	92.228	92.181	825	42.3	0.1	0.013	95.198	95.198	0.891	0.476	0.58	1.2	1.310	12.00	94.363	94.273	N/A
22	23	92.151	92.130	825	19.5	0.1	0.013	95.198	95.383	0.891	0.476	0.58	1.2	1.297	12.00	94.273	94.196	0.925
23	105b	92.092	92.059	900	26.5	0.1	0.013	95.383	94.500	0.944	0.600	0.98	1.6	1.204	11.97	94.196	94.026	1.187
24	24a	92.605	92.572	600	22.2	0.2	0.013	95.243	95.320	0.841	0.238	0.07	0.3	1.143	12.01	94.348	94.344	0.895

Table C-1B: F	Pipe Data and H	vdraulic Simulation	Results for the 100	0-Year, 24-Hour	SCS Type II Storm

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe Dia.	Pipe	Pipe	n	U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
мн	мн	Invert	Invert	/ Height	Length	Slope		Cover	Cover	Vel.	Flow	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	(2)
								Elev.	Elev.			Flow	Flow	(1)	Peak	HGL	HGL	
		(m)	(m)	(mm)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
24a	25	92.572	92.459	600	74.8	0.2	0.013	95.320	95.330	0.841	0.238	0.24	1.0	1.172	12.01	94.344	94.194	N/A
25	25a	92.234	92.230	1050	3.2	0.1	0.013	95.330	95.320	1.046	0.906	1.03	1.1	0.910	12.01	94.194	94.188	1.136
25a	26	92.230	92.152	1050	71.8	0.1	0.013	95.320	95.212	1.046	0.906	1.15	1.3	0.908	12.01	94.188	94.072	N/A
26	26a	92.077	92.032	1200	41.3	0.1	0.013	95.212	95.352	1.143	1.293	1.25	1.0	0.795	12.01	94.072	94.037	1.140
26a	26b	92.032	92.007	1200	22.9	0.1	0.013	95.352	95.352	1.143	1.293	1.28	1.0	0.805	12.01	94.037	94.018	N/A
26b	27	92.007	91.988	1200	16.8	0.1	0.013	95.352	95.352	1.143	1.293	1.43	1.1	0.811	11.98	94.018	93.911	N/A
27	27a	92.856	92.796	300	17.1	0.4	0.013	95.352	95.352	0.809	0.057	-0.04	-0.7	0.755	12.26	93.911	93.954	1.441
27	27b	91.928	91.910	1200	16.8	0.1	0.013	95.352	95.352	1.143	1.293	1.43	1.1	0.783	11.98	93.911	93.891	1.441
27a	29	92.796	92.623	300	49.4	0.4	0.013	95.352	95.352	0.809	0.057	0.08	1.3	0.858	11.98	93.954	94.083	N/A
27b	107b	91.910	91.846	1200	58.2	0.1	0.013	95.352	95.232	1.143	1.293	1.51	1.2	0.781	11.98	93.891	93.797	N/A
29	111b	91.588	91.542	1650	41.5	0.1	0.013	95.352	95.502	1.414	3.023	5.32	1.8	0.845	12.00	94.083	93.901	1.269
30	30a	92.746	92.561	450	74.2	0.3	0.013	95.372	95.372	0.896	0.143	-0.08	-0.5	0.923	11.97	94.119	94.163	1.253
30	31	92.662	92.542	300	12.0	1.0	0.013	95.372	95.212	1.368	0.097	0.08	0.8	1.157	11.97	94.119	94.050	1.253
30a	26	92.561	92.542	450	43.3	0.3	0.013	95.372	95.212	0.896	0.143	0.14	0.9	1.152	11.97	94.163	94.072	N/A
31	31a	92.429	92.327	525	51.0	0.2	0.013	95.212	95.212	0.888	0.192	0.08	0.4	1.096	11.98	94.050	94.040	1.162
31a	32	92.327	92.301	525	13.0	0.2	0.013	95.212	94.974	0.888	0.192	0.28	1.4	1.188	11.97	94.040	93.971	N/A
32	33	92.271	92.246	525	12.5	0.2	0.013	94.974	95.049	0.888	0.192	0.28	1.4	1.175	11.97	93.971	93.904	1.003
33	330	92.216	92.146	525	35.0	0.2	0.013	95.049	95.230	0.888	0.192	0.28	1.4	1.163	11.97	93.904	93.798	1.145
104b	Pond1	91.763	91.700	1200	57.5	0.1	0.013	94.500	95.500	1.143	1.293	1.67	1.3	0.831	11.97	93.794	93.793	0.706
105b	106b	92.029	91.960	900	62.5	0.1	0.013	94.500	94.500	0.944	0.600	0.98	1.6	1.097	11.97	94.026	93.863	0.474
106b	108b	91.930	91.854	900	69.5	0.1	0.013	94.500	94.218	0.944	0.600	0.98	1.6	1.033	11.97	93.863	93.796	0.637
107b	1070b	91.786	91.778	1200	7.0	0.1	0.013	95.232	95.055	1.143	1.293	1.51	1.2	0.811	11.98	93.797	93.797	1.435
108b	109b	91.629	91.617	1350	10.5	0.1	0.013	94.218	94.500	1.237	1.770	2.76	1.6	0.817	11.97	93.796	93.793	0.422
109b	Pond1	91.557	91.550	1350	6.0	0.1	0.013	94.500	95.500	1.237	1.770	2.76	1.6	0.886	11.97	93.793	93.793	0.707
111b	Pond1	91.522	91.450	1650	38.0	0.2	0.013	95.502	95.500	1.858	3.973	5.40	1.4	0.729	11.90	93.901	93.793	1.601
200	201	93.286	93.180	300	12.5	0.9	0.013	95.389	95.314	1.261	0.089	-0.05	-0.5	0.493	11.89	94.079	94.080	1.310
200	202	93.289	93.084	300	58.5	0.4	0.013	95.389	95.259	0.809	0.057	-0.03	-0.4	0.490	12.25	94.079	94.080	1.310
201	201a	93.030	92.900	450	29.6	0.4	0.013	95.314	95.314	1.189	0.189	-0.05	-0.3	0.600	11.89	94.080	94.080	1.234
201a	8	92.900	92.500	450	90.9	0.4	0.013	95.314	95.040	1.189	0.189	0.12	0.6	0.730	11.96	94.080	93.984	N/A
202	202a	93.054	93.050	300	1.2	0.4	0.013	95.259	95.296	0.809	0.057	-0.04	-0.6	0.726	11.88	94.080	94.081	1.179
202a	203	93.050	93.012	300	10.8	0.4	0.013	95.296	95.296	0.809	0.057	0.09	1.6	0.731	11.97	94.081	93.962	N/A
203	204	92.862	92.677	450	92.5	0.2	0.013	95.296	95.110	0.802	0.128	0.09	0.7	0.650	11.97	93.962	93.887	1.334
204	204a	92.511	92.463	600	21.9	0.2	0.013	95.110	95.250	1.019	0.288	0.09	0.3	0.776	11.97	93.887	93.884	1.223
204a	204b	92.463	92.324	600	63.0	0.2	0.013	95.250	95.250	1.019	0.288	0.36	1.2	0.821	11.97	93.884	93.796	N/A
204b	13	92.324	92.290	600	15.6	0.2	0.013	95.250	95.250	1.019	0.288	0.39	1.3	0.872	11.97	93.796	93.796	N/A
205	210	93.210	93.060	450	75.0	0.2	0.013	95.493	95.671	0.802	0.128	0.09	0.7	1.355	12.01	95.015	94.953	0.478
206	206a	93.320	93.316	375	1.5	0.3	0.013	95.468	95.493	0.869	0.096	-0.13	-1.3	1.352	11.87	95.047	95.047	0.421
206a	205	93.316	93.285	375	10.0	0.3	0.013	95.493	95.493	0.869	0.096	0.09	1.0	1.356	11.86	95.047	95.015	N/A
207	206	93.598	93.395	300	58.0	0.4	0.013	95.923	95.468	0.809	0.057	-0.06	-1.0	1.141	11.88	95.039	95.047	0.884

Table C-1B: F	Pipe Data and H	vdraulic Simulation	Results for the 100	0-Year, 24-Hour	SCS Type II Storm

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe Dia.	Pipe	Pipe	n	U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
мн	мн	Invert	Invert	/ Height	Length	Slope		Cover	Cover	Vel.	Flow	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	(2)
								Elev.	Elev.			Flow	Flow	(1)	Peak	HGL	HGL	
		(m)	(m)	(mm)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
208	207	93.700	93.658	300	12.0	0.4	0.013	95.851	95.923	0.809	0.057	-0.06	-1.0	1.033	11.89	95.033	95.039	0.818
208	208a	93.672	93.294	375	44.5	0.9	0.013	95.851	95.851	1.464	0.162	-0.05	-0.3	0.986	11.88	95.033	95.027	0.818
208a	209	93.294	92.949	375	40.5	0.9	0.013	95.851	95.614	1.464	0.162	0.14	0.8	1.358	12.01	95.027	94.829	N/A
209	212	92.724	92.639	600	56.5	0.2	0.013	95.614	95.238	0.841	0.238	0.31	1.3	1.505	11.95	94.829	94.700	0.785
210	211	93.030	93.007	450	11.5	0.2	0.013	95.671	95.601	0.802	0.128	0.09	0.7	1.473	12.01	94.953	94.939	0.718
211	211a	92.932	92.871	525	30.3	0.2	0.013	95.601	95.614	0.888	0.192	0.09	0.5	1.482	12.02	94.939	94.929	0.662
211a	209	92.871	92.799	525	36.2	0.2	0.013	95.614	95.614	0.888	0.192	0.18	1.0	1.533	11.98	94.929	94.829	N/A
212	212a	92.564	92.553	675	7.3	0.2	0.013	95.238	95.550	0.910	0.326	0.31	0.9	1.461	11.95	94.700	94.691	0.538
212a	20	92.553	92.460	675	62.2	0.2	0.013	95.550	95.562	0.910	0.326	0.41	1.3	1.463	11.95	94.691	94.555	N/A
213	214	93.791	93.638	300	30.5	0.5	0.013	96.071	95.908	0.967	0.068	0.07	1.0	1.262	11.91	95.353	95.256	0.718
214	214a	93.338	93.284	600	36.3	0.2	0.013	95.908	95.918	0.841	0.238	0.11	0.5	1.318	11.97	95.256	95.244	0.652
214a	215	93.284	93.232	600	34.2	0.2	0.013	95.918	95.849	0.841	0.238	0.23	0.9	1.360	11.94	95.244	95.208	N/A
215	215a	93.212	93.138	600	49.2	0.2	0.013	95.849	95.849	0.841	0.238	0.22	0.9	1.396	11.94	95.208	95.155	0.641
215a	220	93.138	93.120	600	11.8	0.2	0.013	95.849	95.723	0.841	0.238	0.29	1.2	1.417	11.97	95.155	95.063	N/A
216	216a	93.869	93.679	300	54.4	0.4	0.013	95.972	95.972	0.809	0.057	-0.06	-1.0	1.112	11.91	95.281	95.298	0.691
216	217	93.870	93.726	300	12.0	1.2	0.013	95.972	95.900	1.499	0.106	-0.09	-0.8	1.111	11.91	95.281	95.274	0.691
216a	214	93.679	93.638	300	11.6	0.4	0.013	95.972	95.908	0.809	0.057	-0.08	-1.3	1.319	11.90	95.298	95.256	N/A
217	217a	93.576	93.494	450	40.9	0.2	0.013	95.900	95.900	0.802	0.128	-0.12	-1.0	1.248	11.90	95.274	95.267	0.626
217a	218	93.494	93.345	450	74.6	0.2	0.013	95.900	95.677	0.802	0.128	0.10	0.8	1.323	11.98	95.267	95.178	N/A
218	219	93.315	93.292	450	11.5	0.2	0.013	95.677	95.594	0.802	0.128	0.11	0.8	1.413	12.01	95.178	95.159	0.499
219	219a	93.254	93.217	525	18.4	0.2	0.013	95.594	95.733	0.888	0.192	0.11	0.6	1.380	12.00	95.159	95.152	0.435
219a	220	93.217	93.121	525	48.1	0.2	0.013	95.733	95.723	0.888	0.192	0.20	1.1	1.410	12.00	95.152	95.063	N/A
220	220a	93.045	92.918	675	63.4	0.2	0.013	95.723	95.733	1.051	0.376	0.48	1.3	1.343	11.97	95.063	94.869	0.660
220a	221	92.918	92.913	675	2.6	0.2	0.013	95.733	95.466	1.051	0.376	0.49	1.3	1.276	11.97	94.869	94.742	N/A
221	221a	92.838	92.772	750	33.1	0.2	0.013	95.466	95.515	1.127	0.498	0.54	1.1	1.154	11.97	94.742	94.674	0.724
221a	222	92.772	92.600	750	85.9	0.2	0.013	95.515	95.515	1.127	0.498	0.65	1.3	1.152	11.96	94.674	94.354	N/A
222	223	92.525	92.505	020	13.5	0.2	0.013	95.515	95.409	1.040	0.556	0.65	1.2	1.004	11.96	94.354	94.300	1.161
223	223a	92.430	92.369	900	32.0	0.2	0.013	95.409	95.409	1.240	0.789	0.65	0.8	0.970	11.96	94.300	94.261	1.109
223a	2230	92.309	92.316	900	27.0	0.2	0.013	95.409	95.409	1.240	0.789	0.79	1.0	0.992	11.90	94.201	94.211	N/A
2230	20	92.310	92.300	300	8.7 41.0	0.2	0.013	95.409	95.330	1.240	0.789	0.80	1.0	0.995	10.47	94.211	94.194	N/A
224	1070h	93.432	93.200	500	41.0	0.4	0.013	95.275	95.466	0.809	0.057	0.06	1.0	1.114	12.17	94.040	94.742	0.427
1070h	10700 1086	92.110	92.096	1200	10.0	0.2	0.014	95.230	95.055	0.625	1 201	1.70	1.5	1.157	11.90	93.790	93.797	1.432
1600	16002	91./00	91./09	600	44.J		0.014	95.055	94.210	0.002	0.201	0.20	0.0	1 / 1 /	11 02	90.191	93./90	0.421
16002	16	92.000	92.000 02.600	600	10.0 8.5		0.013	95.090	90.090	0.041	0.230	0.20	1 1	1.411	11 07	94.009 01 651	94.001	0.421 N/A
Pond1		92.030 N/A	52.022 N/A	N/A	0.5 N/A		N/A	95.090	94.979 Q1 500	N/A	0.230 N/A	0.27 A 15		N/A	13 02	94.001 03 703	94.000	1 707
250	252	03 /33	03 270	300	16.5		0.013	95.500	94.000	0.800	0.057	0.07		1 / 8/	12 27	95.795	92.300	0.163
251	251a	93.433	93.210	300	40.5	0.4	0.013	95.500	95.590	0.009	0.007	_0.07		1 4 26	12.21	95.217	95.147	0.103
251	251b	93.320	93.079	300	48.2	0.5	0.013	95.530	95,500	0.967	0.068	0.05	07	1.669	11 93	95,289	95,187	0.241

Table C-1B: F	Pipe Data and H	vdraulic Simulation	Results for the 100	0-Year, 24-Hour	SCS Type II Storm

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe Dia.	Pipe	Pipe	n	U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
МН	МН	Invert	Invert	/ Height	Length	Slope		Cover	Cover	Vel.	Flow	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	(2)
								Elev.	Elev.			Flow	Flow	(1)	Peak	HGL	HGL	
		(m)	(m)	(mm)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
251	251c	93.625	93.607	375	6.0	0.3	0.013	95.530	95.530	0.869	0.096	0.08	0.8	1.289	12.24	95.289	95.291	0.241
251a	252	93.356	93.270	300	18.9	0.5	0.013	95.530	95.390	0.918	0.065	0.07	1.1	1.659	12.01	95.315	95.147	N/A
251b	255	93.079	92.980	300	19.8	0.5	0.013	95.500	95.330	0.967	0.068	0.09	1.4	1.808	11.90	95.187	95.050	N/A
251c	251d	93.607	93.526	375	26.9	0.3	0.013	95.530	95.530	0.869	0.096	0.09	0.9	1.309	12.22	95.291	95.304	N/A
251e	263	93.450	93.421	375	9.7	0.3	0.013	95.530	95.630	0.869	0.096	0.14	1.5	1.503	12.22	95.328	95.365	N/A
252	252a	93.045	92.914	525	52.2	0.3	0.013	95.390	95.390	0.993	0.215	0.10	0.5	1.577	11.93	95.147	95.118	0.243
252a	253	92.914	92.872	525	16.8	0.3	0.013	95.390	95.180	0.993	0.215	0.20	0.9	1.679	12.23	95.118	95.096	N/A
253	253a	92.797	92.693	600	69.3	0.2	0.013	95.180	95.180	0.841	0.238	0.20	0.8	1.699	12.23	95.096	95.053	0.084
253a	254	92.693	92.675	600	11.7	0.2	0.013	95.180	95.180	0.841	0.238	0.26	1.1	1.760	12.25	95.053	95.018	N/A
254	254a	92.615	92.568	600	31.4	0.2	0.013	95.180	95.230	0.841	0.238	0.34	1.4	1.803	12.25	95.018	94.996	0 <mark>.</mark> 162
254	254c	93.239	93.106	300	29.5	0.5	0.013	95.180	95.180	0.918	0.065	-0.13	-2.1	1.479	12.36	95.018	95.008	0.162
254a	257	92.568	92.562	600	4.1	0.2	0.013	95.230	95.230	0.841	0.238	0.36	1.5	1.828	12.25	94.996	94.992	N/A
259a	257	93.017	92.977	300	7.9	0.5	0.013	95.280	95.230	0.967	0.068	0.06	0.9	1.709	12.22	95.026	94.992	N/A
254c	273	93.106	92.964	300	31.5	0.5	0.013	95.180	95.140	0.918	0.065	-0.10	-1.5	1.602	12.38	95.008	94.862	N/A
255	255a	92.830	92.701	450	64.5	0.2	0.013	95.330	95.330	0.802	0.128	0.10	0.7	1.770	12.15	95.050	94.979	0.280
255a	256	92.701	92.667	450	17.0	0.2	0.013	95.330	95.260	0.802	0.128	0.15	1.2	1.828	12.18	94.979	94.952	N/A
256	256a	92.422	92.402	675	13.0	0.2	0.013	95.260	95.260	0.910	0.326	0.54	1.6	1.855	12.20	94.952	94.930	0.308
256a	261	92.402	92.372	675	20.0	0.2	0.013	95.260	95.250	0.910	0.326	0.56	1.7	1.853	12.20	94.930	94.900	N/A
251d	251e	93.526	93.450	375	25.4	0.3	0.013	95.530	95.530	0.869	0.096	0.12	1.2	1.403	12.22	95.304	95.328	N/A
258	258a	93.104	92.887	300	54.2	0.4	0.013	95.450	95.450	0.865	0.061	0.03	0.4	1.634	12.15	95.038	95.010	0.412
258a	261	92.887	92.840	300	11.8	0.4	0.013	95.450	95.250	0.865	0.061	0.07	1.2	1.823	11.96	95.010	94.900	N/A
259	259a	93.152	93.017	300	27.1	0.5	0.013	95.280	95.280	0.967	0.068	0.05	0.7	1.583	11.94	95.035	95.026	0.245
257	256	92.542	92.497	600	30.0	0.2	0.013	95.230	95.260	0.841	0.238	0.40	1.7	1.850	12.24	94.992	94.952	0.238
260	260a	92.954	92.866	375	25.1	0.4	0.013	95.320	95.320	0.939	0.104	-0.03	-0.3	1.587	11.87	94.916	94.918	0.404
260a	261	92.866	92.840	300	7.4	0.4	0.013	95.320	95.250	0.809	0.057	0.07	1.3	1.752	12.14	94.918	94.900	N/A
261	265	92.297	92.262	825	35.0	0.1	0.013	95.250	95.550	0.849	0.454	0.65	1.4	1.778	12.20	94.900	94.831	0.350
263	263a	92.209	92.176	1500	22.2	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.630	1.549	2.738	4.09	1.5	1.657	12.00	95.366	95.286	0.264
263a	264	92.176	92.096	1500	52.8	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.530	1.549	2.738	4.13	1.5	1.610	12.00	95.286	95.104	N/A
264	264a	92.076	92.033	1500	28.5	0.2	0.013	95.530	95.530	1.549	2.738	4.13	1.5	1.528	12.00	95.104	95.003	0.426
264a	265	92.033	91.963	1500	46.5	0.2	0.013	95.530	95.550	1.549	2.738	4.27	1.6	1.470	12.00	95.003	94.831	N/A
265	265a	91.924	91.816	1500	53.8	0.2	0.013	95.550	95.550	1.789	3.161	4.70	1.5	1.407	11.94	94.831	94.592	0.719
265a	266	91.816	91.778	1500	19.2	0.2	0.013	95.550	95.540	1.789	3.161	4.76	1.5	1.276	11.95	94.592	94.151	N/A
266	266a	91.568	91.509	1500	29.7	0.2	0.013	95.540	95.550	1.789	3.161	4.76	1.5	1.083	11.95	94.151	93.985	1.389
266a	267	91.509	91.429	1500	39.8	0.2	0.013	95.550	95.630	1.789	3.161	4.79	1.5	0.976	11.97	93.985	93.835	N/A
267	Pond1	91.429	91.350	1500	39.5	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.500	1.789	3.161	4.79	1.5	0.906	11.97	93.835	93.793	1.795
270	270a	92.828	92.710	900	59.1	0.2	0.013	95.500	95.500	1.273	0.810	1.36	1.7	1.843	11.87	95.571	95.315	-0.071
270a	271	92.710	92.665	900	22.4	0.2	0.013	95.500	95.320	1.273	0.810	1.40	1.7	1.705	11.87	95.315	95.215	N/A
271	271a	92.643	92.503	900	46.6	0.3	0.013	95.320	95.320	1.559	0.992	1.39	1.4	1.672	11.87	95.215	95.010	0.105
271a	273	92.503	92.416	900	28.9	0.3	0.013	95.320	95.140	1.559	0.992	1.40	1.4	1.607	11.87	95.010	94.862	N/A

Table C-1B: P	ipe Data and H	vdraulic Simulation	Results for the	100-Year.	24-Hour SCS	Type II Storm
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		,		

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe Dia.	Pipe	Pipe	n	U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
MH	МН	Invert	Invert	/ Height	Length	Slope		Cover	Cover	Vel.	Flow	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	(2)
								Elev.	Elev.			Flow	Flow	(1)	Peak	HGL	HGL	
		(m)	(m)	(mm)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
273	273a	92.364	92.313	900	25.5	0.2	0.013	95.140	95.140	1.273	0.810	1.37	1.7	1.598	12.01	94.862	94.726	0.278
273a	275	92.313	92.298	900	7.6	0.2	0.013	95.140	95.200	1.273	0.810	1.41	1.7	1.513	11.91	94.726	94.672	N/A
275	276	92.268	92.209	900	29.5	0.2	0.013	95.200	95.620	1.273	0.810	1.41	1.7	1.504	11.91	94.672	94.441	0.528
276	277	92.179	92.148	900	15.5	0.2	0.013	95.620	95.500	1.273	0.810	1.41	1.7	1.362	11.91	94.441	94.305	1.179
277	277a	92.067	91.964	975	51.7	0.2	0.013	95.500	95.630	1.342	1.002	1.52	1.5	1.263	11.92	94.305	94.155	1.195
277a	277b	91.964	91.869	975	47.5	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.630	1.342	1.002	1.58	1.6	1.216	11.92	94.155	94.016	N/A
277b	278	91.869	91.842	975	13.3	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.630	1.342	1.002	1.62	1.6	1.172	11.95	94.016	93.891	N/A
278	279	91.782	91.775	975	3.5	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.630	1.342	1.002	1.62	1.6	1.134	11.95	93.891	93.823	1.739
279	Pond1	91.715	91.650	975	32.5	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.500	1.342	1.002	1.62	1.6	1.133	11.97	93.823	93.793	1.807
280	280a	91.825	91.714	1650	73.8	0.2	0.013	95.450	95.510	1.651	3.530	3.24	0.9	0.594	13.75	94.069	93.974	1.381
280a	281	91.714	91.657	1650	38.2	0.2	0.013	95.510	95.510	1.651	3.530	3.24	0.9	0.610	13.75	93.974	93.924	N/A
281	Pond1	91.657	91.600	1650	38.0	0.2	0.013	95.510	95.500	1.651	3.530	3.24	0.9	0.617	13.75	93.924	93.793	1.586
328	263	92.425	92.359	1350	65.5	0.1	0.013	95.700	95.630	1.179	1.688	2.59	1.5	1.750	12.00	95.525	95.366	0.175
329	329a	92.534	92.465	1050	27 <u>.</u> 4	0.3	0.013	95.700	95.700	1.577	1.365	1.98	1.5	2.141	12.13	95.725	95.631	-0.025
329a	263	92.465	92.434	1050	12.6	0.3	0.013	95.700	95.630	1.577	1.365	2.00	1.5	2.116	12.13	95.631	95.366	N/A
101	102	94.092	93.958	600	95.5	0.1	0.013	97.120	97.010	0.813	0.230	0.69	3.0	2.500	12.42	97.192	97.035	-0.072
102	103	93.883	93.783	675	83.5	0.1	0.013	97.010	96.880	0.814	0.291	0.91	3.1	2.477	12.32	97.035	96.887	-0.025
103	106	93.708	93.664	750	40.0	0.1	0.013	96.880	96.820	0.836	0.369	0.92	2.5	2.428	12.33	96.886	96.846	-0.006
106	109	93.589	93.544	825	45.0	0.1	0.013	96.820	96.750	0.849	0.454	1.31	2.9	2.432	12.28	96.846	96.755	-0.026
109	111	93.469	93.391	900	78.0	0.1	0.013	96.750	96.640	0.900	0.572	1.33	2.3	2.385	12.30	96.754	96.652	-0.004
111	112	93.241	93.142	1050	98.5	0.1	0.013	96.640	96.500	0.997	0.864	1.39	1.6	2.357	12.31	96.648	96.524	-0.008
112	113	92.992	92.863	1200	129.0	0.1	0.013	96.500	96.310	1.090	1.233	2.19	1.8	2.332	12.26	96.524	96.326	-0.024
113	114	92.833	92.754	1200	78.5	0.1	0.013	96.310	96.190	1.090	1.233	2.67	2.2	2.293	12.17	96.326	96.211	-0.016
114	122	92.604	92.524	1350	80.0	0.1	0.013	96.190	96.070	1.179	1.688	2.95	1.7	2.257	12.19	96.211	96.090	-0.021
122	126	92.494	92.287	1350	122.0	0.2	0.013	96.070	95.770	1.537	2.201	3.57	1.6	2.244	12.09	96.088	95.785	-0.018
126	127	92.212	92.111	1500	91.5	0.1	0.013	95.770	95.630	1.327	2.344	4.28	1.8	2.074	12.14	95.786	95.631	-0.016
127	130	92.081	91.980	1500	91.5	0.1	0.013	95.630	95.490	1.327	2.344	4.35	1.9	2.048	12.14	95.629	95.043	0.001
130	138	91.905	91.840	1650	64.5	0.1	0.013	95.490	95.140	1.348	2.882	4.56	1.6	1.488	11.92	95.043	94.641	0.447
138	139	91.780	91.730	1650	50.0	0.1	0.013	95.140	95.400	1.348	2.882	5.26	1.8	1.211	12.00	94.641	94.402	0.499
139	140	91.670	91.656	1650	14.0	0.1	0.013	95.400	95.400	1.348	2.882	5.26	1.8	1.082	12.00	94.402	94.308	0.998
140	29	91.651	91.608	1650	43.4	0.1	0.013	95.400	95.352	1.348	2.882	5.25	1.8	1.007	12.00	94.308	94.083	1.092

⁽²⁾ Freeboard between upstream hydraulic gradeline elevation and upstream manhole cover elevation.

	Table C-1C: Pipe Data and H	vdraulic Simulation	Results for the 100-Year.	3-Hour Chicago	Storm + 20%
--	-----------------------------	---------------------	---------------------------	----------------	-------------

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe Dia.	Pipe	Pipe	n	U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
мн	мн	Invert	Invert	/ Height	Length	Slope		Cover	Cover	Vel.	Flow	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	(2)
								Elev.	Elev.			Flow	Flow	(1)	Peak	HGL	HGL	
		(m)	(m)	(mm)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
1	2	93.328	93.172	300	44.5	0.4	0.013	95.566	95.449	0.809	0.057	-0.07	-1.2	0.976	0.96	94.604	94.602	0.962
2	2a	93.134	92.925	375	69.6	0.3	0.013	95.449	95.449	0.869	0.096	-0.09	-0.9	1.093	0.95	94.602	94.592	0.847
2a	3	92.925	92.857	375	22.9	0.3	0.013	95.449	95.220	0.869	0.096	0.12	1.3	1.292	1.02	94.592	94.474	N/A
3	4	92.827	92.787	375	13.5	0.3	0.013	95.220	95.300	0.869	0.096	0.12	1.2	1.272	1.02	94.474	94.395	0.746
4	7	92.757	92.561	375	65.5	0.3	0.013	95.300	95.174	0.869	0.096	0.12	1.2	1.263	1.11	94.395	94.125	0.905
5	5a	92.986	92.957	300	8.3	0.4	0.013	95.298	95.378	0.809	0.057	-0.02	-0.4	1.203	0.94	94.489	94.485	0.809
5a	6	92.957	92.797	300	45.7	0.4	0.013	95.378	95.378	0.809	0.057	0.08	1.5	1.228	0.95	94.485	94.261	N/A
6	6a	92.609	92.499	675	73.5	0.2	0.013	95.378	95.378	0.910	0.326	0.08	0.2	0.977	1.01	94.261	94.254	1.117
6a	7	92.499	92.448	675	34.0	0.2	0.013	95.378	95.174	0.910	0.326	0.41	1.3	1.080	0.95	94.254	94.125	N/A
7	7a	92.373	92.313	750	54.4	0.1	0.013	95.174	95.174	0.836	0.369	0.49	1.3	1.002	1.10	94.125	94.022	1.049
7a	8	92.313	92.300	750	11.6	0.1	0.013	95.174	95.040	0.836	0.369	0.61	1.6	0.959	1.00	94.022	93.865	N/A
8	8a	92.225	92.211	900	13.1	0.1	0.013	95.040	95.199	0.944	0.600	0.77	1.3	0.740	0.99	93.865	93.843	1.175
8a	11	92.211	92.144	900	60.4	0.1	0.013	95.199	95.199	0.944	0.600	0.90	1.5	0.732	1.00	93.843	93.804	N/A
9	10	92.912	92.614	300	59.5	0.5	0.013	95.652	94.963	0.967	0.068	0.04	0.5	0.923	1.01	94.135	94.076	1.517
10	10a	92.501	92.486	525	6.1	0.3	0.013	94.963	95.199	0.993	0.215	0.04	0.2	1.050	1.09	94.076	94.076	0.887
10a	11	92.486	92.331	525	61.9	0.3	0.013	95.199	95.199	0.993	0.215	0.28	1.3	1.064	1.10	94.075	93.804	N/A
11	11a	92.106	92.040	975	59.6	0.1	0.013	95.199	95.199	0.996	0.743	1.16	1.6	0.723	1.00	93.804	93.803	1.395
11a	12	92.040	92.036	975	4.4	0.1	0.013	95.199	94.782	0.996	0.743	1.28	1.7	0.788	1.00	93.803	93.802	N/A
12	12a	92.006	91.963	975	39.2	0.1	0.013	94.782	94.964	0.996	0.743	1.28	1.7	0.821	1.00	93.802	93.801	0.980
12a	15	91.963	91.924	975	35.9	0.1	0.013	94.964	94.964	0.996	0.743	1.34	1.8	0.863	1.00	93.801	93.799	N/A
13	13a	92.160	92.156	825	3.3	0.1	0.013	95.250	95.201	0.891	0.476	0.47	1.0	0.817	0.99	93.802	93.802	1.448
13a	13b	92.156	92.069	825	79.1	0.1	0.013	95.201	95.201	0.891	0.476	0.51	1.1	0.820	0.99	93.801	93.801	N/A
13b	14	92.069	92.046	825	21.1	0.1	0.013	95.201	94.902	0.891	0.476	0.72	1.5	0.907	0.99	93.801	93.800	N/A
14	15	92.016	91.999	825	15.5	0.1	0.013	94.902	94.964	0.891	0.476	0.72	1.5	0.959	0.99	93.800	93.799	1.102
15	104b	91.810	91.793	1200	15.5	0.1	0.013	94.964	94.500	1.143	1.293	2.05	1.6	0.789	0.99	93.799	93.798	1.165
16	17	92.602	92.499	600	68.5	0.2	0.013	94.979	95.298	0.841	0.238	0.36	1.5	1.499	0.97	94.701	94.499	0.278
17	17a	92.461	92.373	675	58.7	0.2	0.013	95.298	95.298	0.910	0.326	0.35	1.1	1.362	0.97	94.498	94.413	0.800
17a	18	92.373	92.363	675	6.4	0.2	0.013	95.298	95.030	0.910	0.326	0.49	1.5	1.366	0.97	94.414	94.362	N/A
18	19	92.333	92.317	675	10.5	0.2	0.013	95.030	95.094	0.910	0.326	0.49	1.5	1.354	0.98	94.362	94.312	0.668
19	23	92.287	92.205	675	55.0	0.2	0.013	95.094	95.383	0.910	0.326	0.49	1.5	1.350	1.01	94.312	94.114	0.782
20	20a	92.442	92.427	675	10.1	0.2	0.013	95.562	95.562	0.910	0.326	0.46	1.4	1.469	1.05	94.586	94.556	0.976
20	20b	93.147	92.935	300	53.0	0.4	0.013	95.562	95.562	0.865	0.061	0.03	0.4	1.139	0.94	94.586	94.603	0.976
20a	21	92.427	92.327	675	66.9	0.2	0.013	95.562	95.128	0.910	0.326	0.48	1.5	1.454	1.05	94.556	94.351	N/A
20b	24	92.935	92.755	300	45.0	0.4	0.013	95.562	95.243	0.865	0.061	0.09	1.4	1.368	0.95	94.603	94.334	N/A
21	21a	92.252	92.228	825	22.2	0.1	0.013	95.128	95.198	0.891	0.476	0.48	1.0	1.274	1.05	94.351	94.327	0.777
21a	22	92.228	92.181	825	42.3	0.1	0.013	95.198	95.198	0.891	0.476	0.65	1.4	1.274	1.04	94.327	94.211	N/A
22	23	92.151	92.130	825	19.5	0.1	0.013	95.198	95.383	0.891	0.476	0.64	1.4	1.235	1.04	94.211	94.114	0.987
23	105b	92.092	92.059	900	26.5	0.1	0.013	95.383	94.500	0.944	0.600	1.11	1.9	1.122	1.01	94.114	93.908	1.269
24	24a	92.605	92.572	600	22.2	0.2	0.013	95.243	95.320	0.841	0.238	0.09	0.4	1.129	0.95	94.334	94.330	0.909

Table C-1C	: Pipe Data and H	lydraulic Simulatior	Results for the	100-Year, 3	B-Hour Chicago	Storm + 20%
				,		

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe Dia.	Pipe	Pipe	n	U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
мн	мн	Invert	Invert	/ Height	Length	Slope		Cover	Cover	Vel.	Flow	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	(2)
								Elev.	Elev.			Flow	Flow	(1)	Peak	HGL	HGL	
		(m)	(m)	(mm)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
24a	25	92.572	92.459	600	74.8	0.2	0.013	95.320	95.330	0.841	0.238	0.29	1.2	1.158	0.95	94.330	94.156	N/A
25	25a	92.234	92.230	1050	3.2	0.1	0.013	95.330	95.320	1.046	0.906	1.17	1.3	0.872	1.08	94.156	94.148	1.174
25a	26	92.230	92.152	1050	71.8	0.1	0.013	95.320	95.212	1.046	0.906	1.29	1.4	0.868	1.11	94.148	93.993	N/A
26	26a	92.077	92.032	1200	41.3	0.1	0.013	95.212	95.352	1.143	1.293	1.42	1.1	0.716	1.01	93.993	93.941	1.219
26a	26b	92.032	92.007	1200	22.9	0.1	0.013	95.352	95.352	1.143	1.293	1.47	1.1	0.709	1.01	93.941	93.911	N/A
26b	27	92.007	91.988	1200	16.8	0.1	0.013	95.352	95.352	1.143	1.293	1.66	1.3	0.704	1.01	93.911	93.807	N/A
27	27a	92.856	92.796	300	17.1	0.4	0.013	95.352	95.352	0.809	0.057	-0.11	-1.9	0.651	0.93	93.807	93.806	1.545
27	27b	91.928	91.910	1200	16.8	0.1	0.013	95.352	95.352	1.143	1.293	1.67	1.3	0.679	1.00	93.807	93.807	1.545
27a	29	92.796	92.623	300	49.4	0.4	0.013	95.352	95.352	0.809	0.057	0.09	1.6	0.710	1.00	93.806	93.959	N/A
27b	107b	91.910	91.846	1200	58.2	0.1	0.013	95.352	95.232	1.143	1.293	1.80	1.4	0.697	1.01	93.807	93.803	N/A
29	111b	91.588	91.542	1650	41.5	0.1	0.013	95.352	95.502	1.414	3.023	6.74	2.2	0.721	0.94	93.959	93.826	1.393
30	30a	92.746	92.561	450	74.2	0.3	0.013	95.372	95.372	0.896	0.143	-0.10	-0.7	0.854	1.02	94.050	94.116	1.322
30	31	92.662	92.542	300	12.0	1.0	0.013	95.372	95.212	1.368	0.097	0.10	1.0	1.088	1.02	94.050	93.938	1.322
30a	26	92.561	92.542	450	43.3	0.3	0.013	95.372	95.212	0.896	0.143	0.21	1.5	1.105	0.94	94.116	93.993	N/A
31	31a	92.429	92.327	525	51.0	0.2	0.013	95.212	95.212	0.888	0.192	0.10	0.5	0.984	1.01	93.938	93.922	1.274
31a	32	92.327	92.301	525	13.0	0.2	0.013	95.212	94.974	0.888	0.192	0.32	1.7	1.070	1.00	93.922	93.828	N/A
32	33	92.271	92.246	525	12.5	0.2	0.013	94.974	95.049	0.888	0.192	0.32	1.7	1.032	1.00	93.828	93.807	1.146
33	330	92.216	92.146	525	35.0	0.2	0.013	95.049	95.230	0.888	0.192	0.32	1.7	1.066	1.01	93.807	93.804	1.242
104b	Pond1	91.763	91.700	1200	57.5	0.1	0.013	94.500	95.500	1.143	1.293	2.05	1.6	0.835	0.99	93.798	93.798	0.702
105b	106b	92.029	91.960	900	62.5	0.1	0.013	94.500	94.500	0.944	0.600	1.11	1.9	0.979	1.01	93.908	93.807	0.592
106b	108b	91.930	91.854	900	69.5	0.1	0.013	94.500	94.218	0.944	0.600	1.11	1.9	0.977	1.01	93.807	93.801	0.693
107b	1070b	91.786	91.778	1200	7.0	0.1	0.013	95.232	95.055	1.143	1.293	1.80	1.4	0.817	1.01	93.803	93.803	1.429
108b	109b	91.629	91.617	1350	10.5	0.1	0.013	94.218	94.500	1.237	1.770	3.22	1.8	0.822	1.01	93.801	93.798	0.417
109b	Pond1	91.557	91.550	1350	6.0	0.1	0.013	94.500	95.500	1.237	1.770	3.22	1.8	0.891	1.01	93.798	93.798	0.702
111b	Pond1	91.522	91.450	1650	38.0	0.2	0.013	95.502	95.500	1.858	3.973	7.10	1.8	0.654	0.93	93.826	93.798	1.676
200	201	93.286	93.180	300	12.5	0.9	0.013	95.389	95.314	1.261	0.089	-0.08	-0.9	0.565	0.96	94.151	94.154	1.238
200	202	93.289	93.084	300	58.5	0.4	0.013	95.389	95.259	0.809	0.057	-0.03	-0.4	0.562	1.01	94.151	94.142	1.238
201	201a	93.030	92.900	450	29.6	0.4	0.013	95.314	95.314	1.189	0.189	-0.08	-0.4	0.674	0.96	94.154	94.153	1.160
201a	8	92.900	92.500	450	90.9	0.4	0.013	95.314	95.040	1.189	0.189	0.17	0.9	0.803	0.99	94.153	93.865	N/A
202	202a	93.054	93.050	300	1.2	0.4	0.013	95.259	95.296	0.809	0.057	-0.04	-0.6	0.789	0.96	94.143	94.143	1.116
202a	203	93.050	93.012	300	10.8	0.4	0.013	95.296	95.296	0.809	0.057	0.13	2.2	0.793	1.00	94.143	93.940	N/A
203	204	92.862	92.677	450	92.5	0.2	0.013	95.296	95.110	0.802	0.128	0.12	1.0	0.628	0.99	93.940	93.805	1.356
204	204a	92.511	92.463	600	21.9	0.2	0.013	95.110	95.250	1.019	0.288	0.12	0.4	0.694	0.99	93.805	93.805	1.305
204a	204b	92.463	92.324	600	63.0	0.2	0.013	95.250	95.250	1.019	0.288	0.42	1.5	0.742	0.99	93.805	93.802	N/A
204b	13	92.324	92.290	600	15.6	0.2	0.013	95.250	95.250	1.019	0.288	0.46	1.6	0.878	0.99	93.802	93.802	N/A
205	210	93.210	93.060	450	75.0	0.2	0.013	95.493	95.671	0.802	0.128	0.12	0.9	1.460	0.92	95.120	95.052	0.373
206	206a	93.320	93.316	375	1.5	0.3	0.013	95.468	95.493	0.869	0.096	-0.08	-0.8	1.460	0.94	95.155	95.154	0.313
206a	205	93.316	93.285	375	10.0	0.3	0.013	95.493	95.493	0.869	0.096	0.13	1.4	1.463	0.93	95.154	95.120	N/A
207	206	93.598	93.395	300	58.0	0.4	0.013	95.923	95.468	0.809	0.057	-0.06	-1.0	1.246	0.95	95.144	95.155	0.779

Table C-1C	: Pipe Data and H	lydraulic Simulatior	Results for the	100-Year, 3	B-Hour Chicago	Storm + 20%
				,		

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe Dia.	Pipe	Pipe	n	U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
МН	мн	Invert	Invert	/ Height	Length	Slope		Cover	Cover	Vel.	Flow	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	(2)
								Elev.	Elev.			Flow	Flow	(1)	Peak	HGL	HGL	
		(m)	(m)	(mm)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m³/s)	(m³/s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
208	207	93.700	93.658	300	12.0	0.4	0.013	95.851	95.923	0.809	0.057	0.03	0.5	1.144	0.95	95.144	95.144	0.707
208	208a	93.672	93.294	375	44.5	0.9	0.013	95.851	95.851	1.464	0.162	-0.09	-0.5	1.097	0.95	95.144	95.141	0 <u>.</u> 707
208a	209	93.294	92.949	375	40.5	0.9	0.013	95.851	95.614	1.464	0.162	0.16	1.0	1.472	0.92	95.141	94.909	N/A
209	212	92.724	92.639	600	56.5	0.2	0.013	95.614	95.238	0.841	0.238	0.33	1.4	1.585	0.97	94.909	94.762	0.705
210	211	93.030	93.007	450	11.5	0.2	0.013	95.671	95.601	0.802	0.128	0.10	0.8	1.572	1.20	95.052	95.039	0.619
211	211a	92.932	92.871	525	30.3	0.2	0.013	95.601	95.614	0.888	0.192	0.10	0.5	1.582	1.23	95.039	95.029	0.562
211a	209	92.871	92.799	525	36.2	0.2	0.013	95.614	95.614	0.888	0.192	0.20	1.0	1.633	0.97	95.029	94.909	N/A
212	212a	92.564	92.553	675	7.3	0.2	0.013	95.238	95.550	0.910	0.326	0.33	1.0	1.523	1.04	94.762	94.751	0.476
212a	20	92.553	92.460	675	62.2	0.2	0.013	95.550	95.562	0.910	0.326	0.44	1.4	1.523	0.97	94.751	94.586	N/A
213	214	93.791	93.638	300	30.5	0.5	0.013	96.071	95.908	0.967	0.068	0.10	1.4	1.485	0.92	95.576	95.386	0.495
214	214a	93.338	93.284	600	36.3	0.2	0.013	95.908	95.918	0.841	0.238	0.12	0.5	1.448	0.99	95.386	95.372	0.522
214a	215	93.284	93.232	600	34.2	0.2	0.013	95.918	95.849	0.841	0.238	0.28	1.2	1.488	0.95	95.372	95.322	N/A
215	215a	93.212	93.138	600	49.2	0.2	0.013	95.849	95.849	0.841	0.238	0.27	1.1	1.510	0.94	95.322	95.255	0.527
215a	220	93.138	93.120	600	11.8	0.2	0.013	95.849	95.723	0.841	0.238	0.32	1.4	1.517	0.95	95.255	95.158	N/A
216	216a	93.869	93.679	300	54.4	0.4	0.013	95.972	95.972	0.809	0.057	-0.05	-0.9	1.249	0.94	95.418	95.437	0.554
216	217	93.870	93.726	300	12.0	1.2	0.013	95.972	95.900	1.499	0.106	-0.06	-0.6	1.248	0.94	95.418	95.411	0.554
216a	214	93.679	93.638	300	11.6	0.4	0.013	95.972	95.908	0.809	0.057	0.05	0.8	1.458	1.07	95.437	95.386	N/A
217	21/a	93.576	93.494	450	40.9	0.2	0.013	95.900	95.900	0.802	0.128	-0.09	-0.7	1.385	0.93	95.411	95.412	0.489
21/a	218	93.494	93.345	450	74.6	0.2	0.013	95.900	95.677	0.802	0.128	0.14	1.1	1.468	0.94	95.412	95.292	N/A
218	219	93.315	93.292	450	11.5	0.2	0.013	95.677	95.594	0.802	0.128	0.12	1.0	1.527	0.95	95.292	95.267	0.385
219	219a	93.254	93.217	525	18.4	0.2	0.013	95.594	95.733	0.888	0.192	0.12	0.6	1.488	0.95	95.267	95.255	0.327
219a	220	93.217	93.121	525	48.1	0.2	0.013	95.733	95.723	0.888	0.192	0.22	1.2	1.513	0.95	95.255	95.158	N/A
220	220a	93.045	92.918	675 675	63.4	0.2	0.013	95.723	95.733	1.051	0.376	0.53	1.4	1.438	0.95	95.158	94.949	0.565
220a	221	92.918	92.913	675 750	2.6	0.2	0.013	95.733	95.466	1.051	0.376	0.52	1.4	1.356	0.95	94.949	94.813	N/A
221	2218	92.838	92.772	750	33.1	0.2	0.013	95.466	95.515	1.127	0.498	0.58	1.2	1.225	0.95	94.813	94.732	0.653
2218	222	92.772	92.600	750	85.9	0.2	0.013	95.515	95.515	1.127	0.498	0.76	1.5	1.210	0.95	94.732	94.359	N/A
222	223	92.525	92.505	020	13.5	0.2	0.013	95.515	95.409	1.040	0.556	0.71	1.3	1.009	1.03	94.359	94.288	1.100
223	223a 223h	92.430	92.309	900	32.0	0.2	0.013	95,409	95,409	1.240	0.769	0.72	0.9	0.956	0.95	94.200	94.259	1.1Z1 N/A
223a 223h	2250	92.309	92.310	900	27.0	0.2	0.013	95.409	95.409	1.240	0.789	0.90	1.1	0.990	1 10	94.259	94.179	N/A N/A
2200	20	92.310	92.300	300	41.0	0.2	0.013	95.409	95.550	0.800	0.765	0.90	1.1	1 228	0.05	94.179	04.913	0.303
330	1070b	02 116	93.200	525	41.0	0.4	0.013	95.275	95.400	0.009	0.007	0.07	1.0	1 163	1 01	03 804	03 903	1.426
1070b	10705 108b	92.110	92.090	1200	10.0	0.2	0.014	95.250	95.055	1.062	1 201	2 11	1.0	0.845		93.004	93.803	1.420
1600	16002	92.658	92.635	600	15.5		0.013	95.000	95 090	0.841	0.238	0.26	1 1	1 483	0.02	94 741	94 721	0.349
16002	16	92 635	92.000	600	85		0.013	95.000	93.030	0.841	0.238	0.20	13	1 4 86	0.00	94.791	94 701	N/A
Pond1	Out	N/A	Ν/Δ	N/A	N/A	Ν/Δ	N/A	95 500	94 500	N/A	N/A	4 38	N/A	Ν/Δ	2.84	93 798	92 350	1 702
250	252	93 433	93 270	300	46.5	04	0.013	95 380	95 390	0.809	0.057	0.06		1 607	1 53	95 340	95 240	0.040
251	251a	93 563	93 356	300	46.1	0.5	0.013	95 530	95 530	0.918	0.065	-0.09	_14	1.560	1 55	95 423	95 454	0.107
251	251b	93.320	93.079	300	48.2	0.5	0.013	95.530	95.500	0.967	0.068	-0.07	1.1	1.803	0.91	95.423	95.300	0.107

	Table C-1C: Pipe Data and H	vdraulic Simulation	Results for the 100-Year.	3-Hour Chicago	Storm + 20%
--	-----------------------------	---------------------	---------------------------	----------------	-------------

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe Dia.	Pipe	Pipe	n	U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
МН	мн	Invert	Invert	/ Height	Length	Slope		Cover	Cover	Vel.	Flow	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	(2)
								Elev.	Elev.			Flow	Flow	(1)	Peak	HGL	HGL	
		(m)	(m)	(mm)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
251	251c	93.625	93.607	375	6.0	0.3	0.013	95.530	95.530	0.869	0.096	0.12	1.2	1.423	1.49	95.423	95.435	0.107
251a	252	93.356	93.270	300	18.9	0.5	0.013	95.530	95.390	0 <u>.</u> 918	0.065	0.10	1.5	1.798	0.90	95.454	95.240	N/A
251b	255	93.079	92.980	300	19 <u>.</u> 8	0.5	0.013	95.500	95.330	0.967	0.068	0.10	1.4	1.921	1.46	95.300	95.166	N/A
251c	251d	93.607	93.526	375	26.9	0.3	0.013	95.530	95.530	0.869	0.096	-0.15	-1.6	1.453	0.91	95.435	95.481	N/A
251e	263	93.450	93.421	375	9.7	0.3	0.013	95.530	95.630	0.869	0.096	-0.28	-3.0	1.671	0.91	95.496	95.516	N/A
252	252a	93.045	92.914	525	52.2	0.3	0.013	95.390	95.390	0.993	0.215	-0.13	-0.6	1.670	0.90	95.240	95.206	0.150
252a	253	92.914	92.872	525	16.8	0.3	0.013	95.390	95.180	0.993	0.215	0.20	0.9	1.767	0.89	95.206	95.180	N/A
253	253a	92.797	92.693	600	69.3	0.2	0.013	95.180	95.180	0.841	0.238	0.20	0.8	1.783	1.50	95.180	95.160	0.000
253a	254	92.693	92.675	600	11.7	0.2	0.013	95.180	95.180	0.841	0.238	0.29	1.2	1.867	1.50	95.160	95.131	N/A
254	254a	92.615	92.568	600	31.4	0.2	0.013	95.180	95.230	0.841	0.238	0.39	1.7	1.916	1.54	95.131	95.117	0.049
254	254c	93.239	93.106	300	29.5	0.5	0.013	95.180	95.180	0.918	0.065	-0.15	-2.3	1.592	0.89	95.131	95.114	0.049
254a	257	92.568	92.562	600	4.1	0.2	0.013	95.230	95.230	0.841	0.238	0.42	1.8	1.949	1.54	95.117	95.115	N/A
259a	257	93.017	92.977	300	7.9	0.5	0.013	95.280	95.230	0.967	0.068	0.08	1.1	1.824	1.49	95.141	95.115	N/A
254c	273	93.106	92.964	300	31.5	0.5	0.013	95.180	95.140	0.918	0.065	-0.10	-1.6	1.708	1.78	95.114	94.897	N/A
255	255a	92.830	92.701	450	64.5	0.2	0.013	95.330	95.330	0.802	0.128	0.11	0.8	1.886	1.46	95.166	95.111	0.164
255a	256	92.701	92.667	450	17.0	0.2	0.013	95.330	95.260	0.802	0.128	0.18	1.4	1.960	1.46	95.111	95.088	N/A
256	256a	92.422	92.402	675	13.0	0.2	0.013	95.260	95.260	0.910	0.326	0.63	1.9	1.991	1.46	95.088	95.073	0.172
256a	261	92.402	92.372	675	20.0	0.2	0.013	95.260	95.250	0.910	0.326	0.65	2.0	1.996	1.46	95.073	95.068	N/A
251d	251e	93.526	93.450	375	25.4	0.3	0.013	95.530	95.530	0.869	0.096	-0.21	-2.2	1.580	0.91	95.481	95.496	N/A
258	258a	93.104	92.887	300	54.2	0.4	0.013	95.450	95.450	0.865	0.061	-0.06	-1.0	1.722	0.92	95.126	95.123	0.324
258a	261	92.887	92.840	300	11.8	0.4	0.013	95.450	95.250	0.865	0.061	0.09	1.4	1.936	1.20	95.123	95.068	N/A
259	259a	93.152	93.017	300	27.1	0.5	0.013	95.280	95.280	0.967	0.068	0.06	0.9	1.712	0.96	95.164	95.141	0.116
257	256	92.542	92.497	600	30.0	0.2	0.013	95.230	95.260	0.841	0.238	0.48	2.0	1.973	1.49	95.115	95.088	0.115
260	260a	92.954	92.866	375	25.1	0.4	0.013	95.320	95.320	0.939	0.104	-0.07	-0.6	1.711	0.91	95.040	95.019	0.280
260a	261	92.866	92.840	300	7.4	0.4	0.013	95.320	95.250	0.809	0.057	-0.10	-1.8	1.853	0.91	95.019	95.068	N/A
261	265	92.297	92.262	825	35.0	0.1	0.013	95.250	95.550	0.849	0.454	0.81	1.8	1.946	1.45	95.068	95.051	0.182
263	263a	92.209	92.176	1500	22.2	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.630	1.549	2.738	5.09	1.9	1.807	0.92	95.516	95.458	0.114
263a	264	92.176	92.096	1500	52.8	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.530	1.549	2.738	5.09	1.9	1.782	0.92	95.458	95.305	N/A
264	264a	92.076	92.033	1500	28.5	0.2	0.013	95.530	95.530	1.549	2.738	5.08	1.9	1.729	0.92	95.305	95.216	0.225
264a	265	92.033	91.963	1500	46.5	0.2	0.013	95.530	95.550	1.549	2.738	5.21	1.9	1.683	0.92	95.216	95.051	N/A
265	265a	91.924	91.816	1500	53.8	0.2	0.013	95.550	95.550	1.789	3.161	5.40	1.7	1.627	0.93	95.051	94.844	0.499
265a	266	91.816	91.778	1500	19 <u>.</u> 2	0.2	0.013	95.550	95.540	1.789	3.161	5.46	1.7	1.528	0.93	94.844	94.399	N/A
266	266a	91.568	91.509	1500	29.7	0.2	0.013	95.540	95.550	1.789	3.161	5.46	1.7	1.331	0.93	94.399	94.158	1.141
266a	267	91.509	91.429	1500	39.8	0.2	0.013	95.550	95.630	1.789	3.161	5.49		1.149	0.98	94.158	94.039	N/A
267	Pond1	91,429	91.350	1500	39.5	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.500	1./89	3.161	5.49		1.110	0.98	94.039	93.798	1.591
2/0	2/Ua	92.828	92.710	900	59.1	0.2	0.013	95.500	95.500	1.273	0.810	1.61	2.0	1.970	0.89	95.698	95.386	-0.198
270a	2/1	92./10	92.665	900	22.4	0.2	0.013	95.500	95.320	1.2/3	0.810	1.63	2.0	1.//6	0.89	95.386	95.275	N/A
2/1	2/1a	92.643	92.503	900	46.6	0.3	0.013	95.320	95.320	1.559	0.992	1.61	1.6	1./32	0.89	95.275	95.050	0.045
2/1a	2/3	92.503	92.416	900	28.9	0.3	0.013	95.320	95.140	1.559	0.992	1.59	1.6	1.647	0.89	95.050	94.897	N/A

Table C-1C. Pipe Data and Hydraulic Simulation Results for the 100-Year, 3-Hour Chicago Storm + 20	Table C-1C: P	pe Data and H	vdraulic Simulation	Results for the	100-Year.	3-Hour Chicago	Storm + 20°
--	---------------	---------------	---------------------	-----------------	-----------	----------------	-------------

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe Dia.	Pipe	Pipe	n	U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
MH	МН	Invert	Invert	/ Height	Length	Slope		Cover	Cover	Vel.	Flow	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	(2)
								Elev.	Elev.			Flow	Flow	(1)	Peak	HGL	HGL	
		(m)	(m)	(mm)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
273	273a	92.364	92.313	900	25.5	0.2	0.013	95.140	95.140	1.273	0.810	1.51	1.9	1.633	0.92	94.897	94.760	0.243
273a	275	92.313	92.298	900	7.6	0.2	0.013	95.140	95.200	1.273	0.810	1.57	1.9	1.547	0.97	94.760	94.708	N/A
275	276	92.268	92.209	900	29.5	0.2	0.013	95.200	95.620	1.273	0.810	1.57	1.9	1.540	0.97	94.708	94.480	0.492
276	277	92.179	92.148	900	15.5	0.2	0.013	95.620	95.500	1.273	0.810	1.57	1.9	1.401	0.97	94.480	94.341	1.140
277	277a	92.067	91.964	975	51.7	0.2	0.013	95.500	95.630	1.342	1.002	1.73	1.7	1.299	0.93	94.341	94.193	1.159
277a	277b	91.964	91.869	975	47.5	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.630	1.342	1.002	1.80	1.8	1.254	0.96	94.193	94.059	N/A
277b	278	91.869	91.842	975	13.3	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.630	1.342	1.002	1.85	1.8	1.215	0.97	94.059	93.944	N/A
278	279	91.782	91.775	975	3.5	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.630	1.342	1.002	1.85	1.8	1.187	0.97	93.944	93.891	1.686
279	Pond1	91.715	91.650	975	32.5	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.500	1.342	1.002	1.85	1.8	1.201	0.97	93.891	93.798	1.739
280	280a	91.825	91.714	1650	73.8	0.2	0.013	95.450	95.510	1.651	3.530	3.43	1.0	0.634	3.09	94.109	94.002	1.341
280a	281	91.714	91.657	1650	38.2	0.2	0.013	95.510	95.510	1.651	3.530	3.43	1.0	0.638	3.09	94.002	93.946	N/A
281	Pond1	91.657	91.600	1650	38.0	0.2	0.013	95.510	95.500	1.651	3.530	3.43	1.0	0.639	3.09	93.946	93.798	1.564
328	263	92.425	92.359	1350	65.5	0.1	0.013	95.700	95.630	1.179	1.688	3.75	2.2	1.968	0.92	95.743	95.516	-0.043
329	329a	92.534	92.465	1050	27.4	0.3	0.013	95.700	95.700	1.577	1.365	2.26	1.7	2.274	1.43	95.858	95.700	<u>-0.158</u>
329a	263	92.465	92.434	1050	12.6	0.3	0.013	95.700	95.630	1.577	1.365	2.29	1.7	2.185	1.44	95.700	95.516	N/A
101	102	94.092	93.958	600	95.5	0.1	0.013	97.120	97.010	0.813	0.230	0.72	3.1	2.478	1.79	97.170	97.046	-0.050
102	103	93.883	93.783	675	83.5	0.1	0.013	97.010	96.880	0.814	0.291	0.94	3.2	2.488	1.70	97.046	96.903	-0.036
103	106	93.708	93.664	750	40.0	0.1	0.013	96.880	96.820	0.836	0.369	1.24	3.4	2.445	1.66	96.903	96.870	-0.023
106	109	93.589	93.544	825	45.0	0.1	0.013	96.820	96.750	0.849	0.454	1.42	3.1	2.456	1.58	96.870	96.778	-0.050
109	111	93.469	93.391	900	78.0	0.1	0.013	96.750	96.640	0.900	0.572	1.63	2.9	2.409	1.56	96.778	96.669	-0.028
111	112	93.241	93.142	1050	98.5	0.1	0.013	96.640	96.500	0.997	0.864	2.00	2.3	2.378	1.54	96.669	96.594	-0.029
112	113	92.992	92.863	1200	129.0	0.1	0.013	96.500	96.310	1.090	1.233	2.57	2.1	2.402	1.52	96.594	96.384	-0.094
113	114	92.833	92.754	1200	78.5	0.1	0.013	96.310	96.190	1.090	1.233	2.82	2.3	2.351	1.47	96.384	96.272	-0.074
114	122	92.604	92.524	1350	80.0	0.1	0.013	96.190	96.070	1.179	1.688	3.15	1.9	2.318	1.30	96.272	96.157	-0.082
122	126	92.494	92.287	1350	122.0	0.2	0.013	96.070	95.770	1.537	2.201	3.69	1.7	2.313	1.25	96.157	95.785	-0.087
126	127	92.212	92.111	1500	91.5	0.1	0.013	95.770	95.630	1.327	2.344	4.48	1.9	2.071	0.92	95.783	95.648	-0.013
127	130	92.081	91.980	1500	91.5	0.1	0.013	95.630	95.490	1.327	2.344	4.93	2.1	2.073	0.92	95.654	95.056	-0.024
130	138	91.905	91.840	1650	64.5	0.1	0.013	95.490	95.140	1.348	2.882	5.53	1.9	1.502	0.92	95.057	94.364	0.433
138	139	91.780	91.730	1650	50.0	0.1	0.013	95.140	95.400	1.348	2.882	6.59	2.3	0.934	0.94	94.364	94.153	0.776
139	140	91.670	91.656	1650	14.0	0.1	0.013	95.400	95.400	1.348	2.882	6.62	2.3	0.833	0.94	94.153	94.070	1.247
140	29	91.651	91.608	1650	43.4	0.1	0.013	95.400	95.352	1.348	2.882	6.71	2.3	0.769	0.94	94.070	93.959	1.330

⁽²⁾ Freeboard between upstream hydraulic gradeline elevation and upstream manhole cover elevation.

Table C-1D: Pipe Data and H	vdraulic Simulation Results for the 10	0-Year. 24-Hour SCS Type II Storm + 20%

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe Dia.	Pipe	Pipe	n	U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
мн	мн	Invert	Invert	/ Height	Length	Slope		Cover	Cover	Vel.	Flow	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	(2)
								Elev.	Elev.			Flow	Flow	(1)	Peak	HGL	HGL	
		(m)	(m)	(mm)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
1	2	93.328	93.172	300	44.5	0.4	0.013	95.566	95.449	0.809	0.057	-0.05	-0.8	1.170	11.83	94.798	94.777	0.768
2	2a	93.134	92.925	375	69.6	0.3	0.013	95.449	95.449	0.869	0.096	-0.07	-0.7	1.268	11.82	94.777	94.770	0.672
2a	3	92.925	92.857	375	22.9	0.3	0.013	95.449	95.220	0.869	0.096	0.11	1.2	1.470	11.90	94.770	94.679	N/A
3	4	92.827	92.787	375	13.5	0.3	0.013	95.220	95.300	0.869	0.096	0.11	1.2	1.477	11.90	94.679	94.626	0.541
4	7	92.757	92.561	375	65.5	0.3	0.013	95.300	95.174	0.869	0.096	0.11	1.1	1.493	11.90	94.625	94.409	0.675
5	5a	92.986	92.957	300	8.3	0.4	0.013	95.298	95.378	0.809	0.057	-0.01	-0.2	1.410	11.81	94.696	94.696	0.602
5a	6	92.957	92.797	300	45.7	0.4	0.013	95.378	95.378	0.809	0.057	0.07	1.2	1.439	11.87	94.696	94.505	N/A
6	6a	92.609	92.499	675	73.5	0.2	0.013	95.378	95.378	0.910	0.326	0.07	0.2	1.221	11.93	94.505	94.500	0.873
6a	7	92.499	92.448	675	34.0	0.2	0.013	95.378	95.174	0.910	0.326	0.33	1.0	1.326	12.11	94.500	94.409	N/A
	7a	92.373	92.313	750	54.4	0.1	0.013	95.174	95.174	0.836	0.369	0.43	1.2	1.286	12.04	94.409	94.337	0.765
7a	8	92.313	92.300	750	11.6	0.1	0.013	95.174	95.040	0.836	0.369	0.54	1.4	1.274	11.92	94.337	94.222	N/A
8	8a	92.225	92.211	900	13.1	0.1	0.013	95.040	95.199	0.944	0.600	0.66	1.1	1.097	11.92	94.222	94.206	0.818
8a	11	92.211	92.144	900	60.4	0.1	0.013	95.199	95.199	0.944	0.600	0.77	1.3	1.095	11.98	94.206	94.107	N/A
9	10	92.912	92.614	300	59.5	0.5	0.013	95.652	94.963	0.967	0.068	0.04	0.5	1.212	12.01	94.424	94.358	1.228
10	10a	92.501	92.486	525	6.1	0.3	0.013	94.963	95.199	0.993	0.215	0.03	0.2	1.332	12.01	94.358	94.357	0.605
10a	11	92.486	92.331	525	61.9	0.3	0.013	95.199	95.199	0.993	0.215	0.24	1.1	1.346	12.04	94.357	94.107	N/A
	11a 10	92.106	92.040	975	59.6	0.1	0.013	95.199	95.199	0.996	0.743	0.99	1.3	1.026	11.98	94.107	93.998	1.092
11a	12	92.040	92.036	975	4.4	0.1	0.013	95.199	94.782	0.996	0.743	1.10	1.5	0.983	11.97	93.998	93.958	N/A
12	12a	92.006	91.963	975	39.2	0.1	0.013	94.782	94.964	0.996	0.743	1.10	1.5	0.977	11.97	93.958	93.916	0.824
12a	15	91.963	91.924	975	35.9	0.1	0.013	94.964	94.964	0.996	0.743	1.16	1.6	0.978	11.97	93.916	93.890	N/A
13	10a 10b	92.160	92.156	020 025	3.3	0.1	0.013	95.250	95.201	0.891	0.476	0.40	0.8	0.957	11.97	93.942	93.941	1.308
138	130	92.156	92.069	020	79.1	0.1	0.013	95.201	95.201	0.891	0.476	0.45	0.9	0.960	11.97	93.941	93.926	N/A
130	14	92.069	92.046	020	21.1	0.1	0.013	95.201	94.902	0.891	0.476	0.62	1.3	1.032	11.96	93.926	93.906	N/A
15	104h	92.010	91.999	1200	15.5	0.1	0.013	94.902	94.964	1 1 4 2	0.470	1.76	1.3		11.90	93.900	93.090	0.996
16	1040	91.010	91.793	600	10.0		0.013	94.904	94.500	0.941	1.295	0.22	1.4	1.650	11.90	93.090	93.000	0.119
17	179	92.002	92.499	675	58.7	0.2	0.013	94.979	95.290	0.041	0.230	0.32	1.4	1.009	11.92	94.001	94.709	0.580
17a	18	92.401	92.373	675	64	0.2	0.013	95.290	95.290	0.910	0.326	0.32	1.0	1.575	11 02	94.646	94.608	0.303 N/Δ
18	19	02.373	92.303	675	10.5	0.2	0.013	95.290	95.000	0.910	0.326	0.44	1.3	1.000	11 02	94.608	94.000	0.422
19	23	92 287	92 205	675	55.0	0.2	0.013	95 094	95 383	0.910	0.326	0.43	1.3	1.610	11 92	94.572	94 4 18	0.522
20	20a	92 442	92 427	675	10.1	0.2	0.013	95 562	95 562	0.910	0.326	0.41	1.3	1.656	11.96	94 773	94 751	0.789
20	20b	93 147	92 935	300	53.0	0.4	0.013	95 562	95 562	0.865	0.061	0.02	0.3	1.326	12 21	94 773	94 782	0.789
20a	21	92 427	92 327	675	66.9	0.2	0.013	95 562	95 128	0.910	0.326	0.43	1.3	1 649	11 96	94 751	94 596	N/A
20b	24	92,935	92,755	300	45.0	0.4	0.013	95.562	95.243	0.865	0.061	0.07	1.2	1.547	11.96	94,782	94,586	N/A
21	21a	92.252	92.228	825	22.2	0.1	0.013	95.128	95 198	0.891	0.476	0.43	0.9	1.519	11.96	94.596	94,578	0.532
21a	22	92.228	92,181	825	42.3	0.1	0.013	95,198	95,198	0.891	0.476	0.57	1.2	1.525	11.96	94.578	94,491	N/A
22	23	92,151	92,130	825	19.5	0.1	0.013	95,198	95,383	0.891	0.476	0.57	1.2	1.515	11.95	94,491	94,418	0.707
23	105b	92.092	92.059	900	26.5	0.1	0.013	95.383	94.500	0.944	0.600	0.99	1.6	1.426	11.93	94.418	94.266	0.965
24	24a	92.605	92.572	600	22.2	0.2	0.013	95.243	95.320	0.841	0.238	0.07	0.3	1.381	11.96	94.586	94.584	0.657

Table C-1D: Pipe Data and H	vdraulic Simulation Results	for the 100-Year.	24-Hour SCS Tvg	be II Storm + 20%

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe Dia.	Pipe	Pipe	n	U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
мн	мн	Invert	Invert	/ Height	Length	Slope		Cover	Cover	Vel.	Flow	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	(2)
								Elev.	Elev.			Flow	Flow	(1)	Peak	HGL	HGL	
		(m)	(m)	(mm)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
24a	25	92.572	92.459	600	74.8	0.2	0.013	95.320	95.330	0.841	0.238	0.24	1.0	1.412	11.92	94.584	94.460	N/A
25	25a	92.234	92.230	1050	3.2	0.1	0.013	95.330	95.320	1.046	0.906	1.03	1.1	1.176	12.02	94.460	94.454	0.870
25a	26	92.230	92.152	1050	71.8	0.1	0.013	95.320	95.212	1.046	0.906	1.14	1.3	1.174	12.08	94.454	94.331	N/A
26	26a	92.077	92.032	1200	41.3	0.1	0.013	95.212	95.352	1.143	1.293	1.26	1.0	1.054	11.94	94.331	94.290	0.881
26a	26b	92.032	92.007	1200	22.9	0.1	0.013	95.352	95.352	1.143	1.293	1.29	1.0	1.058	11.94	94.290	94.266	N/A
26b	27	92.007	91.988	1200	16.8	0.1	0.013	95.352	95.352	1.143	1.293	1.46	1.1	1.059	11.94	94.266	94.144	N/A
27	27a	92.856	92.796	300	17.1	0.4	0.013	95.352	95.352	0.809	0.057	0.04	0.6	0.988	12.18	94.144	94.136	1.208
27	27b	91.928	91.910	1200	16.8	0.1	0.013	95.352	95.352	1.143	1.293	1.48	1.1	1.016	11.95	94.144	94.127	1.208
27a	29	92.796	92.623	300	49.4	0.4	0.013	95.352	95.352	0.809	0.057	0.08	1.5	1.040	11.95	94.136	94.279	N/A
27b	107b	91.910	91.846	1200	58.2	0.1	0.013	95.352	95.232	1.143	1.293	1.59	1.2	1.017	11.95	94.127	93.999	N/A
29	111b	91.588	91.542	1650	41.5	0.1	0.013	95.352	95.502	1.414	3.023	5.51	1.8	1.042	12.00	94.280	94.088	1.072
30	30a	92.746	92.561	450	74.2	0.3	0.013	95.372	95.372	0.896	0.143	-0.09	-0.6	1.182	11.96	94.378	94.413	0.994
30	31	92.662	92.542	300	12.0	1.0	0.013	95.372	95.212	1.368	0.097	0.09	0.9	1.416	11.95	94.378	94.307	0.994
30a	26	92.561	92.542	450	43.3	0.3	0.013	95.372	95.212	0.896	0.143	0.13	0.9	1.402	11.87	94.413	94.331	N/A
31	31a	92.429	92.327	525	51.0	0.2	0.013	95.212	95.212	0.888	0.192	0.09	0.5	1.353	11.95	94.307	94.296	0.905
31a	32	92.327	92.301	525	13.0	0.2	0.013	95.212	94.974	0.888	0.192	0.28	1.5	1.444	11.94	94.296	94.221	N/A
32	33	92.271	92.246	525	12.5	0.2	0.013	94.974	95.049	0.888	0.192	0.28	1.5	1.425	11.94	94.221	94.147	0.753
33	330	92.216	92.146	525	35.0	0.2	0.013	95.049	95.230	0.888	0.192	0.28	1.5	1.406	11.94	94.147	94.035	0.902
104b	Pond1	91.763	91.700	1200	57.5	0.1	0.013	94.500	95.500	1.143	1.293	1.76	1.4	0.917	11.96	93.880	93.873	0.620
105b	106b	92.029	91.960	900	62.5	0.1	0.013	94.500	94.500	0.944	0.600	0.99	1.6	1.337	11.96	94.266	94.118	0.234
106b	108b	91.930	91.854	900	69.5	0.1	0.013	94.500	94.218	0.944	0.600	0.99	1.6	1.288	11.96	94.118	93.934	0.382
107b	1070b	91.786	91.778	1200	7.0	0.1	0.013	95.232	95.055	1.143	1.293	1.58	1.2	1.013	11.95	93.999	93.992	1.233
108b	109b	91.629	91.617	1350	10.5	0.1	0.013	94.218	94.500	1.237	1.770	2.84	1.6	0.955	11.95	93.934	93.874	0.284
109b	Pond1	91.557	91.550	1350	6.0	0.1	0.013	94.500	95.500	1.237	1.770	2.83	1.6	0.967	11.95	93.874	93.873	0.626
111b	Pond1	91.522	91.450	1650	38.0	0.2	0.013	95.502	95.500	1.858	3.973	5.51	1.4	0.917	12.00	94.089	93.873	1.413
200	201	93.286	93.180	300	12.5	0.9	0.013	95.389	95.314	1.261	0.089	-0.04	-0.5	0.829	11.82	94.415	94.418	0.974
200	202	93.289	93.084	300	58.5	0.4	0.013	95.389	95.259	0.809	0.057	-0.02	-0.3	0.826	11.82	94.415	94.418	0.974
201	201a	93.030	92.900	450	29 <u>.</u> 6	0.4	0.013	95.314	95.314	1.189	0.189	-0.05	-0.2	0.938	11.82	94.418	94.419	0.896
201a	8	92.900	92.500	450	90.9	0.4	0.013	95.314	95.040	1.189	0.189	0.14	0.8	1.069	11.94	94.419	94.222	N/A
202	202a	93.054	93.050	300	1.2	0.4	0.013	95.259	95.296	0.809	0.057	-0.04	-0.7	1.064	11.80	94.418	94.418	0.841
202a	203	93.050	93.012	300	10.8	0.4	0.013	95.296	95.296	0.809	0.057	0.11	1.9	1.068	11.95	94.418	94.263	N/A
203	204	92.862	92.677	450	92.5	0.2	0.013	95.296	95.110	0.802	0.128	0.11	0.8	0.951	11.94	94.263	94.146	1.033
204	204a	92.511	92.463	600	21.9	0.2	0.013	95.110	95.250	1.019	0.288	0.11	0.4	1.035	11.94	94.146	94.140	0.964
204a	204b	92.463	92.324	600	63.0	0.2	0.013	95.250	95.250	1.019	0.288	0.37	1.3	1.077	11.94	94.140	93.976	N/A
204b	13	92.324	92.290	600	15.6	0.2	0.013	95.250	95.250	1.019	0.288	0.40	1.4	1.052	11.97	93.976	93.942	N/A
205	210	93.210	93.060	450	75.0	0.2	0.013	95.493	95.671	0.802	0.128	0.09	0.7	1.557	11.86	95.217	95.148	0.276
206	206a	93.320	93.316	375	1.5	0.3	0.013	95.468	95.493	0.869	0.096	-0.10	-1.0	1.551	11.81	95.246	95.245	0.222
206a	205	93.316	93.285	375	10.0	0.3	0.013	95.493	95.493	0.869	0.096	0.09	1.0	1.554	11.86	95.245	95.217	N/A
207	206	93.598	93.395	300	58.0	0.4	0.013	95.923	95.468	0.809	0.057	-0.05	-0.9	1.333	11.83	95.231	95.246	0.692

Table C-1D: Pipe Data and H	vdraulic Simulation Results for	or the 100-Year. 24-Hour SCS T	vpe II Storm + 20%
		••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	JPC C _

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe Dia.	Pipe	Pipe	n	U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
МН	мн	Invert	Invert	/ Height	Length	Slope		Cover	Cover	Vel.	Flow	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	(2)
								Elev.	Elev.			Flow	Flow	(1)	Peak	HGL	HGL	
		(m)	(m)	(mm)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m³/s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
208	207	93.700	93.658	300	12.0	0.4	0.013	95.851	95.923	0.809	0.057	-0.05	-0.8	1.232	11.83	95.232	95.231	0.619
208	208a	93.672	93.294	375	44.5	0.9	0.013	95.851	95.851	1.464	0.162	-0.06	-0.4	1.185	11.83	95.232	95.230	0 <u>.</u> 619
208a	209	93.294	92.949	375	40.5	0.9	0.013	95.851	95.614	1.464	0.162	0.13	0.8	1.561	11.93	95.230	95.030	N/A
209	212	92.724	92.639	600	56.5	0.2	0.013	95.614	95.238	0.841	0.238	0.30	1.3	1.706	11.91	95.030	94.907	0.584
210	211	93.030	93.007	450	11.5	0.2	0.013	95.671	95.601	0.802	0.128	0.09	0.7	1.668	12.21	95.148	95.134	0.523
211	211a	92.932	92.871	525	30.3	0.2	0.013	95.601	95.614	0.888	0.192	0.09	0.5	1.677	12.21	95.134	95.124	0.467
211a	209	92.871	92.799	525	36.2	0.2	0.013	95.614	95.614	0.888	0.192	0.18	0.9	1.728	11.91	95.124	95.030	N/A
212	212a	92.564	92.553	675	7.3	0.2	0.013	95.238	95.550	0.910	0.326	0.30	0.9	1.668	11.96	94.907	94.898	0.331
212a	20	92.553	92.460	675	62.2	0.2	0.013	95.550	95.562	0.910	0.326	0.41	1.2	1.670	11.92	94.898	94.773	N/A
213	214	93.791	93.638	300	30.5	0.5	0.013	96.071	95.908	0.967	0.068	0.10	1.4	1.557	11.92	95.648	95.456	0.423
214	214a	93.338	93.284	600	36.3	0.2	0.013	95.908	95.918	0.841	0.238	0.13	0.5	1.518	11.94	95.456	95.446	0.452
214a	215	93.284	93.232	600	34.2	0.2	0.013	95.918	95.849	0.841	0.238	0.23	1.0	1.562	11.92	95.446	95.403	N/A
215	215a	93.212	93.138	600	49.2	0.2	0.013	95.849	95.849	0.841	0.238	0.23	1.0	1.591	11.92	95.403	95.341	0.446
215a	220	93.138	93.120	600	11.8	0.2	0.013	95.849	95.723	0.841	0.238	0.29	1.2	1.603	11.91	95.341	95.253	N/A
216	216a	93.869	93.679	300	54.4	0.4	0.013	95.972	95.972	0.809	0.057	-0.06	-1.0	1.311	11.85	95.480	95.493	0.492
216	217	93.870	93.726	300	12.0	1.2	0.013	95.972	95.900	1.499	0.106	-0.10	-0.9	1.310	11.85	95.480	95.469	0.492
216a	214	93.679	93.638	300	11.6	0.4	0.013	95.972	95.908	0.809	0.057	-0.08	-1.5	1.514	11.85	95.493	95.456	N/A
217	21/a	93.576	93.494	450	40.9	0.2	0.013	95.900	95.900	0.802	0.128	-0.13	-1.1	1.443	11.85	95.469	95.468	0.431
21/a	218	93.494	93.345	450	74.6	0.2	0.013	95.900	95.677	0.802	0.128	0.11	0.9	1.524	11.92	95.468	95.365	N/A
218	219	93.315	93.292	450	11.5	0.2	0.013	95.677	95.594	0.802	0.128	0.11	0.9	1.600	11.92	95.365	95.343	0.312
219	219a	93.254	93.217	525	18.4	0.2	0.013	95.594	95.733	0.888	0.192	0.11	0.6	1.564	11.92	95.343	95.333	0.251
219a	220	93.217	93.121	525	48.1	0.2	0.013	95.733	95.723	0.888	0.192	0.19	1.0	1.591	12.20	95.333	95.253	N/A
220	220a	93.045	92.918	675 675	63.4	0.2	0.013	95.723	95.733	1.051	0.376	0.46	1.2	1.533	11.91	95.253	95.080	0.470
220a	221	92.918	92.913	075 750	2.6	0.2	0.013	95.733	95.466	1.051	0.376	0.48	1.3	1.487	11.91	95.080	94.970	N/A
221	2218	92.838	92.772	750	33.1	0.2	0.013	95.466	95.515	1.127	0.498	0.51	10	1.382	11.91	94.970	94.910	0.496
2218	222	92.772	92.600	750	85.9	0.2	0.013	95.515	95.515	1.127	0.498	0.64	1.3	1.388	11.91	94.910	94.611	N/A
222	223	92.525	92.505	025	13.5	0.2	0.013	95.515	95.409	1.040	0.556	0.64		1.201	11.91	94.611	94.562	0.904
223	223a 223b	92.430	92.309	900	32.0	0.2	0.013	95,409	95,409	1.240	0.769	0.64	1.0	1.232	11.95	94.502	94.520	0.047 N/A
223a 223h	2250	92.309	92.310	900	27.0	0.2	0.013	95.409	95.409	1.240	0.709	0.79	1.0	1.207	12.09	94.520	94.470	
2230	20	92.310	92.300	300	0.7	0.2	0.013	95.409	95.550	0.000	0.769	0.00	1.0	1.202	12.00	94.470	94.400	0.100
330	1070b	93.432	93.200	525	41.0	0.4	0.013	95.275	95.400	0.009	0.057	0.00	1.0	1.342	11.05	95.074	94.970	1 105
1070h	10705	92.110	92.090	1200	10.0	0.2	0.014	95.250	95.055	1.062	1 201	1 95	1.0	1.034	11.95	94.035	93.992	1.195
1600	16002	91.750	02.635	600	44.0 15.5		0.014	95.055	94.210	0.841	0.238	0.26		1.034	11 02	93.992	0/ 876	0.104
16002	16	92.000	92.000	600	85		0.013	95.090	93.030	0.841	0.230	0.20	1 3	1 641	11 01	94.876	94 861	N/A
Pond1		52.035 N/Δ	52.022 Ν/Δ	N/A	0.5 N/A	Ν/Δ	N/A	95.090	94.579	N/A	N/A	Q 15	N/A	Ν/Δ	12 /7	94.070	92 350	1 627
250	252	93 433	93 270	300	46.5		0.013	95 380	95 300	0.800	0.057	0.05		1 628	12 48	95 361	95 241	0.019
251	251a	93 563	93 356	300	46.1	0.5	0.013	95 530	95 530	0.918	0.065	-0.07		1 561	12 48	95 424	95 403	0.106
251	251b	93.320	93.079	300	48.2	0.5	0.013	95.530	95.500	0.967	0.068	0.05	0.8	1.804	11.87	95.424	95.318	0.106

Table C-1D: Pipe Data and H	vdraulic Simulation Results for	or the 100-Year. 24-Hour SCS T	vpe II Storm + 20%
		••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	JPC C _

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe Dia.	Pipe	Pipe	n	U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
МН	мн	Invert	Invert	/ Height	Length	Slope		Cover	Cover	Vel.	Flow	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	(2)
								Elev.	Elev.			Flow	Flow	(1)	Peak	HGL	HGL	
		(m)	(m)	(mm)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
251	251c	93.625	93.607	375	6.0	0.3	0.013	95.530	95.530	0.869	0.096	0.10	1.0	1.424	12.43	95.424	95.436	0.106
251a	252	93.356	93.270	300	18.9	0.5	0.013	95.530	95.390	0 <u>.</u> 918	0.065	0.08	1.2	1.747	11.94	95.403	95.241	N/A
251b	255	93.079	92.980	300	19.8	0.5	0.013	95.500	95.330	0.967	0.068	0.09	1.3	1.939	11.85	95.318	95.210	N/A
251c	251d	93.607	93.526	375	26.9	0.3	0.013	95.530	95.530	0.869	0.096	0.12	1.2	1.454	12.35	95.436	95.481	N/A
251e	263	93.450	93.421	375	9.7	0.3	0.013	95.530	95.630	0.869	0.096	0.22	2.3	1.687	12.34	95.512	95.604	N/A
252	252a	93.045	92.914	525	52.2	0.3	0.013	95.390	95.390	0.993	0.215	0.11	0.5	1.671	12.01	95.241	95.205	0.149
252a	253	92.914	92.872	525	16.8	0.3	0.013	95.390	95.180	0.993	0.215	0.18	0.8	1.766	12.44	95.205	95.180	N/A
253	253a	92.797	92.693	600	69.3	0.2	0.013	95.180	95.180	0.841	0.238	0.18	0.7	1.783	12.44	95.180	95.171	0.000
253a	254	92.693	92.675	600	11.7	0.2	0.013	95.180	95.180	0.841	0.238	0.26	1.1	1.878	12.45	95.171	95.156	N/A
254	254a	92.615	92.568	600	31.4	0.2	0.013	95.180	95.230	0.841	0.238	0.36	1.5	1.941	12.48	95.156	95.151	0.024
254	254c	93.239	93.106	300	29.5	0.5	0.013	95.180	95.180	0.918	0.065	-0.14	-2.2	1.617	12.59	95.156	95.146	0.024
254a	257	92.568	92.562	600	4.1	0.2	0.013	95.230	95.230	0.841	0.238	0.37	1.6	1.983	12.46	95.151	95.149	N/A
259a	257	93.017	92.977	300	7.9	0.5	0.013	95.280	95.230	0.967	0.068	0.07	1.0	1.853	12.37	95.170	95.149	N/A
254c	273	93.106	92.964	300	31.5	0.5	0.013	95.180	95.140	0.918	0.065	-0.08	-1.2	1.740	11.74	95.146	94.977	N/A
255	255a	92.830	92.701	450	64.5	0.2	0.013	95.330	95.330	0.802	0.128	0.10	0.8	1.930	12.34	95.210	95.152	0.120
255a	256	92.701	92.667	450	17.0	0.2	0.013	95.330	95.260	0.802	0.128	0.16	1.3	2.001	12.34	95.152	95.129	N/A
256	256a	92.422	92.402	675	13.0	0.2	0.013	95.260	95.260	0.910	0.326	0.55	1.7	2.032	12.42	95.129	95.115	0.131
256a	261	92.402	92.372	675	20.0	0.2	0.013	95.260	95.250	0.910	0.326	0.60	1.8	2.038	12.40	95.115	95.094	N/A
251d	251e	93.526	93.450	375	25.4	0.3	0.013	95.530	95.530	0.869	0.096	0.15	1.6	1.580	12.34	95.481	95.512	N/A
258	258a	93.104	92.887	300	54.2	0.4	0.013	95.450	95.450	0.865	0.061	0.03	0.5	1.754	12.35	95.158	95.151	0.292
258a	261	92.887	92.840	300	11.8	0.4	0.013	95.450	95.250	0.865	0.061	0.09	1.4	1.964	12.34	95.151	95.094	N/A
259	259a	93.152	93.017	300	27.1	0.5	0.013	95.280	95.280	0.967	0.068	0.05	0.7	1.733	11.89	95.185	95.170	0.095
257	256	92.542	92.497	600	30.0	0.2	0.013	95.230	95.260	0.841	0.238	0.42	1.8	2.007	12.45	95.149	95.129	0.081
260	260a	92.954	92.866	375	25.1	0.4	0.013	95.320	95.320	0.939	0.104	0.03	0.3	1.782	12.34	95.111	95.106	0.209
260a	261	92.866	92.840	300	/ <u>.</u> 4	0.4	0.013	95.320	95.250	0.809	0.057	0.09	1.6	1.940	12.34	95.106	95.094	N/A
201	200	92.297	92.262	020	35.0	0.1	0.013	95.250	95.550	0.849	0.454	0.75		1.972	12.34	95.094	95.051	0.156
203	2038	92.209	92.176	1500	22.2	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.630	1.549	2.738	4.14	1.5	1.895	11.95	95.604	95.515	0.026
2008	204	92.176	92.096	1500	52.8	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.530	1.549	2.738	4.17	1.5	1.838	11.96	95.514	95.399	N/A
264	204a 265	92.070	92.033	1500	20.0	0.2	0.013	95.550	95.550	1.549	2.730	4.17	1.5	1.023	11.90	95.399	95.225	0.131
2044	200	92.033	91.903	1500	40.0 52 0	0.2	0.013	95.550	95.550	1.549	2.730	4.51	1.0	1.092	11.94	95.225	95.051	0.400
200	200a 266	91.924	91.010	1500	10.2	0.2	0.013	95.550	95.550	1.709	2 161	4.09	1.5	1.027	11.94	95.051	94.047	0.499
2004	2662	91.010	91.770	1500	19.2 20.7	0.2	0.013	95.550	95.540	1.709	3 161	4.70	1.5	1 4 4 7	11.90	94.047	94.515	1.025
2662	267	01 500	01 420	1500	23.1		0.013	95.540	95.550	1 790	3 161	4.70 A Q1	1.5	1 260	11 06	04.010 04.079	0/ 162	N/A
267	Pond1	01 / 20	01 350	1500	39.0	0.2	0.013	95.550	95.000	1 780	3 161	4.80	1.5	1.203	11.90	94.270	03.873	1 /68
270	270a	92 828	92 710	900	59.5	0.2	0.013	95 500	95 500	1 273	0.810	1 35	17	1 912	11 82	95.640	95 381	-0 140
270a	271	92 710	92 665	900	22.4	0.2	0.013	95 500	95 320	1 273	0.810	1 35		1 771	11 82	95 381	95 280	N/Δ
271	271a	92 643	92 503	900	46.6	0.2	0.013	95 320	95 320	1.559	0.992	1 35		1 746	11 82	95 289	95 105	0.031
271a	273	92.503	92.416	900	28.9	0.3	0.013	95.320	95.140	1.559	0.992	1.38	1.4	1.702	11.81	95.105	94.977	N/A

	Table C-1D: Pipe Data and H	vdraulic Simulation Results for the 100	-Year, 24-Hour SCS Type II Storm + 20%
--	-----------------------------	---	--

U/S	D/S	U/S	D/S	Pipe Dia.	Pipe	Pipe	n	U/S MH	D/S MH	Design	Design	Peak	Peak /	Surcharge	Time	Max.	Max.	Freeboard
MH	МН	Invert	Invert	/ Height	Length	Slope		Cover	Cover	Vel.	Flow	Pipe	Design	U/S	to	U/S	D/S	(2)
								Elev.	Elev.			Flow	Flow	(1)	Peak	HGL	HGL	
		(m)	(m)	(mm)	(m)	(%)		(m)	(m)	(m/s)	(m ³ /s)	(m ³ /s)		(m)	(h)	(m)	(m)	(m)
273	273a	92.364	92.313	900	25.5	0.2	0.013	95.140	95.140	1.273	0.810	1.34	1.7	1.713	11.84	94.977	94.861	0.163
273a	275	92.313	92.298	900	7.6	0.2	0.013	95.140	95.200	1.273	0.810	1.38	1.7	1.648	11.85	94.861	94.817	N/A
275	276	92.268	92.209	900	29.5	0.2	0.013	95.200	95.620	1.273	0.810	1.38	1.7	1.649	11.85	94.817	94.615	0.383
276	277	92.179	92.148	900	15.5	0.2	0.013	95.620	95.500	1.273	0.810	1.38	1.7	1.536	11.85	94.615	94.477	1.005
277	277a	92.067	91.964	975	51.7	0.2	0.013	95.500	95.630	1.342	1.002	1.50	1.5	1.435	11.91	94.477	94.323	1.023
277a	277b	91.964	91.869	975	47.5	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.630	1.342	1.002	1.57	1.6	1.384	11.92	94.323	94.178	N/A
277b	278	91.869	91.842	975	13.3	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.630	1.342	1.002	1.63	1.6	1.334	11.92	94.178	94.048	N/A
278	279	91.782	91.775	975	3.5	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.630	1.342	1.002	1.63	1.6	1.291	11.92	94.048	93.972	1.582
279	Pond1	91.715	91.650	975	32.5	0.2	0.013	95.630	95.500	1.342	1.002	1.63	1.6	1.282	11.92	93.972	93.873	1.658
280	280a	91.825	91.714	1650	73.8	0.2	0.013	95.450	95.510	1.651	3.530	4.19	1.2	0.802	13.75	94.277	94.118	1.173
280a	281	91.714	91.657	1650	38.2	0.2	0.013	95.510	95.510	1.651	3.530	4.20	1.2	0.754	13.75	94.118	94.033	N/A
281	Pond1	91.657	91.600	1650	38.0	0.2	0.013	95.510	95.500	1.651	3.530	4.20	1.2	0.726	13.75	94.033	93.873	1.477
328	263	92.425	92.359	1350	65.5	0.1	0.013	95.700	95.630	1.179	1.688	2.93	1.7	1.952	11.96	95.727	95.604	-0.027
329	329a	92.534	92.465	1050	27.4	0.3	0.013	95.700	95.700	1.577	1.365	2.02	1.5	2.224	12.33	95.808	95.700	-0 <u>.</u> 108
329a	263	92.465	92.434	1050	12.6	0.3	0.013	95.700	95.630	1.577	1.365	2.04	1.5	2.185	12.33	95.700	95.604	N/A
101	102	94.092	93.958	600	95.5	0.1	0.013	97.120	97.010	0.813	0.230	0.70	3.1	2.490	12.59	97.182	97.060	-0.062
102	103	93.883	93.783	675	83.5	0.1	0.013	97.010	96.880	0.814	0.291	0.89	3.1	2.502	12.55	97.060	96.890	-0.050
103	106	93.708	93.664	750	40.0	0.1	0.013	96.880	96.820	0.836	0.369	1.15	3.1	2.432	12.46	96.890	96.855	-0.010
106	109	93.589	93.544	825	45.0	0.1	0.013	96.820	96.750	0.849	0.454	1.29	2.8	2.441	12.41	96.855	96.760	-0.035
109	111	93.469	93.391	900	78.0	0.1	0.013	96.750	96.640	0.900	0.572	1.31	2.3	2.391	12.44	96.760	96.655	-0.010
111	112	93.241	93.142	1050	98.5	0.1	0.013	96.640	96.500	0.997	0.864	1.72	2.0	2.359	12.39	96.650	96.552	-0.010
112	113	92.992	92.863	1200	129.0	0.1	0.013	96.500	96.310	1.090	1.233	2.43	2.0	2.360	12.38	96.552	96.347	-0.052
113	114	92.833	92.754	1200	78.5	0.1	0.013	96.310	96.190	1.090	1.233	2.64	2.1	2.314	12.35	96.347	96.236	-0.037
114	122	92.604	92.524	1350	80.0	0.1	0.013	96.190	96.070	1.179	1.688	2.97	1.8	2.282	12.30	96.236	96.120	-0.046
122	126	92.494	92.287	1350	122.0	0.2	0.013	96.070	95.770	1.537	2.201	3.37	1.5	2.276	12.17	96.120	95.625	-0.050
126	127	92.212	92.111	1500	91.5	0.1	0.013	95.770	95.630	1.327	2.344	3.88	1.7	1.914	11.86	95.626	95.455	0.144
127	130	92.081	91.980	1500	91.5	0.1	0.013	95.630	95.490	1.327	2.344	4.05	1.7	1.875	11.87	95.456	94.959	0.174
130	138	91.905	91.840	1650	64.5	0.1	0.013	95.490	95.140	1.348	2.882	4.53	1.6	1.404	11.92	94.959	94.722	0.531
138	139	91.780	91.730	1650	50.0	0.1	0.013	95.140	95.400	1.348	2.882	5.43	1.9	1.292	12.00	94.722	94.505	0.418
139	140	91.670	91.656	1650	14.0	0.1	0.013	95.400	95.400	1.348	2.882	5.43	1.9	1.183	12.00	94.503	94.457	0.897
140	29	91.651	91.608	1650	43.4	0.1	0.013	95.400	95.352	1.348	2.882	5.43	1.9	1.156	12.00	94.457	94.280	0.943

⁽²⁾ Freeboard between upstream hydraulic gradeline elevation and upstream manhole cover elevation.

APPENDIX J

JFSA Water Balance



J.F. Sabourin and Associates Inc. WATER RESOURCES AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTANTS

52 Springbrook Drive Ottawa (Stittsville), ON K2S 1B9 TEL: (613) 836-3884 FAX: (613) 836-0332 WEB: www.jfsa.com

October 31, 2013

David Schaeffer Engineering Ltd. 120 Iber Road, Unit 203 Ottawa, Ontario K2S 1E9

Attention: Kevin Murphy, P.Eng.

Subject: Richmond Village (South) Limited Subdivision / Water Balance Analysis our file: 922-11

As requested by your office, we have evaluated, based on the provided information as described below, the average annual infiltration volumes for the subject site under existing and proposed conditions.

As per the October 2013 *Richmond Village (South) Limited Subdivision / Preliminary Stormwater Management Analysis*, the proposed Richmond Village (South) development consists of a 126.81 ha drainage area to be treated by two Stormwater Management (SWM) facilities; SWM Facility 1 (91.82 ha at 51% imperviousness) discharging to Van Gaal Drain, and SWM Facility 2 (34.99 ha at 51% imperviousness) discharging to the Jock River. Note that, on the assumption that approximately half of each proposed building roof will be serviced by roof leaders directed onto grassed areas, the directly connected imperviousness of the proposed subdivision is approximately 45% for the drainage area to SWM Facility 1, and 46% for the drainage area to SWM Facility 2.

Existing drainage characteristics of the subject site are as per the *Floodplain Mapping Report for the Van Gaal and Arbuckle Municipal Drains in the Village of Richmond* (November 2009, JFSA). Refer to the October 2013 *Richmond Village (South) Limited Subdivision / Preliminary Stormwater Management Plan* memo for existing and proposed drainage plans and further details.

Under existing and proposed conditions, by means of 36 years of continuous hydrologic simulations using hourly rainfall data from the Ottawa International Airport from 1967 to 2003 (excluding missing 2001 rainfall data), the average annual runoff volumes from the subject site were computed and compared. Continuous modelling parameters were set as follows for both existing and proposed conditions:

APII=[50], APIK=[0.90]/day;	used to compute the Antecedent Precipitation Index during the continuous simulation. Without model calibration these are the default values.
IaREC=[6](hrs);	the time that it takes for the Initial Abstraction over pervious areas to recover during a dry period in undeveloped areas.
SMIN=[-1], SMAX=[-1](mm);	the negative values indicate that the storage volume in the SCS procedure will vary between the "S" determined for AMC I and AMC III conditions of the entered CN value in undeveloped and urban areas.
SK=[0.03]/(mm);	a calibration coefficient that can typically vary from 0.01 to 0.3 for undeveloped and urban areas. The higher the value, the more runoff generated. To set the baseline for existing conditions, we decided to take a value in the low range.
InitGWResVol=[100](mm), GV	VResK=[0.9](mm/day/mm), VhydCond=[1](mm/hr); parameters that are used to simulate both the groundwater storage and discharge to surface watercourses from undeveloped areas. Without

	adequate field measurements, these parameters were selected based on previous experience.
IaRECper=[3](hrs);	the time that it takes for the Initial Abstraction over pervious areas to recover during a dry period in urban areas.
IaRECimp=[2](hrs);	the time that it takes for the Initial Abstraction over impervious areas to recover during a dry period in urban areas.
InterEventTime=[12](hrs);	the continuous dry time required to reset the parameters in the SCS procedure to their initial values.

Note that the subject site has a relatively high Curve Number (CN) of 88 under existing conditions as per the November 2009 *Floodplain Mapping Report*. In order to best represent the slow infiltration rates of the existing soils, and to provide a consistent comparison between existing and proposed conditions, the SCS procedure was used to simulate infiltration over the subject site for both existing and proposed conditions. Continuous hydrologic simulations were also performed with a CN of 99.99, in order to simulate the runoff from the subject site if no infiltration takes place. The difference between the runoff simulated with the actual CN of 88, and the runoff simulated with the CN of 99.99, is equal to the infiltrated volume over the subject site.

Based on the existing and proposed continuous simulations, the average annual infiltration over the subject site is approximately 58.4% less under proposed conditions (89,007 m³) than under existing conditions (214,079 m³).

A summary of the water balance analysis results may be found in Attachment A. Digital SWMHYMO modelling input and output files are also attached.

Yours truly, **J.F. Sabourin and Associates Inc.**

Laura Pipkins, P.Eng.

cc: J.F. Sabourin, M.Eng, P.Eng. Director of Water Resources Projects

Attachment A: Simulated Annual Infiltration Volumes for the Richmond Village (South) Limited Subdivision Site



ATTACHMENT

Simulated Annual Infiltration Volumes for the Richmond Village (South) Limited Subdivision Site





Water Resources and Environmental Consultants





Table 1: Richmond Village (South) Limited Subdivision Infiltration Volumes Under Existing Conditions⁽¹⁾

Year	Total F	Rainfall	Runoff (No	Infiltration)	Runoff (With	n Infiltration)	Infiltr	ation
	(mm)	(m ³)	(mm)	(m ³)	(mm)	(m ³)	(mm)	(m ³)
1967	386.9	490628	253.96	322047	148.87	188782	105.09	133265
1968	592.8	751730	338.04	428669	163.51	207347	174.53	221321
1969	569.8	722563	312.40	396154	147.21	186677	165.19	209477
1970	558.9	708741	306.76	389002	143.44	181896	163.32	207106
1971	522.1	662075	258.93	328349	113.48	143904	145.45	184445
1972	784.3	994571	484.87	614864	263.87	334614	221.00	280250
1973	744.9	944608	433.84	550153	212.13	269002	221.71	281150
1974	386.2	489740	184.15	233521	78.73	99838	105.42	133683
1975	535.5	679068	301.57	382421	140.55	178231	161.02	204189
1976	492.4	624412	238.57	302531	105.76	134114	132.81	168416
1977	677.6	859265	369.37	468398	169.93	215488	199.44	252910
1978	638.8	810062	345.64	438306	142.15	180260	203.49	258046
1979	866.5	1098809	540.45	685345	281.15	356526	259.30	328818
1980	622.0	788758	328.88	417053	147.69	187286	181.19	229767
1981	936.4	1187449	562.73	713598	318.35	403700	244.38	309898
1982	596.1	755914	300.13	380595	123.91	157130	176.22	223465
1983	587.3	744755	288.49	365834	129.88	164701	158.61	201133
1984	459.4	582565	268.94	341043	128.13	162482	140.81	178561
1985	559.9	710009	316.74	401658	127.56	161759	189.18	239899
1986	849.4	1077124	509.26	645793	282.46	358188	226.80	287605
1987	639.9	811457	321.75	408011	157.93	200271	163.82	207740
1988	643.2	815642	336.59	426830	161.03	204202	175.56	222628
1989	522.5	662582	260.01	329719	112.97	143257	147.04	186461
1990	727.8	922923	392.68	497958	190.63	241738	202.05	256220
1991	555.8	704810	264.10	334905	118.36	150092	145.74	184813
1992	730.2	925967	398.37	505173	197.92	250982	200.45	254191
1993	721.1	914427	373.67	473851	168.11	213180	205.56	260671
1994	527.0	668289	306.73	388964	150.72	191128	156.01	197836
1995	321.6	407821	216.31	274303	130.16	165056	86.15	109247
1996	512.2	649521	277.39	351758	129.99	164840	147.40	186918
1997	433.2	549341	232.72	295112	92.08	116767	140.64	178346
1998	440.3	558344	231.72	293844	100.94	128002	130.78	165842
1999	424.4	538182	243.43	308694	104.27	132225	139.16	176469
2000	535.9	679575	293.17	371769	144.61	183380	148.56	188389
2002	551.5	699357	367.64	466204	205.93	261140	161.71	205064
2003	554.6	703288	326.84	414466	174.96	221867	151.88	192599
Average		747066		415191		201113		214079
Minimum		407821		233521		99838		109247
Maximum		1187449		713598		403700		328818

⁽¹⁾ For a 126.81 ha drainage area as per the October 2013 *Preliminary Stormwater Management Plan* memo. Note: Average Annual Percentage Infiltration = 28.7%.
Table 2: Richmond Village (South) Limited Subdivision Infiltration Volumes Under Proposed Conditions⁽¹⁾

Year	Total Rainfall		Runoff (No Infiltration)		Runoff (With Infiltration)		Infiltration	
	(mm)	(m ³)	(mm)	(m ³)	(mm)	(m ³)	(mm)	(m ³)
1967	386.9	490628	242.82	307920	196.76	249511	46.06	58409
1968	592.8	751730	347.65	440855	274.34	347891	73.31	92964
1969	569.8	722563	318.26	403586	248.93	315668	69.33	87917
1970	558.9	708741	310.40	393618	242.19	307121	68.21	86497
1971	522.1	662075	273.24	346496	213.62	270892	59.62	75604
1972	784.3	994571	487.38	618047	393.59	499111	93.79	118935
1973	744.9	944608	445.68	565167	348.72	442212	96.96	122955
1974	386.2	489740	190.32	241345	149.25	189264	41.07	52081
1975	535.5	679068	307.41	389827	240.13	304509	67.28	85318
1976	492.4	624412	242.87	307983	192.04	243526	50.83	64458
1977	677.6	859265	385.52	488878	301.73	382624	83.79	106254
1978	638.8	810062	366.36	464581	278.14	352709	88.22	111872
1979	866.5	1098809	550.21	697721	437.19	554401	113.02	143321
1980	622.0	788758	340.46	431737	264.71	335679	75.75	96059
1981	936.4	1187449	571.16	724288	469.71	595639	101.45	128649
1982	596.1	755914	323.51	410243	252.13	319726	71.38	90517
1983	587.3	744755	301.25	382015	239.28	303431	61.97	78584
1984	459.4	582565	267.20	338836	207.17	262712	60.03	76124
1985	559.9	710009	335.03	424852	250.23	317317	84.80	107535
1986	849.4	1077124	507.20	643180	412.94	523649	94.26	119531
1987	639.9	811457	325.93	413312	263.69	334385	62.24	78927
1988	643.2	815642	345.53	438167	275.46	349311	70.07	88856
1989	522.5	662582	272.43	345468	212.29	269205	60.14	76264
1990	727.8	922923	403.48	511653	320.38	406274	83.10	105379
1991	555.8	704810	278.48	353140	223.39	283281	55.09	69860
1992	730.2	925967	404.60	513073	325.65	412957	78.95	100116
1993	721.1	914427	395.96	502117	313.49	397537	82.47	104580
1994	527.0	668289	307.63	390106	243.13	308313	64.50	81792
1995	321.6	407821	211.03	267607	173.42	219914	37.61	47693
1996	512.2	649521	284.57	360863	224.69	284929	59.88	75934
1997	433.2	549341	242.73	307806	184.03	233368	58.70	74437
1998	440.3	558344	235.46	298587	181.14	229704	54.32	68883
1999	424.4	538182	244.78	310406	185.49	235220	59.29	75186
2000	535.9	679575	299.89	380291	236.95	300476	62.94	79814
2002	551.5	699357	367.44	465951	296.52	376017	70.92	89934
2003	554.6	703288	333.96	423495	268.51	340498	65.45	82997
Average		747066		425089		336083		89007
Minimum		407821		241345		189264		47693
Maximum		1187449		724288		595639		143321

⁽¹⁾ For a 126.81 ha drainage area as per the October 2013 *Preliminary Stormwater Management Plan* memo. Note: Average Annual Percentage Infiltration = 11.9%;

Proposed conditions average annual infiltration volume = 58.4% less than existing conditions volume.